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PREFACE

In the preparation of this work the Editor has spared neither time,

labor, nor expense, to render it both useful and interesting ;
and while ho

is aware that all works of the kind must necessarily contain errors, he

feels a satisfaction m the consciousness of having done all in his power to

sustain the character for accuracy which an indulgent public has kindly
awarded to his former publications.

Acknowledgements of deep gratitude are due to numerous individuals,

for valuable facts of recent date, and to several authors of collections of

historical events of olden time. From the works of Thacher, Felt, Bar-

ber, and others, from numerous county and town histories, and from

Borden's excellent map of Massachusetts, much assistance has been

derived.

In many particulars the plan of this work is new : the descriptions of

the counties and towns comprise their location, natural characteristics,

general appearance, &c.; but those items of information common to all,

such as population, valuation, schools, dates of incorporation, &c. &c.,

are arranged alphabetically, in tabular form, thereby presenting many of

the most important items, without crowding the whole together indiscrim-

inately, and, as stated on page 320, in a " mode best adapted for refer-

ence and comparison."
The design of the work is to present to travellers and men of business

the noble features and gigantic strength of the "Old Bay State," more

particularly in its commercial and industrial relations ;
and should the

exhibition prove agreeable and useful to its intelligent sons and daughters,

one of the best wishes of the heart of the editor will be gratified.
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J\IASSACHUSETTS.
The rank sustained among nations by the United States of America, as

a consolidated, political body, is high. The second power in commerce
on the earth, it compares well, at length, if not with the greatest, at least

with the great, in population also. China, Great Britain, Russia, Austria

and France, with, probably, Japan, which still refrains from intcrcomrau-

tiity with the rest of mankind, exceed it in numbers. Yet the general
character of its mhabitants, for intelligence, enterprise and ^^gor, excites

inquiry. The rapid growth of the country increases curiosity, and prompts
to further investigations. For it is found, that, so far as we can be war-

ranted by the extent of the period of proof, that growth is of a durable

character.

Republican principles are not new to the world. The effort to maintain

ihem has been made in various ages and countries, from the period of the

free states of Greece, and the early years of republican Rome, to tlie cen-

turies of Venetian, Swiss and Dutch liberty.

But the constituent elements of their liberty seem to have been of a

character different from that of the government of the United States.

Hereditary aristocracies existed in most of them, as they do still in the

only European republic that survives. In ours this princiidc is unacknowl-

edged ; and the people are, by constitution and actually, the originators

of executive and legislative power. And the singular ])hcnnnicnnn is
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beheld, of a sovereign ruler, vested for a time with the exercise of

supreme, but constitutional power, and descending from that height to the

level of private life—then called to and accepting grades of inferior influ-

ence, without the effort to seize, in any one instance, on a superior station.

Such has been the uniform experience of more than half a century.

Here, then, a problem important to the welfare of the world is in pro-

cess of solution : can communities be trusted to govern themselves? Thus

far, the system adopted by the United States succeeds admirably, even

beyond the expectation of many wise and good men. And while the ever-

varying phases of government in those provinces of this western continent,

which shook off the yoke of Spain, exhibit an instability of condition* and

character, that still portends increase of evils, the march of our Union has

been onward
;
and its citizens have exhibited the cheering spectacle of a

nation enjoying the widest desirable range of human liberty regulated and

rendered stable by law.

It is true, that, to a foreigner, it would appear impracticable to adjust

the jarring interests of a multitude of sovereign states composing a federal

whole. And great difficulty is, in fact, occasionally found. Yet it is not

insuperable, nor of necessity fatal.

This truth results, in great measure, from the character, history and

circumstances of the members which projected and which compose the

Union itself. It becomes, therefore, a matter of curious research to inves-

tigate these, and it should be done with care. Especially is it of conse-

quence to examine the condition, character and progress of those members

of the great political community, which, in the providence of God, have

exercised, in their respective individualities, any considerable or peculiar

influence in forming the general character of the whole body.
And in this view Massachusetts shines. She was one of the earliest

formed states. Her history, compared with that of almost any other polit-

ical community, has features of distinct peculiarity, more especially in

reference to the origin of her colonial existence. Nor has the influence

she has since exerted, as regards the rest of the states, been inconsidera-

ole. Far otherwise, indeed ; and there is reason to believe, notwithstand-

ing a variety of counteractions, that it increases. For she is vigorous and

powerful—not, it is confessed, in extent of territory, or in the number of

citizens subjected to her immediate control, and enjoying her maternal

solicitude and care ; but from the character of her cherished sons and

daughters.

To understand as well as to substantiate this, it is necessary to contem-

* Reminding one of Milton's remark on the Saxon heptarcny, thai
"
the flight of kites and

crows might as well l)e traced as their history."



MASSACHUSETTS. 9

plale the causes which, in the course of Divine Providence, contributed to

produce this character. And these causes arc to be souf^ht, not iu tlie

prompt resohition, or wise management, or prudent foresight merely,

attendant on the conduct of the great enterprise itself; we must look

beyond the period of the actual settlement of llic country, courageous and

well considered as the bold project itself was, to a source higher and more

remote.

What, then, was it, which formed the leading actors such as they were,

and nerved them with uncommon vigor, to undertake, and prosecute, and,

with the blessing of God, to accomplish the establishment of an energetic

civil community, three thousand miles from their native home, and on the

shores of a savage, inhospitable country? It is fearlessly replied. Reli-

gion, the religion of tlic Bible. To this their ancestors had been intro-

duced by the glorious Reformation from Popery, under Luther, Zuing-

Lius, Melancthon, Calvin and their associates. And the sincerity of

attachment to the truth of God, which they professed, had, in the case of

many of them, been tested by much trial and suffering. This endeared to

them that truth, and rendered it precious. They learned to glory in the

possession of the Scriptures, and were earnest in their efforts to carry out

into life, and fully to enjoy, improve and transmit their sacred injunctions

and counsels.

Add to this the history of public policy in Great Britain for preceding

ages ;
the contests of the nobles with the crown, producing at length the

concession of the Magna Charta, A. D. 1215; the establishment of the

popular branch of the English parliament, commencing half a century

after, in the ambitious shrewdness of Simon de Monfort ;
the rise of

new interests by the gradual progress of trade and manufacturing industry,

and the consequent opening of new avenues to political power, and new

channels of political influence—all these eventuating in the examination

of the first principles of government, and tending to establish the rights of

subjects, and to limit the prerogative power of kings :
—let these be con-

sidered, as developing popular influence, and tending to establish a recipro-

city between ruler and subject, which had been indeed discernible at a

very early period in the original Saxon character, and previously in the

ancient British—and no one can be at a loss to determine, that such suc-

cessive training, in combination with the deeper excitement of religious

conviction and zeal, would produce in the seventeenth century men of

moral hardihood, wary, bold, energetic and effective.

Sprung from an ancestry thus disciplined, and possessing the advan-

tages which accrued to England from the light of the Reformation, the

diffusion of books by printing, and the access enjoyed especially to the

6acred Scriptures, with the deepest reverence for them, the fathers of the
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colony of New Plymouth and that of Massachusetts Bay commenced their

important work. It was of God, unquestionably. And His providential

leading they were accustomed to observe and acknowledge in all their

concerns. This was their habit and delight.

Equally attentive do they appear to the condition of their children after

them. Hence, although, by fleeing to Holland, the persecuted Puritans*

were allowed to enjoy freedom from the annoyance and pursuit of officers

of the Star-chamber commission ;
such freedom for themselves lost no

small part of its charm, when they found the morals of their offspring

endangered, and the good habits inculcated on them liable to abandonment

under the example and influence of the Dutch.f In 1617, therefore, their

excellent pastor, the truly reverend John Robinson, countenanced the

project of removing to America.

That such a motive should be allowed so great influence on the judg-

ment, feelings and conduct of those much-enduring men, and that they
followed its leading with so much conscientiousness, lays their posterity

and countrymen under great obligations. We should be grateful to God,
and to them. We should gird ourselves to the accomplishment of the

object they had in view, and labor to fulfil what appears to be emphatically
their " mission," and that indeed of our nation—to fix and stamp the worth

of individual man, and develop his power of self-government, in establish-

ing a system of liberty guarded by law.

Massachusetts may be viewed,

I. In the establishment and form of its government. Both these seem

to have been, very providentially, forced, as it were, upon the earliest

undertakers. For, after the repeated disappointments they had suffered,

in applications for aid and authority from the crown, during their stay in

Holland, and after the resolution they had taken to remove to America,
the Puritans of Leyden were left to unite, as a civil community, after

their own choice. Had they landed as they aimed to do, within the juris-

diction of the colony planted in Virginia, they must, of course, have sub-

mitted themselves to its government. But being driven back in their

attempts to go south, after they had discovered land, they agreed, Nov.

11, 1620, before leaving their ship, on a few simple but distinguishing

articles,! ^^^ chose John Carver, one of their company, and a beloved

* Neale, Hist. Puritans. t Prince,, and the other historians.

I The agreement, on board the Mayflower, in Cape Cod Harbor :

" In the name of God, Amen. We, whose names are here underwritten, the legal subjecttr

ofour dread sovereign lord. King James, by the grace of God, of Great Britain, France and Ire-

land King, Defender of the Faith, having undertalten for the glory of God, and the advance-

ment of the Christian Faith, and to the honor of our king and country, a voyage to plant the

first colony in the northern parts of Virginia, do by these presents solemnly and mutually, in

ihe presence of God and one another, covenant and combine ourselves together in a civil body
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and respected member of their church, to be their governor for the ensuing

year.

The state of Governor Bradford's health rendered it expedient to give

him an assistant, and a deputy governor was elected by the people ; then

a court of assistants was chosen, as the growing population increased the

business of the government. But it was not until near twenty years after

the first settlement, that deputies were chosen by the towns, to form what

is now termed a house of representatives. No important alterations were

made in this system of government, while the old colony of Plymouth
retained its separate establishment

;
that is, until the union with the gov-

ernment of Massachusetts Bay in 1692, except during the interruptions

occasioned by the assumptions of An orgs.

Governor Winthrop,* on the other hand, had been appointed to the

direction of the colony of the Bay, and which took more appropriately the

name of Massachusetts, by the Plymouth company in England, instead of

Governor Cradock, who never came over. Thomas Dudley was also

appointed Deputy Governor. Yet, previously to their leaving England,
the principal members of the company entered into a solemn agreement

providing that " the whole government together with the patent [obtained

about five months before] for the said plantation be first by an order of

court legally transferred and established to remain with us and others

which shall inhabit upon the same plantation."! This company landed,

with their charter or patent, at Salem,| (a settlement formed but a few

years before, and then under the government of John Endicott,) July

12th, 1630. From Salem they went first to Charlestown, and then settled

at Boston, which became, from nearly that period, excepting only a few

meetings at Newtown, or Cambridge, the seat of government down to the

present day.
'

The instrument which vested the executive power in a governor, deputy

governor and eighteen assistants, constituted a general court, consisting of

poIitiCj for our own belter ordering and preservation and furtherance of the ends aforesaid,

and by virtue hereof to enact, constitute and frame such just and equal laws, ordinances, acts,

constitutions and offices from time to time, as shall be thought most convenient for the general

good of the colony, to which we promise all due submission and obedience. In witness

whereof," Ice.

Then follow the names of forty-one who thus covenanted, as may be seen in the ed. of Mor-
ton's Memorial, published by Judge Davis ; the whole number of souls being 101, including
all members of the several families. See Prince's Annals, and Young's Chronicles of the Pil-

grims. The names will be found at the end of this article.

* —Cui pudor, et justilis soror,

Incorrupta fides, nudaque Veritas,

Quando uUum invenient parem 7

t Hutchinson, Coll. Papers, pp. 25, 26.

J See Winthrop's History of New England, edited by Hon. J. Savage.
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these officers and llie freemen of the colony. But alterations were soon

made; for, in 1631, the general court enacted that the goA'ernor, deputy

governor and assistants should be chosen by the freemen alone : and in

1634 they erected a representative body, which, ten years after, when the

court was divided into two houses, took the name of deputies, as the other

house took that of magistrates. Trial by jury was early introduced
; yet

not until the court of assistants had often judged and punished in a sum-

mary way.
Thus it was, that, while a respectful acknowledgment of subjection to

the mother-country and dependence on her was frequently made, and the

colonists boasted the name and privileges of Englishmen, they still retained

the right of popular elections, and formed a government representative,

yet dignified, and in all respects paternal.

IT. In its literary institutions.

If in Holland the Puritans exhibited an anxious apprehension of injury

to the youth from the irreligious influences surrounding them, the consid-

erate, religious colonists of Massachusetts manifested, with much consist-

ency, a wakeful care to instil instruction into their minds, when removed

to the wildernesses of America. As early as 1G36, the general court

appropriated jC400, to the erection of a public school at Newtown, after-

ward called Cambridge.
"

Scarcely," says the Rev. Dr. Holmes,*
" had

the venerable founders ofNew England felled the trees of the forest, when

they began to provide means to ensure the stability of their colony.

Learning and Religion they wisely judged to be the firmest pillars of the

church and commonwealth." What the general court had contemplated
and partially provided for, the liberality of John Harvard, the worthy
minister of Charlestown, who died in 1638, aided to accomplish. To the

public school at Newtown, he left by will £779 17s. 2d.
;
and by order

of court, and in honor of its earliest benefactor, the school was named
Harvard College, and the town called Cambridge, in memory of the place
in England, at whose university several of the influential "

planters" had

received their own education.

The establishment of this college, consecrated " to Christ and the

church," has been generally regarded as a striking proof of the far seeing
wisdom of the fathers of Massachusetts. It shared the prayers and best

wishes of ministers and churches, and proved a nursery of many
"
plants

of renown," distinguished not in the walks of sacred labor alone, but in

council, at the bar, upon the bench
;
and even in the field. For more than

half a century it was the only college in North America, and is now the

best endowed of all our literary institutions. Within the present bounds

American Annals, vol. i., p. 247. Also Pres. Quincy's elaborato History of Harvard
College.
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of the commonwealth, two other institutions, Williamstow n and Amlierst

collepfcs, have since been incorporated ;
and have enjoyed a very consid-

erable share of legislative patronage, besides tlie results of private liberal-

ity. In addition to these is the important Theological Seminary at Ando-

ver, whose graduates are found, not officiating as pastors of our own

churches only, but laboring in the missionary stations, from the Sandwich

Islands, in the East, to the regions assigned our own Indians in the West ;

also a similar institution of the Baptist denomination at Newton, emulating

its elder sister, and the "
Wesleyan Academy" of the Methodists at Wil-

braham.*

Equal attention was at an early period paid to the establishment of com-

mon schools in the several townships ;
and academies have been founded

in not a few of the counties of the state, as at Andover in Essex county,

Leicester in Worcester county, &c. Thus it has resulted that the inhab-

itants are found capable of reading, writing, and casting accounts, with

very rare exceptions among male and female adults, to an extent as great,

probably, as in any state of the Union, with the exception perhaps of

Connecticut, and comparing with any the most favored population in the

world. Indeed, the schools of Massachusetts have been and are the just

cause of gratulation and pleasure with every intelligent friend to the per-

manent prosperity of its citizens.

III. In its churches.

These were esteemed by their founders the glory of the community.

For the enjoyment and transmission of religious liberty, mainly, the coun-

try had been settled. As is specified in their patent, and as they profess

in the articles of their association, it was to advance the kingdom ofChrist

by the conversion of the savages of America, as well as to escape the pains

and penalties of unrighteous orders in council against liberty of conscience

in religion, that they were willing to encounter the perils of the sea, or

the equally threatening perils of the land.
" Oh that I might have heard

you had converted some, before you had killed any," exclaimed the pious

Robinson in Holland, when, in 1623, he heard of the bold energy of the

warrior Standish,! who had stifled a threatening insurrection of Indians

against the feeble colony, by killing with his own hand its fomenter and

leader. And this was the feeling which prompted the missionary labors

of "the apostle" Eliot, as that early, consistent and attached friend of

the Indians, and who translated the whole Bible into their language, has

not unaptly been named. Nay, it was chiefly through the efl!brts of Gov-

ernor WiNSLOW, when visiting England on the affairs of the colony, that

in 1649 was founded the Society for propagating the Gospel, having prin-

* See State Tn^titutions. t Soe Allen's Biog. Diet., kc.
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cipally in view America as its field of labor. Gookin, the Mayhews, and

other worthies exerted themselves nobly in this cause ; and several Indian

churches were gathered, and sustained as long as subjects for such atten-

tion continued among us.

Harvard College was soon in a capacity to supply no small number of

those worthy men, who formed an efficient ministry for the multiplied

religious communities that grew up with the respective settlements or

towns. These churches were gathered, served and maintained, with

direct reference to the authority of the holy Scriptures. Their first supply

came, of course, from abroad, for not a class received the honors of the

college till more than twenty years after the settlement at Plymouth ;
and

even afterward, especially on the disgraceful persecutions that so soon fol-

lowed the restoration of the monarchy in the person of Charles II., sev-

eral excellent ministers accrued to our commonwealth, and shone as lights

in the churches, aiding to maintain in them a primitive faith, and a holy

practice.

IV. In the industrial pursuits of its inhabitants.

The evidence of thrift, in an application to all those arts and employ-

ments by which human life is sustained, rendered comfortable, or adorned,

is in few communities more rife, perceptible and tangible, than in the

industrious communities of the citizens of Massachusetts. For the special

statistics which exhibit this evidence, reference is made in this work.

But, although the present notices must be rapid and brief, it will be of

benefit to classify a few of the particulars that deserve attention in the

general estimate.

The soil of the State, when compared with portions of the Union, is not

considered as the most inviting from its fertility, being hard and unyield-

ing, generally, and often rocky. But the climate is wholesome, the air

bracing ;
and patient, skilful cultivation brings its reward.

Yet at a very early period the whale, cod and other fisheries attracted

many. The coasts of New England had been visited successfully before

any European settlements of a permanent nature were made. And, sines

that period, the fisheries have been pursued with highly important results—not merely as relates to the supply of food and increase of wealth, but

the training also of a hardy, and skilful, and adventurous race of mariners.

These pursue the whale in every ocean, and return richly laden with the

spoil. That perilous employment has found no men more energetic and
able than the whalemen of Massachusetts. See Nantucket, Neio Bedford
Gloucester, Marblehead, Provincetoion, &c.

Manufactures of almost every kind have flourished and still flourish in

tliis Stp.te. Tliose of cotton fabric are detailed in the account given of

JiOwell. Waltham, &c., exhibiting not merely a large and judicious
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investment of capital, and tlic application of ingenuity and skill to the sev-

eral facilities for rendorinsj the kihor easy and profitable : but, more espe-

cially, delighting the philanthropist with tlie appearance of health, sound

morals, and a cheerful devotion to labor, joined with self-cultivation, par-

ticularly in the female operatives, hardly if at all paralleled in any other

portion of the civilized world.

In regard to commerce, it has often been said of New England, that

"her canvass whitens every sea;" and Massachusetts is the most com-

mercial of this family of states. Salem engaged among the first in the

trade to the East Indies, and derived immense wealth from the skill, hardi-

hood and faithfulness of her intelligent seamen. But Boston has been a

noted mart from its very settlement. Its commerce has literally extended

to every sea, and the first American vessel that circumnavigated the globe

sailed in 1787 from her port.

The manufacture of iron was commenced as early as 1643 ; liut the

minerals of the commonwealth are not abundant, and its furnaces and

forges are supplied chiefly from other states. In carpentry of every kind

much is annually effected, and furniture of all sorts is extensively exported

to the West Indies, along with the produce of the dairy, the orchard, and

the meadow.

Passing from this view of the commonwealth, its history demands atten-

tion, and may be considered advantageously in several periods.

1. From the settlement, respectively, of the Plymouth colony, in 1620,

and that of the Bay in 1626, or 8, and 1630, to the union of both in one

government, 1692.* These two colonies alone are mentioned, as space

cannot here be afforded to a labored survey of the variations in the juris-

diction of the state at different times. Thus, at one period, Maine and

Nova Scotia were attached to the Plymouth colony, and included in its

government. At another. New Hampshire formed a part of Massachu-

setts, and shared the cares of its rulers. Maine, too, was an important

portion of the state for many years, until it became itself a sovereignty in

1820.

The period above stated includes, then, the emigrations from England,

which lasted without intermission to the times of the commonwealih under

Cromwell, when the friends of a Republic could enjoy at home what had

been sought before in America. It includes, likewise, the bloody strug-

gles with hostile, marauding savages, stung by want, by envy and criminal

neglect, as well as corrupted hy the evil examples of worthless men, such

as in every period since have abounded on Indian borders. And it em-

* Pli/moulh Colony embraced the territory of the present counties of Plymouth, Bristnl,

Barnstablti, Duke's, and Nantucket, wiih the exception of the town of IHngham,—and lh.it o(

Mastachiisfffs Jinn, thfl rcsidiii! of the atslft. See Borden's Map of Massachusetts.
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braces particularly thai critical season in vvliicli under the brave and can-

ning Philip, son of jNIassasoit, and sachem or king of the Wampanoags,
a most deadly warfare had well-nigh depopulated several of their rising

settlements, although it terminated fatally for the Indians.*

Yet this period, as we have seen, though it be one that includes such a

calamitous contest with the natives of the country, extensively leagued

together, and ably led on, was not barren of Christian effort to civilize and

convert them. The history of these exertions is no small part of the true

glory of the State.

This period, too, embraces the trials of leading men with the arbitrary

councils and exactions of a corrupt and licentious court, under the brother

Stuarts, Charles and James, until, in the memorable case of Andros,
the faithful representative of the latter king, a weak, yet tyrannical despot,

the abuse of power met not only a firm resistance, but personal violence,

in actual seizure and imprisonment.

The revolution of 1689 could in no part of the British dominions give

greater joy than in Massachusetts. For it quelled the fear of a retribution

for certain convenient assumptions of power, which might, for very many

years, have well been anticipated. And it prepared the way for a govern-

ment, which, although it abridged subsequently, and for a long period, the

exercise of a popular voice in elections, commenced with a chief magis-

trate named by a clergyman of Massachusetts,! one of the agents of the

colony.

2. The next period may extend to the taking of Louisburg from the

French in 1745. It begins with the operation of the new charter, which

was soon effected, and the government organized ;
and it developes a series

of contentions between the provincial assembly, or magistrates and depu-

ties, and the crown officers, beginning with the successor of Sir William

Phipps, and lasting for near a quarter of a century. These disputes
tended to discipline the minds of those who engaged in them and to

extend their views, rendering political subjects familiar—while, at the

same time, the extent of territory subjected to the jurisdiction of the crown

governors, embracing not the colonies of Plymouth and the Bay alone, (as

before observed,) but also Maine, Nova Scotia, the territory of 'New

Brunswick, and the islands | along the coast, and also New Hampshire
occasionally, increased the connexion by sea, at least, with a broad coun-

try, and familiarized the colonists to enlarged calculations, and extended

enterprise.

Much, however, of the distinctive features of the old and rigid puritans

* See Holmes' Annals
; Drake, and their aulhorilies.

t Increase Mal/ier, when desired by King William JIT., nominated Sir W. Phipps.
J Holmes' AnnaU, sub. 1692, and Allen.
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had now been softened. Other views in theolog-y were occasionally
Droached. The discipline of the churches began, with the increase of

trade and commerce, to decline; and although, in the main, a spirit of

religion continued to distinguish the community, when compared with

other portions of the British dominions, it cannot be denied tiiat
" the gold

had become dim, and the most fine gold changed."
Near the end of the period, nevertheless, a revival of religion was wit-

nessed, of great power. It commenced at Northampton, under the search-

ing ministry of the eminent Jonathan Edwards,* and extended widely ;

for in the midst of it Whitfield visited America, and fanned, though he

did not produce, the flame.

But the sagacity and energy of Governor Shirley, in planning the

expedition to Cape Breton, engrossed soon the cares and efforts of the

colonists, and prepared the way for the succeeding period of their history,

the opening and presentation of a drama in which the world is concerned.

The complete success of the expedition drew the attention of the mother-

country toward its colonies, which it had previously underrated ; the pay,
in ready money, added greatly to the colonial aggrandizement, and encour-

aged an active industry, while it empowered the hitherto straitened inhab-

itants to avail themselves of the resources of their country, and, in various

ways, aided the advance of the approaching revolution. Still they were

among the most loyal subjects of the crown, and gloried, as yet, in the

privileges as well as name of Englishmen.
3. From 1745 to the Revolution the history of Massachusetts is familiar

to every politician of the day. In the war for subduing Canada, provin-

cialists took a deep interest, and were extensively and warmly engaged.
And it proved a school for not a few of those whose courage was soon to

be tested in the scenes of Lexington, Concord, Bunker Hill and Boston.

And as the difficulties with Great Britain originated in Massachusetts, her

people were at no time backward to discharge their full share of duty, in

council and in action, when the flames of war spread widely, and the

svhole series of English colonies along the coast were roused, as by the

community of one spirit, to draw the sword in defence of their injured

rights.

But the history of the American Revolution, its causes, progress,

accomplishment and results, forms a theme JLoo vast to be comprised in

limits such as are assigned to this brief and rapid sketch. Men were in

long preparation for the opening contest. The British ministry are

encroaching and arbitrary. A decided stand is taken and maintained ; and

Massachusetts and her sister colonies become, at length, an independent

nation.

* Sen Tracy's Ornfil Awakening.



18 MASSACfrcsr.TTS.

4. The formation of a Constitution for the Stale, wiiich wns effe...'le<l m

1780, marks an important era in its history. A sublime spectacle indeed

was presented, when the delegates were engaged in fixing the boundaries

of civil rights and claims., and establishing the foundations of social order

and prosperity. Yet not a less sublime spectacle appeared, when, in

1820, after a lapse of forty years, a revision of the same consihution was

publicly effected, under the presidmg auspices of that distinguished son of

Massachusetts, who succeeded Washington as President of the United

States, and had been a principal framer of the civil constitution of his

own.

That must be a people of peculiar character, among whom it is possible,

without war, or contentious turbulence, or violence of any kind, or ten-

dency to abandonment or licentiousness, to take apart the constituent

portions of a civic system, and readjust them as quietly and orderly as if

they formed but the mechanism of a watch. Yet several of our states

have successfully followed the example. How nearly impracticable has it

been in South America !

In 1786 the strength of attachment to " law and order" was tested by
the rebellion. Yet this served, probably, to convince the majority, that,

in order to maintain their freedom, that freedom must he guarded sedu-

lously by wise provisions, to which nun must svbmit. The quelling of

that rebellion seems to have destroyed the very seeds of anarchy and con-

fusion. Still, the sympathy excited by the French Revolution threatened,

for a time, no little disturbance of the political quiet, until the extrava-

gances of the miserable leaders alienated from them all sober men.

.5. The actual adoption of the Federal Constitution forms another era.

The State had just experienced the necessity of resorting to arms to pre-
serve its own domestic government. And it was but right to expect that

its leading men should prove warm advocates for a system of rule that

should fulfd the legitimate end of such an establishm.ent, and be " a terror

to the evil, and a praise and encouragement 1o them that do well."

Under the subsequent operation of this government, Massachusetts has

partaken botli of the weal and woe of the United States. Siie has fur-

nished, from the beginning, her quota of able men in the councils of the

nation, and twice has a citizen of her own been promoted to the presi-
dential chair. Her orators and statesmen from Ames to Webstkr have

distinguished themselves, and honored and gratified their constituents,
while they have contributed to advance the welfare and fame of their

country.

in the mean while, that is, in 1820, Maine, ripe for self-government,
vvas disconnected, and became a separate and independent state. The
measure, it was apprehended, would greatly diminish the weight and influ-
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ciice of Massachusetts in the national councils, by the withdrawment of so

large a constituency in respect to representation. Yet has the increase of

population sinoe been such, that at the present lime it is nearly as great
within the actual bounds of Massachusetts proper, as it was in both terri-

tories during the last year of the union of Maine with the State.

The deliberate adjustment of the various civil and political rights and

privileges of a people, as asserted and maintained on this side the Atlan-

tic, published in regular codes of law, the enrolment of citizens authorized

to vote, whereby the violences attending some elections elsewhere are

avoided—violences, in the detail of which the enemies of republican insti-

tutions greatly delight and triumph ; the deeply-engraven spirit of their

forefathers, which can with difficulty be erased ; the strong love of home
and its enjoyments, ruling in the hearts of absentees,* and exerting an

attractive influence in every climate ; the general respect for religion and

its ministers, which yet lingers in our population, and is sustained by the

ordinary worth of those who bear the character of pastors and lacred

guides ;
the introduction and general extension of instruction by schools

on the Sabbath as well as the week days ;
the ample provision made for

education, and the distinction and influence gained by real science and

moral worth in heads of colleges and eminent professors ; the improve-

ments made in agriculture, rendering the farmer desirous and capable of

raising much from a few acres, rather than superficially to run over a

large extent but half cultivated
;
the improved character of seamen ; the

introduction of the temperance reform, and establishment of literary and

benevolent associations—all conspire to augur well for the future pros-

perity of the State.

Tn the catalogue of Governors which is appended, will be seen the

names of several whom the people
"

delighted to honor," and whose

memory will be dear to the intelligent, sober, religious patriot. The
names of Carver, Winslow, Bradford, Winthrop, Haynes, among
the early chief magistrates, and Strong f among those of recent years,

can hardly be named without emotion. The fame of Powna'll and

Hutchinson, as faithful recorders, and of Hancock and Adams in the list

of patriots, is spread as widely as the history of the Slate ; and Frank-

lin, liowDOiN, Adams, both the father and son, can never be forgotten.

Among judges and counsellors, ministers of the gospel, authors and teach-

ers, physicians, merchants, farmers and mechanics—in short, in every

department of life will be found those who have honored themselves by
their talents, integrity and usefulness, and proved wortiiy sons of a dislin-

* See Pitlsjield. t Heu pielas, heu prisca fiJes 1
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guished motlier. All such will join in the devout aspiration, with which

the public document for our annual fasts and thanksgivings closes,

" God save the Commonwealth of Massachusetts !

"

NOTE REFERRED TO ON PAGE 11.

1. Those with this mark (*) brought their wives with them
;
those with this (+)

for the present, left them either in Holland or England.

2. Some left behind them part, and others all their children, who afterwards came

over.

3. Those with this mark (§) deceased before the end of March.

No.
1

2
3

4

5
6

7

8
9

to

11

12

in family.
8

Names.
Mb. John Carver,*
William Bradford,* 2

Mr. Edward Winslow,* 5

Mr. William Brewster,* 6

Mr. Isaac Allerton,* 6

Capt. Miles Standish,* 2

John Alden, I

Mr. Samuel Fuller,+ 2a
Mr. Christopher Mabtin,*§ 4

Mr. William Mullins,*§ 5

Mr. William White,*§ 56

Mr. Richard Warren,t I

13 John Rowland, c

14 Mr. Stephen Hopkins,* Qd
15 Edward Tilly,*§ 4

16 John Tilly,*§ 3

17 Francis CooK,t 2
18 Thomas Rogers,§ 2
19 Thomas Tinker ,*§ 3
20 John RiriGDALE,*§ 2
21 Edward Fuller,*! 3

Names. No. in family.
22 John Turner,! 3
23 Francis Eaton,* 3
24 James Chilton,*§ 3
25 John Crackston,§ e 2
26 John Billington,* 4
27 Moses Fletcher ,§y
28 John Goodman,§
29 Degory Priest,§ ff
30 Thomas Williams,!
31 Gilbert Winslow,
32 Edmund Margeson,§
33 Peter Brown,
34 Richard Britterige,§ h
35 George Soule, i

36 Richard Clarbu:,!
37 Richard Gardner,
38 John Allerton,§
39 Thomas English,!
40 Edward Dotey,j ) >

41 Edward Leister. ^
——
101

So there were just 101 who sailed from Plymouth in England, and just as many
arrived in Cape Cod harbor. And this is the solitary number who, for an undefiled

conscience, and the love of pure Christianity, first left their native and pleasant

land, and encountered all the toils and hazards of the tumultuous ocean, in search

of some uncultivated region in North Virginia ;
where they might quietly enjoy

their religious liberties, and transmit them to posterity, in hopes that none would

follow to disturb or vex them. Prince's Anvals.

a One of tliese was tlie servant who died before their arrival.

b Besides the son born in Cape Cod harbor, named Peregrine.

c He was of Governor Carver's family.

d One of these was a son born at sea, and therefore named Oceanus.

e Mr. Morion calls him Craxton.

^ Mr. Morton seems to mistake in calling him Jose.

g Mr. Morton calls him Digery.

h Mr. Morton calls him Bilteridge.

i He was of Governor Winslow'a family.

j Mr. Morton seems to mistake in calling him Doten.

k They were of Mr. Hopkins' family.



DESCRIPTION
or

COUNTIES AND TOWNS
IN

MASSACHUSETTS.

ABIXGTOX.

Plymouth Co. The first grant of
lands in this town, was made by the

Plymouth colony, in 1654, to Nathan-
iel Souther, who was the first secre-

tary of the colony ; afterwards, grants
were made to various persons, among
whom were Peregrine White, the first

person born in the colony. The first

settlements commenced about the year
1668. Its Indian name was Mana-
mooskeagin, which signifies viany bea-
vers. The boot and shoe manufacture
is the most extensive business done
in the^town ;

—by a statistical account

lately made, it is found that over one
million two hundred and fifty thou-
sand pairs of boots and shoes are
made annually, of the value of one
million two hundred and fifty thousand

dollars, and that eighteen hundred and

fifty persons are employed in this busi-

ness, including women and children
;

there are other extensive manufac-
tures in the town, such as brads,
tacks, sprigs, shoe-nails, leather, boxes,
&c. The value of the whole manu-
factures in the town amounts to at

least one and a half millions of dollars

annually. The amount paid for the

transportation of goods and passen-
gers, to and from Abington, is esti-

mated to exceed twenty-five thousand
dollars annually.

This town has been celebrated for in-

troducing several important iron man-
ufactures. Meeting-house bells were
cast here, as early as 1769

;

—a deserter
from the British army, a bell founder,
was employed by Colonel Aaron Ho-
bart, in this business, which was
continued by him for years; the bell

now in Centre Abington meeting-
house was cast by him. When he

gave up the business, he sent one of
his sons and a blacksmith, and taught
the late Colonel Paul Revere, of Bos-

ton, to mould and cast the first bell

which he ever made. The copper com-

pany in Boston is named after this

enterprising individual.

In the year 1775-6, Colonel Aaron
Hobart contracted with the state to

make cannon and shot, and the state

furnished him M'ith a large amount of
materials to begin with, as pig iron
and coal

;
this was a bold underlaldng.

Colonel Hobart had no knowledge of
the business

;
he cast bells, it is true,

j

and was the owner of a blast furnace
i for casting hollow ware, &:c., but the

exigency of the limes required a pow-
erful effort; the revolutionary war
had just commenced, and there were
but a very few cannon in the country ;

hundreds of merchant ships were in

want of cannon to go out as priva-
teers. The first attempts, (and they
were the first that were ever made in

the country.) proved very unsuccess-
ful

;
in proving ihe cannon, they split ;
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the iron could not be kept suftlcientl}'

hoi
;

It chilled too quick. So disastrous

was the experiment, that all the stock

provided by the state was expended,
and his own fortune besides. This

disappointment was severel}' felt by
him and the public. But, providen-

tially, at this dark hour, the cause of

his failure was discovered
;
a French-

man, in passing through the town,
and stopping at a public house, hear-

ing of the colonel's want of success,

inquired the cause, and being told, he

said there was no difficulty in keeping
the iron sufficiently hot

;
on inquiry, he

stated that he had worked in a cannon

foundry in France. He was instantly
invited to inspect the furnace, and
stated at once the cause of the failure,

which was, the flue or draft of the chim-

ney was made large, and the chimney
above small

;
he said the reverse

ought to be the case,—the flue small,
and the chimney large above

;
no

time was lost in making this change,
and the success was complete ;

the con-

tract with the state was fulfilled, and
individuals were supplied extensively.
About three years after this, the con-

cern was disposed of to the state, un-
der the care of the late Colonel Hugh
Orr, of Bridgewater, and removed to

that town.
Another important manufacture

took its rise early, in this town
;
the

manufacture of cut tacks and brads.

In this manufacture a large capital is

invested, and from seventy-five to one
hundred hands are employed. It is

computed that about three hundred
tons of iron are annually wrought.
To show the necessity of protection

on American inventions, and domes-
tic industry, we give a brief history
of the manufacture of these useful
and indispensable articles.

The making of tacks, by hand,
commenced very early. The first

attempt was to cut up old iron hoops
into points, by a very imperfect kind
of shears, and take them up, one by
one, and place them in a common
vise, and screw up and unscrew, tor

the purpose of heading each tack with
a hammer. From this process, they
were called "Cut Tacks;" but the

mode in making by hand was much

improved by movable dies, placed in

an iron frame, in the shape of an ox-

bow, the two ends, in which were

placed the dies, being brought together

by a lever pressed by the foot. In the

first process, a man might make one
thousand tacks per day ;

in the latter,

eight thousand per day. This was a

great improvement, and the inventor,

Mr. Ezekiel Reed, was entitled to a

patent. He made some attempts to

conceal the operation, but it was so

simple, and so easily applied, that

others soon got it, and it came into

general use.

With machines, or " tack tools," as

they were called, thus improved, from
three to four hundred men and boys
were emploj'ed in making tacks, in

this town and vicinitJ^
In 1815 and '16, a machine was

invented by Mr. Jesse Reed, son of

Ezekiel Reed, to make tacks at one

operation ;
Mr. Melvil Otis, of Bridge-

water, claimed and received a consid-

erable share in the invention. Soon
afterwards the machines were much
improved by the inventions of Messrs.
Thomas Blanchard, of Springfield,
and Samuel Rogers, of East Bridge-
water. For the exclusive patent rights
of these inventions, Elihu and Benja-
min Hobart, Esqs., of this town, paid

thirty thousand dollars, in the first

instance, to commence the business

of making lacks. The price of tacks

was reduced over fifty per cent, im-

mediately, and one man could make
more tacks in a day, on one of the

patent machines, than fifteen could

by hand, even in the last improved
mode, by movable dies. One ma
chine has turned out over two hundred
and fifty thousand in a day.
When they had just got their ma-

chines into operation, they learned,
with astonishment, that a large con-

signment of tacks had been received
in this country from England. On
inquiry, they found that a model of
their "Patent Tack Machine" had
been taken from this country, and

patented, and the tacks sent here for

sale. One or two individuals went
from this country to England for that
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purpose. The eflect of this was to

stop the manufacture of this article

here entirely, and ruin the proprietors
ot the patent.
Under these circumstances, they

were led, at once, to look to our gov-
ernment for relief and protection. It

was asked,
" Shall the British take our

inventions and our market, without

paying for them, to the ruin of our
own citizens ?

"
They referred to

their models, in the Patent Office,
and stated, that the price of tacks was
already reduced fifty per cent., and
that machines could be easily multi-

plied, not only to supply the United

States, but all Europe.
A bill was immediately passed,

fixing the duty on importation of

tacks, at five cents per thousand, up
to sixteen ounces to the thousand

;

after that at five cents per pound, and
also including brads and sparables.
Without this tarifl" the business must

have been given up in this country.
Iron and labor were lower in England
than in this countr}', and the English
had nothing to pay for patents, and
having silenced competition here, they
would have charged their own prices ;

it would have been difficult to have
revived the business

; indeed, it never
would have succeeded without protec-
tion in its infancy.

Abington is very pleasantly situ-

ated on the highest lands between

Narraganset Bay and Boston harbor.
The centre of the town is afcout equi-
distant from Boston, Plymouth, and
Taunton, a little over eighteen miles
from each, eight miles from Wey-
mouth Landing, twelve from Hing-
ham harbor, and seven from the North
river, in Hanover. There are, in this

town, two large intervales, of about
five hundred acres each, surrounded
by high lands, mostly covered with
water in the winter, and beautifully
green in the summer; around them,
and overlooking them, are many of the

principal settlements. At the east-

erly part, there is a range of elevated

lands, comprising over two thousand
acres, called "Beech Hill," a beauti-
ful tract of land, susceptible of great

improvement. From this hill the

waters How north-east and south-
west. No large rivers water the

town, though Beaver brook, Streame's
and Her.sey's river, and French's

stream, aflTord some good mill privi-

leges. A part of Accord pond is in

this town
;
the remainder of it is in

Hingham and Scituate.

The soil of the town is strong, and
good for production, though rocky
and hard of cultivation. It is gener-
ally better for grazing than tillage.
The surface is rough and broken.
The meadow land abounds in peat.
Some bog iron ore has also been found
in it. The blue slate stone prevails
on some parts of the upland.
The population of the town, in 1790,

was one thousand four hundred and

fifty-three; it is now, (1845,) ascer-

tained to be over three thousand six

hundred and eighty, and rapidly in-

creasing.
The Old Colony railroad passes

through the whole length of the town,
over six miles, running north and
south, which was completed, and
in full operation in January, 1846.
This road brings Boston or Plymouth
within less than one hour's ride of

Abington.
East Abington is a very flourishing

part of the town, recently built up ;

its location is very central and invit-

ing; the centre of which will be but a
little over a mile from the railroad.

There are ten school districts in

town. The number of scholars from
four to sixteen years of age is about
nine hundred. Two thousand seven
hundred dollars is annually appropri-
ated for public schools, and nearlv
one thousand dollars is expended in

private schools, including an acad-

emy or a high school, established by a

private company, they having erected
an elegant building for that purpose.
The population of Abington is

strictly of the Pilgrim family, as there
is .scarcely an inhabiiant in the town
of any other race or nation. Perhaps
no town in the vicinity of Boston,
holds out greater inducements for

country scats and settlements, for men
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of business or leisure, who wish for

quiet retirement or a summer resi-

dence.

As early as July 4, 1706, an order

was passed, requiring
" the proprie-

tors, purchasers, and inhabitants," to

ascertain what they were able and

willing to pay annually,
" for the sup-

port of an able, learned, and orthodox
minister." In 1710, the erection of a

meeting-house was efiected, and '• on
the 8th of December, 1711, Mr. Sam-
uel Brown came to Abington, by a
unanimous call from the people there,
to settle." He was ordained Novem-
ber 17, 1714.

ACTOIV.

Middlesex Co. Acton was set off

from Concord in 1735, and included

what is now Carlisle. The first min-
ister was the Rev. John Swift, who
was settled November 8, 1738. The
centre of the town is pleasant, having
a large common, well shaded with

trees, and surrounded by neat build-

ings, and good mowing and tillage

land. It is watered by a bi'anch of

Assabet river, and by several ponds,
the largest of which is Nagog pond,

covering six hundred acres, and for-

ty-seven feet in depth. The manu-
factures are boots, shoes, blinds, and
sashes. The American Powder Com-

pany have large works in this town.
Acton is five miles north-west by west
from Concord, and twenty-one north-

west from Boston. The railroad from
Boston to Fitchburg passes through
the west village, twenty-five miles

from Boston.

This town is known in history as

the native place of Isaac Davis, who
commanded the Acton minute com-

pany, and was killed at the " Concord

Fight," April 19, 1775. (See Centen-
nial Address, at Acton, July 21, 1835,

by Josiah Adams, Esq.) James Hay-
ward, a son of Deacon Samuel Hay-
ward, of Acton, was also killed, in the

pursuit of the Bi'itish, the afternoon
of the same day. The following

inscription is copied from his grave
stone ;—

"In memory of Mr. James Hay-
ward, son of Capt. Samuel and I\lrs.

Mary Hayward, who was killed in

Concord fight, Ap. 19th, 1775, aged
25 years and four days,

" This monumenl may unborn ages tell,

How brave young Hayward, like a hero fell,

When fighting for his country's liberty,
Was slain

;
and here his body now doth lye.

He and his foe were by each other slain,
His victim's blood, with his, the earth did stain;

Upon the field he was with victory crowned,
And yet must yield his breath upon that

ground,
He express'd his hope in God, before his death,
After his foe had yielded up his breath.

O may his death a lasting witness bye, (be)

Against oppression, and bloody cruelty."

ADAMS.

Berkshire Co. This is a flourish-

ing agricultural and manufacturing
township, comprising two villages,
north and south, whose trade, betbre

the opening of the Western railroad,
went to New York. It is forty miles

east of Troy, New York, one hun-
dred and twenty west north-west of

Boston, twenty-one north from Pitts-

field, and five miles south-east of

Williamstown college. Its name was

given in honor of the patriot, Samuel
Adams. The Hoosack river passes
through this town, and affords a great
water power. There are in this tOM'n

nineteen cotton mills, four satinet fac-

tories, and tT\'0 calico printing estab-

lishments. There are also in this

town large machine shops, four tane-

ries, three air and cupola furnaces,
and manufactories of shovels, spades,

hoes, forks, chairs, and cabinet-ware.
The total value of the manufactures
of this place is about one million of
dollars annually.

There are in the town a flourishing

academy, and a valuable quarry of
marble.
Between the years 1746 and 1756,

this town was the scene ofmuch Indian
warfare. Traces of old Fort Massa-
chvsetts are still found. Saddle Moun-
tain, the summit of which is called

Grey lock, the highest of Massachu-
setts mountains, lies chiefly in this

town, and, although it is three thou-
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sand five hundred and five feet above
the level of the sea, is of easy ascent.

A view from Grey lock probably gives
" an idea of vastiiess and even of im-

mensity" better than any other land-

scape in New England, Mount Wash-

ington, in New Hampshire, excepted.
The natural bridge on Hudson's brook,
in this town, is a curiosity worthy the

notice of travellers. The waters of

this brook have worn a fissure from

thirty to sixty feet deep, and thirty
rods in length, through a body of white

marble, or limestone, and formed a

bridge of that material, fifty feet above
the surface of the water. There is a
cavern in the town thirty feet long,

twenty high, and twenty wide.

Another curiosity worthy of notice,
is a cave, m the side of a hill, about a
mile south of the north village, near
the road to Cheshire. A narrow and
diflicult passage, about ten feet in

length, leads to a room, large enough
to contain six or eight persons. North-

ward, a small hori2ontal avenue, ten

or twelve feet long, leads to another

room, considerably larger than the

first. From this, by descending twenty
perpendicular feet, another room is

entered, thirty feet long, by an aver-

age breadth of about twenty feet, and

twenty feet high. Bej'ond this, and
lower down, are smaller apartments,
answering to bedrooms, pantries, >fcc.

Further on no one has explored. The
walls of the cavern are composed of

limestone, belonging to the vast ledge
of which Saddle mountain is built.

Colonel Williams, the founder of
Williams College, was the first grantee
of lands within the township, in 1750

;

and the first minister, the Rev. Sam-
uel Todd, was settled about the year
1766.

ALFORD.

Berkshire Co. This is a moun-
tainous township, on the line of tlie

state of New York. The valleys pro-
duce some grain ;

considerable por-
tions of the rough parts of the town
are good pasture land. There are sev-

eral streams in the touTi, on which arc

manufactories, for domestic use, erect-

ed. The towni was granted ab< ut the

year 1710. It hes about one hundred
and thirty miles west, from Boston,
nineteen souih by west from Pittsfield,
and twenty-four miles east from Hud-
son, New York.

There were some settlers in the

town previous to 1755. The first set-

tled minister was the Rev. Joseph
Avery, about the year 1780.

AMESBURY.

Essex Co. This town is situated

on the north side of jMerrimack river,

forty miles north-east from Boston,
six north-west from Newburyport,
and seven north-east from Haverhill.

It was taken from Salisbury in 1668,
and is separated from it by Powow
river, a navigable stream for vessels

of three hundred tons. A pond, cov-

ering about one thousand acres, back
of the town, ninety feet above the sea,
ser^^es as a reser\'oir for a constant
and extensive water power. The
manufacture of flannel and satinet is

ver}^ extensively pursued. Many ves-

sels are built here, of superior timber,
and the manufacture of boots, shoes,

leather, chairs, phaetons, gigs, and

wagons of various kinds, is very
considerable. The total amount of
the various manufactures of this place
is about five hundred thousand dollars

annually. About half the population
of the town is engaged in mechanical
labor.

That part of the town called the

Mills, is at the lower falls of the

Powow, and forms a continuous set-

tlement with the most populous part
of Salisburj'. The river here is but

about two rods in width, and is crossed

by several bridges.
There is much fine scenery about

Amesbury ;
views from Whittier,

Bear, and Pond hills, are delightful.
At the west end of the town, are

two flourishing villages, with a small

stream, at which are large manufac-
tories of carriages of various kinds,

axletrees, steel springs, and leather.

Amesbury was formerly a noted place
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for salmon. It is stated in an old

book, that formerl}' it was stipulated
in the indentures of apprentices, that

they should not eat salmon oftener

than six times a week.
Thomas Wells was settled as the

first minister, in 1734.

Josiah Bartlett, M. D., one of the

signers of the Declaration of Indepen-

dence, was born here, in 1729. He
was governor of New Hampshire from

1790 to 1793. He died May 19, 1795.

AMHERST.

Hampshire Co. Amherst was for-

merly the east parish of Hadley. It

now comprises four handsome villages—the centre village, where the college
is located, and the north, east, and
south villages. The centre village

lies seven miles east by north from

Northampton, and eighty-two miles

west from Boston. The totvn is wa-
tered by two good mill streams, which
form Mill river, and which pass into the

Connecticut at Hadley. The manu-
factures of this town consist of wool-

len cloth, boots, shoes, leather, paper,

hats, tin ware, ploughs, axes, palm-
leaf hats, chairs, cabinet-ware, stoves,

joiner's planes, hammers, pistols, &:c.,

and all kinds of carriages. The col-

lege is situated on elevated ground, in

the centre village, surrounded by a
fertile country, and commanding a

prospect of one of the most pictu-

resque sections of the state.

The first church was organized,
and the first minister, the Rev. David

Parsons, settled November 7, 1739.

See Public Institutions.

" Here lies buried the body of the

Reverend Zephaniah Swift Moore,
D. D., President of the College at

Amherst. He was a man preemi-
nent for genius, and science, and sin-

cere piety, as well as greatness of

mind f.nd humility. He was firm in

his pu) poses, and yet very mild, easy
to be entreated, modest, placable, full

of mercy and good works. He was
not censorious, and no dissembler.

Bv his pupils he was loved and vene-

rated as a father. To the great grief

of all, he died on the 30th of June, in

the year of our Lord 1823, and in the

fifty-third year of his age. He re-

ceived the degree of Bachelor of Arts

at Hanover, in 1793
;
he was pastor

of the church at Leicester fourteen

years. Professor of languages at Dart-

mouth College four years, President

of Williams College two years. The
trustees of the college at Amherst have

ordered this stone to be erected."

ANDOVER.

Essex Co. This beautiful to^^Ti

lies twenty-two miles north of Boston,

by the railroad, fifteen north-west

from Salem, and ten east from Low-
ell. Its northern boundary, for some
ten or twelve miles, is the winding
Merrimac. Embracing a territory

nearly ten miles square, it presents a

great variety of delightful scenery.
The Shawshine river passes through
it from south to north, aftbrding, in its

course, many valuable water privi-

leges, which are already mostly im-

proved. There are also several sheets

of water in different parts of the town,

which, together, cover more than eight
hundred acres. Most of the soil is

arable
;
and many ^f the farms, espe-

cially in the northern part of the town,
are highly cultivated. It has never

been ascertained with much certainty,

in what year the first inhabitants set-

tled in this place, though it is thought
to have been in 1643. Many of the

present inhabitants can trace their de-

scent in a direct line from the first

settlers of the same family name.
In one of the grave-yards there is a

cenotaph bearing this inscription :

George Abbot,
born in England,

was one of the first settlers

of Andover, A. D. 1643;

where, in 1647, he married

Hannah Chandler.

He died Dec. 1681, -iE 66.

She died June, 1711, -iE 82.

Their descendants, in reverence for

their moral worth and Christian

virtues, erected this monument. A. D-

1S43.
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The "descendants" of this single

family are very numerous in the place.
In the catalogue of persons belonging
to one of the churches, issued a few

years since, more than eighty appear
with this name

;
and not far from

seventy-five of the legal voters of the

town, are Abbots, most of whom are

of this connexion.
Besides the scattered settlements in

the agricultural districts, there are

large villages in the north and south

parts of the town, some three miles

distant from each other, and several

smaller villages near these. Of late

years, increasing attention has been

given to various kinds of manufac-

turing, until this interest has become

quite prominent. The amount of cap-
ital invested in manufactures is now
not far from five hundred thousand
dollars

;
the value of manufactured

goods one million dollars
;
and fabrics

of various sorts are beginning to ap-

pear from the Andover mills, which
rival the best foreign articles of the

same kind. Among the articles which
deserve to be particularly mentioned,
are the flannels, fancy goods, linen

yarn, and shoe-thread. Not less than
four hundred and fifty tons of flax

are annually used in the manufac-
ture of this last article alone. A pro-

ject has been proposed, which will

undoubtedly succeed, which is to build

up another Lowell along that portion
of the Merrimac which forms the

northern boundary of this town. The
land, for several miles in Andover and

Methuen, on both sides of the river,
has been secured.

"Within the last twenty years, Ando-
ver has grown so rapid!}', that instead

of two churches, which for a centur}'
had been enough, it now' numbers

eight, several of which are large and

flourishing. The population of Ando-
ver at the present time is not far from
six thousand. The various literarj-
institutions which are located here
are its principal attraction.

Phillip's. Arndemy, which has now
oeen in existence nearly seventy years,
is every way worthy of its age, and of
the name it bears. With ample en-

dowments, convenient buildings, a

chemical and philosophical apparatus,
which cost over two thousand dollars,
a valuable library of .seven hundred

volumes, and a corps of teachers, all

of whom are men of experience and
critical learning, this school is still

regarded, as it has always been, by
the public, with great favor. During
the past year, the whole number of

pupils connected with its different de-

partments, has been nearly three hun-
dred

;
a large proportion of whom have

been studying the classics and higher
mathematics. From the conmience-
ment of its operations to Ibio, four

thousand four hundred and thirty-
seven individuals have enjoyed its

advantages. This institution was in-

corporated several years before any
other academy in New England, and
is still deservedly conspicuous among
them all. Its funds enable the trus-

tees to secure the permanent sen'ices

of distinguished teachers, without

making any but the most moderate

charges for tuition, while large num-
bers receive their entire tuition free.

The Theological Seminary. See
Public Institutions.

The Abbot Female AcMdemy. This

academy is beautifully located, in the

same village with the other literary
institutions

;
it presents the additional

attractions of a valuable philosophical

apparatus, and cabinet of minerals,
and a select library of modern works,

together with a beautiful building, and

grounds tastefully arranged and adorn-
ed. Nor is any effort or expense
spared to furnish teachers of the first

order. In 1811, there were one hun-
dred and fifty pupils connected with
it

;
and it is already filling a large

space in the public eye.

Many of the most valuable publica-
tions of the day are issued from the

Andover press. Its learned Quarterlj',
the Bibliotheca Sacra, has a large'cii*-
culation across the Atlantic, and many
of its volumes will be the text-books

and classics of another generation.
Andover has become the chosen

resort of many who desire to favor
their children with the best means of

obtainins: a thorough education ; and,
located in the heart of New England,
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it cannot fail to increase in population,
wealth and fame.
The Indian name of Andover was

Cochichewick, the present name of a

brook which issues from Great Pond.
It derived its name from Andover,

in England, and the church in the

north parish was formed, and the

Rev. John Woodbridge was settled

in 1645.
• This is the largest tov.'n in the coun-

ty ;
it contains thirty-five thousand

seven hundred and thirty-eight acres,
and was purchased of a sagamore of

Massachusetts, named Cutshumache,
for six pounds, and a coat.

ASHBURIVHAM.

Worcester Co. This township
was granted to Thomas Tileston and

others, of Dorchester, for services in

an expedition against Canada, in the

year 1690. For many years it was
called " Dorchester Canada." The
first church was gathered in 1760,
and the Rev. Jonathan Winchester
ordained. Ashburnham lies on the

height of land between the Connecti-
cut and Blerrimac rivers. It is watered

by large ponds, which furnish good
mill seats. There is much good land
in the town, both for grass and grain.
Its manufactures consist of cotton

goods, boots, shoes, leather, chairs,

cabinet-ware, fur and palm-leaf hats
;

the annual value of which is about
one hundred and fifty thousand dol-

lars. This town is thirty miles north

from Worcester, fifty miles north-west
from Boston, and about seven miles

north-west from Fitchburg.

ASIIBY.

INIiDDLESEx Co. Ashby is on ele-

vated land, bordering on Rindge, New
Hampshire. Branches of the Squam-
acook rise here, and pass to the

Nashua, through Townsend. It is

varied with hills and vales, and is

rich in agricultural products, and fine

scenery. There are some manu-
factures in the town of boots, shoes,

chairs, v;ooden-ware. ficc. In 18r.7,

sixty thousand palm-leaf hats were
manufactured.
The first minister was Rev. Samuel

Whitman, from Weymouth. He was
settled in 1778.

Ashby lies thirty-one miles west
north-west from Boston, twenty-five
north-west from Concord, and eight
miles south south-east from New Ips-

wich, New Hampshire.

ASHFIELD.

Franklin Co. This town was
granted to Captain Ephraim Hunt,
of Weymouth, for services in the ex-

pedition to Canada, in 1690. It was

formerly called Huritstoivn. and was
first settled in 1742. The first church
in the town was of the Baptist denom-

ination, and was formed in 1761.

The Rev. Ebenezer Smith was settled

the same year. The soil of the town
is good for tillage and pasture, but the

surface is hilly and uneven. Some
of the farmers have large dairies, and
fine flocks of sheep. This town is

elevated between the Deerfield and

Westfield, and sends a small tributaiy
to each of those rivers. Ashfield lies

one hundred and five miles west from

Boston, twelve south-west from Green-

field, and fifteen north-west from

Northampton.

ASHIiAND.

See page 363.

ATHOL..

Worcester Co. The Indian name
of this town was Paquoig, or Peyquage.
This pleasant town lies seventy miles

west north-west from Boston, twenty-
eight north-west from Worcester, and
about twenty-four west from Fitch

burg. Miller's river is a fine stream,
and aflbrds Athol a great water power.
The manufactures of Athol consist of
cotton goods, boots, shoes, leather, pa-

per, iron castings, scythes, &;c.

The surface of the town is uneven,
but the soil is strong and productive.
There are a nuraber of h-indsome vil-
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lages in the town, which, wiih many
large fanns, bear the marks of pros-

perity.
The Rev. James Humphrey, the

first minister in the town, was settled,
and the church gathered, in 1750.

ATTL.EBOUOUG II.

Bristol Co. This town hes at the

north-west corner of Bristol county,
twelve miles north from Providence,
Rhode Island, twelve north-west from

Taunton, and thirty south south-west
from Boston. It possesses a fine water

power. The Ten Mile river rises m
the south pait of Wrentham, and run-

ning through the whole length of this

towTi, from north to south, empties
into Seekonk cove. On this stream
are situated the principal manufac-

turing establishments. It contains
six cotton factories, now in operation,
four others having been burnt within

a few years, and not yet rebuilt. It

has one or two thread factories, and
an extensive manufactory of superior
metal buttons. The value of the

manufactures in this to\yn for the

year ending April 1, 1837, amounted
to about five hundred thousand dol-

lars
;
that of cotton goods alone to two

hundred twenty-nine thousand, five

hundred seventy-one dollars. The
other manufactures consist of boots,

shoes, leather, combs, carpenter's

tools, shuttles, clocks, straw bonnets,
hooks and eyes, and a large amount
of jewelry. There are also several

carriage and harness makers.
This was one of the early settle-

ments in the old colony, and was pur-
chased of Alexander, the elder brother
of King Philip, in 1666, by Captain
Thomas Willett. The original pro-
prietors consisted of se\^enty-two.
The town originally included Cum-
berland, Rhode Island.

This town suffered much during
the celebrated King Philip's war.
There was at thi«; time a fortification

here, called Woodcock's garrison. It

was attacked by the Indians, who
killed one man, and one of Wood-
cock's sons, wounded another, and
burnt the son's house, and committed

other outrages. The spot where the

son Avas killed, is the oldest burying
ground in town. In 1675, Attlebo-

rouy;h was a frontier selllement.

This town was the birthplace of
Rev. Naphtali Daggett, President of

Yale College, and Rev. Jonathan

Maxcy, President successively of

Rhode Island College, Union, and

Columbia, S. C, and whose writings,
with a memoir of his life, have been

recently published.
The first settled minister /i Attle-

borough was the Rev. Matthew Short,
in 1712; the second was the Rev.
Ebenezer White, m 1715; the third

the Rev. Habijah Weld, in 1726.

Mr. AVeld was a man of extraordi-

nary virtues, and preached in this

place fifty-five years. He received

from his parishioners an annual salary
of two hundred and twenty dollars, and
the use of a parsonage lot which fur-

nished him Avith wood and a Uttle

pasture. With a scanty patrimony,
he purchased a small house and farm

;

and with these means, he educated
fifteen children, and was noted for his

hospitality and acts of charity.

AUBURN.

Worcester Co. Until 1837, this

town had been called Ward, in honor
of General Ward, of the revolutionary
army. It was formerly parts of

Stoughton, Leicester, and O.xford.

There are a number of flourishing

villages in the town. Stoneville and

Drury Mills are important manufac-

turing villages. The Norwich and
Worcester railroad passes by thoni.

It lies five miles south by west fnjm
Worcester, and fort3'-fivc west south-

west from Boston.
With an uneven surface, the soil is

good, and productive. It is well wa-
tered by several beautiful ponds, and

nevei-failing springs a^nd rivulets;
and French river passes through it.

There arc in the town Irircre matiufac-

tures of cloth, paper, and other arti-

cles. The first church was formed in

1776, and the Rev. Isaac Bailey was
settled the following year.
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BARNSTABLE COUNTY.

Baknstable is the chief town. This county includes the whole of Cape
Cod, extending east and north into the Atlantic Ocean, and which Gosnold

discoverefl in 1602. It is bounded north-west by Plymouth county, ^ad west

by Buzzard's Bay. Cape Cod lies in the form of an arm, half open ;
the

elbow is at Chatham, twenty miles east of Barnstable
;
the hand (the wrist

inclinina: inward) is at Race Point, thirty-three miles north by west of Chat-

ham. The whole length of the cape is sixty-five mUes, and the average
breadth about fiv^e miles.

Below the town of Barnstable the county is quite sandy, so much so, that

the people are generally dependent on Boston and other towns, for a large

proportion of their meats and bread-stuffs. This deficit is amply compensated
by the unrivalled privileges enjoyed, and weU improved by them, in the cod,

mackerel, and other fisheries. This count)' has but little wood, but it is well

stored with peat, and an abundance of pure soft water. About two millions

of dollars are invested in the manufacture of salt. There were manufactured
in this county, in the year ending April 1, 1837, sLx hundred and sixty-nine
thousand and sixty-four bushels of salt, valued at two hundred and nineteen

thousand eight hundred and seventy dollars. The manufactures of cotton

and woollen goods, boots, shoes, iron castings, glass, cabinet and tin wares,

cordage, &cc., amounted to four hundred and ninetj'-six thousand six hundred
and two dollars. The value of the fishery, in one year previous to April,

ibS", was five hundred and fifty-seven thousand seven hundred and thirty-
seven dollars. The total annual value of the fisheries and manufactures, one
million three hundred and thirty-seven thousanij five hundred and twenty-
seven dollars. The number of sheep in the county, in 1837, was seven thou-

sand three hundred and thirty-two,
—in 1840, six thousand two hundred and

seven.
*

Barnstable county is noted for its fine sailors, and men of superior nautical

talents. The ladies are celebrated for their fair complexions, and good house-

wifery ;
but are peculiarly subject to the vicissitudes pertaining to a maritime

situation. In 1837, there were in this county, nine hundred and fourteen
«-idows living, who had lost their husbands b}' the dangers of the sea. In two
towns, (Harwich and AVellfleet,) there were two hundred and twenty-three
widows who had thus lost their companions.
A canal, crossing the cape from Barnstable to Buzzard's bay, has been

long contemplated ;
but the extension of the Old Colony railroad to some port

on the south side of the cape, will probably supersede the necessity of that

mterprise. See o/ff?e Tables.

COURTS IN BARNSTABLE COUNTY.

Supreme Judicial Courts. Law Term. At Plymouth and Taunton, alter-

nately on the fourth Tuesday next after the fourth Tuesday in September.
Nisi Prius Term. At Barnstable, for Barnstable and Dukes counties, on the
ninth Tuesday, next after the first Tuesday in March.

Common Pleas. At Barnstable, on the Tuesday next succeeding the first

Monday of April, and the first Tuesday in September.
Meetings of the. County Commissioners. At Barnstable, on the second Tues-

day of April, and on the second Tuesday of October.
Probate Courts. At Bornslable, on the second Tuesdays of Januaiy. March,

September, and Deccmbor ; and on the third Tuesdays of May and June.
At Sfindn-icli. on the second Tuesdav of November. At Fahiorfh. on the
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\Veduesday next after the second Tuesday f^f November. At Yarmouth, of
the second Tuesday of Aui^ust. At JIarwicii, on ihs third Monday of April,
and on the last IMonday of October. At BrcivriLT, on tlie Tuesday ne.vt aftei-

the third Monday of April, and on the Tuc:;day next after the last Mon-

day of October. At Orkmis, on the AVednesday next after the third Monday
of April, and on Wednesday next after the last Blonday of October. At

Wel/Jieet, on the Thursday next after the last JMonday of October. At Truro,
on the Thursday next after the third Monday of April. At rrovincetuivn, ou

Friday next after the third Monday of April, and ou the Frida)' next after

the last Monday of October.

BARNSTABLE,

The chief town of Barnstable coun-

ty, is pleasantly located at the head
of Cape Cod, and lies about sixty-five
miles south-east from Boston. The

principal village inside the cape, con-

tains the court-house, custom-house,
&c. Its harbor is formed by Sandy
Neck, and is good, for vessels of eight
feet draught of water. From this

place packets constantly ply to Bos-

ton, and in summer months, steam-
boats run belMeen this place, Plym-
outh, and Boston. There are a num-
ber of pleasant villages in the town.
West Barnstable village is four miles
from the court-house. Hyannis, at

the south side, is 4 miles south from
the court-house, and has become, by
an expensive brealcwater, a most im-

portant harbor, perfectly safe from all

winds, for all classes of vessels navi-

gating the sound, and passing round
the cape.

Oysterville lies on the south side of

the cape, eight miles from the court-

house. Centreville and Cotuit are
also on the south side, and, with Oys-
terville, afford good harbors for small
vessels.

The manufacture of salt was com-
menced in this town as early as 1779.

It then sold for six doUai-s a bushel.

There was made twenty-seven thou-

sand one hundred and twenty-five
bushels of salt in this town, in 1837.

Between fifty and sLxtj' sail of fishing
and coasting vessels belong to this

place. This town has numerous ponds,
a considerable water power, some fine

upland, and extensive salt marshes.
The manufacture of vessels, salt,

boots, shoes, hats, leather, cabinei-

ware, chairs, and wooden-ware,
amounted in one year to fifty-six
thousand five hundred and sixty-two
dollars.

The "
Pilgrim Fathers" landed here,

November 11, 1620, and here was
their first interview with the lords of

the soil—the Mattacheeset Indians.

Barnstable was first settled by a

part of the Rev. Mr. Lothrop's con-

gregation, of Scituate. They came to

this town in 1639. One of the emi-

grants was Samuel Ilinkley, father of

Thomas Hinkley, the last governor of

Plymouth colony.
James Otis, the celebrated patriot,

was born here, February 5, 1725.

He was killed by Ughtning, at Ando
ver, May 23, 1783.

Samuel Savage, ]M. D., an eminent

physician, resided here many years.
He died in 1831, aged eightj'-three

years.

On a monument in this town is the

following inscription :
—

"Eev. Oakes Shaw,
born at Eridgewater, 173G, graduated
at Harvard College, 1758, ordained in

this place 1760. died 11th February,
1807. Benevolence, affection, and

sincerity characterized and endeared
him in all the relations of social life.

With unaffected piety and zeal, with

unshaken constancy and fidelity, he

discharged the various duties of the

pastoral office. To perpetuate the re-

membrance of his virtues and talents,
to prolong the inffuence of his charac-

ter, and to testify their respect for his

memory, this monument is gratefully
erected by n bToiivcd and affectionate

people.'"
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BARRE.

WoBCESTER Co. The surface of

this township is elevated, and its soil

of an excellent quality. It is well

watered by Ware river, and several

of its branches.

The manufactures of Barre are

lai'ge, and increasing. In 1837, their

value exceeded three hundred and

sixty thousand dollars. They consist

of woollen and cotton goods, copper
pumps, boots, shoes, carriages, lea-

ther, palm-leaf hats, straw boimets,

axes, scythes, and gunpowder. Large
quantities of beef, butter, cheese, &c.,
are annually sent from this town to

Boston market. The village in the

centre of the to^^Ti is very pleasant,
and has become the seat of much
business. It lies sixty miles west by
south from Bo.ston, twenty-one north

by west from Worcester, and fifteen

north-east from Ware. Barre took its

name in honor of Colonel Barre, an

eloquent friend of America in the Brit-

ish parliament.
A church was formed in Barre, in

175.3, and the Rev. Thomas Frink
was installed their minister, the same

year.

BECKET.

Berkshire Co. The surface of this

town is mountainous, broken, and

rocky. Stones of various kinds exist,
but the granite prevails, frequently

impregnated with iron and sulphur.
The soil is hard and cold, yielding

corn and rj'e in moderate quantities.
It is good land for grass, and excel-

lent neat cattle and sheep cover the

hills. There is an abundance of hard
wood in the town, and " Becket char-

coal," transported one hundred and

thirty-five miles by the western rail-

road, which passes its northern bor-

der, has become a favorite article

with some of the economists in Bos-

ton, for the ignition of anthracite coal,
aiid other purposes. The streams are

pure as crystal, but being natives of
*he town, are small ; scarcely sufficient

for mills for domestic purposes.

There are handsome ponds in the

town, which afl'ord fish of various

sorts.

The air is exceedingly pure in

Becket, and health and longevity is

the consequence.
For a series of years, the number

of deaths in the town, with a popu-
lation exceeding one thousand, has

averaged only about twelve in a year
The town was first settled in 175o

;

a church was formed in 1758
;
and

the Rev. Ebenezer Martin was settled

as pastor.
Becket lies fifteen miles east south-

east from Lenox, and sixty-five miles

east from Albany.

BEDFORD,

Middlesex Co., is bounded on the

north by Billerica, east by Burling-

ton, south by Lexington and Con-

cord, and west by Carlisle. It was
formerly parts of Concord and Biller-

ica. The Shawshine river rises hi

this town, and the Concord passes its

western border. There are some
manufactures in the town, but the peo-

ple are principally engaged in agricul-
ture.

The first minister in the town was
the Rev. Nicholas Bowes, who was
ordained July 15, 1730.

Bedford lies fifteen miles north-

west from Boston, and five miles
north-east from Concord.

BEL.CHERTO\VN.

A beautiful town, in Hampshire
county, originally called " Cold

Spring," seventy-five miles west from
Boston, fifteen east from Northamp-
ton, seventeen north-east from Spring-
field, and twenty-five S. E. from
Greenfield. In the centre of the town
is a collection of handsome buildings,

among which is an elegant struc-

ture for the "Belchertown Classical

School." The soil of the town is of
an excellent quality, and well im-

proved. Large quantities of wool are

grown in this town. It is separated
from Ware by Sw'ift river, on the
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north. The principal inanufactai'e is

that of pleasure wagons, ot" which,
about six hundred are annually made.

iNIr. A. IShumway, of this place, has

driven the stage between Bclchertown
and Northampton twenty-live suc-

cessive years. In that period he
made fifteen thousand trips, travelled

two hundred and eighteen thousand
four hundred miles, and carried at

least one hundred and twenty-tour
thousand passengers ; yet, although
his hours of travelling were early in

the morumg and lalo in the cvenuig,
he never broke a limb, overturned his

coach, or met with any serious acci-

dent whatever, during his whole ca-

reer.

Bclchertown was first settled about

the year 1732. Colonel Timothy
Dwight was one of the early settlers.

The first minister was the Rev. Ed-
ward Billings, who was ordained in

1739. At that time, there were only

twenty families in the town. On a

monument in the grave-yard, is found

the following inscription :
—

'•' Sacred to the memory of Rev. Jus-

tus FoKWARD, pastor of the church in

Belchertown, who, skilled in Evangel-
i(;al Doctrine, exemplary in Christian

duty, prudent in council, valiant for

the truth, faithful and successful in

labors, after a long and useful minis-

try, in which with reputation to him-

self, and to the spiritual benefit of his

llock, he served God, and his genera-
tion, fell asleep March 8, A. D. 1814,
in the eighty-fourth year of his age,
and the fifty-ninth of his ministry.
Blessed are the dead who die in the

Lord."
IRKJAAyOUAM.

Norfolk Co. The soil in this town

is light and sandy, and not very good
for agricultural purposes. It is finely
watered by Charles river, and has a

good hydraulic power, lis manulirc

tures, consisting of cotton and woollen

goods, straw bonnets, boots and shoes,

amounted, in one year, to about one
hundred and fifty thousand dollars.

It lies eighteen miles souih-west

from Dedham, seventeen north by
west from Providence, Rhode Island,
and twenty-eight south-west from
Boston.

Peter's river, Bungy brook, and
Beaver pond, also water the town.

The factor)' villages are pleasant and

flourishing, and Ue at the north part
of the town, four miles from the cen-

tre village. Bellingham was formerly
a part of Dedham.

Its first minister was the Rev. Jon-

athan Mdls, in 1727.

BERKLEY.

Bristol Co. This town lies thirty-
seven miles south from Boston, eigh-
teen east from Providence, and five

miles south from Taunton. The New
Bedford and Taunton railroad passes
through the south-east corner of the

town. Berkley was formerly a part of

Dighton, from which it is separated by
Taunton river. The noted ''

Dighton
Rock" is in the limits of the town of

Berkley. A part of Assonet ba}' is

also within the town. There are
some coasting vessels belonging to

this place, and some ship building is

carried on.

The Rev. Samuel Toby was the

first minister in the town. He was
settled November 23, 1737, and died

February 13, 1781.

BERKSHIRE COUNTY.

Lenox is the shire town. This county is bounded north by Bennington
county, Vennont

;
west by Rensselaer and Columbia counties, New York

;

south by Litchfield county, Connecticut
;
and ea.st by Franklin, Hampshire,

and Hampden counties. This county is rough and hilly in many parts, but it

aflurds considerable vcrj' fine land, and produces much wool, all sorts of gr;im,

and'exports great quantities of beef, pork, butter, &c. The number of sheep
in this counlv. in 1S37. w.ns fine hundred and tliirlv-six thousand nine hun
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drecl and sixty-two. Berkshire is the most elevated county in the state. On
the east side lie the Green mountains, which shut it away from the rest of

Massachusetts
;
and on the west are the Taghconnic mountains, which sepa-

rate it from the state of New York. Berkshire is a region of hill and valley,

mountain and lake, beautiful rivers and laughing brooks—the very Piedmont

of America.
The Housantonick and Hoosick are its chief rivers. The former empties

into Long Island Soimd
;
the latter into the Hudson.

This county possesses, in rich and inexhaustible abundance, three of the

most important articles of the commerce of the world, Lmi, Marble, and Lime,

and its wood and water power are fiilly sufficient to enable it to fit them for

the purposes of life.

The western railroad, passing through the heart of the county, has opened lor

Berkshire a new channel to the Atlantic, for its various productions. Boston

can now fairly compete with New York for its valuable trade. In 1834, the

amount of its transportation was thirty-four thousand and seventy-five tons
;

since that period, the amount has probably nearly doubled. See State Tables.

In Graham's Magazine for July, 1844, Miss Sedgwick, well known as a

beautiful writer, and a native of one of its lovely vales, Stockbridge, thus

truthfully speaks of Berkshire :
—

" This county, until recently, has, from its sequestered position, remained in

obscurity. Its communication with its own capital, even, has been impeded

by the high and rugged hills that enclose it. But now the hills are brought

low, and the rough places are made smooth. Man has chained to his car a

steed fleeter than the rein -deer, and stronger than the elephant, and we glide

through our mountain passes with a velocity more like the swiftness of lov-

ers' thoughts than any material thing to which we can liken it.

" That section of the western railroad which traverses the wild hills of Berk
shire is a work of immense labor, and a wonderful achievement of art. The

pleasure of our citizens in surve3'ing it is not impaired by the galling con-

sciousness that there is yet a ibreign debt to pay for it, or doubtful credit

involved in it.

"Berkshire lies midway between the Connecticut and the Hudson. AfteX

leaving the wide meadows of the Connecticut, basking in their rich inheritance

of alluvial soil, and unimpeded sunshine, you wind through the narrow valleys
of the Westfield river, with masses of mountains belbre you, and woodland

heights crowding in upon you, so that ot every puff of the engine, the passage
visibly contracts. The Alpine character of the river strikes you. The huge
stones in its wide channel, which have been torn vip and rolled down by the

sweeping torrents of spring and autumn, lie bared and whitening in the sum-
mer's sun. You cross and recross it, as in its deviations it leaves space on
one side or the other, for a practicable road.

" At ' Chester Factories' you begin your ascent of eighty feet in a mile, for

thirteen miles! The stream between you ^nd the precipitous hill-side,

cramped into its rocky bed, is the Pontoosne, one of the tributaries of the

Westfield river. As you trace this stream to its mountain-home, it dashe?

along beside you with the recklessness of childhood. It leaps down precipices,
runs forth laughing in the dimpling sunshine, and then, shy as a mountain

nymph, it dodges behind a knotty copse of evergreens. In approaching the

•summit level,' you travel bridges built a hundred feet above other moun-
tain streams, tearing along their deep-worn beds

;
and at the '

deep-cut' your
passage is hewn through solid rocks, whose mighty walls frown over you.

' Mountain scenery changes with every changing season—we might almost

say with every change of atmosphere. In the spring, while the skirts of -vin-

ter still hang over this high cold region, and the trees seem afraid to put ou.
their buds, the Pontoosne breaks forth from its icy bars, and leaps and rushes
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on as if with conscious joy for its recovered liberty. It is the first sound that
breaks upon the wearisome lingering of winter, and its music strikes upon
the ear hke the sweetest of human sounds, the morning song of a child wak-
ing one from a dreary dream.

" In summer, as there is little on these savage hills of what is peculiar to

summer, flowers and fruitfulness, it is a happy chance to make this pass
when piles of clouds hitle the hot sun, and the rain is pouring down in siieets,
when every little droppmg rill that has dried away in the summer's heal, is

suddenly swelled into a waterfall, and over the banks and down tie clifl'i

they come pouring- and leaping, reminding one of that wild table of German,
imagining Undine and all her clan of water-spirits doing their whimsical
feats.

'• In autumn, the beeches and maples on the hill-sides, are glowing with a
metallic brightness, softened, and set off most exquisitely by the evergreen of
the towering pines, the massive cones of the Norway firs, and the graceful,
plumy hemlocks that intersperse them.

" In winter, the art that sends you swiftly and securely through these stern

solitudes; is most gratefully felt. The trees bend creaking before the howling
blast, the snow is driving and drifting, here it is piled on either side in solid

walls above your car, and there the hideous roots of the upturned stumps are
bare. Even the hardy mountain children have shrunk from the biting bla.st,
and the whimpering dog has begged an inside berth. You see no little tow-
head with its curious eyes, peering at you through the icy window, you hear
not even the salute of a bark. On you glide, by the aid of the most recent
discoveries and ingenious contrivances of art, through a country whose face
is still marked with the savage grandeur of its primeval condition. To give
the transition to the smiling valleys below the full force of contrast, it should
be made in summer. Then, you slide down amid green pastures, meadows
and orchards. You glance at Hinsdale and Dalton, and enter Pittsfield, famed
for its lofty elm, the last veteran of the original forest, (now, alas ! a dying
veteran,) for its annual fairs, its thriving medical institution, and for its rural

wealth, possessing as it does within the limits of its township, perhaps more
cultivable land th.an any other equal district in Massachusetts.

•' We have entered Berkshire by a road far superior to the Appian way. On
every side are rich valleys and smiling hill-sides, and deep-set in their hol-

lows, lovely lakes sparkle like gems. From one of these, a modest sheet of
water in Lanesborough, flows out the Housatonic, the minister of God's

bounty, bringing to the meadows along its course a j-^easty renewal of fertil-

ity, and the ever-changing, ever-present beauty that marks God's choicest
works. It is the most judicious of rivers

;
like a discreet rural beauty, it

bears its burdens and does its work out of sight ;
its water privileges for

mills, furnaces, and factories, are aside from the villages. When it comes
near to them, as in Stockbridge, it lingers like a lover, turns and returns, nnd
when fairly off, flies past rolling wheels and dinning factories, till reaching
the lovely meadows of Barrington, it again disports itself at leisure.

" The mere summer visiters to Berkshire, know little of the various beauties
of the Housatonic. To them it is a mere chance acquaintance, seen, per-
chance admired, and forgotten. But we who have lived in its companionslup
feel that

'loveliest there the spring days come,
With blossoms and birds, and wild bees' hum

;

The flowers of summer are fairest there,
And freshest the breath of the summer's air,
And sweetest the golden autumn day,
In silent sunshine jjlides away.'

"

For a brief sketch of the Berksuire Jubilee, sec Piltsficld.
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COURTS IN BERKSHIRE COUNTY.

Supreme Court. Law Term. At Lenox, on the second Tuesday in Septem-
ber. Nisi Prius Term. At Lenox, on the tenth Tuesday next after the first

Tuesday in March.
Common Pleas. At Leno*, on the fourth Mondays of February, June, and

October.

Meetings of the County Commissioners. At Lenox, on the first Tuesdays in

April and September.
Probate Courts. At Lenox, on the first Tuesday in each month, except

September ;
in which month, on the first Tuesday after the first Wednesday.

At Great Barrington, on the second Tuesdays in February, May, August,
and November. At Lanesborough, on the second Tuesdays in January,

April, July, and October.

Worcester Co. This township is

bounded north by Bolton, east by
JMarlborough, south by Northborough,
and west by Boylston and Sterling.
It lies fourteen miles north-east from

Worcester, and thirty west by north
from Boston. This is a good agricul-
tural township, and much of its pro-
tlucts are sent to market. It is watered

by North brook, a branch of the Assa-

bet, and Gates' pond, which is well
stored with fish.

Berlin was formerly parts of Bolton
and Marlborough.

Its first minister was the Rev. Reu-
ben PuflTer, D. D. He was ordained
in 1781, and died 1829.

BERNARDSTOX.

Franklin Co. This is a towTiship
of superior land, for agricultural pur-
poses, considerably elevated, between
Fall and Connecticut rivers. It was

formerly called Fall Ton-n, from Fall

river, which meets the Connecticut
between Greenfield and Gill. It took
its present name in honor of the Brit-

ish governor, Bernard. It lies ninety-
six miles west by north from Boston,
and seven north from Greenfield.
Bald and West mountains aflbrd de-

lightful scenery ;

—the former is six

huni.li-ed and thirty feet above the
waters of the Connecticut. Here are

springs containing magnesia, sulphur,
and iron.

Bernardston produced, in one year,
sixteen thousand bushels of corn and

rye, and five thousand barrels of cider.

There were, in 1837, three thousand
and twenty-two sheep in this town,
and some manufactures of shoes, lea-

ther, paLm-leaf hats, and scythe-
snaths.

The first white settlers came here in

1738, and built houses, or forts, as

they were called. These houses or

forts were built of hewn logs, &c., and
served the double purpose of houses
to live in, and a defence against the

sudden, and often fatal, attacks of the

Indians. Thej' were built with "port-

holes throiTgh the sides, through which
those within could fire, with elevated
stands for a watch, where they could
better see the approach of the enemy,
and give the alarm. These houses
were occupied by those by \^hose
name they were called, and the occu-

pants were among the first settlers in

this town. At a proprietors' meeting
held in Deerfield, in June, 1739, it

was voted that a meeting-house should
be built, fifty-nine feet long, forty feet

wide, and twenty-three feet between

joints. This house was built in two

years after the first settlement of the

XawM.. It was situated on Huckle hill,

and was the first meeting-house built

in Fall Town. In October, 1740, it

was voted that there be twenty pounds
paid out for the support of preaching.
And at an adjourned meeting it was
voted that a committee be chosen to

cut the brush, and burn them, ten rods
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round the meetlng-lwuse. Rev. John

Norton, from Windham, Connecticut,
the first minister, was ordaincil in

17-11, and was dismissed, on account
of the unsettled stale of the times, in

1715. In the first French war, he
acted for a season as chaplain at the

fort, which was kept at Hoosic, near
Adams. He was there at the time
that fort was surprised and taken by
a party of French and Indians, whence
he was carried captive into Canada.
After his release, he was installed

a pastor in Chatham, Connecticut.

From 1750 to 1701, there was no or-

dained preacher in Fall Town. The
Rev. Job Wright, the next minister,
was settled in 17*11. About 1755,
commenced the F'ench and Indian

war, in which the settlers in the town
suffered severely; while it continued,
the people lived mostly in Burke's fort.

Every man that was capable, bore

arms, and in some cases, females
were under the necessity of bearing
arms to defend their dwellings from
the attacks of a barbarous enemy.
When the men went into the fields,

they took their arms with them, and

constantly had some one on guard.
Agriculture and education were but
little attended to. The Indians were
almost constantly lurking in the woods,
which kept them in a perpetual state

of danger and alarm.
One of the heroes in the French and

Indian war, was John Burke, one of
the first settlers. On his gravestone
is the following inscription :

—
" In memory of the Hon. Maj'' John

Burke, who died Oct' 27th, 1784, in

ye sixty-seventh year of his age.

" Were I so tall lo reach the pole,
Or cjrasp ihe ocean wilh my span,
I inuai be nie<isured by my soul,

—
The Mind 's the standard of the man."

BEVERLY.

Essex Co. This town lies sixteen

miles north from Boston, by the rail-

road, and is united to Salem by a

bridge across the North river, one
thousand five hundred feet in length,
built in 17SS. It is bounded north by

1

Wenham, east by Slanchester, south

by Salem harbor, and west by Dan
vers. It has a pleasant village at the

north part of the town. The busines-.

of the town is much associated wilh
that of Salem.
The people of this town are noted

for their enterprise in commerce and
the fisheries. There are some mer-
chant vessels belonging to this place,
about fifty sail of fishermen, and

twenty coasters. The annual value
of the fisheries at Beverly is about
one hundred and fifty thousand dol-

lars. The manufactures, consisting
of brittania-ware, tin and cabinet-

wares, chairs, hats, boots, hair, mus-

tard, and bricks, amounted in one 3-ear
to about one hundred and twenty thou-

sand dollars. The prosperity of this

town has not suffered by the growth
of Ivixury, or excess of trade

;
its fish-

eries and manufacturing concerns are

stead}'' and progressive.
As a proof of the morals of its in

habitants, it has been recently stated,
that no conviction for crime has oc-

curred within the town for five suc-

cessive years.

Among many distinguished men
who have lived and died at Beverly,
was Captain Thomas Lothrop, who
commanded the "Flower of Essex,"
a company of 3'oung men from this

county, and who were, with their lea-

der, almost wholly cut off" by the Indi-

ans, at Bloody brook, in 1675.

From the elevated grounds in this

town, much delightful scenery is pre-
sented. A part of the beautiful Wen-
ham pond lies within the limits of the

tovm.

The first church in Beverly was
organized, and the Rev. John Hale

ordained, on the 20th of September,
1667.

BIL.L.ERICA.

Middlesex Co. This town is wa-
tered by the Concord and Shawshine

rivers, and has a pleasant village, on

high ground, near the centre. Its

soil is good, and well improved. The
Middlesex canal and the Boston and
Lowell railroad pass through the east-

erly part of the town. Here are some
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manufactures of woollen cloth, boots,

leather, \vooden--\vare, straw bonnets,

shaving and splitting knives, bed

binding, soft soap, and spirits. Bil-

lerica lies eighteen miles north-west

from Boston, seven south south-east

from Lowell, and seven north-east by
north from Concord.

Billerica Mills village is near the

Lowell railroad, twenty-two miles

from Boston.
This town was first settled about

the j^ear 1653, and was named from

Billerica}', a place in England. In

1663, the first church was gathered,
and the Rev. Samuel "Whiting or-

dained.

Captain Jonathan Danforth was one
of the most active and enterprising
settlers of Billerica. He was distin-

guished for his mathematical knowl-

edge, usefulness, and piety. From
his skill in surveying, he was fre-

quently employed in locating new
towns and settlements in the prov-
inces of New Hampshire and Massa-
chusetts. The plans of his surveys
were very numerous, and many of

them remain. He also left other

manuscripts. A poem was written

on his death, (in 1712,) of which the

following is an extract :
—

" He rode the circuit, chained great towns
and farms

To good behavior
;
and by well marked stations,

He fixed their bounds for many generations.
His art ne'er failed him, lliough the loadstone

failed,
When oft by mines and streams it was assailed

;

A.11 this is charming, but there's something
higher,

ijdve him the lustre which we most admire."

BLACKSTOIVE.

ijee Mendon.

BLANDFORD.

Hampden Co. This is a mountain-
ous township, of good land for graz-
ing. Branches of Westfield river rise

in the town, and give it a good water

power. Blandford was originally set-

tled by a companv from the north of

Ireland. The manufactures of the

place consist of woollen cloth, paper,
and leather. The agricultural pro-
ducts sent to market in 1836, amount-
ed to twenty-two thousand three hun-
dred and forty dollars. There were
in the town, one thousand five hun-
dred and thirty-five cows, and one
thousand eight hundred and twenty-
two merino sheep.
The Western railroad passes through

Chester village, at the north part of

the town. From Chester village to

Boston is one hundred and nineteen

miles, and to Springfield twenty-one
miles, by the railroad.

The ilev. Mr. M'Clenathan, it is

stated, was the first minister in Bland-

ford, but the date of his settlement

is not given.

BOLTON.

WoRCESTEK Co. The Wattoquothck
hills rise in Bolton, and divide the

waters between Assabet and Nashua
rivers. This town was formerly a

part of Lancaster, and comprised
most of the territory of Berlin. The
to\^nt is now of good size, and contains
much land of a superior quality. It

has no large streams, but branches of
the Assabet rise in the town, and the

Nashua passes its northern border.
An abundance of good limestone is

found in the town, and large quanti-
ties are prepared for market.

Bolton lies fifteen miles north north-
east from Worcester, and thirty-one
west by north from Boston, by the old
road.

From the pleasant village in the
centre of the town, to the Acton depot
of the Fitchburg railroad, twenty-five
miles from Boston, is about eight
miles. The village of Fryville hes
about two miles south from the centre
of the towni.

The first minister in Bolton was tne
Rev. Thomas Goss. The church was
formed, and he was ordained, in 1741
In this town and Berlin, are a num-
ber of wealthy farmers, attached to
the society of Friends.
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BOSTON.

Suffolk Co. The ancient city of Boston, the capital of Massachusetts, and

of New England, and the birthplace of American freedom, is naturally divided

"iito three sections—Old Boston, South Boston, and Fast Boston, situated at the

ivestcrn extremity of Massachusetts Bay.
The peninsula on which Old Boston is built, extends from Roxbury on the

Si-uth, to Winnesimet ferry on the north, and is nearly surrounded by the

waters of Boston harbor on the east, and Charles river on the north and west.

Its len^h is nearly three miles, and its average breadth about one mile. It

originally contained about seven hundred acres, but its territory has been so

greatly extended, by filling up around its borders, that it is supposed to con-

tain now about twelve hundred acre's. Its surface is quite uneven. It has

numerous eminences, rising from fifty to one hundred and ten feet above the

sea, affording admirable sites for building, and giving to it a peculiarly

romantic appearance. It is in north latitude 42° 21' 23* and west longitude

71° 4' 9".

Boston lies, by the old post-roads, one hundi-ed and sixty-three miles south

south-west from Augusta, Maine
; sixty-three south south-east from Concord,

New Hampshire ;
one hundred and sixty south-east by south from Montpe-

lier, Vermont; one hundred and fifly-eight east, (19' south,) from Albany,

New York
; forty north north-east from Providence, Rhode Island

; ninety-

seven east north-east from Hartford, Connecticut
;
two hundred and eleven

north-east by east from New York, and four hundred and thirty-two miles

north-east by east from Wa.shington.
Its Indian name was Shaiamut. It was called by the first settlers Tramount,

Tremont, or Trimountain, from tlu-ee hills nearly in its centre. It took its pres-

ent name on the 7th of September, 1630, in honor of the Rev. John Cotton,

second minister of the first church, who came from Boston in England. The

original proprietor of this territory was Wm. Blackstone, who, soon after its

settlement by Governor Winthrop and others, removed to Rhode Island.

Boston was incorporated as a city, February 23, 1822.

South Boston was setoff IVom Dorchester, by legislative enactment, INIarch

the 6th, 1804. It is bounded south by Dorchester bay, and spreads about two

miles on the south side of the harbor, above the forts. It contains about six

hundred acres, ami is laid out into regular streets and squares. The surface

of this part of Boston is exceedingly picturesque. In about the centre of this

tract, and about two miles from the City Hall, the memorable " Dorchester

Heights," famous in revolutionarj' histor}', rear their heads one hundred and

thirty feet above the sea, from which is presented a splendid view of Boston,

its harbor, and the surrounding country. It is connected with Old Boston by
two bridges. Tim (>lil Tdlonv rnilroad als i comiccl^ iliis new part of Bos-
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ton with the old, by a bridge. This part of Boston is rapidly increasing m
population and wealth. lis present population is supposed to exceed eight

thousand.

East Boston, until recently, had been called NodilWs Island. It lies about

fix hundred and sixty yards north-east from Old Boston, and about the same

distance from Charlestown. It is divided from Chelsea by Chelsea creek, sLx

hundred feet wide, over wliich is a bridge, and from which is an excellent

road to the Salem turnpike. The eastern railroad, to Salem, Newburyport,

&c., commences at East Boston. The island contains about six hundred and

sixty acres of land, and a large body of flats. It was purchased by a com-

pany of enterprising gentlemen, in 1832. They were incorporated in March,

1833, and the first house was commenced in October of the same year. The

present population is about five thousand. A steamboat feny is established

between this place and Old Boston, starting from each side every five min-

utes. The time occupied in crossing is about three minutes. A ferry is

about being established between this island and Charlestown.

The surface of the island is pleasingly variegated, and affords delightful

sites for dwelling-houses and gardens, at moderate prices. This place is well

located for manufactories of various kinds
; particularly for ship-building,

and all those branches of mechanics connected with navigation.

BOSTON HARBOR.

This harbor extends across Light-house channel and Broad sound, fiom

Point Alderton on Nantasket, to Point Shirley in Chelsea, a distance between

the islands of about four miles. It is said to cover an area of seventy-five

square miles, more than half of which is good anchorage ground for ships

of the largest class. The whole British navy might moor in this harbor

with ease, and ride in safety. This harbor is formed by the sea, and is

entirely free from sand bars and running ice, which often obstruct the passage
of vessels to harbors at the mouths of large rivers.

The most important part of this harbor is entered by a narrow pass, between

two and three miles below the city and navy yard ;
and is well protected by

two powerful forts—Independence and Warren. The outer harbor, below

these forts, will shortly be protected by a very powerful fortress, now erecting

on George's Island, at a great expense, by the government of the United States.

This harbor is easy of access, and never obstructed by ice, except that

part of it near the city ;
nor is that part entirely frozen over oftener than

twice or three times in the common age of man. Boston harbor contains

many islands of great beauty, and is the reservoir of the Mystic, Charles,

Neponset, Manatiquot, and other small rivers. Its border's are environed by
the towns of Hull, Hingham, Weymouth, Braintree, Quincy, Dorchester, Rox-

bury, Brookhne, Cambridge, Charlestown, and Chelsea
;
and the numerous

small bays, coves, and inlets, indenting their shores, give great variety, and

add much to the scenery of this delightful harbor.
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Owing to the almost insular situation of Boston, and its limited extent, its

population appears small. But it must be considered that the neighbormg

towns of Dorchester, Roxbury, Brookline, Brighton, Cambridge, Charlestown,

Medford, Maiden, and Chelsea, although not included in the city charter, are

component parts of Boston, and are as much associated with it in all its com-

mercial, manufacturing, literary, and social relations and feelings, as Green-

wich, Manhatianville, and Harlem are with the city of New York
;
or South-

wark, and the Northern Liberties with Philadelphia.

The population of Boston in 1700, was 7000—1722, 10,567—1705, 15,520

—1790, 18,038—1800, 24,937—1810, 33,250—1820, 43,298—1830, 61,391—

and in 1837, 80,325.

According to the census of 1810, and the mcrease of population from 1830

to 1810, Boston and its immediate vicinity contained a population in 1845 as

follows :—
Population of the city m 1840, 93,383

Increase in five years, 24,331
—117,714

Population in 1840, of nine towns, whose centre is within

five miles of Boston, 44,029

Increase in five years, 9,530 53,559

771,273
Population in 1840, of other towns, whose centre is within

ten miles of Boston, 34,491

Increase in five years, 5,705 40,196

Total population of Boston and its vicinity in 1845, 211,409

The above calculations in relation to the population and growth of Boston
were in type before the very valuable report by Mr. Shattuck on the census

and statistics of Boston was published. It appears by his report, that the

United States census contained material errors, which render the above state-

ments incorrect. The population of 1840 was only 83,000, instead of 93,383

That of 1845 by actual enumeration was 114,300, showing an increase of

29,366,—34 per cent, nearly. The increase of the seven towns immediately

adjoining Boston,—Dorchester, Roxbury, Brookline, Cambridge, Somerville,

Charlestown and Chelsea,—is stated to have been 18,308 in five years. For

further information, the reader is referred to Rlr. Shattuck's important wofk

Rateable PoUs in Boston.

1800. 4,538.
I

1820, 7,810.

1810, 7,754. 1825, 11,600.

1830, 13,090.

1835, 16,188.

1840, 17,696.

1845, 24,287.

This account of the rateable polls in Boston, does not agree with tho

decennial returns, of the State, in consequence of those returns being made
the years next succeeding.

4»
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It cannot be doubted that Boston has increased in population in a greater

ratio, since the census of 1810, than in an}' other period of five years since its

settlement.

By the report of the state valuation committee, dated January 5, 1841, tbpfc

were in Boston, in 1840, eighteen thousand four hundred ana seventy-rive

ratable polls. The aggregate amount of taxable property was one hundred

and nine million three hundred and four thousand two hundred and nineteen

dollars. In 1830, the aggregate amount of taxable property was eighty mil-

lion dollars
;
ratable polls, fourteen thousand one hundred and twenty.

By the above report, there were in Boston, in 1840, eight thousand nine

hundred and two dwelling-houses, one thousand three hundred and ninety-

seven warehouses and stores, one thousand five hundred and seventy-four

shops, and four hundred and thirty-eight barns. Total number of buildings

in the year 1840, twelve thousand three hundred and eleven.

It is estimated that in 1841 and 1842, about twelve hundred buildings were

erected in Boston
;
in 1843, there were between eleven and twelve hundred

built, and in 1844, there were more than sixteen hundred erected
;
so that it

is computed that on the 1st of January, 1845, there were between sixteen and

seventeen thousand buildings in the city, of which about twelve thousand

were dwelling-houses. It is supposed that the number of buildings to be

erected in Boston in 1845, will exceed that of any previous year.

At the present time, Boston, South Boston, and East Boston, are supposed
to comprise an area of about twenty-four hundred acres. The old part of the

city is already too thickly covered with buildings, and South Cove, within its

borders, has yielded its waters to busy streets, and handsome blocks of build-

ings. Those parts of South and East Boston, suitable for building lots, will

soon be improved, and those sections of Chelsea, Charlestown, and Cam-

bi'idge, within convenient reach of the city, are fast building up.

As Boston seems destined to expand itself into a great city, such parts of

the small bays on either side of -'The Neck," as are necessary for the pur

pose, must share the fate of South Cove
;
and the beautifully varied surface

of Dorchester, Roxbury, and Brookline, offers an area for the extension of the

city, of ample dimensions, and such as any people might feel proud to dwell in

AVENUES AND STEAM INTERCOURSE.

The peninsular situation of Boston requires many artificial avenues to and
from the surrounding country. The Neck, between Boston and Roxbury,
was formerly the only passage to Boston, except by water. This neck was
one mile and one hundred and seventeen feet in length, and so low that high
tides swept across it. In the course of time, it has been raised to a proper

level, paved, ornamented with trees, and nearly covered with buildings on

pach side ;
so that it now forms the widest and one of the most agreeable

avenues to the city.
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Harrison Avenue, on the eastern side of the neck, passes from Essex street,

m Boston, to Roxbury. The principal part of this road was taken from the

sea, and now forms a wide, and much travelled avenue.

The Tremont Road extends from the centre of the city to Roxbury. This

pleasant road passes on the western side of the neck, where the tide formerly
rose and fell.

Charles Rfver Bridge, leading from Boston to Charlestown, was opened for

travel on the 17th of June, 1780. It was incorporated March 9, 1785. This

bridge is one thousand five hundred and three feet in length, forty-two in

breadth, and cost fifty thousand dollars. Net revenue in 1834, nine thousand

three hundred and eighty-three dollars. This bridge is state property
—free.

West Boston Bridge, leading to Cambridge, was opened on the 23d of

November, 1793. It was incorporated March 9, 1792. Length of the bridge,

two thousand seven hundred and fifty-eight feet—abutment and causeway,
three thousand four hundred and thirty-two

—total length, six thousand one

hundred and ninety feet. Cost, seventy-six thousand six hundred and sixty-

seven dollars. Net revenue in 1834, twelve thousand nine hundred ami

twenty-eight dollars. This bridge becomes state property in 1879.

South Boston Bridge, leading from Boston Neck to South Boston, was

incorporated I\Iarch 6, 1804, and opened for travel in July, 1805. Length,
one thousand five hundred and fifty feet—^width forty. It cost the proprietors
about fifty thousand dollars. It is now city property

—free.

Canal or Craigie's Bridge, from Boston to East Cambridge, was incorpo-
rated February 27, 1807, and opened for travel in August, 1809. Length,
two thousand seven hundred and ninety-six feet, width forty. A lateral

bridge extends from this to Prison Point, Charlestown. Length, one thou-

sand eight hundred and twenty feet—width, thirty-five. Net receipts in

1834, three thousand one hundred and seventy-three dollars. This bridge will

become state property in 1879.

The "Western Avenue, leading from Beacon street to Sewell's Point, in

Brookline, was incorporated June 14, 1814, and commenced in 1818. It was

opened for travel, July 2, 1821. This avenue is a substantial dam across tlie

west bay, about a mile and a half in length, and from sixty to one hundred feet

in width. This dam encloses about six hundred acres of flats, over which

the tide foiTnerly flowed from seven to ten feet. A partition dam divides this

enclosure, and forms, by the aid of flood and ebb gates, a full and receiving

basin; thereby producing, at all times, a great hydraulic power. The cross

dam also forms an excellent avenue from the main dam to Roxbury. Cost,

about seven hundred thousand dollars. Net receipts in 1834. six thousand

one hundred and thirty-three dollars. The proprietors of this avenue claim a

perpetual franchise.
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Boston Free Bridge, from Sea street to South Boston. Incorporated, Marcn

4, 1S26—completed, 1828. Length, five hundred feet—width, thirty-eight

Built by proprietors of lands m the vicinity. City property.

Warken Bridge, leading to Charlestown. Length, one thousand three hxva-

dred and ninety feet—width forty-four. Incorporated March 12, 1828, and

opened on the December following. The net receipts of this bridge in 1834,

were sixteen thousand four hundred and twenty-seven dollars. It is now
state property, free.

Eastern Railroad. The cars on this road leave East Boston for Salem,
and Newburyport, Massachusetts

; Portsmouth, New Hampshire ;
and Port-

land, Maine. The depot is on a wharf belonging to the company, in Old

Boston, and passengers cross from thence in commodious steamboats, to the

cars. This road will soon extend to Augusta, and other parts of Maine.

Boston and Maine Railroad. The depot of this railroad is at the foot of

Union street, near Hay Market square. The cars cross Charles river between

Warren bridge and the Boston and Lowell railroad viaduct, and pass through
Andover and Haverhill, Massachusetts

;
Exeter and Dover, New Hampshire ;

and join the Eastern raikoad at South Berwick, Maine.

Boston and Fitchburg Railroad. This road commences at the depot, near

the Warren bridge, in Charlestown, and passes to Fitchburg in Massachu-

setts. The freight depot of this company is two hundred and fifty feet in

length, by sixty in width. The passenger depot is two hundred and fifi:y by

fifty-two feet. This road will be continued from Fitchburg, to some point on

Connecticut river, and from thence to Rutland and Burlington in Vermont
;

and Montreal in Canada. This road is also destined to extend from Bur-

lington, across Lake Champlain, and across the northern coimties in the state

of New York, to Ogdensburg, on the outlet of Lake Ontario.

Boston and Lowell Railroad. The cars on this road start from large pas-

senger and merchandise depots, at the foot of Lowell street, at the northern part

of the city, and cross Charles river, by a bridge, to East Cambridge. This

road passes from Lowell to Nashua, Manchester, and Concord, New Hamp-
shire, and will shortly be extended to Montreal, the capital of Canada, through
the northern parts of New Hampshire and Vermont, and the eastern town-

ships in Canada.

Boston and Providence Railroad. The proprietors of this railroad have

their depots for passengers and freight at the foot of Boylston street, at the

south-western part of the city. This road crosses the west bay to Roxbury,
and is on a continued line of railroads and steamboats from Maine to New
Orleans. The most important branch of this road in Massachusetts, is that

from Mansfield, twenty-four miles from Boston, which passes to Taunton,
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Fall River, and New Bedford. From New Bedl'ord, you go by steamboats,
to Martha's Vineyard and Nantucket.

Western Railroad. The passenger and merchandise depots of this grc-al

road is at South Cove, at the foot of Lincoln street. It passes under Harrison

avenue and Wasliington street, and over the west bay, to Brookline. T.us is

a continued line of railroads through Worcester, Springfield, and Pittsfield, in

Massachusetts
;
and Albany, Utica, and Rochester, to Buffalo, on Lake Erie

in the state of New York. There are two important blanches to this railroad.

At Worcester, it branches off to Norwich, Connecticut
;
from thence you may

go to New York by steamboat, or the Long Island railroad.

From Springfield, there is a branch to Hartford and New Haven, Connec-

ticut
;
from thence you may go to New York by steamboats, or the railroad,

now in progress, to meet the Harlem Road, in Westchester, New York.

The merchandise depot of this railroad, is perhaps the largest in the coun-

tr)'. It is one hundred and twenty feet wide, and four hundred and fifty-

three feet ten inches long on one side, and four hundred and eighty-one feet

on the other. The roof is a single arch, of one hundred and twenty feet span,

resting wholly on the walls, and without a pillar to support it. The walls are

of brick, twenty inches in thickness, eighteen feet high, and where the rafters

rest upon them, that thickness is doubled. The whole area included within

these walls, is one room, unbroken by even a single pillar, partition, or any-
thing else, but piles of merchandise. The floor contains just fifty-one thou-

sand six hundred square feet, or very nearly an acre and one third.

The Old Colony Railroad, crossing from South Cove to ^uth Bostoii,
leads to Quincy, Abington, and Plymouth ;

from which a branch will pass
from Braintree, through Bridgewater, to Fall River, on Narraganset bay.
The above avenues to the city are lighted with lamps, when necessary, and

make a beautiful appearance.
Besides the steamboat ferry which plies between Old and East Boston every

five minutes, the Wimiisemet Ferry, with a good line of steamers, passes
every half hour between Boston and Chelsea. The distance across the

latter is one mile and three-eighths. This ferry was established as early as
1631.

There are regular lines of steamboats from Boston to Portland.. Bath, Gar-

diner, Hallowell, Augusta, Thomaston, Belfast, Bangor, and Lastport, in

Me.
;

to St. John, N. B.
; Hahfax, N. S.

;
and Liverpool, England.

Stages leave the city daily for country places, in all directions, and omni
busses visit many of the adjoining towns every hour in the day.

BOSTON COMMON.

This is considered as one of the most delightful promenades in the world.
It comprises about seventy-five acres of land, of variegated surface, incJudmg
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the lands on the west side of Charles street. These grounds are beautifully

shaded by trees of various kinds, particularly in the malls or walks which

surround the enclosure. Some of these trees were planted more than a Hun-

dred years ago. The malls are wide, bevelled, gravelled, and smooth
;
and

the waters of Charles river, and the romantic scenery beyond it, are in pros-

pect.

This public walk is enclosed by an iron fence, five thousand nine hundred

and thirty feet, or one mile and two hundred and seventeen yards, in length,

on the outside of which are wide streets and beautiful buildings. This plot

of ground is so held by the city, that it can never be appropriated to any other

than its present healthful and pleasing purposes.

The number of trees on these lands is upwards of one thousand
; they

consist of the English and American elm, the maple, ash, lime, hornbeam^

button-wood, &c., with a solitary Jingo, a native of Java. Much the larger

proportion is the beautiful native elm.

Near the centre of this delightful spot, is a beautiful little pond, whose

waters are derived from living springs within its own bosom
;
and near to

that, stands a majestic native elm, whose height is sbcty-five feet, and whose

branches spread eighty-sLx feet. Its girth, two and a half feet from tne

ground, is twenty-one feet and eight inches. Although this noble tree has

withstood the blasts of more than a hundred winters, its body is sound, and

its branches appear as hale and beautiful as ever.

PUBLIC BUILDINGS.

Some of those of the most prominent character only can be mentioned.

The Old State House, on State and Washington streets, is one hundred

and ten feet in length, thirty-eight in breadth, and three stories high. Two

buildings on this spot have been destroyed by fire. The first was built in

1659, the second in 1714, and the present in 1748. Until the erection of the

present State House, this building had ever been used for governmental pur-

poses, both colonial and state. More recently it was used for the purposes of

a city hall, post-ofiice, readmg-room, &:c. It is now employed for ofiices and

stores.

Faneuil Hall, or the "Cradle of Liberty," in Dock square, is. three stories

high, one hundred feet by eighty, and was the gift of Peter Faneuil, Esq., to

the touTi, in 1742. The building was enlarged in 1805, and until the new
market was built, the lower part of it was used for meat stalls. It is now

improved for stores. The hall is seventy-six feet square, twenty-eight feet

high, and has deep galleries on three sides. About five thousand five hun-

dred persons can stand within its walls. It is adorned with superb paintings

of patriots, warriors, and statesmen. The third story is improved for armo-

ries.

State House. This building is on an open square, on Beacon street,

fronting the malls and common. Its foundation is one hundred and ten feet



BOSTOiN. 17

above the level of the sea. It was commenced in 1795, and completed and

occupied in 1798. Cost, one hundred and tliirt)--three thousand liiree hun-

dred and thirty-three dollars. Length, one hundred and seventy-three ll-ct—
breadth, sixty-one.

On the area of the lower hall, stands the beautiful Statue of Washington,

by Chantry.
From the top of the dome on this building, fifty-two feet in diameter, and

two hundred and thirty feet above the level of the harbor, the whole city

appears beneath, with all its crooked streets, its extended avenues, its splendid

buildings, and the malls and common, crossed with romantic walks, and

shaded by centurian elms. On the north and west, the county of Middlesex

presents its numerous villas, and a rich array of agricultural taste and beauty.

Here are viewed the hallowed halls of Harvard, and the sacred field of

Bunker. On the south, the county of Norfolk appears, with its granite hills,

and luxuriant vales, checkered with a thousand farm-houses, cottages, and

splendid mansions. On the east, the city, with its lofty spires, the harbor

and the ocean, all conspire to render this the most enchanting scene west of

the Bay of Naples.

An intelligent traveller from the beautiful " Monumental City," thus speaks
of his visit to " the top of the State-House "

:
—

'•' On the east lays the ocean, glancing in the sunbeams like a silver sea, and

the beaudful harbor of Boston, studded with islands, and relieved here and

there by the white walls of fortifications upon them
;

far in the north-east, at

a distance of nine or ten miles, can be distinctly seen the spires and the neat

dwellings of the town of LjTin ;
on the north, is CharlestowTi, with its sacred

hill and column, the grave-stone of patriots ;
on the west, within an amphi-

theatre of hills, are Cambridge and the adjacent towns
;
and on the south

appear Roxbur)% Dorchester, and South Boston, with its public buildings,
and its memorable heights ;

the whole forming a picture, the eflect of which
is in the highest degree pleasing, but which it passes my power to describe.

The view of the city alone, as it lies at the feet of the spectator, is well worth

the toil of the ascent, but when to this is added a view of the ocean, and the

lovely and picturesque country enclosed within a circle of from fifty to sev-

enty miles in circumference, the traveller thanks his stars that have led him
to such a glorious spot, and sets down the day when he ascended the top of

the State-house in Boston, as one of the bright days of his life.

" If he has a soul, or the least sympathy for the beautiful in nature, it must
be strongly moved. I can only say that I am perfectly willing to leave the

decision of the matter with any one who will take the trouble to reach the

spot, being well convinced that they will leave it with as strong feelings of

enthusiasm and admiration as I did.
" The great number of visiters chows that the beauty of the prospect is

already appreciated, and in my opinion, the time will come, when Boston
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State-house will be celebrated even in other countries, for the grand view

which may be obtained from its summit."

City Hall. This building is well located on an open plot of ground, in

Court square, between Court and School streets. It was built in 1810, and

was improved as a court-house, until a new and more commodious edifice

was erected for that purpose.

It is built of granite, and consists of an octagon centre, fifty-five feet wide,

with two wings, twenty-sLx by forty feet, connected by the entrance and pas-

sages to the centre. The length of the whole building is one hundred and

forty feet.

This building was thoroughly repaired in 1840, and rooms prepared and

furnished for all the important departments and offices of the city govern-

ment, and became thus improved in March, the following year. A fire-proof

building, for the preservation of public documents, has been erected in its

rear, and its front, on School street, decorated with walks and shrubbery.

Court House. The comer-stone of this building, in Court square, between

Court and School streets, for the accommodation of all the courts of law for

the county, city, and the United States, offices of record, &c., was laid Sep-

tember 28, 1833. It is of cut, or hewn granite, from the Quincy quarry. Its

length is one hundred and seventy-five feet ten inches—width, fifty-three feet

ten inches, and height fifty-seven feet three inches. A portico, of nearly the

same model of the Doric portico at Athens, adorns its north and south fronts.

There are four columns of fluted granite at each of these porticoes, measuring

twenty-five feet four inches in length, and four feet five inches in diameter.

They weigh twenty-five tons each. The interior contains four court rooms,

fifty feet by forty, and large and commodious offices for all the respective

departments.

Faneuil Hall Market. The corner-stone of this superb granite building,

was laid on the 27th of April, 1825, and completed in 1827. It cost one hun-

dred and fiftj'^ thousand dollars, exclusive of the land. It extends east of

Faneuil hall, on Dock square, five hundred and thirty-six feet, and is fifty

feet in width. The centre part of the building, seventy-four by fifty-five,

projects two or three feet on the north and south, and rises seventy-seven feet

from the ground, to a beautiful dome. The wings are thirty-one feet in

height, and two stories high. The lower floor is exclusively appropriated
as a meat, fish, and vegetable market. The upper story is one vast hall,

arranged to be divided into compartments for ware-rooms, and large sales.

On the sides of this building are North Market street, sixty-five, and South

3Iarket street, one hundred and two feet in width, on each side of which is a

range of spacious warehouses, with granite fronts. On the east, across

Commercial street, is a commodious wharf, belonging to the city. The hall,

in the centre of the building, is called Quinaj Hall, in honor of Josiah Quimcy
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LL. D., the late iiulefatigable mayor of the city, and late president of Ilar-

rard University.

BoYi^TON Market and Hall. This building was erected in 1810, and
named in honor of Ward N. Boylston, Esq. It is situated at the corner of

Washington and Boylston streets. It is a hundred and twenty feet long, and

lifty feet wide; three stories in height, with a deep cellar. The land and

building cost about sixty thousand dollars. The lower floor of the building
IS occupied for market stalls.

Boyhlon Hall, in the tliird story of this building, is one hundred feet in

length, and forty-eight in breadth
;
with an arched ceiling, twenty-four feet

in height. It contains a large orchestra, and a handsome organ ;
and is well

calculated for large assemblies for religious worship, or musical entertain-

ments. This hall will accommodate about one thousand persons.

Merchaxts' Exchange. This magnificent structure, which has been

looked upon with so much interest and satisfaction, by all Bostonians, was

completed in the fall of 1842. Great credit is deservedly due to IMr. Rogers,
the architect and contractor, for his chaste designs, classic and elegant taste,

and for the manner in which he forwarded the work
;
and lastly, and chiefly,

to the good sense and sound judgment of an inteUigent board of directors, and

all others interested, for the manner in which the original plans have been

carried fully out, in all their ramifications and intricate detail.

The corner-stone of this great work, was laid with appropriate ceremony,

by that prince of merchants, the venerable Thomas H. Perkins, on the

2d day of August, 1811. Every part of the work is executed in the most

thorough manner, of material of the most durable granite and brick
;

not

a cask of lime, except in the plastering, has been used, all the work being
laid in hydraulic cement.

To give those of our readers at a distance, some little idea of its mag-
nitude, we will state, that its front, on State street, is seventy-six feet

;
its

height seventy feet
;

its depth, to Lindall street, two hundred and fifty feet,

covering thirteen thousand feet of land. The front is entirely of Quincy
granite, with four pilasters, and two antes, being forty-five feet in height,

weighing on the average, fifty-five tons each. Upwards of one milhon six

hundred thousand bricks have been used, and all laid previous to the 1st of

January, IS 12. The roof is constructed of wrought iron, and covered with

galvanized sheet iron
;
and all the principal stair-cases are of stone and iron,

and of course, fire-proof.

The front is occupied by banks, insurance offices, and places of business
;

the rear as a public house
;
the basement is occupied by bath rooms, and the

lop as a telegraph station.

The great centre hall is for the merchants' exchange, and subscribers'

reading-room, and a truly magnificent room it is. Its dimensions, fifty-eight

by eighty feet, having eighteen columns, twenty feet in length, in imitation

5
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of Sienna marble, with Corinthian capitals. The most finished and highly
ornamented work in the structure, is the enamelled sky-light of colored glass,

in the central portion of the dome of the great hall
;
and a more splendid crown

to the noble edifice cannot be imagined, for it seems to be composed of everv

brilliant that the richest fancy could conceive, even if unlimited wealth had

been at command to obtain them.

The centre of the basement story is occupied by the Boston post-office, and
is thirty-six by ninety-nine feet. It has entrances from State, Congxess, and

Lindall streets, through a spacious lobby of twenty by eighty feet. This story

has a vaulted ceiling, whch supports the principal floor, and is entirely fire-

proof, the windows of said office being provided with wrought iron shutters, of

superior construction. The total cost of the building, exclusive of land, was
one hundred and seventy-five thousand dollars.

CusTOM-HousE. The new custom-house is situated at the head of the

dock between Long and Central wharfs, fronting east on said dock, and 3

continuation of Commercial street, and west on India street, which is its prin-

cipal front. It is in the form of a cross
;
the extreme length one hundred and

forty feet, extreme breadth ninety-five feet
;
the longest arms of the cross axe

seventy-five feet wide, and the shortest sixty-seven feet. The opposite fronts

and ends are alike. It is founded on piles, driven in the most effective man-

ner, upon which is laid a continuous platform of granite, eighteen inches in

thickness, laid in cement mortar. The cellar, under the whole building,

about twelve feet deep, is made perfectly dry, is well lighted by sky-lights in

the side-walk, and is intended for the storage of goods.

The basement story, about thirteen feet in height, is principally for the

receipt, storage, and examination by the appraisers, of goods and merchan-

dise.

There are m the building one or two rooms for offices, and also apartments
for the family of the messenger, who is expected to live in the building, and

take care of it.

The entrance story, next above this, is approached on both fronts by a flight

of fourteen steps, and through a portico of six fluted granite columns, of the

(jrecian Doric order, five feet four inches in diameter, and thirty-two feet in

height, each in one piece, and wrought in the most perfect manner. From
the porticoes, the entrance is through three doors on each side, into the grand

vestibule, which is in the form of a cross, and constructed of gi'anite ;
it is so

arranged as to produce the greatest possible effect, with the height allowed.

Opening from this on the south, are the appraiser's examination room,
tlie square yard measurer's room, and the invoice clerk's room. On the

north, are rooms for the inspectors, the Coal and salt measurers, the weigh-
ers and gaugers, the provers of spirits, and a large iron vault for the use

of the sub-treasury. From the vestibule, the ascent to the principal story-

is by two flights of stairs, seven feet wide, of easy rise, landing in two vesti

bules in that story, and which conimunicate with all the rooms therein. In
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the centre, is the general business room, sixly-five by sixty-eight feet, and

sixty feet high. In the north end are rooms for tlie collector, the naval officer,

the survej'or, and their clerks
;

in the south end are rooms for the appraisers,

the public store-keeper, and their clerks. In this story is most of the busi-

ness of the department to be transacted
;

it is well lighted, and the finish is to

be in keeping with its importance and the rest of the building. Above this,

IS another story, to which access is had by private stair-ways, and which is

to be used for the deposit of the papers of the department. The building was

commenced in 183S, and will probably be finished in 1846.

The style of the building is the Grecian Doric, in its purity, adopted and

managed to conform to its wants and use
;
and while the architect has not

trammelled himself with the Grecian temple style of building, he has produced
a design that is emphatically Grecian in all its parts. It is constructed

entirely fire-proof, and the workmanship in every part is of the very best

kind. It cost about a million of dollars, and was opeiied for the transaction of

business, August 9, 1847. It was designed by A. B. Young, Esq., the archi-

tect, who has had the superintendence of its erection from its commencement.

Melodeox. In the year 1836, the site formerly known as the Lion tavern,

in Washington street, was purchased, and on it was erected a spacious build-

ing called the Lion Theatre.

In the year 1839, the buildi'i? was leased to the Handel and Ilaydn soci-

ety, for a term of years, and t>» ik is present name. The house is one him-

dred and ten feet long, fifty-five feet wide, and thirty-five feet high. It will

seat one thousand six hundred and fifty persons.

Masonic TEsirLE. The corner-stone of this beautiful building was laid

October 14, 1830, and dedicated May 30, 1832. It is located on Tremont

street, at the corner of Temple place. It is eighty and a half feet in length,

sixty feet in width, and its walls are fifty-two feet in height.

The building contains three stories, and an attic, which are very commo-

diously fitted up for lecture and school-rooms; a masonic hall, and a chapel,

sixty-five by fifty-five feet, capable of seating nine hundred persons. The
walls of this building are of rubble stone, with a basement of fine hammered

granite. Its towers rise ninety-five feet from the ground.

National Theatre. In the year 1832, a building was constructed, at the

junction of Portland and Traverse streets, for equestrian entertainments. It

soon was converted into a place for dramatic perfonnances, and was called

the Warren Theatre. In 1836, Mr. "William Pelhy, the proprietor, purchased
more land, and built the present handsome edifice, one hundred and twenty
feet long, and seventy-five feet wide, exclusive of the saloons, &c., and which
\v\]\ accommodate seventeen hundred persons with seats.

Boston Theatre. This building is on Federal and Franklin streets, and
was improved as a theatre from 1794 to 1834. The building first erected was
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burnt, Feb. 2, i798, and rebuilt the same year. It is one hundred and fifty

feel in length, and sixty-one in width.

In 1834, the Boston Academy of Music took a lease of the building for a

term of years, and fitted it up with much taste, for the objects of the society.

It wa.s called "the Odeon," from the name of a temple in Athens, appro-

priated to musical and other popular assemblies. The Odeon became a place

of religious worship, and weis a favorite resort with the Bostonians to listen

to musical and other literary and scientific performances.

In 1846 this building was leased to Oliver C. Wyman, Esq., for the term

of seven years. ]Mr. Wyman repaired and remodelled the building, and

reopened it as a theatre, on the 24th of August, 1846.

This theatre is disconnected with other buildings, and is otherwise very
safe from fire. It will conveniently seat three thousand persons, and is one

of the most beautiful theatres in the country.

Howard Athen.s;um. This building is on Howard street, on the site where

the " Miller Tabernacle "
formerly stood. The house is one hundred and

ten feet in length, seventy-six in width, and contains a number of commo-

dious halls, besides that appropriated for musical and theatrical entertain-

ments, and which will comfortably seat two thousand persons.

The building is on a new plan, secure from fire, and is a fine specimen of

the arcliitectural taste and skill of Isaiah Rogers, Esq.

Tremont Temple. This house was built and opened for theatrical per-

formances September 24, 1827. It cost the proprietors about one hundred

and twenty thousand dollars.

in 1843, the building was sold to the Tremont Street Baptist Church, for

fifty-five thousand dollars. The total cost of the building to the church,

including repairs, and putting it into its present condition, amounts to about

seventy-nine thousand dollars.

This property, when paid for, either from donation or income, is to be

entirely under the control of the church, and the seats in the large hall are

lo be always free on the Sabbath.

After discharging the debts now against the property, the entire net income

is to be appropriated to foreign, domestic, or city missions, or for other free-

seat churches, and the poor of the church and of the city ;
one half being

restricted to objects in the city. And the whole is restricted from the ordi-

nary expenses of supporting the preaching of the gospel, (that being left to

the church to provide in some other way,) excepting repairs of the building,

teixes, insurance, "lighting, warming, and salary of the superintendent, which

may be taken from the income.

The house is one hundred and forty feet in length, ninety-seven feet in

width, and its walls are seventy-five feet in height. It contains five halls for

popular assemblies, four s*ores in front, and thirty-four other rooms for

schools and other purposes. The building was dedicated to the worship of

God, on the 7th of December, 1843.
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The Revere Hodse. This extensive edifice, comprising 226 rooms in all,

was erected by the IMassachusetts Charitable I\rechanic Association, at the

corner of Bulfinch street andBowdoin square, formerly the spacious mansion

and garden lot of the late Boott estate. The main building has five stories,

and two wings at its south and west have four each, besides the basement.

Entrance for the ladies is on the south and west wing, each facing Bowdoin

square, where the internal arrangements are so ingeniously managed that

the private apartments are agreeably approached. The main entrance is

adorned with a portico, supported by four Corinthian columns. On entering

the building the eye is arrested by a spacious hall, with a floor of the finest

marble tile, and which appears of boundless extent, by the reflections of an

immense sized mirror at its extremity, which reflects its real capaciousness
and beauty to a double amount and extent : and the whole scene is filled

with columns and splendid furniture and adornments, and forms a very

pleasing optical illusion.

There are three sky-lights, stained with gorgeous coloring, one being over

the central stair-way, and a window of the same style of coloring is near the

ladies' drawing-room. The gentlemen's dining hall is about 100 by 40 feet,

and 17 feet high, and furnished with glittering chandeliers, and every other

article for use or ornament, in great profusion. The ladies' drawing-room is

classically designed and beautifully arranged in the western wing, and affords

interesting scenery views from its windows. The ordinary for the ladies is

supplied with fascinating mirrors, to reflect similar faces and forms, replicate

to almost infinity. Throughout this establishment are sofas, lounges, and

chairs of every variety and form, covered with the richest satin or velvet,

and, in connection with the draperies, curtains, cornices, and embellishments,

impart to the whole a princely appearance.
The carpeting has been brought from a great distance; as "dear bought

and far fetched is fit for ladies." the attempt for such a realization has been

made by their honorable host, Paran Stevens. Mr. S. has taken a lease

of the establishment for ten years, and, for his urbanity and assiduous atten-

tion to the wants and comforts of his boarders, without doubt, will meet

with an ample remuneration for his vast expenditures for fixtures and orna-

ments to the building.

Adams House. This elegant and spacious granite building is located on

Washington street, in the centre of the city, and is easy of access to the depots
of the various railroads, and other avenues leading to and from the city. It

contains 150 rooms, fitted and furnished in a style inferior to no hotel in the

country.

This establishment is conducted in a first-rate style, on strict temperance

principles, and receives, as it deserves, the patronage of an intelligent com-

munity. It is conducted by D. Chamberlain ic Co., the gentlemanly lessees

of the house.
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The Old Custom-House stands on the north side of Custom-house street,

near the head of Central wharf. It is sixty feet square, and two stories in

height, exchisive of the basement, which is divided by brick walls and brick

arches, supporting the different passages above. The lower part of the front

is built of stone, and the upper part of brick, with a colonnade sixty feet long,

and ten feet wide, supported by ten stone columns, of the Doric order, four-

teen feet in length. The floor is paved with stone, and a broad flight of stone

steps, with iron raiUngs, leads to the several offices. It is finished with a

stone frieze and cornice, and the windows ornamented with marble dressings.

The front is crowned by a pediment, on the top of which is a spread eagle.

The basement and first story is calculated for the storing of goods, and con-

tains a number of compartments, occupied by the house-keeper and some of

*he under oflicers. The upper story contains six rooms, twenty feet high, in

which the business of the ofiice is transacted. The building is remarkably

well contrived for the convenience of business, and exhibits a chaste and ele-

gant specimen of architecture. It cost about thirty thousand dollars.

There are a number of halls in the city' appropriated for public meetings

of various kinds—among them are

Amory Hall, on the corner of "Washington and West streets.

Chauncy Hall, in Chauncy place.

Concert Hall, on the corner of Court and Hanover streets.

Congress Hall, on the corner of Congress and Milk streets.

Corinthian Hall, on the corner of Milk and Federal streets.

Lyceum Hall, on Hanover street.

Pantheon Hall, on "Washington street, near Boylston market.

"Washington Hall, on "Washington street.

Worcester Railroad Hall, over the passenger depot.

Among the best specimens of architecture in Boston, are Trinity Churcli, in

Summer street
;

St. Paul's Church, and the Masonic Temple, on Tremont

street
;
the Merchants' and Suffolk Banks, on State street

;
the Custom-House,

and the Rlerchants' Exchange ;
the Second Church, on Hanover street

;
the

steeples of Park street and Federal street churches
;
and the new Catholic

Church, at South Boston.

A great number of new and elegant buildings are about being erected in

the city ; among which are several churches, a large hotel, and spacious

structures for the accommodation of the Athena?um, and Slassachusetts

Mechanics' Charitable Association. From the known science and taste of

the individuals composing the members of these societies, the Bostonians

have a right to expect a great addition to the architectural ornaments of their

city.

COMMERCE.

The citizens of Boston have ever sustained a high rank for their commer-

cial enterprise. After whitening every sea with their canvass, and extenuin
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their commerce vnlh all nations of the globe, they are now looking nestnard

and noithnard, and constructing new and artificial chaimels, to enable them

not only to compete Aviih other Atlantic cities, for the already immense com-

merce of the western world, but to intercept it on its passage down the St.

Lawrence.

The numerous railroads which connect Boston with the heart of our exten-

sive country, and which are penetrating its remote boundaries in every direc-

tion
;

the line of steamers connecting Boston with Liverpool, already so

highly successful
;
the numerous and extens'ive manufactories which occupy

almost every stream in New England, and owned in, or are tributary to this

metropolis, with the great and increasing weaUh of the citizens, are all rap-

idly tending to make Boston a commercial city of the first magnitude. While

other cities have been stationary, or retrograding, Boston has been steadily

increasing in her commerce, as will be seen by the following statement of the

number of arrivals at Boston, for tea successive years :—
Foreisn. Coastwise. Foreiim. Coastwise.

1835 1302 3897 1840 1648 433G

183f) 1452 3941 1841 1791 4446

1837 1591 4000 1842 1737 38(12

1838 1313 4018 1843 1716 4702

1839 1553 4251 1844 2174 5009

The coasters above named include only paclcets and vessels of a larger

class. A large number of fishing vessels, wood coasters. &c., amounting to

some thousands annually, arrive, in addition to the above
;
so that it may con-

fidently be stated that not less than twelve thousand vessels enter the harbor

of Boston every year.

Boston, for the last three or four years has, without doubt, been the most

flourishing Atlantic city in the United States. In commerce, she has been

gaining rapidly on her great rival. New York, as will be seen by the follow-

ing statement. In the arrivals from foreign ports. New York exceeded Bos-

ton m 1839, 606 vessels
j 1840, 325; 1841, 327; 1842, 223; 1843, 116;

and in 1844, only 34 vessels.

In 1821, there arrived at Boston, from

Foreign ports, vessels, 853
Coastwise ports, vessels, 2013
Barrels of flour imported, 259,030
Bushels of corn imported, 641.680
Bales of cotton imported, 17,126

Hogsheads of molasses imported, . . . . , . . 44,570

Although the number of vessels entered in 1844, has but little more than

doubled over that of 1821, yet the amount of tonnage has more than quad-

rupled. Where small schooners and sloops were employed in 1821, large

ships and brigs have now taken their place, and the capacity of a modern

built vessel, of the same tonnage, is much greater than that of vessels twenty

years ago.
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That some idea may be formed of the immense quantity of produce

mported into Boston, we will name a few of the principal articles :
—

Years.
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COaOIEIlCIAL ACCOJDIODATIONS.

There is probably no place in the world better accommodated for commer-

cial operations than Boston. The whole length of the harbor on the east and

north is lined with about two hundred docks and wharves.

India Wharf, at the foot of Fort Hill, was constructed in 1805. It extends

into the harbor nine hundred and eighty feet, and is two hundred and forty

six to two hundred and eighty feet in width. In the centre, is a range ot

thirty-nine stores, twenty-two by eighty feet, and four stories in height.

Central Wharf, between India and Long wharves, was built in 1816. In

the centre, are fifty-four warehouses, twenty-three by fifty feet, four stories

high. It is one thousand three hundred and seventy-nine feet in length, and

one hundred and fifty feet in width.

Long Wharf, at the foot of State street, was commenced in 1710. This

wharf extends into the harbor one thousand eight hundred feet, is two hundred

feet in width, and has seventy-six spacious warehouses. About the centre

of this wharf, is a well of fresh water, ninety feet in depth.

Granite or Commercial Wharf. Passing the City wharf on the nonh, we

come to Granite or Commercial wharf, one thousand one hundred feet in

length, and one hundred and sixty in width. On the centre of this wharf, is

a range of thirty-fom- granite warehouses, twenty-five by sixty feet, and are

unequalled by anything of the land in the United States, for convenience or

grandeur. Cost, five hundred thousand dollars.

Lewis' Wharf lies north of Commercial wharf, and extends from Commer-

cial street to the Channel. In the centre of this large and commodious wharf,

is a noble block, of twenty granite warehouses, some of which are thirty-

seven by eighty feet, and four stories in height. This wharf covers the wliole

ground of what has been long and familiarly known as "Hancock's wharf."

This wharf, and block of stores, was commenced in 1836, and completed in

1839. On the end of this wharf is an observatory, commanding an exten-

sive prospect. The cost of this concern was six hundred thousand dollars.

Eastern Raii.road Wharf. On the north side of Lewis' wharf, stands the

depot of the eastern railroad company, on their wharf, of recent construction.

This wharf, extending one hundred and eighty-four feet on Commercial street,

is four hundred and forty-two feet long, and one hundred and eighty-four feet

wide. On this wharf arc also twenty-eight large stores, the depot of the East

Boston ferry, and a new and large building, called the Exchange Hotel.

Union Wharf. This is the most northern wharf in Old Boston we shall

mention, although there are many large and convenient wharves on Charles

river, and at the southerly part of the city.
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Union wharf extends two hundred and ninety feet on Commercial street ;

It is six hundred and forty feet in length, and one hundred and eighty feel

in width. It has thirteen large ware-houses upon it, and others are erecting.

This wharf has twenty-two feet of water, at the lowest tides.

The Marine Railways, established in 1826, at the north part of Old Boston,
afford great accommodations to those engaged in navigation.

On the west, and in front of this tier of wharves, which run into the harbor

nearly parallel to each other, are India and Commercial streets, having the

east end of Faneuil hall market nearly in the centre. These streets are wide
;

they serve as wharves, and their west sides are covered with large and con-

venient stores. It is contemplated to extend India street on the south, to the

free bridge, on Sea street. Commercial street already extends to Charles river

bridge.

Besides the " Boston wharf," and other wharves which are built, and occu-

pying the margin of South Boston, we find at East Boston, extensive accom-

modations for repairing ships of the largest class
; large depots for the rail-

roads and steamers
;
and among the numerous wharves, one that covers an

area of eight acres. The whole extent of wharves and docks now occupying
the margins of the shores within the harbor of Boston, exclusive of those in

Charlestown, exceeds five miles.

MANUFACTURES.

Although Boston has never been considered a manufacturing city, yet,

since the general peace in Europe, in 1815, its manufacturing interests

have considerably increased.

From Mr. Shaltuck's valuable work on Boston we copy abstracts from the

amounts of the domestic industry of that city at three several periods : those

of 1837 and 1845 were made by the authority of the state, and that of 1840

by the United States.

1837. 1840. 1 1845.

Capital invested, .

Males employed, .

Females employed.
Value of the product,

$5,830,572
6,320

4,450

11,070,576

!B2,442,309

2,289

4,016,5'"*

$4,330,600
5,260
970

10,648,153

Mr. Shattuck says :
" If anything were needed to show ths imperfection

of the statistics, collected in connection with the census of 1840, this state-

ment would seem to be sufficient. By comparing the abstracts of 1837 and

1845, some difference will appear—some important branches of industry were

omitted in both periods. And among others, periodical works, printing

presses, books, and clothing, which are among the most important branches

of manufacture in the city, appear not to have been noticed at all in 1845."

The following is a list of the articles reported by the assessors as having
been manufactured in Boston, in the year ending April 1, 1845.
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Balances,

Eeer,

Blank Books,

Ekicks and Pumps,
Boots and Shoes,

Bread,

Brushes,

Building Stone,

Camphor, (refined,)

Gas,

Gold Leaf, A:c.,

Gold and Silver Ware^
Hats and Caps,

Jewelry,

Lamps,
Lard Oil,

Lead Pipe,

SalaBratus,

Saddlery and Trunks,

Soap and Candles,

Spirits,

Spirits of Turpentine,
Steam Pipes,

Sugar, (refined,)

Tin Wares,

Tobacco,

Types,

Umbrellas,

Upholstery,

Varnish,

Vessels,

White Lead.

Leather,
Chairs and Cabinet Ware, Linseed Oil,

Copper Ware, Looking Glasses, &€.,

Cordage, Marble,

Carriages, Organs,

Fringes, 6cc., Paper Hangings,

Furs, Piano Fortes, (1,891,)

There were also manufactures in Boston of philosophical, meteorological,

mathematical, magnelical, optical, and musical instruments; fire engines^

cutlery, chemical preparations, globes, books, confectionary, and a great va-

riety of other articles.

In this statement of the statistics of the domestic industry of Boston, no
account is given of the manufacture of books, clothing, confeciionarj', (Sec,

which is very considerable The assessors report, as belonging to Boston,

two vessels engaged in the whaling business, and thirty-seven vessels em-

ployed in the cod and mackerel fisheries.

The editor here takes the liberty to say, that he has not examined the sta-

tistical tables, accompanying the census of 1840, to ascertain the value or

amount of the manufactures of Boston, or of any other part of the country ;

and he begs his readers to be assured that those tables are neither con-

sulted nor referred to by him
;
and that no item of their contents is copied

into this work
;
conscious as he is that the weight of his own imperfections

and errors is as great as he ought to bear, or the public to suffer.

With regard to the census itself, he is compelled to copy it, having no other

data
;
but as the counting of noses is so simple a matter, he is inclined to

believe that the gentlemen who performed the operation, have guessed the

number with more accuracy than they did the color.

HOTELS.
Tkemont House. This superb hotel, on Tremont and Beacon streets, was

commenced on the 4th of July, 1828, and completed 16lh of October, 1829.

Its granite front, on Tremont street, is one hundred and sixty feet, and three

itories high. The wings arc four stories high ;
that on Beacon street is

eighty-four by thirty-four feet
;
and that on the south, fronting an open

square, is one hundred and ten by forty feet. This building contains one
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hundred and eighty rooms. The dining hall is seventy by thirty-one, and

fourteen feet high. Cost, sixty-eight thousand dollars, without the land

The United States Hotel is located at the termination of the Boston

and Worcester, and Western railroads, which coimect with the Norwich and

Worcester, the Springfield and Hartford, and Hartford and New Haven rail

roads, together forming a communication with all the railroad and steamboat

routes^ south and west of Boston.

The hotel is situated on Beech, Lincoln, and Kingston streets, extending

one hundred and seventy-five feet on each street, in the form of a hollow

square, five stories high in front, and six stories high in the wings. It was

commenced in the year 1837, and completed at the close of the year 1839,

and was opened to the public by the present propnetors, Messrs. K. W. Hol-

man and Albert Clark, in January, 1840. During the year 184:4, the house

was enlarged by an addition of seventy feet on Kingston street, making the

extent on that street two hundred and forty-five feet. The whole establish-

ment, costing nearly three hundred thousand dollars, contains about three

hundred and fifty rooms, conveniently arranged for dining-rooms, drawing-

rooms, sleeping-rooms, public and private parlors, suflicient for the accommo-

dation of five hundred persons, and giving employment to one hundred and

twenty servants. The ladies' ordinary is a large and elegantly furnished

hall, and will accommodate two hundred and fifty persons. The gentlemen's

dining-room is one hundred feet long. Dinner may be served here for three

hundred and fifty persons. The ladies' drawing-rooms are fitted up with

regard to convenience and elegance. The parlors and reading-rooms are

commodious, and arranged with reference to the comfort of the guests of the

house. The floors of the halls of the entrances of the house are laid ia

marble, forming an agreeable promenade for visitors. The establishment is

lighted with gas.

An abundant supply of pure, soft water, is obtained from Jamaica pond, and

is conveyed by means of pipes, to all parts of the house.

The kitchen, bakery, pastry-room, laundry, and drying-rooms, are on an

extensive scale, and are constructed with many important improvements.
Connected with these, is a steam-engine, which operates the machiner}', and

also conveys steam and water into the sleeping and bathing-rooms and

cisterns.

The regularity with which this establishment is conducted, and the regard

which has been given, in its construction, to the promotion of the ease and

comfort of its guests, render it a desirable residence for families or single

gentlemen.

Amekicak HotrsE. This hotel was erected by William Boardman, Esq., m
1835. It is built of brick, four stories in height, uith an attic, and fronts or

Hanover street sixty feet, and, with a wing, extends back two hundred and

^rty-one feet. It contains one hundred and forty-seven apartments, incluri-
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ing suits of rooms, a ladies' ordinary, dra\ving and reading rooms, and a din-

ing hall, to accommodate one hundred guests. This house is well built, and

provided with all the convenient appendages necessary to render it a comfort-

able and agreeable residence.

MARLBOBorGH HoTEL.—This establishment, on Washington street, was

opened by the proprietors in 1837, on strict temperance principles.

Nathaniel Rogers, Esq., its hospitable host for many years, and recently the

accomplished conductor of the celebrated Delavan House, at Albany, closely

adhered to the plan, and nobly did the public sustain him and the proprietors

in their laudable enterprise.

The house was afterwards conducted by John Coe, Esq., the proprietor of

the " Senter House," at Centre Harbor, on the same principles. Persons trav-

eUing with their families find themselves almost at home in this spacious and

quiet mansion
;
and all who desire it, have the privilege of attending family

worship every morning and evening. This house is now conducted by Mr.

M. S. Proctor, formerly of Cavendish, Vt.

Exchange Coffee House. This house is well located for business men,

being on Congress square, near the head of State street. This is an old estab-

lished place of resort, and about one hundred persons can be well enter-

tained.

Pearl Street House. This establishment was opened to the public in

1S36. It is situated in the centre of business, at the corner of Milk and Pearl

streets, and contains one hundred and forty apartments, embracing a large

dining hall, suits of rooms for boarders, sitting, drawing, and reading rooms

This is a good house, and well patronized.

Bromfield House.—This convenient resort for travellers from the country,
—formerly the old "Indian Queen Tavern,"—is on a street of the same

name, between Washington and Tremont streets. This establishment occu-

pies ten thousand five hundred square feet of land, including large and con-

venient stables. The house is well fitted up, and will accommodate more

than one hundred persons.

Among other good houses of public entertainment, in Boston, may be men-
tioned the following :

—
The Albion, on Tremont street.

The City Tavern, on Brattle street.

The Commercial Coffee House, in Milk street, near Broad street.

Earl House, on Hanover street.

Eastern Stage House, on Ann street

Elm Street Hotel, on Elm street.

Franklin HoteL; on Merchants' row.

Hanover House, on Hanover street.

QiiNcY House, on Brattle street.

6
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The New England Coffee House, on Blackstone and Clinton streets.

Pattekson House, on Elm street.

The Pavillion, on Tremont street.

Pemberton House, on Howard street.

Shawmut House, on Hanover street.

The Washington Coffee House, on Washington street.

INSTITUTIONS AND SOCIETIES.

The first settlers of New England were exceedingly tenacious of their civil

and religious rights, and they well knew that knowledge was an all-powerful

engine to preserve those rights, and transmit them to their posterity. They
therefore very early laid the foundation of those /ree schools, ofwhich all the sons

and daughters of New England are justly proud. Exclusive of Infant and

Sabbath school scholars, about a quarter part of the population of Boston is

kept at school throughout the year, at an annual expense of about two hun-

dred thousand dollars. Boston is not only celebrated for its schools, but for

Its munificent donations in support of its institutions for moral, religious, and

literary purposes. Since the year 1800, not less than two millions and a half

of dollars have thus been appropriated by the citizens of Boston.

Massachusetts General Hospital. This beautiful structure of Chelms-

lord granite, erected by public and private munificence, was commenced in

1818, and completed in 1821. It is located on an open plat of ground of four

acres, at the western part of the city, on the banks of Charles river, and

enclosed on the north and east by Allen and Blossom streets.

The building, with its recent enlargement, is two hundred and seventy-four

feet in length, by fifty-four feet in breadth. This hospital is connected with

the McLean Asylum for the Insane, at Somerville, both hospitals being one

institution, and under the same management and direction. The institution

is governed by twelve trustees, chosen annually, four by the board of visitors,

and eight by the corporation. The governor, Ueutenant-governor, president

of the senate, speaker of the house of representatives, with the chaplains of

both houses, constitute the board of visitors. The general hospital can now
accommodate one hundred and seventy-five patients. Since its establish-

ment, nine thousand six hundred and thirty have been received. Asylum

for the Insane, see Public Institutions.

Among the philanthropists who have nobly contributed to this superb mon-

ument of beneficence, we find the names of John McLean, Jeremiah Belknap,
Peter Oliver, William Phillips, Samuel Elliot, Abraham Tkuro, Israel

Munson, and William Appleton, whose aggregate donations amount to three

hundred and twenty thousand dollars.

Houses of Industry, Correction, and Reformation, and Lunatic Hospi-

tal. These establishments are delightfully situated on a plot of ground at

South Boston, on the margin of the harbor, and near the brow of Dorchester

Heights.
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The House of Industry is a large i^'one building, wholly devoted as a

p.ace of refuge for the poor, who are old, iufirni, and otherwise unable to

kUpport themselves; and as a work-house for those who cannot or will not

.upport themselves. There are belonging to the establishment several other

L>uildings, used for the accommodation of the sick, children, and particular

^lasses of inmates. The house was opened in August, 1823, and received at

first only able-bodied poor, but the alms-house at Barton's point, was vacated

m 1825, since which, the House of Industry has been the only .^Ims-hou.se of

the city.

From the opening of the house, up to the last of the year 1843, aboci twenty

years, the admissions and readmissions had been sixteen thousand and seen :

births four hundred and thirty-five, and deaths two thousand three hundred

and twenty-three. For the last fifteen years, the average number supported

in the house, has been about five hundred and fifty ;
the highest number.

February, 1843, seven hundred and thirty-five ;
the lowest, in the summer of

1836, four hundred and one.

TuE House of Reformation, now connected with the House of Industry,

and under the management of the same officers, is a large stone building,

near the entrance of the grounds, and was designed to be exclusively devoted

to the reception and reformation of juvenile delinquents of both sexes. But

as the courts sentenced but a small number to the establishment, the west

wing is found to be sufficiently capacious, and the other wing is occupied by

the boys of the house of industry, generally about a hundred in number.

Good schools are maintained for the reformation department, and for children

of both sexes of the other department. It costs the city and state about

twenty-five thousand dollars annually, to support the House of Industry and

Reformation.

House of Correction. This house is some thirty rods east of the House

of Industry. It is occupied as a city and county penitentiary. The commit-

ments are from the police and municipal courts. The establishment is in an

admirable condition. It has a hospital building, well arranged for the sick,

and commodious work-shops, for the employment of convicts of both sexes.

During ten years ending December 31, 1843, the commitments were six thou-

sand three hundred and seventy-six, viz., three thousand seven hundred and

eight males, and two thousand six hundred and sixty-eight females. Offences

-lewdness, eight hundred and thirty-one ; assault, one hundred and forty-

three
; intemperance, three thousand four hundred and fifty-six ; larceny, one

thousand one hundred and seventy-four ; vagrancy, four hundred and sev-

enty-four, and the balance for other offences. The labor of tlie prisoners

nearly or quite supports the house.

The Boston Lunatic Hospital is a commodious and handsome brick

building, situated between the liou-^'s of industry and correction. It was
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designed for the pauper lunatics of the city, the state hospital at Worcester

being generally crowded. The Boston Hospital was completed, and opened
for patients in December, 1839, and received first such as were proper subjects,

from the other city institutions in its neighborhood. The patients have gene-

rally been those of so long standing, as to preclude the hope of recovery.

Before July 1, 1844, about four and a half years after the hospital was opened,

two hundred and eighty-eight patients had been received, ofwhom one hundred

and eight, all the building could well accommodate, remained. More than half

the patients are foreigners. The expenses of the institution amount to about

twelve thousand dollars annually. The superintendent is a physician, and

he has charge of the medical departments of the institutions before named.

Massachusetts Charitable Eye and Ear Infirmary. This institution

was begun as a private charity, in 1824, by Drs. Reynolds and Jeffries, and

conducted at their o^vl^ expense, until March, 1826, when, by the subscription

of a number of liberal individuals, it was made a public charity.

In 1837, the legislature made it a grant of five thousand dollars, and two

thousand dollars a year, which last sum has been continued ever since. In

July of that year, the present building was occupied for the purpose of receiv-

ing the most urgent cases of disease into the house. At that time, the num-

bei of persons who obtained relief was about eight thousand
;

at present, the

whole number amounts to more than fifteen thousand.

The infirmary is situated at the corner of Green and Pitts streets, near

Bowdoin square ;
and the sui'geons are in attendance daily, at eleven o'clock,

to receive patients, and give advice to those who wish to consult them.

New England Institution- for the Education of the Blind. This insti-

tution was incorporated in 1829
;
but little was accomplished until 1832, when

Dr. Howe returned from Europe, accompanied by a blind teacher; manifest-

ing that zeal in the cause of the blind which had distinguished his philan-

thropic labors, in another sphere, in a distant land. He opened a school with

six blind young scholars. The progi'ess of those children was so great, and

the value of an institution of the kind so apparent, that legislatures, and citi-

zens generally, became much interested. By public and private donations,

particularly by the influence of ladies in several parts of New England, and

by the munificent gift of a splendid building in Pearl street, by the Hon.

Thomas H. Perkins, the institution has increased, both in reputation and

funds, with unparalleled success. The scholars are instructed in all those

branches common in other schools, and some of them in the higher branches

of literature.

Tne experiment has been tried successfully, of fitting them for college ;
one

has graduated at Cambridge, and another holds a high rank in the junior class

at Dartmouth.

In this institution, for the first time in the world, deaf, dumb, and blind

persons have been taught to read, write, and to express their thoughts in
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common language. Music is the study of all. Mechanical labors are taught,

and enjoyed by the pupils. Musical instruments of all kinds, and other im-

plements are provided fur their convenience and use. A printing press is

established, and several books have been printed in embossed letters, which

are superior to any in Europe. The Scriptures of the Old and New Testa-

ment, works on histor}', philosophy, &c., have been issued from their press,

and scattered over the country.
It is exceedingly delightful to see these interesting youth, whose lives once

seemed a dreary waste, and to witness their improvement in acquiring useful

knowledge, partaking of all those recreations natural and proper for their

age, sex and condition, and fitting themselves for useful stations in society.

The institution is now located in South Boston, in that beautiful building,
knowTi as the Mount Washington House, which has been purchased by the

trustees. Much attention is paid to physical education
;
there is a gj'mna-

sium, where the children acquire dexterity and strength of limb
;
in summer,

they go daily to bathe in the sea, where the boys learn to swim.

The cost of an education is only one hundred and sixty dollars per annum,

including board, books, musical instruments, &cc. Indigent persons in New
England, and in South Carolina, can be admitted to all the privileges of the

others, by applying to the governor of their state.

The institution is under the charge of a board of trustees, four of whom are

appointed by the governor and council of Massachusetts. The affairs are

directed by Dr. S. G. Howe.
The articles maimfactured by the blind, are for sale at No. 152, Washing

ton street, where is the ofSce of the director.

We cannot close this article without some notice of an inmate of this insti-

tution, one of the most interesting beings in existence :
—

Miss Laura Bridgman. To this child, deaf, dumb, and blind, with knowl-

edge from all common entrances quite shut out, more persons throughout
the civilized world, are now directing their attention, than to any youthful
heir of power, cradled in a palace. The ditficulties which have been over-

come in her instruction, and the touching history of her progress, are interest-

ing not merely to the philosopher and philanthropist, but (so are we all knit

together in kindly sympathies,) to the world at large.

She was born in Hanover, New Hampshire, December 21st, 1S25, and is

described as having been a very sprightly and pretty child
;
but during her

infancy, she was deprived, by a violent stroke of disease, at once of sight and

hearing ;
nor was it until four years of age, that her Jjodily health seemed

restored, so that she was able to enter upon her apprenticeship of life and the

world. She grew up in the simple, mountain-home where she was born,
until she was nearly eight years old, when her case reached the ears of Dr.

Howe, the director of the institution for the blind in Boston, who immediately
hastened to Hanover, to see her. He found hor witli a wfll-fonncd fii'nre, a
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Strongly-marked nervous-sanguine temperament, a well shaped head, and

with the whole system in healthy action. Her parents were easily induced

to consent to her coming to Boston, because she was growing unmanageable^

and because they could not make her understand their wishes, or her duties,

and in 1837, they brought her to the institution. It was ascertained, beyond
the possibility of doubt, that she could not see a ray of hght, could not hear

the least sound, and never exercised her sense of smell, if she had any.

No instruction had been given her
;
nor had anybody conceived the practi-

cability of penetrating within the dark cell which enclosed her mind, for

there was no case upon the records of history, where the attempt had been suc-

cessful ;
but on the contrary, the vain efforts made in the case of Julia Bruce,

at the institution for the deaf and dumb in Hartford, seemed to make it hope-

less. It is impossible, in our brief space, to describe the humane and per-

severing care, inspired by the highest genius, which has since presided over

her education, and gradually opened to her mind, through her solitary sense

of touch, the light of knowledge. She has been taught the manual alphabet

of the deaf mutes, and now converses by these signs, with wonderful rapidity.

She receives the communications of others on the palm of her hand, while

her own words seem to fly from the points of her fingers like electrical sparks.

She now reads with fluency the books printed in the raised character for the

blind, and WTites with ease. Her letters to her friends are interesting in the

extreme.

Her instructor might seem to the eye of imagination, like Prometheus, to

have stolen fire from heaven. Careful observation will find, in the course

he has pursued, an example of perseverance and humanity, which may be

adopted not only in other similar cases, but wherever there is suflTering to be

relieved, or good to be done. " The name of her great benefactor and friend,''

says Mr. Dickens, in his "American Notes," "is Dr. Howe. There are not

many persons, I hope and beheve, who can ever hear that name with indiffer-

ence."

Boston Port SociETy. The design of the Boston Port Society was to pro-

mote the moral and religious improvement of seamen. It was early suggested

that such a design could be carried into practical operation, only by vigorous
and kindly efforts to remove seamen from the fatal temptations that beset

them, when they return to their homes, owing to the isolated and corrupt

associations into which they were thrown, by many unfortunate and concur-

rent circumstances. Their step from the forecastle was at that time directed

by greedy and dissolute landlords to dens, rather than to dweUing-places,

where every vice could be practised, and where no virtue could live. And

they spent their time, the yoimg and the old, the beardless youth, -uith the

veteran seamen, companions for each other's ruin, in the maddening rounds

of dissipation, heedless alike of week-day and Sabbath, and equally reckless

of physical and moral disease; emerging from their desolate homes, and
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escaping from their dissolute company only temiwrarily, to disturb the public

peace, or to plunge into deeper dissipation, and finally leaving them to seek

another voyage, only when the earnings of their last voyage were squandered

and gone, or ruthlessly plundered from them by the caterers to their vices.

The eye of philanthropy, guided by that love and sympathy that form the

sweetest charms of human life, and leads man^ ainid a thousand dangers and

a thousand discouragements, to aid his brother man, and warmed with the

eloquence of truth, aroused among our citizens a feeling of generous indigna-

tion, and resolute benevolence, which has resulted in this, and many other

friendly societies, the purposes of which have been to abate and destroy these

pestilential nuisances, and to furnish to the seamen of this port the means of

rational amusement, of physical comfort, and of religious instruction. This

society was formed in 1S2S, and incorporated in 1S29, and great success has

crowned its efibrts. The Boston merchants, with their hearts warmed to ear-

nest action, proffering their generous assistance, came forward to the work

They aroused a kindred zeal in the community in which they dwelt, and the

Bethel, in North square, reared upon a foundation of human sympathy and

Christian philanthropy, was placed at their disposal, suited to their purposes,

and weekly, and nightly, and daily, it is now used for them. "WTien we con-

template such a work, accomplished from a small beginning, we can hardly

repress a deep aclaiowledgment of the hand of Providence, upholding the

little but valiant band, who gave the society an existence, and bearing them

onward to a result that sheds such signal benefits over the city, and does so

much honor to its people.

Connected with the Boston Port Society, is the Seamen's Am Society, con-

ducted by an association of ladies, whose delight is in doing good. They
have provided the Mariner's House, which is emphatically a home for the

sailor, who, when he returns from tossing on the mighty deep, finds not only

rest and comfort to the body, but influcnce.s the most salutary and refreshing

to the soul. Of the pastor of the Bethel Church, these ladies, in their report

of 18-15, t,iy :
—

The Rev. IMr. Tavlor is as ever the life and centre of our society. His whole

heart still continues to be devoted to the sailor's improvement, and we can

only pray that he may have strength of body to do what the fervent spirit

prompts. "With such a field of usefulness before him, it is difficult for him

to find the repose which his health requires. He has won the gratitude ot

many a warm heart, which beats under a rough jacket, and he must find his

reward in those blessed words,
" Inasmuch as ye have done it unto one of

the least of these my brethren, ye have done it unto me."

Sailor's Home. The Sailor's Home, 99 Purchase street, was established

by the Boston Seaman's Friend Society, to furnish a quiet abode for seamen.

Where, for a fair compensation, lliey might enjoy the advantages and privi-

leges of a Christian lionsehol.l, while at tlic same time, tlie slii])wrecked and
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unfortunate sailors, who are the worthy objects of Chi-istian bounty, may be

received within its doors, and share freely in its hospitality. It is a benevo-

lent institution. Its object is to promote tlie prosperity and happiness of the

sailor, for time and eternity, and through his influence, when converted, the

advancement of the kingdom of the Redeemer in all the ends of the earth.

That such has been its influence, its works, as developed in its history, declare.

The first building was erected by, and was for many years the residence

of, the late Lott Wheelwright, Esq., one of the highly respected ship-owners

and merchants of this city. It was purchased, and opened for a sailor's

home, June 1st, 1836, at an expense to the society of thirteen thousand dollars.

A necessity being created for a new establishment, the old building was

removed, and a spacious new structure was erected on its site. Its corner-

stone was laid May 8, 1845, with appropriate services, in the presence of a

multitude of seamen and the friends of seamen. On a plate deposited be-

neath the corner-stone, was the following inscription, which shows that its

benevolent founders designed that the new home, like the old one, shall sub-

serve the interest of philanthropy and religion :
—

" This corner-stone of this Sailor's Home, on the site of the first home for

seamen opened in Boston, was laid May 8th, 1845, by the Boston Seaman's
Friend Society, aided by the Boston Ladies Seaman's Friend Society, and by
the munificence of the friends of seamen, with hope in God that it may sub-

serve the temporal and spiritual welfare of seamen."

The building presents a front on Purchase street of sixty-two feet in length,

and thirty-five feet on Gibbs' lane, now Belmont street, with an L extending

in the rear of about thirty feet. It is four stories high, with a basement and

attic, presenting an elevation from the street of about seventy feet. The base-

ment and first story are of hewn granite. On the top of the building is an

observatory, mounted with a flag -staff", which commands the vvhole view of

the harbor.

The rooms and apartments of the house are admirably arranged. It con-

tains, among other rooms, seventy-two dormitories for the use of the boarders,

and a large and spacious reading-room, which is furnished with a library, the

newspapers, and periodicals of the day. It is indeed a noble monument of

the Christian philanthropy of the old Bay State, and of Boston in particular.

The whole cost of the establishment, including the land on which it is

erected, and the furnishing of it,
was about thirty-five thousand dollars.

The Farm School for Indigent Boys. This institution, in 1835, purchased

Thompson's island, in Boston harbor, which contains one hundred and forty

acres, and on which suitable buildings are erected, for the prosecution of their

philanthropic designs. Previous to that period, there had been two corpora-

tions, whose plans had been somewhat different, yet whose objects were sub-

stantially the same. The " Boston Asylum" had been incorporated as early
as 1814. Its general purpose was to relieve, instruct, and employ indigent
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boys, belonging to the town of Boston, ami the claims of orplians were to be

particularly regarded. The plan of the " Faim School" was proposed in 1832,

and the society was incorporated the year following. The object of the soci

ety was,
" the education and reformation of boys, who, from loss of parents

or other causes, were exposed to extraordinary temptations, and in danger of

becoming vicious and dangerous, or useless members of society." In the

summer of 1833, the farm school was commenced on Thompson's island. In

1834, it was tiiought by the friends of both institutions, that more good would

be accomplished by a union of the two schools, that a larger number ot

exposed children could enjoy tlie advantages of proper phj'sical and moral

education at the school on Thompson's island, than if the two institutions

were continued separate. The proposal to ixnite the two was fuUy agreed

upon, in May, 1831. And in March, 1835, the legislature granted an act of

incorporation, in which the two former institutions were recognized as one.

The farm school was intended for indigent and morally exposed children,

who had committed no crime, and who might be rescued from impending
evil by timely care. Its object was to take the young from the midst of

temptation, to shield them in their tender years, to give them proper mental

and moral culture, and thus, without any stigma being placed upon them,

open for them a happy home, and return them to society, exemplary and

useful citizens.

From the establishment of this institution to the present time, it has been

a source of extensive good. The children of intemperate and profligate

])3rents have been taken from evil mfluences, and surrounded by many
advantages. The sons of widows, whose parents, with their small earnings,

could not do for their children as they would, have here found guardians and

friends
;
and orphans, who have been left without protectors or competent

advisers, have been received within the walls of a Christian asylum, where

they have listened to good counsel, and acquired habits of order, industry

and usefulness.

Since the opening of the school in 1S35, over four hundred boys have

received the benefit of its instructions, and nearly all of them have 'now gone
forth to take their part in the active duties of life.

The boys are partly occup'cd upon the farm, and partly in the school, and

also render assistance in the rarious domestic arrangements of the family.

During the past year th re have been one hundred and six boys upon the

island. There were fifty-two at the commencement of the year, and fifty-four

have been admitted since. Thirty-nine have left, and sixty-nine remain.

There has been but one death during the last three years, and thirty-seven

have been apprenticed by the institution, and placed under the charge of their

friends.

This institution can accommodate three hundred boys, and it is fully be

lieved that a generous public will not suffer this noble charity to be restricted

in its efforts.
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Quarantine Hospital. Rainsford island, a gein of the ocean, one of the

most highly cultivated spots in the harbor, lying about eight miles, following

the south channel, from Boston, nearly on the steamboat route to the rural

town of Hingham, is the location of this hospital. It has been exclusively a

hospital station for the management of infectious diseases, since the earliest

settlement of Massachusetts Bay. The water, on all sides, is of a good depth,

and the anchorage being protected by neighboring islands, renders the quar-

antine roadstead safe and convenient, and sufficiently removed from the nar-

rows through which, most of the shipping pass in or out of port, to obviate aL

danger of contamination.

Before the colony of Massachusetts had any established sanatory laws, it

seems from the current r*" historical memoranda, that sickly crews, damaged

cargoes, and vessels regarded by the civil authorities as nuisances, by common

consent, were sent to Rairsford island, although the territorial dimensions are

small, there being but eleven acres, even at low water, with scarcely three thai

can be cultivated. The whole dominion is the property of the Commonwealth.

Such was the character of the conveyance, that the island cannot be alienated,

but must be kept for its present purpose. In 1752, or not far from that period

although exclusively set apart for a hospital for small-pox, and other conta-

gious maladies, it was sold, and Spectacle island converted into a quarantine.

The latter not answering the expectations of the government of the colony, it

v/as abandoned, and Rainsford island re-purchased, and retained to the pres-

ent time.

The care and jurisdiction of Rainsford island arc vested in the mayor ar»i

aldermen of Boston, the officers of the external health department being

elected, and paid by the city council. An island keeper resides there to take

charge and protect the property.

There are several pleasant, convenient edihces belonging to the establish-

ment, which make a fine appearance. Their neatly kept white walls con-

trast beautifully with the thrifty trees, shrubbery, and the splendid expanse
of water that surges round the rugged beach.

A large, well constructed granite hospital, surrounded by twenty-four fluted

columns, located on a projecting point of rocks, facing Quincy bay, is an

object of peculiar interest, in passing down the harbor.

Besides the pubUc accommodations, there are two wharves. Very recently

the general government has obtamed permission to make the southern one, a

depot for coal, for the use of the revenue steam cutters, now building for this

line of coast.

The health laws of Boston, as now administered, are as unexceptionable as

any sanatory system in operation in this country. No obstacles are placed
in the way. of commerce

;
no unnecessary detention of vessels is required ,

and yet the vigilance of the public authorities is such, that no alarms arise

from the introduction of maladies from foreign countries. Goods of a certain

description cannot be landed in Boston, till they have been examined, and a
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permit granted I'ruui the lictilili oflice. If, at any iiinc, damaged cargoes

arrive, which would be a nuisance, they are not removed from the vessel,

without perniis.sioii from the proper authorities—and then, must be conveyed
to the place kept in reservation lor such cuniingencies—the large storehouse

at Rainsford island.

Vessels are allowed, at all seasons, to come in from sea, directly up to the

city, where their condition is immediately ascertained by the port physician,
should the crew, passengers, or cargo, be in unfit state to lie at the wharves
Where cause exists for the detention of a vessel in the harbor, there can be
no intercourse with the inhabitants till all the circumstances which induced

the health officer to put her into quarantine, are removed.

While the law is judiciously administered, it is not oppressive nor injurious
to the interests of commerce. It may be considered in the light of a vigilant

sentinel, always watching over the public health.

Dr. J. V. C. Smith, the present accompUshed port physician,, was elected to

the office June 14th, 1826.

Medical College. The Medical College, a department of Harvard Uni-

versity, in which the several professors give an annual course of lectures,

commencing the last AVednesday in October, is located in 3Iason street,

directly back of Tremont street. External beauty is not a very prominent
characteristic of this edifice

;
but its internal conveniences and accommoda-

tions are very superior. There is an anatomical theatre iu the centre; a

chemical laboratory under it, and in the south wing a lecture room for the

professor of theory and practice of physic, capable of holding one hundred ana

fifty students. In the west wing, upon the first floor, is a convenient consul-

tation room. There is also an extensive anatomical museum adjoining the

theatre, and a dissecting room contiguous.

The Mercantile Library Associatio.v of Boston was instituted March 11,

1820, for the moral and intellectual improvement of merchants' clerks. It

numbers about eight hundred members, and contains a very valuable librarj',

of four thousand volumes, and a cabinet of scientific collections.

Lectures are delivered before the association during the winter season, by
gentlemen of the first talents, and are attended by large and res}?ectable

audiences. This society is exerting much beneficial influence, and is in a

very flourishing condition.

Handel and Haydn Society was incorporated in 1816. The act of incor-

poration allows the socioty to hold fifty thousand dollars in real estate, and a
like sum in personal propert)', which is never to be divided among the mem-
bers of the corporation, but descends to their successors, subject only to the

payment of the debts incurred by the corporation. This spciety have their

meetings at the Mdodcon.
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The Boston Academy of Music. This association was organi2ed and

incorporated in 1833. Their meetings are held at the Odeon, of which build-

ing they have a lease.

The plan and organization of this Academy, as well as its objects, are

essentially different from those of any other institution which is known to

have been estabhshed in this country. Not composed of professed musi-

cians
;
not aiming especially at the improvement of its own members, and

not designed to be limited in the sphere of its operations and influence, its

object is, by all suitable means within its reach, to raise music to the place

it deserves to hold in the estimation of the community, and as far as practi-

cable, to make it a branch of common education. The constant employment
which has been furnished to the professors of the Academy, and the very lib-

eral patronage extended, show that the rich as well as the poor, the fashion-

able and refined, as well as those in the humbler walks of life, are beginning

to regard vocal music as an accomplishment, as one attainable, pleasing and

useful.

There are other associations in Boston, formed for cultivating the delightful

science of music, among which the Musical Institute and PmLHARMONic

Society take a high rank.

Boston Museum. The splendid edifice, on Tremont street, every way an

ornament to the city, and a monument of the taste and enterprise of Mr.

Kimball, the proprietor, was opened to the public on the 2d of November,
1846. The building occupies a site extending from Tremont street to Court

square, measuring one hundred and five feet on the former, and one hun-

dred and seventeen feet on the latter, to a depth of one hundred and forty-

eight feet
;
the entire lot containing nearly seventeen thousand feet. The

building is arranged in two main portions, with an area between for light

and air, connecting at each end by a wide passage. The building on Tre-

mont street, the front of which is of the Venetian style of architecture, after

a design by the Blessrs. Billings, and built of Qnincy granite, is occupied on

the first story by five commodious stores and a spacious entrance to the

Museum, while above, the entire three stories are occupied as a hall, contain-

ing the collections. This immense hall is finished in full Corinthian order,

the roof being supported by twenty stately columns, with elaborately wrought

capitals, and, like the richly fretted and ornamental ceiling, are painted of a

dazzling white, relieved by the richly gilded frames of innumerable portraits,

pictures, and engravings. On each side, and forming alcoves to the win-

dows, are the cabinets, containing the thousands of specimens of natural his-

tory, antiquities, and other rare and curious articles.

From the stairway, a passage twenty feet wide leads to the exhibition

room, which, with its spacious gallery, will accommodate two thousand per-

sons. In this room, which is also richly ornamented, entertainments are

given every evening, free of charge to visitors of the Bluseum, upon the

principle of amusement for the million, the price of admission to the whole

being only twenty-five cents.
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Boston Atuen^um.—Tliis cslablishiueat owes its origiii to several public,

spirited gentlemeu, who, in 1806, issued proposals for providing and opening

a social reading-room, to contain all the valuable periodicals, journals, and

such books as would serve for general reference. Among these gentlemen,

William Smitu Shaw, Esq. took a zealous and prominent part.

The institution was incorporated by the name of " The Proprietors of the

Boston AlhencEum," in 1807. The price of a share is three hundred dollars,

which entitles the owner to three tickets of admission. A life subscriber

pays one hundred dollars
;
and annual subscribers are admitted at ten dol-

lars per annum. There are five hundred shares, and about fifty life sub-

scribers. Proprietors and life .subscribers have the right of introducing an

unlimited number of strangers, not residing within twenty miles of Boston,

who are entitled to admission to the library and reading-room for one month

after having their names recorded by the librarian. The governor, lieutenant

governer, councillors, senators, members of the house of representatives for

the time being, judges of the diflerent courts, presidents of Harvard Uni-

versity, Theological Institution at Andover, Amherst College, and the presi-

dent of several societies, have free admission to the reading-room and library.

The spacious edifice now occupied by the institution, situated near the head

of Pearl street, (the better half of which was the gift of the late James Perkins,

Esq.,) is about being sold, a lot of land 124 feet on Beacon street has lately

been purchased at a cost of fifty-five thousand dollars, on which is now

building an edifi.ce, the probable cost of which will be near one hundred thou-

sand dollars
;

it is to be built of sand stone from New Jersey, under the direc  

lion of Geo. M. Dexter, Esq. and Edward Cabot, Esq., from a plan by the

last named gentleman. This building is intended to contain the library,

reading-rooms, picture gallery, and statue gallery. The library, in May,
1816j contained 35,000 volumes.

The fine arts department, including pictures and statuary, of the nominal

value of 40,000 dollars. The exhibitions have usually been opened annually
in May. The productive funds of the institution amountd in 1846, to about

50,000 dollars, half of which was a donation from John Bromfield, Esq., of

Boston, the interest to be appropriated for the increase of the library.

The Boston Lyceum was instituted in 1830. The exercises before this

society consist of lectures, discussions and declamation. Classes on various

subjects are formed by members of the society, in connection with the Lyceum,
free of expense. About twenty evenings of each course are appropriated for

lectures, and six for discussions or class exhibitions.

Massachusetts Charitable Mechanic Association.—This association was
instituted March 15, 1795, and incorporated March 8, 1806, for charitable pur

poses, and for the encouragement of the mechanic arts and manufactures. Its

members, now numbering about seven hundred, are composed of " Mechanics

7
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and Manufacturers," and other artisans. The income of the association "is

employed for the purpose of relieving the distresses of unfortunate members

and their families, and to promote inventions and improvements in the me-

chanic arts, by granting premiums for said inventions and improvements."

The admission fee is fifteen dollars, the annual assessment two dollars
;

and it is the duty of the treasurer to pay to the representative of a deceased

member, at his death, forty dollars.

The provisions of the by-laws require a festival once in three years, at

which an address is delivered by a member of the association.

The exhibitions for the display of manufactures, &:c., were resumed in

1837, and others were holden in 1839—'41 and '44—all of which have been

attended with great success.

The funds of the association are principally invested in an estate recently

purchased, formerly belonging to the Boott family, upon which they are now

erecting a large and commodious Hotel.

During the year 1845 they had nearly matured their arrangement for erect-

ing a magnificent Hall, for the use of the association, and for other purposes

Liberal donations were offered by their friends, among others the Hon. Abbot

Lawrence tendered the munificent sum of twenty thousand dollars
;
but the

undertaking has to their great regret been relinquished, in consequence of

causes beyond their control.

Boston Female Asylum. This institution, the offspring of the best feelings

of the human heart, commenced its silent and unostentatious career in the

year 1800.

In the year 1803,
" Hannah Stillman, and a number of other ladies, of the

town of Boston, associated for the charitable purpose of relieving, instructing

employing and assisting Female Orphan Children," were incorporated by

the legislature. For many years the institution occupied a large house on

Essex street.

From its foundation, to 1845, this institution had afforded protection and a

safe and happy home to four hundred and forty helpless female orphans. Of

these, three hundred and sixty-three had been provided with suitable places ;

thirteen had died, and sixty-four remained at the asylum.

The present building for the asylum was erected from designs, and under

the superintendence, of Isaiah Rogers, Esq., architect, and is built of bricks
;

the basement story is principally executed of rough granite, except in front,

which has the base course, frontispiece to door, corners and belt of principal

story, of wrought Quincy granite. The roof of the building is covered with

imperial slate, and the cornice constructed of brick and stone, with copper

gutters ;
which render the building nearly fire-proof from without, the win-

dows and doors being the only wood exposed, and those not connected with

the wood-work of the interior.

The interior arrangements are ample in their accommodations, and simple
in finish. The first story is occupied, as 3'ou enter on the right of the hall,.
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by the matron's parlor, and adjoining is the work-room, so called, where all

ihc work for the chililrcn is prepared. On the left is the directors' room,
where all the meetings of the ladies, who compose the board of directors for

the management of the institution, are held
; you next come to one of the

staircases and its halls. .

On the south side, opening on the court-yard, is a corridor, extending to

the school-room in the rear, and opening into the kitchen and dining-room,
and connecting with the two staircases, which are constructed entirely of

cast and wrought iron, throughout. The second and third stories are occu-

pied for dormitories, a recreation-room for the children, and a hospital or sick-

room, which has water-closets and bathing accommodations attached.

The basement story contains apartments for bathing, wash-room, laundry,
and drying-room, with all necessary fixtures, and convenient store-rooms,

apartments for wood, coal, iVc.

The walls and partitions of the interior are constructed with bricks, all of

which are laid in hydraulic cement, four to eight inches thick. The outside

walls are lined up with four inches of brick, leaving a space of two to six

inches for ventilation, which is so constructed, that every room in the build-

ing is ventilated, by communications with heated flues. All the floors have

plastering between the two thicknesses of boards
;

there are no furrings,

except the ceilings, all the walls being plastered on the bricks, cutting oil" all

chance for spread of fire from one story to the other, and also from one room
to another, except by the doors, and rendering the building fire-proof, so far as

any spread of fire can take place. This is one of the most important features

of the building, considering the great number of children distributed over it,

and the preventing of accident by fire, to which all large establishments are

liable. Could the public be persuaded that their dwellings might be so con-

structed, that the midnight cry of fire would be but a sound, causing little

fear, and this construction rendered perfective by a small degree of cost,

there would be much few'er records of life and property destroyed.

This building, with all its security against the spread of fire, and its venti-

lation, has cost no more than one constructed in the usual way.
The building of the Asylum was commenced about the first of April, 1844,

and completed in January following. It is three stories high, with a basement

story, covering about five thousand five hundred feet, and with the land con-

tiguous, comprising twenty-seven thousand two hundred feet, enclosed by a

brick wall on three sides, seven feet high, and on front by an iron fence and

stone posts.

The grounds about the building are laid out in an appropriate and beautiful

manner, decorated with ornamental trees and shrubbery, the whole having
the appearance of neatness and comfort, and is one more of the many monu-
ments of the untiring zeal and performance of a part of the wealthy commu-

nity of this city, to make comfortable and happy the orphan, who truly finds

a home under its roof.
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The corner-stone was laid with appropriate religious services, in presence

of a large number of ladies, in June, 1844, and at that date were deposited

several records, containing a history of this institution, and a silver plate,

bearing on its two sides the following inscription :
—

" Boston Female Asylum for Orphan children,
Founded A. D. 1800—Incorporated 1803.

This House was erected A. D. 1844, by aid of liberal contributions from citi-

zens of Boston, under the

superintendence of
William Lawrence, George C. Shattuck,
Henry Hall, and Thomas B. Wales.

Architect, Isaiah Rosers.

present officers of the society.

Mrs. William Peescott, First Directress,
Mas. Charles Tracy, Second Directress,
Miss Mary Otis, Treasurer,
Mrs. Thomas B. Wales, Secretary.

managers.
Mrs. Amos Lawrence, Mrs. B. T. Pick3Ian,
Mrs. Henry Hall, Mrs. B. T. Beed,
Mrs. G. C. Shattuck, Mrs. Albert Fearing,
Mrs. Isaac Mansfield, Mrs. William Reynolds,
Mrs. Charles Barnard, Mrs. T. K. Mills,
Miss M. F. Lamb, Miss Jane Wigglesworth."

And on the reverse,
"Mrs. Hannah Stillman,

A principal founder of the Institution, was First Directress,
from the year 1800, to her death, in 1821,
Mrs. Samuel Parkman from 1821, to 1835.

Mrs. William Prescott, from 1835.

Its Treasurers were

Mrs. Elizabeth Perkins, from 1800 to 1806,
Mrs. Eleanor Davis, from 1806 to 1S25.

Miss Harriet Otis, from 1825 to 1826.

Miss Mary Otis, from 1826.

The Secretaries were

Mrs. Mary L. Smith, from 1800 to 1801.

Mrs. Elizabeth Thurston, 1801 to 1S03.

Miss Eliz.a Frothingam, (now Mrs. F. Lin-

coln,) from 1803 to 1807.

Miss A. S. Fhothingham, (now Mrs. T. B.

Wales,) from 1807.

Present Matron, Mrs. Julia Meloon.
Present Teacher, Miss Jerusha Blanchard."

Massachusetts Horticultural Society. This society was incorporated
m 1829. It is devoted to the advancement of the science and practice of

horticulture, and the production and exhibition of all the choicest flowers and

fruits which can be cultivated in this climate, both native and exotic.
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The society was the original purchaser of i\Iuunt Auburn; and for many
years a garden and cemetery committee was chosen, to superintend the

affairs. In the year 1830, an act of separation was granted by the legisla-

ture, securing to the society, in all coming time, one fourth of the net annual

receipts at Mount Auburn, from sales of lots, to be appropriated forever to

the advancement of the science of horticulture. Its other resources are from

the fees received of members and its exhibitions.

The exhibitions of the society are intended to excite emulation, and success-

ful competitors receive rewards
;
and it is not unfrequent that some new and

valuable fruit or flower is complimented with the name of the producer
This institution has done and is doing great good to the community, by

introducing a taste for this delightful science, and by a weekly exhibition of

its beautiful varieties.

It is gratifying to state, that this enterprising societj' have been enabled to

erect a new and splendid granite
" Horticultural Hall," on School street, on

the site of the old Latin school-house, for the objects of the society, and which
was dedicated May 15, 184-5. The building is eighty-six feet in length and

thirty-three feet in width, and is an ornament to the city. It contains a large

hall for exhibitions, a library and business room, and convenient compart-
ments for the sale of seeds, fruits, plants and flowers.

In the month of September, annually, the society holds a grand exhibition,

which is continued for some days, and which is always exceedingly gratifying
to those who attend.

The Lo\vei,l Institute. This institution was founded by John Lowell, jr.,

Esq., son of Francis C. Lowell, Esq., from whom the city of Lowell received

its name, for the support of regular courses of popular and scientific lectures

in the city of Boston. The sum bequeathed, and placed in trust, for this pur-

pose, amounts to nearly two hundred and fifty thousand dollars. Mr. Low-
ell died at Bombay, on the 4th of March, 1836, in the thirty-seventh year of

his age. By his will, he provides for the maintenance and supjwrt of public
lectures on natural and revealed religion, physic and chemistr}^, with their

application to the arts ; also on botany, zoology, geology, and mineralogy,
connected with their particular utility to man. The trustee may appoint
lectures on the literature and eloquence of the English and other languages,
and also on any subject that, in his opinion, the wants and taste of the age

may demand. Provision is also made for courses of a strictly scientific char

acter, for smaller classes of students, for which lectures a small admission fee

may be exacted—but in no instance can any person be excluded thft)ugh ina-

bility to pay for a ticket. The popular lectures are all to be free. Apparatus

may be purchased, but none of the fund or income can be expended in the

erection of buildings.

Such is the munificent foundation of the Lowell Institute, emanating from

a noble and generous spirit, while suffering with a fatal disca.sc, amidst the

ruins of ancient Egj-pt. It was given for the present and future benefit of
r*
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his native land, in the belief, as he himself says, that " the prosperity of my
native land. New England, which is sterile and unproductive, must depend

hereafter, as it has heretofore, first, on the moral qualities, and secondly, on

the intelligence and information of its inhabitants."

The Lowell Institute went into operation in the winter of 1839-40. As the

income is ample, the services of men of the highest talent and learning can

generally be commanded
;
and such has been the desire of the community to

obtain tickets of admission, that it has been found necessary to register the

names of those desirous to attend any particular course, and to distribute the

tickets by lot. The lecture season is from October to April, during which

period four or five courses have usually been delivered. The number of tick-

ets annually distributed have been from twenty to twenty-five thousand. The

lectures, are now delivered in the Marlboro' Chapel, on Tuesday and Friday

evenings ;
and many courses have been repeated on the succeeding Wednes-

day and Saturday afternoons.

The trustees of the Boston Athenseum are ex-officio a board of supervision.

John A. Lo^vELL, Esq., Trustee. B. E. Cotting, M. D., Curator.

Boston Library Society. This society was incorporated June 17, 1794.

The object of the associates was to make a collection of books, in the sciences

and general literature, for popular use
;
more particularly of those works,

which, from their costliness or peculiar value, are not generally found in pri-

vate collections, and cannot conveniently be obtained by individuals of mode-

rate fortune. The books amount to about seven thousand volumes, and their

number is constantly augmenting. The price of a share is twenty-five dol-

lars, subject usually to an annual tax of two dollars, for the increase of the

library, and the charge of maintaining it. Shares are now transferable, and

do not cease at the death of the proprietor. For some years after the library

was founded, the shares were not transferable, and the subscribers had only

the use of the library for their lives
; consequently, by the death of original

proprietors, many shares have fallen into the common stock, which has given

to the shares of present proprietors a value far beyond their cost. It is com-

puted that a share at the present price, gives a property in the common stock,

greatly exceeding the cost of a share, exclusive of the value of the hall, which

is the property of the corporation. The library is kept at the hallj over the

arch in Franklin street, and is opened on the afternoon of Thursdays, and the

forenoon and afternoon of Saturdays, for the delivery and return of books.

There are many other valuable institutions and societies in Boston, of high
character and standing, but the limits of this work will permit us only to

mention some of their names :
—

Bible, education, Sunday school, missionary, tract, and temperance socie-

ties
;
institutions for the difl'usion of useful knowledge, and of the arts and

sciences
; historical, natural history, antiquarian, statistical, and library asso-

ciations
; marine, humane, peace, and pilgrim societies

;
female refuge,

lying-in hospital ; fire, and other charitable sopieties, <Scc., &:c.
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CHURCHES AND BIINISTERS.

017° For an explanation of the dcnominalional terms, as applied to the Bos-

ton churches at the present tune, see "Hayward's Book of Religions."

J^lrst CjjurcJ.—1630.—Clnitarian,

The first house of public worship in Boston was built for this society, in

1632, near the corner of State and Devonshire streets. It had mud walls, and

a thatched roof. Their second house was built in 1640-1641, on Washington

street, on the lot where Joy's buildings now stand. This house was burnt in

1711, and the Old Brick, so called, was erected on the same spot. In 180S,

the Old Brick was sold, and their present bouse, in Chauncy place, out of

Summer street, was built, and dedicated on the 21st of July, of the same year.

The church was constituted at Charlestown, August 27, 1630. A few years

ago, this church was entirely re-arranged within, at an expense of $10,000.

A lecture has been preached at this church, on Thursday of every week,

since the year 1633
;
at first, under the charge of the minister of the church

;

subsequently, and for many years, by an association of the clergy of Boston

and its vicinity. On that day, all intended marriages in the city were pub-

licly announced by the city clerk, until the practice was discontinued in 1843.

In March, 1845, the Boston Association voted to relinquish the care of the lec-

ture, and to throw it back upon the pastor of the First Church.

Clergy. Rev. John Wilson, ins. Nov. 23, 1632, died Aug. 7, 1667, aged 78.

Rev. John Cotton, installed Oct. 17, 1633, died Dec. 23, 1652, aged 67.

"Rev. John Norton, installed July 23, 1656, died April 5th, 1663, aged 57.

Rev. John Davenport, installed Dec. 9, 1668, died Mar. 15, 1670, aged 72.

Rev. James Allen, installed Dec. 9, 1668, died Sept. 22, 1710, aged 78.

Rev. John Oxenbridge, ins. April 10, 1670, died Dec. 28, 1674, aged 65.

Rev. J. Moody, assistant. May 3, 1684 to 1692, died July 4, 1697, aged 72.

Eev. John Bailey, assistant, July 17, 1693, died Dec. 12, 1697, aged 53.

\^ Rev. Benj. Wadsworth, ordained Sept. 8, 169G, died Mar. 12, 1737, aged 67.

Rev. Thomas Bridge, installed May 10, 1705, died Sept. 26, 1715, aged 58.

Rev. Thomas Foxcroft, ordained Nov. 20, 1717, tlied June 18, 1769, aged 72.

Rev. Cha. Chauncy, D. D., ord. Oct. 25, 1727, died Feb. 10, 1787, aged 82.

_^. Rev. John Clarke, D. D., ordained July 8, 1778, died April 1, 1798, aged 42

Rev. William Emerson, ins. Oct. 16, 1799, died May 12, 1811, aged 42.

Rev. John Lovejoy Abbott, ord. July 14, 1813, died Oct. 17, 1814, aged 31.

Rev. Nathaniel L. Frothingham, D. D., ordained March 15, 1815.

SfconU (?tf)urtj[j.—1650.—Onitarian.

This church was gathered June 5, 1650. The first house of worship was
built in 1649, burnt November 27, 1676, rebuilt 1677, and destroyed by the

British, January 16, 1776. It was called the "Old North." After the return
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of the inhabitants to Boston, on the evacuation by the British soldierv, the

Second church and society, with their minister, were invited to worship in

the house called the " New Brick," which was situated in Hanover street,

and taken down in March, 1844. In June, 1779, the two societies united,

taking the name and records of the " Second Church."

The new edifice for the Second church, stands on the site formerly occupied

by the " New Brick." It is built of red free-stone, from Connecticut, in the

Gothic style. The pews, pulpit, organ, and gallery fronts, are of black wal-

nut, richly carved and ornamented. The spire is very graceful and lofty,

being two hundred and twenty-six feet in height, above the level of the

ground, and about two hundred and sixty above that of the sea. The

church, with its buttresses, battlements, turrets, and pinnacles, presents a

grand and imposing appearance. It was dedicated in the summer of 1845.

Clergy of the " Old North, or Second Church." Rev. John Mayo, settled

Nov. 9, 1655, left April 15, 1673.

Rev. Increase Mather, D. D., set. May 27, 1664, died Aug. 23, 1723, aged 85.

Rev. Cotton Mather, D. D., set. May 13, 1684, died Feb. 13, 1728, aged 65.

Rev. Joshua Gee, settled Dec. 18, 1723, died May 22, 1748, aged 50.

Rev. Samuel Mather, D. D., settled June 21, 1732, left October 23, 1741,

died June 27, 1785, aged 79.

Rev. Samuel Checkley, jr., settled Sept. 3, 1747, died Mar. 19, 1768, aged 44.

Rev. John Lathrop, D. D., settled May 18, 1768, died Jan. 4, 1816, aged 77.

Clergy of the "New Brick." Rev. William Waldron, settled May 23,

1722, died Sept. 20, 1727, aged 81.

Rev. "William Welsteed, set. March 27, 1728, died Sept. 29, 1753, aged 58.

Rev. Ellis Gray, settled Sept. 27, 1738, died Jan. 17, 1752, aged 37.

Rev. Ebenezer Pemberton, set. Mar. 6, 1754, died Sept. 15, 1777, aged 72.

Clergy of the Second Church after the imion. (Dr. Lathrop, els above.)

Rev. Henry Ware, jr., settled Jan. 1, 1817, left Oct. 4, 1830.

Rev. R. W. Emerson, settled March 11, 1829, left Oct. 28, 1832.

Rev. Chandler Robbins, settled Dec. 4, 1833, continued preaching to the

same society, in the Masonic Temple, Nov. 19, 1848.

iFricntis' i[B[ectin2=?Sous£.—1664.—ifrientis.

The society of Friends built the first brick house for public worship in Bos-

ton, on Brattle street, in the year 1664. About the year 1717, they changed
their place of worship to " Quaker Lane," now Congress street. They con-

tinued there until 1825. Their present place of worship is in a very neat

building, on Milton place, out of Federal street. But few of this society are

in the city at present.

iTirst asaptist CfTJiurcl).—1665.—ISaptist.

This church was constituted at Charlestown, May 28, 1665. The first

house of this society was erected on the side of what was then called the Mill
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pond, now Stillman street, between Salem and Pond streets. In 1771, this

house was taken down, and a larger one erected, and which continued their

place of worship until the 14th of June, 1829. Their new house, at the cor

ner of Hanover and Union streets, was erected in 1828, and dedicated June

17, 1829.

Clergy. Rev. Thomas Gould, settled 1665, died Oct. 27, 1675.

Rev. John Miles preached here a short time.

Rev. John Russell, settled July 28, 1679, died Dec. 21, 1680.

Rev. Isaac Hull preached here a short time.

Rev. John Emblen, settled in 1684, died Dec. 9, 1702.

Rev. Ellis Callender, settled 1708. He died about twenty years after.

Rev. Elisha Callender, settled March 21, 1718, died March 31, 1738.

Rev. Jeremiah Condy, settled Feb. 14, 1739, left 1767.

Rev. Samuel Stillman, D. D., set. Jan. 9, 1765, died Mar. 12, 1807, aged 70.

Rev. Joseph Clay, settled Aug. 1, 1807, left Oct. 27, 1809.

Rev. James M. Winchell, set. Mar. 13, 1814, died Feb. 22, 1820, aged 28.

Rev. Francis Wayland, D. D., settled Aug. 22, 1821, left Sept. 10, 1826.

Rev. Cyrus Grosvenor, settled Jan. 24, 1827, left Sept. 24, 1830.

Rev. William Hague, settled Feb. 4, 1831, left June, 1837

Rev. R. H. Neale, settled Sept. 17, 1837.

®lti Sout}) ©l)urcj[).—1669.—CTvinitarian.

This church was constituted at Charlestown, May 12, 1669. The first

house of this society was of cedar, at the corner of Washington and Milk

streets. Their wooden house was taken down in March, 1729, and religious

services were attended, for the first time, in their present capacious brick

building, on the same spot, on the 26th of April, 1730.

This house is eighty-eight by sixty-one feet. It has two tiers of galleries,

and is so central and commodious, that it is frequently used on great public
occasions.

" Here was delivered, in defiance of the threats of authority, and in pres-
ence of marshalled soldiery, Warren's fearless oration on the anniversary of

the massacre of the 5th of March, 1770. Here were repeatedly held the

meetings of oppressed freemen, which called forth those peals of patriotic

eloquence, which moved this whole country, and shook the British throne."

Clergy. Rev. Thomas Thatcher, installed Feb. 16, 1670, deceased Oct.

15, 1678, aged 58.

Rev. Samuel Willard, ins. April 10, 1678, deceased Sept. 12, 1707, aged 67.

Rev. Ebenezer Pemberton, ord. Aug. 28, 1700, dec. Feb. 13, 1717, aged 45.

Rev. Joseph Sewell, D. D., ord. Sept. 16, 1713, dec. June 27, 1769, aged 80.

Rev. Thomas Prince, ord. Oct. 1, 1718, deceased Oct. 22, 1758, aged 72.

Rev. Alexander Cumming, ins. Feb. 25, 1761, dec. Aug. 25, 1763, aged 36.

Rev. Samuel Blair, installed Nov. 26, 1766, dismissed Oct. 10, 1769.

Rev. John Bacon, inst. Sept. 25, 1771, dismissed Fob. S. 1775.
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Rev. John Hunt, ord. Sept. 25, 1771, deceased Dec. 30, 1775, aged 31.

Rev. Joseph Eckley, D. D., ord. Oct. 27, 1779, dec. April 30, 1811, aged 61.

Rev. Joshua Huntington, ord. May 18, 1808, dec. Sept. 11, 1819, aged ?3.

Rev. Benj. B. Wisner, D. D., ord. Feb. 21, 1821, dismissed Nov. 12, 1832.

Rev. Samuel H. Stearns, ord. April 16, 1831, dismissed March 8, 1836.

Rev. George W. Blagden, inst. Sept. 28, 1836.

lEtins's ffijjapel.—1686.—©nitacian.

This was originally an Episcopal society, and was formed June 15, 1686.

Their first house was of wood, and was erected in 1688, at the comer of Tre-

mont and School streets, on the spot where their present
" Stone Chapel," as

it is commonly called, now stands
;
and which was first opened for public

worship on the 21st of August, 1754. The walls of this house are of Brain-

tree or Quincy granite, and it was the first building of that material in Boston

Its interior is as beautiful as its exterior is substantial.

In 1776, the church was closed, by reason of the departure of the ministers,

and many of the proprietors, in consequence of the revolution. It was occu-

pied by the Old South congregation from 1777 to 1782. It was reoccupied in

April, 1782, by the few of the former proprietors then remaining, who invited

the Rev. James Freeman to become their reader. In 1786, at the desire of

BIr. Freeman, a Unitarian liturgy was adopted; and the congregation has

since been known as Unitarian.

Clergy. Rev. Robert Ratclifie, Rector, and Rev. Robert Clark, assistant,

settled in 1686, left 1689.

Rev. Samuel Miles, Rector, settled June 29, 1689, died March, 1728.

Rev. George Hatton, A. M., settled 1693, left 1696.

Rev. Christopher Rudge, A. M., settled March 5, 1699, left 1706.

Rev. Henry Harris, A. M., settled April, 1709, died Oct. 16, 1729.

Rev. Roger Price, Rector, settled June 25, 1729, left Nov. 21, 1746.

Rev. Thomas Howard, A. M., settled 1731, died April 15, 1736.

Rev. Addington Davenport, A. M., settled 1741, left 1744.

Rev. Henry Caner, D. D., Rector, settled April 11, 1741, left March 10, 1776.

Rev. Charies Brockwell, A. M., settled 1747, died Aug. 20, 1755.

Rev. JohnTroutbeck, A.M., settled 1775, left in 1775.

Rev. James Freeman, D. D., ordained by the society, and settled April 21st,

1783, died Nov. 14, 1835, aged
Rev. Samuel Gary, settled Jan. 1, 1809, died Oct. 22, 1815, aged
Rev. F. W. P. Greenwood, D. D., settled Aug. 29, 1824, died August 2,

1843, aged 46.

Rev. Ephraim Peabody, settled Jan. 11, 1846.

3Brattlc Street ffifiurcj)
—1699.—Slnitanan.

This church was formed December 12, 1699. The present house of this

«iOciety was erected in 1772, and opened for worship July 25, 1776. The inte-
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rior of this house is finished in a style as appropriate and beautiful as any in

the city. A wooden house for that purpose had stood on the same site from
1608 to that lime.

Clergy. Rev. Benjamin Colman, D. D., from Aug. 4, 1609, to Aug. 29,

1747, aged 73.

Rev. William Cooper, D. D., set. May 23, 1716, died Dec. 13, 1743, aged 50.

Rev. Samuel Cooper, D. D., set. May 22, 1746, died Dec. 20, 1783, aged 58.

Rev. Peter Thatcher, D. D., set. Jan. 12, 1785, died Dec. 16, 1802, aged 51.

Rev. J. S. Buckminster, set. Jan. 30, 1805, died June 9, 1812, aged 28.

Rev. Edward Everett, LL. D., set. February 8, 1814, left March 5, 1815.

Rev. John G. Palfrey, D. D., set. June 17, 1818, left May 22, 1830.

Rev. S. K. Lothrop, installed June 17, 1834.

Neto NortJ) ©Jurct).—1714.—Unitarian.

The present house of worship belonging to this society, at the corner of

Hanover and Clark streets, was dedicated I\Iay 2, 1804. Their old house on
that spot was erected in 1714. The church was formed May 5, 1714.

Clergy. Rev. John Webb, settled Oct. 20, 1714, died April 16, 1750.

Rev. Peter Thatcher, settled Jan. 28, 1720, died Feb.-26, 1739, aged 61.

Rev. Andrew EUot, D. D., set. April 14, 1742, died Sept. 13, 1772, aged 59.

Rev. John Eliot, D. D., settled Nov. 3, 1779, died Feb. 14, 1813, aged 59.

Rev. Francis Parkman, D. D., settled Dec. 8, 1813.

Rev. Amos Smith, settled as colleague, Dec. 7, 1842, dismissed 1847.

Wcto Soutl) criiurci).—1719 Slnitarian.

The neat and beautifully located stone church belonging to this society, is

on Church Green, so called, at the union of Bedford and Summer streets.

It was dedicated December 29, 1814. Their first house, on the same spot,
was dedicated January 8, 1717. The church covenant was signed by the

members, April 15, 1719.

Clergy. Rev. Samuel Checkley, settled April 15, 1719, died Dec. 1, 1769

aged 73.

Rev. Penuel Bowen, settled April 28, 1766, left May 12, 1772.

Rev. Joseph Howe, settled May 19, 1773, died Aug. 25, 1775, aged 28.
Rev. Oliver Everett, settled Jan. 2, 1782, left May 26, 1792.

Rev. John T. Ku-kland, D. D., LL. D., settled Feb. 5, 1794, left Nov.,
1810, died April 26, 1840, aged 70.

Rev. Samuel C. Thacher, settled May 15, 1811, died Jan. 2, 1818, aged 32.
Rev. F. W. P. GreenM'ood, settled Oct. 21, 1818, left December, 1820.
Rev. Alexander Ycung, D. D., settled Jan. 19, 1825.



84 GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS.

®l)n'st (ZCJuccJ).—1722.—Hpiscopal.

This church is in Salem street, near Copp's hill. It was built in 1723, and

first opened on the 20th of December of that year. The society was formed

September 5, 1722. The house is seventy feet by fifty. The steeple is one

hundred and seventy-five feet high. This church has a peal of eight bells, on

all of which are inscriptions. Three are as follows :
" We are the first liiig

of bells cast for the British Empire in North America, A. R. 1744." "Abel

Rudball, of Gloucester, cast us all, Anno 1744." "God preserve the Chuich

of England, 1744."

Clergy. Rev. Timothy Cutler, D. D., set. Dec. 29, 1723, died Aug. 7, 1765.

Rev. James Greaton, settled May 30, 1760, left Aug. 31, 1767.

Rev. Mather Byles, jr., settled Sept., 1768, left April, 1775.

Rev. Stephen Lewis, settled Aug., 1778, lefl Sept., 1784.

Rev. William Montague, settled June, 1787, left May, 1792.

Rev. WilUam Walter, D. D., settled May 29, 1792, died Dec. 5, 1800.

Rev. Samuel Haskell, settled May, 1801, left Sept., 1803.

Rev. Asa Eaton, D. D., settled Aug. 23, 1803, left Blay, 1829.

Rev. William Croswell, A. M., instituted June 24, 1829, left June, 1840.

Rev. John Woart, A. M., instituted Nov. 1; 1840.

jFeUcral Street ©Jiurcjj.—1727.—Unitarian.
This church was formed by Irish Presbyterians, in 1727. It adopted the

Congregational order in 1786. Their first place of worship was a bam, con-

verted into a meeting-house in 1729. On the same spot, a convenient wooden

building was erected in 1744.

In this house the federal constitution was adopted, on the 7th of February,
1788. The present beautiful church, on the place of the two former, at the

corner of Federal and Berry streets, was dedicated November 23, 1809.

C-i-EKGY. Rev. John Moorehead, settled March 31, 1730, died Dec. 2, 1773.

Rev. Robert Annan, inst. 1783, dismissed 1786.

Rev. Jeremy Belknap, D. D., inst. April 4, 1787, died June 16, 1798.

Rev. John S. Popkin, D. D., ord. July 10, 1799, dismissed Nov. 28, 1802.

Rev. Wm. E. Channing, D. D., ord. June 1, 1803, died Oct. 2, 1842, aged 62.

Rev. Ezra S. Gannett, D. D., ord. June 30, 1824.

jD^oUis Street ©Jurci).—1732.—23nitarian.

The first meeting-house, on the ground where the present church stands,

was built of wood, in 1732, dedicated June 18, and the church formed Novem-
ber 14, the same year. This house was burnt April 24, 1787. It was rebuilt

in 1788. In 1810, the building was sold and taken down, and the materials

removed to a neighboring town, for the construction of a place of worship.

The new house was dedicated January 1, 1811. ,
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Clergy. Rev. Mather Byles, D. D., settled Dec. 20, 1732, left 1777, and

died July 5, 1788.

Rev. Ebenezer Wight, settled Feb. 25, 177S, left the same year.

Rev. Samuel West, D. D., set. Mar. 12, 1789, died Apnl 10, 1808, aged 70.

Rev. Horace Holley, LL. D., settled March 9, 1809, left August 24, 1818,
died July 31, 1827, aged 47.

Rev. John Pierpont, settled April 14, 1819, dismissed May, 1845.

Rev. David Fosdick, ins. March 3, 1846, dis. 1847.

Rev. T. S. King, settled November, 1848.

STvinitn (TJurcJ).—1734.—Hplscopal.

The corner-stone of the first church of this society, at the comer of Sum-
mer and Hawley streets, was laid by the Rev. Roger Price, the 15th of April,
1734. The house, which was of wood, was taken down in 1828, and the present

splendid Gothic edifice, of unhewn granite, was erected on the same spot, and

solemnly consecrated, November 11, 1829. Both the exterior and interior of

this building are very beautiful. The organ in this church is of superior tone,

and is said to be one of the most costly in the countr}'.

Clergy. Rev. Addington Davenport, ind. May 8, 1740, died Sept. 8, 1746.

Rev. William Hooper, ind. Aug. 28, 1747, died April 5, 1767.

Rev. William Walter, D. D., asst. mm. Oct. 1763. rector 1767, left 1775.

Rev. Samuel Parker, D. D.. asst. min. 1774. rector 1799, died Dec. 7, 1804.

Rev. John S. J. Gardiner. D. D., asst. min. 1792, rector 1805, died 1830.

Rev. George W. Doane, D. D., asst. mm. 1828, rector 1830, left 1833.

Rev. John H. Hopkins, D. D., asst. min. Feb. 1831, left Nov. 1832.

Rev. Jonathan M. Wainwright, D. D., rector March, 1833, left Jan. 1838.

Rev. John L. Watson, a.sst. min. June 1, 1836, left at Easter, 1846.

Rt. Rev. IManton Eastburn, D. D., consecrated bishop, Dec. 29, 1842.

Rev. Thomas M. Clark, asst. min. June 1, 1847.

JKlfest Cljurcl).—1737.— iSnitatlan.

This church was constituted January 3, 1737. The first meeting-house of

this society was of wood, on the spot where the present church now stands, in

Lynde street, near Cambridge street. It was erected in 1736, taken down in

1806, and the present church built, and dedicated November 27th, the same

year. The house is very handsome, and is seventy-five by seventy-four feet.

It contains one hundred and fourteen pews on the lower floor, and fifty in the

galleries.

Clergy. Rev. William Hooper, settled May 18, 1737, left Nov. 10, 1746.

Rev. Jona. Mayhew, D. D., settled June 17, 1747, died July 8, 1766, aged 46.

Rev. Simeon Howard, D. D., settled May 6, 1767, died Aug. 13, 1801, aged 71.

Rev. Charles Lowell, D. D., settled Jan. 1, 1806.

Rev. Cyrus A. Bartol, settled March 1, 1837.

8
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SecotxD aSaptist ©jjutcl).—1743.—33apt(st.

This church was formed in 1743, and a house of worship was built on the

border of the Mill pond, near Salem street, now Baldwin place, and dedicated

March 15, 1746. A new building was erected on the same spot in 1810, sev-

enty-five by eighty feet, and dedicated January 1, 1811.

Clergy. Rev. Ephraim Bound, ord. Sept. 7, 1743, died June 18, 1765.

Rev. John Davis, ord. Sept. 9, 1770, dismissed July 19, 1772. .

Rev. Isaac Skillman, D. D., commenced his labors in September, 1773,

without a formal installation
;
dismissed Oct. 7, 1787.

Rev. Thomas Gair, inst. April 22, 1788, died April 27, 1790.

Rev. Thomas Baldwin, D. D., inst. Oct. 11, 1790, died Aug. 29, 1825.

Rev. James D. Knowles, ord. Dec. 28, 1825, dismissed Sept. 20, 1832.

Rev. Baron Stowe, inst. Nov. 15, 1832, dismissed 1848.

jflxst iKnibersalist ©Jure!).—1785.—SUnibersalist.

This society was organized in 1785. Their place of worship has ever been

at the comer of Hanover and Bennet streets. Their first house formerly

belonged to another society, (Dr. Mather's,) and was built about the year
1740. It was a large wooden building, and the only church of that material

in Boston, at the time of its removal, in 1838, for the erection of a large and

handsome building in its place.

Clergy. Rev. John Murray, set. Oct. 24, 1793, died Sept. 3, 1815, aged 74.

Rev. Edward Mitchell, settled Sept. 12, 1816, left Oct. 6, 1817, died in New
York, 1834.

Rev. Paul Dean, settled Aug. 19, 1813, left April 6, 1823.

Rev. Sebastian Streeter, settled May 13, 1824.

CCJurcl) of tj)t ?9ol» eCross.—1788.—Uontan (CatJoUc.

Mass was first celebrated in Boston, in an old French church, on School

street, November 22, 1788.

The Church of the Holy Cross, in Franklin street, was consecrated by

Bishop Carroll, of Baltimore, Maryland, on the 29th of September, 1803.

This church is one hundred and fifteen by seventy-two feet, and has a spa-
cious basement story, which, in 1827, was converted into a chapel, capable
of seating two thousand children

Former Clergy. Rev. M. La Poterie, in 1788.

Rev. John Thayer, June 10, 1790.

Rev. F. A. Matignon, D. D., Aug. 20, 1792.

Rev. John L. de Cheverus, D. D., Oct. 3, 1796, was consecrated bishop of

Boston, Nov. 1, 1810.

Rev. William Taylor, V. G., 1821.

Kev. Benedict Fenwick. D. D., was consecrated bishop in the room of Dr
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Chcverus, who relumed to France, Nov. 1, 1825, and was archbishop of Bor-

deaux, until lie died, July 19, 1836, aged (39.

Clergy, 1845. Ri. Rev. B. Fenwick, D. D. Bishop Fenwick died August
1 1th, 1846, aged 64, and was succeeded by his coadjutor, the Rt. Rev. J. B.

Fitzpatrick, D. D., a native of Boston.

Rev. Richard B. Hardy.
Rev. George F. Ilaskins.

Rev. P. F. Lyndon.
Rev. James McGuire.

Rev. Peter Crudden.

Rev. A. Manahan, D. D.

Rev. N. O'Brien.

Rev. J. J. Williams.

iTirst iHetljoDist ISpisropal ©Jjurc]).—1792.—iaetjjotifst.

No fraternity of Christians denominated Methodists, existed in Boston until

the year 1784, when the Rev. Wilham Black became a regular preacher. A
society was formed in 1792, and in 1795 this society built a neat chapel at

the north part of the city, which was dedicated May 15, 1796. At that time

there were but fifty communicants. The celebrated George Whitefield had

preached in Boston previous to that time, but no society was formed under

his ministration.

The comer-stone of a new chapel, for the accommodation of this society,

was laid on the 30th of April, 1828
;
on which occasion a large concourse of

people assembled, and by the breaking of the floor, a large portion of the

audience were precipitated into the cellar
;

—many persons were severely

injured ;

—three lost their lives. This house is on North Bennet street. It

was dedicated September 28, 1828.

Preacher. 1848. Rev. W. H. Hatch.

Sfixst. ffiljristfan Cfjurcjj.—1804.—Christian.

This church was organized in 1804, by Elder Abner Johnes. Their house

of worship is at the comer of Summer and Broad streets, and was dedicated

December 29, 1825.

Clergy. Elder Abner Jones, from 1804 to 1807.

Supplied from 1807 to 1816.

Elder Elias Smith, from 1816 to 1817.

Supplied from 1817 to 1819.

Elder Simon Clough, from 1819 to 1824.

Supplied from 1824 to 1825.

Elder Charles ]Morgredge, from 1825 to 1826.

Supplied from 1826 to 1828.

Elder Isaac C. Goff, from 1828 to 1829.
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Elder J. V. Himes, from 1830 to 1837.

Elder Simon Clough, from 1837 to 1839.

Elder Edwin Burnham, from 1839 to 1840.

Elder J. S. Thompson, from 1841 to 1844.

Elder Edward Edmunds, from 1844.

a^frican aSaptist CtfiurcJ).—1805.—aSaptCst.

This church was formed in 1805, and their house of worship, on Belknap

street, was dedicated the same year.

Clergy. Rev. Thomas Paul, ind. 1805, dis. 1829, died Apr. 23, 1831, aged 54.

Rev. Washington Christian ind. 1832, dis. 1832.

Rev. Samuel Gooch, ind. 1832, dis. 1834.

Rev. John Given, ind. 1834, dis. 1835.

Rev. Armstrong Archer, ind. 1836, dis. 1837.

Rev. George H. Black, ind. 1838, dis. 1841.

Rev. J. T. Raymond, ind. 1842.

SeconH ittctJoUist ffijurcl).—1806.—i^aetjolifst.

This chapel is in Bromfield street. It is eighty-four by fifty-four feet, and
was dedicated on the 19th of November, 1806. It contains a spacious vestry.

Clergy. Samuel H. Higgins, 1847.

erjirtt 33aptist ffijurtlj.—1807.—25apt(st.

The place of worship of this society is in Charles street. Their church was

constituted and the building dedicated, August 5, 1807. The building is sev-

enty-five feet square, and cost twenty-seven thousand dollars.

Clergy. Rev. Caleb Blood, settled Oct. 5, 1807, left June 5, 1810.

Rev. Daniel Sharp, D. D., settled April 29, 1812.

3Parfe Street CJurcj) —1809.—STrinitartan.

This beautiful house, at the corner of Park and Tremont streets, was dedi-

cated January 10, 1810. The church was constituted February 27th, 1809.

This house is one hundred and six feet long, including the vestibule of

about twenty feet, and eighty-two feet in width. On the floor of the house

are one hundred and thirty-four pews, and fifty in the side galleries. From
the top of the vane on the steeple of this church, to the pavement, is two

hundred and eighteen feet. In 1840, the interior of this house was much

improved, at an expense of about twenty thousand doUars. The body of the

house is very handsome, and the basement is converted into commodious
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halls or rooms for various purposes. The cellar of the building is now appro-

priated for a cemetery.

Clergy. Rev. Edward D. Griflin, insl. July 31st, 1811, dis. April 17, 1815

Rev. Sereno E. Dwight, ord. Sept. 3, 1817, dis. April 10, 1820.

Rev. Edward Beecher. ord. Dec. 27, 1826, dis. Oct. 28, 1830.

Rev. Joel H. Linsle)', inst. Dec. 5, 1832, dis. Sept. 28, 1835.

Rev. Silas Aiken, inst. March 22, 1837, dis. 1848.

St. ifiattljelu'g Cfturcj).—1816.—2ipiscopaI.

This parish was formed at South Boston, March 31, 1816. The church

was consecrated June 24, 1818.

Clergy. Rev. J. L. Blake became rector in 1824, left 1834.

Rev. Horace L. Conolly, rector, 1835, left June, 1838.

Rev. Joseph H. Clinch, rector, 1838.

Seconal 2JnibersaI[st Cj)urcl).—1816.—JKntbersallst.

The church in School street was incorporated December 13, 1816, and the

house dedicated October 16, 1817. The house is seventy-five feet long and

sixty-seven wide.

Clergy. Rev. Hosea Ballou, settled Dec. 25, 1817.

Rev. E. H. Chapin, colleague, settled Feb. 7, 1846, left May 1st, 1848.

Rev. A. A. Miner, settled May 1st, 1848.

CJje 'Xt'w SetusaUm CljUtcJ.—1818.—Stoetienliotfl.

This society was formed August 15, 1818, and for many years worshipped
in a neat hall in Phillips' place, near the Tremont House.

In 1845, the society built a place of worship, fronting on Bowdoin street,

near Beacon street. The exterior of this church is not easily seen from the

street, but its interior is unique and very beautiful.

The entrance, which is of Gothic architecture, is fifteen feet in w'idth, and

passes through a vestibule forty feel long, neatly finished with a series of

wooden spandrils, appropriately connected with the panel work of the ceiling.

The auditory is sixty-two feet by eighty, in the clear on the floor, and con-

tains one hundred and ten pews, of bold and original design. The three gal-

leries contain fifty-six, maldng in all one hundred and sixty-six pews. The
entire ceiling is finished with groined arches, and so formed as to admit light

through the roof to the nave of the ceiling, which produces a soft and agreeable

effect. The line of the nave at the apex is eighty-nine feet long, and fifty

feet high from the auditory floor. The stairs ascending to the galleries are

placed in the two front comers, on either side of the entrance doors, and so

finished as to give a grace to its general appearance. The easterly end

form.s a ppculiarly elegant and srand feature of the edifice, there being placed
8*
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on the centre of the chancel, a lofty tabernacle, designed for a depository of

the Sacred Scriptures, and a pavilion on either side of it, all of which are

highly ornamental.

The pulpit and organ are on the main floor
;
the former on the left ol ihe

chancel, and the latter on the right.

Clergy. Rev. Thomas Worcester, settled August 17, 1828.

African iWetfioUist ISpiscojal Society.—1818.—iWct|)olilst.

This society was organized about 1818. Their church, in May street, was

dedicated October 24th, 1824.

Clergy. Rev. Samuel Snowden.

J^abJEs' iSlace ©Ijurclj.—1819.—Jflnitarian.

This church, at South Boston, was formed in 1819. The house was deca-

cated January 1, 1833.

Clergy. Rev. Lemuel Capen, settled m 1823, and left in 1839.

Rev. Charles C. Shackford was ordained May 19. 1841, left 1843.

Rev. George W. Lippitt, ordained 1844.

Snion or ISssej: Street ©Sure]).-1819.—STrinitarCan.

This church was formed, and James Sabine became its pastor, on the 27th

of January, 1819. The house in Essex street was dedicated in December,
1819. In 1841, this house was remoddled, and both its exterior and interior

appearance was much improved, at an expense of about fifteen thousand dol-

lars. The basement part now contains a large and commodious vestry and

other rooms. Mr. Sabine left the 16th of March, 1822. The Union Church

was formed August 26, 1822.

Clergy. Rev. Samuel Green, inst. March 26, 1823, dis. March 26, 1834.

Rev. Nehemiah Adams, D. D., inst. March 26, 1834.

St. SCuflustme's ®J)urct).—1819.—ffiat&olic.

This church, at South Boston, was erected in 1819, enlarged in 1825, and

consecrated in 1833. Around this church is a Catholic cemetery, which is

beautifully shaded, and makes an impressive appearance. It is now used

only for the performance of funeral services.

St. laaul's ©[jure!).—1820.—Episcopal.'

The corner-stone of thi? beautiful building, on Tremont street, was laid

September 4th, .819, and tlie churcli was consecrated June 30. 1820.
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Clergy. Rev. Samuel Fannar Jarvis, D. D., inst. July 7, 1820, resigned

Aug. 22, 1825.

Kev. Alonzo Potter, D. D., inst. Aug. 29, 1826, dis. Sept. 6, 1831..

Rev. John S. Stone, inst. June 19, 1832, dis. June 7, 1841.

Kev. Alex. H. Vinton, D. D., inst. June, 1842.

aSuIffncJ) Street Sotictg.—1822.— Onitatian.

This society was formed in 1822. The house in Bulfinch street was dedi-

i.dted May 6, 1823.

Clergy. Rev. Paul Dean, inst. May 7, 1823, resigned May 3, 1840.

Rev. Frederick T. Gray, inst. Nov. 2G, 1839.

Hejjtjen, or CSrcen .Street CJurct).—1823.—Ctinitarian.

The Green Street Church was constituted December 30, 1823. The house

xas dedicated October 2oth, 1826, and the Rev. William Jenks, D. D., was

installed the same day. A union with this and Garden Street Church, and

their pastor, Rev. William R. Chapman, commenced July 15, 1844, and ter-

minated October 2d, 1845. This, the Messiah Church, (See p. 102.)worships

at the Marlboro' Chapel. The Leyden Church, with their pastor, became

connected with the Green Street Church, October 19, 1845. Dr. Jenks, and

a large number of his former church, remain at the old place of worship.

Clergy. Rev. Jos. H. Towne, ins. Feb. 28, 1844, left June, 1847.

Now occupied by the " Church of the Advent."

^PljilU^ja' <!i:j)ttrct>.—1823.—STrtititanaiu

This church, at South Boston, was constituted December 10, 1823. The

Bouse was dedicated March 9, 1825. That house was taken down, and a

new and handsome house erected on the same site, in 1836. This building

is seventy-eight by sixty-five feet, and cost, exclusive of the land, fourteen

thousand five hundred dollars.

Clergy. Rev. Prince Hawes, settled April 28, 1624, left April 18, 1827.

Rev. Joy H. Fairchild, settled Nov. 22, 1827, left May 16, 1842.

Rev. William W. Patton, settled Jan. 18, 1843, left January 6, 1846.

Rev. John W. Alvord, settled Nov. 1846.

Cjjambers Street ffiiiurcl).—1825.—Onitacian.

This church, styled "the Twelfth Congregational Church," was constituted

January 28, 1825. The house was dedicated October 13, 1824.

Clergy. Rev. Samuel Barrett, D. D., ordained Feb. 9, 1825.

33ototioiit Street €f)urct).—1825.—CTrinitarian.

Constituted July IS, 1825. Their house in Hanover street was burnt Feb.

i. 1830. The present stone house was dedicated June 16, 1831.



92 GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS.

Clergy. Rev. Lyman Beecher, D. D., inst. March 22, 1826, dismissed

Sept. 26, 1832.

Rev. Hubbard Winslow, inst. Sept. 26, 1832, left 1844.

Rev. J. B. Waterbury, D. D., installed Sept. 1846.

^utcfiase Street ®J)urcJ.—1825.—Sanitarian.

This society was formed in 1825. House dedicated August 24, 1826.

Clergy. Rev. George Ripley, ord. Nov. 8, 1826, dis. March 28, 1841.

Rev. James I. T. Coolidge, ord. Feb. 9, 1842.

A splendid Gothic edifice, in Harrison Avenue. 20 feet longer than the

other, was dedicated May 3, 1848.

^ittfl Street CCJapel.—1826.—ZSnltartan.

This church and society were gathered in 1826, by the late lamented

Joseph Tuckerman, D. D., who died at Havana, April 20, 1840, aged 63.

After Dr. Tuckerman left, the officiating clergymen were Rev. Charles F.

Barnard, Rev. Frederick T. Gray, and Rev. Robert C. Waterston. Mr.

Waterston has been invited to the pastoral charge of a newly organized soci-

ety.

Clergy. '1846, Rev. Andrew Bigelow, D. D. Rev. S. H. Winkley is the

ofiiciating pastor of this chapel.

Salem Street ecjjurcij.—1827.—SCrinitarian.

Society formed September 1, 1827. House dedicated January 1, 1828.

Clergy. Rev. Justin Edwards, D. D., inst. Jan. 1, 1828, dis. Aug. 20, 1829.

Rev. George W. Blagden, inst. Nov. 3, 1830, dis. Sept. 5, 1836.

Rev. Joseph H. Towne, inst. June 2, 1837, left January, 1844.

Rev. Edward Beecher, D. D., settled 1844.

3Pine Street ffijurcj).—1827.—Trinitarian.

This church was constituted September 2, 1827. The house, on Washing-
ton street, was dedicated December 25, 1827. The house is seventy-one by

eighty feet
;

it contains one hundred and eighty-two pews, and large rooms

in the basement story.

Clergy. Rev. Thos. Skinner, D. D., inst. April 19, 1828, dis. Aug. 27, 1828.

Rev. John Brown, D. D., inst. March 14, 1829, dis. Feb. 16, 1831.

Rev. Amos A. Phelps, inst. Sept. 13, 1831, dis. March 26, 1834.

Rev. Artemas Boies, inst. Dec. 10, 1834, dis. Nov. 9, 1840.

Rev. Austin Phelps, ord. March 31, 1842, dis. 1848.

SoutJ) ffionjircflatfonal €J)urci).—1827.—5!3nftar(an.

This society was formed in 1827, and the house on Washington street, at

the south part of the city, was dedicated Jan. 30, 1828.

Clergy. Rev. Blellish Irving Motte, settled May 21, 1828, left July, 1842.

Rev. Frederick D. Huntington, ordained Oct. 19, 1842.
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Sotoe St. aSaptist Cljurct).—1827.—Baptist.

This society was organized, and the house on Federal street was dedicated

July 18, 1827. In March, 1815, the house was sold to make room for ware-

houses, and a beautiful spot purchased at the corner of Rowe and Bedford

streets, for the erection of another. This house was dedicated April 5, 1847.

Clergy. Rev. Howard Malcom, settled in Nov. 1828, left Sept. 1835.

Rev. George B. Ide, settled Dec. 30, 1835, left April, 1838.

Rev. Handel G. Nott, settled May 23, 1839, left June, 1840.

Rev. William Hague, settled 1840, dismissed in 1848.

Rev. Baron Stow, D. D., installed in Oct., 1848.

aSctJel ©Jute!).—1828.—iKetliotiist.

This Mariners' Bethel, on North square, was erected by the " Boston Port

Society," in 1828, at an expense of twenty-eight thousand dollars. The

house is eighty-one by fifty-three feet, and will contain fifteen hundred per-

sons.

Clergy. Rev. E. T. Taylor, from the commencement.

iaariner's CJjuccJ.-1828.—Erinitatian.

The church was gathered in 1828, and the corner-stone of the house, on

Purchase street, was laid August 11, 1829. It was dedicated January 20,

1830. The patrons of this Bethel are connected with the " Sailor's Home

Society."

Clergy. Rev. Jonathan Greenleaf, chosen Feb. 13, 1830, dis. Nov. 2, 1833.

Rev. Daniel M. Lord, inst. Nov. 11, 1834, left June 1, 1847.

St. Stephen's Cjutcjj.—1829.—Spiscopal.

This city mission church and society was formed by the Rev. Asa Eaton,
in June, 1829. The corner-stone of their new church, on Purchase street,

was laid in March, 1845. It is of the Gothic style of architecture, built of

red sand-stone, and erected at the sole expense of William Apfleton, Esq.,

•of Boston.

Clergy. Rev. Asa Eaton, D. D., to Feb., 1837.

Rev. Mr. Mc Burney, to 1843.

Rev. E. M. P. Wells, to 1844.

iHctJotJist 33rotE3ta!tt ©iiurcl).-1829.—i«tti)oB(st.

This society worships in a buildmg at the corner of Deacon and Mernmac
streets.

Clergy. 1847, Rev. C. W. Dennison.
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ffiract ffii)urcjl).—1829.—ISpiscopal.

This society was formed in 1829, under Rev. James Sabine, who continued

to officiate a few months in Piedmont, now Church street. Rev. George F.

Haskins officiated from October 15, 1830, to October 15, 1831, when he re-

signed. They gave up the church in Piedmont street, in February, 1834,

and removed to a small building in Bedford street. They were destitute of a

regular minister from 20th September, 1831, till July 19, 1832. Most of the

Episcopal ministers in the city officiated during that time. Rev. Samuel Mc-

Bumey became their minister for one year, 19th July, 1832. The society

removed to Boylston Hall on the first Sunday in August, 1833. Rev. Zecha-

riah Mead became rector September 8th, commenced the charge 20th Decem-

ber, 1833, and left January, 1836. This society now worship in a beautiful

church on Temple street, which was consecrated June 14, 1836.

Clergy. Rev. Thomas M. Clark, rector, 1836, left Dec. 1842.

Rev. Clement M. Butler, became rector May 24, 1844, left March, 1847.

Rev. Charles Mason, rector, Sept. 5, 1847.

J^ourtJ SSnitersalist Sottetj.—1830.—^Cnlbersallst.

This house, at South Boston, was dedicated in 1830.

Clergy. Rev. Benj. Whittemore, settled July, 1830, left in April, 1843

Rev. T. D. Cook, settled Jan. 1st, 1844.

Sout!) aSaptist ©Jurcl),—1831.—SSaptist.

This church was a branch of Federal street Baptist Church from August,

1828, until March, 1831, when it became independent. The house of wor-

ship of this church and society, on Broadway, South Boston, composed the

materials of the house of the First Baptist Society in Boston. In the vestry

of this church is the old pulpit which the eloquent Dr. Stillman occupied.

The house was dedicated July 22, 1830.

Clergy. Up to Aug. 28, 1828, Rev. Harvey Ball and Rev. Otis Wing
were the officiating clergymen.
Rev. Thomas Driver was ordained April 16, 1829, left m 1830.

Rev. RollinH.Neale, settled Sept. 15, 1833, and left March 19, 1834.

Rev. Timothy R. Cressy, settled March, 1834, left June 22, 1835.

Elders Naylor, Colver, Jackson, and others supplied the pulpit till Nov. 1SS8.

Rev. Thomas Driver returned, and was settled. In April, 1843, Mr. Dri-

ver resigned, and some months after was succeeded by the

Rev. Duncan Dunbar, dismissed in 1846.

Rev. G. W. Bosworth, installed in 1846.
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et)ivl! iB,. 25. CljuvcJ).—1834. — ifHftlJoOist.

This church, in Church street, was constituted in August, 1834.

Preacher, 1847, Rev. A. D. Merrill.

iTree mHll ISaptist CJurcJ).—1834.—iTrtt Ejyill aSaptiBt,

This church, previously established, adopted the above name in 1834.

Their present place of worship is in Boylston Hall.

Clergy. Rev. E. Noyes, 1847.

t!!3!lfarreit Street Ctjapel.— 1835.—Unitarian.
Public worship was commenced at this place, by the city missionary soci-

ety, in 1835. In 1841, a neat and commodious chapel was erected, and dedi-

cated in February of that year. No budding in the city is more constantly or

usefully employed than this. There are day schools and evening schools,

sewing and writing, Sunday and vacation schools, private and charily, kept,

besides lectures and religious exercises.

Clergy. Rev. Charles F. Barnard. Mr. Barnard's services are confined

to children.

JTiftt) fflnibersalist Societjj.—1835.—JHnftersalist.

This society was formed in Januarj', 1S35. For three years its meetings were

held in Boylston Hall. The church was publicly recognized in January, 1837.

In June, 1838, the corner-stone of the meeting-house on Warren street, wa.s

laid with appropriate religious services. This house is of brick, very neat,

and contains one hundred and sixty-six pews, besides a gallery for the sing-

ers, a fine-toned organ, a large vestry, and three school-rooms. It was ded-

icated January 30, 1839.

Clergy. Rev. Otis A. Sknnner, installed January 16, 1836, left Apl. 1846.

Rev. Joseph S. Dennis, installed January 27, 1847, lell Aug., 1848.

Central CJuccfi.—1835 .-Trinitarian.

This church was organized May 11, 1835, and was called the Franklin

Street Church. Their place of worship was the Odeon, formerly the Federal

Street Theatre. An elegant meeting-house for this church and society has

been erected on "Winter street, and was consecrated December 31, 1841. It

contains an organ of superior power and lone, and large and convenient halls

jn the basement story.

The body of the house is seventy by seveni)''-six and a half feet, and the

vestibule and portico forty-four by fifty-three and a half feet. The front is

composed wholly of granite, and is in point of style, in the most simple form

of Grecian architecture. A temple in afitis. The columns and antce are ele-

vated on a slybobate five and a half feet high. The shafts of the columns

are each composed of a single block of granite, three feet six inches and a

half in diameter at the base, with twenty-four flutings in eacn shaft. The

height of the columns, including base and capitals, is thirty-two feet, sur-
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mounted by an entablature nine feet high. The order of architecture is

Corinthian, taken from the Choragic monument of Lysocrates.

There are one hundred and twenty-four pews on the principal floor of the

house, in circular form, every seat facing the speaker. The pulpit is of beau-

tiful marble, opposite the entrances, and standing partly within an alcove,

and between two Corinthian columns in antis. The columns are eighteen

feet high, and stand on marble plinths, three feet four inches high, and with

their capitals and entablature, are in every particular copied from the order

of architecture of Lysocrates' monument, with the exception of the dentil

band under the cornice. The entrances to the pulpit are on each side, by a

flight of steps between the columns and antae. The entablature is continued

on all sides of the house. The ceiling is in the form pf a dome, resting on

spandrils, having their apparent support from piers in the angles of the build-

ing. The height of the ceiling from the principal floor is thirty-four feet four

inches, and together with the walls is ornamented with delicate fresco paint-

ings, in imitation of panels. There are galleries on three sides of the house,

which contain thirty-six pews, and seats for the choir. The body of the house

IS lighted by fourteen windows, four feet eight inches wide, and eighteen feet

high, and by a circular window in the ceiling, of variegated stained glass,

sixteen feet in diameter.

Clergy. Eev. William M. Rogers, installed Aug. 6, 1835.

Rev. George Richards, was ordained as colleague-pastor, Oct. 1845.

iFirst jftn CJiircJ).—1835.—ErlnitarCan.

This church was organized July 16, 1835. The society worshipped, the

first three years of its existence, in Congress and Amory halls. The corner-

stone of the Marlboro' Chapel, on "Washington street, was laid August 17,

1837. The chapel was dedicated May 24, 1838. It contains a number of

spacious halls, the largest of which will accommodate two thousand persons.

Clergy. Rev. Charles Fitch was inst. May 24, 1836, and dis. Sept. 3, 1836.

Rev. A. A. Phelps settled Dec. 4, 1838, inst. July 24, 1839, and dis. 1840.

Rev. "William R. Chapman supplied the pulpit from July, 1840, to April,

1841, at which time the church was divided, in consequence of a difierence

of views in regard to the doctrine of perfection, and that part of the church

that held to the established Orthodox views on the subject, took their dismis-

sion, and were organized into a new church, and with Mr. Chapman for

their pastor, commenced public worship at the Garden Street Chapel.
A considerable part of the church continued to worship at the Marlboro'

Chapel, and employed Rev. John Starkweather, (a perfectionist,) to supply
the pulpit till November, 1841.

From that time until the dissolution of the church, which took place in 1843,

the pulpit was supplied by Rev. C. G. Finney, and Rev. William P. Russell.
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St. iHarn'g ffijutcl).—1836.—Boman Cat!)olic.

This church, in Endicott street, was consecrated by Bishop Fenwick, on

the 22d of May, 1836. It is built of rough stone, and has a large basement.

Clergy. Rev. Patrick Flood, and Rev. Jaraes O'Reilley.

R. R. J. Mc Elroy. P. P. Kroes. S. Piacivini.

St. 13atticfe'3 euuicl).—1836.—I^omait ffiatJoUc.

This church, on Northampton street, was consecrated by Bishop Fenwick

on the Uth of December, 1836.

Clergy. Rev. Thomas Lynch.

iHabericfe ffijiurr!).—1837 .—^Trinitarian.

This church and society, at East Boston, had a neat house of worship

erected in 1837, but since, this has been sold, and a large and more commo-

dious edifice built, which was dedicated in 1845.

Clergy. Rev. William "W. Newell was installed in 1838, and left in 1841.

Rev. Amos A. Phelps, was installed March 2, 1842, and left in 1845.

Rev. Robert Hitchcock, settled in 1847.

Zion Cjutcl).-1838.—i«ctf)oDist.

This Methodist Episcopal Church was constituted in June, 1838. The

society is composed of colored people, who worship in a house on West Cen-

tre street, forty by twenty-four feet. The society is quite numerous
;
and it

is to be hoped that this community of humble Christians will ere long have a

larger and more convenient place of worship.

Clergy. Rev. Jehiel C. Beman, from its formation.

Setontr Stfcican i«. 13. CJurcJ.—1838.—iWctfjoDlst.

This church was formed in 1838. The place of worship of this society is

in West Centre street.

Clergy. Rev. Henry Johnson.

ifourtf) ittctfjotiist lipiscopal CJurcj).-1839.— ifitlljoUist.

The chapel of this society is in North Russell street, in the west part of

the city. It was dedicated January 15, 1839.

Preacher in 1848, Rev. William Rice.

5UarbavU Street CJurcJ).—1839.—Uapti.st,

This church was constituted March 27, 1839. Their first place of worship
was Boylston Hall

;
the second, the Melodeon

;
the third, the new and handsome

9
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house at the corner of Harvard street and Harrison avenue. The corner-

stone of this building was laid in May, 1842. It will accommodate about

twelve hundred people. It has a commodious vestry.

Clergy. Rev. Robert Turnbull, installed Aug. 25, 1839, left June 18-15.

Rev. Joseph Banvard, installed March 15, 1846.

Cremont Street ISaptist ©Jure!).—1839.—33aptlst.

This church was constituted in March, 1839, and for some time worshipped

in a hall at the corner of Tremont and Bromfield streets. In 1843, the society

purchased the Tremont Theatre, and converted it into a place of worship, and

called it the "Tremont Temple." See Public Buildings.

Clergy. Rev. Nathaniel Colver, settled in 1839.

Suffolfe Street ffijapel.—1839.—Knitarfan.

This church and society were gathered by the Rev. John T. Sargent. The

chapel was erected in 1839, at an expense of about fifteen thousand dollars,

the .and being given to the society by the city. It was dedicated Februaiy

5, 1840, by the Rev. J. T. Sargent, the pastor of the church. Mr. Sargent
left Dec. 31, 1844. Rev. Samuel B. Cruft, settled 1845.

CjarUon Street ffijapcl,—1839.—©jjristian.

This church was organized February 1, 1839. The place of worship was

ChardoB. Street Chapel, which was dedicated November 7, 1838. This soci-

^v/ is now blended \v\i\i the Millerites, who worship in a hall on Milk Street,

and has become extinct. Now occupied by Millerites. Rev. Mr. Himes.

iSotoUoin Square 33aptist ffijurcjj.-1840.—aSapttst.

This house is beautifully located on Bowdoin square, at the corner of Chardon

street, and was completed in the autumn of 1810. Its front is of unhammered

granite, the side and rear walls of brick. On the floor and in the galleries are

one hundred and seventy-six pews, aflbrding comfortable seats to a congrega-

tion of one thousand three hundred. It is eighty feet in length, exclusive of a

tower of ten feet, and seventy-three and a half feet in breadth. In the base-

ment of the house is a spacious and convenient vestry, committee rooms. &c.

The cost of the land was twenty-five thousand one hundred and thirty-eight

dollais
;
of the building, organ, carpets, &cc., forty-two thousand four hundred

and sixty-two dollars
;

total cost, sixty-seven thousand six hundred dollars.

This house is built in the most substantial manner, and for neatness and

good taste, is not excelled by any structure of the kind in the city. The
church was constituted and the house dedicated November 5, 1840.

Clergy. Rev. R. W. Cushman, installed July 8, 1841, dismissed in 1847.

Rev. Pharcellus Church, D. D., installed in 1848.



BOSTON. 99

JFift!) i«. IE. ®i(uccl).—1840. -fHttt)olitst.

The house of this society is at South Boston. Dedicated June 17, 1840.

Preacher, in 1848, Rev. Henry V. Degen.

Sijrtf) Hnibetsalist Socfetj.—1840.—iHnlbergalist.

This society was organized in September, 1840.

Clergy. Rev. Sylvanus Cobb, settled Sept. 1, 1840, left May 1, 1844.

Rev. Alexander Hichborn, settled 1844.

Rev. S. Cobb, pastor, 1847. This society is now extinct. Re-organized

November, 1848. No pastor.

German ISbanaelical ©JjurcJ).—1840.—©erman IJrotestant.

This society was organized in 1840, and worship in a building in Shaw-

mut street, near Pleasant street.

Clergy. Rev. George J. Kempe.

CSetman Hutjcrans.-1841.—SLutJcran.

This society worships in Suflblk street, near Dover street. The church

was formed in 1841.

Clergy. Rev. Frederick Schmidt.

ffijurcj) ot tje 33isciplcs.—1841.—Smtatlan.
This society was gathered in the early part of 1841, founded on the Social

Principle, and is supported entirely by voluntary contribution. The society

worship in a beautiful chapel, opposite the new Athenaeum, Beacon street, in

a court called Freeman place. The house is a model in point of economy,

comfort, and sociability.

Rev. J. F. Clarke, pastor, 1841.

aaicjjmono St. CJurcti.-1841.-3!WttJ)oIii3t.

Church organized 1841.

Clergy. Rev. Moseley Dwight, 1848.

i«ount Vernon ffiliurcjj.—1842.—Crinftarian.

This church was formed January 1, 1842, and worshipped in INIasonic

Temple, until their new and beautiful house in Ashburton place, between

Somerset and Bowdoin streets, was dedicated, January 4, 1844.

Clergy. Rev. Edward N. Kirk, installed Jan. 1, 1842.
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Wtst Zanibersalist SociEt5.—1843.— 2SnibersaHst.

This society held its first meeting for organization, December 18th, 1843;

subsequently purchased the Chardon Street Chapel, and opened the same

with appropriate religious exercises. The society became a body corporate,

in conformity with existing provisions of law, January 30, 1844.

Clergy. Rev. Thomas C. Adam, ordained March 12, 1845.

Rev. D. H. Plumb, 1847. Now extinct.

fijiurcj) of tjc iWessiaJ.—1843.—Episcopal.

This parish was organized in May, 1843. Their church is located in Flor-

ence street, and was consecrated on the 20th of August, 1848, by the Rt.

Rev. Bp. Eastburu. It is built in the early English style of architecture. It

will accommodate a congregation of 700, and is entirely free from debt.

Clee&v Rev. George M. Randall, rector.

SCJe Srjilrtr (Christian (!!i;!)urct).—1843.—ffijtfstian.

The Third Christian Church was organized in 1843. This society is now

extinct.

3East aSoston 3Baptist ©Jurcji.-1844.—38aptist.

This church commenced public worship in a spacious hall, finished for the

purpose, in October, 1843, and was publicly recognized in October, 1844.

Clergy. Rev. Hiram A. Graves supplied the pulpit till December, 1844,

when Rev. Joseph M. Graves was settled as pastor, left June, 1847, dismissed

1847. Rev. Miles Sanford installed 1847.

©Jurcl) of St. 3&tUv ana St. 33aul.—1844.—Sfloinan ffiatjjolic.

This massive structure of stone, located on Broadway, South Boston, is

nearly completed. It is sixty-one and a half feet in front, and one hundred

and six feet in the rear. The spire of this church will be of stone, even to

the symbol of the cross at its summit, one hundred and seventy-six feet from

the ground. Being in an elevated situation, this church will form a new and

tasteful feature in the view of that section of this city. Destroyed by fire in

1848.

Clergy. Rev. Terence Fitzsimmons, M. Hamil.

ffvte (itijurcj).—1844.—3£loman ©atljolJc.

This church is located on Moon street.

Clergy. Rev. J. B. McMahon. 1845, Rev. G. McGrath. 1846, Rev. G.

F. Haskins.

Cliurcj) of tje atBbent.-1844.—ISpistopal.

This society worship in the church gn Green street. The church was

organized in 1844.

Clergy. Rev. "William Croswell, rector.

ffijiurcj) of tjje J^oIb JCrfuitn.-1844.—3ftoman ©atjjolic.

This church is for German Catholics. It is situated on Suffolk street.

Clergy. Rev. Mr. Plathe. 1846, Rev. P. Martin. 1848, J. Eck.
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CJuvt!) of St. Nicljolas.—1844.—l^omaix dfTatjjoUc.

This church is at East Boston.

Clergy. Rev. Nicholas O'Brien. 1847, Rev. C. W. Callion.

€})urc}) of tje Sablouv.—1845.— JHnitarian.

This church was instituted in February, 1845. They have purchased a

favorable lot on Bedford street, (the site of the late Judge Prescott's mansion,)
and built a handsome church, which was dedicated 1847.

Clergy. Rev. R. C. Waterston.

JTriEiilj .Street aSaptist Cljutcj,—1845.—Baptist.

This society has been gathered under the ministry at large. I'hey worship
at the corner of Friend and Deacon streets.

Clergy. Rev. William Howe.

JJroaDtoaij CijurcJ).—1845.— Sanitarian.

This church, at South Boston, was organized July 1, 1845, and a pastor

mstalled, May 22, 1846.

Clergy. Rev. Moses G. Thomas, resigned 1848.

Sanson CJurcj).—1845.—STrinitariau.

This church was organized in July, 1845. Their place of worship is at the

corner of Broadway and B street, South Boston.

Clergy. Rev. Joy H. Fairchild, installed 19th November, 1845.

23oston 33aptist 3SetJ)el.—1845.—J^aptist.

This society is under the care of the Boston Baptist Bethel Society. Place

of worship, corner of Lewis and Commercial streets.

Clergy. Rev. Phineas Stow.

Souti) JKnibersalist Societn.—1845.—Ouibersalist.

This society was organized February 2Sth, 1845. Their place of worship
is in a hall on the corner of Canton and Suffolk streets

Clergy. E. W. Coffin, 1845. Darius Motte, 1847. J. G. Forman, 1848.

ZanibersaKst jfvtt Cjurci).-1845.- SUnibersalist.

This church was established in 1845. Theirplaceof worship is on Wash-

ington street.

Clergy. Rev. A. P. Cleverly. This society is now extinct.

Seamen's CJapel,—1845.—SSpi-^copal.

Their place of worship is in Ann street.

Clergy. Rev. John P. Robinson, rector.

9*
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EnUiana Strett (ilonQreflational ©Jiurci).—1845.—SSnitarian.

This church was organized in August, 1845. Their place of worship is

Indiana street. Every individual contributes so much per quarter for his

seat. No pews are sold. A perfectly democratic basis.

Clergy. Rev. Thomas B. Fox.

Suffolk ^tceet ZSttion (S^jiurcji.—1845.—^Trinitarian.

This church was formed by the City Missionary Society, Nov. 20, 1845,

and the Rev. George A. Oviatt was installed the same day. Their chapel is

in Suffolk street.

pilgrim Societj.—1846.—^Trinitarian.

This society was incorporated by the Legislature in 1846, by the name
of " The Pilgrim Congregational Society." Their place of worship, for the

present, is in the Lowell Institute. This society is associated with the

Messiah Church. See page 91. Rev. M. H. Smith, ins. Oct. 18, 1846.

JFirst ^Presbjterian ffijurcj.—1846.—^rcsfisterian.

This church was organized in September, 1846. Their place of worship,
for the present, is in Phillips place, on Tremont street.

Clergy. Rev. Alexander Blaikie.

ffianton Street €l)urc$.—1846.—i^etjjoHist.

This church was constituted in April, 1846.

Clergy. 1847, Rev. B. K. Peirce.

St. Jojin's €l)urc|).—1846.—Hpiscopal.

This church is located at East Boston. It was organized in 1846, and

the Rev. Thomas L. Franklin became rector in July, 1847.

^ Siptl) i«. 3S. ©Iiurcl).—1847.—i«cti)oJiist.

The house occupied by this society i.^ at East Boston, and was dedicated

May 26, 1847.

Clergy. 1848, Rev. Henry E. Hempstead.
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FINANCES OF THE CITY.

The amount of the city debt on the first day of June, 1816, was $l,048,86o

66. The receipts during the financial year, from the SOtli April, 1815, to

(hi 30th of April, 1846, were 81,370,861 84. The expenditures were, during

the same period, $1,239,138 24.

Besides the public property in the Common, Fort hill, buildings, wharves,

islands, lands appropriated for city uses, fire apparatus, reservoirs, fee, Ace,

the city own the lands improved as a public garden, containing about a mil-

lion feet
;
also five millions and a half feet of land on both sides of the

Neck, besides lots of land on Boylston and Pleasant streets, Court square,

and other parts of the city, comprising an area of from sixty to seventy-five

thousand feet. These lands are exclusive of streets, burial grounds, and public

squares, already laid out.

IMost of these lands are very valuable, and sales of them are rapidly mak-

ing ;
their aggregate value cannot be estimated, but is known to be millions

more than the city debt.

CITY GOVERNMENT.

The city of Boston was incorporated February 23, 1822, and is divided

into twelve wards. Its officers are a mayor, eight aldermen, forty-eight com-

mon council men, twelve overseers of the poor, and twenty-four school com-

mittee men. They are chosen on the second RIonday in December. The

government is organized on the first Monday in January.
The Mayor and Aldekmen are elected by general ticket. The mayor

nominates the officers appointed by the mayor and aldermen.

The aldermen receive no pay.

The Common Council are elected by the wards. They receive no pay.
The two branches of the city government usually act separately, and they

each have a negative upon the proceedings of the other. In their collective

capacity, they are called the City Council.

The City Council appoint the city officers, and fix their compensation, and

determine the number of the representatives of the city to the legislature.

The officers appointed by them are the city clerk, clerk of the common

council, city and county treasurer, city marshal, superintendent of the sewers,

auditor, city solicitor, resident physician, superintendent of burial grounds,

assessors, overseers of the House of Correction, directors of the House of In-

dustry and the House of Reformation.

The -offices and meetings of the city government are in the City Hall, on

Court Square, between Court and School streets.
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Succession of Mayors.

John PhiUips, 1822 to 1823.

Josiah Quincy, 1823 to 1829.

Harrison Gray Otis, 1829 to 1832.

Charles Wells, 1832 to 1834.

Theodore Lyman, jr., 1834 to 1836.

Samuel T. Armstrong, 1836 to 1837.

Samuel A. Elliot, 1837 to 1840.

Jonathan Chapman, 1840 to 1843.

Martin Brimmer, 1843 to 1845.

Thomas A. Davis, 1845 to 1845.

Josiah Quincy, jr., 18l6 to 1849.

John P. Bigelow, 1849.

COURTS IN BOSTON.

Circuit Court of the United States. This court is holden at Boston Blay 15,

and October 15, annually.

District Court of the United States. This court is holden at Boston on the

third Tuesday in IMarch, and fourth Tuesday in June, the second Tuesday in

September, and first Tuesday in December.

Special terms of this court are frequently held, at the discretion of the judge.

Supreme Court of Massachusetts for the Counties of Suffolk and Nantuclet.

Law Term. In Boston on the first Tuesday in March. Nisi Prius Term.

In Boston, on the seventh Tuesday after the fourth Tuesday in September.

Adjourned Nisi Prius Terms of the Supreme Court in other counties are fre-

quently holden in Boston.

Court of Common Pleas. A term of this court is holden in Boston quarterly,

commencing on the first Tuesday in January, the first Tuesday in April, the

first Tuesday in July, and the first Tuesday in October.

Municipal Court. This court is holden for the trial of criminal actions, for

he city of Boston. The judges of the Court of Common Pleas preside alter-

nately in this court. It is holden on the first Monday of each month.

The Police Court of the City, for the trial of criminal cases, is a court of

similar, but inferior jurisdiction to the Municipal Court. It sits daily.

Three justices preside alternately in this court. There is no jury. An

g.ppeal lies to the Municipal Court.

Justices' Court. This is a court for the trial of civil suits, under twenty dol-

lars. The justices who preside in the Police Court alternately preside here.

There is no jury. An appeal lies to the Court of Common Pleas. This court
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H holden twice in a week, at nine o'clock in the morning, on Wednesday and

Saturday. It is a court of record, and much of the minor business of the

city is transacted here.

The Prolate Court is holden at the probate oflice every Monday in the

months of January, February, I\Iarch, April, and Blay ;
the second and third

Mondays in June
;
and every Monday except the first, in August, September,

October, November, and December.

All the above-mentioned courts, excepting the Probate Court, are hol(*en in

the court-house, in Court street.

The clerks of the courts mentioned, excepting the Probate Court, have their

offices, and the law library, belonging to the members of the Suffolk bar,

in this building.

The office for the Registry of Deeds, and the Probate Office, are in another

building in Court square.

BANKING INSTITUTIONS.

[From Legislative Relums, July, 1844.1

Banks.

Atlantic

Atlas,
Boston

City
Columbian,
Eagle
Freeman's,
Globe
Granite

Hamilton,
Market,
Blassachusetts,
Mechanics,
Merchants,
New England,
North,
Shawmnt,
Shoe and Leather Dealers,
State

Suffolk

Traders,

Tremont,
Union,
Washington,

-54 Ranks.

Capital

Stock.

$5nn,rKX)

.500,000

600,000
1,00(1,000

500,000
500,000
l.'W.OOO

1,000,000
54)0,000

50o,oai
560,000
800,000
120,0(X)

2,000,000

1,000,000
750,000
500,000
.500,000

1,800,000

1,000,000
400.000

500,000
800,000
.500,000

Gold, Silver.
and other coi- Total amount
ned metals in of the resources'

their Banking of the Banks,
houses.

375,120 22

14,337 30

368,618 37

36,341 10

204,579 63
61,727 ai
25.650 27

225,653 93

44,0S1 13

50,0*5 96
60,816 ai

105,512 05

9,3;)0 34

1,3.39,331 &3

65,482 67
54.70048

48,975 36

24,644 49

68,487 71

784,7.36 74

25,4&141
63,(»1 35

W,216S3
29,131 17

$986,313 53

1,073,.^3S98

1,722,354 35

1,761,17642
1,171,623 48

1,273,018 09

364, 120 as
2.377,09387
962,913 87

1.013,423 39

1.172,965 66

1,-526, 43-1 80
260,059 53

6,262, .348 46

1,605,799 20

1,3-17,868 98

897,958 06

1,006,810 82
2,9.87,6-15 57
4,0.53,.'i17S9

773,078 14

976,537 70

1,411,205 88

814,112 37

16,980,000 3,886,120 52 37,832.(M9 124,462,691

Bills in Circulation.

OfSSandup- Less than
wards. $-5,

3170,515
126,525
205,492
1-52,4,50

140,000

159,4-55

108,115
249,496
183,600
163,475
161,913
1.55,032

81,365

662,ai5
149,462
185,080
122,170
172,12,5

-305,301

2.36,415

151,925
151, .300

155.845

112,760

« 19,902
11,1^7
49,304
17,910

18,2,53

11,663
18,837
56,710
21,026
40,716
14,296

16,983

27,045
481

15,685
22,829
9,06.3

30,864
49,143
20,755
39,179
16,115
9,978
15,609

5M,243

The above banking institutions held, in July, 1844, real estate to the

amount of 8749,695 ;
the amount of debts due to them, except balances from

other banks, was 828,715,373 ;
their amount of doubtful debts was $184,218 ;

their net profits on hand was $1,196,153 ;
their dividends amounted to $842,-

450, and the rate per cent, of their average annual dividends was 4 96-100.



106 BOSTON.

EXTRACTS FROM DEARBORN'S VOLUME OF BOSTON NO-

TIONS, 1848.

[The following antiquarian notices are copied from Dearborn's Boston

Notions, a valuable and highly interesting publication.]

William Aspinwall, (Deputy,) Freeman 1632, but was a candidate in 1630,

representative 1637, disarmed 1637, lived near the Old South meeting house,

and had a house, garden, and orchard of two acres, on Common street
;
he

was banished in 1638 for religious heresy, viz., a different perception on

some points of the Calvinistic religion.
" In 16 12, 27th of 1st month, March,

he was allowed to come to the general court, and tender his submission, and

made a free and full acknowledgment of his errors, and his detestation of

sin, when he was reconciled to the church, and his sentence of banishment

released ;" he was Recorder of the town afterwards, member of Artillery

Com., 1543
;
removed to R. I.

;
returned to Boston, and, finally, to Eng-

land, and there died
;
had three daughters and two sons.

Geo. Barren, (Cooper,) Freeman in 1643, died Sept. 11th, 1643. " 19th of

9th month, Nov. 1638. At a meeting this day, of Thos. Oliver (and other over-

seers), it appeared in writing, dated the 2d of Nov. last, under the hand of

Thos. Painter, that Geo. Barrell, cooper, hath for him and his heirs, and his

assignees, for £28, bought of said Thos. Painter, his dwelling-house, with

the appurtenances and ground under it in Towne, and whereas, he had the

consent of the townsmen, and soe is admitted a townsman, upon condition of

inoffensive carryage." At the above date, the value of a house, with a lot of

land, seems to have been about equal to a good cow, which latter then sold

at 20 to 24£.

Wm. Blackstone took the Freeman's oath in 1630; the first European
settler in Boston

;
he pitched his tent here, alone, probably in 1625

;
in 1635,

he sold all his land-rights in Boston, for 30.£, excepting six acres, which he

retained on Beacon and Charles streets, and this he disposed of, a year or

two afterwards : his house was on or near the site of H. G. Otis' estate : he

removed to Cumberland, R. I., where he raised an orchard
;
died at his resi-

dence, which he named "Study Hill," in 1676. The next following year,

the Indians destroyed his house, and laid his lands waste. The canal from

Worcester to Providence was named for him
;
he raised the first orchard in

Mass. and R. I.
;
he was an Episcopal clergyman, and came here from

England, because he did not like the Lord Bishops, but would not join the

Calvinistic church here, for he did not like the Lord Brethren
;
he was a

gentleman of fine attainments, but rather eccentric; when he became aged,

and could not walk from Cumberland to Providence to preach on the Sab-

bath, having never owned a horse, he rode on a well-trained bull, on his

mission of love, gratuitous religious and moral instruction, to the youth of

that place.
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Leonard Butlall. (Bricklayer,) sale inaile lo Richard Staines, (Sailinaker) :

— "House and Shopp,— house parleth the land of Mr. Hutchinson, on

south-west ende, and the southerly ende is bounded and adjoining the house

of Capt. Symkins, on the ground of Robt. Winsor on the north-east; said

shopp fronteth on Conduit street, with 5 foote of land on the south-west side

of aforesaid house, adjoining the land of Mr. Hutchinson
; also, land on the

southerly end of Capt. Symkins' house, and the wharf adjoining ; this last

mentioned land, and a fifteenth part of the water conduit, with all the privi-

ledges ;
with a proviso, that the said Staines pay into the school at Boston,

6s. 3d. yearly, and Capt. Symkins do enjoy certain priviledges." 1656, this

conduit was a water-tank, built at the expense of Capt. Keayne, who made

provision, by will, for building the conduit for water, in case of fire. The

tank was placed in Ann street, near to Union street, and that street was

called Conduit street.

Thomas Dudley was the first deputy-governor, was governor in 1634,

1610, 1645, and 1650
;
but if not gov., or dep. gov., he was an assistant.

Gov. Belcher wrote the following epitaph on this hard character in public

duties, and rigid bigot in private life :

" Here lies Thomas Dudley, that trusty old stud,

A bargain 'a a bargain and must be made good."

He was indefatigable in tightening the reins of government, and for exiling

all persons guilty of heresy ;
he died at Roxbury, July 27, 1653, aged 76

years.

Capt. Robert Keayne took the Freeman's oath 1636
;
lived on the west

corner of Wilson's lane and State street, and there kept a variety store
;
he

was often a deputy, and quite an active, influential citizen
;
was the 1st

Commander of the Ancient and Honorable Artillery Com. in 1638
;
died

IMarch 23, 1656
;
his will comprised 158 folio pages, in which he gave £500

towards building a Town House.

Gov. John Winthrop was born Jan. 12, 1588, died March 26, 1649, aged
61 years; lived on Washington street, between Spring lane and the Old

South meeting house. Governor's Island was given to him by the legislature

of the state, and it has continued in that family to the present date. Gov.

John Winthrop may be honorably styled the father of Massachusetts. He
commenced its government as its head, and in all instances, during his con-

tinuance in office, strove for the best good of the people. Concerning his

condemnation of Mrs. Hutchinson and others, for heresy, there is evidence

of his regret, being compelled by other officers of his government, and the

opinions of the people, to resort to such strenuous measures, for he was a

real philanthropist at heart. When Lieut. Gov. Dudley was ever at his elbow,

pleading for more strenuous measures against the heresies of the times, and

asking for more warrants for the banishment of the citizens, he at last said,
" I cannot, I will not sign another one

;
I have done too much of it already.'"
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BOSTON AND ITS PROSPECTS.

Boston was wisely selected by our ancestors as the site of a great city. It

increased in population and wealth with great rapidity during the wars in

Europe, from 1794 to 1807. But that growth was unnatural and contingent ;

it depended solely on the caprice of the belligerent powers, who viewed us

rather as servants to their necessities, than with respect.

The present state of the country is altogether different. The world is at

peace. We look for no besieged city to supply with bread, neither do we

seek to run the gantlet of a blockading squadron to furnish a starving coun-

try with the growth and produce of its own colonies. We now rely on our

own resources—agriculture, manufactures, the fisheries, and commerce with

all nations with whom we can exchange our commodities at fair prices. So

long as we are blessed with union, good schools, good laws, and with all

those moral, religious, and charitable institutions, which tend to make man-

kind wiser and better, our city, under Providence, will continue on in the

forward path to prosperity and happiness.

The location of Boston always gave it the command of a greater coasting

trade than any other port in the United States
;
but the great arteries to an

immense, wide-spread, and rapidly increasing interior commerce were never

opened until the railroads to the north, the west, the south and the east, were

constructed and in operation.

By these devices of human wisdom the future prosperity of this queen city

of the north is eloquently and truthfully portrayed in the following passage

from the inaugural address of the mayor, Mr. Quincy, in January, 1846.

But we cannot be faithful to the present without casting our eyes towards

the future. A few years ago Boston had no facilities for communicating witn

the interior
;
and when the west and the north began to develop their vast

resources, and to become at once the consumers of our manufactures and the

producers of our food, our easiest communication with them was through our

sister cities. To them our manufactured articles went, to them our mer-

chants resorted; our city was shut out from the advantages of the fertilizing

tide that was flowing between the old world and the new. and we were almost

Etationary while other cities progressed. But the railroad has changed all

•-bis, and giving us a new facility for the transaction of our old business, has

created and developed new and incalculable resources, and given, perhaps, a

greater impulse to our city than to any other in the world. Five years ago,

Boston had comparatively no back country ; now, nine hundred miles of New

England railroads centre here, and as many more, within New England, are

in the process of construction. These render Boston emphatically her capital.

And I know of no prouder position fur a city than to be the point that con

centrates the energy and wealth of such a body of industrious, intelligent, and

virtuous freemen,—of Americans, natives of the soil, who promote her pros

perity in peace as readily as their fathers defended her in war.



BOSTON. 109

•'Coiisulered lu tins lis;lil alone, llic position ol" Fjoston is one of present

power, with a ccrtaini}' of rapid advancement. But her connections already

stretch far beyond New England. She is on the high road between Europe
and the west

;
and that vast country has become tributary to her increase.

The car that leaves our city this morning, may deposite its merchandise in

thirty-six hours on the shores of Lake Erie, five hundred miles from the

place of its departure
—from thence, inland seas, navigable for vessels of the

largest class, stretch away for hundreds of miles along shores fertile for agri-

culture, or rich in minerals. Canals already connect these lakes with the

valley of the JMississippi, and w^th the navigable waters of her tributaries,

which, xtending twenty thousand miles, communicate with forty thousand

miles of shores unrivalled in fertility. But more rapid modes of communi-

cation will this year be opened. The railroad from Cincinnati to Sandusky,
built by the aid of the citizens of Boston, will bring the Ohio within a journey
of three days ; enabling the traveller to reach Boston from Cincinnati in

twelve hours less time than he can Baltimore, although the latter place is

three hundred miles the nearest.

"But these are but a small part of the railways that are to increase the

prosperity of Boston. There are already in process of construction roads

stretching towards Montreal, Burlington, Ogdensburg—roads branching from

Albany will reach Kingston, and extend thence through Canada West
;
others

nmning from Bulfalo to Detroit on both sides of Lake Erie, will ere long
reach the upper sources of the Mississippi

—and the child is now born who
will see them terminate at the Pacific. The time may come, when the ex-

pectation that led Columbus to seek a passage to India from Europe by pro-

ceeding west, will be realized, and the direct communication between those

points, may pass through the city of Boston.

"Such facilities of intercourse joined to the character and wealth of oar

population, render the progress of the city a matter of certainty
—occupying

tne nearest point to Europe, and connected with the north, the west, and the

south, by thousands of miles of internal communication—her increase will

surpass the most sanguine anticipations of her friends."

3Iotto of the City.

Sicut patribus sit Deus nobis.

AS GOD WAS WITH OUR FATHERS,
60 MAY HE BE

WITH US.

10
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BOSTOX CORXER.

This unincorporated, triangular lot

of laud lies at the south-west corner

of the state, and was so called in honor
of the "Boston State;" as Massachu-
setts was frequently called, before the

revolution
;
much as it is now called

the "Bay State." Jt is about two

miles in length, and its greatest
breadth is about a mile and a half.

It contains some excellent lands, and
forms a school district. It is politi-

cally attached to Mount Washington,
but being separated from it by a
mountain of some two thousand feet

in height, the trade and social rela-

tions of its people are with their

neighbors, on the borders of the states

of Coimecticut and New York. This
district was first settled by David Por-

ter, in 1763.

BOXBOROUGH.

Middlesex Co. There are no
streams of importance in this town to

aid its people in manufacturing. They
depend mostly on its soil for support,
some of which is good, but in many
parts of the town it is light, and the

surfa^ce broken and hilly. It has
some manufactures of straw bonnets,

palm-leaf hats, and shoes. It pro-
duces some hops, and good lime-stone.

There is a pleasant village in Box-

borough, through which the Boston
and Fitchburg railroad passes, twenty-
seven miles north-west from Boston,

and seven miles north-west from Con-
cord.

BOXFORD.

Essex Co. This pleasant agricul-
tural town was formerly called " Row-
ley Village," a part of Rowley ;

and
its inhabitants were noted in the

cause of liberty, eight of whom fell at

the battle of Bunker Hill. There are

:-ome pleasant ponds in the town, from
which spring branches of several
small rivers, which empty into Ips-
wich bay. These streams afford the

town an ample water power for do-

mestic purposes, and some other man-

ufactures. The first church in the

town was organized in 1702, and the

Rev. Thomas Symmes was settled

the same year. Mr. Symmes was
succeeded by the Rev. John Rogers,
in 1709. Boxford lies twenty-five
miles north from Boston, and twelve
miles south-west from Newburyport.

BOYLrSTOIV.

Worcester Co. Boylston was for-

merly a part of Shrewsbury, and
formed a parish of that town from
1742 to its incorporation.
The surface of the town is hilly

and broken, but the soil is strong and

productive, affording much agricul-
tural product, and an abundance of

almost all the varieties of wood found
in the country. It is watered by the

south branch of Nashua river, which

passes its northern border, by several
brooks or small rivers, and by some

delightful ponds, well stored with pick-
erel and other fish.

From Diamond hill, near the centre

of the town, you may get a fine view
of the surrounding country, and fill

your pockets with those beautiful Ut-

ile baubles called diamonds.

A church was formed here in 1743,
and the Rev. Ebenezer Morse became

pastor the same j'ear. He was suc-
ceeded by the Rev. Eleazer Fairbanks
in 1777.

Boylston lies forty miles west from

Boston, and seven north from Wor-
cester.

BRADFORD.

Essex Co. This is a very pleasant
town, on the south side of Merrimack
river, and united to Haverhill by a

bridge of six hundred and fifty feet in

length, and a railroad viaduct. The
surface of the town is pleasantly di-

versified, and the soil various. Much
of the land is of a superior quality ;

some of the hills afford extensive and
charming prospects.

Bradford has long been known for

its excellent schools and seminaries
of learning, one of which, the Fe.viah

Semuiary, incorporated in 1803, under
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the nauie of Bradfoud Academy, af-

fords facilities for a thorou£;h and ac-

complished education to a large num-
ber of young ladies. This institution

is situated in the west village, near
the depot of the Boston and JMaine

railroad, on an elevated spot, about
one half mile from Haverhill, and
commands a beautiful view of that

town, and of the hills which lie along
the river. The number of young
ladies connected with this institution

during the year ending July, 1814,
was two hundred and nineteen. In

1845, there were two hundred and fil'ty

scholars. The regular course of study

occupies three years, though pupils
are admitted for a shorter time, if

they desire it.

In this town are several fine ponds,
affording a variety of excellent fish.

There are here a factory for the man-
ufacture of twine and shoe-thread, and
several tanneries, but the principal
manufacture is of boots and shoes,
the annual value of which is about
three hundred thousand dollars.

The first church was formed as

early as 1()S2, and the Rev. Zachariah

Symmes was settled the same year.
Bradford lies ten miles west south-

west from Newburyport, eighteen
north by west from Salem, sixteen

northeast from Lowell, and by the

Boston and Maine railroad thirty-one
miles north from Boston.

BRAIXTREE.
Norfolk Co. The territory of this

town was attached to Boston from the

first settlement of Boston, to the incor-

poration of Braintree, in 1G40. The
first settlers called it by various
names—Mount D.igon, Merry fllount,
and Mount W'allaston. They at last

adopted the name of a town in Eng-
land, from whence some of the first

.settlers came.
Braintree is celebrated for the an-

tiquity of its .settlement, (W25,) and
for the eminent men it has produced.

In 17'.)2, the north parish in the
town was set off and incorporated by
the name of Quinry. ami in the fol-

lowing year the south parish, Ran-
dolph, became a separate town.

The surface of Braintree is varie-

gated by hill and dale, presenting
many delightful views of Boston, its

harbor, and the adjacent country.
The soil is a strong gravelly loam,
and very productive. Excellent gran-
ite abounds here, of which larg<' quan-
tities are annually (juarried and trans-

ported ;
and some of the best merchant

ships are built of native white oak and
cedar. The first granite used in this

country for the purpose of building

houses, was furnished by IMr. John

Hayward, of this town, in 1752, for

the erection of "
King's Chapel," in

Boston. There are a number of com-

panies in this town engaged in the

stone business
;

between thirty and

forty thousand tons are annually quar-

ried, and OIK! hundred and fifty men
employed. See Quittcy.

Indications of coal have been so

strong as to warrant an attempt at

mining. The holly tree (Ilex aquifo-

lium) is indigenous.
The iManatiquot river, which ilses

in Randolph, after meandering through
this town, and receiving the waters
of Great and Little ponds, meets the

tide waters of Boston harbor at Brain-
tree landing, on Weymouth Fore river,
ten miles from Boston. At this place
there is considerable trade in lumber,
lime, wood, coal, and bread stufli's, and
some navigation is employed in the

coasting trade and fisheries.

Beside tliis village, which is closely
connected with the largest village in

Weymouth, there are several others
in the town

;
that at Newcomb's Neck,

on Hayward's creek, about a mile
from Quincy, has become a place of

deposit and export of vast quantities
of granite, of all dimensions, both in

its rouirh state and liewn.

The manufactures of Braintree con-
sist of boots, shoes, cotton and woollen

goods, paper, leather, nails, axes, cot-

ton gins, chocolate, carriages, gran-
ite, straw bonnets, tin ware, and ves-
sels. The value of these articles ol

manuf icture, for the year ending April
1, 18.37, amounted to three hundred
and .seventy-one thousand nine hun-
dred and thirty-seven dollars.

The IManatiquot affords this town
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excellent mill sites
;
some of which

lie near ship navigation, and are very
valuable.

Braintree lies ten miles south by
east from Boston, and twelve east by
south from Dedham.
The Old Colony railroad passes

through the centre of the town.

There are three Trinitarian congre-

gational churches and a Baptist soci-

ety in Braintree.

First Church.

Organized September 10, 1707.

Rev. Hugh Adams, ordained Sept.

10, 1707, left Aug. 22, 1710.

Rev. Samuel Niles, ordained May
23, 1711, died 1762, aged S3.

Rev. Ezra Weld, ordained Nov. 17,

1762, died January, 1816, aged 80.

Rev. Sylvester Sage, installed Nov.

4, 1807, dismissed May 4, 1809.

Rev. Richard S. Storrs, D. D., or-

dained July 3, 1811.

During the absence of Dr. Storrs, as

missionary agent, Rev. E. A. Park

was settled from Dec. 21, 1831, to Jan.

17, 1834.

Union Society.

The meeting-house of this society,

at the head of Weymouth Fore river,

was built in 1811; dedicated on the

first Wednesday in January, 1812,

and the Rev. Daniel A. Clark ordained

the same day, and was dismissed in

October, 1813.

Rev. Jonas Perkins ordained June

14, 1815.

South Society.

The meeting-house of this society
was built in 1829

;
the Rev. Lyman

;\lathews was ordained Aug. 4, 1830,
and dismissed in September, 1844.

Rev. Francis V. Tenny was ordain-

ed Aug. 7, 1845.

Baptist Society.

This society built their house of

public worship in the autumn of 1842,
and the Rev. George N. Wait was
settled Sept. 1, 1 81 J ^ left 1845.

KREWSTER.
Bakinstable Co. Brew ster lies thir

teen miles east from Barnstable, nine

miles north north-west from Chatham,
and seventy-eight south-east from Bos-

ton. It is bounded on the east by
Orleans, south by Harwich, west by
Dennis, and north by Barnstable bay.
The westerly part of this town was

the Indian Satucktt, the easterly part

NamskeeJitt, at which place the boat's

crew of the Mayflower had a slight

encounter with the Indians.

It was set off from Harwich in 1803,
and took its name from Elder Brews-

ter, one of the first settlers of Plym-
outh colony, a man of great learning
and piety, who died in 1644. A large
number of enterprising ship-masters

sailing to foreign ports, reside here.

From three ponds in this town, cov-

ering about one thousand acres, a

never-failing stream is produced, on
which are a paper-mill, carding, and

grist-mill.
There are about thirty thousand

bushels of salt manufactured in this

town yearly. The product of the cod

and mackerel fishery in 1844, was one

hundred and sixty-five thousand dol-

lars.

Peat of good quality abounds in this

town, and furnishes many families

with a good article of fuel.

Some parts of the soil is light and

sandy, others clay and loam, which,

by the application of manures ob-

tained from the sea-shore, have been

made to produce good crops of grain
and grass.

Here are an academy and four re-

ligious societies.

There is a convenient breakwater
tor the accommodation of packets and
other small vessels, where they lie in

safety at any season of the year.
A church was organizeil here, Octo-

ber 16, 1700, and the Rev. Nathaniel

Stone was settled the same day. He
was succeeded by Rev. Isaiah Duns-
ter in 1755, and the Rev. John Sim-
kins in 1791.

BRIDGEWATER.
Plymouth Co. This township was

formerly vcrv larp:c. It now forms
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three other townships of the same
name—North, East, and West. In

1790, betbre its division, it couiained

lour thousand nine hundred and sev-

enty-five inhabitance. The south par-
ish of ancient Bridgewater now consti-

tutes the town of that name. It was

incorporated as a second precinct in

1716, and the partition line was run

easterly and w'esterly across the town,

leaving much the largest part on the

northerly side,
"
regard then being had

to the erection of other parishes in

future."

The first meeting-house was built

in 1717, and Rev. Benjamin Allen,
their first pastor, was ordained the

next year. His successor was John

Shaw, who was ordained in 1731, and
died in 1791, in the si.\tieth year of

his ministry. !Mr. Shaw's successor

was Zedekiah Sanger, D. D.

Bridgewater contains some of the

best lands in Plymouth county. Taun-
ton river, which washes the southern
border of the town, is a stream of

some irrportance ;
vessels have been

built upon it of one hundred and fifty

tons burthen, and floated down its

current during high water in freshets.

There are in the town large factories

of anchors, nails, machinery, cotton

gins, boots and shoes.

Old Bridgewater was a part of Dux-

bury, and was purchased of the In-

dians by Captain Miles Standish, in

1645. The consideration paid for the

whole territory was seven coats, nine

hatchets, eight hoes, twenty knives,
four moose skins, and ten yards of

cotton.

Its Indian name was Nunkettxt.

The chief village in the town is

very pleasant, and is the seat of con-

siderable business. It lies twenty-
seven miles south by east from Bos-

ton, twenty west by north from Ply-
mouth, and seventeen south from

Weymouth landing.

" Sacred to llie memory of Rev. John Shaw,
almo.sl sixty years a fiiilhful pastor of the sec-

ond church of Christ, in this town, wlio de-

liHrted this life on the 2yih of April. 171)1,

aged eighty-three years. O man ! greatly be-

loved ! thou shalt rest and stand iu thy lot at

the end of days."

10*

BRIGHTON.

MmDi>ESEX Co. This was formerly
a part of Cambridge, and called " Lit-

tle Cambridge," until its incorporation
in 1807. It lies five miles south-west

by west of Boston, fifteen miles south-

east from Concord, thirty-five east

from Worcester, eight nortli by east

from Dedham, and fifteen north-west

by north from Weymouth landing.
The western and northern bounda-

ries of this tow'n are washed by Charles

river, on which, in Brighton, are situ-

ated four extensive lumber-yards, and
two coal and wood establishments.

Sloops and schooners of several hun-
dred tons burthen navigate this river

to Brighton.
It is one of the pleasantest located

towns in the stale
;
the soil is excel-

lent and highly cultivated
; and, in

common with all the towns in the

vicinity of Boston, Brighton has be-

come the residence of many people of

wealth and taste, who possess beauti-

ful country-seats and splendid gar-
dens. Winship's Gardens are noted

throughout the country for their nur-

sery of fruit-trees and shrubbery, and
for their grand display of plants and
flowers of every variety. J. Breck
& Co.'s Garden, and Horticultural and
Seed Establishment, and Warren's
Gardens attract much attention.

Brighton is the largest cattle market
in New England. Near the spacious
Cattle Fair Hotel, and connected

therewith, are extensive barns, sta-

bles, and sheds, for the shelter of

stock, and more than oiie hundred

pleasant and convenient yards for the

sale of cattle, sheep, and swine, many
of which are paved, and all furnished

with excellent water. The Boston
and Worcester railroad ])asses through
Brighton, over which the cars of the

great western railroad run, bringing

large numbers, weekly, of cattle, sheep,
and swine to market. There are ex-

tensive slaughtering establishments in

the town, and large numbers of cat-

tle and sheep are slaughtered weekly
for the Boston market. The business

at the rnarket is generally conducted
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on the cash principle ;
little or no

credit extends bej'ond one week.

The Bank of Brighton, established

for the accommodation of buyer and

seller, is located near the market.

Monday is the market day, when
sellers and buyers meet in throngs to

traffic in hve stock, both for slaughter
and domestic use.

Sales of Cattle at Brighton Mar-
ket FOR TEN SUCCESSIVE YEARS.

1835.

51,096 Beef Cattle,'

15,872 Stores,

98,160 Sheep,

23,142 Swine,

Sales estimated

at $1,878,032.

1836.

Beef Cattle, ^

Stores, I Sales estimated

Sheep,
[

at SI,8.58,202.

Swine, J

1837.

Beef Cattle,
"|

Stores, 1 Sales estimated

Sheep, f atS2,449,231.

Swine, J

1838.

25,830 Beef Cattle,
]

-

9,573 Stores, I Sales estimated

104,640 Sheep, f
at $2,058,004.

26,164 Swine,

38,504
11,858

82,830

15,667

31,614
16,216

110,206

17,052

Sales estimated
at $1,901,864.

1839.

23,263 Beef Cattle,

15,252 Stores,

95,400 Sheep,

26,088 Swine,

1840.

34,160 Beef Cattle, ^

12,736 Stores, I Sales estimated

124,172 Sheep, [

at $1,990,577.

32,350 Swine, j

1841.

36,607 Beef Cattle, "I

18,794 Stores, I Sales estimated

128,650 Sheep, (
at $2,400,881.

31.872 Swine.

1842.

32,070 Beef Cattle,'

17,126 Stores,

106,655 Sheep,

39,935 Swine,

1843

22,915 Beef Cattle, ]

19,605 Stores,

98,829 Sheep,

43,060 Swine,

1844.

37,610 Beef Cattle, 1

4,136 Stores,

92,271 Sheep,

52,740 Swine,

Sales estimated

at $1,741,740.

Sales estimated

at $2,126,644.

Sales estimated

at $1,669,374.

Winshif's Horticultural Garden,
AT BRitJHTON. This was the earliest

attempt, in this section of the country,
at raising young ornamental and use-

ful plants for sale, in the style of the

nurseries of Europe ;
and the skill

and enterprise of its proprietors have
conducted it to a point which equals

any other establishment of the kind

on the American continent.

It originated in the year 1S22, in

the cultivation of about two and a

half acres, chiefly with young fruit-

trees
;
but the increasing taste of the

inhabitants of Boston and its vicinity
for flowers, soon caused this branch

to become a profitable addition, so

that now the extent of the border,
from twelve to twenty feet wide^ al-

lotted to varieties of herbaceous flow-

ers alone, exceeds one mile. The
whole surface covered with young
fruit and ornamental trees and flow-

ers, comprises twenty-five acres.

The importation of the beaTSrliful

trees, shrubs, and flowers, which have

so long decorated the gardens of Eu-

rope, although attended with conside-

rable expense and risk, has been an

object of constant solicitude with these

gentlemen ; hence, fine young plants,

of the most showy kinds, which their

experience has proved to be able to

endure the winters of this climate, are

to be found here in abundance.
It might I'.ave been imagined that
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such an increase of cultivalion, be-

sides the numerous addilioiiul t-stab-

lishments which have been )>ut into

operation since 1S22, would liave

caused a fall in the prices ; such,

however, is not the case
;
the prices

obtained have been higher than for-

merly, and the demand has rather

exceeded the supply, so that the ut-

most ingenuity and industry of the

nurserjmen have been taxed to meet
this demand.

This is indeed but a parallel case
with these establishments in Europe,
and the rapid increase of the taste for

horticulture, wherever it has once
taken firm hold, is a proof how much
happiness it diffuses, and in what uni-

versal estimation the pursuit is !ield.

The cultivation of green-house plants
and florist's flowers, has still to take
a stride in this country ;

and for this,
the propiietors of this nurserj' are evi-

dently making active preparations, by
increasing their stocks both by exten-

sive propagation and by importations.

BRIMFIELD.

Hampden Co. This town lies nine-

teen miles east by north from Spring-
field, fifty west north-west from Prov-

idence, Rhode Island, and seventy
west by south from Boston. From
the centre of the town to Palmer de-

pot, on the western railroad, eighty-
three miles from Boston, is about
seven miles.

The lirst minister was the Rev.
Richard Treat, who was ordained in

1725.

This is a fine farming town, with a

good soil, and is well watered by
Quinebaugh river. The articles man-
ufactured in this town in one year,
amounted to one hundred and five

thousand two hundred and sixty two
dollars. The manufactures consisted
of cotton goods, boots, shoes, leather,

palm-leaf hats, chairs and cabinet-
ware. The value of wool grown in

one year was four thousand and sixty-
seven dollars.

In this town the celebrated General
William Eaton spent his last days.

'• In March, 1792, he was appointed

a captain m the army of the United
Stales

;
and whilst in this situation,

he perCornied various services upon
the western and .-;outiicrn frontiers.

He continued in the array until 1797,
when he was appointed consul to Tu-
nis. He cuutmued in this diflicuU

(and it may be added, perilous) situa-

tion until 1803, during which period,
he discharged the consular functions

with great firmness and ability. In
ISUl General Eaton returned to Amer-
ica, and visited Washington, where
he disclosed the famous enterprise
which he had planned to restore the

ex-bashaw of Tripoli, and having ob-

tained the sanction of government, he
embarked in July of the same year,
in the Argiis sloop of war, with the

intention of engaging in this bold and
hazardous undertaking, and arrived
at Alexandria, in Egypt, on the 25th
of November following. From Alex-
andria he proceeded to Cairo, where
he found the ex-bashaw, who approv-
ed of the enterprise, and after having
made suitable aiTangements, and re-

cruited about five hundred men, (one
hundred of which only were Chris-

tians,) it was determined by Eaton
and the ex-bashaw to cross the desert
and seize the province and city of
Derne. After a diflicult and fatiguing
journe\', through a dreary desert, pre-
senting innumerable obstacles, they
arrived within the province of Derne,
and soon attacked and captured the

city, having the assistance of the Hor-
net sloop of war. The boldness and
desperate braver}' of General Eaton
and his little party, alarmed the reign-

ing bashaw and his barbarian sub-

jects, who almost thought they were

something more than liunian beings;
but the progress of General Eati'n was
arrested by a peace which the Ameri-
can consul concluded with the bashaw.
After this, General Eaton returned to

his native country, and was every-
where received with the most distiii-

guished applause, the grateful tribute

of patriotic and heroic achievements.
" General Eaton was a very extra-

ordinary character
;

he pos.?essed
much original genius, was bold in his

conceptions, ardent in his passions
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determined in his resolutions, and in-

defatigably persevering in his conduct.

He possessed considerable literary ac-

quirements, and the style of his writ-

ings was characteristic of his mind
;

bold, energetic, and decisive. His

courage was equalled only by his

resolution
;
and the boldness of his

enterprises, by his ability and perse-
verance to execute them."

EPITArHS IN THE GkAVE-YaRD.

"This is erected as a faint expression offilial

respect ;
and to mark the spot where repose

the remains of Gen. William Eaton, who
died June 1st, 1811, JE. 17."

"In memory of Stephen Pynchon, Esq.,
who died February 5, 182S, JE. 55.

" One truth is certain, when this life is o'er
Man dies to live

;
and lives, to die no more."

BRISTOL COUNTY.

Taunton and New Bedford are the shire towns.

The surface of this county is somewhat broken, but generally level. Its

soil in many parts is of an inferior quality. It has a maritime coast of con-

siderable extent, indented with numerous headlands, small bays, and harbors,
and its people are extensively engaged in navigation and the fishery.

This county gives rise to many important streams that fall into Massa-
chusetts and Narraganset bays, and its water power is abundant in almost

every town. It abounds in excellent iron ore, and in no section of our coun-

try, of its extent, are more extensive manufactures of that material, for almost
all the uses of man.

This county is bounded north by Norfolk county, ea^t by Plymouth county,
south-east by Buzzard's bay, and west by the counties of Providence, Bristol,
and Newport, Rhode Island. In King Philip's time this part of the country
was called Pancvnnawrutt.
The value of the manufactures in this county for the year ending April 1,

1837, was seven million nine hundred and twenty-nine thousand four hun-
dred and seventy-nine dollars. Product of the fishery two million one hun-
dred and eighty-eight thousand six hundred and fifty-six dollars.

The Taunton and Pawtucket are its chief rivers. See State Tables.

COURTS IN BRISTOL COUNTY.

Supreme Court. Law Tukm. See Barnstable County. Nisi Prius Term.
At Taunton on the seventh Tuesday next after the first Tuesday in March.
At New Bedford on the second Tuesday in November.
Common Pleas. At Taunton on the second Mondays of March and Septem-

ber. At New Bedford on the second Mondays of June and December.

Meetings of the Conntij Commissioners. At Taunton on the fourth Tuesdays
in March and September.

Probate Courts. At Taunton on the Friday next after the first Tuesday of

January ;
on the first Tuesdays of March and November

;
on the first Friday

next after the first Tuesday of June, and on the Friday next after the first

Tuesday of August. At New Bedford on the first Tuesdays of February,
June and December. At Freetown on the first Tuesday of January. At
Rehoboth on the first Tuesday of April. At Dighton on the first Fridays
next after the first Tuesdays of April and October. At Norton on the first

Tuesday of July. At Westport on the first Tuesday of August. At Seekonk
on the firs; Tuesday of September. At Fall River on the first Tuesday of
October. At Atileborough on the first Tuesday of May.
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brookfif:ld.

Worcester Co. This is one of ilie

oldest towns in the county, ami was
settled in ltJ60, several years prior to

the shire town itself. The nearest set-

tlements for many years were INlarl-

boroiigh on the east, and Springtield
on the west

;
from which latter place

the original settlers came. In ItiiJS,

the laud was fairly purchased of Shat-

tooquis, sachem of the Indians by
whom the settlers were surrounded,
and who claimed to be the "sole and

proper owner." This deed, a copy of

which is still extant, sets forth the

boundaries in terms sufficiently va-^ue
and iiidi^finite to furnish ample room
for dispute and contention, but includ-

ed all and rather more than what now
constitutes the town of Brookfield.

The Indian name of the territory was
Quuboag. For some forty years after

the settlement, the Indians were very
troublesome

; especially during King
Philip's war

;
and in 1675, when the

town contained but about twenty fam-

ilies, it was assaulted by a large body
of Indians. The inhabitants collected

in one house, which they fortified in

the best manner their circumstances
would permit. The Indians rushed
into the town, and after burning about

twenty houses and barns, assaulted

the garrison. This was defended
with desperate bravery, against an

overwhelming superiority of numbers,
for three days, during which time the

assailants made the most vigorous at-

tacks, by a constant discharge of balls

and burning arrows, by which latter

they hoped to set lire to the house.

At length, finding all other means
ineffectual, they loaded a cart with

flax, straw, and other combustibles,
and by the aid of long poles, endeav-
ored to thrust the burning mass

against the building. At this moment
of peril, a plentiful shower of rain,
which seemed to the besieged quite

miraculous, extinguished the flames,
and saved the inhabitants from de-

struction. At length, when all the

resources of the inhabitants were ex-

hausted, and they were on the pi^int
of surrendering in despair, Major Wil-

jard, with '-'a troop of forty-eight lighf

horse," from Lanc;isier, made his ap-

pearance ;
the savages burned the

meeting-house, and the only dwelling-
house left in the town, and hastily re-

treated.

The next winter the inhabitants

were " ordered away by the general
court," oil account of the dirTicults' of

defending them at such a distance

from the other settlements
;
and they

did not return till after a lapse of ten

or twelve years, when Indian hostili-

ties having ceased, the town increased

rapidly in population, and became at

length divide(l into three parishes, viz.,

the first parish, or that which is now
called West Brookfield; the second

parish, which in 1S12 was incorpo-
rated as the town of North Brookfield

;

and the third, now commonly called

South Brookfield, but which improp-
erly has the post-oflice name of
" Brookfield."

East Brookfield, a thriving village
of recent growth, lies partly in Brook-
field and partly in iS'orth Brookfield,
and has the advantage of a consider-

able water power, mills, furnace, k,c.,

&c.

Quoboag pond is a large and hand-
some sheet of water, in the east part
of Brookfield, and discharges itself

through the Poduidi meadows, into

the Sashaway, one of the principal
branches of the Chicopee river. Wick-
aboag is another beautiful pond, in

the west part of the town, and dis-

charges itself into the same stream.

These ponds afibrd a great variety of

fish, and were much resorted to by
the aborigines, with whom this was
a favorite place of residence.

The western railroad passes through
the entire width of the town, and gives
great facilities to the inhabitants,

many of whom are now engaged in

the manufacture of boots and shoes;
and the general business of the entire

town, consisting of the three nominal
divisions of East, South, and West
Brookfield, is rapidly increasing.
The agricultural products of this

town are butter, cheese, wool, and
fine beef cattle.

The manufactures consist of boots,
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shoes, leather, iron castings, ploughs,
chairs, cabinet-ware, palm-leaf hats,
silver plate, shoe makers' rolling and

shingle machines, sleighs, carpenters'
hammers, coach wrenches, sewing
silk, and wooden legs.
Few towns present finer scenery,

better cultivation, or a more intelli-

gent and elevated population. A
church was gathered here, and the

Rev. Thomas Cheney was settled in

1717. Mr. Cheney died in 1747, and
was succeeded by the Rev. Elisha

Harding in 1749.

East Brookjitld lies, by the railroad,

sixty-four miles west from Boston,

twenty miles west from Worcester,
and thirty-four east from Springfield.
South Brookjield lies three miles, and
West Brookfield five miles farther west
from Boston than East Brookfield.

BROOKIilNE.

Norfolk Co. This dehghtful towoi

is connected with Boston by the mill-

dam across Charles river bay, one of
the most beautiful and expensive ave-

nues leading to the city. It is distant

from Boston about four miles south-

west, and from Dedham five miles

north north-east.

This town is remarkable for its va-

ried surface, high state of cultivation,

elegant country-seats and gardens,
excellent roads, and for its rich and

picturesque scenery. Many gentle-
men of taste and fortune make this

their residence.

Wood, the author of "New Eng-
land's Prospect," in describing Boston
and other places in the vicinity, in

1(533, says :
—

" The inhabitants of this place,

[Boston,] for their enlargement, have
taken to themselves farm-houses in a

place called Muddy River, [Brookline,]
two miles from the town, where there

is good ground, large timber, and
store of marsh land and meadow. In

this place they keep their swine and
other cattle in the summer, whilst the

corn is in the ground at Boston, and

bnng them to town in the winter."

When Mr. Wood wrote the above,

he little thought that in less than two
hundred years. Muddy River would
become the "Hyde Park" of a splen-
did city, whose ancient corn-fields

would be so densely covered with

buildings, that not even a pig would
be permitted to winter within its bor-

ders, unless he gave satisfactory evi-

dence to the mayor and aldermen that

he was very learned.

BUCKLAND.

Franklin Co. Buckland lies cue
hundred miles west by north from

Boston, and ten miles west from
Greenfield. It is separated from

Charlemont, of which it formerly was
a part, by Deerfield river. It has a

good mill stream, Clesson's river,
which passes through the town, but
at present its people confine them-
selves chiefly to agricultural pursuits.
The surface of the town is uneven,
but the soil is strong, and well adapted
for grazing.

Considerable wool is sheared in this

town.
The first minister in Buckland was

the Rev. Josiah Spaulding in 1794.

BURLINGTOIV.

Middlesex Co. The centre of this

town lies about three miles north-west
from the Woburn depot, on the Low-
ell railroad, ten miles from Boston.
The surface of the town is uneven,
and the soil light and sandy. It is

good land for hops and rye, and con-
siderable quantities of them are grown.
A branch of the Shawshine, Vine

brook, waters the town. Burlington
was formerly a part of Woburn.

CAMBRIDGE.

Middlesex Co. This ancient town
became a city March 17, 1846.

Old Cambuidge, tlic seat of the old-

est and best endowed college in the

United States. This part of the city,
situated about three miles west from

Bostfcn, contains three churches
Charles River Bank, a Savings Bank
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&c., with all the buildings belonging
to the university. See State Institu-

tions.

Cambridge Fort comprises seven

meeting-houses or churclies, a bank,
insurance office, &c. Also the town-

house, and the several public offices

for the transaction of municipal af-

fairs. This'section of Cambridge is

about midway between Old Cam-

bridge and Boston, and is in a high
state of prosperity.
East Cambridge is a very busy

part of the city, and has risen into

consequence M'ithin a few years. It

contains six places of worship, a court-

house, jail, and house of correction.

This part of Cambridge is immedi-

ately connected with Boston, by seve-

ral bridges over Charles river.

This town was incorporated by the

name of Newton in 1030. It took

the name of Cambridge in 1638. The
first printing-press in America was
established here, by Stephen Day, in

1639. The first work printed was the

"Freeman's Oath."

From the first settlement of the

covmtr}', Cambridge has been a place
of great importance. It has ever
been closely connected with Boston
in all its patriotic and literary rela-

tions, and were it not for municipal
distinctions, it might be considered a

part of that city.
At the commencement of the revo-

lution, and during the year 1775, ihe

head-quarters of the American army
were in this town, and here Washing-
ton entered upon his duties as com-
mander-in-chief. His quarters were
at the Craigie house, .situated on the

street between the college and Mount
Auburn. The present proprietor dis-

plays good taste, by preserving as

nearly as possible the original exter-

nal appearance of the house. The
Washington elm, on the westerly side

of Cambridge common, is an object of

interest, as under its branches Wash-
ington is said to have been stationed

while his commission was proclaimed
to the army of twenty thousand incn
drawn up on the common

;
and liere he

drew that sword, which, turning every

way, like the sword of the angel, be-

came salvation to his country, and
terror and confusion to her adversa-

ries.

Here are various and extensive

manufactories. They consist of glass,

hats, leather, boots and shoes, shoe

blacking, tin ware, chairs and cabinet-

ware, railroad cars, chaises, coaches,
and other carriages, iron axletrees,

harnesses, organs, carpenters' tools,

clothing, pumps and blocks, cigars,
brass and britannia ware, bricks,

ropes and twine, soap, brushes, var-

nish, confectionary, stamped and
stained paper, stoves, sheet iron, glue,

pocket-books and medicine.

Cambridge is very pleasant, al-

though not so elevated as some of the

neighboring towns. Its surface is

gently undulating, and its soil, which
is very good, is cultivated with great
taste and skill. Besides the build-

ings of the University, it contains a
United States arsenal, other handsome
oublic buildings, and many ver}"^ ele-

gant private residences.

Mount Auburn Cemetery. This
hallowed spot lies about a mile west

of the University, in the towns of

Cambridge and Watertown. It con-

tains about one hundred acres of land,
the highest part of which is one hun-
dred and twenty-five feet above the

river, and is laid out with gravelled

walks, and planted and embellished
with all the varieties of trees, shrub-

bery, and flowers. Lots of ground,
of three himdred square feet, at suita-

ble distances along the winding pas-

sages, are appropriated as family bu-

rial places, with the perpetual right
to purchasers of enclosing, decorating,
and using them lor that purpose.
Numerous monuments of exquisite

workmanship are already erected,
which add, if possible, to the melan-

choly grandeur of the scene. It is an

enchanting spot ;
—a magnificent rest-

ing-plaoe of the dead. This cemetery
was dedicated September 24, 1S31.

We cannot deny ourselves the grat-
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tfication of quoting a few lines from
the dtscriptive part of Judge Story's
admirable address on that occasion :

—
" A rural cemetery seems to com-

bine in itself all the advantages which
can be proposed to gratify human
feelings, or tranquillize human fears

;

to secure the best religious influences,
and to cherish all those associations

which cast a cheerful light over the

darkness of the grave.
"And what spot can be more ap-

propriate than this, for such a pur-

pose? Nature seems to point it out

with significant energy, as the favor-

ite retirement for the dead. There are

around us all the varied features of
her beauty and grandeur—the forest-

crowned height ;
the abrupt aclivity ;

the sheltered valley ;
the deep glen ;

the grassy glade, and the silent grove.
Here are the lofty oak the beech, that

'wreaths its old fantastic roots so

high,' the rustling pine, and the droop-
ing willow,—the tree that sheds its

pale leaves with every autumn, a fit

emblem of our own transitory bloom ;

and the evergreen, with its perennial

shoots, instructing us that ' the wintry
blast of death kills not the buds of vir-

tue.' Here is the thick shrubbery, to

protect and conceal the new-made

grave ;
and there is the wild-flower

creeping along the narrow path, and

planting its seeds in the upturned
earth. All around us there breathes a
solemn calm, as if we were in the bo-

som of a wilderness, broken only by
the breeze as it murmurs through the

tops of the forest, or by the notes of

the warbler, pouring forth his matin
or his evening song.

" Ascend but a few steps, and what
a change of scenery to surprise and

delight us ! We seem, as it were, in

g,n instant, to pass from the confines of

death to the bright and balmy regions
of life. Below us flows the winding
Charles, with its rippling cuiTent, like

the stream of time hastening to the

ocean of eternity. In the distance,
the city,

—at once the object of our
admiration and our love,

—rears its

proud eminences, its glittering spires,
its lofly towers, its graceful mansions.

its curling smoke, its crowded haunts
of business and pleasure, which speak
to the e3'e, and yet leave a noiseless

loneliness on the ear. Again we turn,
and llie walls of our venerable Uni-

versity rise before us, with many a
recollection of happy days passed
there, in the interchange of study
and friendship, and many a grateful

thought of the afllucnce of its learn-

ing, which has adorned and nourisheil

the literature of our country. Again
we turn, and the cultivated farm, the

neat cottage, the village church, the

sparkling lake, the rich valley, and
the distant hills, are before us through
opening vistas

;
and we breathe

amidst the fresh and varied labors
of man.

"There is, therefore, within our
reach, every variety of natural and
artificial scenery^ which is fitted to

awaken emotions of the highest and
most affecting character. We stand,
as it were, upon the borders of two
worlds

;
and as the mood of otir

minds may be, we may gather les-

sons of profound wisdom by contrast-

ing the one with the other, or indulge
in the dreams of hope and ambition,
or solace our hearts by melancholy
meditations."

CANTON.

NoKFOLK Co. This town was for-

merly the first parish in the old town
of Stoughton. The Indian name of
the towTi was Punkapog, so called

from a tribe of Indians who lived on
the borders of a pond of the same
name. This tribe was converted to

Christianity by the unceasing* eflTorts

of Rev. John Eliot, the celebrated

apostle to the Indians. Mr. Eliot di-

vided his labors between the Indians
at Natick and Punkapog ; preaching,
for some time alternately, at each

place, every other Sunday. His son,
who was a preacher, succeeded his

father in the ministr}"^ at Punkapog,
when the apostle was called to a wider
field of missionary exertion. At a
later period the tribe was supplied by
a native preacher of their own, whose
name was Aharvton. In the year
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1674, the tribe was reduccil lo twelve
families. In 1815, only two or three

of unniixctl Indian blood remain, and
these receive a pension from the stale

of fifty dollars each, per annum.
The natural scenery of this town is

beautifuU)' diversified and picturesque.

Punkapon; pond is a beautiful little

lake, and atlbrds line fishinja:.

Blue Hi//, si.x hundred and thirty-
five feet above the level of the sea, and
the highest land near the sea-coast of

Massachusetts, is situated partly in

this town and partly in 3Iillon. From
its summit, (which is a few rods from
Canton line, and about eleven miles
from Bost(m,) there is a mairniticent
view of the metropolis and its harbor,
of the ocean and the surrounding
country.
The east branch of Neponset river,

and several large ponds and reservoirs

give this town an extensive water

power. There are in the southern vil-

lage, two rolling-mills, for the manu-
facture of copper bolts and sheathing,
on a large scale

;
two furnaces for

refining copper, and casting bells and
brass cannon

; forges and furnaces for

the manufacture of iron wheels and
axles for railroad cars

;
iron castings

and shapes in all varieties
;
machine

shops, five cotton mills, and one car-

pet factory. Besides the foregoing,
there are in the town manufactures
of boots, shoes, hats, hoes, &c.
Amount of manufactures for one
year, ending April 1, 1837, six hun-
dred and ninety-five thousand one
hundred and eighty dollars.

The viaduct or railroad bridge, over
one cf the ponds and river at this

place is conceded to be the most ele-

gant and massive structure ofmasonry
in the United States. It cost the

coihpany ninety-three thousand dol-
lars. It is sLx hundred and fifteen

feet in length, connected at intei'vals

by buttresses five and a half feet thick,

extending transversely across the

walls, and projecting foui'feet beyond
their faces

;
their elevation is crowned

by segment arches that support the

roping, Surmounted by a parapet wall
three feet eight inches Near
the bottom are six large arches, for

11

the passage of water, and in another

place is an arch still larger, through
whicii passes a town road. From the

top of the viaduct to the bottom of the

pond, the distance is about seventy
feet.

A branch railroad to Stoughton,
four miles distant, enters the Boston
and Providence railroad near the via-

duct.

The Fowl Menrlinra, so called, a

large portion of which are in Canton,
extend seven miles in length, with

varying breadth. The meadows con-
tain excellent peat ;

and will in pro-
cess of time, ns wood and coal become

scarce, furnish a supply of fuel almost
inexhaustible.

This town lies fourteen miles south

by west from Boston, and six miles
south-east from Dedliam.

It can be easily approached by the

Boston and Providence railroad
;
the

depot is in the vicinity of the factoiries.

CARL.ISL.E.

BIiDDLESEX Co. Carlisle was for-

merly a district of Concord. It is

watered, on its eastern boundary, by
Concord river. Its soil is not very
productive, and its surface is rough
and rocky.
The first meeting-house in the

town was built in 178.3, and the first

minister, the Rev. Paul Litchfield,
was ordained November 7, 1781. He
died November 7, 1827. Mr. Litch-
field was succeeded by the Rev. Ste-

phen Hull, in 1830.

This town lies five miles north from
Concord, and twenty-one north-west
from Boston, by the -old road through
Bedford.

CARVER.

Ply.mouth Co. Carver derived its

name from that of the first governor
of Plymouth colony. Until 1790 it

was the second parish in the town of

Plymouth, and is, in regard to sur-
face and soil, not very promising to

the agriculturist. In the year 1700,
lands sold here for two shillings the
acre. There are large tracts of white
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cedar swamp in the town, and a great
number of handsome ponds, which
furnish a variety of fish, and excellent

iron ore. These ponds produce seve-

ral small streams, which flow into

Taunton river, and Buzzard's bay.
This is a noted place for iron cast-

ings, and some of the best in the coun-

try are manufactured here. In 1837,
three hundred tons were made, val-

ued at thirty thousand dollars. The
first cast-iron tea-kettles in the United
States were made here, about the year
1762. There are other manufactures
in the town, such as boots, shoes, &c.
Most of the people in this town are

descendants of the first settlers at

Plymouth, and know how to get a

good living and thrive on a poor soil.

The first minister in Carver was the

Rev. Othniel Campbell, in 1734
;
the

second was the Rev. John Howland,
in 1746; the third, the Rev. John

Shaw, in 1807.

Carver lies eight miles south south-
west from Plymouth, and thirty-eight
south-east from Boston.

CHARLEMOXT.

Franklin Co. This was formerly
a frontier town, in which many Indian

aggressions were committed. The
remains of Hawk's, Taylor's, and
Rice's garrisons, are still to be seen.

Mount Peak, and other lofty eleva-

tions, with the romantic Deerfield

meandering through the extent of the

town, give to Charlemont much de-

lightful scenery. Although the gene-
ral features of the town are rough and

cragged, it contains large tracts of

valuable land, which yield the farmer
a rich reward for his labor. Much
wool is grown in the town, and many
cattle are annually sent to market.
It has a great water power, and its

manufactures are increasing.
The first congregational church in

the town was organized in 1788, and
the Rev. Isaac Babbit was settled in

1796. He resigned in 1798, and the

Rev. Joseph Field was settled. Mr.
Field resigned in 1823, and the Rev.
"Wales Tileston was settled in 1825,
and resigned in 1837.

Charlemont lies fifteen miles west
from Greenfield, and one hundred and
five miles west north-west from Bos-
ton.

CIIARLESTOAVX.

Middlesex Co. In the year of our
Lord 1628, "six or seven persons,
with the consent of Governor Endi-

cott, travelled from Naumkeag, (Sa-
lem,) through the woods westward,
and came to a neck of land, between

Mystic and Charles rivers, called Mish-
awum. It w'as full of Indians, called

Abergimans ; and with the uncon-
strained consent of their chief, they
settled there." Their old sachem be-

ing dead, his eldest son, John Saga-
more, was chief in power. He is de-

scribed as a man of gentle and good
disposition, and was probably induced
to give his consent to the settlement
on account of the advantages he had
derived from the skill of Thomas
Walford, a blacksmith, who had pre-

viously taken up his residence, and
built himself a house, which he had
thatched and palisadoed, at the south

end of the west hill, not far from the

river.

In 1629, a considerable number of

persons arrived at Salem from Eng-
land. Being dissatisfied with their

situation at this place, Thomas Graves,
with some of the company's servants

under his care, and others, to the

number of one hundred in all, remov-
ed to Mishawum, where they laid out

the foundation of a town. Mr. Graves
laid out the town in two-acre lots, one
of which he assigned to each inhabi-

tant
;
and afterwards he built a great

house for the accommodation of those

who were soon to come over to New
England. In 1630, a fleet, bringing
more than fifteen hundred, persons,
arrived in Massachusetts bay, the

sixth of July. Among the passengers
were Governor Winthrop and several

other distinguished gentlemen. The

governor and several of the patentees
took lodgings in Charlestown, in the

great house built there the year be-

fore
;
and the rest of the company

erected cottages, booths, and tents
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about the towTi hill. Their place of

assembly for divine worship was under

a tree.

The town and the river were named
m honor of Charles 1st, the reif;;nin'j:

sovereign in England at the time of

its settlement. The peninsula
on

which Charlestown is built, is small in

territory, of an oval form, and with a

surface so irregular and variegated,
that at almost every step some new
and delightful view is presented.

It is united to Boston as a port of

entry, and in its various commercial

and manufacturing pursuits.
This town is noted for its sacrifices

in the cause of liberty ;
and its soil

will ever be dear to the patriot's bo-

som. The town is not so regularly
laid out as Philadelphia, yet it is

neatly built, and contains many ele-

gant public and private edifices. The
streets are wide and airy, and many
of them have recently been planted
with trees for shade. Considerable

shipping is owned here, engaged in

foreign and domestic commerce.
The value of the manufactures, in

Charlestown, the year ending April 1,

1837, exclusive of a large amount of

leather, was three hundred and ninety
thousand dollars. The articles man-
ufactured were as follows : soap, can-

dles, boots, shoes, hats, morocco,

chairs, cabinet-ware, vessels, combs,
tin-ware, and spirits.

Charlestown has rapidly advanced
in business and population within the

last seven years. New manufactures
have been introduced into the town,
as those of linseed oil, lard oil, a lead

factor)', (Sec. A large portion of the

territory formerly used as pastures,
has been covered with new and neat

dwelling-houses, and many of the busi-

ness men of Boston reside here.

Its p.>pulation in 184,') was estima-

ted at more than twelve thousand.
The Charlestown Branch railroad,

running to Fresh pond, in Cambridge
and W'atertown, and recently ex-

tended to West Cambridge and Lex-

ington, has added largely to the wealth
and prosperity of the town, within the

•ast three or four years.

By means of this road, the Tee trade,

which was commenced here in 1803,
has been greatly extended, and large

cargoes of this staple of New England
are now sent to the most distant parts
of the comuiercial world—to the south-

ern portion of our own country, to the

West Indies, South America, the East

Indies, and even to England, to please
the palate of that prince of epicures,
John Bull himself. In 1843, there

was exported from this place forty-

four thousand tons of this Yankee

commodity ; forty-six thousand tons

in 1844, and in 1845 the demand m-
creased.

Some ten or twelve thousand tons

of ice are annually used in Boston and
its vicinity.
The Fitchburg railroad also termi-

nates in this town, on land adjoining
the Warren bridge, not exceeding half

a mile from the new custom-house in

Boston. This road was commenced
through the energetic and indefatiga-
ble efforts of Alvah Crocker, Esq., of

Fitchburg. It was built by S. F.

Belknap, Esq., the contractor for the

whole work. S. M. Felton, Esq., of

Charlestown, and J. P. Whit well,

Esq., were the engineers. The road

was opened to Fitchburg, (forty-nine
and three quarter miles,) on the 5th

of Blarch, 1845. They have a large
brick passenger depot, and another

large freight depot, an engine house,
machine shop, &c., on their land,
near Warren bridge, bordering the

river.

There are in the town four first

class public grammar schools,—one

exclusively for girls, and a large num-
ber of primary schools,—all well con-

ducted and sustaining a good charac-

ter. There are two female seminaries,
some private schools, and several pub-
lic halls. The town also has one
well-conducted newspaper, called the

Bunker Hill Aurora and Boston Mirror,
established in 1827, by William W.
Whcildon, Esq., its present proprietor
and editor.

See Bridi;es, under Avenues in Bos-
ton

; State Prison, under State Insti-

tutions, and Asylum for the Insane,
under Somerville.
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BuNKEK Hill Monument. On the

17th June, 1825, the corner-stone of
an Obelisk was laid on the heights in

this town, by the illustrious La Fay-
ette, to commemorate the battle be-

tween the Americans and British, on
the 17th of June, 1775. In that bat-

tle, four hundred and forty-nine Amer-
icans and one thousand and fifty-five
Britons were slain. Charlestown was
burnt by the British the same day. The
site of the monument is sixty-two feet

above the level of the sea. It is of

hewn granite, thirty feet square at the

base, fifteen feet square at the top,
and two hundred and twenty feet in

height. It was finished, and its com-

pletion celebrated, on the 17th June,
1843.

The United States Navy Yard.
This naval depot is situated on the

north side of Charles river, on a point
of land east of the centre of the town of

Charlestown, extending along the har-

bor from the mouth of the Charles to

the mouth of the Mystic river.

This yard was purchased by the

United States, under authority of an
act of Congress, in the year 1800.

The state of Massachusetts, by an act

of the legislature of that year, gave
its assent to the sale, under certain

restrictions. Aaron Putnam was the

agent of the United States in making
the purchase. Unable to agree with

the principal proprietor, John Harris,
on the price of the land, Putnam peti-
tioned the Court of Sessions, for the

county of Middlesex, then sitting in

Concord, to summon a jury to fix

upon its fair value. The petition was

granted, the jury made their award,
and Harris convej-^ed his portion of

the land for the consideration of six-

teen thousand five hundred and eigh-

ty-seven dollars. Besides Harris,
there were several other proprietors.
The cost of the whole purchase, in-

cluding commissions, was about forty
thousand dollars.

On the side next the town, the yard
is protected by a wall of stone mason-

ry, sixteen feet high ;
on the harbor

side are several wharves and a dry
dock

; except the approach to these, a
sea-wall is extended the whole harbor
line.

This dry dock was authorized by
the nineteenth Congress, commenced
10th July, 1827, and opened for the

reception of vessels 24ih June, 1833.

It is built of beautifully hammered
granite, in the most workmanlike and
substantial manner

;
is three hundred

and forty-one feet long, eighty feet

wide, and thirty deep, and cost about
six hundred and seventy-five thousand
dollars.

There are in this yard four large

ship-houses, various mechanic shops,

store-houses, dwelling-houses for the

officers, and marine barracks, besides
an extensive rope-walk of granite.
There are, too, in the yard, large
quantities of timber and naval stores,

exceeding in value two millions of
dollars.

More or less ships of war are at all

times lying here in ordinary. Two
line of battle ships, the Vermont and
the Virginia, are now on the stocks,
in ship-houses, in an unfinished state.

The keel of the former was laid down
in September, 1818, and of the latter

in May, 1822. Both are yet in a good
state of preservation, and, upon emer-

gency, might be put into the water,
and got ready for sea in a few months
There is a sufficient depth of water
for the largest ships of war to lie

afloat, at all times, at the ends of the

wharves.
The yard contains within the wall

about one hundred acres, and, inde-

pendent of all buildings and works,
the site would now readily command
more than one million dollars.

Many improvements have been
made in it within a few years. Its

general appearance is neat and fit
;

and for all manufacturing purposes
connected with building and equipping
ships of war, perhaps no other yard in

the Union offers so great facilities.

Connected with the yard, and under
the general direction of the command-
ant, are also a naval magazine, and

hospital at Chelsea.
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CHARL.TO.V. •

WoRCESTEK Co. The lands in Ihis

town arc elevated and rough, but the

soil is strong and rich, and well adapt-
ed for agricultural purposes. Many
small streams rise in the highlands,
and form the head branches of the

Quincbaug, by which the south-west-

ern part of the town is watered.

There is a goo<l water power in the

town, and considerable manufactures,
but the farming interest is the most

prominent.
Charlton was taken from Oxford in

1754, and lies thirteen miles south-

west from Worcester, and fifty-.seven
west south-west from Boston, by the

western railroad.

A church was organized in Charl-

ton in 1761, and the Rev. Caleb Cur-

tis ordained. He was succeeded by
the Rev. Archibald Campbell, in 1783

;

Rev. Erastus Larned, in 1796
;
Rev.

Edward Whipple, in 1804
;
Rev. John

Wilder, in 1827; Rev. William H.

Witiemore, in 1833
;
and Rev. Isaac

R. Barbour, in 1836.

CHATHAM.

Barnstable Co. The soil of Chat-

ham, if soil it can be called, is rather

better than is generally found on this

part of Cape Cod. Its surface con-

sists of s.and hills, with narrow val-

leys between them, ponds and swamps.
The harbor of Chatham, which was

formerly a good one, is now nearly

destroyed by the shifting of the sand-
bars near its mouth. Where the en-

trance to it formerly was, there is a
beach twenty-five feet high, covered
with beach grass, and a mile in

length.
Nature has been indulgent to this

town, in common with all the towns
on the Cape, in giving it the necessar)'
and healthful element of soft and pure
water, from no less than thirty hand-
some ponds.

If the good 7)eople of Cape Cod and
Boston should change places, it is

quite certain that the female portion
of the former could not long retain

Iheir beautiful complexions, unless

11*

the waters of some sparkling river,

lake, or pond were brought to their

relief.

There is considerahlo wealth in

this place. A large n mount of ton-

nage is owned here, which sail froni

other places. The value of fish cured

at Chatham is very considerable, and

large quantities of salt are made.
There are also some manufactures of

shoes, and other articles of domestic
use.

The village is elevated and plea-
sant. Ill a fair day, Nantucket can
be seen without a glass, twenty miles.

Its Indian name was ^lavamoyit.
It was first settled about 1665. In

1720 the first church was formed in

the town, and the Rev. Joseph Lord
was ordained. He preached here

twenty-nine years.
Chatham lies on the south side of

the cape, twenty miles east from

Barnstable, and thirty-two south

south-east from Provinceiown. Across
the cape to Brewster is about nine
miles.

CHELMSFORD.

Middlesex Co. Chelmsford was

granted, in 1653, to some persons in

Woburn and Concord, and comprised
the territory of Westfoid and Lowell.

Its first minister was the Rev. John

Fisk, inlGSl. The Indian name of the

place was Pan-tucket, the name of the

celebrated falls on the river Blerrimack,
at Lowell, and the name of a large antl

j)Owerful tribe of red men, who lived

by fishing and hunting in the neigh-
borhood of the rapids on that beauti-

ful stream. There is a great variety
of soil in the town

;
some of it is very

good and productive, but a large part
is broken, sandy, and swampy.
The manufactures of the town are

important and increasing. They con-

sist of cotton and worsted goods,

scythes, and various kinds of iron

ware.
This place is noted for its beautiful

granite and limestone.

Middlesex village, at the head of

the I\Iiddlescx canal, is a plea.sant

place, but its business has declined
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since the removal of the glass works,
a.rA the diminution of business on the

canal.

The village of North Chelmsford
lies on the banks of the Merrimack,
and IS very pleasant ;

it contains a

depot on the Nashua railroad, four

miles west from Lowell, thirty miles

north-west from Boston, and forty-six
miles south by east from Concord,
New Hampshire.

CHELSEA.

Suffolk Co. This town was for-

merly a part of Boston, and noAV with
that city forms the county of Suffolk.

It was called by the first settlers Rum-
ney Marsh, instead of the Indian name
of Winnise7iiet. For nearly a century
this town was retarded in its gi'owth,
on account of the difficulties attending
getting to and from Boston. At the

time of its incorporation, it required,
with a team, a journey of more than

twenty miles, although the distance

across the water was less than one
and a half miles. Since the steam-

ferry and other avenues have been

opened, the town has grown rapidl}',
and bids fair to be equal in population
to any other place in the immediate

\'icinity of Boston. It contained in

1845, about five thousand inhabitants.

A new and delightful \allage has

sprung up in the vicinity of the ferry,
since 1830, containing over seven
hundred buildings, erected on spacious
streets, with side-walks, lamps, &c.,

giving the place the appearance of a

city. There are nine religious socie-

ties in the town
;
handsome school-

houses and good schools, for the sup-

port of which five thousand six hun-
dred dollars were raised for 1845.

The surface of the town is broken
into several beautiful eminences, af-

fording delightful views of Boston,

Charlestown, Bunker Hill, Medford,
Lynn, Nahant, and Boston harbor.

Towder-horn hill, about faur miles
from the ferry, is two hundred and

twenty feet in height.
With the exception of Winnise-

met village, at the ferry, the inhabi-

tants are generally engaged in agri-
cultural pursuits.

There is a printing office in the

town, an extensive iron foundry, a

laundry, steam saw-mill, grain mill,

planing and turning establishments,
balance factoiy, several wheelwright
establishments, blacksmith shops, &;c.

The principal manufactures of Chel-

sea are of leather, steam-engines,

steam-boilers, salamander safes, iron-

castings, upholstery, wood, steel, and

copper engravings, snufl', cigars, har-

nesses, carriages, tin-ware, stone-

ware, boots and shoes, bricks, salt,

varnish, shoe-blacking, whiting, a

great variety of machinery, and other

articles.

TuE United States Marine Hos-
pital AND THE Naval Hospital in

this town, are on a large plot of

ground, in a delightful and airy situ-

ation, and aflbrd a comfortable re-

treat for sick and disabled seamen.
Point Shirley, extending south-east-

erly, forms the northern part of Boston

harbor, and has become a fashionable

resort in summer.
Winnisemet ferry, leading from the

foot of Hanover street, in Boston, to

this town, is probably the oldest estab-

lishment of the kind in America. The
first grant was given to Thomas Wil-

liams, in 1631. The distance across

Charles river is about a mile and a
third. Neat and commodious steam-

boats are continually running across

this delightful stream, making the

Whunsemet of the Indians the Hoboken
of Boston.

CHESHIRE.

Berkshike Co. This town lies ten

miles north from Pittsfield, and was
first settled in 1767. The first church
in the town was Ibrmed at Stafford's

Hill village, in 1769, and Elder Peter

Werden was settled the fcllowing

year.
The centre of the town, through

which the south branch of the Hoosic

runs in a northern direction into Ad-
ams, is a rich and fertile valley. To
the east and west of this, the ground
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gradually rises into hills and moun-
tains. The township is admiralily
fitted for grazing, to which the attc/i-

tion of the inhabitants is principally
turned

; though considerable quanti-
ties of grain are raised. Extensive
and valuable dairies are kept, and the

C/itsliire cheese has acquired a witle

and merited celebrity. The famous
vtammoth cheese, presented to President

Jeflerson, January 1, 1802, contrib-

uted much to bring this town into

notice. On a given day, the dairy-
women sent their curds to one place.
The quantity was too great to be

pressed even in a cidcr-miU
;
so that

in addition to the intended present,
three additional cheeses were made,
weighing seventy pounds each. The
mammoth cheese weighed about one
thousand four hundred and fifty

pounds. Mr. Jefferson sent back a

piece of this to the inhabitants to sat-

isfy them of its excellence
;
and he

also sent pieces of it, it is said, to the

governors of the several states.

From the west village, or "Four
Corners," to South Adams is about
four miles.

CHESTER.

Hampden Co. This town contains
two flourishing villages, both of which
are on the western railroad. The first

we meet, in going from Boston to Al-

bany, is ChesUr village, on the north
branch of Westfield river, and busily
engaged in manufacturing. This vil-

lage is twenty-one miles west from

Springfield, and one hundred and
nineteen miles west from Boston, by
the railroad.

Factory village lies seven miles
westward of Chester village, and is

watered by the western branch of the

Westfield river. It has good mill

privileges, many of which are well

improved.
Chester is a mountainous township,

but it has good land for grazing, and
produces much good wool, and manv
fine cattle. We witness much wild

scenery as we pass through this town,
some of which is exceedingly pictur-
esque.

CHESTERFIELD.

HAMPsniUE Co. This is a moun-
tainous township, having the north
branch of the Westfield river passing
through its whole extent.

The first church here was formed
in 17()4, and the Rev. Benjamin Mills

settled the same year.
There is a considerable manufac-

turing interest in Chesterfield, and
niucii of the most valuable kinds of
wool is grown. The soil is rough,
but excellent for grazing. Beryl and
emeralds are found here, la the

channel of the Westfield river at this

place, is a curiosity. The river '-is

worn into the solid rock, in places,

nearly thirty feet in depth, and may
be traced from the bridge nearly sixty

rods, appearing as if cut out by hu-
man hands."

Chesterfield lies about eleven miles
west north-west from Northampton,
and one hundred and one west north-

west from Boston.

CHILiMARK.

Dukes Co. This township com-

prises the westerly part of the island

of Martha's Vineyard ;
also a range

of smaller islands called the Elizabeth

Islands, and the, Island of Noman's
Land. That part of the territory
which lies on Martha's Vineyard is

more varied in its surface than that

of any other part of the county. At
the northern and western parts of it

are hills of considerable height, from
which fine views are obtained of the

ocean, the sound, through which ves-
sels are continually passing, the Eliz-

abeth Islands, and many parts of
the shores in Buzzard's bay, and
Barnstable county.
Between these hills are many plea-

sant and fertile valleys, prwluetive of

grass and all sorts of grain. Swamps
are numerous, and, when drained,
are converted into good meadow
lands.

Granite boulders abound, manj- of
them of large size, and curious in

their shape. There are a few small
streams in the town, and a number
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of ponds. Iron ore is found here, and

exported to the main.

Gay Head comprises the south-

western part of this township, and of

the island of Martha's Vineyard.
TJiis headland forms the western part
of a peninsula of between three and
four miles in length. It lies about

sixty miles east north-east from Mon-
tauk, on Long Island, and is a noted

landmark for sailors.

This blufi' or head is about one hun-
dred feet above the sea, and is crowned

by a light-house. It is formed of clay
and other kinds of earth, having most
of the colors of the rainbow. In a
clear day, this part of the island,
which bears evident marks of volcanic

eruptions, makes a gay appearance.
From this circumstance it derived its

name.

Gay Head consists of some of the

best land on the island, about two
thousand four hundred acres of which
are reserved to the descendants of the

native Indians, who till and improve
it, and on which they reside. They
number about two hundred and thirty,
but few of which are of pure blood.

Their church, which was founded
more than one hundred and fifty

years ago, consists of about forty
communicants. Divine service is

usually performed by some of their

own people, and within a few years
their condition has been much im-

proved in regard to temperance.

The Elizabeth Islands, a part of

this town, lie between Martha's Vine-

yard and the main land, and form

Vineyard Sound on the south-east,
and Buzzard's Bay on the north-west.

They are thirteen in number, and ex-

tend in a south-west course about
seventeen miles, from Wood's Hole, a
strait between them, and the most

south-westerly part of Barnstable

county.

Beginning north-east, the first island

is Nannamesset, which is a mile and
a quarter long, and half a mile in

breadth. It is inhabited by three 1am-

ilies, and has salt works. In the

south-west part of the islnnd is a high

hill called Mount Sod. The next

island, Onkatomka, is three quarters
of a mile in length, and half a mile in

breadth. Between Nannamesset and

Nashawn, towards the sound, are two
small islands, called the Ram Islands.

South-west from Nannamesset, and
divided from it by the gut, is Nashawn.
This island is seven miles and a half

long, and a mile and a quarter broad.

The soil in the eastern part is a sandy
loam, and good ;

in the western part

light and inferior. Nearly one half

of the island is in woods and swamps.
At half a mile distance north of Na-

shawn, in Buzzard's bay, are three

small islands, called Wepecket Islands,
the largest of which is not a quarter
of a mile in length. West of Na-

shawn, and separated from it by a
strait called Robinson's Hole, is Basque
Island, which is a mile and three

quarters long. The soil is light, and
more stony than the other Elizabeth

Islands. South-west from Basque, and

separated from it by Quick's Hole, is

Nashawenna, three miles and a quar-
ter long, and a mile and a quarter
broad. Cattahunk lies west of Na-

shawenna, from which it is sepa-
rated by a shoal, and is two miles and
a half long, and three quarters of a
mile broad. The soil is rich and

good. North of Cattahunk is Pene-

quese, which is three fourths of a mile

long, and half a mile broad. Three

quarters of a mile east of Penequese
is Gull Island, which is less than a
fourth of a mile in length.
The soil of these islands is generally

good ;
it is well adapted for grazing.

Sheep, which find no shelter here in

the winter, are always in good con-

dition, and produce heavy fleeces.

These islands were formerly noted

for an abundance of game. Some
deer are still found.

Nomans Land. Chilmark extends
her jurisdiction to this little island,

comprising a territory of about a mile

and three quarters in length, and
three quarters of a mile in width. It

lies four miles from Squibnocket point,
at the south-east part of the town, and
a little more tli-.in six miles south hy
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easl from Gay Head light. The land

IS composed of hills of moderate ele-

vation, with warm, gravelly soil
;
and

of several swamps, with some bushes
and peat. Some sheep are kept here,
but the island is mostly used l)y fish-

ermen, and by pilots, who visit it in

the winter season, to look for vessels

coming on the coast, for whose accom-
modation a dwelling-house and seve-

ral huts are erected.

From Chilmark to Edgarton is

twelve miles, and to Tarpaulin cove, on
the island of Nashawn or Naushon, is

seven miles. To Boston, via. Wood's
Hole and New Bedford, is eighty-three
miles

; twenty-eight of which is by
water.

CliARKSBURGH.

Bekksiiire Co. The soil of this

town is hard and stony. About two
thirds of it lies on the Hoosic and
Bald 3Iountains, which is cold and

rocky, but covered with valuable oak,

chestnut, spruce, and hemlock timber.

Between the mountains, the soil is

good for grazing, affording a suitable

proportion of arable land to accommo-
date the inhabitants, for the production
of dairies and wool. Wheat, rye,

oats, potatoes, and flax are success-

fully cultivated in every part of the

town, except on the rocky clefts of the

mountains.

Ciarksburgh sends to market some
produce of the dairy and some wool,
but its principal commodity is lum-
ber, of which much is manufactured,
and sent to the neighboring towns.
The town is well watered by Hoosic

river and Hudson's brook. It was
first settled by a number of persons,

by the names of Ketchum, from Lung
Island, and Clarke from Rhode Island,
in 17(39.

It lies about twenty-five miles north
from Pittsfield, and one hundred and

twenty west north-west from Boston,
and is bounded on the west by the
north part of Williamstown.

COIIASSET.

Norfolk Co. This town was, till

1770, a precinct of Hingham, and

was called Conohasset,—an Indiaa

name, signifying a fishing promon-
tory.
The first religious society was fomi-

ed, and a meeting-house built in 1715 :

and the Rev. Nathaniel Hobart was
settled in 1721.

It is little more than four miles

square, and contains some excellent

soil
; though it is, for the most part,

rockj-^, and difiicult of cultivation. Its

productions are principally corn, pota-
toes, and the different kinds of grain.
The inhabitants, however, rely chielly

upon navigation and the fisheries for

their supjwrt,
—having about fifty

vessels employed in the fishing, coast-

ing, and merchant's service. The
Conohasset river flows through a part
of the town into the harbor, and in its

course turns two grist-mills, one of
which is quite an extensive flour and
meal establishment. This river an-

ciently formed the boundary line be-

tween the Plymouth and Massachu-
setts colonies.

In the south-westerly part of the

town, there is a fresh pond, of ninety
acres, abounding with pike and other

fish, common to fresh water.

The Indian Pot, so called, is consid-

ered quite a curiosity. It is situated

near the base of a large mass of solid

rock, near what was once the sea-

shore. Its cavity is as round, smooth,
and regular as a well-formed seething-

pot ;
and will hold about twelve pails

full. On the same mass of rock is

another excavation, called the Indian
Well. This is about ten feet deep,
half of it circular, and half semi-circu-
lar. Both of these are thought by
some to have been made by the Indi-

ans, for the purpose of preparing their

food and catching rain-water
;
but it

is quite as probable that they were
worn by loose stones, moved violently
round by the flowing and ebbing ol

the ocean.

The situation of this town is delight-
ful and romantic, and being exceed-

ingly easy of access by the Hingham
steamboat, it attracts a great many
visiters in the summer season. The
climate is very healthy, except for

those whose lungs are too weak to
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bear the east winds, which prevail in

the spring and fall.

The rocks on the coast, wluch have
been the means of sending many to

their watery graves, may have given
to the town a bad name

;
bui all un-

favorable impressions will be soon
obliterated by a residence in its plea-
sant village.

It is proposed to construct a railroad

from this place, through Hingham,
AVeymouth, and Braintree, to Quincy,
and from thence by the Old Colony
railroad to Boston. The distance is

nineteen miles. When this is done, it

will not be an hour's ride from the

centre of the city to as exhilarating

air, fine sea-bathing, and beautiful

marine scenery, as Cape May, Rock-

away beach, or even our own Nahant
can offer.

COL.ERAINE.

Franklin Co. This town was
first settled about the year 1746. A
part of the first settlers were Irish

presbyterians, and the church estab-

lished by them retained its denomina-
tional character until 1819, when it

was changed to that of the congrega-
tional order. The town was named
in honor of Lord Coleraine, of Ireland,
and its first minister, the Eev. Alex-
ander McDowell, who was settled in

1753, was from that country.
Coleraine hes nine miles north-west

from Greenfield, and ninety-nine
west norlh-west from Boston.

Coleraine has a larger population
than any other town in Franklin

county. It is finely watered by two
branches of North river, a tributary
stream of Deerfield river, afibrding
water power for a number of factories

in various parts of the town, which
are now in successful operation. Af-

ter the union of the two branches of

the North river in this town, in its

course towards Deerfield river, it pass-
es through a very narrow defile,

with lofty elevations on each side,

particularly on the north bank
;

the

road, in some places, passes at a great
elevation from the bed of the river,
and to a lover of natural scenery in its

varied forms, this place possesses un-
common attractions.

The manufactures of the town con.

sist of cotton goods of various kinds,

iron-castings, and a number of other

articles. Its manufactures are rapidly

increasing. The surface of this town
is somewhat rough and uneven, yet it

contains much land of a fine quahty,
and produces, for market, many cat-

tle, and much wool, butter, and cheese.

COXCORD.

This is one of the shire towns of
the county of Middlesex. Concord is

situated on the river of the same name,
seventeen miles v/est north-west from

Boston, by the old road, fourteen south
south-west from Lowell, and thirty
north-east from Worcester.

This town was the first inland set-

tlement in the colony of Massachu-
setts Bay. The township was origi-

nally six miles square, and derives its

name from the harmony in which it

was purchased of the natives. Its In-

dian title was Musketaquid.
The manufactures of Concord con-

sist of cotton goods, satinet and flan-

nel, boots, shoes, hats, ploughs, lead

pipe, chairs, cabinet-ware, &c.
The surface of this town is quite

level
;

its soil in some parts is sandy,
but generally it is moist and fertile.

The Concord and Assabet rivers wa-
ter the town, and aflbrd it some water

power. The Fitchburg railroad pass-
es through the town, and affords a
safe and expeditious conveyance,
twenty miles, to Boston.

Concord took an active part in the

prosecution of the war against King
Philip, iA 1675-6, and in April of the

latter year, ten or twelve of its citizens

were killed, in the attack made by the

Indians on the neighboring town of

Sudbury. The general court has fre-

quently held its sessions in this town,
and in the year 1774 the provincia.

congress selected it as their place of

meeting.
On the 19th of April, 1775, a de

tachment of British troops, sent oui

by General Gage, for the purpose of

seizing a quantity of military stores
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which were deposited here by the prov-
ince, were met at the North bridge

by the citizens of Concord and the

neiprhboring towns, and l'ur:ibly re-

pulsed. It was at this spot that the

first regular and cdectnal resistance

was made, and the first British hie was
taken, in the war of the revoUuion.
The graves of two of the British sol-

diers, who were killed at this place,
are still marked, and a suitable mon-
ument is erected near the site of the

bridge, to commemorate the event.

The monument is of granite, in the

form of an obel'sk; its height about

twenty-five feet
;
the base, which is

square, is a large block, five and a

half feet broad, and about three feet

in height. On the west side of the

next block, is inlaid a slab of white
Italian marble, on which is engraved
the following inscription :

—
"
Here,

On the 19th of April,

1775,
Was made

The first forcible resistance

To British aggression.
On the opposite Bank,

Stood the American Militia.

Here stood the invading Army,
And on this spot

The first of the enemy fell

In the War of that Revolution
Which gave
Independence

To these United States.

In gratitude to God,
And

In the love of freedom,
This Monument
Was erected

A. D. 1836."

The following inscription is copied
from a monument in a grave-yard in

this town. It has often been printed ;

it is time it was stereotyped :—
" God wills us free

;

—man wills us
slaves. I will as God wills; God's
will be done. Here lies the bodv of
JOHN JACK, A native of Africa,
who died IMarch, 1773, aged about

sixty years. Though Iwm in a land

of slavery. He was born free. Though
he lived in a land of liberty. He lived

a slave
;
Tdl by his honest, though

stolen labours. He acquired the source

of slavery, Which gave him his free

dom : Though not long before Death,
the grand tyrant, G?ve him his final

emancipation, And put him on a foot-

ing w ith kings. Though a slave to

vice. He practised those virtues. With-
out which kings are but slaves."

CONAVAY.

Franklin Co. South and Bear

rivers, tributaries of Deerfield river,

give to Conway an excellent water-

power. Manufacturing establish-

ments were erected here some years

ago ; they have steadily advanced
until they have become of much im-

portance, both to the town and coun-

ty-

Conway lies eight miles south-west

from Greenfield, six west by south

from Deerfield, and ninety-eight west
north-west from Boston.

At no distant day the " Iron Horse"
will be seen prancing through the

beautiful valleys of this and other

towns in Franklin county, bearing to

market the products of the soil and

spindle of this hitherto secluded sec-

tion of the state.

The surface of this town is uneven
and in some parts quite elevated.

The soil is strong, and its products of

wool, cattle, and of the dair}"^, are con-

siderable.

The village in the centre of the

town is located in a small valley, be-

tween Beal's and Billing's hills
;

it is

ver}- neat and picturesque.
The Rev. John Emerson was the

first minister in Conway ;
he was skit-

tled in 1769. At that time there were
but few inhabitants in the town. Mr.
Emerson used to say, "it was liter-

ally John preaching in the wilder-

ness."

It is said that Mr. Emerson pos-
sessed great piety and good sense,
and had an impediment in his speech.
Dryden says that "Virgil had an im

pediment in his speech, as it often
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happens to great men, it being rarely
found that a fluent elocution and

depth of judgment meet in the same

person."

CUMMINGTON.

Hampshire Co. This township is

on the range of the Green mountains,
but though elevated, its soil is strong
and productive.

It lies twenty miles north-west from

Northampton, and one hundred and
ten miles west from Boston.

It was first settled in 1770. The
first minister in the town, the Eev.
James Briggs, was ordained in 1779.

He was succeeded in 1825 by the Rev.
Roswell Hawkes.

Deerfield river passes through the

town, and receives from the moun-
tains and valleys of Cummington a

great increase of its waters. The

hydraulic power of the town is very
great, and manufactures of cotton

and woollen goods, of iron, leather,
and many other materials, are increas-

ing.

DALTON.

Bekkshike Co. Dalton began to

be settled about the year 1755. The
Rev. James Thompson, the first min-
ister in the town, was settled in 1795.

A meeting-house was built in 1S12.

Dalton is a good grazing mountain

town, and finely watered by the Hou-
satonic river. Paper has been man-
ufactured here for many years ;

re-

cently other manufactures have com-
menced and increased.

The village in the centre of the

town is curiou.sly and very pleasantly
situated. It is in the valley of the

Housatonic, and encircled on three

sides by that beautiful stream. Its

site comprises about a hundred acres

of elevated ground, from which a
fine prospect is presented of the

whole valley, and surrounding coun-

try.
Dalton is now approached with

great facility by the western railroad,
which passes through it. It lies five

miles east from Fittsfield, and one

htmdred and forty-six miles west from
Boston.

DANA.

"Worcester Co. This is a small

town, taken from Greenwich, Hard-

wick, and Petersham, in 1801. There
is some very good land in the town,
but much of its territory is fit only for

the pasturage of sheep and cattle.

Swift river and one of its tributaries.
Fever branch, passes through its north-

ern and western section. There are

some manufactures in the town of

leather, palm-leaf hats, &;c., but the

chief business of the people is farming.
A church was formed here in 1824,

but until recently no pastor had been
settled. There are now in the town
two churches, and two congregational
ministers.

Dana lies thirty miles north-west

from Worcester, and seventy west by
north from Boston.

DANVERS.

Essex Co. This ancient town ad-

joins Salem on the north-west, and
contained in 1845, about six thousand
inhabitants. South Danvers, a vil-

lage of about three thousand inhabi-

tants, is about two miles from Salem,
and fourteen miles north-east of Bos-

ton. There are two other villages,
one at the New Mills, and the other

at the Plains.

This towTi has long been distin-

guished for its enterprise, industry,
and economy, characteristics that

have secured to a large proportion of

the citizens a character for integrity
and independence highly creditable.

A large part of the inhabitants are

occupied in agricultural pursuits.
Few towns of the north can show
more successful cultivation of their

lands. A ready market for the pro-
duce is found at Salem and Boston.

As an example of this produce, more
than fifty thousand bushels of onions

have been sold annually for ten years

past.
Various kinds of manufactures are

carried on in this town to a great ex-
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tent. The annual pro(iucis in these

departments exceed two millions of

dollars. Those connected with tiie

tanning of leather, and the manufac-
ture of hoots an<l shoes are mosl prom-
inent. More than twelve thousand
cords of bark are annually used, and
more than one million dollars of capi-
tal constantly used in this business.

The currying of leather, manufacture
of morocco, pulling of wool, making
of glue, and many other pro<:"esscs are

carried on tt) a great extent. There
are also manufactures of iron, wool,

itc., to a large amount.
The public schools of Danvers are

liberally supported, with an annual

appropriation of about five thousand

dollars, in addition to the income of

ten thousand dollars surplus revenue,
which is permanently invested in the

hands of trustees for the use of the

public schools. An alms-house, with

a farm of two hundred acres of land

connected, has been obtained, at a

cost of twenty thousand dollars, and
affords one of the best establishments

of the kind to be found.

This town was fonnerly a part of

Salem, and made a distinct corpora-
tion in 1756. IMany of the historical

events of Salem have a direct refer-

ence to Danvers. The house in which
ihe Rev. Mr. Parris lived, when the

delusion of the " Salem Witchcraft "

commenced, is now standing near the

plains on which were quartered the

troops of General Gage, in the autumn

previous to the battle of Lexington, in

which battle seven of the young men
of Danvers were slain. Near the

same field is now standing a pear-
tree, planted by Governor Endicott in

1630.

This town is well watered by Ips-
wich river and the sea, and possesses
a good water-power, both salt and
fresh. The town presents a varied

surface, and from .some of the high
grounds are obtained some of the

most picturesque views of sea and
shore to be found in Massachusetts

Bay.
Danvers is abundantly supplied

with fine sienite and clay, and with

never-failing springs of soft and pure
12

water, for all the domestic uses of

both its own people and those of Sa-

lem.

The inhabitants of Danvers have

always been distinguished for their

patriotism, and its citizens bore their

full share in the great contest of the

revolution. General Israel Putnam,
so celebrated for his courage and his

important services in the French, In-

dian, and Revolutionary wars, was a

native of Danvers. Colonel Hutchin-

son, another commander in the revo-

lutionary army from this town, re-

ceived the marked approbation of

Washington for his services at the

crossing of the Delaware. He also

commanded a company at the siege
and capture of Quebec by General

Wolfe, and was at Lake George, and
at the defeat of Ticonderoga, with

General Abercrombie. At the battle

of Lexington he commanded a com-

pany of minute men. .Jeremiah Page,
another hero from this town, com-
manded a company at Lexington,
and afterwards became a colonel in

the army. Captain Samuel Page also

fought at Lexington, and commanded
a company in the revolutionary army.
A branch of the first church in Sa-

lem was formed in Danvers in 1671,
and was made an independent church
in 168'J. Rev. James Bailey was the

first pastor. Mr. Bailey was suc-

ceeded by Rev. George Burroughs, in

1680
;

he resigned in lt)83, and on
the 19th of August, 1692, was execut-

ed for witchcraft, on Gallows Hill, in

Salem. The third pastor was Rev.
Deodab Lawson, from 1683 to 1688.

Mr. Lawson was succeeded by the

Rev. Sanmel Parris, who was Ixjrn at

London, in 16.53, and settled here in

1689. It was in the family of ]\Ir.

Parris that witchcraft first made its

appearance in this country, in lt;92.

We copy from NerrhalPs Essex 3/6-

morinl, a w'ork of great value, the fol-

lowing statement, as it stands on the

church record, in Mr. Parris' own
hand-writing :—

'' 27th March, Sab. 1692 )

Sacrament Day. j

"After the common auditory were

dismissed, and before the church com-
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munion of the Lord's table, the fol-

lowing Testimon}' against the Error
of our sister Mary Sibley, \vho had

E^ven direction to my Indian man in

an unwarrantable way to find out

witches, was read by the Pastor. It

is altogether undenyable that our great
and blessed God hath suffered many
persons, in several Families of this

little village, to be grievously vexed
and tortured in body, and to be deeply

tempted, to the endangering of the de-

struction of their souls, and all these

amazing facts (well knowTi to many
of us) to be done by "Witchcraft and
Diabolical operations. It is also well

known that when these calamities

first began, which was in my own
family, the affliction was several

weeks before such hellish operations
as witchcraft was suspected. Nay it

never break forth to any considera-

ble light until diabolical means was
used by the making of a cake by my
Indian man, who had his directions

from this our sister Mary Sibley, since

which apparitions have been plenty,
and exceeding much mischief hath

followed. But by this means it seems
the Devil hath been raized amongst
us, and his rage is vehement and ter-

rible, and when he shall be silenced

the Lord only knows."

In a grave-yard in Danvers is a
monument to the memory of Miss

Whitman, better known to readers of
romance by the name of Eliza Whar-

ton, who died here in 1788, under cir-

cumstances of peculiar distress.
" This humble stone, in memory of

Elizabeth Whitman, is inscribed by
her weeping friends to whom she en-

deared herself by uncommon tender-

ness and affection. Endowed with

superior genius and acquirements,
she was still more endeared by hu-

mility and benevolence. Let candor
throw a veil over her frailties, for

great was her charity to others. She
.sustained the last painful scene far

from every friend, and exhibited an

example of calm resignation. Her
departure was on the 25th of July,
A. D. 17SS, in the 37th year of her

age, and the tears of strangers watered
1 .11
her grave."

DARTMOUTH.

Bristol Co. Dartmouth lies on
Buzzard's bay, near its mouth, and
has a number of small inlets from the

bay, and some good harbors. It has
some small streams, the principal of
which is the Pamanset. Its Indian
name was Aponiganset. In early
times, during Philip's war, a large

part of the settlements in the town
were destroyed by the Indians, and

many of the inhabitants slain.

The surface of the town is uneven,
but the soil is generally good for agri-
cultural purposes. The fishing busi-

ness is carried on here to a considera-

ble extent, for which its location is

very favorable. A number of whal-

ing ships belong here, also merchant-
men and coasters.

There are three villages in the

town, Smith's Mills, North Dart-

mouth, and South Dartmouth, the

latter is called Padan-Aram, and is

situated at the head of Aponiganset
bay.
The centre of this town is about

five miles south-west from New Bed-

ford, and sixty miles from Boston.

Many of the people here are Friends.
Vast quantities of fish, principally

menhaden, are taken in Buzzard's

bay, and brought to this town, for the

purpose of manuring the land. In

1813, six seines, belonging to difier-

ent persons, drew an aggregate quan-
tity of eighteen thousand one hundred

barrels, which readily sold for thirty
cents a barrel.

DEDHAM.

Norfolk Co. This is the shire

town of the county, and lies ten miles
south-west from Boston, thirty-five
east from Worcester, thirty-five north-

west from Plymouth, twenty-six north

by west from Taunton, and thirty miles
north north-east from Providence.

The public buildings in this town
consist of a court-house, of hewn
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granite, a granite jail, a brick and

granite liouse of cnrrcction, twelve
convenient and well located school-

houses, and nine handsome houses
for public worship.

Tiie court-house is a beautiful build-

ing. It has a Doric portico, with four

granite columns on each front. It is

forty-eight feet in width, and ninety-
eight feet in length, including a pro-
jection at each end, of ten feet for the

porticoes.
The surface of the town is pleasantly

varied; its soil, naturally of a good
quality, is rendered very productive
of all the grains, grasses, vegetables,

fruits, and flowers common to the cli-

mate, by the good judgment and taste

displayed in its cultivation.

This town is finely watered by
Charles river on its -western border,

by Neponset river on the east, and by
Mother Brook, so called, a canal or

artiticial river of about three miles in

length, passing from the Charles to

the Neponset.
This was the first canal made in

the United States, and commenced
and accomplished within ten years
after the first settlement of Boston !

The facts are these :
—Neither the

Charles nor the Neponset afforded the

first settlers a convenient water-power.
They found that the Charles was sixty
feet higher than the Neponset ; they
therefore dug a canal of about a mile
in length, thereby robbing the Charles
of about one third of its waters, and

conveying it to a spot where nature
had provided a descent, from whence
the stream thus fonned, after various

windings and tumblings, meets the

Neponset, and passes to the ocean.
Dedham is noted for its good hydrau-
lic power, and on "Mother Brook"
are its most important manufacturing
operations.
The manufactures of Dedham the

year ending April 1, 1S37, amounted
to five hundred and ten thousand
seven hundred and fifty-five dollars.

They consisted of cotton and woollen
goods, leather, boots, shoes, paper,
marble paper, iron ca.stin,gs, chairs,
cabinet-wares, straw bonnets, palm-

leaf hats, and silk goods. The value
of silk gcxjds manufactured was ten

thousand dollars.

Dedham village is very pleasant,
and possesses every inducement to

render it a desirable residence for the

man of business or leisure.

It is approached from every direc-

tion with great ease. A branch rail-

road from the village meets the Bos-
ton and Providence railroad about two
miles at the eastward.
Dedham is the birthplace of that

eminent civilian, orator, statesman,

patriot, and Christian, Fisher Ames,
LL. D. He died here, July 4th, 1808,

aged fifty. A moiiuineni is erected

to his memory.

DEERFIEL.D.

Franklin Co. Deerfield is a very
pleasant town, on the west bank of
Connecticut river. It lies ninety miles
west by north from Boston, four south
from Greenfield, and seventeen miles
north from Northampton.

Deerfield river meets the Connecti-
cut at this place, and spreads out a

large body of fine alluvial land, in

the centre of the town, encircling a

village of great beauty.
This is said to be the oldest town

in the county. The territory of this,

and of parts of some of the neighbor-
ing towns was called by the Indians
Pocumtuck

;
it was granted by the

general court to a company at Ded-
ham in 1669, after being fairly pur-
chased of the natives. A settlement
was commenced here in 1670, and in

1686, the Rev. John Williams was
settled as pastor. Blr. Williams' sal-

ary was sixty pounds a year, payable
in wheat at three shdlings and tliree

pence a bushel, peas at two shillings
and sixpence, Indian corn at two shil-

lings a bushel, and salted pork at two

pence half penny a pound.
Mr. Williams and his family were

afterwards captured by the Indians,
and endured great sufiering ;

interest-

ing accounts of which have been pub-
lished.

This is a place of considerable
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commerce. The manufactures for

one year amounted to one hundred
and forty-seren thousand one hundred
and ninety dollars. They consisted

of leather, boots, shoes, cutler)', (one
hundred thousand dollars.) chairs,

cabiuei-ware, palm-leaf hats, lead

pipe, hair-cloth and beds, wagons
and carriages, pocket-books, wallets,

and corn-brooms. The value of wool

grown the same year, (163C>,) was two
thousand seven hundred and eight
dollars.

From the mountains in this vicinity,

delightful views are obtained. Deer-

field mountain is seven hundred feet

above the plain. Sugar Loaf moun-
tain rears its conical peak of red sand-

stone five hundred feet above the riv-

er, and overlooks the ground of many
sanguinary battles between the whites

and Indians.

This is a place of great interest.

"While the traveller lingers here, en-

joying the beautiful scenery, and hos-

pitality of the people of this quiet

town, he cannot fail of contrasting
the present scenes with those of for-

mer years ; particularly with that at

Bloody Brook, in 1675, when a com-

pany of young men from the county
of Essex were slain by ruthless sav-

ages. A monument commemorating
this event, was erected in 1838.

The monument is six feet square,
and twenty feet in height. The in-

scription is as follows ;
—

" On this ground Captain Thomas

Lothrop and eighty-four men under

his command, including eighteen
teamsters from Deerfield, conveying
stores from that town to Hadley, were
ambuscaded by about 700 Indians,
and the captain and seventy-six men
slain, Sept. ISlh, lf)75, (old style.)
The soldiers who fell were described

by a cotemporary historian, as 'a

choice company of young men, the

very llower of the County of Essex,
none of whom were ashamed to speak
with the enemy in the gate.'

" And Sanguinetto tells you where ttie dead
Made Ihe earlti wet, and luro'd the unwil-

tins waters red."

DENNIS.

Barnstable Co. Dennis extends
across Cape Cod, which is about seven

miles, and is bounded on the east by
Brewster and Harwich. Its soutliern

boundary is Yarmouth, nearly six

miles of which is Bass river, one of

the most important streams on the

cape, and which affords the town a
small water-power. The Indian name
of Dennis was Nobscusset.
The first salt produced by solar

evajx)ration in tliis country, was made
in this towti, by John Sears and oth-

ers, in 1776.

A large amount of shipping belongs
to this town, principally engaged in

fishing and coasting, and all manned
by natives of the town. A great
number of ship-masters belong to this

town, sailing from various ports in

the Union.
The products of the cod and mack-

erel fishing in one year, amounted to

fifty thousand eight hundred and

ninety-nine dollars. The manufac-
ture of common salt, epsom salts, ves-

sels, &c., amounted to twenty-five
thousand nine hundred and seventy-
five dollars.

There are pleasant villages in the

town on both sides of the cape, and
near them several fine fresh v.'ater

jx)nds. From Scargo hill, the highest
land in the town or county, and a
noted landmark for sailors, a magnifi-
cent ocean scene is presented.

Dennis suflered severely in the aw-
ful gale of October, 1841. Twenty-
six of its finest young men were bu-
ried in the ocean in a day ; eighteen
of which, all school-fellows, left their

nearest kindred within a quarter of a
mile of each other !

The toM'n was named in honor of
its first minister, the Rev. Josiah

Dennis, who was settled in 1727.

DIGHTOX.

Bristol Co. Dighton was formerly
a part of Taunton, and lies on the

west side of Taunton river, forty
miles south of Boston, five south
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from Taunton, and twenty miles nortli-

west from New Bedford. Sureganset
river affords it a pcxxl water-power,
on which are iinjwrtaiit manufactures
of cotton and woollen goods, nails,
iron wares, &c. The proximity of
this place to the sea, by Taunton
river, gives it a good deal of ship
building and navigation.
The noted "

Dighton Rock," on
which are curious inscriptions, lies in

the limits of the town of Berkley, for-

merly a part of Dighton.
" The rock is an insulated mass of

fine-grained gray granite or grunstcin,
lying north-west and south-west, on
the sands of the river, a few feet

above the present low-water mark,
but cover&l at every tide. Its length
is eleven feet, and its height four and
a half. Towards the land, its form is

broken and irregular, but inclining
gradually outward from the summit
to the base

;
toward the water, it pre-

sents a regular face, and nearly
smooth, forming an inclined plane,
of about sixty degrees elevation. Of
this face, which is of the length of the

rock, and about five feet broad, the
whole appears to have been originally
filled with sculptures ;

but those im-

mediately at the base, if such there

were, are now entirely worn away.
A little above, sculptures discover
themselves but faintly; while those
at the summit are very perfect."

Several drawings of these inscrip-
tions have been taken at various pe-
riods

;
the inscriptions, hmvever, are

so indefinite, that no two of them
agree entirely with each other. Sev-
eral of these drawings have been cop-
ied, and recently published in Copen-
hagen, in a splendid work on the

Antiquities of America. It is the

opinion of some learned men, that
these inscriptions are the work of the

Nor\vegian adventurers, who, it is

supposed, visited this coast about the

year 1000 of the Christian era.

DORCHESTER.

Norfolk Co. This ancient and re-

spectable town lies on Dorchester bay,
12"

m Bo.ston harbor, five miles south
from Boston, and seven north-east
from Dodhani. It was first settled by
a party of Puritans trom England.
These pilgrims landed from the ship
Mary and John, at Nantasket, on the
11th June, UVM), and on the 17th clay
of that inonlh tlicy located themselves
at the Indian Muttapan, and called it

Dorchester, in honor of their pious
and learned friend, the Rev. John

White, of Dorchester, in England.
The town included most of the ter-

ritory of the towns of IMilton, Canton,
Stoughton, Sharon, and that part of
Boston on which stand " Dorchester

Heights," memorable for their sudden
conversion into a fortress, for the pro-
tection of Boston harbor, by order of

Washington, on the night of March
4, 177t). These lands were obtained
from the Indians by purchase, not by
combat. The present limits of the
town are about sLx by three and a
half miles.

Dcjrchesier furnished pioneers for

the settlement of many parts of the

country. A party from this town
crossed the trackless wUderness in
fourteen days, and settled Hartford,
on Connecticut river, in 1635. In

1695, another party emigrated from
this place, and settled Dorchester, in

South Carolina, and afterwards Med-
way, in Georgia.
The soil of Dorchester is rocky, but

very fertile, and under a high state of
cultivation. It is exceedingly pro-
ductive, particularly of vegetables,
fruits, and flowers. Its surface is

greatly variegated, presenting a con-
tinual succession of picturesque and
delightful views of the country, city,
and sea. Its hill-tops and valleys are
decked wilh farm-houses and tasteful

villas, and nowhere can be found the
union of town and country enjoyments
more complete.

Dorchester is literally a town of vil-

lages. Travel its fine roads which
way you will, villages ever changing,
ever beautiful, are presented to view.
A part of the town has already been
annexed to Boston, ami should fire

and water continue to make steam
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old Sb.iwmut, now crowded almost to

sufibcation, will, ere the lapse of many
years, sue for another bit of Maiiapau.
The beautiful Neponset washes the

whole of the southern border of the

town, and besides its navigable privi-

leges, atlbrds it a large and valuable

water-power.
The first water-mill in America

was erected in this town, in 1633
;

and here, about the same time, the

cod fishery, the boast of New England,
was first commenced.
The manufactures of Dorchester

consist of cotton goods, boots, shoes,
hats, paper, cabinet, block tin, and tin

wares, leather, wearing apparel, soap,
candles, chocolate, and playing cards,
tiie aggregate amount of which, in

one year, was about half a million of
dollars.

The most important villages for

trade in Dorchester, are those con-
nected with the tide-water.

" Milton Mills," a handsome village,

partly in Dorchester and partly in

Milton, six miles south by west from

Boston, at the head of navigation on
tiie Neponset, and at the lower falls

oi that riv^er, contains many manufac-

turing establishments and commodi-
ous wharves for lumber, coal, &c.

Neponset village is very pleasantly
situated on the margin of Dorchester

bay, and near the mouth of Neponset
river, on the great road leading to

Quincy and Plymouth. It is a place
of considerable trade, and some navi-

gation. This village has steadily in-

creased in business, population, and
wealth

;
and located on good naviga-

ble waters, within five miles of the

city, it cannot fail of soon becoming
an important outport of a crowded

metropolis. The Old Colony railroad

passes by this and the villages of Com-
mercial Point, Harrison Square, Dor-

chester Plains, and Savin Hill.

The first settlers of Dorchester came
a regularly organized church, with
its pastor and officers. They soon
erected a house of public worship ;

hut it is a singular fact that " none
can tell the precise spot where the first

meeling-house was located, nor does

a single stone remain to designate
the site of the original burying-
ground." There are, however, some
mementoes of olden times. The earli-

est date in the present ancient ceme-

tery that can be distinctly traced, is

1644. "We copy the following from

among many singular effusions, found
on the grave-stones in that cemetery,
in commemoration of the dead :—
"Here lies our Captain and Major of Suffolk

was wilhal,
A Godly Magistrate was he and MajorGeneral,
Two troops of horse with him here came,

such worth his love did crave,
Ten companies of foot also, mourning marched

to his grave.
Let all that read he sure to keep the faith as

he has done ;

With Chri.st he lives now crowned, his name
was Humphrey Atherton."

Among the first settlers of Dorches-
ter was George Minot, a ruling elder

of the church for thirty years. He
erected a dwelling-house in that part
of Dorchester where the pleasant vil-

lage of Neponset now stands. That
house is now standing, and is doubt-

less one of the oldest houses in the

country. It is in good repair, and has
ever remained in possession of Mr.
Minot's lineal descendants. Mr. Mi-
not died December 24, 1671, aged 78
This house is more celebrated for the

female heroism displayed within its

walls, than for its antiquity. A party
of Narraganset Indians, hunting on
the borders of Neponset river, stopped
at Elder Minot's house, and demanded
food and drink. On being refused,

they threatened vengeance, and the

sachem, or chief of the party, left an
Indian in ambush to watch an oppor-
tunity to efl'ect it. Soon after, in the

absence of all the family, except a

young woman and two small chil-

dren, the Indian attacked the house,
and fired at the young woman, but
missed his mark. The girl placed
the children under two brass kettles,

and bade them be silent. She then
loaded ]Mr. Minot's gun, and shot the

Indian in the shoulder. He again at-

tacked the house, and in attempting
to enter the window, the girl threw a
shovel full of live coals into his face
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and lodged Ihem in his blanket. On
this the Indian Hod. The next day
he was found dead in the woods.
The Indian's name was Chickatau-

but, but not the Xanai^anset sachem
of that name. The government of

Massachusetts Bay presented this

brave young woman with a silver

wristband, on which her name was

engraved, with this motto,— " She
slew the Narrhaganset hunter."

Captain Roger Clap, one of the first

settlers of Dorchester, ihus describes

the great ditticulties of himself and

companions :
—

" O the hunger that many suffered,
and saw no hope in the e)'e of reason
to be supplied, only by clams, and

muscles, and fish. We did quickly
build boats, and some went a fishing ;

but bread was with many a scarce

thing, and desh of all kind as scarce.

And in those days, in our straits,

though I cannot say God sent a raven
to feed

?<.'>,
as he did the prophet Eli-

jah, yei this I can say to the praise of
God's glory, that tie sent not only

poor ravenous Indians, which came
with their baskets of corn on their

backs to trade with us, which was a

good supply unto many, but also sent

ships from Holland and from Ireland
with provisions, and Indian corn from

Virginia, to supply the wants of his

dear servants in this wilderness, both
for food and raiment. And, when
people's wants were great, not only in

one town, but divers towns, such was
the godly wisdom, care and prudence
(not selfishness, but self-denial) of our
Governor Winthrop and his assistants,
that when a ship came laden with

provisions, they did order that the

whole cargo sliould be bought for a

general s'ock ; and so accordingly it

was, and distribution was made to

every town and to every person in

each town as every man had need.
Thus God was pleased to care for his

people in tii.ies of straits, and to fill

his servants with food and gladness.
Then did all i!ie servants of God bless

his lioly name, and love one another
with pare hearts fervently."

DOUGLAS.

Worcester Co. This town was
named in honor of Dr. William Dou-

glas, of Boston, a Scotch gentleman
of some eminence, a benefactor to the

town, and the author of a history of

New England.
Douglas was first settled about the

year 1722, and at first was called Sher-

burne, from which place the first set-

tlers came.
The face of the town is much diver-

sified by hills and valleys, the former

atl'firding much wood, and the latter a

fine soil for cultivation. Mumfbrd
river, a branch of the Bkicksione,

passes through the east village in the

town, on which are fine tracts of in-

tervale, and good mill-scats. The
towTi abounds with springs and small

streams, which, in many places, are
used for the purpose of irrigating the

soU.

The manufactures consist of cotton

goods, axes, and other articles. A
church was formed here in 1747,
and the Rev. AVilliam Phipps was the

first minister.

The centre village in Douglas lies

sixteen miles south from Worcester,
and twenty-two north-west lYom Prov-
idence. The east village is two miles

north-east from the centre, and forty-
two miles south-west by west from
Boston.

DOVER.

Norfolk Co. Dover lies five miles
west from Dedham, and fourteen south

south-west from Boston. It was taken
from Dedham in 1784. This towTi is

bounded northerly by Charles river,
and in it are manufactures of nails,
iron hoops, and rqds, ploughs, brushes,
boots and shoes. Total amount of

manufactures in ISI^O, ninety-nine
thousand five hundred and fifty-eight
dollars.

The surface of Dover is uneven,
and a large part of it covered with
wood. Pine hill, in Dover and Med-

field, four hundred feet above Charles

river, afl^ords an extensive prospect.
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A church was organized here in

1762, and the Rev. Benjamin Caryl
was ordained. Mr. Caryl was suc-

ceeded, in 1812, by the Rev. Ralph
Sanger.

DRACUT.

Middlesex Co. Dracut is united

to Lowell by two handsome bridges
over Merrimack river. The town is

pleasantly situated on the north side,
on the line of New Hampshire, with
a tolerable soil, and some water-power
b}' Beaver river.

It lies twenty-seven miles north

from Boston, and sixteen north by
east from Concord. The manufac-
tures of Dracut consist of woollen

goods, leather, cutlery, boots and
shoes.

The proximity of this town to Low-
ell gives it a favorable market for all

the varieties of good and wholesome
fruits and vegetables which the well-

cultivated grounds of Dracut plenti-

fully yield. There is some fine sce-

nery in the town, particularly around
Pawtucket falls, when the river is

high.

DUDLEY.

Worcester Co. The territory of

this town was granted by the legisla-
ture in 1660. The grantees bought
it of the Began tri\)e of Indians, who
lived quietly with the first settlers,

and became christianized under the

preaching of the apostle Elliot, and
others. Some few of them remain.
The town was named in honor of

Paul and William Dudley, of Rox-

bur)', who were among the first pro-

prietors.

Quinebaug river on the west, and
French river on the east part of the

town, give to Dudley an excellent

water-power, which is successfully

applied to manufacturing purposes.

Dudley is a very pleasant town,
with a good soil, and a surface varie-

gated by hills and v^ales, smiling

ponds, and constant streams.

The village on "
Dudley Hill "

pos-
sesses fine views of the suri'ounding

country. It lies about three miles

west of the Nonvich and Worcester
railroad. TvJCs village, about three

miles west from the railroad, and Me-
rino village, in Dudley and Webster,
through which the railroad passes,
sixteen miles south from Worcester,
and sixty miles south-west from Bos-

ton, are pleasant and busy manufac-

turing places. Merino village lies

forty-three miles north from Nor^vich,
and thirty-four miles north-west from
Providence.

A church was formed here in 1732,
and the Rev. Perley Howe became
the first pastor, in 1735. He was
succeeded by the Rev. Charles G lea-

son, in 1744. Mr. Gleason died in

1790, and the Rev. Joshua Johns' n
was installed the same year.
The Indian name of a large po;id

in the town is Chabaiiakongkomum.

DUKES COUNTY.

Edgartown is the county town. This county is formed of the islands of

Martha's Vineyard, Chappequiddick, Elizabeth Islands, and Noman's
Land—the latter of which is the southern extremity of Massachusetts.
These islands lie off, and south of Barnstable county, and Buzzard's bay,
and contain about one hundred and twenty square miles. They constitute

three townships. The principal island, Martha's Vineyard, the Indian iVope
or Capawock, was first settled by the whites, at Edgartown, in 1641, and is

twenty-one miles in length and six in breadth. Although a large portion of

this county is woodland, and many of the people engaged in the fisheries

and coasting trade, yel considerable wool and woollen cloth are annually sent

from the island. There are on these islands about eleven thousand sheep.
This cour\t\- sufl'ered uiuch during the revolutionary war. In 1778, the
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people were compelled to surrender lluir fire-arms, and two thousand three

iuindred head of cattle to the British.

'•These islands were disc(nered by Bartholomew Gosnold, in 1602. He
landed at Noman's Land, wiiich he called Martha's Vineyard, pa.ssed round

Gay Head, which he named Dover Cliff, anchored in Vineyard Sound, and
landed on Cattahunk, which he named Elizabeth Island, in honor of Queen
Elizabeth. Here he concluded to begin a plantation, and accordingly chose
a site at the west end of the island, llere, on the north side, is a small pond
of fre,sh water, two miles in circumierence

;
in the middle of its breadth, near

the west end, is a small rocky islet. This they fortilied, and u]ioii it erected a
storehouse. While tlic men were occupied in this work, Gusnold crossed the

bay in his vessel, went on shore, traflicked amicably M'ith the natives, and,

having discovered the mouths of two rivers, returned to the island. One of

these rivers was that on the banks of which New Bedford is now built. This
storehouse was the first house built by the EngUsh on the New England
sliores. When Gosnold was preparing to leave, discontent arose among
those who were to have remained, so that the design of a settlement was

relinquished, and the whole com^oany returned to England. Tiie next year,
in June, Martin Pring entered the harbor of Edgartown, which he called

Whitson's Bay, and anchored under the shelter of Chappequiddick neck, to

which he gave the name of Mount Aldworth. Here he remained till the

beginning of August, when he sailed for England. In 1619, Captain Thomas
Dermer landed at Martha's Vine3'ard, and was attacked by the natives. He
and his companions gallantly defended themselves with their swords, and

escaped. Several Indians were killed in the fray.
"Martha's Vineyard, Nantucket, and the Elizabeth Islands were not included

in any cf the "New England governments. William, Earl of Sterling, in con-

sequence of a grant from the crown of England, laid claim to all the islands

between Cape Cod and Hudson's river. James Forcett, agent for the earl, in

October, 1641, granted to Thomas Mayhew, of Watertown, and Thomas
Mayhew his son, Nantucket, Martha's Vineyard, and the Elizabeth Islands,
with the same powers of government which the people of I\Iassachusetts pos-
sessed b}^ charter. The elder Thomas Mayhew had been a merchant at

Southampton, in England, and when he first came to America he Ibllowed
the same employment. The next year after he obtained a grant of Martha's

Vineyard, he sent his son and several other persons to begin a plantation,
who established themselves at Edgartown. The father himself soon followed,
and became the governor of the colony. In 1644, by an act of the commis-
sioners of the United Colonies of New England, probably at the request of
the inhabitants, INIartha's Vineyard was annexed to the jurisdiction of Massa-
chusetts. In 1664, the Duke of York received from his brother, Charles II.,

a grant of New York, including Long Island, IMartha's Vineyard, Nantucket,
and the islands aljacenl, which had been previously purchased of Heuiy.
grandson and heir of William, Earl of Sterling, wlio previously resigned and

assigned them to the duke. In con.sequence, these islands became a part of
New York, but were left mostly to manage their own affairs. It was while
Martha's Vineyard and Elizabeth Islands were connected with New York
that, with Nantucket, they were made a county by the name of Dukes county.
By the charter of William and Mary, which arrived in 1692, these islands
were taken from New York and annexed to Massachusetts. In 1695, IMar-
tha's Vineyard, the Elizabeth Islands, and Noman's Land, were separated by
the legislature from Nantucket, and made a distinct county." See State Tables.

COURTS IN DUKES COUNTY.

Supreme Cnnrl. Law Tf.u-.f. Spo Bnnutiihh Cmni/ij. Nisi Prius Term
See Barnstable Cnmiti/.
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Common Pleas. At Edgartown on the last JMondays in May and Septem-
ber.

Meetings of the County Commissiuners. At Edgartown on the "Wednesday
next after the third Monday in May, and on Wetbiesday next after the second

Monday in November.
Probate Courts. At Tisbury on the third Monday of January. At Holmes'

Hole on the third Monday of April. At the Probate Office in Edgartown, on
ihe third Mondays of July and October.

DUXSTABLtE.

Middlesex Co. This town was
taken from Dunstable, now Nashua,
New Hampshire, in 1741. The Nash-
ua river passes the western border of
the town, but gives it no important
water-power.
The soil is sandy, and generally

improductive of other crops than hops
and rye.

Captain John Lovewell, the hero of

Pigwacket, and some of his men,
were from this town. See Hayward's
Gazetteer of Maine—Fryeburgh.

Dunstable lies twelve miles west
north-west from Lowell, thirty-three
north-west from Boston, and seven
miles south from Nashua, New Hamp-
shire.

DUXBURY.

Plymouth Co. This is an impor-
tant maritime town, six miles north

from Plymouth, and thirty south-east

from Boston. The harbor is fomied

by a peninsula called the Gurnet, jut-

tmg out in a south-east direction from
Marshfield on the north, of about six

miles in length.
The people in this town are princi-

pally engaged in foreign commerce,
ship-building, the fisheries, and the

coasting trade. In 1837, there were

forty-six vessels employed in the cod
and mackerel fishery ;

and the tonnage
of vessels built was eleven thousand
seven hundred and eleven tons.

There are manufactures in the

town, of leather, boots, shoes, salt,

cordage, iron, Moollen cloth, brass

castings, tin ware, &:c.

Duxbury has a fund of about twen-

ty-four thousand dollars, for a private

academy, and raises about four thou-

sand dollars annually for public
schools. Its Indian name was Mat-
takeestt.

The soil of Duxbury is generally

unproductive, yet, in some parts of it,

there are spots of great fertility.

There is an apple-tree here noted
for its age, size, and fruitfulness. It

is upwards of a hundred years old.

It is forty feet in height, and its cir-

cumference, eight inches from the

ground, is sixteen feet. Its fruit, in

one year, has made ten barrels of

cider, besides thirty bushels for the

cellar.

The village in Duxbury is plea-

santly located on elevated ground, in

full view of the sea. Beyond it, about
two miles distant, is

" Standish Hill "

part of the farm of the renowned

Captain Miles Standish, the military
hero of New England. He was born
in Lancashire, in England, about the

year 1584, and was, it is said, heir-ap-

parent to a great estate. After having
been for some time in the army in

the Netherlands, he settled with Mr.
Robinson's congregation at Leyden.
Though not a member of the church,
he embarked with the first company
that came to New England, in 162t),
and was chosen their military com-
mander. He was, it is said, of small

stature, but of a fiery temper, and

perhaps no man possessed a more

daring and intrepid spirit.

It is so seldom that Gazetteer ma-
kers have an opportunity of "telling

things that 's tender," we cannot re-

frain from copying the oft-repeated sto-

! ry about the gallant captain, the hand
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some IMr. Alden, aad the lovely Miss
IMuUins. We arc more particular
about it, because one of our con-

nexions had a cousin whose daughter
married an Alden.

" In a very short time after the de-

cease of Mrs. Standish, the captain
was led to think, that, if he could
obtain ^liss Priscilla 3Iulliiis, a daugh-
ter of Mr. William IMullins, the breach
in his family would be happily re-

paired. He, therefore, according to

the custom of those times, sent to ask
]\Ir. MuUins' permission to visit his

daughter. John Alden, the messen-

ger, went and faithfully communi-
cated the wishes of the captain. The
old gentleman did not object, as he

might have done, on account of the

recency of Captain Standish's bereave-
ment. He said it was perfectly agree-
able to him, but the young lady must
also be consulted. The damsel was
then called into the room, and John

Alden, who is said to have been a
man of most excellent form, with a
fair and ruddy complexion, arose, and
in a very courteous and prepossessing
manner, delivered his errand. Miss
INIullins listened with respectful at-

tention, and at last, after a considera-
ble pause, fixing her eyes upon him,
with an of)en and pleasant counte-

nance, said. Prithee, John, whij do you
pot speak for yourself? He blushed,
and bowed, and took his leave, but
with a look which indicated more
than his diffidence would permit him
otherwise to express. However, he
soon renewed his visit, and it was not

long before their nuptials were cele-

brated in ample form. From them
are descended all of the name, Alden,
in the United States. What report
he made to his constituent, after the

first interview, tradition does not un-
fold

;
but it is said, how true the wri-

ter knows not, that the captain never

forgave him to the day of his death."

EAST BRIDGEW.ITEK.

Plymouth Co. Beaver and Satucket

rivers, branches of Taunton river, af-

ford this town a good water-power

lor manufactures, and it is thus im-

proved to a considerable extent. The
manufactures consist of cotton goods
boots, shoes, nails, tacks, bar-iron

leather, lead pipe, chaises, window-

blinds, sashes, boxes, Ace. The man-
ufacture of iron commenced here very
early after the settlement of the coun-

try. Cannon were cast during the

revolutionary war, and since that

time, small arms have been made
here to a considerable extent. The
manufacture of nails and tacks has
been very large and profitable.
The settlement of this part of Old

Bridgewater was not commenced
much before 16S5. The first minis-

ter, Rev. John Angier, was settled in

1724. He died in 17S7, and was suc-

ceeded by his son and colleague, Sam-
uel Angier, in 1763. The Rev. James
Flint became pastor in 1806.

There are two pleasant villages in

the town, at which considerable busi-

ness is transacted.

A branch of the Old Colony rail-

road, from South Abington to Bridge-
water, passes near the village of

Jappa, six miles from the former, two
miles from the latter, and twenty-six
miles from Boston.

EASTHAIVT.
Barnstable Co. Eastham lies on

both sides of Cape Cod, which, at this

place, is about three miles across. It

is the ancient Nauset of the Indians,
and was, with other towns on the

cape, purchased of the natives by the

people at Plymouth, prior to its grant

by the court, in 1644. A settlement

commenced the year the grant was
made

;
but the settlers were so few

in number that, although a church
had been constituted, no minister was
settled until the year 1672, when the

Rev. Samuel Treat was ordained.

At the time of ISIr. Treat's settlement

the Indians were very numerous, and
in a state of barbarism. IMr. Treat
learnt their language, and by his

preaching, his great kindness and af-

fability, he won their affection, con-

verted them to the Christian faith,

and brought them all under the con

trol of good and wholesome laws-
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" Mr. Treat having passed nearly
half a ceniiiry of most active labor,
died soon after the remarkable storm,

distinguished in the annals of New
England by the name of the Great

Snon-, in February, 1717. The wind
blew with violence

;
and whilst the

grounds about his house were left en-

tirely bare, the snow was heaped up
in tire road to an uncommon height.
It was in vain to attempt makhig a

path. His body was therefore kept
several days, till an arch could be

dug, through which he was borne to

the grave ;
the Indians, at their ear-

nest request, being permitted in turn

to carry the corpse, and thus to pay
the last tribute of respect to the re-

mains of their beloved pastor."
The soil of this town was formerly

considered as unproductive as any on
the cape, but by good management it

has been made to furnish a supply of

bread-stuffs for its own inhabitants,
and some for exportation. There is a

pear-tree in this town celebrated for

its longevity. It was brought from

England by Thomas Prince, who was
elected governor of the colony in 1634.

Its fruit is said to be fair and good,
and yields about fifteen bushels annu-

ally.
Easthamlies twenty-two miles east

north-east from Barnstable, twenty-
three south-east from Provincetown,
and sbcty-six miles south-east by east

from Boston, by water.

E:lSTII.\MPTOIV.

HAJirsniKE Co. This is a pleasant

town, on the west side of Connecticut

river, five miles south from North-

ampton, of which it was formerly a

part. The Hampshire and Hamp-
den canal passes through this tov,-n,

raid meets the Farmington canal, lead-

ing to New Haven, in Connecticut.

The Mount Tom range of moun-
tains commences here, and extends
into the, state of Connecticut. The
highest part of the range is in this

town, and is one thousand two hun-
dred and fourteen feet above the river.

A large part of the lands in East-

hampton are fertile and productive.

There is in this town one of our
most flourishing and richly endowed
English and Classical Seminaries,
founded and endowed at an expense
of $50,000, the munificence of the
Hon. Samuel Williston, under the

name of the Williston Seminary.

EASTOX.

Bristol Co. There are two plea-
sant villages in Easton, both well

watered by branches of Taunton river,
and both having important manufac-
tures.

The north village lies about seven
miles north-east from the depot of the

Taunton and New Bedford railroad,
at JMansfield, and the west village
about four and a half miles east from
the same place. From the west vd-

lage, near the centre of the town, it is

about ten miles to Taunton, and to

Boston twenty-four miles.

The manufactures consist of cotton

and woollen goods, pig iron, iron cast-

ings,wire, boots, shoes, shovels, spades,
forks, hoes, cutlery, palm leaf hats,
straw bonnets, surveyor's instruments,
and shoe pegs. In 1837, the manu-
facture of shovels, spades, forks, and

hoes, amounted to one hundred and

eight thousand dollars.

EDGARTOWX.

This is the shire town of Dukes

county, and a port of entry, compris-
ing the eastern part of the island of
Martha's Vineyard, and the island of

Chappequiddick. Edgartown lies four-

teen miles south-east from Woods'

Hole, on Cape Cod, thirty miles south

east by east from New Bedford, eigh
ty-five miles south south-east from

Boston, and twenty-five miles west
south-west from Nantucket. These
distances are by railroad and steam-
boat. The inhabitants of this impor-
tant maritime town are much engaged
in navigation and the fisheries. A
number of whale ships belong to this

port, some merchantmen, and many
coasting and fishing vessels. It is

said that between five and six thou-

sand vessels slop and anchor in the



f.AZIiTTEER Ul- MASSACHUSETTS. 145

harl<or of E Jgartown, or " Old Town,"
as it is soiiietiiues called, in the course

of a year, in consequence of bad wea-

ther, or head winds.

This harbor is safe, easy of access,
and is considered one of the best on
the American coast. It is well sup-

plied with water for vessels, by hose

Irom the fountain to the casks in the

holds.

The surface of the town is gener-

ally plain, with a few elevated spots,

rising from sbcty to one hundred and

twenty feet above the sea. Near the

middle of the island, some distance

trom the shore, is a pond of fresh wa-
ter, in size of about twenty by ten

rods, and from five to six feet in depth.
This pond has never been known to

be dry.
As the island contains few streams

for a water-power, wind-mills supply
their place for all domestic purposes.
A great variety of fish are taken at

Edgartown, both from the sea and
fresh water ponds.
Many kinds of woollen goods are

manufactured here in the domestic

way, such as blankets, flannels, stock-

ings, mittens, &;c. Considerable salt

is made on this part of the island.

Chappequiddick island lies on the

east side of the town, and forms Ed-

gartown harbor. Including Cape
Poge, the northern extremity of this

island is five miles and a half in

length, and from one to two miles and
a half in width. The surface of the

island is varied by some moderate el-

evations
;

its soil is light, but general-

ly productive. There are several fam-
ilies on the island, belonging to which
are many faithful and experienced
men, who are accustomed to pilot ves-

sels along this rugged coast in a storm.

The first church on the island was

gathered at Edgartown in 1642.

Thomas Mayhew, a son of Governor
Thomas Mayhew, was ordained the

pastor, and preached until his death,

in 1657. After the death of the son,
the father preached both to the Eng-
lish and Indians. For many years
after the first settlement, the Indians

were very numerous, and by the faith-

ful and untiring labors of the May-
13

hews, father, sons, .
and other mem-

bers of the family, most of them be-

came converted to Christianity, and
rendered this infant settlement the

most faithful services.

EGREMOXT.

Berkshire Co. This town is bound-
ed by Alford on the north, by Great

Barrington and Sheffield on the east,

by Mount Washington on the south,
and by the stale of New York on the

west.

Part of this township is mountain-

ous, rough and cragged ;
some parts

arc undulating, and some part is level,
but must of the land is either fit for

the plough or grazing.
Green river, which rises in the state

of New York, passes through the

north-east corner of the town, and with

several brooks and ponds, affords it a

water-power of sutiicient capacity for

domestic uses.

This town was first settled by the

Dutch, and afterwards by the Eng-
Ush, about the year 1730. In 1770, a
church was organized, and the Rev.

Eliphalet Steele was settled as pastor,

Egremont lies one hundred and

forty miles west by south from Bos-

ton, and twenty-five south by west
from Pittsfield.

ENFIELD.

Hampshire Co. This town was

formerly part of Belchertown and

Greenwich, and lies between them.
Two branches of Swift river meet in

this town, and give it a water-power
which adds much to its beauty and
wealth. Manufacturing operations
commenced here many years ago,
but recently new factories have been

erected, and the importance of the

place, as a manufacturing town, is

ever)' year increasing.
The manufactures of this place con-

sist of cotton and woollen goods, lea-

ther, boots, shoes, hats, hoes, shingle-

machines, palm-leaf hats, wool-cards,
cotton batting, and wicking.

There are two pleasant villages in

the town, and everything about them
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bears tlie appearance of neatness, in-

dustry, and thrift.

Enfield is situated seventeen miles

east from Northampton, seventy-five
miles west from Boston, by the old

road, and ten miles north north-^^'est

from the depot of the western railroad

at Warren, seventy-three miles from
Boston.

ERVIXG.

Franklin Co. Until 1838, the ter-

ritory of this town, which was then

unincorporated, had been known by
the name of "

Erving's Grant." Er
ving is watered on its south side by
Millers river, a beautiful mill stream,
and Connecticut river washes its north-

west corner. There is much elevated

land in the town, but the soil is excel-

lent for the growth of wool and cattle.

There are some manufacturing estab-

lishments in the town already, and
others are contemplated.
Erving lies ten miles east by north

from Greenfield, and eighty miles west

north-west from Boston.

ESSEX COUNTY.

Salem, Ipswich, and Newbukyport are the shire towns. This county is

bounded north-west by Rockingham county. New Hampshire, south-west by
Middlesex county, south by Sulfolk county, east and north-east by the At-

lantic Ocean, and south-east by Massachusetts Bay.
There is much good land in this county, but its surface is rocky and uneven.

It has an extensive sea-coast, indented with numerous bays, inlets, and capa-
cious harbors. It is more densely populated than any county of its size in

the United States. It has great wealth, and its commerce and fisheries are

unrivalled by any section of country, of its extent, on the globe.
Essex county, although of stubborn soil, has many very delightful farms,

and furnishes great quantities of hay and vegetables for market. It has

many beautiful ponds and commanding elevations, and its sea-board is the

delight of every beholder. However fruitful the citizens may have rendered

the soil by their industry, this county is essentially a commercial and manu-

facturing section of New England. The tonnage of the five districts, in 1837,
was eighty-five thousand nine hundred and thirty-three tons. The amount of

manufactures for the year ending April 1, 1837, was ten million two hundred
and sixteen thousand three hundred dollars

;
and the amount of the whale,

cod, and mackerel fisheries, amounted to one million three hundred and sev-

enty-eight thousand one hundred and forty-four dollars.

The principal rivers in Essex county are the Merrimack, Ipswich, and
Shawshine.
Essex county has given birth to some of the most distinguished merchants

in the United States. Among many others may be mentioned William Gray,
Israel Thorndike. William Parsons, and Joseph PEAUODy. See State Tables.

COURTS IN ESSEX COUNTY.

Supreme Court. Law Term. At Salem on the sixth Tuesday next after

the fourth Tuesday in September. Nisi Prius Term. At Ipswich on the

eighth Tuesday next after the first Tuesday in March.
Common Pleas. At Ipswich on the third Blondays of June and December.

At Salem on the third Monday of IMarch. At Newburj'port on the third

Monday of September.
Meetings of the Countij Commissioners. At Ipswich on the second Tuesday

of April. At Salem on the second Tuesday of July. At Newburyport on
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llic second Tuesday of October. On the fourth Tuesday of December at Sa-

lem, Newburyport, or Ipswich, as determined by the court next preceding.
Probate Courts. At Ipswich on tlie first Tuesdays of February, March.

May, June, August, September, November, and December. At Salem on the

first Tuesdays in January, April, July, and October, and the third Tuesdays
in February, May, August, and November. At Newburyport on the second

Tuesdays in IMarch, June, September, and December. At Haverhill on the

third Tuesdays in April and October. At Gloucester on the 2d Tuesdays of

May and November. At Marblehead on the Wednesday following the first

Tuesdays in April and October. At Lynn on the Wednesday following the
first Tuesday in January and July. At Andover, (North Parish,) on the

third Tuesday in Januarj', and (South Parish) on the third Tuesday in July,

ESSEX.

Essex Co. This was formerly a

part of Ipswich, and lies five miles
south-east from it, and is four miles

east of the eastern railroad depot in

Hamilton, which is six miles north
from Salem, and twenty miles north
north-east from Boston.
The town is watered by a little river

called Chebacco, which empties into

Squam Bay, and which gives it some
mill-privileges, and navigable accom-
modations.
The people of Essok were formerl)'

much engaged in the fishing business,
but of late years their attention has
been directed to ship-building, and
the annual amount of tonnage made
and sold, is from two to three thousand
tons. They obtain their timber from
IMerrimack river, rafting it through
Plum Island Sound, and a canal
across the marshes between Ipswich
bay and Chebacco river.

Essex is a very pleasant and flour-

ishing town
;

it contains many fine

farms, producing many kinds of fruit

in great perfection, and considerable

hay for the Boston and Salem mar-
kets.

FAIRHAVEX.

Bristol Co. Previous to 1812, this

town was a jiart of New Bedford
;

previous to 1787, both towns belonged
to the territory of Dartmouth. The
villages of Fairhaven and Bedford,
which have given names to the two

townships ai the hcnd of Buzzard's

Bay, were laid out about the year
1751, on opposite sides of the Acush-
net river, which expands between the

two villages, and forms a safe and
commodious harbor of nearly a mile
in breadth.

At Acushnet village, in this town,
about three miles from the principal

village, is a good water-power for two
small cotton factories, a paper mill,
&c. A steam mill for the manufac-
ture of cotton bagging has recently
been erected.

The principal business of the people
of this very fiourishing town, is the

whale fishery. In 1844, there were

forty-five ships and barques belonging
to this town, engaged in this business,
whose tonnage amounted to fourteen

thousand four hundred and sixty-two
tons, and manned by crews of eleven
hundred and twenty-five men. There
are two candle houses and oil manu-
factories in the town, a bank, insur-

ance oftice, six churches
; good school-

houses, and schools liberally sup-
ported. Fairhaven is connected with
New Bedford by a bridge across the

Acushnet, above the harbor, of three

quarters of a mile in length ;
also by

a steam-ferry. The two towns are
also connected in many of their com-
mercial and .social relations.

This is indeed a fairhaven ; from
the circumstance of its beauty, it was
thus justly named.

FALL. RIVER.

Bristol Co. The town ot Fall

River, one of tiie most flourishing ia
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the Commonwealth, is situated in the

southerly portion of the county, and

having for its southerly boundary a

portion of the state of Rhode Island.

The population of Fall River was, in

1840, six thousand seven hundred
and thirty-eight ;

it is now, in 1815,

probably not much less than ten thou-

sand. The village which bears the

same name, being a portion of it in

the state of Rhode Island, probably
contains about the same number of

population as does the town itself.

Fall River was formerly a part of

Freetown, but was incorporated as a

separate township, and by its present

name, in the year 1802 or 3. Soon
after the name was changed to that

of Troy, and by this name it was de-

signated for some thirty years. At

length, however, the village of Fall

River becoming altogether the most

important portion of the town, and the

place being better known by the name
which the village bore, than by that

which had been given the town, the

inhabitants petitioned the legislature,
and in 1834, had the name changed
back to that under which it had been

originally incorporated, and to that

which it at present bears.

The town of Fall River, in regard
to the union of hydraulic power and

navigable waters, is probably without
a parallel upon the whole American

continent, The great business of the

town, and that which mainly has given
to it its present importance, is manu-
facturing. The hydraulic power of

the river, although comparatively the

volume of water is but small, is yet

very considerable. The river has its

source about two miles easterly from
the village, in the Watuppa ponds.
These ponds, although in fact but one,
have obtained the plural in conse-

quence of the connection being by a
narrow strait, and over which, almost
from the first settlement of the coun-

try, there has been a bridge. The
area of the ponds is about

five, thousand
acres—being about eleven miles in

length, and on an average about three

fourths of a mile in breadth. The sup-
ply of water which these furnish is

doubtless mainly in consequence of
"
perpetual springs." Still there are

to it some tributary streams, and two
of which are the outlets of other con-

siderable ponds, in a southerly direc-

tion. It is probable that those other

ponds, Avhich are the Stafford, the

Sawdy, and the Davol ponds—the

outlet from the Davoi passing through
the Sawdy—cover an area of at

least two thousand acres more. But
the entire country drained, and of
which Fall river is the outlet, is, for

the power it furnishes, comparatively
of small extent. The quantity of

power, therefore, is to be attributed to

the springs alluded to, and to the great
and rapid fall of the river, which in

less than half a mile is more than one
hundred and thirty feet. This fall is

now all occupied by large manufac-

turing establishments
; generally each

occupying a separate dam
;
and so

rapidly do they succeed each other,
that there is scarcely left between the

buildings room sufficient for light and
air. The river for almost its entire

distance is upon a granite bed, and
for much of the distance it is confined

between high banks, which are also

of granite. Difl"ering, therefore, from
most other water-powers, this has all,

or nearly all, to be occupied between
these banks, and most of the wheels

connected with the factories are placed

directly in the bed of the river. An-
other distinguishing feature of this

river, is, that Avhile it affords an al-

most uniform and constant supply of

water, it is never subject to excess,—
an injury in consequence of a freshet

has never yet been known. The river

is perfectly controllable, and it is

therefore that the mills can be built

directly across the river, extending
from bank to bank, (as many of them

do,) the wheels be placed in the bed
of the river, and yet from an excess

of water no danger is to be appre-
hended.
The water-power of Fall river was,

some fifteen years ago, increased by
raising a dam at the outlet of the

ponds, and thus raising the ponds two
feet higher than ever before they had
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been. This enterprise was accom-

plished at an expense of somelhiiij,'
more than twenty thcmsand dollars.

The harbor ol" Fall River is upon
what is usually known as the Taun-
ton river, though more properly speak-
ing, upon 3Iount Hope or Narraganset
Bay. This harbor has a sulhcient

depth of water for ships of the largest
class. Indeed, it is one of those pla-
ces, which, at a former period, was
examined, and received favorable
consideration by commissioners of the

United States government, appointed
to look out a place for a dry dock, and
naval depot. Under the old system
of dry docks, the advantages of this

place for such an establishment were
believed to be superior to those of any
other place in the Union. The water
was sufficiently deep, and the harbor

capacious enough, almost, to accom-
modate the ships of the whole world.
But the modern mode of constructing
docks has superseded the necessity of
such an one as was then contemplated.

This place has within its borders,
and in its immediate vicinity, an
abundance of fine granite, equal in

quality to any in the country. This

granite is extensively wrought, giving
employment to, and affording support
for numerous persons. The immense
fortifications at Newport have been

mainly constructed with granite ob-

tained at this place. It is also exten-

sively used for building purposes in

the village of Fall River, and in some
of the neighboring towns. Two very
extensive granite buildings in the vil-

lage, the one for a market and town

hall, and the other a block for stores

and dwellings, have recently been

erected, which perhaps would sutler

but little in comparison, even wiih

buildings for like purposes in the city
of Boston.

There are in the town twelve

churches, eleven of which are in the

village. These churches are all of

them neat, well-arranged, and com-
modious. Several of them are large
anil elegant. It is understood to be a
common remark with tho.se who visit

Fall River, that it is exceeded by x\Q

place in the states, of
il\t; s^me siao.

for the beauty and commodiousness
of its churches.

They are mostly supplied with well-

educated and talented preachers, and
are attended, all by respectable, and
some of them by large congregations.
In truth, it may well be said that the

people of Fall River are a church-

going people.
There are but two hotels in the

town, the Mount Hope House and
the Slade House, and in either of them
the stranger or the boarder finds him-
self very much at home. The Mount
Hope is an extensive house, erected
since the great fire, and in the erec-
tion and furnishing no pains have been

spared to make it a desirable place
for any one disposed to spend a few

days. It was erected and furnished by
one of the most enterprising citizens

of the town. Dr. Nathan Durfee, who
spared no expense to make it what it

is, a house which would do credit to

any portion of New England.
There are regular stage-routes from

this place to New Bedford, Taunton,
Providence, Warren and Bristol.

There is also a steamboat which plies
between this place and Providence,
and which for most of the year makes
a passage daily each way. A steam-
boat has also been procured, upon the

Ericsson plan, to run between Fall

River and New York. A railroaa

was opened for travel in June, 1845,

connecting with the New Bedford and
Taunton railroad, and thus form a
line of railroad communication to Bos-

ton, New Bedford, Providence, and to

all the intermediate places. It is also

in contemplation to extend a railroad

to Bridgewater, to intersect with the

Old Colony railroad from Boston to

Plymouth.
The navigable interests of this place

are by no means inconsiderable.
There are owned, and now engaged
in the whale fishery, six ships and
one brig. The vessels owned here and

engaged in the coasting business are
numerous. And besides these, vast

numbers of vessels, and some of them
of a large class, are annually char-

tered to bring lumber, coal, iron, and
various

olhe,- ai^iv:le.s consumed by
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manufacturers and others, of the

place.
A few years ago there were but two

or three places m New England that

paid more net revenue into the gene-
ral treasury than did the district of

Fall River.

The principal manufacturing busi-

ness of Fall River consists of cotton,

wool, iron, the printing of calico, and
the manufacturing of machinery. In

the cotton business there are at pres-
ent employed about forty-two thou-

sand spindles. It is also in contem-

plation to erect mills, which to fill,

will require at least twenty-five thou-

sand more
;
so that, should this pro-

ject be carried into effect, the manu-
factures of cotton will be nearly dou-

ble what they have been. The thirty-
seven thousand spindles run in 1844,

produced weekly some one hundred
and forty thousand j'ards of cloth,
which was mostly disposed of to the

printers of the place, and by them
converted into calico. There are two
calico establishments, employing some
seven hundred hands, and printing

weekly more than three hundred thou-

sand yards. There is also one other

calico establishment in the town of

Tiverton, about one mile distant, and in

which has been printed from seventy-
five to one hundred thousand yards
per week. From the woollen factory is

obtained weekly about three thousand

yards of satinet or cassimeres, some-
times the one, and sometimes the

other, and sometimes a part of each.

The machine shop employs more
than one hundred hands, and in which
is manufactured machinery of every
description, though mostly confined to

cotton. No better cotton machinery is

found in the country than that made at

Fall River. But the great establish-

ment of the place, and that which ex-

cites more curiosity than any other, is

tha*. for the manufacture of iron. Here
is an establishment operated wholly by
steam, employing four hundred and

fifty hands, and working up, at least,

thirty tons of pig and hoop iron per
day. In 1844, the iron manufactured

by this establishment was ten thousand

tons, and the business i'; lo be in-

creased one third. Of this iron, some
three thousand five hundred tons have
been made into nails, and the balance
into hoops, rods, and the various

shapes in common use. A sma.U

poition, perhaps one tenth, has been
made into castings. This is not all

the steam-power made use of in Fall

River. There are numerous other

steam-engines besides those connected
with this establishment

;
and of the

mills recently built, one is operated

entirely by steam, and the other in

part. So that with the power now
applied, and proposed to be applied,
there can be no limit to the extent to

which manufacturing may be carried

on. This place has also its full share

of shop manufactures, such as are

common to places of its size. It has
too a manufactory of sperm oil and

sperm candles.

On Sunday, July 2d, 1843, the

village of Fall River was visited

by one of the most destructive fires

which has ever occurred in this coun-

try. The scene at the time was truly

heart-rending. The fire commenced
at about three o'clock in the afternoon,
when the people had but just assem-
bled in the several churches, for after-

noon worship, at a time when there

had been no rain for several weeks,
when the wind was blowing a gale,
and so rapidly did the flames spread,
that for a time all human efforts to

check its progress were completely
baffled

;
nor was it stopped until the

wind changed and had measurably
subsided. Very soon was the fire so

extended, that the implements for ex-

tinguishing it could be brought to

bear but on a very small portion of it.

The fire was raging upon twenty or

thirty, and perhaps forty buildings at

one and the same time. The result

was that some two hundred buildings,

including one factory, the large hotel,
and three churches, were consumed,
and the loss of property was more
than half a million of dollars. There
have been larger, much larger fires

than this, but for a place of the size of

Fall River, its parallel perhaps has

scarcely ever been witnessed. But not-

withstanding this great fire, and the im-
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mense loss of property, by the energy
of her citizens, the burnt cUstrict is

now nearly all rebuilt
;
and since that

tunc, there has been nearly as much
building oif of the district as there has
been upon it, so that in fact the place
is now considerably larger tlian it was
before the fire occurred.
The surface of Fall River is elevat-

ed, and uneven, and considered a

healtliy location for a manufacturing
town. Its Indian name was Queque-
chan.

It lies fifty-two miles south from

Boston, by the railroad, eighteen miles
north north-east from Newjwrt, by
water, eighty-two north-east from

Greenport, on Long Island, and one
hundred and seventy-six miles north-

east by east from New York. It is

seventeen miles south from Taunton,
fourteen west from New Bedford,
eighteen south-east from Providence,
Rhode Island, by land, and twenty-
seven miles by water.

FALMOUTH.
Barnstable Co. This is a very

pleasant town on Vineyard Sound, on
the most southern and western border
of the county. Falmouth village lies

twenty-two miles south-west from

Barnstable, and seventy miles south
south-east from Boston. Across the
sound to Holmes' Hole, on Martha's

Vineyard, is six miles, to Edgartown
fourteen, and to Nantucket thirty-two
miles.

There are belonging to this town a
number of ships engaged in the whal-

ing business, and some forty or fifty
vessels employed in the coasting trqide
and fisheries.

Two streams afford the town a wa-
ter-power for the manufacture of
woollen and other goods. Many ves-
sels are built here, and considerable

salt, leather, iScc, are manufactured.
The value of wood annually exported
from this town is about ten thousand
dollars. Falmouth is embellished
with about forty ponds, some of which
are salt water and some fresh. These
ponds afford a great variety of fish,
and their borders are well stocked
with sraine of different kinds. The

scenery around some of these ponds
is delightful, and it is well worth a

trip from Boston to look at it. Its In-

dian name was Succaitesstt.

Near the Vineyard Sound, in this

town, is a [xmd of sufficient depth of
water for ships uf any class, and al

most for any number. A petition has
been presented to Congress for aid to

construct a canal from this pond to

the sound. Should this be carried

into effect, and the Old Colony rail-

road be extended from Plymouth to

Falmouth, there would be no need of

the long-talked of canal across Cape
Cod.
Wood's Hole, in this town, lies

about foui'i miles south-west from Fal-

mouth village. It is a good harbor,
and is much frequented by vessels,
and by invahds in search of sea-air

and bathing.

FITCHBURG.

WoRCESTEP. Co. This township
was formerly a part of Lunenburg,
and was first granted by

" the Great
and General Court of His Majesty's
Province of Massachu.setts Bay, No-
vember 4, 1719," and was called
"
Turkey Hills," on account of the

great number of wild turkeys which
resorted here to procure chestnuts and
acorns.

A large branch of the Nashua, and
two smaller streams pass through the

town, and afford it an extensive and
constant water-power. Over the

Nashua, at the distance of two miles,
are a large number of dams for the

accommodation of manutactories.
In the immediate vicinity of the

principal village is an immense quarry
of excellent granite.

This is a verj' flourishing town,
and exhibits' in a striking manner the
efiect of water-power on the increase,
w ealth, and respectability of many of
our interior towns.
The manufactures of the town in

1837, amounted to half a million of

dollars, and since that time, their in-

crease has been constant and rapid.
The articles manufactured consisted
of cotton and woollen goods, papei
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leather, boots, shoes, hats, scythes,

bellows, palm-leaf hats, straw bonnets,

chairs, tin and cabinet-wares, &c., &c.
The surface of the town is quite

uneven. In. some parts the hills are

large, high, and steep ; among the

number Rollstone and Pearl hills

make a conspicuous appearance. Al-

though the surface is rough, the soil

of the town is strong and fertile
;
even

the most elevated parts are covered

with verdure, and afford excellent

pasturage.
In a brief history of Fitchburg, pub-

lished by one of its friends, in 1793, it

is stated, with a laudable degree of

satisfaction, that "people from the

north-west part of Connecticut river

travel much through this place, in

their way to Boston, and at present
have a stage which runs between
them and Boston, and goes and comes
twice a week."

We, as faithful chroniclers in 1846,

say, that Fitchburg, which bears west
north-west fifty miles from the old

state-house in Boston, twentj^-four
north from Worcester, and twenty-
four south-west from Nashua, New
Hampshire, has become a central point
of travel to the capital of New Eng-
land, not only from " the north-west

part of Connecticut river," but from
divers other parts, and will shortly be-

come a great thoroughfare for passen-

gers and merchandize from the south-

ern part of New Hampshire ;
the

southern and central parts of Ver-

mont, on both sides of the Green
mountains

;
from the northern coun-

ties of the state of New Yorlc, from
the river St. Lawrence, the outlet of

all tlie great lakes, and from Blontreal,
the capital of Canada.
The staging between Fitchburg and

Boston is much improved since 1793.

The horses are of a different cast alto-

gether ; they are stouter and strong-

er, although they drink nothing but

water, and breakfast, dine, and sup
on pine-wood and sea-coal. Their
common gait is twenty miles an hour,
but push them, they '11 go forty. They
"
go and come " three or four times a

day, instead of twice a week, and the

stas(:s are so contrived as to carry one

hundred inside passengers instead of
nine. When extras are required a
thousand may travel with ease and

safety.

" The first church in Fitchburg was
formed in 1764, and Rev. .lohn Pay-
son was ordained pastor. Rev. Sam-
uel Worcester, his successor, was or-

dained in 1797, and continued here

about five years, when he resigned,
and was installed pastor of a church
in Salem. Dr. Worcester entered

zealously into the cause of missions.

He died at Brainerd, a missionary
station among the Cherokees, June

7th, 1821."

FL.ORIDA.

Bekkshire Co. This town is bound-
ed on the north by Clarksburgh and

Monroe, on the east by Rowe, on the

south by Savoy, and on the west by
Adams. It comprises a part of Zoar,
an unincorporated district, which was
divided among its abutters a few years
since.

This township is situated on the

height of the Green mountain range ;

its surface is much broken, and its

climate severe. Hoosic mountain,
one thousand four hundred and forty-

eight feet above Deerfield river, which
washes its eastern boundary, and
other mountains in the town, offer to

the beholder some of the finest Alpine

scenery in the state. The inhabi-

tants of the town acquire a support
from summer crops, and the product
of dairies.

Florida lies one hundred and twen-

ty-five miles west by north from Bos-

ton, and twenty-two north north-east

from Pittsfield.

FOXBOROUGH.

Norfolk Co. This town was set-

tled previous to 1700, and was former-

ly a part of Wrentham, Walpole, and

Stoughton. The first minister in the

town.was the Rev. Thomas Kendall,
who was ordained in 1786.

There are a number of pleasant

ponds in the town, and several small
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streams, which empty into Taunton
liver. These waters produce a con-

siderable water-power, wliich is ap-

plied to the manufacture of cotton and
woollen goods of various kinds. There
are also in the town manufactures of

iron-castings, shovels, spades, hoes,
A:c. In 1837, one hundred and thirty-
three thousand six hundred and fifty-

four straw bonnets were made here,
valued at one hundred and twenty-
two thousand dollars.

The Boston and Providence railroad

passes through the town. The depot
is twenty-one and a half miles south

south-west from Boston, nineteen and
a half miles north by east from Prov-

idence, thirteen south from Dedham,
and about two miles east of the prin-

cipal village.
John Shepherd, who died at Attle-

borough in 1809, aged one hundred
and nine years, was a native of this

town.

"He retained all his faculties of
mind and body, except his eye-sight,
to the last, and was just able to walk,
with a little assistance, till a few days
before his death. He lived over a
hundred years on his native spot. He
was a man of pious character

;
cheer-

ful in disposition, jocose, witty, and
of a quick understanding. He was
deprived of his eye-sight on a sudden,
during the night, and was not himself
aware of it until the next morning,
when he .sought in vain lor the light
of day. He could distinctly recollect

events which had occurred a century
before. He had one son and several

daughters. Two of his daughters
lived to upwards of eighty years ;

and another, Mrs. Mary Mann, of

Wrentham, who died in 1828, lived

to the age of ninety-seven years. She
retained all her faculties and iisual

cheerfulness and vivacity till the last

fifteen years of her life. She abstained
almost wholly from animal food, and
never was in the habit ofdrinking tea or

coffee, and wondered how people could
love either. Her most common food
was milk. She adhered to the same
fashion in dress for eighty years."

FRAMINGIIAIVf

Middlesex Co. Tliis beautiful town
is situated about midway between
Boston and Worcester, twenty-one
miles west from the former, and

twenty-one miles east of the latter.

It is thirteen miles south south-west

from Concord. Its population in

1845, is estimated at four thousand.

Framingham is distinguished fur its

agricultural, manufacturing, and me-
chanical progress. In the first, it is

surpassed by few towns in the county,
if any; and none exhibit throughout
a better appearance of neatness and
thrift. The soil is various, but gene-

rally strong and fertile
;
and with few

exceptions, is cultivated with skill and

profit. The surface is not very une-

ven, though there are several elevated

and pleasant hills. Nobscot hill,

which is partly in Sudbury, and Bare

hill, which lies south of and adjacent
to, the centre village, command exten-

sive and rich views. The latter was

among the sites otfered to the consid-

eration of the governor and council

for the location of the State Lunatic

Hospital.
In the soiuh and south-east parts

of the town there are several pleasant

ponds, which have long been favorite

resorts for rural enjoyments. The prin-

cipal stream is Sudbury river, which
runs north-easterly through the town,
and leaves it a little below its manu-
facturing village of Saxonville.

This spot, on which Saxonville is

built, only known for many genera-
lions as the locality of Stone's Mills,
now arrests the attention and enchains
the eye of the traveller, as one of the

most beautiful and flourishing villages
in New England. A substitute for

the ancient mill is built about one
mile up the river, and on the old site,

stand the factories of the New Eng-
land Worsted Compan}', where a vas^
and increasing business is very suc-

cessfully prosecuted.
Some ninety rods below, the liver

receives the outlet of Lon? Pond, a
beautiful sheet of water, lying partly
in this town, but principally in Natick,
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Oa this stream stands the principal

carpet factory of William II. Knight,

Esq. In its neighborhood, he has
erected several other large factory

buildings, which are filled principally
with hand looms.

Mr. Knight commenced his busi-

ness a few years since, single-handed,
and without capital ;

and so far as

man is concerned, is the sole author

of his own fortune. No manufactory
in the country bids fairer to maintain
itself as a substantial, useful, and

profitable establishment.

In the south-west part of the town
are two large and valuable paper
manufactories, where a great amount
of business is done. One of them is

owned by Calvin Shepard, Esq., and
the other by Captain David Bigelow.

There is also a wheel driven by
water, on a small stream, about three

quarters of a mile south-west from the

village, which is used for making
machinery, also window-sashes and

blinds, in a large and suitable building.
Other manufactures are carried on

by hand in all parts of the town
; viz.,

leather, boots, shoes, garments, hats,
straw braid, straw bonnets, coaches,
and all other vehicles, harnesses, cab-

inet, tin and sheet-iron wares.

The Framingham Academy, in the

centre village, and which has done
much towards giving character to the

inhabitants, and especially to females,

originated in the liberality and love

of learning of some twentj'-four gen-

tlemen, principally farmers. By a

voluntary tax on themselves, they
built "the brick school-house," and

put the school mto operation, in 1792,
under a preceptor, qualified to prepare

pupils for entrance at the university.
In 1799 the school was incorporated

by the name of "The Trustees of

Framingham Academy ;" the build-

ing, &c., passing to the corporation,

together with an endowment of half

a township of eastern land. Since

that time it has been a useful and

popular seminary, and is now in a

very flourishing condition. Of those

worthies, the late Dr. Kellogg was the

last survivor. In 1836, the old build-

ing was taken down, and a beautiful
stone house erected on the same spot.
It faces the common on its west side.

The old church faces it from the north,
and the new and spacious town hall

stands at its south end.

The centre village, which com-
menced its growth at the opening
of the Worcester turnpike, in 1807,
has seen divers fortunes. But the

stranger has always been struck with
its smihng and tasteful appearance,
its neatly-painted buildings and

fences, and its stately rows of trees.

Its extensive common, about thirty-
four years ago, was made level, by
the voluntaiy labor of the farmers, at

a cost of four hundred dollars. It

was soon after enclosed and surroimd-
ed with rows of trees

;
the streets be-

ing located anew, in conformity to

the fence. Additional trees have
since been set out with good taste and

judgment, extending also through the

principal streets. For this purpose
over six hundred dollars were sub-

scribed by individuals a few years
since. From the opening of the Wor-
cester turnpike to the opening of the

Worcester railroad, there was no check
to the growth, prosperity, and happi-
ness of Framingham village. By the

industry and enterprise of those who
settled there from year to year, by the

character of its principal public house,
and the immense travel to and through
the place, both for business and plea-

sure, it had a regular and rapid

growth. It was the main thorough-
fare between Boston, Worcester, New
York, and the west. The stages,

teams, and carriages that passed daily
were innumerable. In this state of

things, the railroad was located on
the southern border of the town, at a

distance of two miles, passing the

whole distance from Boston to Wor-
cester without touching a single place
of any considerable business. The

depression of property and business,

though very serious, has been gradu
ally overcome, and ere long a branch
of the Fitchburg railroad will be ex

tended from Weston, through Way-
land, Sudbury and Saxonville, to
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Framingham village, to meet the just

requirements of one of the most im-

portant manufacturing sections in the

Commonwealth.

Copy of a translation of the Latin

inscnption on the monument of the

Rev. John Swift, the first minister of

Framingham. Mr. Swift was a na-

tive of Milton, and was ordained here

in 1701 :—
" Here lies the Reverend John

Swift, who died in 1745, April 24'i'.

in the 67th year of his age. Adorned
with gifts both native and acquired ;

he was a master in the art of teach-

ing ;
a model of living, conforming in

all his acts to the divine laws. To
all those with whom he had to do, he
e.vhibited the wisdom of the serpent
and the innocence of tlie dove. Whiie

living, he was very much beloved,
and he left at death a grateful, though
mournful memory to his friends.

Through many scenes and trials, and
even unto death, he manifested a rare

discretion, modesty, patience, and
submission to the Divine Will. He
at length rests with the Lord, looking
for the adoption, that is, the redemp-
tion of the body."

FRANKLIN COUNTY.

Gree.nfield is the shire town. The territory of this county was a part of

Hampshire cotmty, until 1811. It is bounded on the north by Windham
county, Vermont, and a part of Cheshire county, New Hampshire ;

east by
Worcester county ;

south by Hampshire county ;
and west by the county of

Berkshire.

The surface of Franklin county is elevated
;
the Green mountain range ex-

tends from north to south, presenting some of the wildest and most picturesque

scenery in the state. The soil of the county, however broken by hills of no
common height, is exceedingly fertile

;
its numerous expansive valleys of rich

alluvian, produces the finest crops of all sorts of grains and grasses ;
while

its mountain-sides afibrd rich pasturage for countless flocks and herds.

Few sections of our country equal the county of Franklin in the extent and
value of its hydraulic power. The noble Connecticut pierces its centre from
north to south

;
the romantic and powerful Deerfield pours its volume of wa-

ter from the west, while Miller's river comes in from the east, with its rapid
current, joins the two former near the heart of the county, and passes to the
ocean. These rivers, combined with their numerous tributaries, watering
every section of the county, produce a water-power of great extent and use-
fulness.

Until within a few years the people of this county have confined themselves

chiefly to the pursuits of agriculture ; and in that their soil and climate have
favored them

;
but since it has been discovered that our work-shops had bet-

ter be located at home than abroad, they have commenced manufacturing
most of those articles for which they had been dependent on others

;
and it

cannot be doubted that, in a few years, with its gigantic water-power, aided

by steam in its transportation, this hitherto secluded county will become an

important district, both in its agricultural and manufacturing operations. See
State Tables.

COURTS IN FRANKLIN COUNTY.

Supreme Court. Law Term. See Hampshire County. Nist Prius. At
Greenfield on the sixth Tuesday after the first Tuesday of March, and on the
second Tuesday of September.
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Common Pleas. At Greenfield on the third Monday in March, second Men
day in August, and second Monday in November.

Mtetings of the County Cunwiissiotiers. At Greenfield on the first Tuesday
in March, on the first Tuesday in September, and on the second Tuesdays in

June and December.
Prubate Courts. At Greenfield on the second Tuesdays in February, March

and May, the fourth Tuesday in August, second Tuesday in October, first

Tuesday in November, and third Tuesday in December. At Conway on the

1st Tuesday in February, and third Tuesday in July. At Charlemont on
the third Tuesdays of May and October. At Wendall on the last Tuesday of

April, and third Tuesday in September. At Warwick on the day following
the last Tuesday of April, and the day following the third Tuesday in Sep-
tember.

FRANKLIN.

Norfolk Co. Charles river and
several of its branches meander

through this town, and give to it fine

mill-seats and a constant flow of wa-
ter. There are large manufacturing
establishments in successful operation
on these streams in this town, and

large quantities of cotton and other

goods are made. The value of straw
bonnets manufactured here in one

year amounted to one hundred and

sixty thousand dollars.

This town was a part of Wrentham
until 1778. A church was formed in

this part of Wrentham in 1738, and
the first minister, the Eev. Elias Ha-

ven, became its pastor the same year.
The second minister was the Rev.
Caleb Barnum, about the year 1760.

The Rev. Nathaniel Emmons, D. D.,
succeeded Mr. Barnum, in 1773, and

preached to this people fifty-four

years. "Probably no clergj-^man un-
connected with a theological seminary,
has guided the studies of so many
young men in theology, as Dr. Em-
mons." He died in 1840, aged ninety-
five.

There are in the town some very

pleasant villages, and some eminences
from which are fine views of the sur-

rounding country.
The town was named in honor of

the celebrated Dr. Franklin. Soon
after its incorfwration, a hint was

given to the doctor, then in France,
that a present of a bell would be ac-

ceptable to the town for the honor
conferred. The dotlor sent the town

some valuable books, and observed
that he presumed the people of Frank-
lin were more fond of sense than sound.

The centre village in Franklin lies

twenty-seven miles south-west from

Boston, seventeen south-west from

Dedham, and nineteen miles north
from Providence, Rhode Island.

FREETOWN.

Bristol Co. The Indian name of
this town was Assonet, and was first

settled in 1659. It lies on the east

side of Taunton river, eight miles
south from Taunton, twelve miles
north north-west from New Bedford,
and forty-three south from Boston.
The New Bedford and Taunton

railroad passes about three miles

north-east from Assonet village, at

the head of a small bay of that name,
and the principal place of business in

the town. Assonet river falls into

the bay at the village, which, with
the bay and Taunton river, affords

the village good mill-seats, and navi-

gable facilities. There is considera-

ble business done in this place in the

coasting trade and ship building.
The manufactures of Freetown con-

sist of iron castings, cutlery, axes,

shovels, spades, hoes, forks, nails,

leather, boots, shoes, chairs, cabinet-

ware, &c.
The first preacher and teacher in

the town was Mr. William Way, who
was called here in 1704,

" to educate
and instruct children in reading and

writing, and to dispense the gospel to

the town's acceptance."
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GARDXER.

Worcester Co. This town took its

name in memory of Colonel Thomas
Gardner, of Cambridge, who fell in

the battle of Bunker Hill. It was
formerly parts of Westminster, Ash-

burnham, Winchendon, and Temple-
ton.

A church was gatliered in Gardner
in 178G, and the Kev. Jonathan Os-

good became pastor, school-master,
and physician, in 1791, and thus con-
tinued nearly thirty years.
The face of the town is uneven,

abounding in small hills and valleys ;

but though rocky, the soil is strong
and fertile, producing all the grasses
and grains common to the climate, in

ample supplies. Most parts of the

town abound in springs and small

streams, whereby the lands can be
watered at pleasure.
Bakersville and Gardnerville are

pleasant villages. The former lies

near a delightful pond.
Otter river, a branch of Miller's

river, and several smaller streams,
give the town good mill-privileges,
and produce much good meadow.
The manufactures of the town con-

sist of cabinet-wares, chairs, palm-
leaf hats, ice. la 1S37, they amount-
ed to about one hundred and ten
thou.sand dollars.

Gardner lies twenty-five miles we.st

north-west from Worcester, ten west
from Fitchburg, and, by the Fitchburg
railroad, sixty miles west by north
from Boston.

GEORGETOAVX.

Essex Co. The territory of this

town belonged to Rowley until 1838.
It comprised the west part of that

town, and was called New Rowley.
It was first settled about 1669, and its

first minister was the Rev. James
Chandler, who settled in 1732, and
died in 17S8.

The surface of the town is beauti-

fully variegated ;
it has well-cultivated

farms, pleasant villages, and Parker's
river winding through- it. From

11

" Bald Pate," in this town, the highest
land in the county, an extensive and

delightful view may be obtained, com-

prehending a portion of the Mcrri-

mack, and the adjacent settlements,

together with the beautiful town of

Haverhill.

The people of this highly flourish-

ing town are probably more engaged
in the manufacture of boots and shoes
than any other town of its population
in America. The value manufactured

annually is said to exceed six hundred
thousand dollars.

Georgetown lies nine miles south-
west from Newburyport, eight miles
north-west by west from Ipswich, sev-
enteen north-east from Lowell, ajid

thirty-three miles north from Boston,
by the eastern railroad, through Ips-
wich.

Gllil^

Fkanklix Co. Gill lies five miles
north-east from Greenfield, from which
it was taken in 1793, and from which
it is separated by Fall river, a good
mill stream. It is opposite to Mon-
tagTie, which lies on the east side of
Connecticut river, and between which
and Gill, are Turner's Falls, alike cel-

ebrated for their beauty and magni-
tude. The town was named in com-
pliment to Closes Gill, lieutenant-gov-
ernor of the state. The first minister
was the Rev. John Jackson, in 1798.
The Connecticut at this place turns

abruptly in its course, and spreads
out a large tract of intervale of great
value.

Around this town are lofty eleva-

tions, from which splendid landscapes
are obtained of distant towns, of the

falls, and of the beautiful Connecticut,
winding its devious course between
the mountains to the ocean.

Agriculture has hitherto been the
chief occupation of the people of this

town, but a manufacturing spirit has
arisen among them, which will soon

give cnijiloyment to a portion of their

valuable water-power, and to the rail-

road from Springfield, which will soon

approach them.
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GLOUCESTER.

Essex Co. Gloucester is an impor-
tant maritime town. Until the incor-

poration of Rockport, in 1840, it com-

prised the whole of Cape Ann, which
was thus named by Prince Charles,
out of respect for his mother. This

cape extends about eight miles into

the sea, and forms the northern boun-

dary of Massachusetts Bay. Its width
is about live miles. There are a num-
ber of small islands at its eastern ex-

tremity, a mile or two from the shore,
on one of which, Thatcher's island,
are two light-houses. Gloucester was
called by the Indians Wingaersheek.

Tljis was the tirst spot inhabited by
English settlers on the north side of

Massachusetts Bay ;
its harbor hav-

ing been improved as a fishing station

as early as 1624. As early as 1794, the

exports of fish from this place amount-
ed to two hundred and thirty thousand
dollars.

Gloucester harbor is capacious, easy
of access at any season of the year,
and of sufficient depth of water for

the largest merchantmen. Nautical

men pronounce it one of the best har-

bors on the coast.

There are some manvifactures in the

town of vessels, cabinet-wares, boots,

shoes, and a variety of other articles,

but the chief business of the place is

the cod and mackerel fishery, which is

carried on to a great extent. In 1837,
there were two hundred and twenty-
one vessels employed in that business,
for which one hundred and fourteen

thousand bushels of salt were used,

and one thousand si.x: hundred hands

employed. Since that period the busi-

ness, it is said, has much increased.

The village of Anisquam, or Squam,
lies on the north side of the cape, five

miles east south-east from Ipswich
lights, and about five miles north by
west from the south harbor. It has a
safe harbor, and is much used by fish-

ermen. Near this village is a beach
of between two and three miles in

length, composed of white sand, which
is much used, and makes a beautiful

ap}iearaiice as you approach the shore.

This harbor was fornier'y connected

with the south harbor by a canal cut

through a narrow isthmus of the cape ;

but the canal has failed of its design.
The West Parish contains some val-

uable tillage land, some wood and

pasture lands, and some land that is

almost worthless.

An old church in this parish is an

object of curiosity, and is much visited

by strangers. It is said to be the old-

est meeting-house in New England.
It is situated on a high hill, surround-
ed by trees, and commands a fine

view of Ipswich Bay. It retains its

ancient form and appearance, and is

occasionally used as a place of wor-

ship.
When the revolutionary war broke

out, Gloucester, then with a small

population, put nearly three hundred
men into the field

;
most of whom

were at the battle of Bunker Hill.

The village of Gloucester Harbor, so

called, is beautifully located on the

south side of the cape, thirty-two
miles north-east from Boston, by wa-

ter, fourteen from Salem, and twenty-

eight from Boston, by land. By the

Cape Ann railroad through Manchester
and Beverly, the distance is about the

same.
There is much beauty in and around

this place. The settlement is com-

pact, and many of the buildings are

of brick, and in a handsome style of

architecture. The sea views from
this village are very extensive, and

equal in grandeur to any on the coast.

Gloucester is rapidly becoming a fash-

ionable resort in summer months
;

the more its beauties are seen and its

exhilarating breezes felt, the more fre-

quently it will be visited.

GOSHEIV.

Hampshire Co. This is a small
mountainous township, from which
several branches of the Westfield river

take their rise. There is much fine

timber-land in the town, and much
lumber is sawed and sent to market.

Although the surface is rough, the

soil is excellent for grazing. The
value of Saxony and other wools

shea red in Goshen in one year amount-
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eJ to lour thousand five hundred dol-

lars.

The Kev. Samuel Whitman was
settled herein 1788

;
Rev. Joel Wright,

in 1821
;
Rev. Henry B. Holmes, in

1830, and the Rev. Stephen Mason, in

1836.

Goshen lies twelve miles north-west

from Northampton, and one hundred

and two miles west from Boston.

GRAFTOX.

Worcester Co. The leiritory of

this town was formerly an Indian reser-

vation of four miles square, and until

1735 il was called Hassanamisco .

Since that time additions have been

made to the town from Shrewsbury
and Sutton.

The surface of the town is hilly and

uneven, and in most parts it is rocky.
The most prominent hills in the town

are Chestnut hill, near the centre
;

George hill, on the east, and Brigham
hill, on the west part of the town.

These hills are all well wooded by wal-

nut, oak, chestnut, butternut, &;c., and
on which are a number of fine farms.

The soil of the town is moist and

strong, and very productive of all

sorts of grain and grass. The lands

are naturally warm, not subject to

frosts, and well adapted to the growth
of fruit trees. This is one of the best

townships of land in the county, and
its industrious proprietors show their

knowledge of its value by its cultiva-

tion.

Grafton has an hydraulic power of

great extent and value. The Black-

stone river and canal pass tlirough
the southern section of the town, on

which are large manufacturing estab-

lishments.

The Quinsigamond, the outlet of a

pond of that name, in Shrewsbury,

passes from north to south through
the town, with a descent of between

fifty and sixty feet. On this stream,
in the north part of the town, is New
England village; and at its junction
nith the Blacksione, at the south part
of the town, is the village of Farnums-
•."ilie. These villages are distant from
each other about four miles

; they pos-

sess an abundant water-power, and
are very neat and flourishing manu-

facturing villages. Tlie manufac-
tures of these villages consist chielly

of cotton and woollen goods. There
are manufactures in the town of boots,

shoes, leather, scythes, chairs, tin,

cabinet, and wooden wares, shoe tools,

bricks, ice. The annual amount of

manufactures is about one million

seven hundred and fifty thousand dol-

lars. The population of the town in

1845, was about three thousand four

hundred.
The first minister in Grafton was

the Rev. Solomon Prentiss, who settled

here in 1731. The next was the Rev.
Aaron Hutchinson, in 1750. Mr.
Hutchinson was very eccentric in his

character and social intercourse. He
possessed much classical learning.
His memory was so tenacious, that

he often said, if the New Testament
was lost, he could write it again.
He was succeeded by the Rev. Dan-
iel Grosvenor in 1774. Mr. Gros-

venor was a patriot.
" He left his

pulpit, and marched with his musket,
in a company of minute men, that

went to Cambridge on the 19lh of

April, 1775."

The central village in Grafton is

on elevated ground, and very plea-
sant

;
it lies about three miles south-

east from New England village,

through which the Mdlbury brancii

railroad passes. From New England
village, about a mile from the Graf-

ton depot, on the Boston and Worces-
ter railroad, to Worcester, is seven
miles north-west, and to Boston thirty-

seven miles east north-east.

GRAXBY.

Hampshire Co. Granby lies about

nine miles south-east from Northamp-
ton, twelve north by east from Spring-
field, and about eighty-five miles west

by south from Boston.

This town was formerly the second

parish of South Hadley. A church
was gathered here in 1762, and in

that year Rev. Simon Backus was
settled as pastor.
From a pond in the north-east cor-
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ner of ihe town originates a pleasant

stream, passing the foot of Mount

Holyoke on the south, and empties
into the Connecticut at South Hadley.
On this stream are a number of valu-

able manufacturing establishments.

The surface of the town is pleasant,
and the soil productive. There is a

very pleasant village near its centre,
five miles north-east from South Had-

ley Falls.

GRANVILIiE.
HAHPDE>f Co. This town is quite

mountainous. In the valleys are

some tracts of good land for cultiva-

tion, and the highlands produce good
pasturage.

Valley branch, and Hubbard's river

unite in this town, and form an impor-
tant tributary to Farmington river,
which passes to Windsor, in Connec-
ticut.

This township was sold to James

Cornish, in 1686, by Toto, an Indian

chief, for a gun and sixteen brass but-

tons. It was first settled in 1738. In

1751 it had seventy families.

The first miuister in Granville was
the Rev. Moses Tuttle, in 1747. The
next was the Rev. Jedediah Smith, in

17-56,
" a man of uncommon piety,

pleasantness, and aflability."
Granville East village is neatly lo-

cated on elevated ground, seventeen
miles west south-west from Spring-
field, one hundred and fifteen west
south-west from Boston, and twenty-
five north-west from Hartford, Con-
necticut.

GREAT BARRIXGTOX.

Berkshire Co. This large, ancient,
and respectable town, the seat of the

county courts from 1761 to 1787, and
once only known by the sonorous
name of Houssatonnock, is bounded on
the north by West Stockbridge, Stock-

bridge, and Lee, east by Tyringham
and New Marlborough, south by Shef-

field, and west by Egremont and Al-

ford.

Great Barrington lies twenty miles

south by west from Pittsfield, and one
hundred and twenty-five west by south

from Boston, by the old roads. By
the Housatonic and western railroad

it is twelve miles to West Stockbridge,
fifty miles to Albany, and one hun-
dred and seventy-four miles to Boston.

This town is finely watered by a
number of beautiful streams. The
Housatonic passes through it from
north to south

;
Williams' river unites

with the Housatonic in the north, and
Green river in the south parts of the

town. Near the north-west corner of

the town lies Long Pond, a considera-

ble sheet of water, whose outlet, joined
with Seekonk brook, makes a good
mill-stream.

The surface of the town is gene-
rally uneven

;
some parts are moun-

tainous, and unfit for cultivation.

But the greater part of the township
is under cultivation, and its soil is

strong and fertile on the banks of the

rivers and brooks which water the

town. Extensive tracts of intervale

are dispersed, of great fertility and

beauty.
The manufactures of the town con-

sist of cotton and woollen goods, boots,

shoes, leather, hats, pig-iron, lasts, tin

ware, bevils, gauges, &c. Good iron

ore is found in the town, and beauti-

fully variegated marble. The popu-
lation of the town in 1845, is estimated
at three thousand.

There are many mountains in this

town, which render its general fea-

tures highly picturesque and romantic.

Monument Movntain has a greater
interest than all the rest, for there-

with is connected a love-story. This
mountain rises up directly from the

east bank of the Housatonic, in the

north part of the town. It derived

its name from a rude monument of

stones on its south-eastern point.
" The pile," as it stood some years
ago,

" was six or eight feet in diame-

ter, circular at its base, and raised in

the form of an oblong cone, over the

grave of one of the aborigines." It

was formed as follows :
—"Every In-

dian who passed the place, threw a
stone upon the tomb of his country-
man. By this slow method of accu-

mulation, the heap rose, in a long se-

ries of years, to the height just men
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tioned." By the natives of America
such monuments appear to be expres-
sions ol" peculiar respect lor the dea'l.

The ])crson buried here, it is said, was
a beautiful Indian maiden, who had
thrown herself from a clift of the

mountain, through the intluence of a

passionate love for a cousin, whom
the religion of the natives would not
allow her to marrj'. On this subject,
W. C. Bryant, Esq., one of our best

native poets, wrote an admirable

poem some years ago.
The following fact is related by

President Dwight, as having occurred
at the great bridge, in this town :

—
" A Mr. Van Rensselaer, a young

gentleman from Albany, came one
evening into an inn, kept by a Mr.

Root, just at the eastern end of the

bridge. The inn-keeper, who knew
him, asked him where he had crossed
the river. He answ-ered,

' On the

bridge.' Mr. Root replied, that that

was impossible, because it had been
raised that very day, and that not a

plank had been laid on it. Mr. Van
Rensselaer said that it could not be

true, because his horse had come over
without any difficulty or reluctance

;

that the night was indeed so pro-
foundly dark as to prevent him from

seeing anything distinctly ;
but that it

was incredible, if his hoi-se could see

sufTiciently well to keep his footing
anywhere, that he should not discern
the danger, and impossible for him to

pass over the bridge in that condition.
Each went to bed dissatisfied, neither

believing the story of the other. In
the morning, ]\Ir. Van Rensselaer

went, at the .solicitation of his host, to

view the bridge, and, finding it a naked
frame, gazed for a moment with as-

tonishnxent, and fainted."

GREEXFIEL.D.

Franklin Co. Shire town. Green-
field is delightfully situated on the
west bank of Connecticut river. It

was formerly a part of Deerfield, and
w.aii taken from it in 1753. Previous
to that time it was called Green River.
It is bounded north bv Bernard.^ton

and Leyden, east by Gill and Connec-
ticut river, south by Deerfield, and
west by Shelburne.

This town lies ninety miles west
norih-west from Boston, twenty-oni
north from IVortliampton and forty-one
north from Springfield. It also lies

twenty-one miles soulli from Brattle-

borough, Vermont
; forty-four miles

south from Bellows' Falls, and ninety
miles south from Lebanon, New
Hampshire. The "Iron Horse "

will

soon pass through this town, on his

way to Canada.
Fall river passes the eastern border

of the town from the north, and falls

into the Connecticut
;
and Green river

also, from the north, passes throutjh
the town, and meets the Deerlield.

These rivers aflbrd the town a fine

hydraulic power, which is partially

improved by establishments lor the

manufacture of cotton and woollen

goods.
There are also in {he town manu-

factures of boots, shoes, leather, hats,

iron-castings, chairs, cabinet and tin

wares, saddles, harnesses, trunks,
stone and lead aqueduct pipe, guns,
pistols, coaches, wagons, books, &zc.

The surface of Greenfield is gene-
rally plain ;

it has some rising grounds,
but none abrupt. There are large in-

tervales on Green river, in the town,
of superior excellence. The other
lands produce good crops of grain,
and afl'ord excellent pasturage. The
products arising from the sale of wool,

butter, cheese, and cattle, are very
considerable.

The village of Greenfield, and the

site of the county courts, is situated

on an elevated plain, on the margin
of Green river, and surrounded by
beautiful intervale. It contains many
handsoias buildings besides those be-

longing to the county.
There is a neatness, rural simplicity

and beauty about this, and most of
our Connecticut river villages, which
strike the eye with uncommon delight.
We do not obtain from them those
bold water views which present them-
selves on the high banks of the Hud-
son, the Kennebec, and Penobscot

;

they are grand and beautiful, but



162 GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS.

without that .oveliness which is pre-
sented by this placid, fertilizing stream,

winding its course among the moun-

tains, and spreading out on either

tide, extensive tracts of rich and

blooming meadow.
The Greenfield Institdte, in this

town, a seminary for young la-

dies, retains its high character for

usefulness. The teachers at this in-

stitution, the Misses Stone, in their

circular, say :
—

" The system of instruction pursued
in this school is, probably, not mate-

rially different from that which pre-
vails in other high schools and acade-

mies. The various branches of edu-

cation, useful and ornamental, are

designed to be thoroughly taught, and
no pains will be spared to render the

path of knowledge attractive and de-

lightful. The object of the teachers

is not fulfilled by storing the memory
with words, or by making it familiar

with rules and numbers—with the

boundaries of place and date of events.

They aim at the cultivation of the

whole mind—the completion of a

character that will enable its posses-
sor clearly to comprehend and faith-

fully to perform all the duties which

appertain to her condition in life.

Their course involves principles and

obligations, as well as learning, in the

common acceptation of the term
;
and

for the success of their exertions and

plans, they must appeal to the future

progress and developments of their

scholars."

GREENWICH.

HAMrsHiRE Co. There are some
elevated lands in this town, and the

surface generally is rugged and une-

-^en
;
but the soil is strong a»d fertile .

Two branches of Swift river water

the towm abundantly for extensive

manufacturing operations. The man-
ufactures of the town consist of wool-

len goods, scythes, palm-leaf hats,
and various other articles.

The Indian name of the town was

Q-iiabi/i. The first settlers were from
the north of Ireland, and many of

their descendants still remain.

A ministry was established here in

1749, and the Rev. Pelatiah Webster
was ordained.

The village is pleasantly situated

twenty miles east north-east from

Northampton, and fourteen miles
north north-west from the radroad

depot, in Warren, seventy-three milei

from Boston.

GROTOX.

Middlesex Co. This beautiful and

flourishing town is bounded north by
Dunstable, east by Tynsborough and

Westford, south by Harvard, west by
Shirley, and north-west by Townsend
and Pe])perell. The towmship was
granted to Dean Winthrop, a son of
Governor Wmthrop, and others, in

1655, and the settlement commenced
soon after. Its Indian name was

Pelapawag ; its present name is de-

rived from the birthplace of Governor

Winthrop, in England.
Groton was for many years a fron-

tier settlement, and much exposed to

the Indians. It was attacked by the

Indians Blarch 2d, 1676, and again
by about four hundred Indians on the

13th of the same month. Most of the

people escaped to the garrisons, giving

up their property to the enemy ;
the

town was wholly burnt, except four

garrison houses. The inhabitants

fled to Concord, but returned to their

lands the next season, and commenced

rebuilding their houses.

It was again attacked on the 27th

of July, 1694, and twenty-two of the

inhabitants killed, and thirteen cap-
tured. Again, May 20, 1697, one
man was killed, and three wounded.

Among those carried into captivity
on the 27th of July, 1691, were seve-

ral by the name of Langley, and two

boys by the name of Tarbell. The
latter nevet returned to live with the

whites, but having become accustomed
to the Indian life, intermarried with

them, and some of their descendants,

by the name of Tarbell, are now liv-

ing with a tribe of Indians at St. Re-

gis, in Canada.
The town is finely watered by the

Nashua and Sciuannicook rivers, and
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a number of beautiful ponds. The
surface of the town is pleasantly va-

rietratefl ;
the soil is fevliie and ex-

ceedingly productive, anions; all the

varieties of a well-culiivated town, of

a great abundance of hay for the

market. There are valuable paper-
mills in the town, a fine quarry of

soap-stone, and manufactures of a

great variety of articles common in a

New England town.

The village in the centre of the

town, is handsomely situated on one

principal street, which runs from
south-east to north-west. It is on an
extensive and regular swell of land,

and commands delightful views of

the surrounding country. The build-

in<;s are in a style of great neatness

ami taste, and some of elegance.
The Groton Academy was incorpo-

rated in 1793. Among its preceptors,
have been tlie Hon. William Richard-

son, late chief justice of the New
Hampshire court, and Caleb Butler,

Esq., of Groton. It has a dejiartmcnt
for boys, and one for girls. In 1841,
the building was repaired, enlarged,
and improved, by the generosity of

Amos Lawrence, Esq., of Boston, a

native of Groton, at an expense of

two thousand dollars. The same be-

nevolent individual has given to the

institution a handsome library, for

the use of the teachers and pupils.
Also a very complete apparatus for

illustration of natural philosophy and

chemistry.
William Lawrence, Esq., of Boston,

also a native of Groton, in 1844, made
a generous donation of ten thousand
dollars to the funds of the academy,
which, with funds before in the hands
of the trustees, makes the sum of

about nineteen thousand dollars.

This gentleman also is engaged in

making some improvements in the

buildings and grounds around the

academy, which, when completed,
will render the place highly attractive.

The present jireceptor is Rev. James
Means.

Groton lies thirty-two miles north-

west from Boston, fourteen west by
south from Lowell, and sixteen north-

west from Concord. It is three and a
lialf miles north from the depot of

the Fiichburg railroad, which passes

through the south part of the town.

The railroad from Nashua, New
Hain]).->hirf; to Worcester, will pass

through the centre of the town.

The local beauty of this town, the

ease with which it is approached from

the city, and the facilities which it

afi'ords for the education of youth,
induce many wealthy families to

make it their residence.

HADI^EY.

Hampshire Co. This is a very
pleasant town, on the east bank of

Connecticut river, and united to North-

ampton by a handsome bridge, one
thousand and eighty feet in length.
The village, or business part of the

town, is situated on a peninsula (brin-

ed by a bend of the river. It lias a
wide street of about a mile in length,
well built, and shaded by bcautitul

elms. The distances from Iladley
are much the same as from North-

ampton, except the centres of the

towns are about three miles apart.

Hadley contains extensive tracts of

the finest land in the state. Its mea-

dows, which are annually overflowed

by the river, are very fertile, and ex-

ceedingly productive. Vast quanti-
ties of broom-corn are annually raised

in this town
;

the value of brooms
manufactured in one year, was ninety
thousand dollars. There are many
other articles manufactured, and two
small streams aflbrd the town some

water-power.
The first minister in Hadley was

the Rev. John Russell, who settled in

W59, soon after its first settlement.

Its Indian name wa.s Norirnttock.

Hadley was a retreat for the cele-

brated Goll'e and W^halley. two of the

judges who condemned Charles 1st,

for execution. They had both been
officers in CromwelTs army, and both
were greatly esteemed for their piety
and worth. They escaped from Eng-
land, and arrived at Boston in 16C0.

Whallev died at Hadlev, after a tarrv
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of fifteen years. Goffe died some

years after, and was buried at New
Haven.

Stiles, in his History of the Judges,
relates the following story :

—
" While at Boston, there appeared

a fencing-master, who, on a stage
erected for the purpose, walked it for

several days, challenging and defying

any one to play with him at swords
,

at length, one of the judges, disguised
in a rustic dress, holding in one hand
a cheese, wrapped in a napkin, for a

shield, with a broomstick, M'hose mop
he had besmeared with dirty puddle
water as he passed along—thus equip-

ped, he mounted the stage. The

fencing-master railed at him for his

impudence, asked him what business

he had there, and bid him begone.
The judge stood his ground, upon
which the gladiator made a pass at

him with his sword, to drive him off—a rencounter ensued—the judge re-

ceived the sword into the cheese, and
held it until he drew the mop of the

broom gently over his mouth, and

gave the gentleman a pair of whis-

kers. He made another pass, and

plunging his sword a second time, it

was caught and held in the cheese,
whilst the mop was drawn gently
over his eyes. At a third lunge, it

was again caught, and held in the

cheese, until the judge had rubbed
the broom all over his face. Upon
this, the gentleman let fall his small

sword, and took up the broad sword.

The judge then said,
'

S'op, sir
;
hith-

erto, you see, I have only ])layed with

you, and not attempted to harm you ;

but if you come at me now with the

broad-sword, know that I will cer-

tainly take your life.' The firmness

with which he spoke, struck the mas-

ter, who, desisting, exclaimed, 'Who
can you be ? You must be either

Gofle, Whalley, or the devil
;
for there

was no other man in England that

could beat me.' "

HALIFAX.

Plymouth Co. Halifax was for-

merly part of Plympton, IMiddlebo-

rough, and Pembroke. Its Indian
name was Monponsit. The first min-
ister was the Rev. John Cotton, in

1735. He died in Plymouth, his na-

tive town, in 1789. He published a

history of Plymouth church.
Two branches of Taunton river,

the Winetuxet, and another, give this

town a water-power, on which are

erected various kinds of machinery
for manufacturing purposes. Many
shoes, and other articles, are made in

this town, and considerable lumber,
such as boards, plank, shingles, masts,
(tec, are sent to market, down the

river. It is said that in early times,
vessels were built in this town, and
in seasons of freshets, floated down
the Winetuxet and Taunton, to the

ocean.

There are two villages in the town,
and several ponds, which cover about
one thousand seven hundred acres.

The Monponsit, a small part of which
lies in Hanson, is a beautiful sheet of

water, more than two miles long, and
half a mile wide. Pickerel have been
taken from this pond, weighing more
than seven pounds each.

The Old Colony railroad passes
through the town, twenty-eight miles

south south-east from Boston, and
nine miles north-west from Plymouth.

HAMILTOIV.

Essex Co. This was formerly a

part of Ipswich, and called Ipswich
Hamlet. Ipswich river passes its

western and northern borders, and
Miles' river, running north, passes
into it. The town was named in

honor of Alexander Hamilton, who
died July 11, 1804, aged forty-seven.
The people of this town are mostly

agriculturalists ;
and they cultivate

an excellent soil, with a pleasant sur-

face, with much judgment.
Hamilton lies, by the eastern rail-

road, twenty miles north by east from

Boston, and fourteen south from New-
buryport.
The first minister in this place was

the Rev. Samuel Wigglesworth, in

1714. The second, the Rev. Ma-
uasseh Cutler, m 1771. The third,
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the llev. Jcisepli B. Felt, installed in

1S24, and resigned in 1833. Mr.
Felt is a highly respected historian

and antiquarian. From his history
ol' this town, we extract the I'oUow-

ing:—

"There are four families in this

town called bleeders; three of ihem
are immediately and the other medi-

ately related. The number of indi-

viduals so denominated are five.

They are thus named from an unu-
sual- propensity in their arteries and
veins to bleed profusely, even from

slight wounds. A cut or other hurt

upon them assumes at first the com-
mon appearance ;

but after a week
or fortnight the injured part begins
and conimues, for several days, to

send forth almost a steady stream of

blood, until this disappears, and it

becomes nearly as colorless as water.

A portion of the coagulated blood

forms a cone, large or small, accord-

ing to the wound. The bleeding cea-

ses when llie cone, which has a mi-

nute aperture, and is very fetid, falls

o(V. The persons thus constituted

dare not submit to the operation of

the lancet. They often bleed abun-

dantly at the nose, and are subject to

severe and premature rheumatism.
Some of their predecessors have come
to their end by wounds which are not

considered by any means dangerous
for people in general. This hemor-

rhage first appeared in the Appleton
family, who brought it with ihem from

England. None but males are bleed-

ers, whose immediate children are not

so, and whose daughters only have
sons thus disposed. As to the precise

proportion of these who may resemble
their grandfathers in bleeding of this

kind, past observation furnishes no
data

;
it has been found altogether

uncertain."

HAMPDEN COUNTY.

Springfield is the shire town. This county, until 1812, was the southern

part of the county of Hampshire. It is bounded north by Hampshire county,
east by Worcester county, south by Tolland and Hartford counties, Connecti-

cut, and west by the county of Berkshire. Connecticut river passes from
north to south through the centre of the county ;

the Westfield from the west,
the Chickopee from the east, with the Quinebaugh and other rivers in different

parts of the county, afford it an immense water-power. The western railroad,
and Hampshire and Hampden canal, pass each other in this county, nearly
at right angles. With these facilities, the county of Hampden takes a high
stand among the manufacturing and agricultural districts in New England.
The value of goods made in the county as early as IS36, exceeded tliree mil-
lions of dollars.

Some parts of this county is mountainous, but the principal part of it is

rather undulating than hilly. Its highlands produce excellent food for cattle,
and its intervale lands, which abound on its rivers, particularly on the banks
of the Connecticut and Westfield, are very superior in fertility and production.
See State Tables.

COURTS IN HA:MPDEN COUNTY.

Supreme Court. Law Term. For the counties of Hampshire, Hampden,
and Franklin. At Northampton on the Monday next preceding the fourth

Tuesday in September. Nisi Piuus. At Springfield on the eighth Tuesday
next after the first Tuesday in JMarch, and on the first Tuesday in September
Common Pleas. At Springfield on the second Monday in February, sec-

ond Monday in June, and second Monday in August. Two additional terms
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are holden on the third Monday in May, and first Monday in December, both
for criminal business exclusively.

Meetings of the County Commissio)iers. At Springfield on the second Tues-

day in April, first Tuesday in October, and fourth Tuesdays in June and De-
cember.

Probate Courts. At Springfield on the first Tuesdays of January, February,
March, April, May, July, September, November, and December. At West-
field on the second Tuesdays of IMarch and December, and the first Tuesdays
of June and October. At Monson. on the second Tuesday of June, and at

Palmer, on the second Tuesday of September.

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY.

Northampton is the shire town. This ancient county, although its limits

have been greatly reduced by the production of Franklin and Hampden
counties, is still increasing in agricultural, commercial, and manufacturing
strength. Located in the centre of the alluvial basin of the noble Connecti-

cut, blessed with a rich and variegated soil, and great water-power, this

must ever remain one of the most independent counties in New England.
In 1836 the value of domestic manufactures amounted to almost two mil-

lions and a half of dollars, and has greatly increased since that period. Its

productions of the soil are large, and annually increasing with that spurit of

improvement in agricultural pursuits, which seems to pervade the state.

The western railroad passes the western boundary of the county, and the

Hampshire and Hampden canal extends from its centre to Long Island
Sound.

This county is bounded south by Hampden, west by Berkshire, north by
Franklin, and east by Worcester counties. See State Tables.

COURTS IN HABIPSHIRE COUNTY.

Supreme Court. Law Term. See Hampden county. Nisi Pritjs. At

Northampton, on the seventh Tuesday next after the first Tuesday in March.
Common Pleas. At Northampton on the third Monday of Febuary, the

first Monday of June, and the third Monday of October.

Meetings of the County Commissioners. At Northampton en the first Tues-

day in September, on the first Tuesday in March, and first Tuesday in De-

cember.
Probate Courts. At Northampton on the first Tuesday in each month. At

Amherst on the second Tuesdays in January, April, and August. At Bel-

chertown on the second Tuesdays in Februarj"^, May, and October. At Ches-

terfield on the third Tuesdays of Blay and October.

HANCOCK.

Berkshire Co. All those who have
travelled the old road between Boston
and Albany, must well know that

Hancock is a mountainous town. It

is sixteen miles in length, and about

two in breadth
;
and from some parts

of it the mountains are so abrupt that

the inhabitants, in passing from one end
of it to the other, are obliged to travel

out of the town, and even through a

part of the slate of New York.

Although the surface of the tow.,
in many parts of it, is too rough for

cultivation, yet there is much good
grazing on ,he sides of the mountains.

In one year, five thousand four hun
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dred and forty-five fleeces of wool,
sheared in this town, sold for eleven

thousand five hiiiulrcd and furty-four
dollars.

There is a narrow valley in Han-
cock, about seven miles in length, of

great fertility and beauty. Here are

some of the best farms in the county ;

and here are seated in a delightful

village, a family of more than two
hundred Shakers. They own about
two thousand acres of land. They
make all sorts of wares as neat as

wax, cultivate all the varieties of the

garden and field in the greatest profu-

sion, and live, one would think from

th^r appearance, as happily as mar-
ried folks. How they can think of

living in the way they do, all their

days, is a great mystery to many of
their friends over the mountains.
The circular stone barn in the Sha-

ker village, is worthy of notice :—
" It is two hundred and seventy feet

in compass, with walls laid in lime,

rising twenty-one feet above the un-

derpiniiing, and from three and a half
to two and a half feet in thickness.

The mast and rafters are fifty-three
feet in length, and united together at

the top. On the lower floor, immedi-

ately within the walls, are stables

eight feet higli, occupying twelve feet

in length, with the manger, which is

inwards, and into which convenient

places are left for throwing hay and
feed from above. In these stables,
which open to and from several yards,
a span of horses and fifty-two horned
cattle may be stabled. The covering
of the stables forms the barn-floor, on
to which from an offset there is but
one large doorway for teams, which
make the circuit of the floor, and pass
out at the same place. Eight or ten
can occupy the floor at the same
time

;
and the hay is thrown into the

large area in the centre. For simply
laying the stone of this building, the
masons were paid five hundred dol-

lars and boarded."
The centre village in Hancock lies

about ten miles north-west from Pitts-

field, and from thence to Boston is one
hundred and fifiy-one miles, by the

railroad. " Shaker village
"

lies about

three miles west from Pi'tsfiold, and
five miles east from New Lebanon
Springs.

We need not go out of Ma.ssachu-
setts to find enchanting scenery ;

but
as we are so near the lovelj' valley of
New Lebanon, its tepid springs, and
a larger family of our friends, the

Shakers, than we have left, we must
be permitted to cross the line a mo-
ment, "just to take a look.''

NeiD Lebanon, New York, is in the

county of Columbia, and situated in a

delightful valley, surrounded by culti-

vated hills, which present scenery
greatly variegated and peculiarly
pleasing.

This is a great resort for visitors

from all directions
;
some to enjoy the

romantic scenery with which this re-

gion abounds, and others the benign
influence of the waters. The public
resorts are well located, and afford

excellent accommodations.
New Lebanon is one hundred and

thirty-four miles west from Boston,
twenty-four east from Albany, twenty-
five north-east from Hudson, seven
w^st from Pittsfield, twenty-three
south by west from Wdliam'stown,
one hundred and fifty-six north by
east from New York, and sixty-eight
north-west by west from Hartford,
Connecticut. To Boston, by the rail-

road, from Pittsfield, is one hundred
and fifty-eight miles.

A community of Shakers, of be-

tween five and six hundred, own
about three thousand acres of excel-

lent land in this to\^^^ship, which is

highly improved by this industrious,

hospitable, and curious people. Their

village is about two miles south-east

of the springs.
The springs are on the side of a

hill, and are so abundant as to supply
a small water-power. The waters are

tasteless, pure as crystal, and appear
to differ in no respect from other pure
mountain waters, excejit in tempera-
ture, which is always at 72° of Fah
renheit.

The virtues of the waters of thu
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warm springs have been tested by
many persons, and found efficacious

in slvin diseases, rheumatism, scrofula,
nervous debiUty, liver complaints,

constipation, &cc., Sec.

Besides the plentiful supply of

warm water at this place, there are

continually gushing out from the sides

of the mountains, numerous rills, as

clear as crystal, and almost as cold

as ice.

An establishment for the "Water
Cure," has recently been opened at

this place, and if the waters of either

cold or warm springs can cure any
of "the ills which flesh is heir to,"

surely this delightful spot seems de-

signed by nature for all classes of

suti'erers to go and be healed.

Doctor Wesselhoeft, well known in

Boston and New York, for his sci-

ence and worth, has an hospital at

Brattleborough, Vermont, for the
" Water Cure." In a letter to the

editor of the New York Tribune, he

makes an interesting statement in

regard to it
;

from which we copy
his account of its origin, and his mode
of treatment, for the benefit of whom
it may concern.

" The use of water as a remedy for

diseases has been known to all na-

tions, in all times, and has been ap-

plied in a great many instances. I

believe, however, that it has been re-

served to our century considerably to

enlarge its use, and to show what
was the origin of that medical science

which has become so complicated in

these days.
" This most simple and effectual

method of healing was not invented

by learned men, interpreting and de-

veloping the traditions of their ances-

tors. It is to an unlearned peasant,
led only by his observation of nature,
that the human race is indebted for

its discovery. Vincent Priessnitz,

living in Graefenberg, a small place
si'uated on a high ridge of Seudetes
mi)un tains, remote from the aids which
medical art affords, himself undertook
to obviate the diseases by which he
or his family were attacked. En-
couraged by success, he then tried to

cure persons ill with the gout, a dis-

ease endemic in these regions, after

they had been long under constant
medical treatment without receiving
any benefit. In these cases, also, he
was successful. His observations

multiplied and enlarged; his views
and his judgment gained certainty.
The fame of his cures spread, and
his growing ability drew to him pa-
tients, not only from the country
round about, but from all parts of

Europe. Nearly all returned home,
either cured or benefitted beyond their

expectations. But now began long
sufferings for him before he attained

his highest triumphs. He became
the mark of contempt, envy, and cal-

umny to the regular physicians. He,
however, went straight forward. Na-
ture alone was his guide, and, after a
few years, he saw many learned phy-
sicians collecting round him to study
his method. Since, many institutions

have been established upon the plan
of his, and the treatment by fresh

water has attained a high reputation

throughout Germany and Europe. A
society of physicians has been formed
in Germany, who have cultivated now
for five years this method, communi-
cating to one another and to the pub-
lic the results of their observations
and experiences.

" As I have said, it is on quite a high
ridge of mountains that Priessnitz

made his first experiments, and it is

in the same spot that crowds of pa-
tients come still to find him. He re-

ceives them in the deep shades of the

woods, and undertakes to cure them
by no other means than by pure
mountain air, by the pure water

springing from the rocks, and by his

miraculous genius, which knows how
to apply this apparently simple treat-

ment to the various diseases and indi-

vidualities in the way suitable to each.
"

It would, however, be a vain at-

tempt m any one to study the rules

of his proceedings from his oral com-
munications. However clear and
firm his opinions may be for himself,
he does not know how to explain
them, and never tries to answer inqui-
ries. But if 3'ou observe him closely,

you may find them out by his acts,
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and short and striking maxims which
he utters occasionally. You will also

fmd how strictly he observes the laws
ot" physics and physiology, sciences
which he scarcely knows by name.
"I will now describe more m detail

the manner of occupying the patient
in such an establishment, and vnW, in

this way, give an outline of the treat-

ment. I call it an outline only, be-

cause it may be varied in so many
ways, according to the constitution or

diseases of different individuals. Only
those who have seen it can have an
idea of the niceties of application as

to the water and temperature. It is

distinguished, generally, by excluding
all sorts of medicines, by its peculiar
method of producing perspiration, and

by the crises, which are brought on by
the effects of cold water, and end, in

a great many cases, the sufferings of
the patient.

" The patient is waked about four

o'clock in the morning, and wrapped
in thick woollen blankets, almost her-

metically ; only the face and some-
times the whole head remain free

;

all other contact of the body with the

air being carefully prevented. Soon
the vital warmth streams out from
the patient, and collects round him
more or less, according to his own
constitution and the state of the at-

mosphere. After a while he begins
to perspire, and he must continue to

perspire till his covering itself becomes
wet. During this time, his head mav
be covered with cold compresses, and
he may drink as much fresh water as

he likes. Windows and doors are

opened in order to promote the flow
of perspiration, by the entrance of

fresh vital air. As soon is the at-

tendant observes that there has been

perspiration enough, he dips the pa-
tient into a cold bath, which is ready
in the neighborhood of the bed. No
doubt, the first sensation of this bath
would be disagreeable, if the skin of

the patient were not in a high glow,
so as to make him desirous of cooling.
As soon as the first shock is over, he
feels a sense of comfort, and the sur-

face of the water become* covered
with clammy matter, which perspira-

15
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tion has driven out from him. The

I
pores, which have been opened by
the j)rocess of perspiration, suck up

I the moisture with avidity, and, accord-

I ing to all observations, this is the mo-
! ment when the wholesome change of

matter takes place, by which the

whole system gradually becomes pu-
rified. In no case has this sudden

change of temperature proved to be

injurious. There is no previous ex-

citement by irritating diaphoretics,
and the lungs are not heated by im-

bibing a glowing air, as is the case in

steam-baths
;
the skin alone is heated

to a certain degree.
" After leaving the bath, wiping and

dressing, the patient, if his disorder

allows it, takes a short walk, or exer-

cises in some way, during which he
drinks several tumblers of water. He
must, however, carefully avoid any
excess in drinking, which occasions a

disagreeable aggravation of the stom-
ach. Habit produces miracles in this

respect. Persons, who, in the begin-

ning, had a great dread of water, learn

to drink from twenty to thirty tum-
blers a day. After the first walk fol-

lows the breakfast. None but cold

footl is allowed
; milk, bread, and, in

some cases, fruit. Experience has

proved that hot food in the morning
debilitates the stomach. Persons who
have a repugnance to milk, at first

may drink water only, but they will

soon learn to drink milk
;
and this is

commonly the first degree in recover-

ing the healthy state of the digestive
functions. After breakfast, each pa-
tient who is able to walk, takes a

longer exercise, and after it, goes to

the douche bath, waiting before he lets

the cold stream upon him only while
the lungs are panting. Patients who
have by nature, a cold, dry, and rough
skin, will render it more liable to per-

spirations by cold washings. Those
who suffer from local diseases, try to

.soothe them by local compresses,
more or less wet. If there are obsti-

nate chronic ailments on the outside

organs, they expose them to the cold

water in the form of rain, or of mist, or

of a thick .'Stream falling from a con-

siderable height upon the body. One
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effect of the latter applications is espe-

cially worthy of remark. An anthri-

tic pat'ent, for example, who exposes
his hands, feet, or swollen joints, to a

stream of water coming from a con-

siderable height, experiences, after

some time, the following symptoms :

a vivid redness upon the skin, and an

insupportable itching, while the swel-

ling begins to lessen, sometimes from
suction of the skin, more frequently

by local ulceration, and the issuing of

matter.
" To all patients it must be recom-

mended to exercise as much as possi-
ble in the open air, and to drink as

much water as they can without feel-

ing irritated. Dinner will be ready at

"one o'clock. Scarcely anywhere will

be found such an appetite as at the

dinner-table of a waier establishment.

Even persons suffering from the most

painful chronic diseases, whose diges-
tion is, besides, impaired by the great
number and quantity of medicines

they have taken, find the functions

soon restored to their natural vital

power. The food given to the patient
must be simple, but sufficient in quan-
tity ;

too coarse food for disordered

stomachs ought to be avoided. Every
patient eats according to his appetite
and needs, although there are restric-

tions to be made in case of great
weakness of the digestive organs.
The physician must be careful to

regulate the diet of such patients.
" If the weakness and debility of the

patient are not too great, and if it is

not repugnant to the commencing
critical excretions, the proceedings of

the morning are repeated in the after-

noon, two hours after dinner, except
that douche baths should be avoided

then, because they are too exciting.
Most of the patients finish their day's

work, after a light supper of bread
and milk, between six and seven

o'clock, with a foot-bath, and all go
soon to rest."

HAiVOVER.

PLYMorxH Co. The North river

separates 'his town from Pembroke,
it a goodon the south, and affords

water-power, and a sutficient channel
to float to Scituate harbor many of
the best merchant ships now built

which sail on the ocean.
The surface of the town is quite

level, with gentle swells, affording
white oak and pine timber. The soil

is diluvial, and with good manage-
ment is made quite productive.
The manufactures of the town con

sist of anchors, ploughs, saddle-trees,

stoves, and other castings, nails, tacks,

boots, shoes, &c. The anchors of our
favorite ship,

" Old Iron Sides," were
made in this place.
A congregational church was gath-

ered in this town, December 5, 1728,
and the Rev. Benjamin Bass wa^ or

dained the same month and year.
" Hanover Four Corners," a hand

some village, on the banks of the

river, and on the stage-road to Ply
mouth, is quite a business place, and
lies twenty-two miles south-east from

Boston, and fourteen north-west from

Plymouth. From this village to South

Abington parish is four miles, and
from thence to Boston, by the Old

Colony railroad, is twenty miles.

HANSOX.

Plymouth Co. Hanson was taken
from Pembroke in 1820. There are

several large and handsome ponds in

the town, and several small streams,
which give it some water-power.
Part of Monponset pond lies in Han-
son, from which, and other ponds in

the town, a variety of fish are taken.

In these ponds are large beds of bog
iron ore.

The manufactures of the town con-

sist of ship's anchors and knees, nails,

carriage springs, iron-castings, lea-

ther, shoes, &c.
The first minister here was the

Rev. Gad Hitchcock, D. D., who was
ordained in 174B

;
he preached here

fifty-five years, and died at the age
of eighty-three years.
Hanson lies twenty-four and a quar

ter miles south-east from Boston, and
twelve and three quarter miles north-

west from Plymouth, by the Old Col-

ony railroad.
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HARDWICK.

Worcester Co. Alihough the lace

n;" this town is rougli, it hns no very
high lands, and its soil is deep, loamy,
moist, and very fertile, yielding all

sorts of agricultural products in great
abundance.

This is one of the best grazing town-

ships in the county ;
the annual sales

of butter, cheese, pork, wool, fruit,
and fat cattle, amount to a large sum.

This town was first settled in 1736,
and a church was gathered, and a

minister, the Rev. David White, set-

tled the same year. At first the town
was called Lambstumi, from the name
of one of its first proprietors. Its In-

dian name was Wombemesisecnok.

There are a number of small streams
in the town

;
Ware river washes its

east and south boundaries, and two

large ponds, one of which is called

Pottabuug, two miles in length, is well
stored with fish.

From Furnace village in Hardwick,
to the Brookfield depot, on the western

railroad, is about eight miles south
;

from thence to Boston is sixty-seven
miles. By the old road, Hardwick
lies twenty-two miles west by north
from Worcester.

HARVARD.

Worcester Co. Harvard was
taken from Stow, Lancaster, and Gro-

ton, in 1732, and received its name in

honor of the founder of Harvard Col-

lege.
The town has a warm, strong, and

fertile soil, but its surface is some-
what rocky, and broken by hills. It

is quite productive of beef, pork, but-

ter, cheese, and a variety of fruit.

The Nashua washes its western

boundary, and greatly fertilizes the

bonlering lands. The town is also
watered by a small stream called Still

river, and some jHinds.
Bare Hill pond, a fine sheet of wa-

ter, of three miles in circumference,
containing two small islands, and a
considerable water-power, lies a little

to the eastward of Still river village,

and adds much to the beauty of the
town. Hell pond, so called, from its

great depth, ninety I'ect, and Robbins'

pond, lie at the north part of the

town. These ponds contain fine

perch and pickerel, but none were
found in Hell pond, until they were

placed there; since which they have

greatly multiplied.
The manufactures of Harvard con-

sist of paper, in large quantities, lea-

ther, boots, shoes, palm -leaf hats, (Sec.

Many monumental stones are made
from a fine blue slate, found in the

town.

The Rev. John Seccomb was settled

in Harvard in 1733—Rev. Joseph
Wheeler in 1759—Rev. Daniel John-
son in 1769—Rev. Ebenezer Gros-
venor in 1782—and Rev. William
Emerson in 1792.

Still river village, in Harvard, lies

six miles west from the Littleton de-

pot, on the Fitchburg railroad, thirty-
one and a half miles from Boston,
and nineteen miles north-east from
Worcester.
A society of Shakers, or United

Brethre.v, reside in the north part of
this town, about two and a half miles

west from the Littleton depot, on the

Fitchburg railroad, thirty-one and a
half miles from Boston, seventeen
south-west from Lowell, and twenty-
four north-east from Worcester.

Their number is alK)Ut two hun-
dred. They own a tract of rugged
land, of a strong soil, two miles in

length, and a mile in breadth. They
procure their subsistence by honest

industry, prudence, and economy, in

agricultural, horticultural, and me-
chanical pursuits ; they raise for the

market fruit-trees, and fniits of vari-

ous kinds, garden-seeds, medicinal
herbs and roots, &;c., iVc. They
manufacture leather, brooms, mats,
sieves, knitting-work, rose and peach-
waters, (tec, ice. Articles of every
kind, produced by these people, are

proverbial Ij' good.
For a particular account of the reli-

gious tenets of the Shakers, or Umted
Society of Believers, see Hayward's
Book of Beligions.
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HAR\VICH.

Barnstable Co. This towa is sit-

uated upon the south side of the cape,
fourteen miles east of Barnstable

court-house, and formerly extended
across to the north shore, including
the town of Brewster, from which it

was separated in 1803. It was set-

tled by emigrants from Eastham and

Plymouth, iu 1647^.
This was a famous Indian town,

which numbered, in 1694, according to

Mather, five hundred. Their chief

place of residence was at the head of

what is now called Seymour's Pond, in

the north-west part of the town, where
the site of a meeting-house and burial-

ground may now be seen. Those In-

dians composed the Satucket tribe, and
were the first in New England to

commence hostilities against the Eng-
lish. This is termed by our historians,
the " First Encounter ;" this took

place at Namskekit, a creek now di-

viding Orleans from Brewster, in the

year 1620. From original deeds of

lands purchased of the Indians, the

chief oi' this tribe was called Tissquat-

turn, and a large tract of land in Har-
wich is now known by that name.

Harwich is most abundantly sup-

plied with pure fresh water, having
within its limits no less .than eight

ponds, of from one to six miles in cir-

cumference, besides a considerable

number of inferior ones. Long Pond,
which divides Brewster from Har-

wich, is the source of Herring river.

It is three miles long, and abounds
with fish, and is on an elevation of

ten feet above the sea. It is remark-
able that, without one exception, all

these ponds are of the greatest purity.
Harwich lies thirty miles north from

Nantucket harbor, from which island

it is separated by the "
Shoals," and

the Vineyard Sound channel. It is

thought that this town and that island

were formerly connected.

The surface of this township is

gently undulating, more level than
that of the other towns on the cape,
and is mostly covered with a mingled
growth of oak and pine wood. The
soil is generally light, and free from

rocks, excepting a few bowlders of
moderate size. AVhile it afibrds but

scanty pasturage, the poorest of the

land, with a little manuring, will pro-
duce good crops of Indian corn and

rye. It is well adapted to fruit-trees,
and thriving orchards of young trees

are numerous.
The chief business of the town is

the cod and mackerel fishery, in which
the inhabitants have been employed
from its first settlement, and which has
caused the equal distribution of wealth,
and the great uniformity in the style
of living, manner of building, &c., so

observable 'o the traveller.

Harwich contains three handsome
and thriving villages. The academy,
in the central village, is a beautiful

specimen of architecture, of the Doric
order. It was established and the

building erected in 1844.

HATFIELD.

Hampshire Co. This was formerly
a part of the town of Hadley. It lies

on the west side of Connecticut river,
five miles north from Northampton,
and will soon be accommodated with
a railroad to Springfield and Boston.

The principal village is about a mile
and a half north from Hadley.
The surface of the town is generally

level, with a soil of an excellent qual

ity, a good part of which is choice

intervale. It produces all the varie-

ties of grains, grasses, vegetables and
fruits common to the climate, in great

abundance, and is noted for its fatted

beeves, for the Boston market.

Large quantities of broom-corn are

grown in this town, and many brooms,
carriages, boots, shoes, &:c., are made.

Haydensville, situated at the south-

west part of the town, and about five

miles north-west from Northampton, is

a neat village, watered by ]\Iill river,
which passes through Northampton.
In this village is an instance ofmechan-
ical enterprise and success rarely seen

even in New England. At this place,
two brothers, by the name of Hayden,
commenced making buttons by hand,
about the year 1835, employing only
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two or three hands besides themselves.

They went on from year to year in-

creasing their manufacture of buttons,
and in 1839, they added to their busi-

ness the manufacture of steel pens ;

so that in 184-1, they emi)l()yed a cap-
ital of one hundred and sevenly-hve
thousand dollars

;
manufactured one

thousand six hundred gross of buttons,
and one hundred gross of pens a day,
and gave employment to two hundred
and seventy hands. See Williamsburg.

HAVERHILL-

Essex Co. This is a town of un-
common beauty. It is situated on
the north side of Merrimack river,
over which are two handsome bridges
leading through Bradford to Boston.
It lies at the head of navigation,
twelve miles west by south from New-
buryport, sixteen north-east from

Lowell, twenty north north-west from

Salem, and by the Boston and INIaine

railroad, which passes through the

town, tairty-two miles north from
Boston, seventeen south from Exeter,
New Hampshire, and seventy-eight
miles south south-west from Portland.
The town, built upon a gentle ac-

clivity, with the houses rising one
above the other, in just proportion, in-

terspersed with trees
;

the distant
hills in the back ground, and the

beautiful Merrimack flowing calmly
at its base, presents a picture of no

ordinary interest.

Little river and other streams give
Haverhill a fine hydraulic power, and
its enterprising citizens know well
how to apply it. In 1837, the manu-
factures consisted ofwoollen goods, lea-

ther, boots, shoes, hats, shovels, spades,
forks, hoes, chairs, cabinet-ware,
combs, ploughs, tin-ware, vessels, shoe

lasts, morocco, leather, chaises, ice,
the value of which amounted to nearly
a million and a half of dollars. Since
that period, they have doubtless kept
pace with the times, and greatly in-

creased. Some navigation is owned,
and some vessels are built in the

town, though not so many as in for-

mer years.
The iod aS( ut Haverhill is very

15*

good, and liighly cultivated. From
"Golden IIiU," and " Silver's Hdl,"
two of the most commanding emi
nences in the town, the landscape
scenery is delightful. Near the cen-
tre of the town, arc Plug, llound, and
Great ponds, and in the west parish,
Creek pond, tine sheets of water.
The two latter are particularly cele-

brated lor their beautiful scenery and
fine fish. These ponds cover an area
of seven hundred and fifty acres. At
the north part of the town, on the
brow of a hill, is a large rock, called

the "Corner Stone," located at the

corner of four towns.
The first minister in Haverhill was

the Rev. John Ward, who was settled

here in 1641, and died 1693, aged
eighty-seven. Mr. Ward was one of
the first settlers. He was born in

Haverhill, in England, and was
greatly beloved and honored. He
was the son of the celebrated wit, the
Rev. Nathaniel Ward, who was set-

tled a short time at Ipswich, and who
wrote the "

Simple Cobbler of Aga-
wam."
For more than seventy years, Ha-

verhill, the Pentucket of the Indians,
was a frontier town, and constantly
exposed to the horrors of savage w^ar-

fare.

On the 15th March, 1698, the Indi-
ans made a descent on this towm,
where they took Mrs. Hannah Dus-

ton, who was confined to her bed
with an infant only six days old, and
attended by her nurse, ilary Niff.

The Indians took Mrs. Duston from
her bed, and carried her away, w'ith

the nurse and infant. They soon

despatched the latter by dashing its

head against a tree. When they had

proceeded as far as an i-^lnnd, which
has been justly called Duston's island,
in the Merrimack, near the mouth of
the Contoocook, on their way to an
Indian town, situated a considerable
distance above, the Indians informed
the women that they must be stripped,
and run the gantlet through the vil-

lage, on their arrival.

Mrs. Duston and her nurse had
been assigned to a family, consisting
of two stout men, three women, and
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seven children, or young Indians, be-

sides an English boy, who had been
taken from Worcester.

Mrs. Duston, aware of the cruel-

ties that awaited her, formed the de-

sign of exterminating the whole fam-

ily, and prevailed upon the nurse and
the boy to a.ssist her in their destruv.-

tion. A little before day, finding the

whole company in a sound sleep, she
awoke her confederates, and with the

Indian hatchets, despatched ten of the

twelve. One of the women, whom they
thought they had killed, made her

escape, and a favorite bo)' they de-

signedly left.

Mrs. Duston and her companions
arrived safe home, with the scalps,

though their danger from the enemy,
and from famine, in travelling so far,

must hav^e been great. The general
court of Massachusetts made her a

grant of fifty pounds, and she received

many other valuable presents.

HAWL.EY.

Franklin Co. This town lies on
the Green mountain range, and is the

source of some of the head waters of

Deerlield river. The surface of the

town is rough, but the soil is good,
and productive of grain, but is more

particularly adapted to the grazing of

cattle. Considerable wool is sheared
in the town, and some fat cattle are

sent to market.
There is good iron ore in the town,

and on its streams are some manufac-
tures of iron. Some leather is tanned

here, and many articles manufactured
for domestic use.

The first minister in the town of

the congregational order was the Rev.
Jonathan Grout, in 1793.

Hawley is situated fourteen miles

west by south from Greenfield, and
one hundred and four miles west by
north from Boston.

HEATH.

Frankltn Co. Heath is a moun-
tainous township, on the north line of

the county and state, and through

which some of the head waters of the

west branch of Deerfield river flow.

There is considerable wool sheared
in this town, and many articles for

domestic use are manufactured.
Heath lies thirteen miles north-west

by west from Greenfield, and one
hundred and three north-west by west
from Boston.

HINGHAM.

Plymouth Co. Hingham is a

pleasant town, on Boston harbor, and
an agreeable place of resort for citi-

zens and strangers. It lies twelve
miles south-east from Boston, by wa-
ter, and fourteen by land. The vil-

lage of Hingham Cove is five miles
south-west from Nantasket Beach,
the same distance from Cohasset vil-

lage, and twenty-six miles north north-

west from Plymouth. It was first

settled in 1633, and named for a town
in England.
The first parish in this town has

had but five pastors, the two last of
whom are living. The pastoral office

has been vacant but a little more
than two years from 1635 to 1845,
two hundred and ten years ! The
first minister, Rev. Peter Hobart, was

pastor nearly forty-four years ;
the

second, Rev. John Norton, nearly
thirty-eight years ;

the third, the cele-

brated Dr. Ebenezer Gay, sixty-eight

j'ears nine months and a few days ;

the fourth. Rev. Dr. Henry Ware,
from 1787, till his appointment to the

Hollis professorship, at Cambridge, in

1805. His successor. Rev. Joseph
Richardson, was ordained July 2,
1806. The meeting-house of this

parish was erected in 1681-2, and is

still in good condition.

Major General Benjamin Lincoln
was born in this town, January 24,

1732-3, and died May 8, 1810.

Among other distinguished natives of

this town, were Rev. Noah Hobart.
of Connecticut, an able theologian,
born January 2, 1705, died December

6, 1773. Dr. Ezekiel Hersey, an emi-

nent physician, and founder of a pro-

fessorship at Cambridge, born Sep
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tember 21, 1709, died December 9,

1770. Lieiilenaiit-Goveiiiur Levi Lin-

coln, formerly aUoniej--geuer;il of I lie

United Slates, born May 5, 1719, died

at Worcester, April 11, 1820. Rev.
Dr. Henry Ware, jr., &:c., 6cc.

This town is remarkable for the

health and longevity of its inhabitants.

During fifty years, eigiit persons died

in one house, whose average age was

eighty-four years.
About sixty sail of vessels belong to

this place, which are engaged in the

mackerel fishery and coasting trade
;

aggregate tonnage about four thou-

sand tons.

There are two iron founderies, some

ship-building, a steam bucket factory,
a large upholstery establishment, and
the' town has always been noted for

its large quantities of wooden ware.

The amount of manufactures of

Hingham, for the year ending April

1, 1837, was two hundred and thirty-
seven thousand seventy-eight dollars.

They consisted of leather, boots, shoes,

iron-castings, hats, ploughs, cabinet,

tin, and wooden wares, silk, salt, ves-

sels, umbrellas, sjiars and blocks, cor-

dage, carriages, hammers, and hatch-

ets. The product of the cod and
mackerel fishery, the same year, was
one hundred and thirteen thousand
seven hundred dollars. Total amount
of the fishery and manufactures, three

hundred and fifty thousand seven
hundred and seventy-eight dollars.

One newspaper is published weekly,
called the "

Hingliam Patriot ;" there

are also a bank, an insurance com-

pany, and an institution for savings.
The public schools are excellent

;

and there is a well-endowed academy,
named for its founder, Derby Ac.\d-

E.MY, in which tuition is free.

An elegant steam-packet plies be-

tween Hingham and Boston, lor nine

months of the year, making three

daily trips in the summer months.
The passage among the islands be-

tween Boston and Hingham, is truly

delightful.
The scenery in the northerly part of

the town is beautiful. Turkey, Ba-

ker's, Otis', Pleasant, ami Squirrel
hills present extensive and delightful

views of the bay and surrounding
country.
The Old Colony House is delight-

fully located on high ground, within

five minutes' walk of the steamboat

landing. It commands some of the

richest scenery in Massachusetts Bay.
It is much visited in summer, and is

a fashionable resort at all seasons of

the year. The establishment is owned
and kept by IMr. Bryant, well known
in Boston as an accomplished land-

lord.

HIXSDALE.

BERKsmKE Co. This town lies on
the west side of the Green mountain

range, and by the western railroad,
which passes through the town, is one
hundred and forty-three miles west
from Boston, eight east by south from

Pittsfield, and fifty-seven east from

Albany.
The town is watered by a branch

of Housatonic river, which rises in its

south-west corner, partly in Washing-
ton, and runs north-westerly, forming
in its way several valuable sites for

mills. On the banks of this stream
and its tributaries, is much meadow
land, of an excellent quality.

There are some manufactures in

this town, but chiefly for domestic uses.

Agriculture is the principal employ-
ment of the people. Bluch w-ool of a
fine quality is produced here. Eleven
thousand ami twenty fleeces of wool,
sheared in this town in one year, sold

for nineteen thousand two hundred
and sixty-six dollars.

In common with other mountain-
ous towns in this and other parts of

New England, the face of this town-

ship is more pleasing to the lover of

fine mountain scenery, exhilarating

breezes, and crystal Ibuntains, than to

the farmer in quest of tbrtune on dis-

tant prairies. But when it is consid-

ered that the valleys between the

mountains and hills in New England,
are always fertile, and often exten-

sive, and when the agricultural re-

sources of these sections of country
are more fully developed, and the

vr\lqc of surplus .articles of priKluce is
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compared with the value of the same

productions at a distance of from one to

two thousand miles from a market, it is

thought by some that there will be less

complaint against the rugged features

of some parts of New England.
This town was formerly a part of

old Partridgefield, now Peru, and was
first settled about the year 1762. It

was named for the worthy and Rev.
Theodore Hinsdale, who came here

and gathered a church in 1795.

HOIiDEX.

WoRCESTEr. Co. This town was
formerly a part of Worcester, and was
called North Worcester until 1740.

It received its present name in com-

pUment to the Hon. Samuel Holden,
a director of the Bank of England,
who, with his amiable wife and daugh-
ters, had been generous benefactors to

the literary and religious institutions

of the state. It lies north north-west
from Worcester six miles, and, by the

way of Worcester, fifty miles from
Boston.
The surface of this town is some-

what broken by hills, some of which
are steep and cragged, while others

are very pleasant. The soil in gene-
ral is very good, producing a variety
of hard wood, and some pine. Here
are found all the varieties of grains
and grasses common to this part of

the country, with an abundance of
fruit.

There are several beautiful ponds
in the town, some of which are the

sources of Quinepoxet river, which

passes into Still river, and which,
imited, form the south branch of the

Nashua. These waters, with branches
of the Blackstone, give the town a

good hydraulic power. There are a
number of large manufacturing estab-

lishments in the town. As early as

1836, the value of cotton and woollen

goods, leather, boots, shoes, &c.,
amounted to more than two hundred
thousand dollars.

The first church in this place was
gathered, and the Rev. Joseph Davis

prdaiaed, in 1742.

HOLLAND.

Hampden Co. This is a smaJ,
mountainous, well-watered town, at

the south-east corner of the county,

formerly a part of Brimfield, twenty-
three miles east by south from Spring-
field, and about seventy miles south-

west by west from Boston.

The Quinebaug river passes nearly
through the centre of the town, and
receives the waters of Mill and Ste-

vens' brooks. Gould and Holland

ponds are handsome sheets of water,
and add much to the highland scenery
of the town.
The soil of the town is strong, but

with the exception of some intervale

on the water courses, is more fit for

grazing than the plough.
The first congregational minister in

Holland was the Rev. Ezra Reeve,
who was settled here in 1765.

HOLLISTON.

Middlesex Co. This town lies

twenty miles south from Concord,
and twenty-three miles south-west by
south Irom Boston. From the centre

village in the town, to the Worcester
railroad in Framingham, is five miles
north by west.

The surface of the town is plea-

santly diversified, and the soil is good,
and well cultivated. A number of
small streams give the town some
water-power, and Winthrop's pond,
some pleasant' scenery.

There are in the town manufac-
tures of cotton and woollen goods,
leather, boots, shoes, chairs, cabinet-

ware, combs, books, straw bonnets,
ploughs, clothing, wagons, harnesses,
cVc. The value of boots and shoes
made here in one year was about two
hundred and fifty thousand dollars.

This town was formerly the western

parish of Sherburne. It was first set-

tled in 1710, and named, at its incor-

poration, in 1724, for Thomas Hollis, of

Loudon, a patron of Harvard College.
In 1753, a. fatal disease prevailed in

this town. At that time its popula
tion was not more than four hundred,
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" The patients were violently seized

with a piercing pnin in the breast or

side
;

to be seized with a pain in the

head was not common
;

the lever

high. The greater part of those that

died were rational to the last
; they

lived three, four, five, and six days
after they were taken. In some in-

stances, it appears, they strangled, by
not being able to expectorate ;

some
in this case, who were thought to be

in their last moments, were recovered

by administering oil. In about six

weeks fifty-three persons died, forty-

one of whom died within twenty-two

days."

HOPKIXTON.
Middlesex Co. This town was first

settled about 1710, and named in

honor of Edward Hopkins, a donor to

the funds of Harvard University. Its

Indian name was Ma^uncook.
The soil of the town is very good,

and the surface variegated and ele-

vated. Branches of the Charles, the

Concord, and tlie Blackstoiie, rise in

this town, and although their streams

here are not large, they afford the

town a good water-power.
The value of the manufactures at

this place of cotton goods, shoes, boots,

bonnets, ploughs, &c., in 1836, was
about two hundred and thirty thousand
dollars. Since that time the manufac-
ture has greatly increased.

The mineral springs in this town
have become celebrated. They con-

tain carbonic acid, and carbonate of

lime and iron. Tiiere are three in

number, each differing in its jirojier-

ties from the other. They are situated

near White Hall pond, which aliounds

in fine fish of various kinds. From
this pond, the branch of the Concord

rises, on which are most of the factories.

The Boston and Worcester railroad

pas.ses within three and a half miles of

the springs, at Westborough, and they
are seven miles from the Blaekstone

canal, at Northbridge.

Hopkinton lies thirty miles west
south-west from Boston, fourteen east

by south from Worcester, and thirty
north by west from Providence. Rhode
Island.

There is a large and convenient

holel at the springs, at wliidi visitors

lor health or ])leasurc are kindly en-

tertained. A trip to Hopkinton springs
is both pleasant and fashionable.

The first church in Hopkinton was

gathered, and the Rev. Samuel Bar-

rett ordained, in 1724. In 1772, the

Rev. Elijah Fitch was settled col-

league pastor with ^Ir. Barrett. The
Rev. Nathaniel Howe was settled in

1791. I\lr. Howe was settled on a
small salary, but his people, though
often requested, would neither raise it

nor dismiss him. From a century
sermon preached by Mr. Howe in

1815, and published, we extract the

following passage :—
'•'

]My brethren, may I isk a ques-
tion, a plain, simple ques.ion i How
shall I obtain your consent ? Shall I

take silence for consent ? Your coun-

tenances discover a willingness.
" The question is this : do you

know by what means I have become
so rich as to have a great house, fin-

ished and furnished
;
a farm, a herd

of cattle, a flock of sheep, horses, and

money at interest? I say nothing
about my debts to-day.

" Shall I answ-er the question ? The

principal reason is this
;

because I

have been doing your business, and

neglecting viij oivn. What is your
business? Your business is to sup-

port your minister
;
and that is what

I have been doing for more than

twenty years. And what is my busi-

ness? My business is to study and

preach ;
and in this I have never

abounded. It is true, I have been
absent from public worship not more
than four or five Sabbaths, for twenty-
five years ;

but I have frequently
been present, and attempted to preach,
when it has been mortifying to me,
and could not have been edifying to

you. I have sometimes administered

reproof, both to the church and the

society, in a munner that has been

thought to discover some degree of

severity ;
but in these cases you have

always had good sense enough to

know you richly deserved it."



17S GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS.

HUBBARDSTON.

Worcester Co. Formerly a part
of Eutland; named for Thomas
Hubbard, of Boston, a principal pro-

prietor.
Hubbardston is pleasantly situated

on the height of ground between Con-
necticut river and the sea, and about

one thousand feet above them. The
surface of the town is varied by hills

and valleys, commanding wide and
beautiful prospects.

There is probably no town in New
England, so elevated as Hubbardston,
which possesses so great a water-

power. There are springs, brooks,
and rivers, in almost every direction.

Meadow and Canneystone brooks, and
Burnshirt river, tributaries of Ware
river, which rise in, and pass through
the town, and Otter river, a branch
of the Miller, are good mill-streams.

Manufacturing operations have com-
menced here, and no doubt will great-

ly increase. Some copperas is made
here, and some leather, boots, shoes,

chairs, cabinet-ware, palm-leaf hats,

wooden-ware, &c. There is some
choice meadow land in the town,
and the soil is generally good, and

successfully cultivated.

About a mile and a half south-east

from the handsome village, near the

centre of the town, lies Great Asna-
concomick pond, covering about three

hundred acres. About a mile north-

east from this, is Moose Horn pond,
of smaller size than the other, and
circular in form, and " around which
there is every appearance that once

there was a stone wall built, or build-

ing. In some places the wall is two
feet and a half in height, as if laid up
by the hands of men

;
and where

there is not one stone upon another,
the appearance is as of a large stone

wall thrown down."
The Rev. Nehemiah Parker, the

first mmister in the lown, was settled,

and a church organic ed, in 1770.

Hubbardston lies twenty miles

north north-west from Worcester,
thirteen south-west from Fitchburg,
and fifty-two miles west by north
from Boston, by the old road.

HULL.

Plymouth Co. This town com-

prises the peninsula of Nantasket,
which forms the south-east side of

Boston harbor. It extends north by
west from Cohasset nearly five miles,
and is celebrated for its beautiful

beach, four miles in length, and for

its shell-fish and sea-fowl.

The town lies between two hills of

fine land, near Point Alderton, oppo-
site Boston light-house. It is nine

miles east south-cast from Boston, by
water, and twenty-one by land, rin

Hingham. From the village to the

Old Colony House, in Hingham, is

six miles. On one of the hills in this

place, is a well ninety feet in depth,
which is frequently almost full of wa-
ter.

Hull is by no means "an incon-

siderable town," as some closet gazet-
teer writers tell the world. Such

people had better look into things be-

fore they talk about them.
Hull was a mart of commerce, and

the residence of eminent men six

years before Boston bore its present
name, and four years before Salem
became a town.

The first settlers of Dorchester re-

ceived the hospitalities of the good
citizens of this place, in June, 1630

;

and in grateful remembrance, every
succeeding generation pays an annual
visit to this hallowed spot.
Some say that Hull is a small place ;

true, it is not so long as the town ot

Hancock, nor so wide as Middlebo-

rough ;
but it is nearly as large as

Boston, Avith all its swellings, and

bigger than Newburyport, so wonder-

fully increased by steam.

Hull is probably the most indepen
dent republic in the world

;
it sustains

itself on its own capital, which is con-

stantly multiplying. In its selection

of rulers, it is united almost to a man
;

and few towns in the Commonwealth,
of its political importance, are more

eloquently represented on the floor of

the legislature.
The steamer, which plies between

Boston and Hingham, stops at this

place for freight and passengers.
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U'SWK II.

Essex Co. This interesting town
was bought hy John Wimhrup, jr., in

1638, of an Indian Sagamore, whose
name was Mascminomet, lor twenty
pounds. It was first settled in 1()3IJ,

and named for the town of Ipswich,
in England. Its Indian name was

Agarvam, a name applied to several

other places in the country, signifying
a fishing station.

Ipswich is one of the shire towns
of the county, a port of entry, and a

place long noted for its enterprise in

commerce and manufactures. Ips-
wich river passes through the town,
and flows into a bay of the same
name. The river affords a good wa-

ter-power, and at its mouth is aa ex-

cellent harbor.

The surface of the town is plea-

santly interspersed with hills aid
vales

;
and the soil, naturally of a

good qualit}', is rendered very valua-
ble by the hand of culture.

Manufacturing operations com-
menced in this town in 1790. They
consisted of lace goods, and this busi-

ness was pursued to a great extent,
until the ladies, the arbiters of all our

fortunes, gradually declined their use,

wisely prel'erring as neat, but less ex-

pensive articles of dress. The machin-

er)' which once turned out thread and
silk laces, those non-conducers to

health and comfort, is now profitably

employed in manufacturing cotton

and other useful fabrics.

The village of Ipswich is very plea-
sant. It lies on both sides of the river,
which is crossed by a stone bridge,
with two arches, built in 1764, at a
cost of one thousand pounds. Beside

the county buildings, churches, and

seminary, there are in the village

many well-built, handsome dwelling-
houses.

The Ipswich Female Seminary was

incorporated in 1S26. The cost of
the buildings was about four thousand
dollars. It is situated in the centre

of the villaire, and no institution of
the kind in the country, can boast of

a more eligible location, or of more
iQlcUigent and devoted instructors.

A church was organized here in

1634. It has had a long succession
of worthy pastors ; among the num-
ber were four by the name of Rogers,
lineal descendants of John Rogers,
the martyr. The first settled minis-

ter was the Rev. Nathaniel Ward, in

1634. Mr. Ward resigned in 1637,
and ten years afterwards returned to

England, and wrote " the Simple Cob-
bler of Agawan," and other books.

The second pastor was the Rev. Na-
thaniel Rogers, in 1638. BIr. Rogers
was born at Haverhill, in England,
in 1598, and came to New England
in 163(), and died at Ipswich in 1655.

Ipswich lies twenty-five miles east

from Lowell, fifteen south-east by east

from Haverhill, by the old roads
;
and

by- the eastern railroad, twenty-nine
miles from Portsmouth, eighty from

Portland, nine from Newburyport,
eleven from Salem, and twenty-five
miles from Boston.

KIXGSTON.

Plymouth Co. The territory of
this town was formerly a part of Ply-

mouth, and set off, and called Jones'

River parish, in 1717. The harbor
of Kingston, in common with that of

Duxbury, lies within the Gurnet
which forms the northern boundary
of Plymouth harbor.

The business of this to\^Ti is much
connected with navigation and the

fisheries. It has a good harbor, and
a large number of merchant, fishing,
and coasting vessels are owned at,

and sail from this place. About fif-

teen thousand quintals of cod, beside

mackerel and other fish, were brought
into this place in 1844. Many ves-

sels are built here, of native white

oak, celebrated for its strength and

durability.
Jones' river, a small stream, the

outlet of several ponds, gives the town

good mill privileges. There are in the

town manufactures of cotton goods,

bar-iron, nails, axes, cutlery, anchors,
leather, shoes, palm-leaf hats, &c.
Monk's hill, near the line of Ply-

mouth, commands delightful views on

every side. The village, which is ele-
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vated, well built, and very neat, also

presents fine views of the harbor and
sea.

Kingston lies four miles and a quar-
ter north north-west I'rom Plymouth,
and thirty -three and three quarters
south-easi from Boston, by the Old

Colony railroad.

The first settled minister in this

town was the Rev. Joseph Stacy, in

1720. From a tomb-stone in the town,
we copy the following, to the memory
of Miss Lucy Little, who died in

175d, aged thirty-seven :
—

"Reader! beneath this monuinenlal pile is

laid

Wiiat oiice was beauty and a spotless maid.
Here was each virtue and each grace com-

blu'd;
Fair was her form, but fairer was her mind.
So bright in her the sex's virtues shone,

They seemed all cenler'd in this maid alone.

The harmony of life thus Itept intire.

She joined at death the fair angelic quire;
The fair angelic quire with joy confest

They ne'er had welcom'd a more charming
guest.

Led by ih' admiring throng, she takes her seat,
And half an Angel here, now shines above

compleat."

liAlVCASTER.

"Worcester Co. This town is

bounded by Lunenburgh and Leo-

minster on the north and north-west
;

by Shirley on the north-east
;
Har-

vard, Bolton, and Berlin, on the east
;

Boylston on the south, and Sterling
en the west.

This is the WeshuJdm or Nashoivay
of the Indians, and is the oldest town
in the county. It was lor many years
a frontier settlement, and greatly har-

assed by the natives. In 1676, the

town was attacked by fifteen hundred
Indians

; many were killed on both

sides
;
the town was destroyed, and a

number carried into captivity, among
whom was the celebrated Mrs. Mary
Rowlandson.

Lancaster lies on both sides of

Nashua river, and has a remarkably
fine alluvial soil, in a tiigh state of

cultivation. Perhaps theie is no in-

land town in New England that pos-
sesses more natural beauties, or that

strikes the eye of the traveller more

agreeably. The village is very beau-
tiful

;
it is neatly built on an alluvial

plain, shaded by elms, surrounded by
hills, and watered by a large and

placid stream
The north and south branches of

the Nashua meet near the centre of

the town, and produce a valuable

water-power.
There is one mill for the manufac-

ture of checks and plaids, in the town
;

annual value two hundred and fifty

thousand dollars. One cotton mill,
one woollen mill, one mill for coach

lace, one mill lor counterpanes and

webbing ;
annual value one hundred

and fifty thousand dollars.

There are also manufactures of

combs, leather, boots and shoes, forks,

palm-leaf hats, tenon machines, cop-

per pumps, piano-fortes, palm-leaf
mattres.ses, chairs, cabinet-ware,
stoves, iron-ware, and lead pipe ; an-
nual value about one hundred thou-

sand dollars.

There are likewise several excellent

water privileges in the town not yet

appropriated.

George hill, on the westerly side of

the town, comprises some good farms,
from which is obtained a good view
of the windings of the Nashua, and
of its fertile hanks. Turner's, Spec-
tacle, Fort, Sandy, and other ponds,
add much to the scenery of this de-

lightful town.
The first minister in the town was

the Eev. Joseph Rowlandson, in 1654.

Mr. Rowlandson was ordained in

1660, and preached here until his

family were taken captive by the na-

tives, in 1676.

Lancaster lies thirty-four miles
west north-west from Boston, fifteen

north north-east from Worcester,
twenty-five south-west from Lowell,
and about eight miles south from the

Fitchburg railroad depot at Shirley,

thirty-eight and an half miles from
Boston.

LANESSOROUGH.

Berkshire Co. This pleasant town
was incorporated on the 20th of June,

1765, and then included a large part



(.AZKITEKK Of i^lASSACUUSETT.S. 1^1

of the present town of Cheshire. It is

hounded by New Ashford on the

north ; by Cheshire and Dalton on the

east
; by Piltsfiekl on the south, and

by Hancock on the west. The length
of the town from north to south is si.x

miles
;
the breadth on the south is six

miles, and on the north three miles

and twenty rods.

The soil is generally of an excellent

quality, consisting principally of a

clay loam ; and the chief attention of

the inhabitants is turned towards

grazing. Little grain is raised, be-

side what is needed for home con-

sumption.
The south branch of the Hoosic

rises in the south-east corner of the

town. The west branch of the Hou-
satonic enters the town from New
Ashford, passes by the centre of the

town, and runs through the large

pond, called Lanesborough pond, into

Pittsfield. This pond is partly in the

latter town. It abounds with fish,

such as pickerel, perch, and trout, and
afibrds -it its outlet some very valua-

ble mill-sites. The principal settle-

ment.s are on a street which extends

several miles along the eastern side

of this branch of the Housatonic.
The neighboring meadows are re-

markably luxuriant and beautiful,
while the hills beyond them strike the

e3'e with great pleasure. The scenery
from various points of elevation is

picturesque and delightful.

Lanesborough lies five miles north

from Pittsfield, from which, by the

"Western railroad, is one hundred and

fifty-one miles to Boston, and forty-
nine to Albany.

LAWRENCE.

Essex Co. This town was taken

from Methuen and Andover, and in-

corporated April 12, 1847. It lies on
both sides of Merrimac river, twenty-
four miles north north-west from

Boston, and nine east from Lowell.
Lawrence was named in honor of a

family in INIassachusetts, distinguish-
ed for it.s enterprise and liberality.
The construction of a dam across

the Merrimac at this place for manu-
10

facturing purposes, commenced in

September, 1815. The dam is nine
hundred feet in length, thirty-six feet

wide at its foundation, and contains

20,000 yards of stone masonry. This
dam produces an hydraulic power of

great magnitude ;

—no less than twen-

ty-seven feet fall of that majestic
river. The canal is from sixty to one
hundred feet in width, twelve feet in

depth, and a mile in
length.

A number of large mills for vari-

ous manufactures were finished in

October, 1817, and are now in full

operation. Other manufactories are

also erecting.
In future editions of this work a

more particular account will be given
of this wonderful exhibition of human
industry and skill.

IjEE*

Berkshire Co. This town is bound-
ed on the north by Lenox

;
on the

east by Washington and Becket
;
on

the south by Tyringham and Great

Barrington ;
and on the west by Stock-

bridge. The lowlands were formerly

occupied by the Stockbridge tribe of

Indians, for the purpose of raising
corn

;
while the extensive forests

around them were devoted to hunting,
and to the manufacture of sugar from
the sap of the maple, with which the

forests abounded. The first white

man who settled in the town was Mr.
Isaac Davis, in the year 1760.

The town was named for General

Lee, of the revolutionary army.
The Green mountain range, which

rises to a moderate elevation, runs

partly within the eastern limits of the

town, presenting a ver}' picturesque

appearance. These mountains are

for the most part of gentle acclivity,
and are cultivated, in some places,

quite to their summits. From the

base of these mountains, the surface

of the earth is rather uneven, occa-

sionally rising into hills of consid-

erable height, but generally descend-

ing, until it reaches the plain upon
the banks of the Housatonic. West
of this river, the land is everywhere
undulating in its apjicaiancc. inclin-
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ing towards the south, and well situ-

ated Ibr receiving the genial rays of

the sun.

At the north-east corner of the

town, enters the Housatonic, a lively
and romantic stream, of considerable

size, and runs diagonally through it,

though in a very serpentine course,

passing out at the south-west corner,
and dividing the town into two nearly

equal parts. It receives, in its passage
through the town, the waters of Wash-

ington mountain, the waters of Scott's

pond, lying on the boundaries between
this town and Lenox, the waters of

Greenwater pond, which is within the

limits of Becket, the waters of Goose

pond, which is situated on the line

between Becket and Tyringham, and

quite on the summit of the mountain,
the waters of Hop brook, as well as

several other streams of less size.

The advantages afforded by the

Housatonic and its numerous tributa-

ries, for manufactures, are rarely sur-

passed in any place. Though the

Housatonic is a rapid river, and occa-

sionally swells itself so as to overflow

its banks, yet it seldom rises so high
as to prove destructive to the water-

works which have been constructed

upon it.

There are in the town si.xteen paper
mills, a machine shop for making
machinerj^ for paper, cotton, and
woollen mills, &c., one cotton mill,

one woollen mill, and various other

manulactures by water. The total

amount of manufactures by water in

1837, was si.x hundred and eighty
thousand dollars. Beside these, there

are manufactures of leather, hats,

boots, shoes, bar-iron, iron-castings,

axes, shovels, spades, hoes, forks,

ploughs, chairs, tin, cabinet, and

wooden-ware, carriages, chair stuff,

&c.

Increasing attention is paid to agri-

culture, and this has been especially
noticed since the establishment of ag-
ricultural societies. The land in this

town, as in all others, is of difiTerent

qualities. On each side of the Hous-

atonic, there are extensive plains of

rich alluvial land, of the best quality,

easily tilled, and very productive.

These plains vary in width, according
to the windings of the river. They
are rather narrow at the north, but
widen towards the south. The soil

of the uplands is a loam, interspersed
with gravel and stones, particularly
on the east side of the river

;
on the

west, there is more clay. Gypsum is

used to very great effect by some of
the farmers. The productions are

rye, summer wheat, Indian corn,

grass, oats, peas, beans, flax, buck-

wheat, and potatoes.
Lime-stone and white and clouded

marble are found in vai'ious parts of
the town.

This is one of the most flourishing
towns in the county or state

;
its vil-

lages are neat and handsome, and
bear the marks of well-earned pros-

perity.
Lee lies ten miles south from Pitts-

field, nine miles east by south from
the state line at West Stockbridge,
through both of which towns the west-
ern railroad passes ;

and seven miles
east by south from the village of West

Stockbridge, through which the Housa-
tonic railroad passes, in its course
from the state line to Bridgeport, on

Long Island Sound.

LEICESTER.

Worcester Co. This town was first

settled about the year 1713. It was
at fiist called Strawberry Hill. Its

Indian name was Toivtaid. The first

minister was the Rev. David Parsons,
in 1721.

This town is situated on the height
of land between the ocean and Con-
necticut river, and is famed for its

hills. These hills are of a strong and

deep soil, rather cold and wet, but
well adapted to the cultivation of all

the various grains, grasses, and fruits

common to the climate.

The most noted elevations in the
town are Strawberry, Indian, Bald,
Moose, and Carys' hills, and ]Mount
Pleasant.

The town is watered by springs,
rivulets, and several large brooks,
which take their rise in this town, and

empty into the Chicopee, the Quine-
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bang, and the Blackstono. These,
with ilic aid of several large reser-

voirs, which have been const riicled,

atl'ord valuable mill-sites. There are

five woollen factories for man u fact ur-

inp: broadcloths, within the limits of

the town, viz., three in Cherry Valley,
on Kilile brook, and two in Clapp-

ville, on French river
;

one estab-

lishment for making mouseline de

laine, also in Clappville ;
two satinet

factories, one scythe, and one wire

factory, eight saw, and six grist-mills.

Card manufacturing is a prominent
branch of the business of the place,
and has been carried on extensively

many years. ]More machine and
hand cards are made here than in

any other place in the United States,

amounting annually to something
over three hundred thousand dollars.

The cards for the first cotton ma-

chinery in America on the Arkwright

principle, were made here, by Pliny

Earle, in 1790, for the late Samuel

Slater, who at that time, in connec-

tion w'th Messrs. Almy and Brown,
of Providence, was constructing ma-

chinery to commence carding and

spinning cotton, in Pawtucket.

The village on Strawberry Hill, near

the centre of the town, is very plea-

sant, and commands delightful views

for many miles around. Here is sit-

uated an academy, founded in 1781.

This institution has considerable

funds, commodious buildings, and
has always sustained an elevated

character.

A society of Jews, of about seventy
in number, built a synagogue, and
resided here from 1777 to 1783. They
were much esteemed and respected.

Clappville, a busy, pleasant vil-

lage on the western railroad, lies four

miles south from Strawberry Hill vil-

lage, nine miles south-west from Wor-

cester, and fifty-three miles west south-

west from Boston.

LEXOX.

Berkshire Co. Shire town. This

was formerly a part of Richmond. It

was first settled in 1750. and received

the family name of the Duke of Rich-

mond. The first minister in the town
was the Rev. Samuel Monson, m
1770.

The land in the north and west

parts, is hilly, and in some parts

stony ;
in some, broken, and of little

value.

The soil is more favorable generally
to grass, than the culture of grain.
In the north-east and south-west parts,

there is some excellent grain land. In

the cast part, adjoining the Housatonic

river, there are some excellent mea-
dows. The town abounds in limestone,
and furnishes lim.e in considerable

quantities for market in other places ;

also various kinds of marble of supe-
rior qualities.

In this town iron ore is foimd in

great abundance, and the jjrincipal
manufactures are of iron and marble.

The Housatonic passes through the

town from north to south, and fur-

nishes a small water-power.
The centre of the town is very

handsome. "It is built upon a hill,

on two streets, intersecting each other

nearly at right angles. It is composed
of handsome houses, which, with the

exception of a few of brick, are painted
of a brilliant white. It is ornamented
with two neat houses for public wor-

ship, one of which is large and hand-

some, and stands upon a hill higher
than the town, and a little removed
from it. It has a court-house of brick,

in a fine style of architecture
;

it is

fronted with pillars, and furnished

with convenient offices, and a spa-
cious court-room

;
this room is car-

peted, and what is more im])ortant,
contains a library for the use of the

bar. Lenox has fine rrKiuntain air,

and is surrounded by equally fine

mountain scenery. Indeed, it is one

of the prettiest of our inland towns,
and even in the view of an European
traveller, (who had eyes to see any-
thing beautiful in what is unlike Eu-

rope,) it would appear like a gem
among the mountains."
Lenox is six miles south from Pitts-

field, twenty-seven east north-east

from Hudson, and one hundred and
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fifiy-seven miles west from Boston,

by Pittsfield and the railroad.

LEOMINSTER.

"VVoRCESTEK Co. TMs was formerly
a part of the town of Lancaster. The
tirst house in the town was built by
Gersham Haughton, in 1725. The
first minister, the Rev. John Rogers,
was ordained in 1743.

The surface of this town is rather

plain than hilly ;
the greatest eleva-

tion is Wauhnoosnook hill, in the

westerly part of the town
; this, al-

though high and steep, has many ex-

cellent farms upon it. The soil is

clayey, and generally of a good qual-

ity, particularly on the borders of its

streams.

The tOAvn is well watered in every

part, by numerous springs and rivu-

lets. The Wauhnoosnook, a branch
of the Nashua river, and the north

branch of the Nashua, produce fine

mill privileges, which are improved
for manufacturing purposes.
The manufactures of this town, for

the year ending April 1, 1837, exclu-

sive of the product of five paper mills,

was one hundred and eleven thousand

five hundred and five dollars. The
articles manufactured were leather,

boots, shoes, hats, axes, chairs, cabi-

net-ware, combs, tin-ware, straw bon-

nets, palm-leaf hats, chaises, carriages,
and harnesses. Since that period, the

business of the town has much in-

creased.

A rich alum rock has been found

in this town, which is said to be a de-

composed mica slate. Ii contains an
abundance of beautiful plumose, or

feather form alum, like that of Milo,
one of the Grecian isles, mixed with

the green crystals of copperas, or sul-

phate of iron.

The village in the centre of the

town makes a fine appearance. It

lies about a mile and an half south of

the Fitchburg railroad, which passes

through the north part of the town
;

from thence to Boston, is forty-three
miles. Worcester lies nineteen mites

south.

IjEVERETT.

Fr.^nklin Co. This was formerly
a part of Sunderland, by which it is

bounded on the west. On the north

it is bounded by Montague and Wen-
dall, on the east by Shutesbury, and
on the south by Shutesbury and Am-
herst. Its first minister was the Rev.

Henrj' Williams, in 1781.

The surface of the town is some-
what mountainous

;
the soil is strong

and well adapted for pasturage. The
town is watered by Roaring brook,
and several small streams. There
are some manufactures in the town,
but the inhabitants are principally
devoted to agricultural pursuits.

Roaring brook is a rapid stream,
on which is a cascade, and some wild

scenery, worthy of the traveller's no-

tice.

Leverett lies ten miles south-east

from Greenfield, and about eighty
west by north from Boston.

I.,EXINGT05r.

Middlesex Co. This town was for-

merly a part of Cambridge, and lies

ten miles north-west from Boston,
seven east from Concord, and fif-

teen miles south south-east from Low-
ell.

This town is watered by several

branches of the Shawshine river; the

surface is varied by hills and valleys,
and the soil, not naturally of the first

quality, is rendered productive by the

industry and skill of its proprietors.
There is considerable woodland in the

town, and extensive meadows.
Here are some manufactures, such

as boots, shoes, fur caps and capes,

mufls, and neck-ties, fur gloves, and
other articles common in a New Eng-
land town.

Lexington will ever be an mterest-

ing place, as here the first blood was
shed in the cause of American Inde-

pendence.
" A detachment of British

soldiers were sent at daylight, on the

morning of the 19th of April, 1775, to

take or destroy a quantity of military
stores collected at Concord. They
were under the command of Colonel



GAZKTTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS. 185

Smith and Major Pitcairn. On reach-

in;^ this place, a militia company were

exercising on the common. A British

olhcer rode up, and ordered them to

disperse, but not being mstantl^' obey-
ed, he discharged his pistol, and or-

dered his men to fire, which they did,
and eight of the Americans I'ell dead
on the spot ! The militia retreated,
and the British proceedetl to Concord,
and in part succeeded in destroying
the stores, but were so harassed on
their return, that they would inevita-

bly have been cut ofi", had they not

been met at this place by a strong de-

tachment of artillery under Lord Per-

cy. The party suflcred extremely by
the fire of the Americans, aimed with

deadly eflect from the buildings, trees,
and fences

;
and left sixty-five killed,

and one hundi'ed and eighty wounded.
The Americans had fifty killed, and

thirty-four wounded.
On the vdlage green, near the

church, and on the site of the battle,
a monument is erected, with the fol-

lowing inscription :
—

" Sacred to the Liberty and the

Rights of Mankind ! ! !—The Freedom
dc Independence of America,—Sealed
and defended with the blood of her
sons.—This Monument is erected—
By the Inhabitants of Lexington—
Under the patronage, and at the ex-

pense of—The Commonwealth of

Massachusetts,—To the Memory of
their Fellow-Citizens—Ensign Robert

Munroe, 3Iessrs. Jonas Paikor,— 

Samuel Hadley, Jonathan Harrington,
Jun"'—Isaac Muzzy, Caleb Harring-
ton, and John Brown—Of Lexington,
and Ashael Porter of Woburn—Who
fell on this field, the first victims to

the—Sword of British Tyranny ife

Oppression—On the morning of the

ever memorable—Nineteenth of April,
An. Dom. 1775.—The Die was Ca.st ! ! !—The Blood of these Martyrs—In the
cause of God i\: their Country,—Was
the Cement of the Union of these
States then—Colonies, & gave the

spring to the Spirit, Firmness—And
Resolution of their Fellow-Citizens—
They rose as one man to revenge their

brethren's—Blood, and at the point of
ir>*

the sword to assist ajid
—Defend their

native Rights.—They nobly dared to

be free ! !
—The contest was long,

blood}' A: affecting,
—Righteous Hea-

ven approved the solemn appeal ;
—

Victory crowned their arras
;

—And
the Peace, Liberty. & Independence,
of the United—States of America
was their glorious Reward.—Built ii

the year 1799."

L.EYDEX.

Frankli.v Co. Leyden is a moun
tainous township, on the line of the

state, nine miles north by west from

Greenfield, and about one hundred
miles west north-west from Boston.

It is bounded on the north by Guil-

ford, New Hampshire, east by Ber-

nardston, south by Greenfield, and
west by Colraine. It was formerly a

part of Bernardston.
Two branches of Deerfield river,

Green river and Budington creek,

pass through the town, on which are

good sites for mills. There is some
good arable land in the town, but the

greater part of the land is fit only for

grazing.
On Green river is a* narrow, rocky-

passage, called the " Glen," a curious

place, much admired for its romantic

scenery.

L.IXCOLN.

Middlesex Co. This was once a

part of Concord, Lexington, and Wes-
ton. The centre village lies fourteen

miles north-west by west from Bos-
ton, and three south-east from Con-

cord, by the old roads. From the de-

pot of the Fitchburg railroad, in this

town, to the centre village, is about a
mile and an half; to Bosttm, sixteen

and an half miles.

Lincoln h.as all the varieties of soil,
Irom the richest to the poorest.

Though rough and uneven, it con-
tains some of the best farms in the

county. The most celebrated is that

known at different times as the Rus
sell, Oodman, and Percival farm.

Flint's or Sandy Pond, containing
about one hundred and ninety-seven
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acres, derived its name from its being
situated on the farm of Ephraim
Flint, one of the original owners of

Lincoln. It is a favorite resort for

pickerel ;
and ils fisheries have been

considered of so much importance,
that an act was passed by the legisla-

ture, in 1824, prohibiting any person,
under the penalty of two dollars, from

fishing with "more than one hook''

between the 1st of December and

April.
The first minister in Lincoln was

the Rev. William Lawrence, in 1748.

Inscription on his monument :
—

" In memory of the Rev. William

Lawrence, A. M., Pastor of the church
of Christ in Lincoln, who died April 1 1,

1780, in the 57th year of his age, and
32d of his ministry. He was a gen-
tleman of good abilities, both natural

and acquired, a judicious divine, a
faithful minister, and firm supporter
of the order of the churches. In his

last sickness, which was long and dis-

tressing, he exhibited a temper char-

acteristic of the minister and Chris-

tian. ' Be thou faithful unto death,
and I will give thee a crown of life.'

"

LITTLETON.

Middlesex Co. This township was
granted in 1714, and named for George
Littleton, a member of the British

parliament. Its Indian name was
Nashobah.
The first settled minister was the

Rev. Benjamin Shaltuck, in 1717
;

the second, the Rev. Daniel Rogers,
who was pastor until his death. The
third, was the Rev. Edmond Foster,
in 1781.

The surface of the town is plea-

santly variegated, containing a num-
ber of beautiful ponds. The soil is

not generally very strong, but is ca-

pable of producing a good supply of

the fruits of the earth. There are

two pleasant villages in the town,
and some establishments for the man-
ufacture of shoes.

The Fitchburg railroad passes
through the town, thirteen miles

north-west from Concord, and thirty-

ftue and a half north-wpst from Boston.

LONGMEADOW.

Hampden Co. This town was for

merly the second parish of Spring
field. It was first settled about 1644

It derived its name from the Long
meadow within the town. The Indian

name of the place was Massacsick.

The first congregational minister in

the town was the Rev. Stephen Wil-

liams, in 1716. The second, the Rev.
Richard Salter Storrs, in 1785. The
third, the Rev. Baxter Dickinson, in

1823.

Longmeadow is finely located on
the eastern bank of Connecticut river,
and enjoys a large portion of the rich

meadow land on that beautiful and

fertilizing stream. The town is wa-
tered by some small streams, and
there are some manufactures in the

town, but the people are generally
agriculturists.
The village is delightfully situated

about a mile from the river. It is

built on one wide, level street, beauti-

fully shaded by tall native elms, ex-

tending for miles, on the first rise of

land above the meadow.

Longmeadow is easily approached
by railroads, on either side. The
Hartford and Springfield railroad

passes through it, about twenty-one
miles from Hartford

;
to Springfield

it is four miles, and from Springfield
to Boston, by the western railroad, it

is ninety-eight miles.

" Sacred to the memory of Rev.
Richard S. Storrs, pastor of the church
in Longmeadow. He was born at

Mansfield, Connecticut, August 30th,

1763, graduated at Yale College in

1783, ordained December 7, 1785,
died October 3, 1819. In the private
relations of fife he eminently illus-

trated the graces of the Christian.

He was distinguished for his appro-

priate, perspicuous, and affectionate

exhibition of evangelical truth, for

propriety, richness, and fervor in so-

cial prayer, and for his instructive

conversation and Christian sympathy
in pastoral duties. In testimony of

their affectionate remembrance of his

personal worth, and their regard for
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his ability, zeal, and usefulness as

their Christian pastor, his uiourning
c«>iigregalion erect this mununient-.

"Religion, heralniighly brealh,
Rebuked ihe winds and waves of death;
Amidst that calm of sweet repose,
To Heaven his gentle spirit rose."

LOWELL-

Middlesex Co. One of the county
towns. The rapid growth of this city,

the variety and richness of its manu-
factures, and the peculiar character

of its population, have rendered it an

object of interest and inquiry through-
out the world.

The place which Lowell now occu-

pies, was somewhat famous in the

early annals of the country, as one of
the best fishing grounds of the In-

dians in all New England. In the

spring of the year they resorted here
in great numbers, to pursue their fa-

vorite employment of hunting and

fishing. EUot speaks of one or two
excursions which he made to " Paw-
tucket Falls," to become acquainted
with the tribes of Indians from the

interior, and to teach them the princi-

ples of Christianity. He however com-

plains that they were so busily en-

gaged, as to make it extremely diffi-

cult to gain their attention, and to

Ulterest them in the new religion.
This continued to be a favorite resort

of the Indians even to a late day ;

there still being evident the remains of
a trench a mile or two in length, en-

closing a large space about the junc-
tion of the Merrimack and Concord

rivers, assigned, it is said, to the spe-
cial use of the Indians.

Lowell is .situated on the south side

of the Merrimack river, at the junction
of the Concord river with the Merri-
mack. It is twenty-six miles north-
west from Boston, by the Boston and
Lowell railroad, and by the Concord
railroad, fifty miles south south-east
from Concord, New Hampshire.
The Pawtuckel canal extends from

the head of Pawtucket Falls to the
Concord river, near its union with the

Merrimack, and produces all the hy-
draulic power of the city. This canal

was originally constrncted for the

passage of boats and rafts around the

falls, and for this purpose it still con-
tinues to be employed ;

but its princi-

pal u.se is to feed the various lateral

canals which convey the water to the

different manufacturing establish-

ments. This canal is a mile and a
half long, sixty feet wide, and six or

eight feet deep.
The Pawtucket canal, and of course,

all the principal water privileges, are
owned by a company, called " The
Proprietors of the Locks and Canals
on Merrimack river." This company
sells to other companies the sites for

mills, and agrees to furnish them
with a certain amount of water for a

stipulated annual rent. The proprie-
tors of the locks and canals on Merri-
mack river were incorporated in 1792,
their primary object being, as has al-

ready been hinted, to furnish a canal
for boats around Pawtucket Falls.

The civil historj' of Lowell is quick-
ly told. It formerly constituted a part
of Chelmsford, a town of considerable
note in the early annals of Middlesex

county. The first purchases for man-
ufacturing purposes were made about
the year 1820, when there could not
have been more than thirty or forty

dwelling-houses within the present
limits of the city. In 1826, on the

petition of the inhabitants, Ea.st

Chelmsford, as it was then called,
was set off from Chelmsford proper,
and incorporated as a town, with the

name of Lowell. The territory of the
town was increased in 1632, by the

annexation of Belvidere, which was
originally a part of Tewksbury. In

1836, a city charter was obtained
from the legislature, and Elisha Bart-

lett, M. D., was chosen the first mayor.
The population of the city at the dif-

ferent times when the census has
been taken, has been as follows :

—
1828, 3,532

1830, 6,477

1832, 10,254

IS33, 12,963

1836, 17,330

1837, 18,010

1810, 20,981

1841, 25,163

The following is a brief summary
of the manufacturing business of Low-
ell, in 1815;
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There were at that time, eleven

•ncorporated companies, with an ag-

s^'egate capital of ten million eight
hundred and fifty thousand dollars.

The names of these companies were
as follows :

—Locks and Canals, Mer-
rimack, Hamilton, Appleton, Low-
ell, Middlesex, Suffolk, Tkemont,
Lawrence, Boott, and Massachu-
setts. These companies have thirty-
three mills, exclusive of print works,
dec. These mills are all built of

brick, and are about one hundred and

lifty-seven feet long, forty-five feet

wide, and five stories high. They
are all warmed in winter by steam or

hot-air furnaces.

These mills contained 204,076 spin-
dles, and 6,304 looms. They used

24,128,000 pounds of cotton, and
1.000,000 pounds of wool, and employ-
ed 6,320 females and 2,415 males.

They made 75,873,200 yards of cloth,
of which 287,000 yards were dyed and

printed. The goods made were prints,

sheetings, shirtings, drillings, broad-

cloths, cassimeres, carpets, rugs, and

negro cloths.

In these mills and workshops, were
used or consumed 1,225 tons of

wrought and cast iron, 12,500 tons of
anthracite and smith's coal, and

600,000 bushels of charcoal
; 3,270

cords of wood
; 67,842 gallons of oil

;

3,000,000 pounds of teasels
; 800,000

pounds of starch, and 4,000 barrels of
flour.

The Locks and Canals machine

shop, included among the thirty-three

mills, can furnish machinery complete
for a mill of five thousand spindles, in

four months
;
and lumber and mate-

rials are always at command, with
which to build or rebuild a mill in

that time, if required. When build-

ing mills, the Locks and Canals

company, employ directly or indi-

rectly, from one thousand to twelve
hundred hands.
To the above-named principal es-

tablishments may be added, the Low-
ell Water-proofing, connected with
the Middlesex Manufacturing Compa-
nv

;
the extensive powder-mills of 0.

i\r. Whipple, Esq. ;
the Lowell Blea-

chery, whh a capital of fitly thousand

dollars
;

flannel mill
;
blanket mill

;

batting mill
; paper mill

;
card and

whip factory ; planing machine ;
reed

machine
; foundry ; grist and saw

mills—together employing about five

hundred hands, and a capital of five

hundred thousand dollars.

With regard to the health of per-
sons employed in the mills, six of the

females out of ten enjoy better health

than before entering the mills
;
and

of the males, one half derive the same

advantage. In their moral condition

and character, they are not inferior to

any portion of the community.
The average wages, clear of board,

for females, is $1,75 per week; for

males, seventy cents per day. The
average monthly payments for wages,
were $150,000.
A very considerable portion of the

wages of the operatives are deposited
in the Lowell Institution for Savings.
The above are statements of the

population and business of Lowell in

the early part of 1645. Since that

time several new mills have been
built and put into operation, and many
of the old ones greatly enlarged.
Some of the new works are operated
by steam.

Perhaps nothing has contributed

more to promote the industry and fru-

gality of the operatives, than the

Institution for Savings. Here, the

smallest sum of money, which is not

wanted for immediate use, may be

safely invested, and left to accumu-
late until it is needed for other pur-

poses. It is stated, that of the three

hundred and eighty-six thousand dol-

lars deposited in that institution, two
hundred and fifty thousand dollars

belong to operatives in the mills, the

greater part being females.

"The Lowell Dispensary" is an
institution which furnishes medical
advice and medicine gratuit usly, to

all who require, and are w:)rthy of

such assistance. The amount of funds

expended is not large, but it is believed

that the dispensary contributes mate-

rially to the health and comfort of

those who are in straitened circum-
stances.

" The Howard Benevolent Society
'
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was formed some years ago, and has

accomplished much good. People of

all parties and sects contribute to its

funds, which are expended by able

and elhcient otiicers, in relieving the

wants of the virtuous poor.
Besides these institutions, there are

benevolent societies connected with
all the churches, whose design is to

assist those belonging to their respect-
ive congregations, who are not objects
of public charity. A considerable

portion of their funds is expended in

procuring clothing for the chihh-en of

the poor, that they may attend public

worship and the Sunday school.

Those who have been brought to pov-
erty by their vices, and are not con-

sidered objects of private benevolence,
receive assistance from the authori-

ties of the city. The amount appro-
priated for the support of paupers in

1843, was five thousand dollars.

But for nothing does Lowell de-

serve more credit than for her public
schools. With a wise and prudent
foresight, she early directed her atten-

tion to these nurseries of virtue and

intelligence, and with a liberal hand
has she expended her money in pro-
viding every convenience for the in-

struction of the rising generation. In

1827, twelve hundred dollars were

appropriated for the support of schools.

From that time the appropriation has
been annually increased, until it has
reached the very large sum of twenty-
five thousand dollars, which was
the appropriation for 1813. This is

one dollar for every man, woman,
and cliiid in the city. The schools

are divided into three classes. Those
of the lowest grade are called primary
schools, and are thirty in number, lo-

cated in different parts of the city, so
as to accommoilate all the inhabitants.

Each of these schools is taught by a

female, and the number of pupils va-
ries from thirty to sixty. Here the

children are instructed in the first ru-

diments of education, and at the close

of each term, such as are qualified,
are transferred lothe grammar schools.

The compensation of the teachers of
these schools is two hundred dollars a

year.

The second class consists of gram-
mar schools, of which there are eight.
Seven of these are kept in large two-

story brick buildings, with spacious
and convenient rooms. These schools

are designed to give the young a good
common education. Pupils are ad-

mitted, on examination, from the pri-

mary schools, and remain as long as

they choose. When they leave, they
either may be sent to the high school,
or be apprenticed to some useful trade.

Four teachers are employed in each
of these .schools, (with one exception,)
besides the writing-masters.
The high school consists of two de-

partments, one for boys and the other

for girls. Both departments are under
the superintendence and instruction

of three male and two female teach-

ers. A good moral character, and a

knowledge of arithmetic, grammar,
geography, &c., are required for ad-

mission to this school. Pupils are in-

structed in all the common and higher
branches of knowledge, and those who
desire it, are fitted for college. Stu-

dents who have entered the various

colleges of New England from this

school, will not suffer by a compari-
son with those from any other institu-

tion of the kind. Those who do not

wish to pursue their education farther,
are prepared, upon leaving school, to

engage in any of the ordinary avoca-
tions of life. In the female depart-
ment, the girls are taught all the

branches which are considered neces-

sary for the finished education of the

young lady.
This school is kept in one of the

most substantial and convenient
houses which can be found in the

state or union. It is of brick, and
was built about three years ago, at an

expense of more than twenty thousand
dollars.

There are in the city twenty-one
religious societies, each of which sup-

ports a regular clergyman, viz., three

Orthodox, two Episcopalian, two Cath-

olic, two Episcopal IMethodists, two

Wesleyans, one Freewill Baptist, three

Universalists, two Christian, three

Baptist, and one Unitarian. With all

these churches are connected Sabbath
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schools, most of which are large and

flourishing. The "Lowell Sunday
School Union," in which thirteen of

the above-named schools are repre-

sented, reports, in 1844, that five

thousand two hundred and twenty-
three persons are connected with the

associated schools.

There are published in the city eight
or ten newspapers, and two or three

magazines. Among these is the

"Lowell Offering." This magazine
is made up of articles written by ope-
ratives actually employed in the mills.

It is difficult to make persons at a dis-

tance believe that this is the fact;
but we assure all who may have
doubts upon this subject, that the

work is written, edited, and published

by females who are employed from
ten to thirteen hours every day in the

factories.

It is improper for books of this

character to make statements in ad-

v^ance, on conjecture, especially when
almost every page shows the utter

inability of the writer to keep pace
with the car of improvement in the

mechanical branches of industry now
pressing onward in every section of

the commonwealth
;
but with respect

to Lowell, our information being more

specific and authentic than in most

cases, we venture the opinion that in

1848, Lowell will contain a population
of thirty-five thousand inhabitants,
and an increase of business in the

same ratio.

When it is considered that, in the

course of thirty years, this large man-

ufacturing city has arisen from an
Indian fishing station ; that it was

commenced, continued, and is sus-

tained solely by the wisdom, energy,

industr}', and wealth of Massachusetts

people ;
the " Old Bay State "

may
look even across the Atlantic, and feel

a just pride in her sons and daugh-
ters, and in the works of their hands.

LUDLOW.

Hampden Co. This was formerly a

part of Springfield, and called Stony
Hill. The Rev. Antipas Steward was
the first minister, in 1793.

This town is watered by branches
of Chickopee river, and by that river

itself at the south part of the town,
where is situated a flourishing manu-
facturing village.
The manufactures of Ludlow con-

sist of cotton goods, palm-leaf hats,

ploughs, (Sec, &c.
The surface of the town is pleasant,

with some elevations on its eastern
section. The soil is good and pro-
ductive, and agriculture is the chief

employment of the inhabitants.

The North Wilbraham depot, on the

western railroad, is near the village in

Ludlow, nine miles from Springfield,
and eighty-nine from Boston.

liUNENBURG.

Worcester Co. This was origi-

nally a part of "Turkey Hills," or

Fitchburg, and was so called in com-

pliment to George II., or to his title

of Duke of Lunenburg. Many of the

first settlers were emigrants from
Scotland and Ireland. A church was
gathered here in 1728, and the Rev.
Andrew Gardner was ordained pastor.

" The soil of this town is fertile, and
as productive as is usually found in

so northern a situation. For though
the land is generally high, yet by rea-

son of its cohesive texture, and having
a clayey stratum within a few feet of
its surface, it retains moisture sufii-

cient for vegetation, through the whole

summer, unless in seasons of severe

drought. Many parts of it bear hemp
and flax luxuriantly."

There are manufactures in the

town of books, palm-leaf hats, chairs,

cabinet-ware, leather, boots, shoes,
&c. There are three handsome ponds,
but the town is singularly destitute of

water-power ;
there being not sufli-

cient in dry seasons, for domestic pur-
poses.

Lunenburg is a flourishing town,
with a very pleasant village near its

centre. This village is five miles
north-west from Shirley depot, on the

Fitchburg railroad, thirty-seven miles
from Boston. Worcester lies twenty-
four miles south, and Fitchburg five

miles west by north.



GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS. I'Jl

LYNX.

Essex Co. This town was first

settled in 1629. It received its name
from that of Lynn Regis, a town in

England. Its Indian name was Saii-

gust.

Lynn is pleasantly situated on the

northern shore of Massachusetts Bay.
It extends six miles on the sea, and
five miles into the woods. The south-

ern portion of the town is a plain, de-

fended on the norih by a chain of high
rocky hills, chielly composed of por-

phyr}', beyond which is an extensive

range of woodland. It is surrounded

by an abundance of water, having
river Saugus on the west, the harbor
on the south, the ocean on the south-

east, and a chain of large ponds,
called the " Lakes of Lynn," on the

north. The town is neatly built, on
wide and pleasant streets, and is one
of the most flourishing and beautiful

towns in New England, containing,
in 1845, about ten thousand inhabi-

tants.

From the southern side of the town
a peninsula extends four miles into

the ocean, at the extremity of which
is the celebrated watering-place, called

Nahant. On this peninsula is a beach
two miles in extent, broad, smooth,
and beautiful, and is a great curiosity.
"When easterly storms beat upon it,

they occasion a roaring which ma)' be
heard six miles.

The shores of Lynn are in the high-
est degree romantic, and Nahant, and

Phillips' Point, at the eastern extrem-

ity of the town, are places of general
resort, during the summer season, for

people of wealth, taste, and refine-

ment, from all parts of the country,
many of whom have cottages here.

A mineral spring in the northern part
of the town, is also a place of much
celebrity.
The soil of this town is of a good

quality, and highly cultivated. From
the elevations in its vicinity, a most

enchanting prospect is presented,
comprehending the harbors of Boston
and Salem, witii tlicir numerous isl-

ands
j
the spires and domes of those

cities, and nearly the whole compass

of Massachusetts Bay, with the Blue
Hills and the outline of Cape Cod

stretching along the southern norizon.

Jutting out into the sea a few fur-

longs, on the south of the town, appear
the rugged clills of Nahant, and tlie

hard, polished beach, leading to this

far-famed watering-place, appearing
like a narrow foot-path of sand upon
the waters.

Lynn has thirteen churches, nine

princijial school houses, an academy,
an institution for savings, a bank, two
insurance oflices, and a large number
of literary, social, and charitable soci-

eties.

Lynn has risen to wealth and im-

portance by the enterprise and indus

try of its people, in the manufacture
of shoes, particularly for which, more
than any other town in the country, it

is justly celebrated. The manufac-
ture of ladies' shoes was commenced
here before the revolutionary war,
and it is curious to observe the great

changes that have occurred in the

fashion and manufacture of that arti-

cle.
" In olden times," says the Newbu-

ryport Herald,
" ladies' shoes were

made in Lynn of common woollen

cloth, or coarse curried leather
;
after-

wards of stuflTs such as cassimere,

everlasting, shalloon and russet
;
some

of satin and damask, others of satin

lasting and florentine.
"

They were

generally cut with straps, for large

buckles, which were worn in those

days by women as well as men. La-
dies' shoes, seventy years ago, were
made mostly with white and russet

rands, and stitched very fine on the

rand with white-waxed thread. Some
were made turn pumps and channel

pumps, all having wooden heels, called

cross-cut, common, and court ht:eh.

Then the cork, plug, and wedge or

spring heels, came into use. The
sole-leather was all worked with the

flesh side out.
" Previous to the war of the revo-

lution, the market for Lynn shoes was

principally confined to New England ;

some 'ii'w, however, were exported lo

Philadelphia. 3Iany individuals with

small capital carried on the business
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in their own families. Fathers, sons,

apprentices, and one or two journey-
men, all in one small shop, with a

chimney m one corner, formed the

whole establishment.
" After the revolution, the business

assumed a different as})ect. Enter-

prising individuals embarked in the

business in good earnest
;

h!red a

great number of journe}nnen ;
built

large shops, took apprentices, and
drove the business. Master workmen
shipped their shoes to the south, so

that Lynn shoes took the place of

English and other imported shoes.

Morocco and kid leather, suitable for

shoes, began to be imported from

England, which soon took the place
of stuffs. Roan shoes were now little

called for; and the improvement of

working the sole-leather grain side

out, was now generally adopted, mak-
ing what is called duffbottoms. About
the year 1794, wooden heels began to

go out of use, by the introduction of

leather spring heels. This improve-
ment progressed gradually, until the

heel-making business, which was once
a good one, was totally ruined."

There were in 184-5, one hundred
and thirty principal shoe manufacto-

ries, employing about three thousand

men, and about as many women.
There are about three million pairs of
women's and misses' shoes made an-

nually, valued at about two million

of dollars. The other principal busi-

ness in the town is the cod and mack-
erel fishery, which is very productive.
The increase of the shoe business in

this town since 1837, is about twenty
per cent.

A singular meeting took place in

this town on the last day of the year
1844. The heads of five generations,
met at the house of Mrs. Jerusha

Rhodes, the primal mother of them

all, in that part of Lynn known as
" Gravesend." The eldest member
of this family is upwards of ninety

years of age, the youngest five. The
last-named has two grandmothers,
two great-grandmothers, and two

great-great-grandmothers
—all living.

The most remarkable feature of this

patriarchal assembly, perhaps, is the

fact that they all met fortuitously
without the knowledge, on the part of

either, that the others were to be pres-
ent—their design, individually, simpl)'

being to visit their aged and venera-
ble relative.

By the eastern railroad, Lynn lies

nine miles north north-east from

Boston, and five south from Salem.
From the centre of Lynn to the Na-
hant Hotel, is four miles and a half,
and from thence to Boston, hy water,

by Point Shirley, is about ten miles.

From the centre of Lynn to the

Ocean and Rockaway Houses, at Phil-

lips' Point, is about three miles. .

L.YNNFIEL.D.

Essex Co. This was formerly the
north parish of Lynn, and called Lynn
End. It is bounded north by Read-

ing, east by Danvers, south-east by
Lynn and Saugus, and west by South

Reading.
This town is watered by Ipswich

and Saugus rivers, and two very
handsome ponds. The surface is

uneven, but the soil is strong and fer-

tile.

Lynnfield contains large tracts of

woodland, and no tow^n, so near the

city, presents more wild and romantic

scenery, or which offers to the lover

of rural enjoyments, a more favorable

retreat.

The following is on the monument
of Mr. Daniel Townsend, who was
killed at Lexington, April 19, 1775.

"
Lie, valiant Townsend, in the peaceful

shades,—we trust

Immortal honors mingle with thy dust.
What though thy body struggle in its gore?
So did thy Saviour's body long before

;

And as he raised his own by power divine,
So the same power shall also quicken thine,
And in eternal glory mayst thou shine !

"

Lynnfield lies on the turnpike road

leading from Boston to Newburyport.
It is thirteen miles north from Boston,
and eight miles west by north from
Salem.

MAL.DE1V.

Middlesex Co. This town is con-
nected with Charlestown by a bridge
across Mystic river, of two thousand
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four hundred aiul Iwentv feet in

length, built in 17S7. It was former-

ly a pnrt of Charlestown, and called

Mystic Side, being that part of Charles-

town on the north side of the river.

It is otherwise bounded, on the west

by Medford, north by Stonehara and
South Reading, and cast by Saugus
and Chelsea.

Although Maiden enjoys as rich a

soil, as good a water-power, and a

surface as varied and bejutiful as

Dorchester, Roxbury, IMilton, or any
other town near to and south of Bus-

ton, yet, until the erection of Charles

river and Maiden bridges in 17S6 and

1787, this town was as far " down east,"
in regard to its connection with Boston,

by roads and bridges, as any town in

the county of York, in the stale of

Maine, now is.

In those days, a Maiden lady wish-

ing to visit Boston by land, had to rise

early, and travel by wagon, side-saddle

or pillion, through Medford, Charles-

town, Cambridge,
'• Little Cambridge,"

(now Brighton.) Brookline, Roxbury,
and " over the Neck," to the great

metropolis, and wheu arrived, was so

fatigued by her day's jonrney, that

she had to rest a day or two before

she was able to make her " calls."

But now, how changed ! Those
cruel turnpike killers, and dcspisers
of horse-flesh, the legislators of Massa-

chusetts, have granted permission to

a number of men to set up a long, nar-

row building on trundles, a sort of

travelling meeting-house, with a bell

to it, and a row of pews on each side

of the aisle
;

—drawn by a savage-look-
ing beast that keeps puffing and whist-

ling like a north-easter, and, when
started, seems as if Satan himself
could n"t catch him. By this mode of

travelling, a lady or gentleman at

Maiden may leave home at almost

any hour, go down south to Boston, a
distance ofhve miles, see their friends,
do their errands, and return, in one
short sunny hour.
The manufactures of the town are

numerous and important ; the total

annual value of which is about half a
rnillion of dollars. They consist of

leather, shoes, twine, iron, nails, ma-
17

cliincry, lasts, silk and cotton print-

ing, silk dyeing, tin and block-tin

wares, &cc. The number of inhabi-

tants in the town, in 1S45, was com-

puted at two thousand seven hundred.

We are told that Maiden village in

ancient times was very pleasant.
Tiiere are now two delightful and

flourishing villages in the town,

through b6th of which the railroad

passes.

MAXCHESTKR.

Essex Co. This town was for-

merly a part of Salem, called Jeffrey's
Creek

;
and was settled by William

JelTrey as early as 1628. It is bound-

ed north by Essex, east by Glouces-

ter, south by Massachusetts Bay, and
west by Beverly.
The surface of the town is rocky,

but pleasantly diversified
;
the soil is

various, but generally good, and well

cultivated. From its first settlement,
Manchester has been noted for its en-

terprise in the fisheries, and for its

training its youth for a maritime life.

No town on the American coast, of its

population, has furnished more able

ship-masters and sailors than Man-
chester. The harbor is large, and
well protected, for vessels of any bur-

then, but none but vessels of about
one hundred and twenty tons burthen
can reach the wharves.
The village is very pleasantly situ-

ated on a southern declivity, towards
the harbor

;
it is neatly built, and bears

the marks of industr)' and wealth.

Manchester is celebrated for pro-

ducing the Magnolia, a beautiful flow-

ering tree, rarely found in New Eng-
land. It is a tree of about a dozen
feet in height, with deep-green leaves,
and white flowers. It possesses a de-

licious fragrance. It is found in a
sheltered swamp, near the line of

Gloucester, and flowers about the first

of July.
This town lies eight miles north-

east from Salem, twenty-two north-

east from Boston, and seven .south-

west from Gloucester. The railroad

between Beverly and Gloucester passes
through the town.
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MANSFIELD.

Bristol Co. This town was origi-

nally the north parish of the town of

Norton. The New Bedford and
Taunton railroad meets the Boston
and Providence railroad in the centre

of the town. It lies eleven miles

north-west from Taunton, thirty-one
north-west from New Bedford, twenty-
four south from Boston, and eighteen
north by east from Providence.

Mansfield is watered by several

branches of Taunton river. The soil

is thin, and the surface level. There
are several cotton and woollen mills

in the town, and a number of nail

factories. The manufactures consist

of cotton and woollen goods, nails,

straw bonnets, palm-leaf hats, and
baskets

;
total annual amount about

one hundred and ten thousand dollars.

About the year 1836, a mine of

anthracite coal was discovered in this

town, near the Boston and Providence
railroad. It was discovered in dig-

ging a well. An incorporated com-

pany purchased the right of min-

ing on that and several adjoining
farms. They sunk a shaft which
struck a vein five feet in thickness, at

the depth of twenty feet, running
north-east and south-west, and dip-

ping to the north-west 52"^. The shaft

was continued forty-four feet further,
to another vein, which exceeded five

feet in thickness, and which affbrded

coal of a better quality than that found
above. Subsequent operations have
shown that the veins are numerous.

Large sums have been expended in

mining operations, but hitherto with

little success.

Among a variety of berries which
flourish in Mansfield, is the White

Wliorllcberry, rarely known to exist in

any other place. They have grown
time out of mind, side by side with

the black species, without showing the

least symptom of amalgamation.

MARBLEIIEAD.

Essex Co. The territory of Mar-
blehead was originally a part of Sa-

lem, and for some time after its set-

tlement was called Marble Harbor.
It is bounded on the north by Salem

harbor, east and south by Massachu-
setts Bay, and west by Salem and Sa-

lem harbor. This peninsula is about
three miles and a half in length, and
two miles in width, and contains an
area of about thirty-seven hundred
acres.

The surface of this town is exceed-

ingly irregular and rocky, and consid-

erably elevated. "When Whitefield,
the celebrated preacher, first came to

Marblehead, he exclaimed,
"
Pray,

where do they bury their dead ?" Not-

withstanding its rocky, rough, and
cheerless appearance, it is a fact that

more hay is grown here than is con-

sumed in the town, and that the agri-

cultural society has awarded premi-
ums for the largest crops of corn, bar-

ley, and hay obtained here from an
acre.

The harbor, in front of the town, a
mile and a half long from north-east

to south-west, and half a mile wide,
formed by a narrow neck at the south-

west, which separates it from Lynn
Bay, and connects the town with

Great Neck, is deep and excellent,

capable of being entered at all times

by ships of the largest size
;
and by a

breakwater, constructed in 1845, for

the protection of Little harbor, ^dll be

rendered a safe retreat from storms.

This harbor is protected by Fort Sew-

all, near its entrance.

From the first settlement of the

country to the present day. Marble-
head has been a noted town for the

enterprise of its people in the fisheries.

At the commencement of the revolu-

tionary war, this town had become
the second in the colony. Although
the two wars occasioned the people

great trials and losses, they were borne
with firmness, and their lost fortunes

were redeemed in brighter days, by
an energy and skill in their business,
never excelled, and rarely equalled.
The number of vessels belonging to

this place is about one hundred, whose

tonnage is about ten thousand tons.

The annual value of the cod and
mackerel fishery is about one hundred
and sixty thousand dollars. The
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manufaciu.es of the place, such as

hoots, shoes, chairs, cabinet-ware,

tin-ware, vessels, soap, glue, cards,

wheels, dec, amount annually to

about Ic'ur hundred thousand dollars.

A steam cotton factory was erected

here in 1845.

The village or town is a very plea-
sant place in summer, and an excel-

lent place to witness the raging of the

ocean in a storm. It is much like

Nahant, only six miles north from it.

A railroad passes from this town to

Salem, four miles, and to Boston six-

teen miles.

MARLBOROUGH.
Middlesex Co. The territory of

this town was granted to some people
at Sudbury, in 1655. Its Indian name
was Okommakamesitt. The town is

remarkable for its fine undulating
surface, and fertile soil. Perhaps no
town in the county is better adapted
to agricultural pursuits than this, or

in which are more large and well-cul-

tivated farms.

The inhabitants are principally de-

voted to agricultural pursuits, and by
their industry and skill, have acquir-
ed a great degree of independence.
Among the productions of the town,
are fat cattle, pork, fruit, and all the

varieties of the dairy ;
a large amount

of which is annually sent to Boston
market.
The Assabet river waters the west-

ern part of the town, and affords Fel-

tnnville, a flourishing manufacturing
village, a fine water-power. The
town is otherwise watered by several

small streams, and a number of beau-

tiful ponds.
There are in the town manufactories

of boots, shoes, straw bonnets, leather,

chairs, and cabinet-ware.

This town suffered much during
the Indian wars, and was for many
years the residence of a number of In-

dians who had embraced the Christian

religion.
The villages are very pleasant ;

the

richness of the .soil, and surrounding
.scenery ;

its excellent roads, and con-
venient access to Boston, render

Marlborough a desirable residence.

Marlborough lies twenty-seven mile!>

west from Boston, and fourteen south-

west from Concord. Feltonville lies

about tluee miles north-west from liie

centre of the town, midway between

the Fitchburg and Worcester railroads,

about nine miles from each. The
railroad from Nashua to Worcester
will pass near this town.

The Rev. William Brimsmead was
the first minister in Marlborougli.
He was settled in 1666, and died in

1701. He was a bachelor, and
" uni-

formly refused baptism to children who
were born on the Sabbath." Whether
he refused the little sinners the rites

of Christian burial, in case of death, is

not stated.

MARSIIFIELD.

Plymouth Co. Until its mcorpora-
tion in 1641, this town was a part of

Duxbury, and was called Green's

Harbor, or Re.xham. Its Indian name
was Missoucatucket.

Marshfield is separated from Scitu-

ate on the north by North river, and
bounded northeasterly by ]\Iassachu-

selts Bay, south by Duxbury, antl

west by Hanover and Pembroke.
The surface of the town is pleasantly

diversified, embracing much marine

scenery. Here are large tracts of salt

marsh of great value
;
and here, too,

is a famous resort for all the varieties

of sea-fowl.

South river, in the south part of the

town, and the North river, give to

Marshfield a good water-power. Some
navigation is owned in the town, en-

gaged in the fishing and coasting

business, and many noble merchant
vessels are built. Here are some
manufactures of cotton, nails, iron

castings, iScc.

Perigrine White, the first English
child born in New England, died in

this town, July 20th, 1704, aged eigh-

ty-tliree. A grandson of Governor
Carver lived here to the age of one
hundred and two, and in 1775 was at

work in the same field with his son,

grandson, and great-grandson, who
had also an infant son in the house,

making five generations. Edward



106 GAZETTBT.R OF MASSAC [lU-ETTS.

V^iiijilow, some yoars governor of

Plymouth colony, resided in this town.

The Hon Daniel Webster's country
seat is situated in the south part ol'

the town, nlionr twelve miles north from

Plymouth, in full view of the sea, and
surrounded by cultivated fields. His
farm contains fifteen hundred acres

of choice land, with buildings, lawns,
and gardens suited to so splendid a

domain. About fifteen years ago he

bought the Thomas estate, since

which others, with the ancient man-
sion house of Governor "Winslow, now
one hundred and eighty years old.

The noble senator is an e.'ccellent

farmer, and is doing much to promote
the agricultural interests of the coun-

try.

MARSHPEE.

B.\KNSTABLF, Co. '' This tract was

procured for the Indians by the eilorts

of Mr. Richard Bourne, oi' Sandwich.
This noble-hearted man, who deserves

to be held in lasting remembrance,
was a native of England, and soon

after his arrival at Sandwich, began
his labors for the temporal and spirit-

ual good of the Indians. About the

year 11560, at his own expense, jMr.

Bourne obtained a deed of Slarshpee,
from Quachalissbt and others, for the

benefit of the ftlarshpee, or, as they
were then called, South Sea Indians.

In order that the Indians might have
a place where they might remain in

peace from generation to generation,
Mr. Bourne had the deed or instru-

ment drawn, ' so that no part or par-
cel of them [the lands] could be bought

by or sold to any while person or per-

sons, without the consent of all the

said Indians, not even with the con-

sent of the general court.' The deed,
with this condition, was ratified by the

Pl3aiiouth court. Mr. Bourne, after

having obtained the above deed, pur-
sued his evangelical work, and was
ordained }>astor of an Indian church
in this place, in 1670, formed of his

own disciples and converts. He died

about 1685, and was succeeded by
Simon Popmonet, an Indian preacher,
who lived in this character about forty

years, and \^as succeeded by JMr. Jo-

seph Bourne, grandson of Richard,
who was ordained over them in 1729,
who resigned his mission in 1742, and
was succeeded by Solomon Bryant, an
Indian preacher, who was ordained

pastor. In 1758, Rev. Gideon Haw-
ley was installed pastor of these peo-

ple."
This tract w'as incorporated a dis-

trict in 1834, granting to this people
all the privileges of choosing their

own officers, and managing their af-

fairs, W'ith the aid of a commissioner

appointed by the slate.

This territory is bounded north by
Sandwich, east by Barnstable, south

by Vineyard Sound, and west by Fal-

mouth. It contains fourteen thou-

sand acres, or about twenty-two
square miles.

There are three hundred colored

inhabitants on this territory, and some
wliites. There now remain only seven

inhabitants, of pure blood, of the fa-

thers of the forest. Their land is

good for grain of aU sorts, and is well

wooded. The territory is pleasant,
and some parts of it afford beautiful

scener}'. The IMnrehpee and Quosh-
met are considerable streams, which,
with numerous ponds and the ocean,
afford an abundant supply of fish of

various kinds.

These people live by agricultural

pursuits, the manufacture of various

articles of Indian ware, by the sale of

their wood, and by fishing, fowling,
and taking deer. They are docile

and hospitable ; they appear to relish

moral and religious instruction
; and,

under the superintendence of a hu-
mane and intelligent commissioner,

appointed by the state, they are pros-

perous and happy. This is the largest
remnant of all the tribes of red men
west of Penobscot river, who, but a
little more than two centuries ago,
were fee simple, proprietors of the

whole territory of New England I

MEDFIELD.

NoKFOLK Co. This was a part of

Dedham, and called Dedham village
until its incorporation. It lies eight
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miles south-west from Doclham, and
seventeen south south-west Ironi Bos-

ton.

This is a verj'' pleasant and flour-

ishing town, watered by Charles and

Stop rivers, containing a good soil,

and diversified surface. The manu-
factures of the town consist of boots,

slioes, leather, brushes, cutlery, &^c.

The value of straw bonnets made in

this town in one j'ear was one hun-
dred and thirty-five thousand dollars.

During King Philip's war, in 1075,
the town was burnt, and many of the

inhabitants murdered by the Narra-

gansets. Philip rode an elegant

hor.se, and directed the mas.sacre.

A church was organized here in

ItJol, consisting of eight members;
Rev. John Wilson, jr., was installed

pastor the same year. Mr. Wilson
was born in England, and graduated
in the first class in Harvard College.
He united in himself the offices of a

preacher, physician, and scliool-mas-

ter, at the same time. He continued
in the pastoral office more than forty

years, and died in 1691. After a pe-
riod of nearly six years, in which

t!iirty-two candidates were employed,
Joseph Baxter was settled, and sus-

tained the pastoral office more than

forty-eight years. Mr. Baxter com-
menced his ministerial labors at the

age of eighteen, and in consequence
of his youth, his settlement was de-

I.iyed almost three years.

MEDFORD.

IVIiDDLF.sEX Co. This beautiful

town is situated at the head of navi-

gation on Mystic river, five miles
north-west from Boston, and fourteen

east by south from Concord. The
Boston and Lowell railroad, and I\[id-

dlesex canal, pass through the town.
The finest ships that float on the

ocean are built here
; during the five

years preceding April 1, 1837, sixty
vessels were built, the tonnage of
which was twenty-four thousand one
hundred and ninety-five tons

; value,
one million one hundred and twelve
thousand nine hundred and seventy
dollars. There are also manufactures

17*

of leather, linseed oil, bricks, boot.s,

shoes, ])!oughs, hats, and hat bodies.

The soil of the town is very fertile,

and in a high state of cultivation.

The business of the town is much as-

sociated with the city, and many de-

lightful country seats are scattered

over, and decorate the grounds im-

jiroved as a farm by Gc^vei nor Win-

throp, in 1633.

"Governor Dudley, in his letter of
March 12th, 1630, to the Countess of

Lincoln, speaking of the 'disperlion'
of the settlers who had just arrived
from England, says,

' some of us upon
Mistic, which we named Meadford.''
In Wood's New England Prospcrt,

printed in London in 1639, the author,
in giving an account of the various

settlements, notices Mystic or Medford
in the following manner: 'The next
town is Mistic, whicli is three miles

from Charlestown by land, and a

league and a half by water. It is

sealed by the water-side very plea-

santly ;
there are not many houses as

yet. At the head of this river are

great and spacious ponds, whither the

alewives press to spawn. This being
a noted place for that kind of fish, the

English resort thither to take them.
On the west side of the river, the gov-
ernor hath a farm, where he keeps
most of his cattle. On the east side,
is Mr. Cradock's plantation, where he
hath impaled a park, where he keeps
his cattle, till he can store it with deer.

Here, likewise, he is at charges of

building ships. The last year one
was upon the stocks of an hundred

tons; that being finished, they are to

build one twice her burthen. Ships
without either ballast or loading, may
float down this river

;
otherwise llu-

oyster-bank would hinder them, which
crosseth the channel.' "

Winter Hill, memorable as tlie

place of encampment of General Bur-

goyne and his army, after their cap-
lure at Saratoga, borders tlie town. It

is one hundred and twenty-five feet

above tide-water, and presents a view
of great extent and beauty.

In the old burying ground, a beau-
tiful granite monument is ercctcA

bearing the following inscription :—
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" Sacred to the memory of
JOHN BROOKS,

Who was born in Medford, in the

month of May, 1752, and educated at

the Town School. He took up aims
for his country on the 19th April, 1775.

He commanded the regiment which
first entered the enemy's lines at Sar-

atoga, and served with honor, to the

close of the war. He was appointed
Marshal of the District of Massachu-
setts by President Washington, and
after filling several important civil

and military offices, he was, in the

year 1816, chosen Governor of the

Commonwealth
;
and discharged the

dudes of that station for seven suc-

cessive years, to general acceptance.
He was a kind and skilful physician,
a brave and prudent officer, a wise,

firm, and impartial magistrate, a true

patriot, a good citizen, and a faithful

friend. In manners he was a gentle-

man, in morals pure, and in profession
and practice a consistent Christian.

He departed this life in peace on the

first of March, 1825, aged 73. This
monument to his honored memory
was erected by several of his fellow-

citizens and friends in the year 1838.

MEDWAY.

Norfolk Co. This was attached
to Medfield until its incorporation as

a town, in 1713. It lies twenty-four
miles south-west from Boston, and
fourteen south-west from Dedham.
It is bounded north by Holliston, east

by Medfield and Walpole, south by
Franklin, and west by Blilford. The
surface of the town is undulating,
with a soil of a moderate quality.

Medway is finely watered by Charles
river on the east and south, and oth-

erwise by its branches. On these

streams are excellent mill-seats, many
of which are improved for important
manufactures. These consist of cot-

on and woollen goods, boots, shoes,

scythes, chairs, cabinet-ware, ploughs,
cotton wadding, straw bonnets, (fee.

;

annual value about five hundred thou-

sand dollars.

There are a number of very pleasant
illages in Medwnv. Factorv village,

in the south part of the town, near

Franklin, is a place of considerable
business.

The first mini iter in Medway was
the Rev. David Deraing, in 1715

;
the

second was the Rev. Nathan Buck-

man, in 1724, who sustained the pas-
toral office in this place more than

seventy years. He died in 1795, aged
ninety-tw^o.

MENDOX.

Worcester Co. Mendon is the

oldest town in the county, except Lan-
caster. It was originally settled by
people from Braintree and Weymouth.
October 16, 1660, "In answer to said

Braintry Petition, a plantation of

eight miles square was granted, by
the general court, and placed under
the direction of a committee, called
' the committee for Nipmu^.'

" This
was the original name of Mendon.

May 15, 1667, this plantation, which
was then called Quinshepauge, was
made a town, and incorporated by
the name of Mendon, probably after

Mendham, in the county of Sufiblk,

England.
May, 1675, the town was burned

by the Indians. The inhabitants fled,

and did not return until 1680. Rich-

ard Post was Idlled at this time, being
the first man who lost his life in King
Philip's war, within the bounds of

the colony of Massachusetts.
The face of the town is fertile, pro-

ducing large crops of hay and grain,

and, for a long time, has been noted

for the variety and abundance of its

winter apples. The late Mr. Seth

Davenport has, in some years, laid

up from one thousand to fifteen hun-
dred bushels of good, fair apples, all

picked from the trees by hand.

The agricultural income of the

town is principally derived from the

dairy, apples, and cranberries. About

thirty thousand pairs of boots are an-

nually made in this town.

This very pleasant, healthy, and

flourishing town, lies in latitude 42° 6'

23" N., and longitude 71° 33' 35" W.
from Greenwich. It is thirty and a half

miles and ihiity-five and a half rods,
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[i
educed to the level of the sea,] in a

Mraight Une, from the Slate House in

Boston, and bears from it S. nO"" 2()'

W. These calculations are for the

Sj5ire of the Unitarian meeling-iiouse.
^lendon lies thirty-two miles south-

west from Boston
; eighteen south-

east from Worcester; tweniy-tsvo
north from Providence ;

ten north-

west from Woonsocket Falls, Rhode
Island, and eleven miles south-east

Irom the depot, on the Boston and
Worcester railroad, at Westborough.
This good old town now contains

but eleven thousand three hundred
and seventy-five acres of land, having

parted with portions of its territory to

make up the towns of Belluigham,

Alilford, Upton, Northbridgc, and Ux-

bridge ;
and now the residue of her

domain is cut in twain to form the

new and flourishing town of Bi.acii-

STONE, a brief description of which is

here given.

BLACKSTONE. One of the

youngest towns in the Commonwealth,
having been incorporated by an act

of the general court in 1815. It was

formerly the south parish in Mendon,
and is bounded north by jMendon,
from which it is separated by a line

running nearly east and west; east

by Bellingham ;
south by Cumberland

and Smithfield, in the State of Rhode
Island , and west by Uxbridge.

Blackstone river and Blackstone ca-

nal run through the town on the south,
and 31111 river on the east, upon Mhich
are nine cotton, and four woollen nulls,
and an extensive scythe manufactory.
The value of goods made is about six

hundred thousand dollars annually.
The extensive and well known wool-
len manufactory of W. & D. D. Far-
num is in this town.

This is the southeasternmost town
m the county of Worcester; and is

thirty-nine miles south-west from Bos-

ton, and eighteen north-west from
Providence, Rhode Island, and has
five places of public wor.ship, and four

post villages ;—South INIendon, Miil-

ville, Blackstone, and Waterford.
The township is somewhat broken

and uneven, with rather a thin soil
;

much of the water-power is yet unoc-

cu])icd. The Providence and Worces-
ter railroad is located through the

south-western section of the town
;

and another railroad is in contemjila-
tion Irom Woonsocket Falls, in Cum-
berland. Rhode I.-land, through Black-

stone, JMendon, IMilforil, and HoUis-

ton, to Framingham. Population in

ly 15, three thousand and fifty. The
number of acres in the township is

nine thousand six hundred and eighty-
five. The unimproved hydraulic

power upon the Blackstone river,

when employed, will greatly increase

the population and wealth of the town.

METIILKX.

Essex Co. Methuen lies on the

north bank of the 3Ierrimack, twenty-
fi\ e miles north by west from Boston,
and twenty north-west by north from
Salem. It was taken from Haverhill

in 1725, and is about seven miles

south-west from it.

In this town is a pleasant and

flourishing village on both sides of

Spiggot river, which here has a fall

of thirty-six feet over a rocky preci-

pice, that greatly enhances the beauty
of the location, and at the same time

affords important manufacturing priv-

ileges. Spiggot river meets the i\Ier-

rimack nearly opposite the mouth of

the Shawshine, in Andover. At this

place arc two cotton mills, and be-

tween the falls and the mouth of the

river, are two paper mills, and an ex-

tensive piano-forte manufactory. The
inhabitants are also largely engagetl
in the manufacture of shoes, hats, ice.

Value of manufactures for the year
ending April, 1845, five hundred thou-

sand dollars.

The Merrimack river here aflbrds

excellent facilities for manufacturing
purposes, and the Essex company have

purchased the lands on both sides of

the river, intending to create a water-

power equal to that of Lowell, and
have obtained from the legislature an
act lor that purpose.
The natural resources of the town
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are various
;
a fertile soil, abundance

of wood, and inexhaustible beds of

excellent peat.
The site of the village is very ele-

vated, and commands an extensive

prospect of the beautiful and romantic

scenery with which it is environed.

MIDDL.EBOROUGH.

Plymouth Co. This is the largest
town in the Commonwealth, it being,

by the new map of the slate, about
thirteen and a half miles in length,
and twelve and a half in width. It is

bounded north by Bridgewater and

Halifax, east by Carver, south by
Rochester and Freetown, and west by
Freetown, Taunton, and Raynham.

Middleborough was so named from
the circumstance that Nemasket, the

central Indian village in the town,
was the half way, or middle place be-

tween the seat of the Pilgrims in Ply-

mouth, and the seat of the great In-

dian sachem, Massasoit, towards Mont

Hnitp, near Bristol, Rhode Island,
afterwards the seat of King Philip,
liis son. Hampden and Winslow,
two of the PilgTims, on their visit to

Massasoit, in his illness, stopped over

night, going and returning, at Nemas-
ket. The Indians were very nume-
rous at the several fishing places on
the Nemasket river, which flows

through the town, and the villages at

these places were called Nemasket, a
name which ought now to be given to

the town.
A settlement of the sons of the Pil-

grims was made in the town some

yenrs preceding Philip's war
;

their

mill and houses were destroyed at

that time
;
and a permanent settle-

ment and town organization took

place in 1680, at which time tIso a
minister and a school-master came in

with the settlers.

In 1660, a large portion of the pres-
ent town was purchased by twenty-
six men, of the Indian sachem Wam-
patiirk, and subsequently another large

portion, of the sachem Tispaquin, and
a number of families now own t!ie

land laid off to their ancestors, under
these purchases.
The shad and alewive fisheries had

been the great source from which the

Indians received their support, and
for more than a century, was the

great reliance of the English for their

livelihood
;

but the manufacturing-
establishments on the river have
caused a great diminution of the fish,
and the chief reliance for support now
is upon the cultivation of the earth.

The population is sparse ;
but there

are several handsome villages in dif-

ferent parts of the town. There are

eight or ten religious societies, three

of which are Olhodox Congregation-
alists, two Methodists, and the residue

Baptists.
The inhabitants have been distin-

guished for their spirit of liberty,
and they claim and exercise it. There
are more than forty school districts

and school-houses, in the town, and
the meeting-house of the first parish
is one of the best in the county.
The great ponds, for which this

town has been distinguished, are

Sowampset, Quiticasset, Porksha, and
Pockaninna

;
also Long Pond. These

ponds are the sources of the Nemas-
ket, which flow into the Taunton or

Cohannet. Some of the streams on
which the manufactures are conduct-

ed, are these—Whetstone, Ravens,
Bartlett, Fall Brook, Trout Brook,
Stillwater, &c.

The manufactures of the town
amount annually to between two and
three hundred thousand dollars. There
are two cotton mills in the town, a rol-

ling mill, an air and cupola furnace,
a nail factory, and manufactures of

leather, shovels, spades, forks, ploughs,

wrought nails, chairs, cabinet-ware,

tacks, straw bonnets, and various
other articles.

On the rocks in this town are the

prints of naked hands and feet, sup-

posed by some to be the work of the

Indians
;
but it is more probable that

these impressions were made bj' real

hands and feet when the rocks were
in a state of formation.

In the year l(i65 here were three
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Indian churches, one at Nemasket,
one at Titicut, and one at Sowampset ;

but no regular church of the whites

was formed until the year ICU 1, when
Rev. Samuel Fuller was ordained.

Mr. Fuller died, and Rev. Thomas
Palmer was settled the same year.
j\Ir. Palmer was succeeded by the

Rev. Peter Thachcr, in the year 170(3.

Middleborough "Four Corners/' a

large and handsome village in this

town, lies thirty-six miles south south-

east from Boston, fourteen west south-

west from Plymouth, ten east by south

from Taunton, and twenty north from
New Bedford. The railroad between

Boston, Fall River and Wareham,
passes through this village.

Frotn the " Four Corners " to " Cen-
tral Village," so called, is about two
miles north-east

;
to "

Eddyville
" four

miles north-east
;

to " Muttock vil-

lage
" one mile north

;
to "

Titicut,"
four miles north-west, and to " So-

wampset village," near the Great

pond, is four miles south-west. The
Boston and Fall River railroad

passes through the south part of the

town, near the " Four Corners."
The first planters of Middleborough

came mainly from Plymouth ; they
returned here after Philip's war, and
Mr. Samuel Fuller preached to them
until a church was formed among
them, and he was ordained their pas-
tor in lt39 1. He died, greatly lament-

ed, in 1G95, aged sixty-six.

MIDDLEFIELD.

Hami'suirk Co. Previous to US'],
this town was a part of Worthington
and other towns. It is bounded on
the north by Peru, north-east by
Worthington, south-east by Chester,
south by Becket, and west by Wash-

ington. The centre of the town lies

three miles north from the Becket de-

pot, on the western railroad, one hun-
dred and thirty-five miles west from

Boston, and sixteen from Pittsfield.

From Northampton it lies twenty-five
miles west.

The features of this town are bold

and rough, but the soil is strong, and

remarkably well adapted for grazing.
In one year, there were sheared in the

town nine thousand seven hundred
and twenty-four fleeces of Saxony
wool, which weighed twenty-six thou-

sand seven hundred and forty-one

pounds,and sold for seventeen thousand
three hundred and eighty-two dollars.

The town is well watered by a
number of the upper branches of the

west branch of Westfield river, and

manufacturing establishments are

found planted along their banks. The
value of woollen goods and leather

produced in this town in 1836, was
seventy-five thousand dollars.

The first minister in Mid'ilefield

was the Rev. Jonathan Nash, in 1792
;

the second, the Rev. Samuel Parker,
in 1832; the third, the Rev. John H.

Bisbee, in 1834.

MIDDLESEX COUxNTY.

Concord, CAMBRmGE, and Lowell, are the shire towns. The surface of
this county is uneven, and the soil various. It presents a great variety for

the admiration of the patriot, scholar, farmer, mechanic, and the painter.
It is bounded north by New Hampshu-e ;

north-east by the county of Essex
;

southeast by Charles river, Boston harbor, and Norfolk county, and west by
the county of Worcester. The principal rivers in this county, are the Jlerri-

mack, Charles, Mystic, Sudbury, Concord, and Nashua. The Middlesex
Canal passes through its north-eastern section, and the Boston and Maine,
the Fitchburg, and the Worcester railroads, traverse the county in various
directions. Some idea of the value of its hydraulic power can be formed, by
the value of its manufactures, which was, in 1837, between fifteen and sixteen
millions of dollars. See Slate Tables.
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COURTS IN MIDDLESEX COUNTY.

Supreme Court. Law Term. At Cambridge, on the third Tuesday next
after the 4th Tuesday in September. Nisi Pkius Term. At Lowell, on the
second Tuesday in April.

Court of Common Pleas. At Concord, on the second Mondays in March
and June. At Lowell, on the first Monday in September, and third Monday
in October. At Cambridge, on the second Mondays in February and De-
cember.

Meetings of the County Commissioners. At Cambridge, on the first Tuesday
of January, and at Concord, on the first Tuesdays of June and September.

Probate Courts. At Cambridge, on the second Tuesday of January, on the

third Tuesdays of March, May, and November, on the first Tuesday of Sep-
tember, and on the second Tuesday of October. At Concord, on the second

Tuesdays of February, April, August, and November. At Charlestown, on
the third Tuesdays of February and August. At Framingham, on the last

Tuesdays of June and October. At Groton, on the first Tuesdays of May
and November. At Lowell, on the first Tuesdays of June and December.
At "Woburn, on the fourth Tuesday of April.

MIDDIiETON.

Essex Co. This town was taken
from Salem, Topsfield, Boxford, and

Andover, in 1728. It was formerly
called Will's Hill.

This is a small, but very pretty
town. Its soil is not by nature of the

first quality, but the industry of the

people has made it quite productive.
The surface is varied by hill and dale,
and much scenery may be found to

delight the admirers of nature in its

rude and fanciful appearances.
Ipswich river passes along its south-

ern and eastern borders, and receives

the waters of three small tributaries.

In this town is one of the largest and
most valuable paper-mills in the coun-

try ;
and manufactures of shoes and

various other articles.

There are some fine ponds in the

town, and a neat village near its cen-

tre. From this village to Salem is

eight miles south-east
;

to Boston,
through South Reading, eighteen
miles south. A church was gathered
here in 1729, and the Rev. Andrew
Peters settled as pastor. The second

pastor. Rev. Elias Smith, was settled

in 1759. He died in 1792, and was
succeeded by Rev. Solomon Adams,'
in 1793. Rev. Ebenezer Hubbard,
the next pastor was settled in 1816.

MIIiFORD.

Worcester Co. Blilford was once
the east parish of Mendon. It was
called Wopowage by the Indians, and
Mill River by the whites. A church
was formed here in 1741, and the

Rev. Amariah Frost was settled in

1743.

The surface of the town is uneven,
but in no part very hilly. The soil is

generally of an excellent quality, and

very productive of pork, fat beeves,
and all the varieties of the dairy and
orchard.

A branch of Charles river on the

east side of the town. Mill river, a
branch of the Blackstone on the west,
with numerous brooks and ponds wa-
ter the town in every part, and give
it a great water-power. On these

streams manufacturing establish-

ments have sprung up, which prom-
ise both usefulness and profit.

The manufactures consist of cotton

goods, leather, boots, shoes, chairs,
cabinet and tin-wares, straw bonnets,

varnish, clothing, shoe pegs, wagon
irons, whips, &c. In 1844, there

were two hundred and eighty-four
thousand pairs of boots, and twenty-
four thousand pairs of shoes made in

this town.

The village in the centre of the
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lown IS neat, and pleasantly situated

near Cedar Swamp Pond, nine miles

south from the Worcester railroad at

Framingham ; and, by the old roads,

twenty-eight miles south-west from

Boston, eighteen south-east from Wor-
cester, and twenty-four north north-

west from Providence.
This is the birthplace of the brave

Alexander Scammell, a brigade ma-

jor in 1775, a colonel at the taking
of Burgoyue, and adjutant general of

the army at Yorktown, where he re-

ceived a fatal wound, September 30,
1781.

The Fraternal Community, at

Hopedale, in this town, own four

hundred acres of land. Their village
consists of ten dwelling-houses, nine

of them built since 1842
;
two large me-

chanics' shop, with water-power, ma-

chinery for manufacturing doors,

sashes, blinds, &c., a printing-office,
with barns and out buildings in

good order. Their school-house is

now fitted up as a chapel, and is used
also for the purposes of education.

This community consists of fifteen

families, and 107 persons. This

society have a constitution and regu-
lations of their own, subject, however,
to existing laws.

They take no active part in politi-
cal affairs, and submit to the powers
that be, without complaint. They
have inlendants of agriculture, man-
ufactures, mechanics, &cc. They are

employed in agriculture, the mechanic

arts, and various manufactures, and
each is entitled to an equitable share
of the profits arising from the various

occupations. The}' support those of

their members who are unable from

any cause, except idleness, to support
themselves

;
educate their own youth,

and also pay their proportion of the

public expenses.
This community is under the di-

rection of the Rev. Adin Ballou.

MILLrBURY.

Worcester Co. This is one of the

most beautiful and flourishing towns
in the county. It was formerly the

north parish in Sutton. A church

was formed in this place, and the Rev.
James Wellman was ordained, in 1717.

The Blackstonc river, and the Black-

stone canal pass through the town.

The Blackstone river, and Singlctaiy

pond, which lies mostly in Sutton,
furnish excellent water-privileges.
This pond, between its outlet and its

junction with the river, a distance of

about a mile and A half, affords eight

good mill-seats, besides those afforded

by the river.

There are in the town, an armory
for the manufacture of pistols, six cot-

ton mills, five woollen mills, two pa-

per mills, two machine shops, one

foundery, one scythe establishment,
one carriage establishment, one sasn

and blind factory, and one black lead

mill. The boot and shoe business is

also carried on here very extensively.
The making of carpenters' and shoe-

makers' tools, of hoes, forks, trjir.g-

squares, levels, trowels, tin-ware,

hats, and leather. The annual value

of the manufactures of this town in

1836, was more than half a million of

dollars
;

since that lime, they nave

probably doubled.

The soil of the town is fertile, well

cultivated, and yields an abundance
of all the varieties of agricultural pro-
ducts common to this fruitful region.
The surface of Millbury is delight-

fully varied by hills and valleys,
decorated by lovely ponds, and spread
out with neat and prosperous villages.
The Worcester railroad has a branch
to the centre of the town, six miles

south south-east from Worcester, and

forty-two west south-west from Bos-
ton. The railroad between Worcester
and Providence will pass through this

town.

IMillbury is so pleeisant, so easy of

access, and affords such excellent ac-

commodations for visitors, that it has
become a favorite resort for citizens

and strangers.

MIL.TOX.

Norfolk Co. Milton was a part
of Dorchester until 1662. The Indians

called the place Unquety or Uncata-

quisset. This interesting and pleasant



lO'i LiAZKlTl:.i:i; OF iMA:-->.\CliUSETTS.

town lies seven miles south from Bos-

ton, and six east from Dedham.

Neponset river washes its northern

border, and affords the town numerous
valuable mill sites. The manufac-
tures consist of paper, leather, hats,

chairs, cabinet-ware, playing cards,

granite, &c. Milton possesses fine

granite, of the quality of tlie Quincy,
and many men are constantly prepar-
ing it for market.
The soil of the town is strong and

fertile
;
and the surface presenis many

finely cultivated farms, and large
tracts of wood and meadow lands.

Milton contains many elegant coun-

try seats, and much delightful scene-

ry. The views from "Milton Hill,"
near the head of the Neponset, and
' Blue Hill," a celebrated landmark
for sailors, six hundred and thirty-five
feet above the sea, in this town and

Canton, twelve miles from Boston, are

among the most admired in our coun-

try.
The village called the "Mills,"

comprising a part of Dorchester, at

the head of navigation on the Nepon-
set, is a wild, romantic place, and
ever since the first settlement of the

country, has been the seat of consider-

able trade and manufacture.
The village at the railroad, near

the granite quarry, in Quincy, about
a mile south-east of the "

Mills," is

very pleasant and flourishing. By a
new and beautiful bridge, called the
" Granite bridge," across the Nepon-
set, the distance to the city is reduced
to six miles.

An academy was established in

Milton in 1798, by contributions from
the town, and a grant of land in

Maine, by the state. The institution

was opened in 1807, and continued to

be very useful as a classical school for

ten years, under the direction of the

Rev. Warren Pierce. For the last

twenty years, its success has been va-

rious, under the management of seve-

ral instructors.

Many distinguished men have made
Milton their residence

; among others,
the celebrated historian of Blassachu-

sctls, Thomas Hutchinson, British

governor of that state at the lime ol

the destruction of the tea in Boston,
by the Sons of Liberty, December 14,
1773. He died in England, in 17&U,

aged sixty-nine.
Jonathan Belcher, British gov-

ernor of Massachusetts and New
Hampshire, from 1730 to 1741. He
was afterwards governor of New Jer-

sey, and was a great benefactor to

Princeton College, in that state. He
died in England, in 1757, aged sev

enty-six.
Hon. Benjamin Pratt, a graduate

of Harvard College, and chief justice
of New York. Prior to his leaving
Massachusetts, he made a collection

for a history of New England, and
became somewhat celebrated as a

poet. He died in 1763, aged fifty-

three.

Hon. Edward H. Robeins, formerly

speaker of the house of representa-
tives of Massachusetts, lieutenant-

governor of that state, and judge of

probate for the county of Norfolk at

the time of his death, was a native of

Milton. He was a man of great in-

tegrity, and performed his public
trusts to general approbation. He
died in November, 1829, aged seventy-
one.

The first paper-mill in New Eng-
land was erected in this town. We
copy an account of it from that valu-

able little journal, the Daily Evming
Transcript :—
"An act to encourage the manu-

facture of paper in New England was

passed by the general court of Massa-

chusetts, on the 13th September, 1728,
and a patent was granted to Daniel

Henchman, Gilman Phillips, Benja-
min Faneuil, Thomas Hancock, and

Henry Dering, for the -sole manufac-
ture of paper for ten years, on the fol-

lowing conditions : In the first fifteen

months to make one hundred and forty
reams of brown paper, and sixty
reams of printing paper. The second

year to make fifty reams of writing

paper, in addition to the first-men-

tioned quantit3\ The third year and
afterwards yearly, to make twenty-
five reams of a superior quality of
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writing paper, in addition to the for-

mer mentioned, that the total annual

produce of the various qualities not

to be less than five hundred reams a

year. The afore -mentioned proprie-
tors erected a small paper-mill in jMil-

'

ton, on a site adjoining the Neponset
river, near the lower bridge. What
number of years the original proprie-
tors carried it on, is not now known

;

their master-workman's name was
Henry Woodman, an Englishman ;

he married in Milton, and left chil-

dren, two daughters, Abigail and Re-
bekah. The paper-mill, having been

stopped for some time, w^as eventually
sold to Mr. Jeremiah Smith, who, for

want of workmen, was prevented
making any use of it. In 1760, the

business was again revived by James
Boies, of Boston, who procured a pa-
per-maker from a British regiment,
then stationed in Boston, by the name
of Hazelton, who obtained a furlough
long enough to set the mill to work,
there being an American paper-maker,
Abijah Smith, then living in Milton, a
decent workman, who assisted him,
and who continued at the business
until an advanced age. On the regi-
ment to which Hazelton belonged be-

ing ordered to Quebec, the command-
er-in-chief would not permit him to

remain behind, and he went with the

army to Canada, and received a wound
on the plains of Abraham, when
Wolfe fell, and died a few weeks af-

ter. After a short time, Richard
Clarke, an Englishman, arrived from
Nesv York, and ag-ain set the mill to

work. He was an excellent work-

man, and made his own moulds.
After a few years he was joined by
his son, a young man of nineteen or

twenty years, who was also considered
a first-rate workman. Such is the

origin of the first paper-mill built in
New England, and probably the first

erected this side of Philadelphia, if not
the first in America

;
and such was

the commencement of that now inval-
uable and extensive branch of New
England productive industry, on
which so many thousands deper-d for

support."
18

MONROE.
Fra.vklin Co. IMonroe was for-

merly a i>;\rt of Rowe, and an unin-

corporated track called "the Gore."
It is bounded north by Readsborough,
Vermont, east by Rowe and Deer-
field river, south by Florida, and we-

by Clarksburgh.
There is some land in the town fit

for the plough, but being very moun-
tainous, the greater part is adapted
only to grazing. In 1837, there were
one thousand one hundred sheep
in the town, whose average fleeces

weighed three and a quarter pounds.
Monroe was named in honor of

James Monroe, late president of the

United States
;
and lies twenty-five

miles west north-west from Greenfield,
and one hundred and fifteen miles
west by north from Boston.

MOXSOJT.

Hampden Co. Before its incorpor-
ation in 1760, Monson was a part of
the town of Brimfield. A church was
formed here about the year 1762, and
the Hon. Simeon Strong, afterwards a

judge of the Supreme Court, was the
first officiating clergyman.
Monson lies seventeen miles east

of Springfield, eighty miles west south-
west of Boston, and four miles south
of the railroad depot at Palmer.
The surface of the town is agreea-

bly diversified by hill and dale, with
much good soil and many excellent
farms. The position of its central

village, in a vale running north and
south, and bounded on either hand by
sloping hills, is beautiful and roman-
tic, the prospect on some points being
very rich and variegated. It contains
one large Congregational church, a
beautiful vestry, and a spacious acad-

emy building. Tliis is an incorporated
institution, and possessed of conside-
rable funds, and has been in successful

operation many years. There is also
in the town a Baptist meeting-house
and a IMeiliodist chapel.
On a stream, a branch of the Chick-

opee, running north through the cen-

tre, are two cotton, and three satinet
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mil's, in constant operation. Nearly
a mile from the centre of the village,
and two and a half miles from the

wes.ern railroad, is an inexhaustible

quarry of granite, of a beautiful qual-

ity, and much used for architectural

purposes. Good samples of this may
be seen in dwelling-houses and stores

in Springfield, Westfield, and other

places. Blocks of this granite may
be obtained seventy feet in length, and
of any desired width. On dressing
this stone, it presents a variety of col-

ors, and appears as handsome as

clouded marble.
There are in the town many me-

chanic shops of different kinds, and
the manufacturing of Florence bon-

nets is carried on to a considerable

extent, and much attention is paid to

the manufacturing of palm-leaf hats
;

also one spectacle shop, which manu-
factures from four to five thousand
dollars worth of silver spectacles an-

nuallj'.

MONTAGUE.

Franklin Co. This town, previous
to 1753, was the north parish in Sun-

derland, and was called Hunting Hills,

from a range of highlands in the east-

erly part of the town, bearing among
others, the names ofHarvey, Chestnut,

Bald, Pine, and Quarry hills. The
town contains some fine plains, and

large tracts of good meadow on Con-
necticut river, on the east side of

which the town is situated. It is

bounded on the north partly by a bend
of the Connecticut, and partly by Mil-

ler's river
;
east by Wendall, and south

by Leverett and Sunderland.

Montague lies opposite to Deerfield

and Greenfield, and united to them by
a bridge.

Turner's Falls, at the northerly

part of the town, are more interesting
than any in the state, and probably as

much so as any m New England.
The canal for passing these falls,

'three miles in length, and seventy-
five feet lockage, with an immense
dam across the river, greatly facili-

tates the navigation on Connecticut

river. This place has a great \vater-

power, and promises peculiar advan-

tages to the manufacturing interest.

The scenery around this place is ro-

mantic and beautiful, and to the lov-

ers of antiquarian lore, full of inter-

esting associations.

MONTEREY.

Berkshire Co. This town was

incorporated April 12, 1847. It com-

prises the southern part of Tyring-
ham, and partakes of the beautiful

scenery of that alpine town.

MONTGOMERY.

Hampden Co. This is a mountain-
ous township, bounded on the north

by Norwich, east by Southampton
and Westfield, south by Westfield and

Russell, and west by Blandford.

The town is well watered by West-
field river and Moose Meadow brook,
and produces rich pastures for sheep
and cattle.

A church was organized here in

1797, and the first pastor, the Rev.
Seth Noble, was settled in 1801.

Montgomery lies, by the western

railroad, which passes the south-west

border of the town, eighteen miles

north-west from Springfield, and one
hundred and sixteen miles west by
south from Boston. The depot is in

Russell.

MOUNT WASHINGTON.

Berkshire Co. The territory of
this town was formerly claimed as a

part of Livingston Manor, New York,
and was called Taucunnuck mountain.
It was first settled about the year
1751, and when this highest town in

the Commonwealth became a town,
in 1776, the legislature wisely gave it

the most elevated name on the scroll

of his country. Mount Washington
is bounded north by Egremont, east

by Sheffield, south by Salisbury, Con-

necticut, and west by Boston Corner,
and by Ancram and Copake, in the

state of New York.
This is truly a mountainous town,

for its whole territory consists of a
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vast pile of mountains, beionginp; to

the Taconic range, which skirts

Massachusetts on its western border.

There are valleys in the town, but

they are two thousand feet above the

Housatonic, which lies about five

miles east from the ceittre valley, or

business part of the toivn.

" A lowly vale, and yet uplifted liigh

Ainons the mountains ;
even as if the spot

Had been from oldest time, by wish of theirs,
So placed to be shut out from all the world."

On the sides of this mountain val-

ley are mountains rising some five

hundred and some a thousand feet in

height, from which descend some of

the most beautiful cascades in nature,

winding their aerial courses to the bo-

som of some distant lake or river.

The mountain on the east, and near-

est to the Housatonic, is the highest
and most interesting ;

it is the Mount
Washinuton of the group. We copy
Dr. Hitchcock's description of the

view from this summit, from his val-

uable '•

Geology of 3Iassachusetts."
" Its central part is a somewhat

conical, almost naked eminence, ex-

cept that numerous yellow pines, two
or three feet high, and whortleberry
bushes, have fixed themselves where-
ever the crevices of the rock afford

sutlicient soil. Thence the view from
the summit is entirely unobstructed.
And what a view !

—
" In depth, in height, in circuit, how serene
The spectacle, how pure !

—Of nature's works
In earth and air,

A revelation infinite it seems."

" You feel yourself to be standing
above everything around you ;

and

possess the proud consciousness of

literally looking down upon all ter-

restrial scenes. Before you on the

east, the valley through which the

Housatonic meanders, stretches far

northward in 3Iassachusctts, and
southward into Connecticut

; sprinkled
over with copse and glebe, with small
sheets of water and beautiful villages.
To the south-east especially, a large
sheet of water appears, I believe in

Canaan, of surpassing beauty. In
tlie south-west the gigantic Alender,

Riga, and other mountains more re-

mote, seem to bear the blue heavens
on their heads in calm majesty ;

while

stretching across the far distant west,
the Catskills hang like the curtains of

the sky. O what a glorious disjilay
of mountains all around you ! how
does one in such a spot turn round
and round, and drink in new glories,
and feel his heart swelling more and
more with emotions of sublimity, until

the tired optic nerve shrinks from its

office.

"
Ah, lh;it such beauty, varying in the light

Of livin;; nature, cannot be portrayed
By words, nor by llie pencil's silent skill,
Hut is the property of liiiri alone
Who hath beheld it, noted it with care,
And in his mind recorded it with love."

" This certainly is the grandest

prospect in Massachusetts; though
others are more beautiful. And the

first hour that one spends in such a

spot, is among the richest treasures

that memory lays up in her store-

house."
To distinguish this mountain from

the town, it is called " Bald Peak."
Dr. Hitchcock, in his work, has given
it the name of Mount Everett.
The best way of getting to Mount

Washington from any part of Rlassa-

chusetts, is through Egremont, which
lies twenty-five miles south by west
from Piltsfield. From Egremont you
pass along a vast uncultivated slope,
to the height of nearly two thousand

feet, when you reach the broad val-

ley where the few inhabitants reside,
a distance of about seven miles.

From Hudson, New York, the dis-

tance to this enchanting spot is about

twenty miles. We pass the beautiful

lake in Copake, and up through the

romantic gorge, on the w^est side of

the mountain.
It is truly surprising that while

thousands are evexy year thronging
to visit the White Mountains in New
Hampshire, and the Catskills in New
York, our own IMount Washington,
possessing scenery which would repay
a lover of nature for a voyage across

the Atlantic, should be so liule heed-

ed.
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NANTUCKET, TOWN AND COUNTY.

This island, town and county, formerly belonged to Dukes county, and was

bought of Thomas Rlayhew, July 2, 1659, by Thomas Macy, for thirty pounds,
in merchantable pay, and two beaver hats. The Indians who dwelt on the

island, sold their title to the white inhabitants from one time to another. It

was named Sherburne by Governor Lovelace, in 1673, and so called to June 8,

179-5. It was first settled in 1659. Its Indian name was Nautican.

Nantucket lies east from Dukes county, and about thirty miles south of

Cape Cod, or Barnstable county. This island is about fifteen miles in length
from east to west, and about four miles average breadth. It contains fifty

square miles.

The town is in about the centre of the island, on the north side, in latitude

41° 16' 36"; west longitude, 70^ 6' 06". It is one hundred and ten miles

south-east by south from Boston, by railroad and steamboat, fifty-five south-

east from New Bedford, thirty south-east from Falmouth, and four hundred
and eighty-nine from Washington.

Nantucket has a good harbor, with seven and a half feet of water at low

tide, on the bar at its mouth. This island was formerly well wooded, but for

many years it has not had a single tree of native growth. The soil is light
and sandy ;

it however aflbrds pasturage, for about seven thousand sheep,
five hundred cows, and other cattle. In 1659, when this island was first set-

tled by the whites, it contained three thousand Indians, but now, not one.

The whale fishery commenced here in 1690
;
and this place is, pei'haps,

more celebrated than any other, for the enterprise and success of its people,
in that species of nautical adventure. Indeed, Nantucket is the mother of

that great branch of wealth in America, if not in the world. In the year end-

ing April 1, 1844, Nantucket employed seventy-eight vessels in that fishery,
the tonnage of which was twenty-six thousand six hundred and eighty-four
tons

;
one million eighty-sLx thousand four hundred and eighty-eight gallons

of sperm and whale oil were imported, the value of which was eight hundred
and forty-six thousand dollars. The number of hands employed was about

two thousand. The capital invested was two million seven hundred and

thirty thousand dollars
;

this includes the ships and outfits only ; yet many
of the manufactories of the place are appendages of the whale fishery : alto-

gether employing a capital of five millions of dollars.

There are manufactures on the island, of vessels, whale boats, bar iron,

tin-ware, boots, shoes, oil casks, and candle boxes. The whole amount
of the manufactures of oil and candles, in 1844, was one million three hun-
dred and seventy-five thousand seven hundred and forty-five dollars. Total

tonnage of the district of Nantucket in 1844, thirty thousand six hundred and

ninety-seven tons.

There are two daily penny papers published in the town, and one weekly
newspaper. The public buildings consist of a court-house, alms-house, three

banking houses, two hotels, an insurance office, a very convenient post-office,
an extensive reading-room, nine houses of worship, (including two for the

society of Friends, one Congregational, one Unitarian, two Methodists, one

Episcopalian, and one Baptist;) a handsome structure occupied by the
" Aiheneum," containing a lecture-room, museum, library, ficc

;
six commodi-

ous edifices, for twelve or fourteen of the various town schools, (which embrace
an aggregate of some fifteen hundred scholars,) among them the high school,
with upwards of one hundred pupils.

Great attention is paid to education on this island. The men are noted for

their sedateness and daring spirit, and the ladies for their intelligence and

beauty.
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On the night of the 13lh of July, 1846, a fire broke out m the most com
pact part of the town, and in a few hours it destroyed not less than three

hundred and fifty buildings; among which were two banking houses, a
church, the Athena;uin, seven oil and candle factories, Arc, iScc. The loss

was estimated at $900,000 ;
about one third of which was insured by offices

in other places.
The village of Siasconset is situated at the south-east extremity of the island,

and contains about seventy houses. The cod-fishery was carried on there a
few years since, but of late it has been nearly relinquished. The houses,
with few exceptions, are occupied only in the warm season. The village is

compactly built on a level grass plat, near the edge of a steep clift'; the land
rises in the rear so as to cut oil" a view of the town of Nantucket. Tliis place

presents uncommon attractions in the warm season, for invalids. It has a
fine bracing air, and excellent water. In front of the village ''the eye rests

on a broad expanse of the Atlantic, and below, the surf, rolling and breaking,
gives animation to the scenes by day, and lulls to repose by night." It lies

about seven miles from the town. See State Tables.

COURTS IN NANTUCKET COUNTY

Supreme Court. Law Tekm. At Boston, on the first Tuesday of Rlarch.

Nisi Prius. At Nantucket, on the first Tuesday of July.
Common Pleas. At Nantucket, on the first Mondays of June and October.

Meetings of the County Commissioners. At Nantucket, on the third Monday
of April, and second Monday of October.

Probate Courts. At Nantucket, on the first Saturday of every month.

NATICK.

Middlesex Co. This township
was originally granted by the general
court to the Indians, as a place for a

permanent residence. It was incor-

porated into an English district in

1761, and into a town in 1781, by
the name of Natick, a word in the

Indian language, signifying
" the place

of hills." It is watered by Charles

river, and contains numerous fish-

ponds. There are two villages, which
are upwards of a mile apart.
The first Indian church in New

England was formed here, in 1660.
The Indians were first brought togeth-
er by Mr. Eliot, at Nonantum, (in
Newton.) but not finding sufficient

accommwlation, they removed to Na-
tick in 1651. Here they built a town
on the banks of Charles rivei,

" which
consisted of three long streets

;
two

on the Boston side of the river, and
one on the other. TO each house was
attached a piece of ground. Most
of the houses were built after the In-

18*

dian fashion. One large house was
erected in the English style, the lower

apartment of which was employed as
a school-room in the week, and as a

place of worship on the Lord's day.
There was likewise a large handsome
fort, of a circular figure, palisadoed
with trees

;
and a foot bridge over

the river, the foundation of which
was secured with stone

;
with several

little houses after the English fashion.

I According to the advice of IMr. Eliot,

they adopted the form of government

[proposed by Jethro to IVIoses. About
one hundred of them met togethei,

j

and chose one ruler of a hundred, two
I

rulers of fifties, and ten rulers of tens.

: After their church was formed, they
! flourished under a succession of pious
teachers, natives and English, until,

by repeated wasting sickness and
other causes so fatal to the race, they
have now become nearly if not quite
extinct.

Mr. Eliot translated the whole Bible

into the Nalick (or Nipmuc) dialect.

This Bible was printed at Cambridge,
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iti 1663, and is the first Bible printed
in America. A second edition was

printed in 1G85, in the correction of

which J\Ir. Eliot received great assist-

ance from Mr. John Cotton. The fol-

lowing is the title-page :
—"Mamusse

Wunneetupanatamwe Up Bidlum God,
Naneeswe Nukkone Testament Kah
Wonk WusKU Testaivient."

" It is related that while Mr. Eliot

was engaged in translating the Bible

into the Indian language, he came to

the following passage in Judges v. 28.
' The mother of Sisera looked out at

the window, and cried through the

lattice,' &c. Not knowing an Indian
word to signify lattice, he applied to

several of the natives, and endeavored
to describe to them what a lattice re-

sembled. He described it as a frame-

work, netting, wicker, or whatever oc-

curred to him as illustrative
;
when

they gave him a long, barbarous, and

unpronounceable word, as are most of

the words in their language. Some
years after, when he had learned their

dialect more correctly, he is said to

have laughed outright upon finding
that the Indians had given him the

true term for eelpot. 'The mother of

Sisera looked out at the window, and
cried through the eelpot.'

"

The manufactures of the town con-

sist principally of shoes. As early as

1836, the value of shoes made here
was two hundred and fifteen thousand

dollars, since which time the business
has much increased. The largest

part of Long Pond lies in this town.
Natick lies thirteen miles south

from Concord, and by the Worcester
railroad seventeen miles west south-

west from Boston.

KEEDHAM.

Norfolk Co. This town was a

part of Dedham until 1711. It is

something of the nature of a penin-
sula, being surrounded for more than
two thirds of its limits by Charles riv-

er. There are large bodies of meadow
on the banks of this river

;
Broad mea-

dow, lying partly in this town and the

towns of Dedham and Newton, is said

to be one of the largest in the state.

The town is uncommonly well water-

ed, and is diversified with hills and

plains. In the course of the river

which separates this town from New
ton, there are two falls, called the

upper and lower falls, which afford

valuable water privileges. At the

upper falls is the largest cataract in

the whole of Charles river, from its

source to its mouth. The water here
falls twenty feet upon a bed of rocks.

The principal settlements in the

town are in the vicinity of the upper
and lower fails. There is a manufac-

turing village at both of these falls,

lying partly in this town and partly in

Newton.
In these villages are large manu-

factures of paper, cotton goods, hats,
window-blind hinges, boots, shoes, &c.
The soil of the town is good, and

well farmed
;
and the encircling river

presents much beautiful scenery.
Needham lies five miles north-west

from Dedham, and, by the Worcester

railroad, thirteen miles south-west
from Boston.

NEAV ASHFORD.

Berkshire Co. New Ashford lies

thirteen miles north from Pittsfield,

and, by the western railroad from

Pittsfield, one hundred and sixty-four
miles west from Boston.

This township is situated princi-

pally on the steep and rugged hills

which make from Saddle mountain
on the east, and the Taconic range on
the west, and which here approach
each other. In the narrow valley be-

tween these hills, along the rise of the

western branch of the Housatonic,
and the eastern branch of Green river,

are some small tracks of more feasi-

ble land, producing grain, grass, &c.,

though the soil in general is hard and

gravelly, and of an indifferent quality.

By these streams, with the connected

springs and brooks, the town is well

watered. The branch of Green river,
on which are several mill-sUes, runs
northward into Williamstown, re-

ceives the branch from Hancock, and
finds its way into the Hoosic. The
rise of this stream is near the rise ot
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the western branch ol' the Housalonic,
]

which takes an opposite direction, ;ind

flows into Lanesborou;;h.
The people of this town pay consid-

erable attention to rearing sheep ;
and

much beautifully variegated marble
is found here, manufactured, and sent

to market.

NEW BEDFORD.

Bristol Co. This town is plea-

santly and eligibly situated on the

west side of a small estuary, called

the Accushnut river, which makes up
in a northerly direction into the land,
near the western extremity of Buz-
zard's Bay. It is a half-shire town of

the county. It was formerly a part
of the old town of Dartmouth, which
once included tiie towns of Westport,
Dartmouth, New Bedford, and Fair-

haven. New Bedford was incorpo-
rated in the year 1787. In the year
1812, that portion of the town situated

on the east side of the river, was set

olf as a separate township, retaining
tli'e name of Fairhaven, by which it

had always been distinguished from
the opposite settlement of Bedford.

New Bedford is situated in north

latitude 4 P 37' 43"
;
and west longi-

tude 70^ 59'. It lies, by the diflereut

lines of railroads, fifty-five miles south

by east from Boston
; lorty-nine south-

east from Providence
;
and two hun-

dred and twenty-eight norih-easi by
east from New York

;
and by the

post-roads, four hundred and thirty-
four miles from Washington. From
New Bedford to Fall river is fourteen

miles, and to Nantucket, by steam-

boat, fifty-five miles.

The township of New Bedford is

ten and a half miles in length, and its

average witlth is about a mile and a
half.

The situation of New Bedford is

very beautiful. It is built upon
ground which rises rapidly from the

river, and the view from the opposite
tLwn of Fairhaven, and from the har-

h >r as you approach it from the south,
is not excelled by that of any town in

ihe countiy. It is laid out with much
egnlarity, the streets crossing at right

angles. Most of the sidewalks are

flaggetl, and several of the streets are

paved
The buildings are mostly of wood,

although several of the finest houses
and stores are of more durable mate-

rials. Few strangers who visit New
Bedford, fail to be struck with the ex-

ceeding neatness and beauty of the

dwellings in the upper part of the

town. Much of this attractiveness is

owing to the circumstance that they
are nearly all surrounded by exten-

sive and well cultivated gardens, and
that the streets on which they are

built are bordered with a great vari-

ety of ornamental trees.

County street, which runs the whole
extent of the thickly settled part of the

town, upon the summit of the rising

ground, on which it is built, is allowed
to be without a rival in this country
for its various and attractive beauties.

The whale fishery, and the manu-
facture of the product of that fishery,
are the principal branches of business
in which the inhabitants are engaged.
As early as the year 17t>l, we find

the settlers in the village of Beilford,

sending out their small vessels, after

the greasy monsters, some of which
reached as far south as the Falkland
Islands. Suspended by the war of

the revolution, the business was vigo-

rously and successfully renewed at its

close, and excepting the interruption
caused by the second war with Eng-
land, it has been constantly pursued,
and continually increasing.
The wiiole number of vessels now

belonging to the town, engaged in the

fishery, is two hundred and thirty-

nine, all ships but five, measuring
seventy-six thousand seven hundred
and eighty-four tons, and having ,on
board upwards of six thousand sea-

men. During the year 1843, one
hundred and one thousand nine hun-
dred and eighty-eight barrels, or three

million two hundred and twelve thou-

sand six hundred and twenty-two gal-
lons of oil were brought into that port

by the ships belonging to the town,
sixty-one thousaml and sixty-six bar-

rels of which was spiemi, (rnrhelct^
and forty thousand nine hundred and
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twenty-two barrels of right whale,

(Balccna Avstralis.) The value of the

imports of oil and whalebone for the

year 1843, was about two million

three hundred and thirty thousand
dollars. For the year 1844, the im-

ports were one hundred and fifty-seven

thousand five hundred and one bar-

rels, or four millions nine hundred
and sixty-one thousand two hundred
and eighty-one gallons

—sperm, fifty-

four thousand five hundred and nine

barrels
; right whale, one hundred

and two thousand nine hundred and

ninety-two barrels, and nine hundred
and seventy-eight thousand five hun-

dred and ninety-two pounds of whale-

bone, valued at three million one

hundred and four thousand six hun-
dred and ninety-five dollars. Eighty
ships were fitted out during the year.

In the district which includes the

ports of New Bedford, Fairhaven,

Dartmouth, Westport, Maltapoisett,

Sippican, and Wareham, there are

one hundred and nine thousand six

hundred and fifty-four tons of ship-

ping—registered, one hundred and one

thousand one hundred and fifty-four
tons

; enrolled, eight thousand five

hundred, of which ninety-seven thou-

sand four hundred and ninety-four
tons are engaged in the whaling busi-

ness. In the coasting trade, there are

four brigs, fifty-seven schooners, forty-
three sloops, and one steamboat.

The manufacture of the products of

the fishery forms an important part
of the business of the town. Much
of the sperm oil imported, is prepared
for use by the diflerent processes by
which Spring, Summer, Fall, and
Winter oil, as the dilTerent kinds are

called, are produced, before it finds its

way to the various markets of the

country ;
and from the spermaceti,

an article exclusively the product of

the sperm whale, is manufactured the

spermaceti candle, so universally ad-

mired for its beauty, and esteemed for

iis pleasant light. There are nine-

teen oil and candle manufactorias

ijow in operation in the town.

A large proportion of the right
whale oil is exported to the north of

purope. The rpantifacture of this

kind of oil is carried on to some ex-

tent in the town, and more extensively
in other parts of the country, the high

price of sperm oil causing it to be

much used in lamps as a substitute

for the dearer and purer article.

By the new British tariff', the duty
on sperm oil is much reduced, and
since it has been in operation, consid-

erable quantities of that article have
been sent to England.
As a necessary appendage to the

fisheries, the coopering business is

extensively carried on.

Ship building and ship repairing
are occupations which employ many
of the mechanics of the town. No
better ships float the ocean than some
of those which have been launched
from the ship-yards of New Bedford.
The New Bedford Kailway and

Wharf Company have a capital of

fifty thousand dollars, and on a small

island owned by the company, they
have, besides wharves, ware-houses,

dwelling-houses, and mechanics'

shops, a marine railway, which af-

fords great facilities for cleaning and

repairing the smaller class of vessels.

There is an extensive steam cord-

age factory, the machinery of which
is moved by two engines of twenty
horse power each, in successful ope-

ertion, employing seventy-five per-

sons, thirty-two of whom are females,
and turning out annually four hun-
dred tons of cordage. There is also

in operation a manufactory of Prus-
sian blue.

An immense building has lately
been erected for manufacturing and
mechanical purposes. The power is

steam. Apparatus for grinding grain,

working iron, and planing and saw

ing, is now in operation, and other

machinery is soon to be added.
Another planing mill, a large black-

smith shop, a block manufactory, a

foundery, a copper-smith establish-

ment, a frame factory, and one or

two other mechanics' establishments

have steam engines connected with
them .

The valuation of the property of

the town for the year 1844, was four

teen millions seven hundred and sixty



NEAV BEDFORD. 213

seven thousand dollars. Tlie amount

appropriated for the various muni-

cipal purposes, at the last annual
town nicetins, was fifty-four thousand
nine hundred and sixty-two dollars,
it beina; with the county tax, four dol-

lars on the thousand.

The churches are numerous. The
Unitarians, Baptists, Utiiversalisls,

Friends, Episcopalians, and Roman
Catholics, have each one : the Metho-

dists, four; the Orthodox Congrega-
tionalists, three

;
the Ciiristians, four.

The Bethel Church, owned by the

New Bedford Port Society, is devoted

to the seamen. Connected with it are

a reading-room and registry office.

Several of the churches are hand-
some and substantial structures. The
Friends' meeting-house is of brick,
the Unitarian and one of the Orthodox

Congregational are of stone. The
church of the Unitarian society has
been pronounced by competent judges
one of the finest in the country.
Few towns have been more liberal

in providing the means of education.

There are now" owned by the town
twelve public school-houses, in which,
and in other buildings hired for the

purpose, are supported twenty-five
schools, requiring the services of be-

tween forty and fifty teacher^. The

appropriation for the public schools

in 1845, was rising twenty-eight thou-

sand dollars, twelve thousand of which
are for the erection of a brick building,
for the accommodation of the high
school.

There is an incorporated institution

called the " Friends' Academy," now
exclusively devoted to the education
of females. The academy building is

a handsome structure, ple.asantly sit-

uated on County street, and environed

by beautiful grounds. It contains a

library, principally the donation of

Samuel Elam, formerly of Newport,
to whom the institution is otherwise

indebted, jnd a philosophical appara-
tus. There are several other private
schools.

Among the public buildings may
be mentiuned the Town Hall, Custom
House, and Court House.
The town hall is a magnificent

structure of granite, one hundred feet

long, and sixty-one feet wide, three

stories in height. The lower story is

occupied as a public market, the sec-

ond is occupied as a hall for public

meetings, and in the third are r<i(>ms

for the accommodation of the oflicers

of the town. Connected with the of-

fice of the town-clerk is a large fire-

proof apartment, in which the records

and papers of the town are deposited.
In the hall is suspended a portrait of

Washington, an admirable copy of

Stuart's celebrated picture, painted by
William A. Wall, a native artist.

The edifice, which, with the land be-

neath and around it. cost the town the

sum of sixty thousand dollars, has
been called by many the handsomest

building in New England, devoted to

civil purposes.
The custom house is also a struc-

ture of granite. It is tasteful in its

design, and makes a fine appearance.
The post-office is kept in this building.
The court house is a plain, neat

structure of brick. Near it are the

county jail and house of correction.

The poor are supported upon a
farm owned by the town, situated

about two miles south of the village.
The farm and buildings are valued at

ten thousand dollars.

The fire department is large, well

organized, and effective. There are

connectetl with it ten engines, and a
suitable number of hooks and ladders,
beside which

,
there is always prepared

for use apparatus for blowing up
buildings, should a fire get beyond the

control of the engines. Water is sup-

plied from twenty public reservoirs.

There are five hundred men belong-

ing to the department. The firemen
receive ten dollars per annum for

their services.

There is a public place of interment,
called the Oak Grove Cemetery, situ-

ated at a convenient distance west of
the village. It covers eight acres of

ground. A part of the cemetery is

laid out into lots, the exclusive occu-

pancy of which may be obtained from
the authorities for a small considera-

tion, and the remainder devoted to

indiscriminate burial. It is a beauti-
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fill spot. Nature lias, here been lav-

ish of her beauties, and good taste

marks the arrangements which have
been made by the oflicers of the town,
to adapt the ground to its sacred pur-

pose. The New Bedford Rural Cem-

etery, a private place of interment, is

laid out with much taste, and its ap-

pearance is creditable to its proprie-
tors and the town.

The Social Library, owned by an

incorporated association, contains

about four thousand volumes of books.

The number is annually increasing.
Six newspapers are published in

the town, two daily, one semi-weekly,
and three weekly . The oldest of these

is the New Bedford Mercury, estab-

lished as a weekly paper in the year
1807, and now conducted by the son

of the first publisher.

By the census of 1840, the town
contained twelve thousand and eighty-
seven inhabitants. This enumeration
included but very few of the seamen
then absent in the whaling fleet. The

population in 1845 was about fifteen

thousand, one thousand ofwhom were
colored

;
and there is every indica-

tion that it is fast increasing. The
number of buildings now in process
of erection, is about one hundred,
most of them small, but neat and con-

venient dwelling-houses. It is a cir-

cumstance worthy of notice, that near-

ly all the buildings which han'e been

put up the last two years have been
of this character. Few places can be

found where so large a proportion of

the mechanics and laborers are own-
ers of the houses in which they reside.

NEW BRAIXTREE.

WoRCESTEK Co. Six thousand acres

of this township were granted to peo-

ple in ancient Braintree, for services

rendered to the public in 1670
;

the

residue of the township was taken
from Brookfield and Hardwick. It

was called " Braintree Farms," until

its incorporation in 1751.

The surface of the town is uneven,
with moderate hills and valleys ;

the

soil is generally good, but better

adapted to grazing than tillage. The

town is celebrated for good farmers,
and the abundance of excellent beef,

butter, and cheese protluced. The
township is finely watered by brooks,
rivulets, and springs. Ware river

passes its western border. In the

Avest part of the town is We/iimesset

brook, formed entirely by springs from
the adjacent hills, which, running
north, empties into Ware river. On
this brook is an extensive and luxuri-

ant meadow of several hundreds of

acres, called Wenimesset, the name
given to it by the Indians, when a hide-

ous swamp. This was the head-quar-
ters and chief place of rendezvous of
the savages, at the time when Brook-
field was destroyed.

There are some manufactures in

the town, of cotton goods, leather,

palm-leaf hats, &c. It lies eighteen
miles west north-west from Worcester,
and sixty-two miles west from Boston.

XEWBURY.

Essex Co. This ancient and re-

spectable town, the mother of New-
buryport and West Newbury, although
reduced in territory, still retains its

former reputation and beauty. It was
first settled in 1633, and was called

by the Indians Quassacumcow .

Newbury is bounded on the north

by Newburyport and ]\Ierrimack river,
on the east by the ocean, south by
Rowley, and west by West Newbury.
This town is well watered by Parker
river and the Merrimack.
The soil of this town is not naturally

of great fertility, but is of that kind
which well rewards the industrious
cultivator. There is no section of the

state where agricultural enterprise is

more exerted, or where it is more

highly honored by tokens of ajiproba-
tion bestowed by the agricultural soci-

ety. There are farms in this town, in

such a state of improvement as would
add new charms to the ba^ks of the

Connecticut or Genesee. The value
of hay, grain, and vegetables, the pro-
duct of five acres and a quarter, on a

farm cultivated by Mr. Joshua Tap-
pan, in this town, in 1842, was four

hundred and six dollars
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There are a aumber of smiling vil-

lages in the town, but those paits
more immediately cuiniected with

Newburyport are the most popu-
lous. Tiiat jx)rtion of the town which
lies on the south-east side of Newbu-
ryport, and which comprises a part of

High street, so celebrated for its beau-

ty, is the most compact and business

part of the town. Here considerable

navigation is owned, and here the

tisheries and ship-building are suc-

cessfully pursued.
The village of Byfield, partly in

Rowley, lies at the south-west part of

the town, seven miles south south-

west from Newburyport, while Bell-

ville constitutes the north-western

boundary of that town.
Few towns in the country furnish

more pleasant scenery, or finer roads

than Newbury. The road from New-
bury to Ipswich is delightful. It is

ornamented with beautiful trees, and,

running most of the distance on the

summit of gentle rising ground, it of-

fers on one side a view of an extensive

and well cultivated amphitheatre, and
on the other, a complete view o'' le

harbor, its shipping, Plum Island, tne

isles of Shoals, Ipswich harbor, and

Cape Ann.
There is a curious cave in New-

bury, called the " Devil's Den," which
contains specimens of asbestos, lime-

stone, marble, serpentine, and amian-
thus. In a f'Ond, in the town, is a

floating island, of about half an acre

in e.Ktent. On the island are a num-
ber of trees, but it is mostly covered
with bushes. Its annual rise and fall

is from four to eight feet.

Dummer Academy, founded in

17ot3, is a flourishing institution; it

is situated in the parish of '
Byfield."

The manufactures of Newbury con-

sist of cotton goods, leather, boots,

shoes, carriages, cordage, fishing-nets,

bed-cords, and cotton lines
;

annual
value about seventy-five thousand
dollars. A large number of vessels

are built in the town, and some navi-

gation is owned, and employed in the

coasting trade and fishery.
This town is celebrated as the birth-

place of many cUstinguished men.
TimorniLUs Parso.ns, LL. D., an emi
nent jurist, was born in Newbury, Feb-

ruary 24, 1750. He died in Boston,
October 6, 1813.

By the eastern railroad, which

passes through the town, Newbury
lies three miles south from Newbury-
port, and thirty-one miles north by
east from Boston.

XEWBURYPORT.

Essex Co. A seaport, port of en-

try, and one of the shire towns of the

county, admitted to be one of the most
beautiful in New England. It lies

upon a gentle acclivity, on the south

bank of the 3Ierrimack, near its junc-
tion with the ocean. Its population

occupies an area of about two miles

in length, by about one quarter of a
mile in breadth. At the two extremi-

ties of this area, upon the river, and

closely connected with the town, are

two populous villages, which lie within

the limits of the surrounding town of

Newbury. The territory of Newbu-

ryport is smaller than any other within

the Commonwealth. It contains an
area of only one square mile, and was
taken from Newbury, in 1764.

Its population in 1843, was seven
thousand three hundred, and in 1845,
at least eight thousand.

This town was early noted for its

commerce and ship-building. Located
at the mouth of a river, famous for its

excellent ship-timber, it was at an

early day the principal seat of this

branch of industry. The vessels

built here attained a reputation

throughout the colonies, and in the

mother country, highly creditable to

the skill and enterprise of its inhab-

itants. It is within the memory of

persons now living, that ninety ves-

sels have been in progress of con-

stniction in this place at one time.

The settlement and growth of other

places, favorably situated for ship-

building, tended to diminish this

branch of its industrj'. The extensive

establishments for ship-building in

the vicinity of Boston, deriving their
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materials through the Middlesex ca-

nal, from the forests of the Blerri-

mack contributed to the same result.

The business decHned for twenty-
five years, but it is now greatly re-

vived. Some of the finest packets
and swift-sailing merchantmen of

New York, have been recently built

3t this port. Several of these packet-

ships have been upwards of one thou-

sand tons' burthen. There were built,
for freighting and packet-ships, during
the year 1844, six thousand two hun-
dred tons, besides about one thousand
tons of smaller vessels, including one
steamer. The business is now on the

increase, and when the improvements
in the navigation of the river are

completed, may attain its former mag-
nitude.

The number of vessels now be-

longing to this port, are twenty-four
ships, nine barks, seventeen brigs,

ninety -six schooners, and one steamer.

Total tonnage, twenty-three thousand

nine hundred and sixty-two tons.

In 1790, the tonnage of this port
was eleven thousand eight hundred
and seventy tons, and it arose in seven-
teen years to thirty thousand. In

lb20, it had sunk to twenty thousand
tons. No place upon the seacoast of

Massachusetts, or in New England,
lias experienced severer commercial
vicissitudes than this town.

_
The

commercial restrictions fell upon it

with disastrous effect. Its capital had
become largely invested in the fisher-

ies and freighting business, and the

suspension of its commerce and ship-

building -was long and severely felt.

In 1811, before it had recovered from
these severe losses, it was visited

wiih an extensive conflagration. Its

central and most compact and valua-

ble portion, covering an area of six-

teen acres, Avas laid in ashes. Super-
added to these accumulated disasters,
the war greatly checked its prosperity,
and at the conclusion of peace its

.wealth and population had greatly di-

minished. It continued to decline till

the period of the fifth census, in 1830,
when it had fallen from seven thou-

sand six hundred and thirty-four, m
1810, to six thousand three hundred and

eighty-eight. Its wealth had decreased
in the mean time, from about seven lo

less than three millions. Since that

period it has been rapidly recovering
its former prosperity, and it is now
advancing in wealth and population.

In 18.36, the manufacture of cotton

goods by steam-power was commenc
ed. This branch of industry has been

greatly increased, and there are now
five companies incorporated, three of

which are in successful operation.
The mills owned by these five com-

panies are four stories in height, and
their aggregate length is thirteen hun-
dred feet. They will contain thir-

teen hundred looms and sixty-five
thousand spindles.
The annual product of the three com-

panies now operating, is one million

fiv'^e hundred thousand yards of print-

ing cloths, and four million yards of
the finest cottons manufactured in the

country. They consume about one
million four hundred thousand pounds
of cotton, ten thousand gallons of oil,

and three thousand tons of coal. The
capital paid in is about seven hundred
thousand dollars, and their disburse-

ments amount to near thirty thousand
dollars per month. These mills now
employ about one thousand operatives,
and are driven by four beautiful en-

gines of most perfect construction.

In addition to cotton goods, its man-
ufactures are machinery, castings,

stoves, hats, boots, shoes, organs,

spirits, cigars, snuff", soap, and can-

dles, to an amount of upwards of half
a million annually.

This town is distinguished for a
liberal extension of the common school

system, and for superior means of
free education.

It has, in addition to the schools

supported by the town, two liberally
endowed free schools. One of these

was endowed by the late Moses Brown,
Esq., a merchant of the place, and is

designed to furnish an institution for

classical studies. The other is now
being established, and is designed for

the higher branches of an English
education. It is founded on a munifi-

cent bequest of the late Oliver Put-

nam. Esq., of Boston, formerly a res
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idfiil of this luwn. This bequest
iiinounts, at the pl•e:^ellt lime, to up-
wards of seveiiiy thousaiid dollars.

'Jlie privileges of Tree education in

Newburyport will exceed those of

any place in Massachusetts, and be

scarcely inferior to a collegiate course

of instruction.

Newburyport lies thirty-four miles

north-east from Boston, twenty miles

north from Salem, twenty miles south-

west from Portsmouth, and three

miles from the mouth of the Merri-

mack. It is surrounded on all sides,

except that upon the river, by the

town of Newbury. By whatever ave-

nue it is approached, it never fails to

leave favorable impressions on the

mind.
A railroad is in contemplation to

connect Newburyport with the towns

lying upon the river, to Lowell. The
eastern railroad crosses the town

through its northern section, by a
tunnel under High street, and an em-
bankment to the bridge, which is laid

over the site of the old Newburyport
bridge. The new bridge is Inw stories

high, the railroad track being upon
the upper flooring, and the carriage

way, for ordinary travel, upon the

flooring beneath. The river at this

point is about three eigliths of a mile
in width.

High street runs nearly parallel to

the river, at a distance of one thou-

sand feet from it, and at an elevation

of nearly one hundred feet above its

level. This has always been admired

by strangers of taste, as a beautiful

street. Near the centre of the town,
adjoining this street, is a fine pond, of

about six acres, the level of which is

sixty feet above the river. This has
been beautifully embellished, by sur-

rounding it with a mall, and terraced

promenade.
From the mouth of the harbor,

Plum Island extends nine miles, to

the mouth of Ipswich river. Nearly
all this island is composed of shifting

sand, blown into fantastic forms, sur-

mounted with clumps of the beach-

plum. It is a favorite place of resort

ibr recreation, during the summer
19

months, to the inhabitants of the

neighboring towns. It is connected
witli the main by a bridge, from which
a turnpike extends to the town.

Judge Bradbury, and Judge Jack-

son, of the Supreme Court, were na-

tives of this town, and Judges Par-

sons, Thatcher, and Wild, of the same
court, were residents here. The Hon.
William Bartlett, and Moses Brown,
Esq., distinguished for their enter-

prise and integrity as merchants, were
natives of this town. The distin-

guished mechanician, Jacob Perkins,
now of England, was born, and pur-
sued his inventions here, till fifty

years of age. The late Kufus King
was long a resident at Newburyport,
and represented the town in the coun-
cils of the state. John Q. Adams re-

sided here while pursuing his legal

studies, under Parsons. The Rev.
Gardner Spring, D. D., of New York,
was born and educated here, as was
also the late Rev. Dr. Morse, of the

Episcopal church. Many respectable

clergymen of New England, and be-

yond its bounds, were born here.

During the depression of the town,
the emigration of its young and enter-

prising citizens was very prevalent.

They are to be found throughout the

country, and many of them have at-

tained distinction in the learned pro-
fessions and in the walks of com-
merce.
The Xovm has eleven houses of

public worship, and its other public
buildings are numerous and elegant.
A beautiful cemetery has been recent-

ly established in the immediate vicin-

ity of the town, in a grove of venera-
ble oaks, and forms a most inviting
resort to the contemplative.

The celebrated George Whilcfiekl,
one of the founders of the sect of the

Tilethodists, and one of its most elo-

quent preachers, died in this town,

September 21, 1770.

A handsome cenotaph to his mem-
ory has been erected in the church
beneath which he lies interred, by the

Hon. William Bartlett. The follow-

ing is a part of the inscription :
—
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" This Cenotaph
Is erected, with affectionate

veneration, to

The memory of the

Rev. GEORGE WHITEFIELD :

Born at Gloucester, England,
December 16, 1714.

Educated at Oxford University ;

Ordained 1736.

In a ministry of thirty-four years,
lie crossed the Atlantic thirteen times,

And preached more
Than eighteen thousand sermons.

As a soldier of the

Cross, humble, devout, ardent.
He put on the

Whole armor of God
; Preferring

The honor of Christ

To his own interest, repose.

Reputation, and life.

NEAV MARLBOROUGH.

Berkshire Co. The first improve-
ments in this town were made in

1739, by Blr. Benjamin Wheeler, from

Marlborough. During the hard win-

ter of 1739-40, he remained the only
white inhabitant in the town. The

Indians, though in most respects

friendly, forbade him the use of the

gun, lest he should kill the deer, and
thus withheld from him part of the

means of his support. His nearest

white neighbors were in Sheiheld, a

distance of ten miles, some of whom
came on snow-shoes to see him.

" The surface is generally uneven
and hilly, and, like most of the more
elevated towns in the county, stony ;

though at the time of the settlement,

the stones were so deeply covered

with vegetable mould, that the lirst

inhabitaius are said to have expressed
their fears that they should not find

stone enough to answer the purposes
of building. Their fears were re-

moved by finding a quarry of white

stone, split by nature into blocks of

diilerent sizes, nearh^ square, on an
elevation called Dry Hill. In the

north-west part of the town is Six-mile

pond, first so called by some Indians
who lived six miles distant from it, in

Great Barrington, and who resorted

to it for the purposes of fishing. The

outlet from this pond is called Konka-

pot, from the circumstance that an
Indian family of that name lived by
its side, in the borders of Sheffield.

A stream called Umpachene rises in

the east part of the town, and passing
by the centre, runs south-west, and

empties in the Konkapot. This stream
also derives its name from an Indian.

In the south-east part of the town-

ship is a pond nearly two miles in

circumference, called Hermit pond,
which is the source of a stream, which
runs south-west into Canaan. This

pond derived its name from the cir-

cumstance that a hermit lived for sev-

eral years on the south-eastern side.
" The name of this hermit was Tim-

othy Leonard. He came from Fred-

ericksburg, Dutchess county. New
York, five or six years before the rev-

olutionary war
;
and though he pur-

chased a farm, he led a solitary life

till his death. He died June 13, 1817,
from infirmity and old age, being, as

was supposed, in his seventieth year.

Unwilling that any one should remain
with him during a single night,- he
died as he lived, alone and unattend-

ed. The cause of his leading a soli-

taiy life is supposed to be explained

by the fact that he was an inveterate

hater of women. His description of

them was,

'

Tliey say Ihey will, and they wont ;

What ihey promise lo do, they don't.'

"Let none smile at the history of

Timothy Leonard, for he is not a sol-

itary instance in which disappointed
hope and mortified pride have been
sufiered to blot out the social affec-

tions, and produce uselessness, wretch-
edness and ruin.

" In the west part of the town is a
cave of some little note. It has seve-
ral apartments of various dimen-

sions, whose sides and roof are lime-

stone, on which stalactites are contin-

ually forming. About one fourth of
a mile .south-west of the south meet-

ing-house is a rock, judged to weigh
thirty or forty tons, so equally bal-

anced on another rock, that a man
mav move it with his finger."
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The manufactures of the town con-

sist of leather, bo<jts, shoes, chairs,

cabinet-ware, and a variety of sawed
lumber. The products of the dairy
are considerable, and about one thou-

sand six luindred sheep arc jiastured.
New Marlborough is situated twen-

ty-four miles south from Pittsfield,

tliiriy-five west from Springfield, and
one hundred and thirty-three west by
south from Boston.

NEW SALEM.

Franklin Co. New Salem lies

seventeen miles east south-east from

Greenfield, about seven miles south-

west from the railroad at Athol, and
about seventy miles west by north

from Boston. It is bounded north by
Orange, east by Athol, south by Pe-

tersham and Prescott, and west by
Shutesbury and Wendell.

This town is elevated, and some

parts of it is mountainous, but the

surface and soil are generally well

adapted to agricultural purposes, par-

ticularly for grazing. It is well wa-
tered by 3Iiller's river on the north,
and a tine mill stream, the head wa-
ters of Swift river, rises in a pond in

the town, and passes through it.

This town comprises two handsome

villages and some pleasant ponds.
•• The fogs of Connecticut river sel-

dom rise above this place, while it

covers the surrounding country; and
the towering iMonadnock on the north

appears like an island rising from a
boundl&ss ocean."

The manufactures of the town con-

sist of palm-leaf hats, boots, shoes,

leather, straw bonnets, and ploughs.
The first minister in the town was

the Rev. Samuel Kendall, who died

in 1792. The Rev. Joel Foster was
.settled in 1779, and died in 1812.

The Rev. Warren Pierce was settled

in ISOl, and resigned in 1807. The
Rev. Alpheus Harding was settled in

1807.

The north Congregational church
was organized in 1821, and the Rev.
Levi French was settled pastor the

next year. He was succeeded by the

Rev.'Erastus Curtiss, in ISm.

NEWTOX.

MmDi.ESEX Co. This is a very
beautiful town, encircled by Charles

river on the north, the west, and the

south, and bounded on the east by
Brighton and Brookline. It was at

first a part of Cambridge, and at its

incorporation it adopted the old name
of that venerable town, which it has

never disgraced.
This is the celebrated Nonantttm of

the Indians, a hallowed spot, where
the red men of the forest first listened

to the teachings of Christianity in

New England, and where was erected

for their use, the first house of prayer.
Mr. Gookin, who formerly accom-

panied Mr. Eliot in his journeys, says
•' the first place he began to preach at,

was at Nonantum, near Watertown,
upon the south side of Charles river,

about four or five miles from his own
house

;
where lived at that time Wa-

ban, one of their principal men, and
some Indians with him." Mr. Eliot

set out upon his mission in October,

ll)i(j, and sent forerunners to apprize
the Indians of his intentions. Wa-
ban, a grave and wise man, of the

same age of the missionary, forty-

two, a per.son of influence, met him at

a small distance from their settle-

ment, and welcomed him to a large

wigwaiTi, on the hill Nonantum. A
considerable number of his country-
men assembled here Jrom the neigh-
borhood, to hear the new doctrine.

'• A school was soon established

among t hem, and the general court gave
the neighboring Indians a tract of high-

land, called Nonantum. and furnished

them with various implements of hus-

bandry. The Indians, many of them,

professed Christianity, and the whole
in the vicinity became settled, and con-

ducted their affairs with prudence and

industry. They erected a house of

worship for themselves
; they adopted

the customs of their English neigh;

bors, made laws, and had magistrates
of their own. The increase of the

Indian converts was such, that they
Ibund the place too strait for them,
and there was a removal of the tribe

to Natick, about ten miles south-west
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of Nonantum." The first organized

tlmrch, purely Indian, was at Natick.

The ardor and zeal of Eliot, May-
hew, and others, were crowned with

such success, that in 1660, there were
ten towns of Indians in Massachusetts,
who were converted to the Christian

religion.
There are two falls on Charles river,

m this town, of considerable extent,
and great value, called Upper and
Lower Falls, about two miles apart.
At these falls are beautiful manufac-

turing villages. The village at the

lower falls is partly in Needham. It

is a singular fact, that such is the

winding of the river, that the hn-er

falls are farther from its mouth and
the city than the tipper falls.

The soil of the town is very good,
and highly cultivated

;
the surface is

varied, presenting a variety of rich

scenery, pleasant villages, country-
seats, and tasteful gardens.
The manufactures of the town con-

sist of cotton and woollen goods, large

quantities of paper of the iinest quali-

ties, nails, rolled iron, candles, vitriol,

barilla, chaises, harnesses, morocco

leather, boots, shoes, machinery, cabi-

inet-ware, &c., the annual value of

which exceecls a milUon of dollars.

In this town are an academy and a

Normal school.

Nonantum Hill. This hill, in

Newton, commands some of the most

delightful scenery in the vicinity of

Boston. The westerly side, and to

the summit, is now in possession of

William Kenrick, Esq., author of the

New American Orchardist  This por-
tion of the hill is in the town of New-
ton, and near the division line between
that town and Brighton. Here are
51 r. Kenrick's garden and nurseries.

The whole establishment covers an
area of sixty-seven acres, a part be-

ing in young forest and grass. The
principal nurseries comprise about

thirty acres, including the dwelling-
house and some of the appropriate
out-buildings, M-ith such portions of
the land as are successively required
in the rotation of productions—all

being at times cleared and replanted.
Here are cultivated all the most ap-

proved and superior varieties of fruit-

trees, the most hardy ornamental

trees, shrubs, and herbaceous peren-
nial j)lants. In the selection of these,
Mr. Kenrick has spared no pains or

expense in .searching out and procur-
ing all that is new, valuable, and

beautiful, adapted to our cUmate,
from all accessible resources and col-

lections of other countries. His pres-
ent collection of fruit-trees is proba-
bly unrivalled in this country, for

rareness, variety, and excellence.

Newton Theological Institution.
This institution is located at Newton
Centre village, about seven miles
from Boston. The institution build-

ings stand upon a lofty hill, on the

east of the village. The mansion

house, which is a large, three-story
wooden edifice, built originally for a

country-seat, stands fronting the vil-

lage, upon a beautiful circular mound,
thrown up at the summit of the hill,

and contains a chapel, recitation-

rooms, accommodations for the stew-

ard, &:c. An additional brick build-

ing, eighty-five feet long, forty-nine

wide, and three stories high, was
erected west of the mansion house in

1828, which contains a reading-room,
a library-room, and thirty-one rooms
for students, to each of which a bed-
room is attached.

There is a farm of about eighty
acres connected with the institution,
tlie proceeds of which go for the benefit

of the students. The grounds adja-
cent to the mansion house are orna-

mented with trees and shrubbery, and

winding walks laid out in the adjoin-

ing grove of native forest trees. A
long avenue, arched over with rov/s

of shade trees, winds down the hill-

side to the village ;
and near it stand

three commodious houses erected for

the use of the professors. Two of
these stand abreast about midway
down the hill, and the third is at its

foot.

The summit of the mansion house
commands a wide prospect of the

surrounding country. Dorchester

Heights, the summits of Boston, and
Bunker Hill, are on the horizon at

the east, and IMounfs Wachusett and
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Monadnock at the west. Nearer at

hand several neat villages and hand-
some country-seats rise above the sea
of green ;

and not the least attraction

is a beautiful pond, about a mile in

circuit, which lies nestled amidst the

forest near the foot of the hill.

Tlie institution is under the direc-

tion of persons of the Baptist denomi-
nation. It was founded in Novem-
ber, 1825, by the Massachusetts Bap-
tist Education Society ;

and in the

same month, Rev. Irah Chase was
chosen first professor, and entered

upon the duties of his office. In

February, 1826, a bill of incorpora-
tion was granted, and a board of trus-

tees was appointed.
The course of study pursued in the

institution is adapted to graduates, or

those whose attainments enable them

along with graduates to proceed profit-

ably in theological studies. It is

open for all those who, together with
the requisite literary qualifications,

give evidence of possessing genuine
piety, and of being influenced

b}''

proper motives, to pursue theological

studies, and who, moreover, present
certificates from the churches of which

ihey are members, approving of their

devoting themselves to the work of
the ministry.
The regular course of the institu-

tion occupies three years ;
and the

three classes corresponding are desig-
nated the junior, middle, and senior

classes. The course of study em-
braces—first. Biblical Literature and

Interpretation ; second. Christian The-

ology ; third, Ecclesiastical History ;

fourth, Sacred Rhetoric and Pastoral

Duties. There are four standing pro-

fessorships, correspon<ling to these

four departments.
Newton Centre village lies seven

miles west by south Irom Boston;
Newton or Angler's Corner, seven

;

West Newton village, ten
; Ujiper Falls

village, nine, and Lower Falls villag:e,

eleven miles from Boston. These vil-

lages are very flourishing and rapidly

increasing. The AVorcester railroad

passes through the villages of Newton
Corner and West Newton.

NORFOLK COUNTY.
Shire town, Dediiam. This county is bounded north-east by Boston harbor,

north by SulFolk county, west by the south-east corner of Worcester county,
south by the north-east corner of the state of Rhode Island, and south, south-
east and east by the counties of Bristol and Plymouth.

This county has a maritime coast on Boston harbor, of about twelve miles,
which is indented with many small bays and navigable rivers. Its surface
is uneven, and in some parts hilly. Its soil is generally strong and rocky.
Great quantities of the dark-colored granite, or sienite, is found here.
A large part of Norfolk county, particularly those towns near Boston, is

under a high state of cultivation, and afibrds fruits and vegetables in great
abundance. The

pro.ximiiy of this county to the capital gives it many facili-

ties; and the towns in this and in the county of Middle.'jex that border on
Boston harbor, may be called the Gardens of Bustvn. The Charles, Neponset,
and Manatiquot are its chief rivers.

The value of the manufactures in the county, the year ending April 1,

1837, was six million four hundred and sixty-six thousand and ten dollars. The
value of the fishery the same year, was two hundred and forty-four thousand
nine hundred and twonty-seven dollars. See Stale Tables.

COURTS IN NORFOLK COUNTY.

Supreme Court. Law Term. At Dedhain on the fifth Tuesday next after
the fourth Tuesday of September. Nis[ Prii-s Tekm. At Dedham on the
•bird Tuesday in Februarv.
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Common Fleas. At Dedham on the fourth IMonday of April, the third Mon-
day in September, and third Blonday in December.

Meetings of the County Commissioners. At Dedham on the third Tuesday of

April, the fourth Tuesdays of June and September, and on the last Wednes-

day of December.
Probate Courts. At Dedham on the first Tuesdays of each month. At

Quincy on the second Tuesdays in February, May, and August. At Rox-

bnry on the fourth Tuesdays of February, JMay, August, and November. At
Wrentham on the third Tuesdays of May, August, and November. At Med-

way on the third Tuesdays of February, June, and October.

XORTHAMPTOIV.

Hampshire Co. Shire town. This
town is delightfully situated on the

west bank of the Connecticut, on ris-

ing ground, about a mile from the

river, and surrounded by large tracts

of some of the most fertile and beauti-

ful meadow land in this, or any other

country.
This territory, with that of the other

towns adjoining, was purchased in

1653, of " the chief and proper own-

ers," and conveyed to John Pynchon,
for the planters, for the consideration

of one hundred fathoms of wampum,
ten coats, and some small gifts, and
also for ploughing up sixteen acres of

land on the east side of Quoimecticut
river. The Indian name of the terri-

tory was Nonoluck.

Since the first settlements on the

Connecticut basin, this town has been
an important point of attraction. This
was the third town settled on Connec-
ticut river in this state. The soil of

the town is alluvial, and its products
exuberant. Both before and since

the division of the old county into

three, this place has been the seat of

justice. The buildings of the county
and town are handsome, and the most

important county offices are fire proof.

A fine stream passes through the cen-

tre of the town, possessing a good wa-

ter-power, on which are manufacto-
ries and mills of various kinds.

The manufactures of Northampton
consist of woollen and silk goods,
boots, shoes, leather, paper, brooms,
chairs, iron, tin, cabinet-wares, &c.

;

total value the year ending April 1,

1837, about three hundred and fifty

thousand dollars. The manufacture
of sewing silk, ribbons, &cc., is on a

large scale.

This place has considerable river

and inland commerce, which is much
increased by the Hampshire and

Hampden canal, which meets the

Connecticut river here, and termi-

nates at New Haven.
There are many institutions of a

literary and religious character in this

town, and its schools are of the first

order. The country around the town
is enchanting ;

and those who visit

Mount Holyoke, eight hundred and

thirty feet above the river, on the east

side, or Mount Tom, one thousand
two hundred and fourteen feet above
the river, on the west side, will find a

wonderful variety of landscape scene-

ry, probably unsurpassed in beauty
by any in the New England states.

A "
Community," or " The North

ampton Association of Education and

Industry," was formed in 1842. It

consisted of between one and two hun-
dred members of both sexes. They
were located on a large farm, in a re-

tired spot, in the western part of the

town, about two miles from the vil-

lage. This community became ex-

tinct in 1S46, tmd its location, water-

ed by the fine stream of Mill River,
has become a flourishing manufac-

turing village.
Of the twenty-three senators of the

United States from Massachusetts,
under the constitution since 1789, foui

were residents in Northampton : Ca-

leb Strong, senator Irom 1789 to 1796
,

Eh P. Ashman, from 1816 to 1818;
Elijah H. Mills, from 1820 to 1827;
and Isaac E. Bates, iVom 1841 to 1845
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David Brainard. This faithful ser-

vant of Christ died at the house of the

Rev. Jonathan Edwards, at North-

ampton, October 10, 1747. By his

side rest the remains of his betrothed,

Jerusha, the daughter of Mr. Ed-
wards.

" If the greatness of a character is

to be estimated by the object it pursues,
the danger it braves, the dithculiies it

encounters, and the purity and energy
of its motives, David Brainard is one
of the greatest characters that ev^er ap-
peared in the world. Compared w'vh
this standard of greatness, what little

things are the Alexanders, the Cae-

sars, the' conquerors of the whole
earth. A nobler object no human or

angelic mind could ever propose to

itself than to promote the glory of the

great Governor of the Universe, in

studying and laboring to difl'use puri-

ty and happiness among his unholy
and miserable creatures.

" ' His life and diary among the

Indians,' says a celebrated English
divine, 'exhibits a perfect pattern of
the qualities which should distinguish
the instructer of rude and barbarous
tribes

;
the most invincible patience

and self-denial, the profoundest hu-

mility, exquisite prudence, indefatiga-
ble industry, and such a devotedne.ss
to God, or rather such an absorption
of the whole soul in zeal fur the divine

glory, and the salvation of men, as is

scarcely paralleled since the age of
the apostles.'

"

Northampton lies, by the railroads,

twenty miles north from Springfield,
one hundred and eighteen west from

Boston, forty five from Hartford, and

twenty miles south from Greenfield.

By the old roads it is ninety miles
from Boston, and sixty-seven miles
east from Albany.
A passage in the cars from Spring-

field to Northampton offers to the lov-
ers of splendid scenery, a fine treat.

We pass the whole distance on the
banks of the river, through the gorge ,

between Mounts Holyoke and Tom, I

and over the broad and beautiful mea- '

dows, extending many miles between
jMount Tom and Northampton.
'

While here, we will just say, with
all due respect to President Hitchcock,
the learned geologist, that IMou.nt

Wasiiingto.v had belter stand as it is,

and give Mount Tom the name of

Mount Evereit. Nature has placed
two beautiful mountains side by side,

high in the estimation of mankind
Let the name of the good Holyoke,
the learned president of Harvard Col-

lege, from 1737 to 17()y, be associated
with one of a kindred spirit.

XORTIIBOROUGH.

Worcester Co. Northborough
was first settled in 1700, and, until

1766, was the north parish of West-

borough. It is bounded north by
Berlin, east by Marlborough, south

by Westborough, and west by Shrews-

bury and Boylston.
This is a good farming town, lying

between the highlands of Marlborough
on the east, and those of Shrewsbury
and Boylston on the west. The
farms are large, well cultivated, and

productive of fat cattle, wool, and all

the varieties of the dairy.
This town is well watered by seve-

ral small streams and ponds, and

by the Assabet river, which passes
through it. On the banks of the As-
sabet are large tracts of good mea-
dow.
The first minister in this town was

the Rev. John Martin, in 1746. His
successor was the Rev. Peter Whit-

ney, in 1767. Mr. Whitney published
a good history of the county of Wor-
cester, in 1793.

The following is from a grave-stone
in the church-yard :

—
" Here lie buried the remains of

Rabbi Judah JMonis, M. A., Late He-
brew Instructor At Harvard College,
in Cambridge ;

in which office he
continued 40 years. He was by birth

and religion a Jew, But embraced the

Christian faith. And was publickly
baptized at Cambridge, A. D. 1722,
And departed this life April 25 1764,

Aged eighty-one years, two months
and twenty-one days.''
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Northborough lies ten miles north-

east from Worcester, thirty-two from

Boston, and five from Westboro' depot.

NORTHBRIDGE.

WoRrKSTER Co. Until 1772, this

town was the north part of Uxbridge.
The surface of this town is some-

what rocky and rough, but the soil is

generally rich, strong, and good. It

is finely watered by springs, streams,
and rivers. Of these, Blackstone and
Mumford rivers are the largest. On
these rivers are tracts of good inter-

vale land. Blackstone canal passes

through this town, on the west bank
of Blackstone river.

The manufactures of this town con-

sist of cotton and woollen goods, cot-

ton machinery, boots, shoes, &c. The
value of the manufactures here, as

early as 1837, amounted to two hun-
dred and eighty thousand dollars.

This is a good agricultural town, and
the farmers send considerable produce
to market.
From Whitneysville, near the cen-

tre of the town, to Boston, is thirty-
six miles north-east

;
to Worcester,

thirteen miles north-west.

NORTH BRIDGEWATER.

Plymouth Co. This town lies

twenty miles south from Boston,

twenty-four north-west from Ply-

mouth, and ten south south-west from

Weymouth Landing. A railroad will

soon pass through it, between Boston
and Foil River. Tlie town is well

watered by Salisbury river, and an-

other small stream which empties into

the Taunton. Its surface is uneven,
but the soil is of a good quality, par-

ticularly for grazing.
The manufactures of the town con-

sist of boots, shoes, hats, chairs, shoe-

tools, forks, hoes, cabinet and wooden
wares, brushes, &cc. ; total amount,
the year ending April 1, 1837, two
hundred and thirty-seven thousand
dollars.

We regret that this very pleasant
town was not called Titicvt or Nvnke-

test, one of the Indian names of the

ancient territory.
This town was the first of the three

Bridgewaters that have sprung from
Old Bridgewater, named after a cele-

brated English duke. We can see

no good cause for attaching a cardi-

nal point of the compass to the name
of any town, particularly one of fofr

eign derivation, when some beautiful

Indian name meets the ear on the

bank of almost every stream. Had
the noble duke bequeathed to good
old mother Bridgewater and her three

handsome daughters, (as he did to

the city of Manchester,) the perpetual

privilege of obtaining one hundred
and forty pounds of coal iox four pence,
there would appear some reason for

perpetuating and extending the name.
Some just remarks on the names

of towns appeared in the Providence

Journal, which are worthy of repeti-
tion.

Indian Names. The new state of

Michigan has passed one of the most
sensible laws that was ever enacted.

Its object is to preserve the noble and
harmonious old Indian names, which
have been given to every river, and

lake, and forest, and mountain in our

country, and which, by a bad taste,

have, in many instances, been dis-

placed by the hackneyed names of

European cities, or of distinguished
men. The law provides that no town
shall be named after any other place,
or after any man, without first obtain-

ing the consent of the legislature.
The consequence is, that Blichigan is

destitute of London, Paris, and Am-
sterdam

;
unlike her sister states, she

boasts neither Thebes, Palmyra, Car-

thage or Troy. No collection of log

huts, with half a dozen grocery stores,
have been honored with the appella-
tion of Liverpool, nor has any embryo
cil)^, with a college or an academy,
received the appropriate name of Ath-
ens. She has no Moscow and Morocco,
in the same latitude

;
and no Edin-

burgh and Alexandria within thirty
miles of each other. Babylon, Spar-
ta, and Corinth, though they have
been transplanted to other parts of
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the Union, are destined never to flour-

ish on the soil of Michigan. No
Franlilin, or Greene, or Jeftersou, no

Washington is to be found in her
borders. On the contrary, her rivers

and lakes still retain the lull, rich,
and swelling names which were be-

stowed upon them by the red men of
the forest

;
and her towns bear the

names of the sturdy chiefs who once
battled or hunted in their streets.

Strange, when we have such a noble

nomenclature as the Indians have left

us, that we should copy from the

worn out names of ancient cities, and
which awake no feelings but ridicule,

by the contrast between the old and the

new. Mohawk, Seneca, Massasoit,
Ontario, Erie, how infinitely superior
to Paris, London, Fishville, Butter-

town. Bungtown, &c. The feeling
which prompts us to perpetuate the

names of our revolutionary heroes by
naming towns after them, is highly
honorable

;
but it should not be for-

gotten that frequent repetition (espe-

cially in cases where the town is ut-

terly unworthy of its namesake) ren-

ders the name vulgar and ridiculous.

It seems, that not content with driv-

ing the Indians from the soil, we are

anxious to obliterate every trace of
their existence.

We are glad to see a better taste

beginning to prevail upon this sub-

ject, and we hope that the example of

Michigan will be followed, if not by
legal enactments, at least by the force

of public opinion.

NORTH BROOKFIELD.

Worcester Co. This town, for-

merly the second parish of Brookfield,
was incorporated in 1S12, containing
about twelve hundred inhabitants

;
at

which time it was almost exclusively
agricultural, the soil and surface be-

ing highly favorable to that branch of

industry'. Since that period it has,

however, become extensively a man-
ufacturing town

;
and at present, in

proportion to its inhabitants, produces
annually as large a quantity, and
value of boots and shoes, as any other

of Its size, perhaps, in the Common-

wealth. By the returns made in 1837,
the whole manufactures of the town
were five hundred and twenty-five
thousand two hundred and twenty-
four dollars.

A very handsome village has grown
up where only three houses stood

thirty years ago ;
and the town is dis-

tinguished for the industry, enterprise,
and public spirit of its inhabiianls,
and the liberality with which ihey
sustain all the benevolent and philan-

thropic movements of the day.
This town is on elevated ground, is

of good soil, well cultivated, well wa-
tered, and filled with many beautiful

swells. It has an artificial pond,
covering seven or eight hundred acres,
raised for water-power.
The village of East Brookfield,

partly in this town and partly in

Brookfield, lies, by the western rail-

road, sixty-four miles from Boston,
and twenty west south-west from
Worcester. From East Brookfield

village to the village in the centre of
the town, is four miles north-west.

NORTH CHELSEA.
See page 374.

NORTHFIEL.D.

Franklin Co. This town, the In-

dian Squenkeag, was first settled in

1673. Perhaps no town in the slate

suffered more from Indian depreda-
tions than this. A few years after its

settlement, the town was laid waste.
The inhabitants returned in 1685, and
in a few years it was again destroyed.
It lay waste many years, when, in

1713. after the erection of Fort Dum-
mer in its vicinity, the inhabitants re-

turned, and rebuilt the town.

This is a fine township of land, on
both sides of Connecticut river, bound-
ed north by Vernon, Vermont, and

Winchester, New Hampshire ;
east

by Warwick; south by Erving and
Gill, and west by Bernardston. The
town contains large tracts of fine allu-

vial land on the banks of the river,

and the uplands, with an undulating
surface, are generally of a good qual!-
tv. There are some small streams in
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the town, and some handsome ponds,

producing a water-power sullicient

for domestic uses.

There are various manufactures in

this town, such as leather, boots, shoes,

ploughs, chairs, cabinet-ware, &;c.
;

but the inhabitants are principally en-

gaged in tilling the earth, and raising

products for the market.
The village of Northfield is very

pleasant ;
it is situated on an ele-

vated plain, rising above the mea-

dows, about a mile from the river, on
the east side. Its main street extends

along the river about a mile
;
and is

wide, beautifully shaded, and contains

many elegant buildings, both public
and private. The beauties of the vil-

lage and of the country around it,

with the salubrity of its atmosphere,
has already attracted many families

of taste and fortune to make it their

residence
; and, when the track is laid

for the " Iron Horse "
to traverse, this

blooming village will be about as far

distant from Boston, in respect to

time, as Andover is by the old roads.

The first minister in Northfield was
the Rev. Benjamin Doolittle, in 1718.

His successors were, the Rev. John

Hubbard, in 1750
;
Rev. Samuel Al-

len, in 1795
;
Rev. Thomas Mason, in

1799
;
Rev. George W. Hosmer, in

1830; Rev. Oliver C. Everett, in

1837.

Northfield lies thirty-seven miles

west by north from Fitchburg; from
Boston eighty-seven miles, and eleven

miles north-east from Greenfield.

NORTOX.

Bristol Co. Before its incorpora-

tion, this town was the north part of

Taunton. It began to be settled in

1670. Its first clergyman was the

Rev. Joseph Avery, who was settled

in 1714.

Among its first settlers was George
Leonard, Esq., a name which has
been identified with much of the en-

terprise of the place. He discovered

iron ore in the town, and there being
a number of good streams, branches
of the Taunton, whereon could be

erected extensive iron works, he com-

menced the business, and, with his

posterity, pursued it to the present

day, successfully to themselves, and

profitably to the country.
The surface of the town is pleas-

antly diversified, but the soil is not
of the first qualit}'. The village is

pleasant, and remarkably healthful.

About three miles to the eastward of

the village, is Winnicunnet pond, a
handsome sheet of water, which in

former years was a great resort of the

Indians, some of whom resided in

caves along its shores, and lived by
hunting and fishing.
The manufactures of the town con-

sist of sheet copper, and copper bolts,

cotton goods, boots, shoes, leather,
iron castings, ploughs, shuttles, straw
bonnets and baskets

;
total value the

year ending April 1, 1837, three hun-
dred and ninety-seven thousand seven
hundred and sixty-three dollars.

Young Ladies' School. There is

a literary seminary in this town for

the education of young ladies. It

was founded by the munificence of

Hon. Laban Wheaton, who expended
in its behalf about eight thousand dol-

lars. It is placed under the direction

of a board of trustees, to be under the

control of them and their successors

in office so long as they shall see that

the school is continued. It went into

operation in the summer of 1835, un-
der the management of Rliss Eunice

Caldwell, as principal.
The school has thus far been very

fortunate in respect to the qualifica-
tions of its principals, and it has main-
tained from the first a character of

high order, so far as it regards mental

discipline and moral and religious in-

struction.

There is connected with the semi-

nary a large boarding-house, which
will accommodate fifty scholars, be-

sides the teachers, with only two

young ladies occupying a room
;
and

beyond this number the trustees will

not engage to provide boarding-places.
There is in this seminary a cabinet,

library, and apparatus for lectures,
and experiments in chemistry and

philosophy.
This seminary is very advanta-
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gixiusly situated, in a town lhroui;h
which the railroad passes, bringing
communication with Boston, and

Providence, Khode Island, within

about one hour's ride. The present
condition of this school is prosperous,
and Its prospects are flattering.
The New Bedford and Taunton

railroad passes through the town
;

twenty-eight miles from Boston, twen-

ty-seven from New Bedford, seven
from Taunton, and twenty-one from
Providence.

NORWICH.

Hampshire Co. A branch of West-
field river and a number of its tribu-

taries, give this town an excellent

water-power. The town is bounded
north by Chesterfield, east by West

Hampton and Southampton, south by
Montgomery, and west by Chester.

The first minister was the Rev. Ste-

phen Tracy, in 1781.

Many parts of this town are fit for

cultivation, the soil being strong and

fertile, but the larger part of it, being
rough and hilly, is fit only for graz-

ing.
There are in the towTi manufac-

tures of cotton, leather, boots, shoes,

axes, &:c.

The western railroad just touches
the south-western corner of the town,
at Chester village depot, one hundred
and nineteen miles west from Boston.

To Northampton it is twelve miles.

From Chester village to a pleasant

village in the centre of the town is

four miles.

OAKHAM.

Worcester Co. This was once a

pari of Rutland, and called " Rutland
West Wing." The first minister in

this town was the Rev. John Strick-

land, a Presbyterian, in 1768. His
successor was the Rev. Daniel Tom-
linson, a Congregationalist, in 1786.

The surface of Oakham is uneven,
rough, and stony, but not mountain-
ous

;
its .soil is moist, and afibrds un-

common sweet pasturage for cattle.

AVare river passes its north-western

border, and it is otherwise watered

by a number of rivulets, streams, and

ponds.
There are manufactures in the town

of cloth, straw bonnets, palm-leaf hats,

ploughs, leather, boots, shoes, 6cc.

Oakham is bounded north by Barre.

east by Rutland, soulh by Spencer,
and west by New Braintree. It lies

fifteen miles north-west from Wor-

cester, and fifty-nine west from Bos-

ton. ,

ORAXGE.

Franklin Co. This town lies

nineteen miles east from Greenfield,
about twenty-five miles west by north

from Fitchburg, and by the railroad

which will soon pass through it, about

eighty-two miles west north-west from
Boston.

Orange is bounded north by War-
wick and Royalton, east and south-

east by Athol, south by New Salem,
and west by Warwick.
The villages of North and South

Orange are very pleasantly situated
;

the former is well watered by a tribu-

tary of Miller's river, and the latter

by that noble stream. These villages
are rapidly increasing, and, with the

aid of steam-power for transportation,
will soon become important sites for

manufactures.
In common with most of the towns

in this section of the state, the surface
of Orange is broken and hilly; but
the soil is strong, and admirably
adapted for grazing. The products
in cattle, wool, and the dairy, are

considerable.

The manufactures of the town in

1837, consisted of iron castings, boots,

shoes, palm-leaf hats, chairs, cabinet-

ware, &c., and at present, a great

variety of other important articles.

From Tully Hill, in this town, is a

delightful prospect.
The Rev. Ebcnezer Foster was set-

tled here in 1798. Mr. Chandler

preached here a short time. In 1837,
an ecclesiastical council convened,
and organized the "Evangelical
Church of Orange."
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ORLEANS.

Barnstable Co. Orleans was the

south part of Eastham, until its incor-

poration in 1797. Its Indian name
was Naumskeket. It is bounded on
the south by Brewster and Chatham.
It extends across the cape, and is in-

dented with coves and creeks on both

sides, and contains a number of fine

fresh-water ponds.
Nauset harbor is at the north-east

part of the town, and Pleasant Bay
opens at the south-east corner of the

town, and lies partly in Chatham. In

this bay are several islands.

In this town the cod and mackerel

fishery is extensively pursued, and

many of the people are engaged in

manufacturing salt, of which between

twenty and thirty thousand bushels

have been made in a year. There
are also in the town manufactures of

leather, boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats,

tin-ware, and other domestic articles.

There is a very pleasant village
near the centre of the towTi, from

which, to Barnstable court house is

twenty-four miles.

OTIS.

Bekksiiike Co. The territory of

Otis comprises that of the old town of

Loudon, which was incorporated in

1773, and the old district of Bethle-

hem. The two were united by an act

of incorporation in 1810, and named
in honor of the venerable Harrison

Gray Otis, of Boston, then speaker of

the house of representatives.
The town is bounded north by

Becket, cast by Blandford, south by
Sandisfield, and west by Tyringham.
The surface of the town is uneven,
and in some parts too elevated for

cultivation. There are, however,
many tracts of good tillage land, and
an abundance of feed for cattle. The
town is well stored with forests of

hard wood and granite.
There are in the town a number of

large and beautiful ponds, which, with
a small stream from Becket, form the

head-waters of Farmington river,

which pass to the Connecticut. These

waters furnish the town with good
mill-seats.

There are some manufactures in

the town, such as leather, boots, shoes,

chairs, cabinet-ware, lumber, &c.
Otis lies sixteen miles south-east

from Lenox, and twenty-two from
Pittsfield. From the village in the

south part of the town to the Becket

depot, on the western railroad, is

about ten miles
;
from thence to Bos-

ton is one hundred and thirty-five
miles.

OXFORD.

Worcester Co. The original

township of Oxford was eight miles

square, and was granted to Joseph
Dudley and others, in 1683, for the

accommodation of about thirty French
Protestant families, who had escaped
from France after the revocation of

the edict of Nantz, when they became

exposed to every cruelty and hard-

ship that Catholic intolerance and re-

ligious bigotry could invent. They
were assisted in their emigration to

this country by the proprietors of the

grant, and settled here about 1686.

They built a fort on a hill in the east-

ern part of the town, now called

Maj'o's, or Fort Hill, where its re-

mains are still visible. It was con-

structed by the rules of art, with bas-

tions, and had a well within its enclo-

sure. They had another fort, and a

meeting-house. The grapes, currants,
and asparagus of their planting, still

grow here, and the last of the peach-
trees was destroyed by the gale of

1815. They had a minister while
resident here, whose name was Bondet.

These people remained here till 1696,
when the Indians attacked the place,
and murdered some of the people.
This so terrified the inhabitants that

they left the place, and most of them
settled in Boston, where a French
church was maintained by them sev-

eral years. The Indian name of the

town was Mancharge.
How soon after the people left, the

town was settled by others, we cannot
discover

;
but as early as 1721, a

church of Christ was gathered here.
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Rjid tho Rev. Jolin Canij)l)cll, a worthy
pcntlcinau from the north of Scollaiul,
was settled the same year.

Tlie surface of the town is not very
hilly ;

in its centre is a line plain, a
mile and a half in length, and a mile
in width. From this plain, the lands

gently rise on all sides. The soil of
the plain and higher grounds is strong
and fertile, and, under good cultiva-

tion, produces a great abundance of

hay, grain, vegetables, fruit, and all

the varieties of the dairy.
About three fourths of a mile west

from the plain, on which is a large
and handsome village, runs French

river, from the north to the south, and
falls into the Quinebaug. This river,
so named from the first settlers, and
its tributaries, give to Oxford a great

hydraulic power.
Woollen and Thread villages, about

a mile apart, on French river, in this

town, are two important manufactur-

ing places. These villages are of re-

cent date, neat, handsome, and flour-

ishing. The manufactures consist of
woollen and cotton goods of various
kinds. There are also in the town

large manufactures of leather, boots,

shoes, and various other articles in

common use. The value of these

manufactures probably exceeds a mil-
lion of dollars a year.
Under "

Dorchester," we told a sto-

ry about a brave woman
;
we now

tell another :
—

'•On the tjth of August, 1774, four
Indians came upon a small house in

Oxford, which was built under a hill.

They made a breach in the roof, and
as one of them was attempting to en-

ter, he received a shot in his belly,
from a courageous woman, the only
person in the house, who had two
muskets and two pistols charged, and
was prepared for all four, but they
thought fit to retreat, carrying off the
dead or wounded man. It is a pity
the name of this heroine is lost.

The Norwich and Worcester rail-

road passes through the town, eleven
miles south from Worcester, fifty-five
south-west by west from Boston, and

forty-eight north from Norwich, Con-
necticut.

20

PAI..MER.

IlA.MrnE.N Co. This town was for-

merly called "The Elbows," and had
in it fifty families in 1749. A church
was formed here in 1730, and a Pres-

byterian minister, the Rev. John Har-

vey, was settled in 1734. The church
continued Presbj'terian until the set-

tlement of the Rev. Simeon Colton, in

ISll.

The Chickopee, the Ware, the

Swift, and some smaller streams wa
ter the town, and give it a great hy-
draulic power. On the banks of these

rivers are situated the pleasant and

flourishing villages of Three Rivers,

Thorndike, Sedgwick, and Palmer

Depot, in which are manufactures of
cotton and woollen goods to a large
amount

; machinery, scythes, iron

castings, kc. These are all heavy
establishments, and the business is

rapidly inoieasing. The furnace at

the depot is capable of making five

hundred tons of castings in a year.
There is a pleasant village in the

centre of the town, two miles north
of the depot. There are also other

manufactures in Palmer, such as

boots, shoes, leather, palm-leaf hats,

carriages, &;c.

The surface of the town is some-
what broken, but the soil is strong
and productive, particularly along the

streams, where are tracts of fine in-

tervale.

The farmers are striving to meet
the demands of the factory villages
for their productions. How much
better this state of things is, than when
they had to lug their beef, pork, but-

ter, and cheese to Boston, to purchase
foreign goods, at a dearer rate than
such can now be made at their own
doors, and of a better quality.

Palmer enjoys peculiar privileges
in its water power and mode of trans-

poi^ation, and will doubtless become
a very important manufacturing town.
From the Palmer depot, on the west-

ern railroad, to Boston is eighty-three
miles east by north

;
to Springfield is

fifteen miles west south-west
;
and to

Albany one hundred and seventeen
miles north-west.



230 GAZETT£ER OF ?.IAS.SAC1IUSETTS.

PAWTUCKET.

Bristol Co. This was a part of

Seekonk until its incorporation in

1828, when the Indian name of the

place was wisely given to the town.
It is bounded by Attleborough on the

north, Kehoboth on the east, Seekonk
on the south, and Seekonk river. Paw-
tucket Falls, or North Providence, on
the west.

The gigantic mill stream which

passes this place on the west, and
which is the boundary between Mas-
%achusetts and Rhode Island, is called

Blackstone in Massachusetts, Pamtucket
Falls until it reaches the lower fall,

and from thence to Providence river,
it takes the name of Seekonk.

The territory of the town comprises
an area of only about two miles

square. It is the village of Paw-
tucket that gives importance to the

town. The village is at the falls, on
both sides of the river, comprising a

part of the town of North Providence.
It is an important manufacturing
place, commanding considerable trade,
and contains a population of about ten

thousand.
The first manufacture of cotton

cloth in this country, by water-power
machinery, was commenced at this

place. The water-power is immense,
and the fall of the river within a short

distance, is fifty feet.

The river is navigable to the vil-

lage for vessels of considerable bur-

then. It runs four miles south by
west to Providence river, at India

Point, near the depot of the Boston
and Providence railroad, one mile be-

low the centre of the city of Provi-

dence.

At this place are twelve or more
cotton mills and print works, and
manufactures of cotton machinery,
bobbins, spools, &c.

;
of boots, shoes,

carriages, vessels, chairs, cabinet-

wares, &;c.
;

total annual value about
two millions and a half of dollars.

The turnpike road from this place
to Providence is ])robably the best

road of the kind in the world. It is

very straight, wide, level, smooth, and
shaded on each side by beautiful trees.

Samuel Slater, Esq., the father of
cotton manufactures in America, re-

sided in this viUage many years. Ho
died at Webster, Massachusetts, great

ly respected, April 20, 1835, aged
sixty-seven.

This village is pleasant, and the

scenery around it delightful. It lies

about two miles we.st from the See-
konk depot, on the Boston and Provi-

dence railroad, which is thirty-eight
and a half miles from Boston. By
the old roads it is sixteen miles west
from Taunton, thirty-eight south-east
from Worcester, and four miles north
from Providence.

PAXTOIV.
Worcester Co. Previous to 1765,

the territory of this town comprised
the north part of Leicester and the

south part of Rutland. It M'as first

settled about 1720. The first minis-
ter in the town was the Rev. Silas

Bigelow, in 1767. His successors
were the Rev. Alexander Thayer, in

1770
;

Rev. John Foster, in 1785
;

Rev. Daniel Grosvenor, in 1794
;
Rev.

Gaius Conant, in 1808
;
Rev. Moses

Winch, in 1832; Rev. James D.

Farnsworth, in 1835.

Paxton is bounded north by Rut-

land, east by Holden, south by Lei-

cester, and west by Oakham.
The surface of the town is elevated,

so much so, that its numerous fine

rivulets by which it is watered, flow

some to the Nashua, and some to the

Connecticut. There are but two hills

in the town of any note
; they are the

Bumsket and Turkey, and they, al-

though quite elevated, are arable to

their summits. The vapors which

gather around the former in the even

ing, indicate to the farmers the state

of the weather the succeeding day.
The soil of the town is strong, moist,
and well adapted to the purposes of

agriculture. Many fine beeves, and
much of the product of the dairy are

sent to market. There are some
manufactures in the town, but farm-

ing is the chief business of the people.
Paxton lies seven miles north-west

by west from Worcester, and fifty -one

miles west from Boston.
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I'ELIIAM.

Hampshire Co'. Before iis incor-

poration as a town, in 1743, Pelhain

bore the name of New Lisburne, or

Stoddard's Town. In 1742, there

were forty families in the town, and
in 1744, the Rev. Robert Abercrom-

bie, a Presbyterian, was settled as

pastor. The ancestors of the first set-

tlers were from the north of Ireland.

The surface of the town is elevated

and uneven. It is well watered by
Swift and Fort rivers and their

branches
;
and the soil is good, both

for tillage and pastures.
Some years ago, the notorious Ste-

phen Burroughs profaned the Chris-

tian Sabbath, by imposing himself on
the innocent people of Pelham as a
minister of the gospel.

Pelham lies fourteen miles north-

east from Northampton, and about

seventy-six miles west from Boston.

'

PEMBROKE.

Plymouth Cc. This town was
taken from Duxbury in 1711. North
river separates it from Hanover

;
and

some branches of that stream, rising
iVom ponds in Pembroke, give it a

good water-power.
For more than forty years after the

settlement at Plymouth, this town
contained the onl}' saw-mill in the

colony. Pembroke is at the head of

navigation on the North river, and

possesses superior advantages for

ship-building ;
and many nobie ves-

sels, constructed of native white oak,
are annually launched. The manu-
factures of the town consist of ves-

sels, cotton goods, tacks, iron ware,
chairs, cabinet-ware. &;c.

The North river is very deep and
narrow, and so exceedingly crooked,
that it meanders eighteen miles in its

i-niirse from Pembroke to Scituate

harbor, when the distance by land is

less than six miles.

The Rev. Daniel Lewis was the

fust minister in the town, ordained
in 1712. He was .succeeded in 1754,

by the Rev. Thomas Smith, who con-

tinue,! in th'.' pastoral ofhce thirty-
lour years.
Pembroke conlains a pleasant vil-

lage near the centre of the town, and,
in connection with Hanson, some fine

fish ponds. It lies twelve miles north

north-west from Plymouth, and about

four miles north-east from Hanson,
where the Old Colony railroad passes,

twenty -four miles from Boston.

PEPPERELiL-

Middlesex Co. This is v very
pleasant town, with a good soil, varie-

gated surface, and beautiful villages.
It is watered by the Nashua river,
which gives it a good water-power.
There are a number of paper-mills in

the town, and manufactures of pal.ii-

leaf hats, boots, shoes, &:c.

Col. William Prescott, one of the

brave defenders of Charlestown

heights, was a native of this town.
He died in 1795, aged seventj'.

This town derived its name from
Sir \ViLLiA.M Pepperell, who, about
the year 1727, was chosen one of
his majesty's council, and was annu-

ally reelected thirty-two years, till his

death. Living in a country exposen
to a ferocious enemy, he was wc'l

fitted for the situation in which he
was placed ;

for it pleased God lo

give him a vigorous frame, and a
mind of firm texture, and of great
calmness in danger. He rose to the

highest military honors which his

country could bestow upon him.
When the expedition against Louis-

bourg was contemplated, he was com-
missioned by the governors of New
England to command the troops. He
invested the city in 1745. There was
a remarkable series of providences in

the whole affair, and ]\Ir. Pepperell
ascribed his unparalleled success to

the God of armies. The king, in re-

ward for his services, conferred upon
him the dignity of a baronet of Great

Britain, an honor never before con-
ferred on a native of New England.
He died at his seat in Kittery, Maine,
.Inly I"), 1759, aged sixty-three years,

leaving but one daughter, the wife of
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Colonel Nathaniel Sparhavvlc. The
j

last Sir William, (son of Colonel Spar-

hawk,) died in London, in 1817. The
name and title are extinct.

Lady Mary Pepperell, relict of Sir

William Pepperell, died at her seat in

Kiltery, November 25, 1789. She
was daughter of Grove Hirst, Esq.,
and grand -daughter of Hon. Judge
Sewall. Her natural and acquired

powers were said to be very respecta-

ble, and she was much admired for

her wit and sweetness of manners.
William Pepperell, the father of

the first Sir William, was a native of

Cornwall, England, and emigrated to

this country about the year 1676, and
settled at the Isle of Shoals, as a fisher-

man. It is said, he was so poor for

some time after his arrival, that the

lady to whom he paid his addresses

at the Shoals, would not hearken to

him. However, in a few years, by
his industry and frugality, he got

enough to send out a brig, which he

loaded, to Hull. The lady now gave
her consent. After his marriage, he

removed to Kittery, where he became
a very wealthy merchant, and died in

1734.

Pepperell was formerly the second

parish in Groton, and the first minis-

ter, the Rev. Joseph Emerson, was
settled in 1775.

This town lies twenty miles north-

west from Concord, thirty-seven north-

west from Boston, and eight miles

north by west from the depot of the

Fitchburg railroad, at Groton. The
railroad from Worcester to Nashua
will pass through this town.

PERU.

Berkshire Co. This township in-

cluded the greater part of Hinsdale
until 1804. The whole was purchased
at auction, at Boston, June 2, 1762,
for one thousand four hundred and

sixty pounds. This was denominated
No. 2, of the nine townships which
were sold at that time. It went into

the hands of Oliver Partridge and Eli-

sha Jones, and, in honor of the for-

mer gentleman, was called Partridge-
iield from its incorporation, in 1771,

until 1806, when it received its pres-
ent name. It is about six miles long
and four and a half broad. Within
these limits the settlement commenced
about 1764.

This town, occupying the height of
land on the Green mountain range,
has a cold, severe climate. The sur-

face is uneven, and the soil hard and

stony, and best adapted to grazing.
There is a limestone quarry, from
which lime is made of the best quali-

ty. The first team is said to have
crossed the mountain in this town in

1767, over which a turnpike road now
passes.

This is a fine township for wool-

growing. In 1837, it produced six

thousand one hundred and twenty-
seven fleeces, which weighed eighteen
thousand three hundred and eighty-
one pounds, and sold for eleven thou-

sand nine hundred and forty-eight
dollars.

A church was formed here in 1770,
and its first pastor, the Rev. Stephen
Tracy, was ordained in 1772. The

meeting-house in this town is so sin-

gularly placed, that the rain from the

east roof flows into the Connecticut,
while that from the west passes to the

Housatonic.
Peru lies twelve miles east from

Pittsfield, and about five miles east

from the depot of the western railroad

at Hinsdale, one hundred and forty-
three miles from Boston.

PETERSHAM.

Worcester Co. The natural situ-

ation of this to\vn is very beautiful
;

it is elevated, but not hilly or uneven.
The centre of the town lies upon the

highest land in it, which is a large,

long, flat hill, upon the highest part
of which runs the principal street from
north to south, and for upwards of

three miles in length, afibrds a most

commanding prospect, not only of the

whole town, but of the towns adjoin-

ing. The soil is rich and fertile, and
the land bears all kinds of grain, but

it is most natural to grass and pastur-

age.

Though the town is high, yet the
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lainl is not dry, but stony and moist,

abounding with springs and brooks.

Weit brook, a considerable stream,
rises in the town, and Swift river

passes its eastern and southern bor-

ders. There are many manufactures
in the town, such as cotton and wool-

len cloth, palm-leaf hats, leather,

boots, shoes, chairs, cabinet-ware, «Scc.

The streams afford good sites for mills,
and are very valuable.

Petersham was first settled about
the year 1738. The early settlers

had much ditHculty with the Indians

who resided in the town, near Nir.ke-

woog Hill, the Indian name of the

town. The first minister was the

Rev. Aaron Whitney, who came with

the first settlers, and remained here

as pastor until 1775.

There are several handsome vil-

lages in the town
;
that in the central

part is very beautiful
;

it lies twenty-
seven miles north-west from Worces-

ter, and about sixty-five west by north

i'rom Boston. The Fitchburg railroad

passes through Athol, about five miles

north from Petersham.

PHILUPSTOX.

Worcester Co. This town was
formerly part of Templeton and Athol.

Al its incorporation, in 1786, the legis-
lature gave it the name of Gerry. In
1814 it took its present name. The
fiiNt minister in the town was the

liev. Ebenezer Tucker, in 1788.

This town is finely watered by
streams and rivulets which How into

Swift and Miller's rivers.

The surface is uneven, consisting
of hills and valleys, but the soil is

productive. Two miles west of the

meeting-house is situated a very fer-

tile hill, large in extent, called Pros-

P'^ct Hill. There is an eminence on
this hdl which overlooks all the high-
lands for many miles around. Upon
it are many excellent farms. About
a mile from the centre village is Fac-

tory village and a fine pond.
The manufactures of the town con-

sist of cotton and woollen goods, pahn-
leaf hats, leather, boots, shoas. itec.

20*

Phillipston lies twenty-seven miles

north-west from Worcester, and fifty-

eight north-west by west from Boston.

The railroad from Fitchburg to Ver-

mont passes through this town.

PITTSFIEL.D.

Berkshire Co. The territory of

this beautiful town was granted to

Boston in 1735. It was called " Bos-

ton Plantation,'' until it was sold to

Jacob Wendell, in 1713
;

it then bore

the name of Wendell's Town until its

incorporation, in 17tU, when it re-

ceived its present name, in honor of

William Put, the English statesman.

It was first settled in 1752. Its Indian

name was Puntoosuck, signifying a
run for deer, a name we should vote

for in preference to all the rest.

The first minister in the town was
the Rev. Thomas Allen, in 1764.

He was succeeded by his son. Rev.
William Allen, D. D.. in 1810. Dr.

Allen w'as afterwards president of

Bowdoin College, from 1820 to 1838.

The third minister was the Rev. He-
man Humphrey, D. D., in 1817. Dr.

Humphrey was president of Amherst
College from 1823 to 1845.

Piitsfield is bounded north by
Lanesborough, east by Hinsdale,
south by Lenox, and west by Han-
cock. It lies, by railroads, one hun-
dred and fifty-one miles west from Bos-

ton, forty-nine east from Albany, for-

ty-five northeast from Hudson
;
from

thence to New York by the Hudson
river is one hundred and sixteen

miles. From Pittsfield to Bridgejwrt,
on Long Island Sound, by the western
and Housatonic railroads, is one hun-
dred and nine miles, and from thence
to New York by water, is sixty miles.

Solomon Deming and family, from

Wethersfield, in Connecticut, were the

first white settlers.

I\Irs. Deming was the first white
female who came into the town, and
was often left alone through the night,

by the necessary absence of her hus-

band, when there was not another
white iniiabitant in the town, and the

wilderness was filled with Indians.
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She -was the last, as well as the first,

of the settlers, and died ia March,
1818, aged ninety-two.

"Pittsfield has no mountains, ex-

cept a point of Lenox mountain on
the south, which extends a short dis-

tance into the town. The Taconic

mountain, in Hancock, howev^er, runs

nearly parallel with the town line on
the west, and a continuance of the

Green mountain range bounds the

town on the east.

"The Housatonic river, which is

formed by a number of brooks, in the

mountain towns east of Dalton, enters

this town at the north-east corner, and
after running about four miles in a

.-^ourh-westerly direction, and within

half a mile of the centre of the village
it takes a southerly direction, which it

preserves through the town. There
are some fine water privileges on this

stream, some of which are unoccu-

pied.
" The Pontoosuc river, or as it is

sometimes called, the western branch
of the Housatonic, flows from a small

but beautiful lake, partly in this town
and partly in Lanesborough. It is a
beautiful sheet of water, about a mile

and a half long, and a mile wide.

The river is formed by the outlet of

the lake, which is at the south-east

corner. This stream runs nearly
south, and passes the village of Pitts-

field, about half a mile to the west.

It pursues a southerly course, about
three fourths of a mile to the south

of the centre of the village, where
it turns to the east and unites with

the Housatonic. As this stream

originates in a lake, it is not afiected

by droughts or freshets, while the

fall is so considerable as to furnish a

great number of invaluable water

privileges. Most of the factories in

the town are on this stream.
" The Shaker brook originates in

Richmond pond, on the south line of

the town. It runs north-easterly, and
unites with the Pontoosuc river.

There are good water privileges on
this brook, two of which are already

occupied.
" The soil is generally rich and

productive. There is little or no

waste land in the town. There is a

large quantity of alluvial land on the

rivers, especially on the Housatonic
which usually overflows its banks in

the spring. There was formerly
much wheat and rye raised in this

town for the market, and the mer-
chants exchanged beef, pork, butter,
and cheese, for goods in New York.
This is not now the case. A manu-
facturing and mechanical population,

together with the schools, have within a
few 3rears, created a market at home."
The village is well located, and

contains many beautiful buildings,

which, with the fine scenery, and well
cultivated farms that surround it, pre-
sent a great variety to charm the

eye and to gratify the taste of the in-

telligent agriculturalist.
In a beautiful square in this village,

is
" a large elm, which was left stand-

ing when the original forest was
cleared awav. It is one hundred and

twenty-six feet in height, and ninety
feet to the limbs. It is a striking

object, and never fails to attract the

notice of strangers."
Pittsfield is quite a busy place in

manufacturing as well as agricultural

operations. As early as 1837, the

various manufactures of the town
amounted to about seven hundred
thousand dollars, since which they
have greatly increased. In that year,
the value of wool sheared in the town
amounted to twenty thousand dollars.

Pittsfield is singularly located, as

well as remarkably beautiful. In

travelling from Northampton to Pitts-

field, through Worthington and Peru,
it seems as if our horses would never
reach the summit level between the

Connecticut and Housatonic. The
height gained, we descend into a large,

deep, and delightful valley, surround-

ed at a distance by high and pictur-

esque mountains, with charming
streams meandei-ing at our feet. On
looking around, one would think that

he was as near the level of the sea as

at Northampton or Worcester; but

on noting the long and rapid course

the Housatonic has to run and tum-
ble before it reaches its resting-place,
amid the tide- waters at Derby, m
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Connecticut, he will find that that riv-

er, whu'.h glides so gently across the

street at Pitlsfield, is several hundred
feet higher than the proud summit of

Mount Holyoke.
Piltsfield has become quite a seat

of learning. Besides the '•

Dilling-
ham School," and Miss Hinsdale's
select school, are the following insti-

tutions :
—

The Berkshire Medicai, Institu-

tion has handsome and commodious

buildings, erected for its use, in the

centre of Pitlsfield. This institution

was established in 1822, in connection

with Williams' College, but became

independent of it, by law, in 1837.

The lectures commence on the 8th

of August, and continue thirteen

weeks. Fees for the course fifty dol-

lars. This institution has five profes-

sors, and generally about one hundred
students. It is well conducted, and
is an honor to the town, county, and
state.

The You.n'g Ladies' Institute, in

this town, is located within a few
minutes' walk of the western railroad

anil the centre of the village. It can
be reached, at all seasons of tlie year,
in two hours and a half from Albany
or Hudson, in twelve from New York,
in tliree from Springfield, and in eight
from Boston.

In salubrity of climate, beauty of

scenery, and environments of hill and

valley, Pitlsfield can hardly be sur-

passed. The long ranges of the IIoo-

sic and Taconic mountains on the

east, south, and west, with Saddle
mountain on the north, enclose a val-

ley of exceeding richness and fertility.
In the very centre of this valley, on a

gentle elevation, overlooking the town
towards the south, and the country
far and wide, stand the buildings of
the institute, with a number of acres

laid out in a circular garden, sloping
from the green in front of the build-

mgs towards the south, surrounded
and inter.sected by spacious graveled
walks, ornamented with shrubbery
and flowers, tastefully set off with par-
terres and arbors, and enlivened by
an artificial fountain.

The niimlur of pupils for the sum-

mer term is generally about seventy-
five.

The course of studies pursued in

the institute is extensive and liberal,

and cannot fail, in all cases where it

is diligently and systematically prose-

cuted, to exert a decided influence

over the female mind, and, through
that powerful and pervading agency,
to secure the most happy results m
our rising republic.

The Berkshire Jubii.ee, held at

Pittsfield, August 22 and 23, 1841,
was a most interesting and unique
event in the history of our country.
It was a meeting of the emigrants
from Berkshire, and of its citizens;
and the exercises of the occasion were
a sermon, a poem, and an oration,
with various addresses, and short

poetical effusions, closing with the

ct'uviviality of a public dinner, under
a broad tent. An account of the

jubilee, including the .sermon, fcc,
has been published in a book of two
hundred and forty four pages.

Tlie project of this convention ori-

ginated with some emigrants residing
in the city of New York, among
whom were Rev. J. C. Brigham, Rev.
R. S. Cook, Samuel. R. Belts, Esq.,
Theodore Sedgwick, Esq., and Wil-
liam C. Bryant, Esq. A large com-
mittee in Berkshire cooperated with
them in making and executing the

necessary arrangements. Governor

Briggs was the pre;.ident, assisted by
nearly fifty vice-presidents, and five

chaplains, among whom Avere Dr.

Shepherd, who had been the minister
of Lenox about half a century.
The sermon was by Rev. Mark

Hopkins, D. D., president of Williams'

College. It began as follows :—''And
this is the Berkshire Jubilee !

—we
have come, the sons and daughters
of Berkshire, from our villages, and
hill-sides, and mountain-tops;—from
the distant city, from the far west,
from every place where the spirit of

enterprise and adventure bears men,
we have coine. The farmer has left

his field, the mechanic his worlc-shop,
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the merchant his counting-room, the

lawyer his brief, and the minister his

people ;
and we have come to revive

old and cherished associations, and
to renew former friendships

—to

lengthen the cords and strengthen the

stakes of every kind and time-hallow-
ed affection." The text was Psalms
116 :

" Return unto thy rest, O my
soul

;
for the Lord hath dealt bounti-

fully M'ith thee." God's bounty to

us was illustrated in the provision
made for our physical wants, and in

the aspects of nature, and the influ-

ences of society by which we have
been surrounded. Under this head,
the preacher described the peculiar
advantages of the natives and citi-

zens of Berkshire. In the second

part of his discourse, he showed that

there was no rest for the soul of man,
except in God.
The sermon, delivered in the Con-

gregational meeting-house, was fol-

lowed by a poem b)' Rev. Dr. Allen,
of Northampton, late president of
Bowdoin College, a native and for-

merly minister of Pittsfield, who
preached his first sermon in that house
more than forty years before.

He said :—

" We stand amidst the acenes of early daya :
—

On brook and river, hill and mountain height,
On meadow, field, and lake once more we gaze.
Which fill'd our lieart in youth with pure de-

light.
The rainbow'a wondrous arch first saw we

here,
On gloomy sky when setting sun outshone—
Its hues of Ijlue, and gold, and red all clear—
God's sign no second flood the earth shall

drown.
First heard we here the robin's song of joy,
Outpouring from llie tree at early morn

;

The bluebird here first cliarni'il our gazing eye.
And sacred swallow on swift wing upborne.
Here first in infancy the look of love,
Dearer than rainbow's hues, pure bliss con-

ferr'd :

Here first affection's voice, as from above.
Struck sweeter on our eartban song of bird.

We come to think of what our fathers were—
Of mothers, sisters, brothers, here of yore;
To breathe again our childhood's fragrant air.

And childhood's loveliest home to see once
more.

We come to strengthen in our inmost mind
Our child learned principles, all good and true

;

And here to worsiiip, in one band entwin'd,
In Father-land our fathers' God anew."

In concluding his poem, of four or
five hundred lines, he said :

—
" Our fathers' sepulchres ! farewell ! farewell !

Thus too may we find peaceful, glorious rest !

And, as our children on our memories dwell.

May tliey too thrill with joy and call us blest!"

The next day an oration was pro-

nounced, on Jubilee Hill, by Joshua
A. Spencek, Esq., of Utica. He
said :

—" Since our return, we have
seen the sun rise and set, where it

rose and set to the eyes of our child-

hood; have looked upon the green
hills which we beheld in the days of
our youth ;

have visited the old dwel-

lings of our fathers
;
looked into the

well, and seen face answering to face

in water, but not to the face of youth ;

we have drank from the old moss-

grown bucket
;
trod the path-way to

the old pasture, to the orchard, to the

meadow
;
have rambled over our old

bathing, and hunting, and fishing

grounds ;
slacked our thirst at the

same perennial spring, or gurgling
rill

;
have run over the racing ground

of our boyhood, and bathed in the

same stream. Until this our return,
we did not fully realize how ardently
we love "our own, our native land."

His historical account of Berkshire
was instructive and interesting. The

study of the Bible he recommended
as essential to religious and civil lib-

erty.
" Let the religion and the ex-

ample of our Pilgrim Fathers," he

said,
" take a strong hold on the

hearts of men, and constantly remind

them, that obedience to the laws of
our country, and respect to the civil

magistrate are among the first and
highest duties of every citizen."

jMr. Spencer having stated that the

first printing-press in the county was
set up in Stockbridge, and the first

newspaper, in 17S9, the " Western

Star," soon followed by the "Sun,"
at Pittsfield, Judge Ezekiel Bacon,
of Utica, a native of Stockbridge, fol-

lowed the orator, and corrected the

error into which he had fallen, saying,
that he held in his hand an earlier pa-

per than the "Star;" it was the

"Berkshire Chronicle," "published
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at PlUsfielil by Roger Slorrs," dated

August 7, 1788, vol. I., No. 14. And
he read froiu it various extracts, with

amusing comments.

Only a brief account can be given
of the other addresses. At the recep-
tion meeting, before the public exer-

cises alluded to, Thomas A. Gui.d,

Esq., of Pittsfteld, in a friendly and

hospitable address, welcomed the emi-

grant sons of Berkshire to their native

soil. He was answered by the Rev.
Russell S. Cook, of New York. At
informal meetings on the morning of

the second day, addresses were made
by Fred. HolUster, Esq., of Utica

;

Gov. George N. Briggs, of Pittsfield
;

Mr. J. B. Eldridge, of Hartford
;

J.

W. Goodrich, Esq., of Worcester
;
Dr.

Sabin of Williamstown
;

Dr. H. H.

Childs, of Pittsfield
;
Rev. Joshua N.

Danforth, of Alexandria
;
Rev. Timo-

thy Woodbridge, of Spencer Town,
and others.

At the dinner-table, where two or

three thousand persons were seated,
the president, Governor Briggs, said :—" We have come together around
this family board, sons and daughters,
whose residences are scattered over
the surface of eighteen of these twenty-
six states. We may well say to

ourselves, that we must be rather
a promising family, to have our chil-

dren spread thus far and wide over
the four quarters of this great land,
and gathered together again on an
occasion of this kind." He stated

the interesting fact, that when a mem-
ber of Congress, he met in the house
of representatives, seven or eight mem-
bers, who were sons of Berkshire. He
concluded with saying,

" Welcome to

these green valleys and mountains.
Welcome to this feast, to our homes,
to our hearts, welcome to everything.
Once more I say, welcome ! Other
addresses were made by Marshall S.

Bidwell, D. D. Field, and Theodore
Sedgwick, Esqs., and Rev. Dr. Dew-
ey, of New York

; Judge Charles A.

Dewey, of Northampton ;
Professor

C. Dewey, and Timothy Childs, Esq.,
of Rochester, New York

;
Julius Rock-

well, Esq., of Pittstield
; Judge Samuel

R. Betts, of New York
;
Rev. John

Todd, of Pittstield, and others.

The pottkul commuiiications were
from Judge Bacon, Mrs. Sigourr.ey,
Mrs. Fanny Kemble Butler, William
Pitt Palmer, Esq., Dr. 0. W. Holmes,
Mrs. Emily P. Dodge, and I\Irs. L.

Hyde. Other communications pub-
lished in the jubilee book were fur-

nished by John Mills, Esq., of Spring-
field

;
Thomas Allen, Esq., of St.

Louis; I\Iiss C. M. Sedgwick, of

Lenox, and others.

The emigrant sons and daughters
of Berkshire are scattered over the

United States, and in other parts of

the world. It has sent them out as

missionaries to the western ludians,
to the Sandwich Islands, to South

America, to Greece, to Turkey, to

Africa.

Among its emigrant distinguished
ministers are Rev. Drs. Stone, of Brook-

lyn ; Dewey, of New York
;
Brims-

made and Eddy, of Newark
;

\''eo-

mans, of Peru, and Leland, of South
Carolina. Many of its sons are teach-

ers, merchants, lawyers, and physi-

cians, widely spread over our coun-

try ;
one of them, Dr. Anson Jones, is

the president of Texas.
The deceased ministers of Berk-

shire were many of them eminent for

their learning and patriotism ; among
whom were ;\Ir. Sergeant, first mis-

sionary to the Housatonic Indians,
President Edwards, and Drs. Hop-
kins, West, and Hyde. Rev. Tho-
mas Allen, the first minister of Pitts-

field, was not only a faithful pastor,
but a zealous patriot of the revolution.

In a campaign of three days, he ac-

companied his people to the field of

battle, and participated in the contest

and the victory of Bennington. Drs.

Fitch, Moore, and Griflin, were presi-
dents of Williams' College. Meta
physical theology has been much cul-

tivated in Berkshire. It was in Stock-

bridge, that 31r. Edwards, while a
teaclier of the Indians, wrote his cel-

ebrated Treatise on the Will. And
Professor Tappan, once a minister of

Pittsfield, has written three volumes
in review of his treatise. The wnt-
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ings of Hopkins, AVest, and Griffin,
are well known. Probably the few
books on metaphysical theology, which
hare sprung from Berkshire minis-

ters, are more in number and value,
than the other publications on the

subject in all North America.
The effect of this jubilee was so good

and important, that it is to be hoped,
that many similar jubilees will be cele-

brated in other counties and districts

of our country.

PLAIXFIEL-D.

Hampshire Co. The territory of
this town was called Pontoosuck by
the Indians. It was the north part
of Cummington, incorporated as a
district in 1785, and as a town in

1807. A church was formed here in

1786, but was without a regular pas-
tor until 1792, when the Rev. Moses
Hallock was settled.

" This township lies on the eastern
side of the Green mountain range,
and, as might be expected, the sur-

face is undulating, and, in many
parts rough and broken, less so, how-

ever, than that of the adjoining towns.

Indeed, the summit of East Hill, on
which is the principal village, may
be considered as level through nearly
the whole breadth of the town. The
soil is good and strong, and well

adapted for grass. The township is

exceedingly well supplied with springs
and rivulets. There are no large
streams in the town. Mill brook is

the largest. There are two ponds,
both in the north-west part of the

town
;

the North pond, which is

about a mile long, and a half a mile

wide, and the Crooked pond, so called

from its figure. The scenery around
these ponds is wild, and may perhaps
be said to partake of the gloomy ;

for

here, for the most part, the forests

have never been touched, and nature,
in all her wildness,

"Still on her bosnm wears the enamel'd vest
That bloomed ami budded on her youthful

breast.

"The waters of the North pond
empty into the Deerfield river at

Charlemont, while those of the Crooked

pond empty into the South pond, in

Windsor, which is the head of one of

the branches of Westfield river. The
North pond is dotted with islands, and
is a favorite place of resort for anglers
and parties of pleasure; and both
have peculiar attractions to the bota-

nist, as some very rare and interest-

ing aquatic plants are found on the

shores and in the water."
The manufactures of this town con-

sist of woollen and cotton goods, cab-

inet-ware, leather, boots, shoes, palm-
leaf hats, chairs, (kc. The value of
wool sheared in this town in one year
was five thousand three hundred and

seventy-nine dollars.

Plainfield lies twenty-seven miles

north-west from Northampton, and
one hundred and seventeen miles west

by north from Boston.

We obtain the following account of

the Mountain DIiller, who died in

this town, in 1S13, from Dr. Porter's

history of Plainfield :
—

"Deacon Joseph Beals, who will

be known through the future ages of
the church as the Mountain Miller,
was a native of Bridgewater, in this

state, and removed with his family to

this place in 1779. Here, in 1789, a

year of great scarcity, he met with a
severe affliction, the loss of his house
and nearly all his provisions by a fire.

Previous to this, he had been de-

pending on his external morality for

salvation, considering a change as

unnecessary. He now found that he
could not truly submit to the will of

God, and betook himself to the seek-

ing of his salvation in earnest. After
a season of distressing anxiety, the

Saviour was pleased to reveal him-
self to his sou! as 'the chief among
ten thousand and altogether love-

ly,' and he suddenly broke forth in

new strains of devotion, penitence,
and [-raise, for redeeming love. From
this time he consecrated himself to

the service of his Saviour, and be-

came distinguished for his meekness
and humility, his life of prayer, his

exemplary deportment at all times
and in all places, particularly in the

house of God
;

his abiding sense of
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the uncertainly of life and llie retribu-

tions of eternity, his preciousness to

the awakened sinner, his care for the

spiritual welfare of his family, and of

all with wJKiin the providence of God

bruughl hiia in contact, his persever-
ance in doing good, and his uniform
and consistent ]>iei\'.

The pious trav-

eller will hereafter delight to visit the

place, consecrated by the residence of

the Mountain Miller, to drink at the

spring by the roadside, bursting from

the rock, and shaded by two beauti-

ful sugar maples, where he so often

drank in passing between his house

and mill, and, above all, to linger at

the grave of this most devoted ser-

vant of the Most High."
See "The IMountain Miller,'' an

interesting tract, by William A. Hal-

lock.

PLYMOUTH.

Plymouth Co. Shire town. This

town lies in north latitude 41° 57' 27",
west longitude 70-' 40' 19". By the

Old Colony railroad it is thirty-seven
miles south-east from Boston.

The township of Plymouth was once
much larger than it is at present ;

and it is now one of the very largest
in point of territory, in the stale. It

extends on the coast about sixteen

miles from north to south. The land

is generally hilly, barren, and sandy ;

but a border of considerable e.xtcnt on
the seaboard, consists of a rich loamy
soil. Numerous small streams cross

the township in various directions,
and there are more than fifty perma-
nent ponds, and more than three thou-

sand acres are covered with water.

The harbor is formed partly by a

beach, extending three miles north-

erly from the 'mouth of Eel brook,
south of the village. This beach,
which serves to break the waves roll-

ing in from ISIa.ssachusetts Bay, has
been much damaged by violence, and
in former years even the safety of the

harbor has been endangered. Large
appropriations have been made by
ihe town, as well as by the state, and

recently by the general government,
for the repair and preservation of the

beach, as essential to the preservation
of the harbor.

Plymouth village is situated at the

north part of the town
;

it is com-

pactly built, and for the space of

half a mile north and south Irom the

town square, very few building lots

are unoccupied. "Not a dwelling
house of ancient date or antique form
now remains in town. Those recently
erected are in the style of modern

architecture, and the largest propor-
tion of the buildings in the place are

painted of a light color, and exhibit

an air of neatness and elegance."

Among the buildings most worthy
of notice are Pilgrim Hall, the court-

house, and a Gothic structure, for the

church of the first society.
In 1834, Colonel Sargent, of Bos-

ton, presented to the Pilgrim Society
his valuable painting, representing
the landing of the Fathers from the

May Flower, in 1G20. This painting,
which decorates the walls of the Pil-

grim Hall, is valued at three thousand
dollars. It is about thirteen by six-

teen feet, and represents all the prom-
inent persons in the colony who first

landed, being a most valuable and

interesting acquisition. Among the

antiquities in the cabinet of the Pil-

grim Society, there is an antique
chair, said to have belonged to Gov-
ernor Carver, the identical sword-
blade used by Captain Miles Stand-

ish, the identical cap worn by King
Philip, and a variety of implements
wrought of stone by the natives, such
as axes, tomahawks, arrow-heads,
(Sec.

The harbor of Plymouth is large,
but not of sufficient depth for vessels

of the largest class. Plymouth is cel-

ebrated for its shipping and ship-
building. IMany merchantmen are

owned here, and large numbers are

constantly engaged in the coasting-
trade and fisheries. There is consid-
erable water-power in the town, and
this mother of all the towns in the

land, is setting her daughters a good
example of domestic industry.

"Plymouth was the first town built

in New England by civilized man
;

and those by whom it was built were
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inferior in worth to no body of men,
whose names are recorded in history,

during the last seventeen hundred

years. A kind of venerableness, aris-

ing from these facts, attaches to this

town, which may be termed a preju-
dice. Still, it has its foundation in

the nature of man, and will never be

eradicated either by philosophy or rid-

icule. No New Englander, who is

willing to indulge his native feelings,
can stand upon the rock, where our
ancestors set the first foot after their

arrival on the American shore, with-

out experiencing emotions very dif-

ferent from those which are excited

by any common object of the same
nature. No New Englander could

be willing to have that rock buried

and forgotten. Let him reason as

much, as coldly, and as ingeniously as

he pleases, he will still regard that

spot with emotions wholly different

from those which are excited by other

places of equal or even superior impor-
tance. We cannot wish this trait in

the human character obliterated. In
a higher state of being, where truth is

universally as well as cordially em-

braced, and virtue controls without a

rival, this prejudice, if it must be call-

ed by that name, will become useless,
and may, -therefore, be safely discard-

ed. But in our present condition, ev-

ery attachment, which is innocent,'
has its use, and contributes both to

fix and to soften man. When we
call to mind the history of their suf-

ferings on both sides of the Atlantic,
when we remember their preeminent
patience, their unspotted piety, their

immovable fortitude, their undaunted

resolution, their love to each other,
their justice and humanity to the sav-

ages, and their freedom from all those

stains which elsewhere spotted the

character even of their companions in

affliction, we cannot but view them as

illustrious brothers, claiming the ven-
eration and applause of all their pos-

terity.
" The institutions, civil, literary, and

religious, by which New England is

distinguished on this side the Atlan-

tic, began here. Here the manner of

holding lands in free soccagc, now

universal in this country, commenced
Here the right of sufi"rage was im-

parted to every citizen, to every in-

habitant not disqualified by poverty or

vice. Here was formed the first es-

tablishment of towns, of the local legis-

lature, which is called a town meet-

ing, and of the peculiar town execu-

tive, styled the selectmen. Here the

first parochial school was set up, and
the system originat'^d for communi-
cating to every child in the community
the knowledge of reading, writing,
and arithmetic. Here, also, the first

building was erected for the worship
of God; the first rehgious assembly
gathered ;

and the first minister called

and settled, by the voice of the church
and congregation. On these simple
foundations has since been erected a
structure of good order, peace, liberty,

knowledge, morals, and religion, with
which nothing on this side the Atlan-
tic can bear a remote comparison."

BiLLiNGTON Sea. This fine sheet

of water is about two miles south-west
from the town, and from it issues the

Town brook. In this pond there are

two small islands. The largest, con-

taining about two acres, having been

planted with apple-trees, produces ex-

cellent fruit. This pond is well stock-

ed with pickerel and perch. The ma-

jestic eagle is frequently seen cower-

ing over this pond, and has for ages
built its nests in the branches of the

trees, visiting the flats in the harbor
at low tide in pursuit of fish and birds.

Loons, and the beautiful wood-duck,
proditce their young in sequestered
retreats about this pond, annually.
The fallow deer, tenacious of their

ancient place of rendezvous, continue
to visit this pond for drink, and to

browse on its margin. For many
years this beautiful pond was a favor-

ite resort for social parties. A house
was erected on the bank, a pleasure-
boat was in the pond, and tea-parties
and fishing-parties united in the hap-
piest enjoyments.

There are on the road to Sandwich,
in the woods, two rocks, called Sacri-

fice rocks. They are covered with

slicks and stones, which have beea
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accumulating lor centuric-i. It was
the constant piaclice among the al)o-

riginals, to throw a stone or stick on
the rock in passing. The late lie v.

Mr. Hawley, who spent many years
among the natives at Marshpee, en-
deavored to learn from them the de-

sign of this singular rue, but could

only conjecture that it was an ac-

knowledgement of an invisible Being,
the unknown God whom this people
worshipped. This pile was their altar.

Burying Hill, formerly Fort Ilill.

Immediately in the rear of ihe town
IS a hill, rising one hundred and si.vty-
five feet above the sea-level, embrac-

ing about eight acres. On the sum-
mit of the south-west side, ihe pil-

grims erected first some tempoi-arj'

defence, but, in 1675, on ihe approach
of Philip's war, they erected a strong
fort, one hundred feet square, strongly
palisadocd, ten and a half feet high.
No other place could have been so
well chosen, either for discovering the

approach of savages, or for defending
tiie town against their attacks. The
settlement was rendered perfectly se-

cure, and springs of water were at

their command. The wiiole circuit

of the fort is still distinctly visible
;

a watch-house of brick was also built,

[see views of Tlymouth 1620, 18-16.]
Tlie view presented from this emi-

nence, embracing the harbor and the
shores of the bay for miles around, is

not, perhaps, inferior to any in the

country. Let the antiquarian come
at full tide, and when the billows are

calmed, and seat himself on this

mount, that he may survey the incom-

parable landscape, and enjoy the in-

teresting associations with 'which he
will be inspired. Immediately be-
neath the hill lies the town in full

view, and beyond this the harbor and
shipping. The harbor is a beautiful

expanse of water, bounded on the
ioulh by Manomet point, and near
which commences a beach three miles
in length, breasting the rolling billows
of the bay, and serving as a barrier to

the wharves
;
and on the north-east is

a promontory extending from Marsh-
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field, called the Gurnet, on the point
I of which stands the light-house.
I

These several ])oints, together with

j

the opposite shores, completely enclose
the harbor, having Clark's Island and
Saquish in its bosom. Beyond these

}X)ints opens the great bay of Massa-

chusetts, bounded at the southern ex-

tremity by the peninsula of Cape Cod,
which IS distinctly visible, and spread-
ing boundless to the north-east. On
the north appears the nourishing vil-

lage of Duxbury, shooting into the

bay, and exhibiting a hand>ome coni-
cal lull, ever to be remembered as
once the property and residence of
the gallant Standish. Between Dux-

bury and Plymouth, is the harbor and
pleasant village of Kingston.
Having taken a survey of this mag-

nificent group, so exceedingly endear-
ed to the New England antiquarian,
and enjoyed a spiritual vision of the

3Iayflower, laden with men, women,
and children, come as founders of a

mighty empire, we are next led to view
a scene of more solemn contemplation.
The whole extent of the hill is covered
with the symbols of mortality, the

sepulchres of our^ venerated fathers.

We tread on the a-shes of some of
those to whom wc are indebted, under

Providence, for our most precious
earthly enjoyments, all that is valua-
ble in life, much of principle and ex-

ample which are consoling in death.
With what solicitude do we search for

a sepulchral stone, bearing the names
of Carver, Bradford, aiid their glorious
associates.

The following are the most ancient
monuments which can be traced within
this enclosure :

—
" Here lies the body of Edward Gray,

gent., aged about fifty-two years, and
departed this life the last of June,
1681."

" Here lyes ye body of ye Honora-
ble Major William Bradford, who ex-

pired February ye 20, 1703-4, aged
79 years.
" He lived long, lint sliU was doin? good,
.And in hi.-< coun'ry's .service lost much blood.
Aflcr a life well spent he 's now at rest—
His very came and nieinory is blest."
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The place where the pilgrims first

located themselves was the whole ex-

tent of Leyden street, and its envi-

rons. This street extends from the

town square to the shore, and termi-

nates a little south of "
Plymouth

Rock," a deeply interesting spot,
where our forefathers landed on the

22d of December, 1620, and which

every lover of New England vene-

rates and wishes to see.

In 1820, a society was instituted at

Plymouth, called the Pilgrim Society,

and was incorporated by the legisla-
ture of the state. The design of this

association is to commemorate the
"
great historical event " of the land-

ing of the pilgrim fathers,
" and to

perpetuate the character and virtues

of our ancestors to posterity."
An Anniversaky Commemoration of

the landing of the pilgrims commenced
in Plymouth on the 22d of December,
L769, and will, we trust, be continued
in Pilgrim Hall, so long as the vir-

tues, unparalleled sufferings, and the

conscientious performance of the du-

ties of piety and benevolence of our

pilgrim fathers are held in veneration

by a grateful people.

PLYMOUTH COUNTY.

Plymouth, chief towTi. The soil of this most ancient county in New Eng-
land is not so productive as that of many others in Massachusetts

; yet there

is considerable good land within its limits. It has a great water-power,
which is more particularly applied to the manufacture of iron ware, of all

sorts, both wrought and cast. It has an abundant supply of iron ore, of a

superior quality.
This county has a sea-coast on Massachusetts Bay, of between thirty and

forty^ miles, and many ships are built in its numerous ports, of native white
oak. This county has considerable foreign commerce

;
but its shipping is

principally engaged in the fishing business and coasting trade.

It is bounded north-east and east by Massachusetts Bay, north by Norfolk

county and Boston harbor, north-west by Norfolk county, west by Bristol coun-

ty, and south-east and south by Buzzard's Bay and Barnstable county. The
North river, emptying into Massachusetts Bay, and numerous branches of
the Taunton, are its chief rivers.

In 1837, there were in this county, eleven thousand four hundred and ten

sheep. The value of manufactures, the year ending April 1, 1837, was four

million eight hundred and ninety-six thousand nine hundred and seven dol-

lars. The value of the fishery during the same period, was five hundred and

eighty-two thousand four hundred and nineteen dollars. See State Tables.

COURTS IN PLYMOUTH COUNTY.

Supreme Court. Law Term. See Barnstable County. Nisi Pritjs. At

Plymouth on the tenth Tuesday next after the first Tuesday in March.
Comvion Fleas. At Plymouth, on the second Mondays in April and Au-

gust, and on the first Blonday of December.

Meetings of the County Cojumissioners. At Plymouth, on the third Tuesday
in March, and on the first Tuesdays of August and January.

Probate Courts. At Plymouth, on the third Blondays of January, Februa-

ry, and May, on the second Mondays of April and August, and on the first

Monday of December. At Scituate, on the first Tuesdays of March and
June, and the last Tuesdays of August and November. At East Bridgewa-
tcr, on the first Tuesdays of April, July, and October. At Middleborough,
on the first Tuesdays in May, and the first Tuesdays of August and Novem-
ber. At Rochester, on Wednesday next after the first Tuesday in May, an^*

on Wednesday next after the first Tuewiay in November.



GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS. 243

PLYMPTOX.

Plymouth Co. Before its incorpo-
ration in 1707, Plympton comprised
the north-west part of Plymouth. Its

[ndian name was Waiatukset. A
inini.stry commenced here in 1G98,
and tlie Rev. Isaac Cushman was set-

tled tlie same year.
The original growth of forest trees

here was rather superior in size and

variety to other kinds within the an-

cient limits of Plymouth township;

upland and swamp oak, maple, wal-

nut, white pine, white cedar, pilch

pine, were common. The Wenatuck-

set, a branch of Taunton river, passes

through the western width of this

town, and the natural meadows on

this stream had early attractions, and

fir.n led to the settlement of these

then "westerly precincts of Ply-
mouth."

There are two pleasant villages in

the town, and manufactures of cotton

and woollen goods, nails, shovels,

spades, hoes, forks, hoop rivets, shoes,

leather, palm-leaf hats, chairs, and
cabinet-ware.

A noble white oak was cut in this

town a few years ago. It contained

seven tons and seven feet of ship-tim-
ber, and two cords of fire-w^ood.

The Old Colony railroad passes

through the town, twenty-nine and a

half miles south-east by south from

Boston, and seven and a half west by
north from Plymouth.

PRESCOTT.

Hampshire Co. This town is bound-

ed by New Salem on the north, Dana
on the east, Greenwich on the south,

and Pelham and Shutesbury on the

west. It was formerly part of Pel-

ham and New Salem.
The surface of this town is rough

and uneven, and in some parts quite

hilly ;
but it has a strong soil, with

considerable arable land
;
the greater

part of it, however, is better suited

to grazing than tillage. There are

some good mill-streams in the town,
branches of Swift river

;
and some

manufactures : but the inhabitants

are chiefly employed in agricultural
labor.

Prescott lies eighteen miles north-

east from Northampton, and sixty-

seven west by north from Boston.

PRINCETOX.

Worcester Co. This town was
named for the Rev. Thomas Prince, a

large proprietor, the chronologer of

New England, and pastor of the Old

South Church in Boston. It w^as fur

merly called the East Wing of Rut-

land, and is bounded north by West-

minster, east by Sterling, south by
Holden, and westerly by Rutland and

Hubbardston.
The surface of Princeton is ele-

vated, but agreeably diversified with

undulating valleys. There are some
noted high grounds in the town, the

myst prominent of which is Wachusett

mountain, the Indian name of the

township.
The inhabitants of Princeton are

generally occupied in agricultural

employments ;
the manufactures are

consequently limited, and do not prob-

ably exceed in value fifty thousand

dollars annuiilly. They consist of

shoes, leather, palm-leaf hats, chairs,

and cabinet-ware. From the excel-

lent grazing lands of this place, the

city market is furnished with some
of its best beef, butter, and cheese.

Within a few years, large quantities
of lumber, wood, and charcoal have

been carried from this to the neigh-

boring towns, particularly Worcester.

There are no large streams flowing
in or through this town. The town is

nevertheless well watered with brooks

and small streams, which rise entirely
within its limits. The waters of these

streams divide, about equal portions

flowing e;xst to IMassachusetts Bay,
and west to the Connecticut. East,

South, and West Wachusett brooks

all rise at the foot of the mountain.

The first, uniting with other small

streams, is the source of the Nashua
The last-named consiitules the east

branch of Ware river.

Wachusett mountain is situated in

the north-westerly pari of the town.



214 GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS.

This mountain rears its conical head
two thousand and eighteen leet above
Massachusetts Bay. The base is cov-

ered with a heavy growth of wood,
which dwindles to mere shrubbery as

you approach the summit, giving the

mountain, when seen from a dis-

tance, an exceedingly beautiful ap-

pearance. The hand of art could

hardly have shorn its sides to more

exactness, than nature has displayed,
in proportioning the growth of wood
to the ascent. The prospect from this

mountain, on a clear summer morning,
is delightful in the extreme. To the

observer from its top, the whole state

lies spread out like a map. On tlie

one hand is visible the harbor of Bos-

ton, on the other, the Monadnock is

seen rearing its bald and broken sum-
mit to the clouds, while the Hoosic
and Green Blountains fade away in

the distance, and mingle with {he
blue horizon. The numerous and
beautiful villages, with their churches

and spires, scattered thickly in all di-

rections, give a charm to the scene.

This mountain was much resorted to

by the native Indians, and tradition

says in many instances for the pur-

pose of discovering the location of the

early settlers, by means of the smoke
of their fires. The roads to its base

are so good, and its ascent not difh-

cult, that it is now much visited during
the summer months.

Princeton lies fifteen miles north by
west from Worcester, nine miles south-

west from the Fitchburg railroad at

Leominster, and, by the latter, fifty-

two miles west by north from Boston.

PROVINCETOWN.

Baknstable Co. This noted har-

bor, and the first port the Mayflower
made, on her passage with the pilgrim

fathers, in 1620, is situated on the end
of the peninsula of Cape Cod, and lies

in the form of a hook. It averages
about three miles and a half in length,
and two and a half in breadth. The

township consists of beaches and hills

of sand, eight shallow ponds, and a

great number of swamps. Cape har-

bor, in Cape Cod Bay, is formed bj
the bending of the land nearly round

every point of the compass, and is ccm-

pletely land locked and safe. It Is of

sufficient depth for ships of any size,

and it will contain more than three

thousand vessels at once, and is a

place of great importance to naviga-
tion in this quarter.
The village stands on the north-

western side of the harbor, on the

margin of a beach of loose sand. The
houses are mostly situated on a sin-

gle street, about two miles in length,

passing round near the water's edge.
A chain of sand hills rises immediately
back from the houses. These hills

are in some places partially covered
with tufts of grass or shrubs, which

appear to hold their existence by a
frail tenure on these masses of loose

sand, the light color of which strongly
contrasts with few spots ofdeep verdure

upon them. These hills, with the nu-
merous wind or salt mills, by which the

salt water is raised for evaporation,

thickly studding the shore throughout
the whole extent of the village, give
this place a most singular and novel

appearance.
An elaborate and highly interesting

report of a survey of this harbor and
the extremity of Cape Cod, by Major
J. D. Graham, has been printed by
order of Congress.
The report is accompanied by a

series of tables, showing the result of

a long course of observations on the

tide, which are not only curious, but

may be useful to those who are in a
situation for pursuing their specula-
tions on this subject, by comparing
them with the results of similar ob-

servations in other places.
The fulness and precision of these

tables indicate the care and labor with
which the work has been prosecuted.
The result is of a nature to show the

great importance of this position, both
as a naval and commercial station.

The value of Cape Cod harbor to

our naval and mercantile marine in

time of war is inappreciable. In pos-
session of an enemy, it would afford

facilities for annoying our commerce,
without exposure to ihe gales that so
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often sweep along the coast. Forti-

fied, and in the occupancy of a portion
ol" our navy, it offers a secure retreat,

accessible at all seasons, and sheltered

from every storm.

There are more than one hundred
vessels belongmg to this place, em-

ployed in the whale, cod, and mackerel

fisheries, besides a large number en-

gaged in the merchant service and

coasting business. Fifty thousand
bushels of salt have been made here

in a year.

During the stay of the pilgrims at

Provincetown, in November, 1620,

Susanna, the wife of William White,

gave birth to a son, who was named

Perigrine; being the first Englishchild
born in New England. He died at

Marshfield in 1764, aged eighty-four.
Provincetown lies forty-five miles

north from Barnstable, by land, and

twent)'-six by water. It is one hun-
dred and ten miles east south-east

from Boston, by land, and fifty-five

by water. From Provincetown to

Gloucester harbor, across the bay, is

about fifty miles.

Q,UIXCY.

Norfolk Co. This town was for-

merly the first and north parish in the

ancient town of Braintree, and in-

cluded what was called " Dorchester

Farms," and a romantic point of land
called Squantum, jutting out between

Quincy and Dorchester bays, now a
noted watering place, and once the

residence of Chickataubut, a celebrated
Indian chief.

This territory, in common with that

of Braintree and Randolph, belonged
to Boston, until the incorporation of

Braintree as a town, in 1610. It was
the first part of Braintree that was
settled, and had been generally called

IMount Wollaston, for Captain "Wol-

laslon, one of the first settlers, in 1025.
In 1792, this part of Braintree was

made a separate town, and called

Quincy, to perpetuate the family
name of one of its first proprietors, a
name that will ever be dear to the
lover of American liberty.

21*

Quincy is bounded north by Dor-

chester, cast by Boston harbor, south

by Weymouth and Braintree, and
west by Milton.

The surface of the town is diversi-

fied by hills, valleys, and plains. The
soil is generally of an excellent quali-

ty, and under good cultivation. There
are large tracts of salt meadow in the

town, and many large and beautiful

farms, which, in respect to soil and
skilful management, may vie with

any in the slate.

The village in the centre of the

town, is situated on an elevated plain,
and is remarkable for its neatness

and beauty. In this village is a stone

church, designated the " Adams Tem-

ple." This building was dedicated,

1828, and cost forty thousand dollars.

Within its walls is a beaulil'ul marble
monument to the memory of the Hon.
John Adams and his wife.

The town house, in this village, is a
noble building, eighty-five feet by fifty-

five. It is built of granite, and is a
better specimen of the Quincy stone,
than the walls of the church.

The ancestral estate of the Quincy
family comprises one of the most
beautiful and well cultivated farms in

New England. It is the property of

Josiah Quincy, LL. D., an eminent

agriculturist, president of Harvard

University from 1829 to 1845, and the

only child of the patriot, Josiah Quin-

cy, jr-

About two miles east from the vil-

lage is Quincy Point, at the junction
of Town and Weymouth Fore rivers,

and near Newcomb's neck, in Brain-
tree. This is a delightful spot, and
contains many handsome buildings.
This point of Land, with a peninsula
near it, called Germantown, are admi-

rably located for ship-building, and for

all the purposes of navigation and the

fishery. Here is a fine harbor, a bold

shore, and a beautiful country, within
ten miles of the capital of New Eng-
land.

Germantown was first settled by a
number of weavers and glass makers
from Germany, who made an unsuc-
cessful attempt to manufacture glass
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and cloth, some time between 1750
and 'GO. At this place, the great ship
Massachusetts was built in 1789, the

largest vessel at that time in the coun-

try. Germantown is fast rising into

notice, in consequence of its easy ac-

cess, beauty, and navigable facilities.

An e.vcellent family school has been

kept here some years by the Misses
Sullivan.

The manufactures of the town con-

sist of boots, shoes, leather, vessels,

salt, carriages, harnesses, hats, books,
coach lace, granite, slate stone, &c.

;

the annual value of which, with the

fisheries, amounted several years ago,
to more than half a million of dollars.

These manufactures have since in-

creased, and new ones have been add-

ed
;
but the manufacture of granite,

or sienite, so universally known and

justly celebrated as the " Quixcy
Granite," is the most important arti-

cle of manufacture in the town.
About two miles back from Quincy

bay, in Boston harbor, is a range of

elevated land, in some parts more than
si.x hundred feet above the sea, con-

taining an inexhaustible supply of

that invaluable building material, the

Quincy granite, so much used and ap-

proved in all our Atlantic cities, for its

durability and beauty. This range
of granite extends through Milton,

Quincy, and Braintree, but more of it

is quarried in Quincy than in the other

towns.

In 1844, about one hundred thou-

sand tons of this valuable article was

quarried and wrought in Quincy, by
the most skilful workmen, into all di-

mensions, both plain and ornamental.

There were in the town about twenty
companies engaged in the business,

employing about eight hundred hands.

Pieces of this granite have been ob-

tained in these quarries weighing three

hundred tons each, from which the col-

umns of the new Custom House, and
Blerchant's Exchange, in Boston, were

made, and to which we refer the rea-

der as specimens of its quality and
finish.

By means of a railroad from these

quarries to the tide-waters of Nepon-

set river, and of a canal to the centre
of the town, this stone is transported
with great expedition and little cost.

Kailway village, see Milton.

These quarries of granite to the

town of Quincy are of more value than
a mine of gold, and it is fortunate foi

the public that the supply is abundant,
for the demand for it from various

parts of the United States is constant
and increasing.

Quincy lies eight miles south by
east from Boston, and ten east from

Dedham, and there is perhaps no town-
in the state, of its distance from Bos-

ton, that has risen to greater prosper-

ity than Quincy. It has long been
the centre of considerable trade and

manufacture, and its excellent roads,
with its beautiful location on Boston

harbor, have made it the chosen resi-

dence of many people of taste and
affluence

;
but now, when Quincy ha^

become united to Boston by the Old

Colony railroad, as closely in point of

convenience, as Boston and Charles-

town, no one can doubt the rapid in-

crease of population and wealth of

this delightful town.

The first church in this place was

gathered in the year 1639.

SUCCESSIOJJ OF THE ClERGY.

Rev.

Wm. Thompson,
Henry Flint,
Rloses Fiske,

Joseph Marsh,
John Hancock,
Lemuel Bryant,

Anthony Wibird,
Peter Whitney,
Wm. P. Lunt,

Set. Died or res. M
1639. 1668. 68.

1640. 1668. 66.

1672. 1708. 66.

1709. 1726. 41.

1726. 1744. 42.

1745. res. 1753.

1755. 1800. 72.

1800. 1843. 73.

1835.

Two presidents of the United States,
father and son, were natives of this

place. John Adams, born October 19,
1735. John Quincy Adajis, born July
11, 1767.

The senior Mr. Adams graduated
at Harvard University in 1755. and
was distinguished for his diligence
and genius. He studied law at Woi-

cester, and was admitted to p-actice
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in 1758. He commenced the labors

of his professioii in Braiulree, his na-

tive town, and soon obtained business

and reputation. In 17(34, Mr. Adams
married Miss Abigail Smith, a grand-
dau'.jhter of Colonel Quincy, a lady
as tlistinguished for her accomplish-
ments and virtues as for the elevated

station in .society whicii Providence

had destined her to fill. Mrs. Adams
died at Quincy, December 28, 1818,

aged seventy -four.

In 1765, Mr. Adams removed to

Boston
;
here he obtained an exten-

sive legal practice, and, refusing all

oflers of patronage from the British

government, espoused the cause of

his native country with an ardor

peculiar to himself, firmly resolved

to sink or swim with its liberties.

He was elected a member of Con-

gress, and was among the foremost

in recommending the adoption of an

independent government. In 1777,
Mr. Adams was chosen commissioner
to the Court of Versailles. In 1779,
he was appointed minister plenipo-

tentiary to negotiate a peace ancl a

commercial treaty with Great Britain.

In 1780, he went ambassador to Hol-

land, and in 1782, to Paris, to negoti-
ate a treaty of peace with Great Bri-

tain, having received the assurance

that that power would recognize the

independence of the United Stales.

In 17S5, Mr. Adams was appointed
the first minister to the Court of St.

James. After remaining in Europe
nine j'ears, he returned to his native

country, and in 1789, was elected first

Vice President of the Uniteil States,
which office he held during the whole
of Washington's administration. On
tlie resignation of Washington, in

1797, Mr. Adams became President

of the United States, which office he

sustained until the election of Mr.

.LMierson, in 1801. Soon after this,

JSlr. Adams retired to his farm in

Quincy, and spent the remainder of

an eventful life in rural occupations,
tiie pleasures of domestic retirement,
and those enjoyments which a great
ind good mind always has in store.

The account that i\Ir. Adams gives
in a letter to a friend, of his introduc-

tion to George III., at the Court of St.

James, as the first minister from the

rebel colonies, is very interesting. The
scene would form a noble picture,

highly honorable both to his majesty
and the republican minister.

Here stood the stern monarch who
had expended more than six hundred
millions of dollars, and the lives of two
hundred thousand of his subjects in

a vain attempt to subjugate freemen
;

and by his side stood the man, who,
in the language of Jeflerson,

" was the

great pillar of support to the declara-

tion of independence, and its ablest

advocate and champion on tlie floor

of Congress."
IMr. Adams says,

" At one o'clock,
on Wednesday, the first of June, 178o,
the master of ceremonies called at ray
house, and went with me to the sec-

retary of state's ofiice, in Cleaveland

row, where the Marquis of Carmar-
then received and introduced me to

3Ir. Frazier, his under secretary, who
had been, as his lordship said, unin-

terruptedly in that office through all

the changes in administration for thir-

ty years. After a short conversation.
Lord Carmarthen invited me to go
with him in his coach to court. When
we arrived in the antechamber the mas-
ter of the ceremonies introduced him
and attended me while the secretary
of state went to take the commands
of the king. While I stood in this

place, where it seems all ministers

stand upon such occasions, always
attended by the master of ceremonies,
the room was very full of ministers

of state, bishops, and all other sorts

of courtiers, as well as the next room,
which is the king's bed-chamber.
You may well suppose I was the fo-

cus of all eyes. I was relieved, how-

ever, from the embarrassment of it,

by the Swedish and Dutch ministers,
who came to me and entertained me
with a very agreeable conversation

during the whole time. Some other

gentlemen whom I had seen before,
came to make their compliments to

me, until the Marquis of Carmarthen
returned, and desired me to go with

him to his majesty. I went with his

lordship through the levee room, mlq
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the king's closet. The door was shut,
and I was left with his majesty and
the secretary of state alone. I made
three reverences

;
one at the door,

another about half way, and another

before the presence, according to the

usage established at this and all the

northern courts of Europe, and then I

addressed myself to his majesty in the

following words :
—

" ' Sire : the United States have

appointed me minister plenipotentiary
to your majesty, and have directed

me to deliver to your majesty this let-

ter, which contains the evidence of it.

It is in obedience to their express
commands, that I have the honor to

assure your majesty of their unani-

mous disposition and desire to culti-

vate the most friendly and liberal in-

tercourse between your majesty's sub-

jects and their citizens, and of their

best wishes for your majesty's health

and happiness, and for that of your
family.-
'"The appointment of a minister

from the United States to your majes-

ty's court will form an epoch in the

history of England and America. I

think myself more fortunate than all

my fellow-citizens, in having the dis-

tinguished honor to be the first to

stand in your majesty's royal pres-
ence in a diplomatic character

;
and-

I shall esteem myself the happiest
of men if I can be instrumental in

recommending my country more and
more to your majesty's royal benevo-

lence, and of restoring an entire es-

teem, confidence, and affection
; or,

in better words, "the old good na-

ture a»d the good old humor," be-

tween people who, though separated

by an ocean, and under different gov-
ernments, have the same language, a
similar religion, a kindred blood. I

beg your majesty's permission to add,
that although I have sometimes be-

fore been instructed by my country, it

was never in my whole life in a man-
ner so agreeable to myself.'
"The King listened to every word I

said, with dignity, it is true, but with

apparent emotion. W hether it was

my visible agitation, for I felt more
than I could express, that touched

him, I cannot say ;
but he was much

affected, and answered me with more
tremor than 1 had spoken with, and
said :—

" ' Sir : the circumstances of this au-

dience are so extraordinary, the lan-

guage you have now held is so ex-

tremely proper, and the feelings you
have discovered so justly adapted to

the occasion, that I not only receive

with pleasure the assurance of the

friendly disposition of the United

States, but that I am glad the choice

has fallen upon you to be their minis-

ter. I wish you, sir, to believe, and
that it may be understood in America,
that 1 have done nothing in the late

contest but what I thought myself in-

despensably bound to do, by the duty
which I owed my people. I will be
frank with you. I was the last to

conform to the separation ;
but the

separation having become inevitable

I have always said, as I now say, thai

I would be the first to meet the friend-

ship of the United States as an inde-

pendent power. The moment I see

such sentiments and language as yours
prevail, and a disposition to give this

country the preference, that moment
I shall say—let the circumstances of

language, religion, and blood, have
their natural full effect.'

" I dare not say that these were the

king's precise words
;
and it is even

possible that I may have, in some

particulars, mistaken his meaning;
for although his jironunciation is as

distinct as I ever heard, he hesitated

sometimes between members of the

same period. He was, indeed, much
affected, and I was not less so, and
therefore I cannot be certain that I

was so attentive, heard so clearly, and
understood so perfectly, as to be confi-

dent of all his words, or sense. This
I do sa}', that the foregoing is his ma-

jesty's meaning, as I then understood

it, and his own words, as nearly as I

can recollect them.
" The king then asked me whether

I came last from France
;
and upon

my answering in the aihrmative, he

put on an air of familiarity, and,

smiling, or rather, laughing, said,

'Th^e is an opinion among some
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people that j'ou are not the most at-

tached of all your countrymen to the

manners of France.' I was surprised
at this, because I thought it an indis-

cretion, and a descent iVom his digni-

ty. I was a little embarrassed
;
but

determined not to deny truth on the

one hand, nor lead him to infer from
it any attachment to England, on
the other, I threw off as much grav-

ity as I could, and assumed an air of

gaiety, and one of decision, as far as

was decent, and said,
' That o])inion,

sir, is not mistaken ; I must avow to

your majesty, I have no attachment
but to my own country.' The king

replied as quick as lightning,
' An

honest man will never have any other.'
" The king then said a word or two

to the secretary of state, which being
between them, I did not hear, and
then turned round and bowed to me,
as is customary with all kings and

princes when they give the signal to

retire. I retreated, stepping back-

wards, as is the etiquette ;
and mak-

ing my last reverence at the door of

the chamber, I went to my carriacre."

Mr. Adams died on the Ith of July,

1826, with the same words on Iils lips
which fifty years before, on that day,
he had uttered on the floor of Con-

gress,
"
Independence forever."

John Hancock, LL. D., was born
in this place, in 1737. As president
of the illustrious Congress of 1776, he

signed the Declaration of Indepen-
dence, and was the first governor of

Massachusetts, under the constitution.

He died in that office, October 8, 1793.

" Sacred to the memory of Josiah

QaiNCY, jun., of Boston, Barrister of

Law, youngest son of Josiah Quincy,
Esq., late of this place. Brilliant tal-

ents, uncommon eloquence, and inde-

fatigable application raised him to the

highest eminence in his profession.
His early, enlightened, inflexible at-

tachment to the cause of his country
is attested by monuments more dura-
ble than this, and transmitted to pos-
terity by well-known productions of
his genius. He was born the 23d of

Februan'. 17 1 1, and died the 26th of

April, 1775

here depositee
his wife, daug
Esq., born on
died the 25th

'•

Stranger,
monument as

gratitude and

His mortal remains are

1, with those of Abigail
hter of William Phillips,
the 11th of April, 1746.

March, 1793.

in contemplating this

the frail tribute of fihal

aflection,

" Glows thy bolj tireast with patriotic flame t

Let his example point the paths of fame !

Or seeks thy lieari, averse Irom public strife,

The milder graces of domeslic life ?

Her kindred virtues let thy soul revere,
And o'er the best of mothers drop a tear !

"

RANDOLPH.

Norfolk Co. Randolph was the

south parish of good old Braintree

until its incorporation, in 1793. It

was named in honor of Peyton Ran-

dolpli, of Virginia, the first president
of the American Congress.
A church wa.s formed in 1731, and

Rev. Elisha Eaton was ordained the

first pastor, the same year. He con-

tinued about nineteen years in the

ministry, Avhcn he resigned, and was
succeeded by the Rev. Moses Taft,
who continued in the pastoral office

nearly fort)^ years. Rev. Jonathan

Strong, D. D., was ordained colleague

pastor with Mr. Taft, in 1789. Dr.

Strong died in 1814, and was suc-

ceeded by Rev. Thaddeus Pomeroy.
jMr. Pomeroy was dismissed in 1820,
and was succeeded by Kev. Calvin
Hitchcock. '-During fllr. Pomeroy's
ministry, the east part of the town of

Randolph became a separate society.

They erected a meeting-house, organ-
ized a church, and on the 29th of

December, 1821, Rev. David Brig-
ham, the first pastor, was ordained."

Part of Punkapog pond lies in the

town, and the Manatiquot river rises

here, but the town is quite destitute

of water-power.
The land is elevated "letween the

waters of Massachusetts Bay and
Taunton river.

The surface of the town is generally

undulating, and the soil strong and

productive. There are two very plea-
sant and flourishing villages in the

town, East and West, surrounded by
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fertile and well cultivated fields. Ran-

dolph has long been noted for the in-

dustry of its people, in the manufac-
ture of boots and shoes. There are

manufactures of leather, and many
other articles in the town, but that of

boots and shoes is the principal ;
the

value of which is about a million of

dollars annually.
The late Amasa Stetson, Esq., gave

to this, his native town, a large and
handsome town-hall, and made liberal

donations for the accommodation and

support of its schools.

Randolph lies fourteen miles south

from Boston, twelve south-east from

Dedham, and seven south south-west

from Weymouth Landing. The rail-

road from Boston to Fall River will

pass about midway between the two

villages, which are about two miles

apart.

RAYNHAM.

Bristol Co. This town was a part
of Taunton until 1731. It was first

settled in 1650. Its Indian name was
Hockamock. The first minister in the

town was the Rev. John Wales, in

1731
;
he died in 1765, and was suc-

ceeded by the Rev. Peres Forbes,
LL. D., in 1766.

The surface of the town is generally
level, and the soil is light and not

very productive. On its southern and
eastern borders Raynham is finely
watered by Taunton river, and it con-

tains a number of large and beautiful

ponds.
In this towTi are large manufactures

of bar iron, nails, anchors, iron cast-

ings, shovels, forks, coffee mills, straw

bonnets, &c.
; annual value about

half a million of dollars.
" The first adventurers from Eng-

land to this country, who were skilled

in the forge iron manufacture, were
two brothers, viz., James and Henry
Leonard. They came to this town in

the year 1652, which was about two

years after the first settlers had plant-
ed themselves upon this spot ;

and in

the year 1652, these Leonards here
built the first forge in America."

" The original Leonard house in this

town is still occupied by one c the

family, of the sixth generation from
the builder, and, so far as we are in-

formed, is the oldest mansion now
standing in this country. The vane
at one of the gable-ends is inscribed

with the date 1700
;
but there is little

doubt of the house having been erect-

ed at least thirty years previous. The
workmanship, especially within, is

remarkably massive and sound. It

is apparently modelled after an Eng-
lish fashion of the eighteenth century,
M'ith some modifications proper for

defence against the Indians. It was

garrisoned during the war. The
Fowling pond, still so called, has be-

come a thick swamp. An aged gen-
tleman was living not many years
since, who, in boyhood, had frequently

gone off in a canoe, to catch fish in

its waters. Indian weapons and uten-

sils are still found on its borders."

Raynham contains a pleasant vil-

lage near the centre of the town, about
three miles north-east from Taunton.
From Taunton to Boston by the rail-

road is thirty-five miles.

REABI3SG.

Middlesex Co. The territory of

this town was called Lynn village,
and was a part of Lynn until its in-

corporation, in 1644. The first min-
ister in the town, the Rev. Daniel

Putnam, was settled in 1720, and died

in 1759.

The surface of the town is plea-

santly diversified by hills and valleys ;

the soil is generally good, in some
parts excellent

;
and the town is wa-

tered by Ipswich river.

In 1844, the manufactures of Read-

ing were, boots and shoes, value two
hundred thousand dollars

;
cabinet-

ware and clocks, value one hundred
and forty-three thousand dollars

;

coach lace, value six thousand dol-

lars
;

tin ware, five thousand dollars
;

total value three hundred and fifty-
four thousand dollars.

There are two very pleasant and

flourishing villages in the town
;
Wood

End village lies at the south part of
the town, through which the Boston
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and Maine railroad passes, and West

village, about three miles north of the

other.

Reading lies thirteen miles north

from Boston, ten west from Salem,

eighteen south-east from Lowell, and
seventeen north-east from Concord.

"In affectionate remembrance of

James Bancroft, Esq. Venerated
and beloved while living, his memory
IS blessed. Guided by Christian prin-

ciple, he was enabled, through a long
and useful life, to perform its various

duties with fidelity. A defender of

his country in her struggle for inde-

pendence, he was magnanimous and
devoted in the discharge of numerous
civil offices, disinterested and faith-

ful
;
and a deacon in the first church

in the place during forty-six years,

distinguished by integrity, consisten-

cy, and independence. In private
life he was endeared by mildness and

benignity, and ever evinced obedi-

ence to the first command by an ob-

servance of the second 'like unto it.'

He was gathered to his fathers,
' as a

shock of corn in its season,' May 17,

1831
;
jEt. 92."

REHOBOTII.

Bristol Co. The original limits

of Rehoboth were extensive, compre-
hending the present town, Seekonk,

Pawtucket, Attleborough, and part of

Swansea
;
and Cumberland and Bar-

rington, Rhode Island. The first pur-
chase of land here for a settlement

was made of IMassasoit, in 1641,

comprehending a tract of land about
ten miles square, embracing the pres-
ent towns of Rehoboth, Seekonk, and
Pawtucket. The first white settler in

the original limits of the town was
William Blackstone, a non-conformist
minister of England, who fled from

persecution, and sought an asylum in

the wilds of America. He was the first

white man who lived on the peninsula
where the city of Boston now stands.

He sold his lands on the peninsula in

1631, and probably removed to Reho-
both the next year. He located him-
self in whai 13 now Cumberland,

Rhode Island, on the river which
bears his name, about three miles

above the village of Pawtuclcet. His

house, which he named '•

Study Hall,"
stood near the east bank of the river,

a few rods east of a knoll which rises

abruptly from the meadow on the

brink of the river to the height of

sixty or seventy feet. His grave, and
the well which he dug, are still to be

seen. The celebrated Roger Williams
when driven from Massachusetts, first

pitched his tent in the limits of Reho-

both, and resided there for a short pe-
riod. The Indian name of the town
was Wiauiamoiset.

This town has a varied surface,
with a thin soil, and well watered by
Palmer's river, and other fine mill

streams. Its manufactures consist

of cotton goods, leather, shoes, cut-

lery, ploughs, straw bonnets, carpen-
ters' and joiners' tools, wagons, ox-

yokes, bobbins, cotton batting, &c.
Rehoboth lies ten miles south-west

from Taunton, and eight from the de-

pot at Attleborough, from which to

Boston is thirty -one miles.

Rev. Samuel Newman may be con-

sidered as the tbunder of Rehoboth
He removed here with part of his

church in Weymouth, in IGll. Mr.
Newman was a man of great learn-

ing and piety. He compiled a Con-
cordance of the Bible, an herculean

labor, which was published in Lon-
don in 1643, in folio. After his re-

moval to Rehoboth, (now Seekonk,)
he revised this work, and greatly im-

proved it, using in the evening, ac-

cording to President Styles, pine knots

instead of candles. He died in 1663,

aged sixty -three. "The manner of his

death," says Elliot,
'• was peculiar.

He had a certain premonition of it,

and seemed to triumph in the pros-

pect of its being near. He was appa-
rently in perfect health, and preached
a sermon from these words. Job xiv.

14,
— ' All the days of my appointed

time will I wait till my ckarisc come.'

In the afternoon of the following
Lord's day he asked the deacon to

pray with him, saying he had not

long to live. As soon as he had fin-

ished his prayer, he said the time was
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come when he must leave the world
;

but his friends seeing no immediate

signs of dissolution, thought it was
the influence of imagination. But he

turned round, saying, 'Angels, do

your office,' and immediately expired."

RICHMO]VD.
Berksuire Co. This is another

delightful valley town among the

mountains of Berkshire. Its Indian

name was Yokun, and after its settle-

ment, in 1760, it was called Yocun-

town, but at its incorporation in 17G5,
the popularity of the Duke of Rich-

mond deprived the poor Indian of the

honor of its name.
Richmond is bounded north by

Hancock and Pittsfield, east by Lenox,
south by Stockbridge and West Stock-

bridge, and west by Canaan, in the

state of New York.
This town comprises an extensive,

fertile, and beautiful valley, enclosed

by elevated hills on the east and west.

From these hills, enchanting land-

scapes are presented. Even English-
men say that the natural scenery of

this place is superior to that of the

celebrated Richmond Hill in England.
This town produces in great abun-

dance all kinds of agricultural pro-
ducts common to the most fertile and
best cultivated lands in the state

;
a

great variety of woods
;

iron ore
;

good brick clay, and limestone, and
handsome marble. There is some

water-power in the town, and its

manufactures consist of pig iron,

shovels, spades, forks, hoes, leather,

boots, shoes, &:c.

In the valley in this town is a wide

street, extending some miles, on each
side of which are neat farm-houses,
and mechanics' shops, making a fine

appearance. Through this valley the

western railroad passes, eight miles

south-west from Pittsfield, one hun-
dred and fifty-nine west from Boston,
and forty-one east from Albany.
A church was formed in Rich-

mond about 1765. In 1767, the Rev.
Job Swift, afterwards the minister

of Bennington, Vermont, was settled

as their pastor. He was a native

of Sandwich, IMassachusetts, and a

graduate of Yale College, in 1765.

President Dwight says, "Dr. Swifl

was one of the best and most usefui

men I ever knew. To the churches

and ministers of Vermont he was a

patriarch; and wherever he was
known he is remembered with the

greatest veneration."

ROCHESTER.

Plymouth Co. This is a large

township on the north-west side of

Buzzard's Bay, having Fairhaven en

its south-west, Wareham on its north-

east, and Middleborough on its north.

This territory was called Seipican by
the Indians

;
and the site of the beau

tiful village Mattapuistt, was so called

by them, as its name signifies, a rest-

ing place ; it having been a famous
resort of the red-skined gentry of the .

interior to enjoy their clam-bakes
and chowders.
The location of Rochester for navi-

gation and the fisheries is exceedingly
favorable

;
it having two excellent

harbors, Mattapoiset and Sippican,
with an easy access to the ocean.

The people of the town improve these

privileges very successfully ; they
own a number of whale ships and

merchantmen, and large numbers of

smaller vessels engaged in domestic

fisheries, and the coasting-trade. The
towns in this part of the state are

nvted for their excellent white oak

timber, and for its application to ship-

builJing ;
and Rochester, with its fine

coast on the ba)', of some ten miles,
has sent a great number of vessels to

the ocean in aid of the commerce of

the country.

Mattapoiset river, which rises in

Snipatuit pond, a large sheet of water
in the town, about nine miles from

Mattapoiset village, Sippican and
Weweantic rivers, aflTord the town a

good water-power. The manufac-
tures consist of bar iron, vessels,

boots, shoes, and various other arti-

cles. Large quantities of salt are

made at this place.
The surface of the town is plea-

santly varied
;
some parts of it are

rocky and unfit for cultivation
;
while
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other pans vary from a tolerable soil

to the very best.

The two principal villages in this

town arc JMattapoiset and Sippican ;

They are both liourishing sea-ports ;

the Ibrmer is about four miles south-
west from the latter. IVIattapoiset
lies twenty-four miles south south-

west from Plymouth, six miles east

by north from New Bedford
;
from

thence to Boston is fifty-five miles.

ROCKPORT.

Essex Co. This was a part of the

ancient town of Gloucester until its

incorporation in 1840, when it received

the appropriate name of Hockport. It

comprises all the seaward portion of
the extremity of Cape Ann, with its

islands, and that part of Gloucester

long Icnown as Sandy Bay, which

opens to the sea on the north-east.

Since the first settlement of the

country, Sandy Bay, in common with

Gloucester, has been associated with
the enterprise of the fisheries

;
and of

rearing its sons for the manly exer-

cise of a nautical life
; thereby render-

ing them serviceable to their country
abroad, and fit companions for its in-

telligent and rosy-cheeked damsels at

home.
There are two pleasant villages in

the town
; Sandy Bay and Pigeon

Cove, about a mile apart, the inhabi-

tants of both of which are largely en-

gaged in the cod and mackerel fishery.
At Pigeon Cove, are inexhaustible

quarries of excellent granite, of a

lighter color, and rather harder than
that of Quincy. These quarries are so

near the sea-shore that vessels can be
laden with trifling expense. This

stone, under such circumstances, is

of great value to the town. Twenty-
five vessels were constantly engaged
in freighting this stone in the sum-
mer of 1845.

Artificial harbors have been con-
structed at both villages ;

and at the

village of Sandy Bay, the national

government has expended within a
tew years about fifty thousand dol-

lars in the construction of a break-

water, which has been partially thrown

down by the violence of the sea
;
and

it is thought by some that an expen-
diture equal to that already made, is

necessary to make it answer the pur-
poses had in view in its erection.

Although the town derives its name
from the character of its shores and

surface, it contains many large tracts

of clear land. These, however, have

mostly been brought to their present
state, by the industry of the people in

clearing them of rocks. This town is

a resort for many strangers during
the summer months, who here enjoy
refreshing sea-breezes, and the sub-

limity of ocean views.

Rockport lies four miles north-east

from Gloucester harbor, thirty-two
north-east from Boston, and eighteen
north-east from Salem.

ROWE.
Franklin Co. This is a moun-

tainous town, adjoining Whiting-
ham, in the state of Vermont. It

has Heath on the east, Charlemont
on the south, and Monroe and Florida
on the west. Deerfield river passes
its western border. There is some
arable land in the town, but the lands

generally are best adapted to pastur-

age, and many cattle and sheep are

fed here.

In 1838, the legislature annexed a

part of an unincorporated tract, called

Zoai; to this town. This tract com-

prised one thousand eight hundred
and seventy-five acres of land, ad-

joining the south part of the town, on
which were six families. One of the

cordon of forts, erected about 1744,
for a defence against the French and

Indians, was situated in this town.
The ruins of this fortification, called

Fort Pelhavi, are situated south-east

of the Congregational church in the

centre of the town, on Pelham brook,
a small stream, being the only one

passing through the town. Rev. Pre-

served Smith, the first minister, was
settled here in 1787.

Rowe has a neat village near the

centre of the town, about twenty-two
miles west north-west from Green-

field, and one hundred and twelve

weit north-west from Boston.
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ROAVLiEY.

Essex Co. This town was first

settled by a party of industrious and

pious persons from Yorkshire, Eng-
land, in 1638. They erected the first

fullmg-mill in New England, and
niauufactured tlie first cloth in North
America.

There are a great variety of soils in

this town
;
a large part is salt mea-

dow, and the residue is fertile and

productive. It comprises a part of

fUim Island, and large tracts of

woodland. It is watered by Rowley
river, which affords a water power,
and which, before its junction with
rium Island Sound, forms a harbor for

• vessels of moderate draught of water,
where many vessels have been built.

Ancient Rowley was divided in 1838
;

its western part was detached, and

incorporated by the name of George,
town. Rowley possesses some man-
ufacturing interest, and a very valua-
ble agricultural one, to the latter of

which its inhabitants are principally
devoted.

This ancient town is very pleasant,
and has been the birth-place of many
learned and distinguished men.

By the eastern railroad, which

passes through the town, Rowley lies

twenty-nine miles north from Boston,
fifteen north by west from Salem, and
five south from Newburyport. From
Rowley to Lowell is twenty-four miles.

" Sacred to the memory of the Rev.
EzEKiEL RoGEKS, first minister of the

church in Rowley, who emigrated
I'rom Britain to this place, with his

church and flock, in 1638. He fin-

ished his labors and life, 23 January,
1660, in his seventieth year. He was
a man of eminent piety, zeal, and
abilities. His strains of oratory were

delightful. Regeneration and union
to Jesus Christ, by faith. Mere points
on which he principally insisted. He
so remarkably expressed the feelings,

exercises, motives, and characters of
his hearers, that they were ready to

exclaim, who hath told him all this?

With the youth he took great pains,

and was a tree of knowledge laden
with fruit, which children could reach.

He bequeathed a part of his lands to

the town of Rowley, for the support
of the gospel, which generous bene-
faction we, in the first parish, enjoy
to the present day, and here gratefully

commemorate, by raising this monu-
ment to his memory, in 1805."

ROXBURY.
Norfolk Co. This city is joined

to Boston by a neck of land, over
which are broad and pleasant ave-
nues. Between the centre of each

city is about three miles. The sur-

face is rocky and uneven, with a

strong soil, in a high state of culti-

vation. It displays a great degree
of agricultural taste and skill, and
abounds in country-seats and plea-
sure grounds. That part of this city

bordering on Jamaica pond, four
miles south-west from Boston, is ex-

ceedingly delightful.
This town and Boston were incor-

porated the same year, (1630 ;) and
Roxburv was incorporated as a city
March "12, 1846.

The first hourly coach from Boston
commenced running to this town in

1827. There are now a large number

continually running between the two

places, and not less than six hun-
dred thousand persons pass annually.
Since that time, others of a similar
kind have been established to Charles-

town, Cambridge, Dorchester. &c.,
and tend greatly to promote the public
convenience.
The manufactures of Roxbury con

sist of leather, nails, hats, chairs

cabinet-ware, pig iron, and a grea.
number of other articles.

Many parts of Roxbury, whicl-

until recently were improved as farms
or rural walks, are now covered witJ

wide streets and beautiful buildings
The population of the town in 1845
was thirteen thousand nine liundrev

and twenty-nine.
The natural alliance ';vhi':h subsisU

between Boston and Roxbury; their

close connection by ".ide ana beauti-

ful avenues; the cr'^ivdcd state of

one, and the romanuc beauiiea of the
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nher, can K'ave no doubt on the

mind of an observer of the rapid in-

trease of Boston, that Roxbury, with

I s crj'stal springs and admirable sites

f )r buiklinfr, will soon become the lo-

cation of a large portion of the wealth

and fashion of the metropolis.

The Rev. Jon.s Eliot, the justly-

celebrated "Apostle of the Indians,"
was settled in Roxbury in 1631,'. Mr.

Eliot imbibed the true spirit of the

gospel, and his heart was touched

with the wretched condition of the

Indians. He learned their language,
and translated the Scriptures into it.

This would seem the business oi a

life, when the sense of the simple ex-

pression,
" Kneeling down to hiin," is

conveyed in the Indian language by

IVutiippessltukqussiiniwuiveiitii/tk/iuuh.
a

word that would puzzle a Demosthe-

nes to pronounce, without an extra

pebble stone in his mouth. Mr. Eliot

was remarkable for his indefatigable
labors and charities

;
he endured hard-

ships as a good soldier of Jesus Christ,

and went to his reward in KWO, aged

eighty-six.

This was the birth-place and resi-

dence of the patriot, Josefh Warren.
Dr. Warren was born in 1710. He
graduated at Harvard College in 1759.

He was an ardent lover of his coun-

try, and sensibly felt the weight of

her oppressions. Four days previous
to the battle of " Bunker Hill," he re-

ceived a commission in the army of

major general. He was within the

entrenchment, and was slain on that

hallowed spot, just at the commence-
ment of the retreat. Dr. Warren was
an able statesman, an eloquent ora-

tor, a man of uncompromising integ-

rity, and undaunted bravery. Gene-
ral Warren was the first ofhcer of

rank that fell in that glorious contest

for liberty. His death shed a gloom
throu'^hout the country. He was ex-

ceedin:;ly beloved for the mildness
and aflability of his deportment, and
for the virtues of his private life.

Bkook Farm Phalanx is an asso-

••iation established on the principles

of CnAKLF.s Fourier. It lies at the

extreme western limits of Roxbury,
and was founded in 1841, by Rev.

George Ripley, of Boston. A few-

friends united with Mr. Ripley, and
commenced this undertaking, which,
though feeble and comparatively in-

significant in its infancy, is probably
destined to effect most important re-

sults. If only a tithe of the hopes and

expectations of the advocates of asso-

ciation are realized, it will confer in-

estimable benefits on mankind. The
associationists propose no less than a

complete change of society through-
out the world, and a reorganization

upon a system entirely dilferent in

its principles from existing systems.

They hold that Fourier has discovered

the natural and true laws of society,
and that when mankind arrange their

social relations according to these laws,
all the evils which afflict the world will

be destroyed, and universal happiness
will reign on earth. Poverty and op-

pression, crime, injustice, and fraud,

will all pass away, and in their stead

will come universal abundance and

liberty, justice and virtue. In the

place of war there will be peace ;
of

selfishness and hatred, benevolence

and love
;
of ignorance and brutality,

intelligence and refinement
;
and of

disorder and discord, the most perfect

harmony and order in society.
These are but a few of the objects

which the friends of association aim
to accomplish by the application of

their principles to society, and the de-

sign of the Brook Farm Phalanx is to

give to the world a practical demon-
stration that they are fea.sible. The plan
of the association differs essentially
from all the arrangements of present

society, particularly in those which
concern industry, domestic manage-
ment, education and commerce. A
new order of things in almost all re-

spects is established
;
but while what

is evil and hurtful in society is re-

jected, that which is good and condu-

cive to happiness is retained.

Instead of separate and isolated

familes having difi"crent interests, the

members of the association reside on
the same domain, and their interests
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are united. They combine and pros-
ecute industry in concert, for the gen-
eral good. The system of properly,
is not, however, that of cnmmmdty ;

it is a joint stock system, the interest

or investment of each person being

represented by shares, as in a banlf-

ing or railroad company. By this

system, the whole estate of the asso-

ciation, its lands, buildings, tools, &:c.,

is the property of all its members, and
what is the interest of one, is the in-

terest of all
;
the holders of the stock

are all concerned in its dividends, and
as these depend on the amount of the

total product of the industry of the

association, the members are bound

together by the tie of mutual interest.

By an arrangement called Groups
and Series, which gives all persons,
both male and female, the op^xirtunity
of taking part in such branches of .in-

dustry as suit their capacities and

tastes, and by alternation of pursuits,
or change from one occupation to an-

other, at regular periods, the indus-

trial affairs of the association are con-

ducted in an orderly and efficient

manner
;
and industry, instead of

being repugnant and exhausting, as

under present systems, is made invig-

orating and attractive. This arrange-
ment of groups and series is the fun-

damental law of association, which

regulates all its social relations as

well as its industry ;
it is the law of

order in the Universe, which Fourier
has applied to society.

In domestic affairs, immense econ-

omies and conveniences are secured

by conducting them for the whole
association as for one family, instead

of each family living and attended to

its own household matters separately.
All the families of the Phalanx occupy
one large building, called a phalans-
tery ;

the families lodge apart in their

suits of rooms, although residing under
the same roof. The members eat at

public tables as in a hotel, or are serv-

ed in their own apartments The
cooking, washing, &;c., are done for

the whole establishment, on a large
scale. The phalanstery of the Brook
Farm Phalanx is now building, and
one wing is nearly completed ;

but

until the present time the membera
of the association have lived in sepa-
rate houses, though their domestic af-

fairs have been carried on as for one

family.
The Phalanx makes the amplest

provision for education; every child,
whether its parents are rich or poor, is

guarantied a complete education at the

charge of the whole association.

One of the most lucrative branches
of industry hitherto pursued at the

Brook Farm Phalanx, is a school,
which has gained a high reputation.
The Phalanx buys and. sells at

wholesale, and supplies its members
with goods at cost, by which means,
the retail system of trade and traffic i?

abolished.

The location of the Brook Farm
Phalanx is picturesque, and the soil

very good. The domain consists of a
few hundred acres only, at present,
but as move land is required, the ad-

joining farms will be purchased. Ag-
riculture and several branches of me-
chanical industry are in successful

operation ;
and as rapidly as circum-

stances will permit, others are to be
added. Gardening and the nursery
business are extensively entered into,

as well as the cultivation of green-
house plants.

Although the founder, and presi-
dent of the Phalanx, Mr. Piipley, was
a Unitarian clergyman, the memliers
are of various religious denomina-

tions, and there exists the most per-
fect religious freedom.

Owing to losses by fire, and other

circumstances, this institution ceased
to exist in 1847.

ROYALSTOX.
Worcester Co. This town was

first settled in 1754, and named lor

Colonel Isaac Koj'al, one of its pro-

prietors. In 1766, a church was

formed, and in 1768, the Rev. Joseph
Lee was settled as pastor.

Koyalston is bounded north by
Richmond and Fitzwilliam, in New
Hampshire, east by Winchendon. south

by Athol, and west by Orange and
Warwick. It lies thirty-five miles
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north-west from "Worcester, ami sixty-
five miles west north-west IVom Bus-

ion. The Boston and Vermont rail-

road passes through Athol, seven miles

south iVom the centre otthe town.
The land in this town consists gen-

erally of hills and valleys, and the

soil is excellent, being suitable for til-

lage or grazing. It is watered by
Miller's river and its tributary streams,

upon which is much good meadow.
Several small streams, one of which has

upon it a perpendicular fall of twenty
feet, and descends one hundred feet

in forty rods, unite and form TuUy
river, which pours into I\liller"s river

a great quantity of water. These vari-

ous streams afford a number of good
mill sites.

There is a handsome village near
the centre of the town

;
and two ponds

well stocked with fish. Although
these ponds are within half a mile of

each other, yet they vary in height
one hundred and fifty feet.

There are manufactures in the

town of woollen goods, leather, boots,

shoes, cabinet-ware, chairs, palm-leaf
hats, mats, wooden-ware, ice. Roy-
alston bids fair to become a large

manufacturing town.

RUSSELL,.

Hampden Co. This town was for-

merly the north-west part of West-

field, and the south-west part of IMont-

goinery. The western railroad passes

through the town, eighteen miles west

north-west from Springfield, and one
hundred and eighteen miles west by
south from Boston.

This is a mountainous township,
full of wild and romantic scenery,

having Westfield river passuig rapidly

through it, as if attempting to rival

the speed of the cars which pass along
its margin.

Russell presents a good specimen
of what our railroads are doing for

our inland towns, and what these

towns can and will do for those on
tlie borders of the Atlantic. It is by
the union of power in drawing out

the resources of each, that hath are

sustained
;
and where that union fails,

the people seek other abiding places.
In 1830, the population of Russell

was five hundred and nine; in 1837,
it had dwindled down to four hundred
and seventy-five ;

but in 18 10, the

year that the western railroad crossed

the Connecticut, the population rose

to nine hundred and fifty-six, and in

1846, it was advancing in its various
interests.

The surface of this town is more

pleasant to the spectator than to the

cultivator; yet the higlands afford

excellent grazing, and along the val-

leys are tracts of fertile meadow.
Russell possesses an immense water-

power, with an abundance of wood
and stone, and other building materi-

als
;
and all within six hours' ride of

Boston. If Russell does not become
"another Lowell," it surely bids fair

to become a great auxiliary to the do-

mestic industry of the state.

RUTLAND.

Worcester Co. Rutland, com-

prising a territory of twelve miles

square, was bought of the Indians, in

KiSfi, for twenty-three pounds. Its

Indian name was Naqueng. A church
was gathered here, and the Rev. Tho-
mas Frink was settled as pastor, in

1727.

This town is situated on the height
of land between the sea and Connec-
ticut river, and is hilly and very une-

ven. It has no large stream, but is

watered by a branch of Ware river,

which afl^ords power for several mills.

This is a good grazing township, and
the inhabitants export considerable

beef, butter, and chee.se. There is

fine fishing at Mustapaug and Long
ponds. About half a mile east of the

meeting-house is a spring, the waters

of which soon divide
; part runs to

the INIerrimack and part to Connecti-

cut river.

The manufactures of the town con-

sist of woollen goods, leather, boots

shoes, cabinet and wooden-wares, ice.

The industry of the people is generally
devoted to agricultural pursuits.
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In the central part of the town is a

very pleasant village, containin°; a

number of handsome buildings. This

village lies thirteen miles north-west

from Worcester, seventeen south by
tvest from Fitchburg, and fifty west

by north from Boston.

SALEM.
This is one of the shire towns in Es-

sex county. It is the oldest and largest

seaport but one in old Massachusetts.

Its Indian name was Nnumkeag.
Salem is nearly surrounded by wa-

ter, being situated between two inlets

of the sea, called the north and south

rivers. To the main and now in-

habited part of the town is attached a

peninsular portion of land, called the

Neck. This was the first inhabited

land, and was formerly used for fish-

ing and other purposes. It ultimately
became the property of the town, and

was, for a long time, used as a public

pasture. In 1816, when the present
alms-house was built, a large portion
of it was enclosed, and has since been

cultivated as the alms-house farm.

The finest and most comprehensive
view of Salem may be had from " Gal-

lows Hill." Its sitviation is low, but

pleasant and healthy. Its streets are

quite irregular. Essex is the only
felreet which runs through the town,
and is very angular and crooked.

Federal and Bridge streets are broad,

straight, and regular. Chesnut is es-

teemed the handsomest, though it is

not the most public street. It has

rows of elms on either side. Winter
and Broad streets are the widest. The
first pavement was made in Essex

street, between Court and North

streets, in 1773. The south church
has great architectural beauty, and
the north church is built of stone, with
a beautiful front of the Gothic order.

There is a custom-house at the head
of Derby wharf.

Salem has always been a commer-
cial place. It has a convenient har-

bor, and good anchorage. In point
of wealth and commerce, it has al-

ways ranked as the second town in

New England.

^he history of Salem is identified

v/ith that of Massachusetts, and there

is much in it to interest and instruct.

Its rank, the character and number
of its population, its facilities for com-

merce, and the advantage of being the

chosen residence of many of the first

and most distinguished settlers, mnde
it early and seriously thought of as

the capital, instead of Boston.

It was first settled in 1626, by Koger
Conant, Peter Palfrey and others, who
had failed in an attempt to plant them-

selves at Cape Ann. In 1628, a ces-

sion of fllassachusetts was made to

Sir Henry Roswell and others, with a

view to establish a colony there. Of
this company. Matthew Cradock was

president, and in 1628, John Endicott

was sent over to reside at Salem, as

the company's agent. In the same

year, the first church was formed.

It has ever been remarkable for its

succession of eminent, independent,
and useful divines.

In 1634, the first general court met
at Newton. Roger Conant was one

of the first deputies from Salem.

In 16 13, Massachusetts was divided

info four counties
; Essex, Rliddlesex,

Suffolk, and Norfolk. In 1644, there

was a strong party to make Salem the

seat of government, but in this at-

tempt the deputies were defeated.

In 1675, Captain Thomas Lathrop
and his company were killed by the

Indians, at Bloody Brook. He, with

Koger Conant, had removed from Sa-

lem to Beverly, in 1668. His com-

pany were called the "Flower of Es-

sex," and many of them were from
Salem.

In 1681, Major William Hawthorn
died. He was a leading and inlluen-

tial character in his time, having
been speaker, assistant, judge, com-
missioner of the united colonies, ifcc,

and having ever showed himself able,

faithful, and worthy of confidence.

In 1687, William Brown gave a

farm for the benefit of the schools of

Salem. The Brown family were ever

great friends and liberal patrons of

learning. They not only made dona-

tions to the Salem schools, but also to

Harvard College fcr the benefit of

poor scholars.
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In 1692, the witchcraft delusion pre-
vailed in Salem, and nineteen persons
were tried and iian<;ed as witches.

Tliongh designated
" the Salem witch-

craft,
"

it had pervaded other places,

previously to its appearance here. In

England, laws had been enacted

against it, and Sir IMatthew Hale gave
to those laws his sanction. In 1()18,

Margaret Jones was condemned and
hanged at Charlestown, and in 1655,
Ann Hibbins, at Boston. The imputa-
tion for a time induced a belief of the

reality of the imposition; but time

finally detected and exposed the error.

The house in which the accused were
tried is still standingat the western cor-

ner of Essex and North streets, and the

place of their execution is now known
as ''Gallows Hill." A full and inter-

esting account of this delusion of the

imagination has been written and

published by Rev. C. W. Upham.
In 1698, a great fire broke out, and

destroyed several dwelling-houses.
In 1718, the second or east church
was bu'lt, and is still standing. The
celebrated Dr. Bentlcy was pastor of

this church. He wrote a "
Descrip-

tion of Salem," which is published in

the " Collection of the Massachusetts
Historical Society."

In 1771, General Gage ordered the

removal of the general court to Sa-
lem. At that time, Boston was a
closed port. The merchants and citi-

zens of Salem called a town meeting,
at which resolutions, denouncing in

very strong terms the Boston port

bill, were passed unanimously. The

meeting was very full, and a copy of

their doings was communicated to

their neighbors of Boston. On the

11th of June, when Governor Gage
was at Salem, an address, numerously
signed, was presented to him, which
reflects high honor on the sense of

justice and patriotism of this ancient
town. Among other things it said,
" By shutting up the port of Boston,
some imagine that the course of trade

might be turned hither and to our
benefit

;
but nature, in the formation

of our harbor, forbids our becoming
rivals in commerce to that convenient
mart. And were it otherwise, ne

must bt (had 1o every idea ofjustice—
loU to all fteliiigs of humanity—could

we indulge out tlwuglit in stize on wtalth

and raise our fnrtuncs on the ruin of our

suffering neighbors''
In 177(), February 26, Colonel Les-

lie, with a British regiment from Bos-

ton Castle, landed privately at Salem,
and proceeded to the north bridge,
with a view to seize on some military
stores beyond it. The citizens were,
at the time, in meeting ;

l)Ui Colonel

Timothy Pickering, with thirty or for-

ty men, got there in season to raise

the draw, and thus prevent Leslie and
his regiment from passing farther.

The British attempted to cross the

river in a gondola, but the Americans
scuttled the boat. Finally, Colonel

Leslie proposed that if he should be

permitted to pass thirty rods l>eyond
the bridge, he would return. Having
been permitted, the gallant colonel

returned peaceably to Boston.

During the revolution, there were
about sixty armed vessels fitted out

from Salem, manned by. four thou-

sand men
;

and many unrecorded
deeds of high daring and chivalrous

adventure were performed on the sea

by citizens of Salem, during that

eventful period. Indeed, in lier naval
achievements consists principally the

part which Salem bore in the revolu-

tionary struggle.
This seaport has been more known

for its East India trade than any other

in the United States. The first ship
from Salem engaged in this trade was
the Grand Turk, owned by E. H.

Derby. She was at the Cape of Good

Hope in 1784, commanded by Captain
Jonathan IngersoU, and at Canton in

1786, commanded by Ebenezer West.
A model of her, completely rigged, is

in the Museum. In 1818, there were

fifty-three vessels employed in this

trade, belonging to Salem, the tonnage
of which was fourteen thousand two
hundred and seventy-two tons.

Salem became a city in 1836. Its

government consists of a mayor and
six aldermen, and twcntj'-four com-
mon council men. Its public schools

are nineteen. The number of schol-

ars in 1837, was one thousand live
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hundred and thirtj'^-four, and the

amount paid for instruction eight
thousand eight hundred and seventy-
seven dollars.

The AtbencBurn was incorporated in

1810. Edward A. Holyoke, William

Orne, Nathaniel Silsbee and Samuel
Putnam were authorized to call the

lirst meeting of the proprietors. The
stock is divided into ninety or one
hundred shares. Its library contains

about ten thousand volumes. The

institution, though at present rather

private, may ultimately become more

public.
The Museum is remarkable for the

extent and variety of its natural and
artificial curiosities, collected from al-

most every part of the world. There
are about five thousand' names of dif-

ferent articles on the catalogue ; they
are kept in a spacious hall built for

that purpose, and belong to the East
India Marine Society. This society
consists of such only as have actually

navigated the seas near the Cape of

Good Hope or Cape Horn, as master
or factor. In 1823, there were one
hundred and sixty of these enterpris-

ing men living in Salem. The hall

is open daily for the reception of vis-

itors, and vast numbers of strangers

throng there. All come with an eager
and excited curiosity, and leave with
that curiosity at least gratified, if not

satisfied.

The commerce of Salem is very ex-

tended. There is hardly any part of

the world which her ships have not

visited. The number of vessels en-

gaged in foreign commerce is one

hundred or more, and eighteen in the

whaling business, besides the vessels

employed in the coasting trade and

fishery.

Many of the wharves bear the

names of their builders and owners
;
as

ine Allen, Derby, Peabody, Forester,
and Phillips' wharf. This last was

recently rebuilt by Stephen C. Phil-

lips, on the ruins of the old Crownin-
shield wharf, which had become di-

lapidated and useless. It is an admi-
lable piece of work.

Although Salem is without any im-

portant water-power, and has ever

been almost exclusively devoted to

maritime pursuits, yet its manufac-

turing interests are by no means
small. Some ten years since the value
of its mauufactures was a million and
a half of dollars

;
since which it has

probably doubled. They consisted of

vessels, cordage, leather, boots, shoes,

hats, tin and cabinet-wares, chairs,

spirits ; white, sheet, and pipe lead,

carriages, straw bonnets, sperm can-

dles, tobacco, alum, saltpetre refined,

aquafortis, muriatic acid, oil of vitriol,

&c. The value of its whale, cod, and
mackerel fisheries amounted to two \

hundred and ten thousand eight hun-
dred and forty-three dollars.

The Aqueduct furnishes the city
with a constant supply of fresh and
soft spring water.

The fire department is under good
regulations. Some of the societies in

the city are the "East India Marine

Society," incorporated in 1801
;

the

"E.I. M. Hall Corporation," in 1824
;

the " Salem Charitable fllechanic As-

sociation," instituted in 1817, and in-

corporated in 1822
;
the " Essex His-

torical Society," in 1821, and the
" Salem Lyceum," which was formed
in 1830.

The Common was reserved " as a

training field for the use of Salem,"
in 1713. It is a beautiful, level spot
of ground, surrounded by a double
row of elm and other ornamental

trees, and has a gravel walk around
it. The alms-house formerly stood

upon it, but it is now entirely unin-

cumbered.
The CiUj Hall was built in 1837.

It has a beautiful granite front, and is

handsomely finished and furnished

within.

The raihrad from Salem to Boston,
was opened for travel, August 28,
1838

;
thus making Salem, as it were,

a part of Boston. The first stage be-

tween these cities was run by Ezra

Burrill, in 1782. It went to Boston
one day and returned to Salem the

next. Now the distance, fourteeR

miles, can be easily passed over in

forty minutes
;
and at the same time,

the traveller will ride rapidly through
a beautiful and picturesque country.



SALEM. 261

Salem presents aii unparalleled in-

stance of perseverance and success in

nautical enterprizes. Although the

lirosjierily oi'Salein, in its wealth and

])opulation, is built on its commerce
with all the nations on the globe, such
has been the foresight and caution of
its people, that amid all the commer-
cia] embarrassments which have af-

flicted the countrj^ and even in times
of war, Salem has buffeted every
storm, and steadily progressed in its

onward course. The population of

Salem, at various periods, is as fol-

lows :—In 17t>2, 4,123; 1790,7,921;
1800, 9,457; 1810, 12,(513; 1820,

12,731; 1830, 13,886; 1840, 15,083;
1845, lti,697.

Among the distinguished men, in

almost every profession, which Salem
claims as among its sons, the name
of Nathaniel Bowditch, LL. D., F.
K. S., author of the Practical Naviga-
tor, is identified with its fame and
nautical achievements.

Dr. Bowditch was bom at Salem,
3Iarch 26, 1773. He was taken from
school at the age of ten years, and
placed as an apprentice to a ship
chandler. At the age of twenty-two,
he went to sea, and spent nine years
in the capacity of captain's clerk, su-

percargo, and finally, as ma.ster of a

ship. In 1804, he became president
of a marine insurance company, in

Salem, which office he held until 1823,
when his superior talents called him
to become Actuary of the Massachu-
setts Hospital Life Insurance Com-
pany, in Boston

;
the responsible and

laborious duties of which office he

faithfully discharged until his death,
March If), 1838.

Notwithstanding his limited means
of education, Dr. Bowditch acquired,
by his extraordinar}' genius and econ-

omy of time, a perfect knowledge of all

the modern languages, and became
the most eminent mathematician and
astronomer in America. The Practical

Navigator has been translated into ev-

ery European language, and its use is

coextensive with maritime adventures.
Another work of Dr. Bowditch pla-

ces his name, as a man of science,
still higher on the roll of fame. It is

his translation of the Mecuniqne Ce-

leste, of La Place, with an elaborate

and copious commentary on that

work, in four large quarto volumes.
This work wa.s completed just before

his death.

CHURCHES AND MINISTERS
FROM 1629 TO 1846.

First Church.

Rev. S;l.

Francis Higginson, 1629. dis. 1630.

Samuel Skelton, 1629. died 1634.

Roger Williams, 1631. res. 1635.

Hugh Tcters, 1636. res. 1641.

John Fiske, 163(). res. 1639.

Edward Norris, 1640. died 1658.

John Higginson, 1660. died 1708.

Charles Nicholet, 1672. res. 1676.

Nicholas Noyes, 1683. died 1717.

George Curwen, 1714. died 1717.

Samuel Fiske, 1718. res. 1735.

John Sparhawk, 1736. died 1755.

Thomas Barnard, 1755. died 1776.

Asa Dunbar, 1772. res. 1779.
John Prince, 1779. died 1836,

C. W. Upham, 1824. res. 1845.

Second Church.

(

Robert Staunton,
William Jennison,
James Dimon,
William Beutley,
James Flint,

1719. died 1727.

1728. res. 1736.

1737. died 1788.

1783. died 1819.

1821.

Third Church.

Samuel Fiske,

Dudley Leavitt,
John Huntington,
Nath'l Whiltaker,
Daniel Hopkins,
BrowTi Emerson,

1745. died 1762.

1763. died 1766.

1769. res. 1774.

1778. died 1814.

1805.

St. Peter's Church.

Charles BrockwelK 1738. res. 1746.
Wm. BIcGilchrist, 1747. died 1780.
Robert B. Nichols, 1771. res. 1774.
Nathaniel Fisher, 1782. died 1812.
Thomas Carlisle, 1814. res. 1822.
H. W. Dncachet, 1823. res. 1825.
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Rev. Set.

Thomas W. Colt, 1827. res. 1829.

Alex. V. Gnsvvold, 1829. res. 1834.

John A. Vaughan, 1834. res. 1836.

Charles Blason, 1837.

North Church.

Thomas Barnard,
John E. Abbot,
John Brazer,

1773. died 1814.

1815. died 1819.

1820. died 1846.

Tabernacle Church.

Nath'l Whitaker, 1774. res. 1784.

Joshua Spaulding, 1785. res. 1802.

Samuel Worcester, 1803. died 1821.

Elias Cornelius, 1819. res. 1826.

John P. Cleaveland, 1827. res. 1834.

S. M. Worcester, 1834.

Branch Church.

iSiuce 1S27 called Howard Street Church.]

Joshua Spaulding, 1805. res. 1814.

Henry Blatchford, 1818. res. 1820.

William Williams, 1821. res. 1832.

George B. Cheever, 1833. res. 1837.

Charles T. Torrey, 1838. res. 1839.

Joel Mann, 1840.

First Baptist Church.

Lucius Bolles, 1805. res. 1826.

Rufus Babcock, 1826. res. 1S34.

John Wayland, 1834. res. 1841.

Thos. D. Anderson, 1842.

Freewill Baptist Church.

(Chrisiians.)

Abner Jones, 1807. res. 1812.

Samuel Rand, 1813. res. 1814.

]\Ioses Howe, 1814. res. 1817.

Abner Jones, 1821.

1st. Uni\t:rsalist Chcrch.

1809. res. 1814.

1815. res. 1817.

1818. res. 1820.

1820. res. 1824.

1825. res. 1828.

Edward Turner,
Hosea Ballou,
Joshua Flagg,
Barzillai Streeter,

Scth Stetson,

I Rev. Set.

Lemuel Willis, 1829. res. 1837.

Matthew H. Smith, 1838. res. 1841

Linus S. Everett, 1841. res. 1846.

Ebenezer Fisher, 1847.

St. Mary's Church.

Bishop Cheverus and Dr. Ma-

tignon from 1806 to 1811.

Dr O'Brien, 1811. res. 1813.

Bishop Cheverus and Dr. Ma-

tignon from 1813 to 1819.

Paul McQuaid, 1819. res. 1822.

John Mahoney,
William Yv^iley,

John D. Brady,
James Strain,

Thos.J.O'Flaherty,1842.

First Methodist Episcopal Church.

Jesse Filmore,
J. B. Brown,
J. Hamilton,
S. C. Macreading,
Aaron Waitt,
J. Filmore,
J. W. Downing,
S. G. Hiler,
J. Filmore,

1822. res.

1832. res.

1833. res.

1834. res.

1834. res.

1835. res.

1835. res.

1838. res.

1840. res.

1832.

1833.

1834.

1834.

1835.

1835.

1838.

1839.

1844.

This house is now occupied by the

Second Unitersalist Church.

Day K. Lee, 1845. res. 1848.

B. F. Bowles, 1848.

Independ. Congregational Church

Henry Colman, 1824. res. 1832.

Jas. W. Thompson, 1832.

Second Baptist Church.

George Leonard, 1826. res. 1828.

Robert E. Pattison, 1829. res. 1830.

C. P. Grosvenor, 1830. res. 1834.

Joseph Banvard, 1835. res. 1846.

Crombie Street Church.

William Williams, 1832. res. 183S

Alex. J. Sessions, 1838.
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Second Methodist Church.

Rev. Set.

N. S. Spaulding, 1841. res. 1R13.

Joseph A. Merrill, 1843. res. 1843.
David K. Merrill, 1843. res. 1845.
Mr Moulton, 1845.

Third Methodist Church.

J. N. Mears, 1842. res. 1845.
Samuel Palmer, 1845.

Seamens' Church.

Mif-hael Carleton, 1842.

Mormon Church.

Elder Snow, 1842.

SALISBURY.

Essex Co. In 1638, this town was
granted, by the name of Merrimaclc,
to be a plantation, unto Simon Brad-

.<treet, Daniel Dennison, and others.
The year following, it was incorporat-
ed by the name of Colchester, and in

1640, assumed, by direction of the then

general court, the name of Salisbury.
It is seven by three miles in extent,
and is bounded southerly by the river

Merrim.ack, westerly by Powow river,
which divides it from the town of

Amesbury, northerly by the New
Hampshire line, which separates it

from the towns of South Hampton
and Seabrook, and easterly by the
sea.

In 1643, the plantations in New
Hampshire, viz., Hampton, Exeter,
Portsmouth, and Dover, were united
to Massachusetts, and, together with

Salisbury and Haverhill, formed into
a new and distinct county, called Nor-
folk, of which Salisbury was the shire

town, and so continued to the year
1679, when New Hampshire was
again separated, and formed into a

royal government. In August, 1737,

commissioners, appointed by the

crown, met at Hampton Falls, for the

purpose of settling a controversy, re-

specting the boundary line, which had
long subsisted between llie two gov-
ernments of Massachusetts and New
Hampshire. On this occasion the

general court of New Hampshire con-
vened at Hampton, and that of Mas-
sachusetts at Salisbury.
The first church in this town was

formed in 1638; the first pastor was
Rev. William Worcester, who came
from Salisbury, in England, and was
settled at the organization of the
church. He died in lt;ij2, and was
succeeded by Rev. John Wheelwright.
The third pastor was Rev. John Ai-

ling, who settled here in 1687, and
died in 1696

;
he was succeeded by

Rev. Caleb Gushing, in 1698. The
fifth pastor was Rev. Edmund Noyes,
who settled here in 1751, and died in

1809. The second Congregational
church was founded in 1718. The
first Baptist society was founded in

1779; the I\Iethodisl in 1805; the
Christian in 1820

;
the Universalist in

1831
;

the Congregational Evangeli-
cal Union in 1835

;
and the Salisbury

and Amesbury Mills Christian Union
Society in 1833.

There are two considerable villages
in Salisbury ;

the largest is at the

westerly part of the town, upon Pow-
ow river, at the head of tide water.
The village is divided by said river
into two pretty equal parts, one in

Salisbury, the other in Amesbury.
In that part of the village that lies in

Salisbury, are two flannel factories,
one two hundred feet long, and fifty
feet wide, the other one hundred feet

by forty feet. The establishment is

called the Salisbury xManufacturing
Corporation. Capital, five hundred
thousand dollars. There is in this

village a large tannery, and manufac-
tures of cotton goods, shoes, combs,
boats, wherries, and molasses casks.
These are the statistics of Salisbury
in 1837, since which, the manufactur-

ing operations of this interesting town
have greatly increased.

The other village is pleasantly situ-

ated on the bank of the Merrimack,
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on a point of land formed by the junc-
tion of tiiat river with the Powow

;

and is generally known by the dis-

tinctive name of "Webster's Point."

Sliip-builtUng long has been, and still

is, a principal branch of business in

this place ;
and its character is well

established for building excellent ves-

sels. There are many sail of vessels

owned in this village, and employed
partly in the coasting trade, and partly
in the cod and mackerel fishery.
The annual product of the manu-

factures of Salisbury, including ves-

sels, and of the fishery, is about seven
hundred and fifty thousand dollars.

Salisbury and Amesbury ar^ finely
located for business

;
the villages are

neat, and the scenery around them

very pleasant.
"
Salisbury Beach

"
is

noted for its beauty, and is much fre-

quented. It is a delightful place in

summer; about five miles from the

town. See Amesbury.

SAKDISFIELD.

BekkshikeCo. This town is bound-
ed north by Tyringham and Otis, east

by Otis and Tolland, south by Cole-

brook and Norfolk, in the state of

Connecticut, and west by New Marl-

borough. The town was incorporated
in 1762, and first permanently settled

in 1750. In 1819, "Southfield," or

the "eleven thousand acres," was
added to its territory. Sandisfield

was never the residence of any tribe

of Indians, though used by them as a

hunting-field, as appears by the stone

arrows found in the ground.
The surface of the town is hilly in

general ;
the hills are to a considera-

ble height, but not abrupt, rising into

large swells. In the south-east sec-

tion of the town, however, a consider-

able mountain rises on the western
bank of Farmington river, known by
the name of Hanging mountain. Its

highest point of elevation is four hun-
dred and fifty feet above the bank,
and presents to the south-east a mural

perpendicular front, more than three

hundred feet high. Large pieces of

rocks, dislocated by the frost, or other

causes, often fall from lie jutting side
with tremendous force.

Farmington river runs near the east

hue of the town, through the whole

extent, and affords many mill-seats
and water privileges. And there are
other small streams intersecting the

town, upon which are mills and other

machinery. In the north part of the

town, at the outlet of Spectacle pond,
the water privileges are excellent.

The soil is various, but generally
of a good quality. It consists of a
moist loam

; stony in many places,
and principally adapted to grazing.
Some parts of the town, however, are
suited to the cultivation of different

kinds of grain. Formerly the raising
of live slock of various kinds was the

principal object of farmers
;
but for a

number of years past, ihe dairy has
been pursued with success, and car-
ried on extensively.
A Congregational church was form-

ed here in 1756, when the Rev. Cor-
nelius Jones was settled. Mr. Jones
•was succeeded by the Rev. Eleazer

Storrs, in 1766, and was followed by
the Rev. Levi White, in 1798. Mr.
White was dismissed in 1832, and
was succeeded by the Rev. Piatt T.

Holley, who was ordained the same
year.

Sandisfield lies about one hundred
and fifteen miles west south-west from

Boston, twenty-seven south south-east

from Pittsfield, and about forty east

by south from Hudson, on the Hud-
son river.

SA3VDWICH.

Barnstable Co. This to^^^^ was
granted to Edmund Freeman and oth-

ers, in 1637. Its Indian name was
Sktitvme, and long after its first settle-

ment by the whites, was the residence
of many of the natives of the forest,
who perhaps enjoyed as good a loca-

tion for fishing and fowling as any of
their contemporaries.

Sandwich is situated on the shoul-

der of Cape Cod, and although much
of the soil is thin and sandy, yet there

is not a little of an excellent quality-
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It is watered by a number of streams

which aflbrd a good water-power ;

and by numerous ponds, some of

which are large, atibrding a variety
of excclk-nt fish. The Ibresls aflbrd

an abund;uice of deer, and to the lov-

ers of rural sports, Sandwich and the

neighboring towns of Barnstable and
Fahnouth have justly become favor-

ite resorts.

Sandwich has no good harbor,within

the cape, but navigable accommoda-
tions in Buzzard's Bay, at which are

some ship-building, and a number of

vessels owned and employed in fish-

ing and coasting. There are a num-
ber of tlourishing villages in the town,
and manufactures of salt, iron cast-

ings, stoves, nails, leather, (tec.
;
but

the principal manufacture, not only

important to the town, but to the

slate, is that of glass. The value of

the New England glass ware manu-
factured here, has been fully tested,

and found to be as clear, and stronger
tiian any other now in use. The value

of glass: made at this place in 1836,
was three hundred thousand dollars.

It has been proposed to unite Mas-
sachusetts and Buzzard bays by a

ship-canal through this town. The
distance is five miles, and the route

level. A glance at a map of New
England shows most conclusively
the immense advantages to be derived

by such a work, or by the continua-

tion of the Old Colony railroad from

Plymouth through this town to Fal-

mouth.

The Sandwich Collegiate Insti-

tute. This seminary of learning, for

both sexes, has recently been estab-

lished at this place, by the Rev. Fred-

erick Freeman, of the Episcopal

church, as principal and proprietor.
None will be received as pupils

but- such as board with the principal,
it being his object to make the institu-

tion strictly a Fa.milv School, rega-
lated in all its arrangements with, a
view to improvement in morals and

manners, as well as sound learning.
Tlie institution will not be limited

to any definite course of study, it

Oeing designed to afford all needed
23

facilities for the pursuit of any branch
of science pertaining to practical life.

Students will be received at any period
of advancement in literature, and aid-

ed in securing higher attainments,
whether in preparation for college, or,

by a thorough and finished education,
for respectability and usefulness in

any of the honorable avocations of

social life.

The institution will be made to

the pupil, as much as possible, a

home, with all its comforts and de-

lights.
The above school of Mr. Freeman

is given up; but there is another
school in this town which deserves

high commendation. We allude to the

Apple Grove Family School, lor young
ladies, conducted by E. G. Wing, a

lady of high attainments, and attached

to the society of Friends.

Sandwich lies twelve miles north-

west from Barnstable, sixteen south
south-east from Plymouth, and fifty-

three miles south-east from Boston.

SAVOY.
Bekkshike Co. This town is bound-

ed north by Florida, east by Hawley,
south by Windsor, and west by Ad-
ams and Cheshire.

This is one of those wild mountain

townships, whose soil and surface are

better adapted to grazing than tillage.

The people are generally farmers
;

—
grow wool, raise stock, keep dairies,

and thrive.

The most compact settlement is in

the south part, on the road leading
from Cheshire and Adams to Plain-

field, (kc, at the confluence of the two
streams which constitute the head-

waters of Wcstfield river. This is

sometimes called Savoy Village, but

more commonly Savoy Hollow.
A Baptist church was organized here

in 1787, and Elder Nathan Hoskins,

a native of Shutesbury, was ordained

their first pastor, in the year 1789. A
meeting-house was built in 1801.

Savoy lies fifteen miles north-east

from Pittsfield, twenty-four west from

Greenfield, and about one hundred
and fourteen west by north from Bo«
ton.
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SAUGUS.

Essex Co. This town formed the

west parish of Lynn, until 1815, when
it was incorporated, and received the

Indian name of Lynn, and of the river

that passes through the town.

Saugus is bounded north by South

Heading, east by Lynn, south by Bos-

ton Bay, and west by Chelsea. Most
of the land upon the river is excellent,
and well cultivated. There are large
tracts of salt meadow towards the sea,
so large as to form one seventh part
of the area of the town. The land

back from the river is rough, and
much of it covered with wood.

Saugus is largely engaged in the

manufacture of shoes, the value of

which, ten years ago, was one hun-
dred and fifty thousand dollars, since

which the business has much increas-

ed. There are also in the town man-
ufactures of morocco leather, choco-

late, snuff, cigars, bricks, wool clean-

ing, and dyeing of silks and woollens.

Saugus river winds delightfully

through the meadows, and makes a

ver\' picturesque appearance. On the

west bank of this river, iron works
were established in 1645. Near the

banks of this river, a band of pirates
concealed themselv^es in the year 1657

;

they were finally discovered, and three

of the four which landed, were taken
to England and executed. The one
that remained, escaped to a cavern, in

what is now called " Dungeon Pas-

ture," in Lynn woods, where he lived

till the great earthquake, in 1658,
which rent the rock above, closed the

entrance of the cavern, and buried

him alive. The name of this man
•was Thomas Veal. The glen in

which these pirates lived, was a se-

cluded spot, flanked by almost insur-

mountable crags. The well which

they dug, and the garden they planted,
are still perceptible. Veal's retreat is

much visited by the curious. It was
blown up, on the 4th of July, 1834,
but nothing was found.

Saugus lies eight miles south-west

from Salem, and about the same dis-

tance north from Boston.

SCITUATE.
Plymouth Co. This town, suppos-

ed to be named from its Indian name,
Satuit, lies at the mouth of North riv-

er, in Massachusetts Bay, and has a

convenient harbor, two miles north of

the mouth of the river, defended by
rocky cliffs, and Cedar point, on which
is a light-house.
The North river rises near the

sources of the Taunton. It passes

Pembroke, Hanover, and Marshfield,
and meets the tide-water here. This

river is very deep, narrow, and crook-

ed, and is noted for the fine ships built

on its banks.
The manufactures of Scituate con-

sist of leather, boots, shoes, tacks, ves-

sels, &c. The value of vessels annu-

ally built is about forty thousand dol-

lars. These vessels are of superior

mechanism, and are built of native

white oak, remarkable for its durabil-

ity.

There are a number of vessels be-

longing to this town employed in the

merchant service and coasting trade,

and the cod and mackerel fishery is

extensively pursued.
The town extends back from the

bay a considerable distance
;

it con-

tains large tracts of salt meadow and
some valuable upland.

Rev. John Lothrop, the first pastor
in the first north or lower society, ar-

rived at Scituate in 1634. He re-

moved, with the greater part of his

church, in 1639, and settled Barnsta-

ble. His successor was Rev. Charles

Chauncy, who afterwards was elected

president of Harvard College.
This town suffered much during

King Philip's war, and many of its

people were slain.

In this large town are a number of

handsome villages, and some pleasant

ponds. The principal villages are

those at the harbor. Liberty Plain,
and Snappet, on the border of Hano
ver. From Snappet village to the

harbor is about seven miles.

Scituate harbor liestwenty-five miles

south-east by east from Boston, and
seventeen north north-west from Ply-
mouth.
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SEEKOXK.

Bristol Co. In 1812, the west

part of Kehoboth was incorporated
into a distinct township, by its Indian
name of Seekonk. This word in the

Indian language is the name for the

wild or black goose, and this place

probably received its name from the

circumstance that great numbers of

wild geese used frequently to alight
in Seelconk river and cove.

Seekonk is bounded on the north

by Pawtucket, east by Rehoboth, south

by Barrington in Rhode Island, and
west by Seekonk and Providence riv-

ers.

There is considerable water-power
in the town, and several large cotton

factories and manufactures of vari-

ous other articles.

The first EngUsh mayor of the city
of New York, the worthy Thomas
Willet, Esq., lies buried in a seques-
tered spot, in this town. He died in

1674, aged sixty-four.
The depot of the Boston and Provi-

dence railroad is on the border of this

town, on Providence river, about a
mile below the centre of the city of

Providence. From this depot to the

Seekonk depot, in the centre of the

town, is two and a half miles
;
from

thence to Boston is thirty-eight and a
half miles, and to the village of Paw-
tucket is about two miles.

SHAROX.

Norfolk Co. This town was origi-

nally the second parish of the old

town of Stoughton, and was incorpor-
ated in 1765, by the name of Stough-
tonfiam, but the name becoming dis-

tasteful and unpopular, was soon

changed to the more euphonic and

scriptural name of Sharon.
The natural scenery of this town is

exceedingly beautiful and picturesque.
It is the height of land between Bos-
ton and Providence

;
and several

streams of water here take their rise,

\yhich, running in opposite directions,
fall into Massachusetts and Narra-
ganset bays. Mashapog pond is a
beautiful lake, more than a mile in

length, containing five or six hundred

acres, and rests upon a bed of iron

ore. When the Avater is low, large

quantities of the ore are taken out by
machines constructed for the purpose.
During the latter part of every sum-

mer, the water changes its color to a

greenish-yellow, and so continues for

some time. While this process of
fermentation (if so it may be called)
is going on, there is no perceptible
difference in the taste of the water.
This pond is now claimed as private

property, and is kept as a reservoir to

supply the mills below in the dry sea-

son of the year. The public are per-
mitted to use it for the purpose of

fishing and pleasure-boat excursions.

The outlet is into Neponset river
;
but

the pond being situated on a summit-

level, a slight excavation on the south-

ern border would make a new outlet,
and turn all its surplus water into

Taunton river.

Moose hill is the most elevated of a

range of hills in the westerly part of
this town. It is easily accessible.

From its summit there is one of the

most rich, commanding, and beauti-

ful views in New England.
This town contains three houses

for public worship. The Boston and
Providence railroad passes near its

centre. It contains one woollen and
two cotton mills, situated on 3Iasha-

pog brook
;

the pond alone supply-
ing sufficient water to drive the ma-

chinery. The pursuits of the people
are principally agricultural, but there

are manufactures of boots, shoes, lea-

ther, straw bonnets, wool-cards, axes,

machinery, joiners' gauges, &;c.
;
an-

nual value about one hundred thou-

sand dollars.

It is seventeen miles, by railroad,
south-west from Boston, nine south
from Dedham, and twenty-four north-
east from Providence.

SHEFFIELD.

Berkshire Co. The Indian name
of this town was Houssatonnock. It

was first settled in 1725, and at its

incorporation, in 1733, it wa.s named
after a town in England.
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"Mr. Obadiah Noble, from West-

tield, was the first white man who re-

sided in the town. He spent the first

winter here with no other human be-

ing than the Indians. In spring, he

went back to Westfield, and in June
returned with his daughter. The first

church in this town was organized on
the 22d of October, 1735. Mr. Jona-

than Hubbard, of Sunderland, and a

graduate of Yale College, was ordain-

ed their pastor on the same occasion."

This town includes an extensive

vale, and, except on the east, is gene-

rally level. In that part there is an
extensive chain of considerable hills,

extending from one end of the town-

ship to the other. On the west it is

mountainous. Taconic, or Mount
Washington, as this part of the Ta-
conic range is more generally called,

is about two thousand five hundred
feet in height, and presents a magnifi-
cent spectacle. A part of this moun-
tain is within the limits of Sheffield.

This town affords an abundance of

white marble, and much ofan excellent

quality. The soil of the township is

generally productive, and in the vale

easily tilled. Large quantities of

hay are easily obtained from the ex-

tensive intervales lying upon the river.

The Housatonic, which passes through
the length of the town,' is here, a si-

lent, sluggish stream, from six to eight
rods in breadth. From this town, it

passes into Connecticut, and, flowing

through the western part of the state,

empties into Long Island Sound.
Sheffield is one of those delightful

towns, so richly decorated with lovely

valley and majestic mountain scenery,
in Vv^hich the traveller v%-ishes to linger
a month, to gaze and admire. The

village is on the west side of the river
;

it contains many handsome buildings,
and is full of rural simplicity and

beauty.
There are manufactures in the

town of leather, marble, lime, hats,

ploughs, &c., but the inhabitants are

chiefly employed in agricultural pur-
suits, by which they live and prosper.
The value of their wool in one year,
has amounted to twelve thousand
dollars.

The Housatonic railroad passes
through the village, eighteen miles
from West Stockbridge, eighty from

Bridgeport, Connecticut, and from

thence, by water, sixty miles to New
York. By the Housatonic and west-

ern railroads, Sheffield is twenty-nine
miles from Pittsfield, one hundred and

eighty from Boston, and fifty -six from

Albany. To Hudson, on the Hudson
river, by the old road, is twenty-seven
miles.

SHELrBURNE.

Franklin Co. This town, until

1768, was a part of Deerfield, and
called "Deerfield North-West." At
its incorporation it was named for

Lord Shelburne.

Shelburne is bounded north by
Coleraine and Leyden, east by Green-
field and Deerfield, south by Conway,
and west by Ashfield and Buckland.

Deerfield river passes through the

town, and in its course falls nearly

fifty feet in the distance of forty rods,

thereby producing a great hydraulic

power. On the banks of this river

Shelburne Falls village has sprung
up, and promises to become a large

manufacturing place ; already the

manufactures are important. This

village is very neat and handsome,
and surrounded by charming scenery ;

among other buildings, it contains a
well endowed academy. This town is

celebrated for its good schools and
attention to mental culture.

The first Congregational minister

in Shelburne was the Eev. Robert

Hubbard, in 1773, the second, the

Rev. Jesse Townsend, in 1792
;

the

third was the Rev. Theophilus Pack-

ard, D. D., in 1799, who was suc-

ceeded by his son, of the same name,
in 1828. The first Baptist church
was formed here in 1788.

From Shelburne Falls village, at

the west part of the town, to Green-

field, is seven miles. When the

"Iron Horse" reaches Greenfield, he
will doubtless visit this and other

towns on one of the most beautiful

rivers in the country.
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sfierbur:ve.

IMiDDLESEX Co. This town is

bounded north by Natick east by
Bledfield ami Dover, south by HolHs-

ton, and west by Hopkinton. At the

Sine of its incorporation, in 1074,
there were twenty I'amilies in the

town. Its Indian name was Bogges-
tom. The first minister was the Rev.
Daniel Gookin, in 1718.

Sherburne is watered by Charles
river on its eastern boundary, and by
several brooks and pleasant ponds.
The soil of Sherburne is very good

and productive. It contains many
skilful farmers, and some delightful
farms. The village is on elevated

land
;

it is pleasant, and commands
good prospects. The manufactures
of the town consist of straw bonnets,
boots, shoes, leather, a.xes, lorks,

ploughs, muskets, and whips.
Sherburne lies eighteen miles south-

west from Boston, and si.xteen south

fiom Concord. From the principal

village in this town to the Framing-
ham depot of the Worcester railroad, is

about four miles north
;
from thence

to Boston is twenty -one miles.

SHIRLEY.

JIiDDLESEX Co. Before its incorpo-
ration, in 1753, the territory of this

town was the south-west part of Gro-
ton. The lands in Shirley are rather

level and low
;
the soil of some part

of them is cold and unproductive ;

but generally they make good farms
;

some parts of the town, particularly

along the streams, are under a high
state of cultivation, and very produc-
tive.

Shirley is separated from Groton by
Nashua river, and from Pepperell by
the Squanicook, a branch of the Nash-
ua. These streams afford Shirley a
fme water-power. There are several
woollen and cotton mills in the town,
and manufactures of boots, shoes,

paper, leather, palm-leaf hats, cVc.

The union of a good hydraulic pow-
er with a speedy communication to

the metropolis, and with a vast extent
of country to the northward and west-
ward, by railroads, renders Shirley a

favorable location for large manufac
turing concerns.

In the south part of the town is a

plea>^ant village, through which the

Fitchburg railroad passes. This vil-

lage lies eighteen and a half miles
norih-we.st from Concord, thirty-eight
and a half north-west from Boston,
and eleven and a half miles east by
south from Fitchburg.

About a mile south of this village
is a family of more than a hundred
of tho.>e most singular of all living

creatures, denominated Shakers, or a
U.MTED Society of Believers. Their

territory lies partly in Shirley and

partly in Lancaster. They own about
the same quantity of land as their

brethren at Harvard; and their occu-

pations are much the same. Their
neat village is in Shirley. See Har-

vard, and Hayward's Book of Reli-

gions.

SHREWSBURY.
Worcester Co. This town pre-

sents to the eye an uneven surface,

variegated with hills and valleys. A
range of highland, extending from
north to south, passes through the

middle of the town. The numerous
swells and tracts of rolling land, which
are most of them in good cultivation,
are to be seen in all directions from
the mfddle of the town, and give a

pleasing variety to the landscape.
The town is well watered by springs
and rivulets, though there are no

large rivers in the town. Long pond,
called by the natives Quinsigamond,
lying in this town by the line of Wor-
cester, is a beautiful piece of water.

It lies in the form of a crescent, nearly
four miles long as it runs, and from
one hundred rods to near a mile in

width. The water is, in general, of
considerable depth ;

in .some places it

has been found to be ninety feet deep.
There are twelve islands in this pond,
of various sizes. Stratton's Island,
which contains one hundred and fifty
acres under cultivation, has several

familit's living upon it. Some of llio

other islands are more or less culti-

vated. This pond is the principal
feeder of Blackstone canal. In the
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south-west part of the town is a large

meadow, wliich contains excellent peat.
The manufactures of Shrewsbury

consist of clothing, guns, hats, chairs,
straw bonnets, leather, boots, shoes,
&c.

;
the value of which, during the

year ending April 1, 1837, was two
hundred and eleven thousand two hun-
dred and eighty-seven dollars.

The first church was gathered in

this town on the 4th of December,
1723. Rev. Job Gushing was settled

OS their pastor on the same occasion.

He died in 1760, and was succeeded

by Rev. Joseph Sumner, D. D., who
was ordained in 1762. The next

minister. Rev. Samuel B. Ingersoll,
was settled in 1820, and died the

same year. He was succeeded, in

1821, by Rev. Edwards Whipple.
Rev. George Allen, the next pastor,
was settled in 1823.

Artemas Ward, the first major gen-
eral in the American army, was born
in this town in 1727, and died here
in 1800. After the arrival of Wash-
ington, in 1775, the command of the

right wing of the army, at Roxbury,
was entrusted to his care. He re-

signed his commission in 1776, though
he continued for some time longer in

command, at the request of Washing-
ton.

Levi Pease, the father of mail stages
in this country, was for many years a
resident of this town. He died here
in 1824, aged eighty-six. BIr. Pease
was a man of great enterprise ;

he

projected the first turnpike road in

New England, and to his zeal and
sacrifices the public is more indebted

than to any other man, for its excel-

lent mail esiablishraent. At the time

Mr. Pease started his first line of mail

stages between Boston and New York,
in 1784, the mail between those places

passed only once a fortnight, on horse-

back, in a pair of saddlebags.

Shrewsbury lies thirty-six miles

west south-west from Boston, and six

miles east by north from Worcester.
From the village near the centre of
the town to the Westborough depot,
on the Worcester railroad, is about six

miles
;
from thence to Boston is thirty-

two miles.

SHLTESBURY.

Franklin Co. This is the mojt
southern town in the county. It was
called Roadtown from the time of its

grant, in 1734, to its incorporation, in

1761. It was first settled by peopft
from Sudbury, about the year 1738.

Shutesbury is bounded north by
Wendell, east by Prescott and New
Salem, south by Pelham, and west by
Amherst and Leverett.

The town is well watered by branch-
es of Mill river, which rise here

;
and

by Swift river, which passes through
the town, and by several of its tribu-

taries, which also rise here.

The surface of the town is elevated,
and many parts of it are hilly and

rocky ;
in some parts the soil is thin,

and not very productive; but in other

parts the soil is fertile, particularly
along its numerous brooks and riv-

ers.

At the north-west corner of the

town, about four miles from the cen-
tre village, is Lock's pond, a sheet of

water, covering about seven hundred

acres, well stocked with fish of vari-

ous kinds. This pond has a northern
and a southern outlet. Near this

beautiful little lake is a neat village,
where some manufacturing operations
are going on.

There is a mineral spring of some
note near the centre of the town. It

is said to have been opened by an

earthquake, in 1815. How or when
it was opened we are not certain

;
but

certain it is that it was first discovered
about that time, and that it abounds
in muriate of lime, a medicinal qual-

ity of much value in various diseases.

This spring is frequently visited, and

good accommodations are provided for

guests.

Ephraim Pratt lived in this town

many years, and died here in 1804,

aged one hundred and sixteen years
He married at the age of twenty-one,
and could count one thousand five

hundred descendants. He was a very
temperate man, so much so that for

forty years he took no animal food.

He was a farmer
;
and his health was

so uniformly good, that he was able
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to mow a good swath one hundred
and one years in succession. He was
Vc/rn at Sudbury, 1687.

Shutesbury centre village lies six-

teen miles south-east from Greenfield,

seventy-four west by north from Bos-

ton, and about sixteen miles north
north-east from Northampton.

SOMERSET.

Bristol Co. This was formerly
the Indian Shemamet, and called the

Shewamet purchase ;
a part of Swan-

sey, at its incorporation as a town, in

17y0. It is bounded north by Digh-
ton, east by Taunton river, which di-

vides it from the town of Fall River,
south by Mount Hope Bay, and west

by Swansey.
This town enjoys almost unlimited

navigable facilities
;

it extends its

whole length and breadth on the deep,
navigable waters of Taunton river

and Blount Hope Bay ; besides, a part
of its western boundary is Lee's river,

jutting up from fliount Hope Bay to

Swansey village. This town com-

prises Long Point and Shawm ut Neck,
at the mouth of Taunton river.

There are some manufactures m
tlie town, particularly of stone and
earthen wares, of which large quanti-
ties are made ; but navigation and its

kindred branches occupy the atten-

tion of most of the business part of
the community. A large number of
fine vessels are annually built at this

place, and many are owned here, en-

gaged in the merchant service, the

fisheries, and coasting trade.

From Slade's Ferry, across Taun-
ton river, to Fall River village, is

about a mile and a half south. For

distances, see Fall River.

SOMERVILLE.
I

IMmoLESEX Co. This is a new town,
having been set off from Charlestown,
and incorporated by an act of the leg-

islature, in 1842, and contained, at
that time, a sparse population, of
about eleven hundred. The town is

pleasantly located
;
a considerable part

of it is elevated above the surrounding
country. The celebrated hills called

Winter Hill and Prospect Hill, the lat-

ter of which more i)ailicularly is a

distinguished spot in revolutionary
annals, having been occupied lor

some time as the encampment of the

American troops after the battle of

Bunker Hill, are comprised m the

town of Somerville. The town is

bounded in part by Charlestown, Rlys-
tic river, i\ledford, "West Cambridge,
Cambridge, and East Cambridge ;

and
is divided from the latter in part by
Miller's creek, and an arm of Charles
river.

Since the town has been incor-

porated, its growth and prosperity
have been very rapid. Its fine loca-

tions for dwellings have been improv-
ed, and a large number of pleasant
and handsome houses have been

erected, both on what is called the
Winter Hill road, and the Milk Row
road. A portion of Prospect Hill, ex-

tending towards West Cambridge,
and called Spring Hill, has been mostly
laid out into lots, and made accessible

by wide streets, which have been

opened.
No less than three important lines

of railroads pass through the town,
one on the north side, the Maine ex-

tension railroad, extending through
Essex county to New Hampshire and
Maine

;
on the south-westerly side,

the Fitchburg railroad, extending to a

part of Worcester county, New Hamp-
shire and Vermont

;
and in the centre,

the Lowell railroad, extending to the

manufacturing region of Lowell, IMan-

chester, Nashua, and Concord, New
Hampshire. Recently, the inhabi-
tants have erected a handsome church,
on an elevated position, on Spring
Hill, which has been dedicated, and is

now occupied lor religious services.

It is of the Unitarian denomination.
A new church, of the Baptist denom-
ination, has also just been erected,

nearly on the dividing line in Charles-

town, on the Winier Hill road, where
a large portion of the population caa
be accommodated. The town is also

provided with schools, a fire depart



272 GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS.

ment, Sec
;

but we believe has no

alms-house, and only one town pauper.

Population in 1845, about one thou-

sand seven hundred.

The McLean Asylum for the In-

sane is in this town, of which an ac-

count will be found under State Insti-

tuiiuns. A small stream, called the

Shawshine, runs through the town,
and atibrds some considerable fishing

privileges, as some hundreds of bar-

rels of alewives are annually taken

from it. The Milk Row Bleaching

Company have their extensive works
in this town, under the superintend-
ence of Major Alfred Allen, and a

large amount of business is done by
the company. The most extensive

and beautiful views of the city and

surrounding country are to be had
from the tops of Winter and Prospect

hills, w-ell worth the walk there to en-

joy. Distance from Boston about

three miles north-west.

SOUTHAMPTON.

Hampshire Co. This town was the

second parish of Northampton until

its incorporation, in 1753. It is bound-

ed north by Westhampton and East-

hampton, east by Northampton and
"West Springfield, south by Westfield,
and west by Norwich and I^lontgomery.

This town is well supplied with

mill sites, by Manham river, a con-

siderable stream. The course of this

river is singular. It rises in West-

hampton, and passes through the west-

erly part of this town, to the border of

Westfield
;

it then turns abruptly,
traverses the central and eastern parts
of this town, and falls into the Con-
necticut at Northampton.
The Hampshire and Hampden ca-

nal passes through the eastern part
of the town. Lead, in various forms
and qualities, is found here

;
and here

is a subterraneous passage leading to

a lead mine. This is an artificial ex-

cavation, mostly in solid rock, of nine

hundred feet in length, and large

enough to admit a boat. It is a curi-

osity, and is much visited.

There are some manufactures in

the town, but the people are generally

employed in agricultural pursuits, and
the soil is well adapted to that pur
pose.

Southampton is pleasantly situated,

eight miles south south-west from

Northampton, and twelve miles north-

west from Springfield. To Boston,

by the railroads, is one hundred and

eighteen miles.

SOUTHBOROUGH.
Worcester Co. This town is

bounded on the north by Marlbo-

rough, from which it was taken, in

1727. It has Framingham on the

east, Hopkinton on the south, and

Westborough and Northborough on
the west.

A church was organized here in

1730. Rev. Nathan Stone was settled

the same year, and preached till his

death, in 1781.

This is one of the prettiest towns in

the county. It is not large, but large

enough for one municipality. The sur-

face is gently undulating ;
with Pine

and Breakneck hills, just high enough
to give a fair view of the delightful

country surrounding them. The soil

is a strong, gravelly loam, rich, well

cultivated, and productive of all the

fruits of the earth common to a New
England climate, with an abundance
for domestic uses and the market.

Sudbury river, which rises in West-

borough, passes the southern border
of this town, and divides it from Hop-
kinton. Stony and Angle brooks
and some smaller streams afford the

town an ample water-power for do-

mestic use with some to spare.
There are some manufactures in

this town, but the people are mostly
engaged in cultivating their lands,

gardens, and orchards
; and, by great

industry and skill, have rendered
themselves independent.

Southborough Centre and Fryville
are neat and pleasant villages. The
latter is about a mile and a half east-

ward of the former. The Centre vil-

lage is about five miles from the Wor-
cester railroad depot at Westborough,
from which, to Worcester is twelve

miles west, and to Boston thirty-two
east north-east.
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SOUTHBRIDGE.

Worcester Co. This town was

incorporated in 1816. It was taken

mostly from Sturbridge, but consider-

able portions I'roni Charlton and Dud-

ley. It was formerly called Honest

Town. It is bounded east by Dudley
and Charlton, north by Charlton, west

by Sturbridge, and south by Wood-

stock, Connecticut. It is about fifty-

nine miles south-west from Boston,
nineteen miles south south-west from

Worcester, nine miles south from the

Charlton depot of the western rail-

road, and about the same distance

west from the Webster depot of the

Norwich and Worcester railroad.

Population in 1815 about two thou-

sand six hundred.
The land is generally uneven and

liilly, but of good quality for grain,

fruit, pasturage, &c. The Quine-

baug river, an excellent and perma-
nent mill stream, passes through the

centre and principal parts of this

town, uniting with French river, and
other streams, to form a branch of the

Thames. This river, with the favor-

able location of the town, has, within

the last thirty years, led to the intro-

duction of manufacturing to a large
e.xtent. There are now three cotton

mills, besides the site of the Colum-
bian mill, destroyed by fire, in De-

cember, 1844, on which otlier works
will soon be erected. The woollen

establishment of the Hamilton Wool-
len Company is one of the most ex-

tensive in the country. It has for-

merly been confined to broadcloths,
but the proprietors have lately intro-

duced, and are now successfully pros-

ecuting the manufacture of muslin de

laines, and other fancy cloths, for

gentlemen and ladies' dresses. The
Central Manufacturing Company, in

the centre village, have also recently
commenced the manufacture of this

article, and other descriptions of fine

fancy wool and worsted goods, for

ladies' dresses, using the best models
of machinery from England. Be-
sides the cotton and woollen manu-
i'aciories in this town, a large amount

of boots, shoes, and other articles, and
some fine cutlery are produced.
A church was organised here in

1801, and the Rev. Jason Park was
ordained the first pastor, in 1816.

There are now four meeting-houses
in the town, viz., Baptist, erected in

1800; Congregationalist, in 18i?l
;

Universalist, in 1842, and Methodist,
in 1843.

The town has a large and commo-
dious town-house, with a hall for

town business, and upper rooms occu-

pied for a high school, which is now,
and has been for several years, suc-

cessfully sustained, and well attended.

The public schools are in seven dis-

tricts, and generally employ about ten

teachers. The amount of money
raised for schools is one thousand
dollars.

In general, it may be said, the town
has a good, productive soil, with

pleasant, attractive, and flourishing

villages.

SOUTH IIADLEY.

Hampshire Co. This town was

formerly the second parish of Hadley,
and was first settled about the year
1721. It lies on the east side of Con-
necticut river, about six miles south

by east from the centre of Northamp-
ton, and about fourteen north from

Springfield.
The soil of the town is generally of

a good quality and productive. The
surface is varied from that of the rich

and lovely meadows on the Connecti-

cut, to the lofty summit of Mount Ho-

lyoke.

The village in the centre of the

town is very pleasant ;
it lies about

three miles north of the village at the

falls. Hockanum is a small village

nearly opposite to Northampton ;

where we cross over to visit Mount

Holyoke.
There is a canal in this town, two

miles long, on the east side of Con-
necticut river, and a dam across the

river of eleven hundred feet, which is

constructed to overcome a fall in the

nver of fifty feet. This dam produces
a water-power of great extent. The
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canal has five locks, and a cut through
solid rock of forty feet in depth, and
three hundred in length.

There are large manufactures in

the town of paper, and woollen goods,
but there remains a large volume of
water unimproved. Here are also

manufactures of leather, boots, shoes,
iron, pearl buttons, &c.

I\Iount Holyoke, on the northern
borders of this town, rises eight hun-
dred and thirty feet above the level of
the Connecticut at its base, and from
its summit presents probably the rich-

est view in America, in point of culti-

vation and fertile beauty, and is quite
a place of fashionable resort. " It is

a part of a mountain ridge of green-
stone, commencing with West Rock,
near New Haven, and proceeding
northerly, interrupted by only occa-

sional valleys, across the state of Con-

necticut, until it enters Massachu-
setts between West Springfield and

Southwick, and proceeds along the

west line of the first-named place, and

along the east line of Westfield, East-

hampton, and Northampton, to the

banks of Connecticut river. Until it

reaches Easthampton its elevation is

small
;
but there it suddenly mounts up

to the height of a thousand feet, and
forms Blount Tom. The ridge crosses

Connecticut river in a north-east direc-

tion, and curving still more to the east,

passes along the dividing line of Am-
herst and South Hadley, until it ter-

minates, ten miles from the river, in

the north-west part of Belchertown.
All that part of the ridge east of the

river is called Holyoke ; though the

prospect house is erected near its

south-western extremity, opposite

Northampton, and near the Connec-
ticut."

'• In the view from Holyoke we
have the grand and beautiful united

;

the latter, however, greatly predomi-
nating." "On the west is seen, a
little elevated above the general level,
the populous village of Northampton,
with its elegant public and private
buildings ;

a little more to the right
the neat and substantial villages of

Hadley and Hatfield
;
and still further

east and more distant, Amherst, w.th
its college, gymnasium and academy,
on a commanding eminence, form a

pleasant resting-place to the eye. On
the south is seen the village of South

Hadley. Springfield and other places
south, indistinctly visible along the
banks of the Connecticut, and even
the spires of the churches in Hartford

may be seen in good weather, just

rising above the trees. "With a tele-

scope, the elevated peaks in the vicin-

ity of New Haven may be seen.

Facing the south-west, the observer
has before him the ridge called Mount
Tom, which rises one or two hundred
feet higher than Holyoke."

" In the

north-west the Graylock may be seen

peering above the Hoosic, and still

farther north, the Green mountains
shoot up beyond the region of clouds.
Near at hand, in the valley of the

Connecticut, are seen the insulated

Sugar-Loaf and Toby, presenting their

fantastic outlines; while far in the

north-east rises in insulated grandeur
the cloud-capt Monadnoc."

Mount Holyoke Female Seminary.
This is an institution of great prom-
ise, and from which the best results

may be anticipated. It was incorpor-
ated a few years since, and is under
the direction of a board of trustees.

Its design is to give a solid, extensive,
and well balanced English education
to females, connected with that gene-
ral improvement, that moral culture,
and those enlarged views of duty,
which will prepare them to become
instructors. The institution is in-

tended to be permanent, and to be

placed on as lasting foundations as
our colleges are for the other sex.

All the teachers and pupils consti-

tute one family, and all the pupils are
to perform a part of the domestic la-

bor of the household. The buildings
are large and commodious, and their

site, in the village near the centre of the

town, is unrivalled for the beauty and

majesty of its scenery. This institu-

tion can accommodate two hundred
and fifty scholars. The terms per
annijm, are sixty dollars.
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SOL'TH READIXG. SOUTHWICK.

Middlesex Co. Tliis town was

formerly the south parish in Reading,
and was first settled in 1'339. The
first settled minister was the Rev.

Henry Green, in 1645.

South Reading has a varied and

pleasant surface, with a good soil, but

a large part of its inhabitants are en-

gaged in the manufacturing business,

particularly that of shoes. In 1844,
when its population was about sixteen

hundred, the value of shoes made
was two hundred and twenty thou-

sand dollars
;
of tin ware, twenty-five

thousand dollars
;
of medicines, twen-

ty thousand dollars
;
of razor strops,

five thousand dollars, and of shoe

tools, five thousand dollars; total

value of manufactures, two hundred
and seventj'-tive thousand dollars.

The town is well watered by Sau-

gus river, and two delightful ponds.
The village near the centre of the

town is compact, neat, and flourish-

ing. The Boston and 3Iaine railroad

passes through the town.

South Reading lies ten miles north

from Boston, ten miles west from Sa-

lem, and fifteen miles south-east from
Lowell.

The following are from the ancient
records of the parish :

—
1662. " This year the town ordered

that no woman, maid, nor boy, nor

gall shall sit in the South Alley and
East Alley of the M. House, upon
penalty of twelvepence for every day
they shall sit in the alley after the

present day. It was further ordered,
'That every dog that comes to the

meeting after the present day, either

of Lord's day or lecture days, except
it be their dogs that pays for a dog
whipper, the owner of those dogs shall

pay sixpence for every time they
come to the meeting, that doth not

pay the dog whipper.'
"

1067. " This year the town contain-
ed .')9 dwelling-houses. It was order-

ed, that every dog that comes into the

meeting-house in time of service shall

pay sixpence for every time he comes."

IlAMroEN Co. This town was for-

merly the south part of Weslfield. It

was first settled about the year 1734.

A Congregational church was organ-
ized here in 1773, and the Rev. Abel
Forward was settled the same year.

This town is elevated, but not

mountainous
;

it comprises a varied

surface, with much good land. It is

watered by Little river and some
small streams. The Hampshire and

Hampden canal passes through it, and
receives a large portion of its waters
from Congamuck pond, a long and

large collection of water at the south-

eastern part of the town.

The manufactures of the town con-

sist of gunpowder, leather, and vari-

ous other articles.

Soutliwick is bounded north by
"Westfield, east by West Springfield,
south by the state of Connecticut, and
west by Granville. It will be seen, by
a map of the state, that a part of the

territory of this town is composed of
a projection into the state of Connec-
ticut of about three miles square.
This is owing to an error in an old

survey. Previous to 1800, it was a

subject of controversy between the

two states
;

but since that time the

title of Massachusetts has not been
contested.

Mr. Richard Dickinson, who died

in this town in 1824, appropriated sev-

enteen thousand dollars in his will for

the benefit of the schools. A sum not

exceeding one half goes to the support
of a grammar-school, and the remain-
der to the district schools. The inter-

est only is appropriated. The gram-
mar school has been commenced, and
is free to the youth of Southwick.
There is a very pleasant village in

this town, which lies ten miles west
south-west from Springfield, and
six miles south of the "We.stfield de-

pot, on the western railroad, one hun-
dred and eight miles from Boston.

The village in the south part of the

town is pleasant; it is about three

miles from the other. Both village*
are about a mile from the pond.
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SPEXCER.

Worcester Co. The whole of this

town was included in the original

grant of Leicester. It was made a

parish in the year 1744, by the name
of the "West Parish of Leicester, and

incorporated a town in 1753, by the

name of Spencer. The church was
organized here in 1744, and Rev.
Joshua Eaton was ordained their

pastor the same year. He continued
with the people till his death, in 1772,
and was succeeded, the next year, by
Kev. Joseph Pope. The next minis-

ter was Rev. Stephen Crosby, who
was settled in 1819. Mr. Crosby was
succeeded by Rev. Levi Packard, in

1826.

This town is elevated, and is said

to be nine hundred and fifty feet above
the tide-waters in Boston harbor. The
surface is rougli and uneven, but the

soil is very fertile. It is watered by
many streams, which run through the

different parts ;
but none of them are

of much size. Seven-mile river is the

largest.
The manufactures of Spencer are

considerable
; they consist of woollen

goods, scythe snaiths, straw bonnets,

leather, boots, shoes, cabinet ware,
chairs, palm-leaf hats, harnesses, &:c.

Spencer lies eighteen miles west by
south from Worcester, by the western

railroad, which passes through the

town, and sixty-two miles west by
south from Boston.

SPRINGFIELD.

Hampden Co. This is the chief

and shire town of the county, and one
of the most beautiful and important
inland towns in New England. It is

situated on the east bank of the Con-
necticut river, ninety-eight miles west

by south from Boston, one hundred
and two east by south from Albany,
New York, twenty five from Hart-

ford, Connecticut, and twenty south
from Northampton.
Along the river are rich alluvial

meadows, highly productive ;
and

back of them the grounds rise to con-

siderable elevation, and terminate in

a plain of moderate fertility, extend-

ing east to Wilbraham. The busi-

ness part of the town is chiefly on
Main street, which is spacious, nearly
three miles in length, and contains

many elegant buildings. The street

runs parallel with the river
;
and east

of it, on the rising ground, are many
handsome private residences over-

looking the town.

Springfield is the centre of a large
inland and river commerce

;
its natu-

ral and artificial advantages render-

ing it one of the most important com-
mercial depots on Connecticut river.

Being nearly equi-distant on the line of
the western railroad from Boston and

Albany, and the terminus of the New
Haven, Hartford, and Springfield rail-

road, which is about being extended to

New York
;
and also of the Springfield

and Northampton railroad, which is in

progress of completion to Greenfield,
and will doubtless, in time, be extend-
ed much farther up the Connecticut

valley, and even to Montreal, in Can-
ada. During the season of naviga-
tion, steamboats for the transportation
of passengers ply betw-een this place
and Hartford, and freight boats to and
from towns both above and below.

There are in the towm twenty
churches

;
six Congregational, one

Unitarian Congregational, one Epis-

copal, four Methodist Episcopal, tw^o

Wesleyan IMelhodists, three Baptists,
two Universalists, and one Roman
Catholic

;
three banks, the Spring-

field, Chickopee, and Cabotville
;

five

weekly papers are published here, the

Republican, Gazette, Post, Washing-
tonian, and Chronicle, and one daily,
the Republican.
The United States Armory, the

largest and most important of the

kind in the Union, is situated here.

The principal buildingg are on elevated

ground, about half a mile from Main
street. They are built of brick, and
are handsomely arranged around a

square, presenting a fine appearance.
From twelve thousand to fifteen thou-

sand muskets are annually manufac-
tured

;
and one hundred and fifty

thousand are stored in the arsenals

connected with the establishment.
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About two Imndred and fifty men are

constantly employed in the various

branches of manu lac tu re.

Springfield abounds in excellent

water-power ;
that of the Chickopee

alone, within the limits of the town, it

has been ascertained, is fully equal to

that of the IMcrrimack at Lowell
;
not

half of which is yet occupied. And
in manufacturing importance, Spring-
field is second only to Lowell iu New
England.
On Mill river are extensive paper,

cotton, and iron casting manufactures,
mills, and mechanical establishments.

Also machine shops connected with
the United States armory.

Cabotvi He, three miles north from
the railroad depot, on the Chickopee
river, is a large manufacturing vil-

lage. Three cotton manufacturing-

companies are established here
;

the

Cabot, Perkins, and Dwight, with a

capital of one million seven hundred
thousand dollars in all, and seven mills,

running fifty-three thousand spindles,
with an annual consumption of twelve
thousand bales of cotton, and a man-
ufacture of sixteen million yards of

cloth, giving employment to fifteen

hundred operatives. Also the Ames
Company are largely engaged in the

manufacture of swords, brass cannon,
bells, machinery, and cutlery. This
is the only place in the country where

any considerable business is carried

on in the manufacture of swords.
The whole process, from the forging
of the blade to the most exquisite fin-

ish, being done within the establish-

ment.

Chickopee Falls, a mile and a half
farther up the Chickopee, is another
considerable manufacturing village.
The Chickopee company is established

here, with a capital of seven hundred
thousand dollars, having four mills,

running twenty-two thousand five

hundred and forty-four spindles, with
an annual consumption of five thou-
sand bales of cotton, and a manufac-
ture of six million five hundred thou-
sand yards of cloth, giving employ-
ment to eight hundred operatives.
There are also in the place extensive
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manufactures of paper, iron castings,
carbines and pistols, machinery, &.c.

Springfield was settled in ItiLio, then

called Agaivam, its Indian name.
William fynchon, Esq., who may be

considered as the father of the town,
with others, under the authority of the

general court of Massachusetts, re-

moved from Roxbury, and commenced
building a house on the west side of

the river. Being informed by some

friendly Indians that the house would
be exposed to the Hood, they aban-
doned it, and erected another on the

east side.

In lt540, the name of the town was

changed from Agawam to Springfield.
Some uncertainty exists as to the date

of its incorporation ;
most probably,

however, it was in 1641. Its limits,

by various purchases from the natives

and grants from the legislature, he-

came very extensive, embracing a
tract nearly twenty-five miles square,

including many of the present sur-

rounding towns on each side of the

river.

For forty years after the commence-
iiieiit of the settlement, the inhabitants

lived in peace with the surrounding
Indian tribes. • During

"
King Phil-

ip's war," Springfield suffered with

the other settlements. On the 5th of

October, ltJ75, an attack was made on
the town by three hundred warriors.

Three men and one woman were
killed, and thirty dwelling-houses and

twenty-five barns were destroyed.

During the Massachusetts insurrec-

tion, in 1786, Springfield was in part
the theatre of the movements of the

insurgents. On the 20th of Decem-

ber, Shays marched into the town
with about three hundred malcontents,
and took possession of the court-house,
and prevented the sitting of the court

appointed to be holden at that time.

In the January following an attempt
was made to take possession of the

United States arsenal. Shays, at

the head of eleven hundred men,
marched forward for this purpose.
General Shepard, who. with a con-

siderable force, had taken post near
the arsenal, for its defence, sent word
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to tnc insurgents to discontinue their

approach. No regard being paid to

this request, they were fired upon by
Shepard, and three men were killed,
and one wounded

; whereupon the

whole body were thrown into confu-

sion, and precipitately retreated.

Since then, the town has rapidly
increased. In 1791, the population
was 1,574 ;

in 1810, 2,767 ;
in 1820,

3,914; in 1830, 6,784; in 1840,

10,985 ;
and in 1845, 14,703.

At the November election in 1844,
the whole number of votes cast, was
two thousand four hundred and nine,

exceeding in amount, the entire pop-
nlation in 1800.

STERUXG.

"VVokcesterCo. This was for many
years the second parish of Lancaster,
and was first settled as early as 1720.

Its Indian name was Chockset. At its

incorporation, in 1781, it was named
in honor of Lord Sterling, of New Jer-

sey, an American general.

Sterling is a large town, bounded on
the north by Leominster, east by Lan-

caster, south by West Boylston, and
west by Princeton.

The surface of the town is hilly
and uneven, but there is very little

broken or waste land in it. The soil

is fertile, producing in rich abundance,
to repay the husbandman for its culti-

vation. The land is naturally moist,
and by the help of the rivulets, the

water may be turned over the sides

of most of the hills. There is but one
river in the town, called Still river,
from the placid motion of the waters.

In the central part of the town, there

is an uncommonly beautiful little vil-

lage, consisting of a number of church-

es, and about forty dwelling-houses.
The manufactures of the town con-

sist of leather, boots, shoes, palm-leaf
hats, straw bonnets, scythe snaths,
and especially of chairs and cabinet-

ware, of which a large amount is an-

nually made.
There are in this town many large

and well cultivated farms, and the

people generally are good farmers.

and find the business both healthful
and lucrative.

A church was gathered here in

1744, and the Rev. John Mellen wa,s

settled as pastor the same year. He
was succeeded by the Rev. Reuben
Holcomb, in 1779.

Sterling lies twelve miles north
from Worcester, ten south south-west
from the Shirley depot, on the Fitch-

burg railroad, and forty west by north
from Boston.

STOCKBRIDGE.

Berkshire Co.
^ The surface of this

town is exceedingly varied, from tall

and majestic mountains to deep and

lovely valle5fs. The soil in the valleys
is rich, and produces great crops of

grain and hay, and the higher grounds
afford the sweetest pasturage. Its

water-power is large and very exten-
sive.

Stockbridge mountain lies at the

west, and Monument mountain at the

south part of the town, and in the

south-east corner the Beartown moun-
tains rise. On the height of the north-

west spur of these mountains, is a

very narrow and deep ravine, per-

haps a quarter of a mile long, where
the rocks of every size and form, are

thrown together in the wildest confu-

sion. This is called the "Ice Hole,"
from the fact that ice remains in this

chaos through the year.
On the east side of the town, and

wholly within its limits, is Rattlesnake

mountain, about two miles in length,
and capable of cultivation in most

places to nearly its summit. This is

one of the very few single mountain
elevations in New England.
The Housatonic enters the town

from Lee, along the northern base of

the Beartown mountains, and takes
first a western, then a northern, then

again a western, and then a southern

direction, passing round Monument
mountain into Great Barrington. Its

windings are many, and extensive
meadows he on its borders.

This receives Konkapot brook, a

sluggish stream, from the south, and
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Barnain's brook, Great pond brook,
iind Mohawk brook, from the north.

There are a number of large and
oeauiifiil ponds in the town, which
serve to swell the Housatonic.

The manufactures of the town con-

sist of cotton and woollen go(Kis, pig

iron, iron castings, leather, machinery
for boring iron and wood, chairs,

boots, shoes, &c.
;
annual value about

five hundred thousand dollars.

The ministry of the gospel com-
menced in this town, by the establish-

ment of a mission church for the

Indians, by the Board of Commission-
ers for Indian Affairs, in Boston, in

the year 1734
;

and perhaps there

never were more faithful and success-

ful pioneers in this glorious work.

From time to time, individuals from

English families were united to the

church, until the English professors
became the most numerous.

Succession of the Clergy of the
First Church.

Rev. Set. JE.

John Sergeant, 173.5, died 1749, 39.

Jona. Edwards, 1751, died 1758, 51.

S. West, D. D., 1759, died 1819, 83.

E. G. Swift, 1810, dis. 1818.

David D. Field, 1819.

Near the centre of the town is a

delightful village, situated on an ele-

vated plain, between the river and
what the Berkshire people modestly
call the "Hill," but which the "down
casters" would term a mountain. In
this village are a number of beautiful

buildings, both for public uses and pri-
vate dwellings. Most of them are on
a broad street, running from east to

west, and lined on each side with
trees. Here, one can but stop to ad-

mire the works of nature in her
boldest and softest exhibitions, united
to the beauties which civilization and
refinement have mingled with her
charms.

This village lies about seven miles
south-east from the depot of the west-
ern railroad at West Slockbridge,
from which it is eleven miles to Pitts-

field, and one hundred and sixty-two

to Boston. To Pittsfield, by the old

road through Lenox, is about twelve

miles north.

Stockbridge Indians. This town-

ship was granted to the River or Hous-
atonic Indians in 1734, and in 1739,
the settlement called "Indian Town"
was incorporated by its present name,
from a town in England; and from

that time to the present, the people of

this tribe have been called the " Stock-

bridge Indians."

The Indian name of the place was

Mnfihekaneervs, signifying, as they say,
" the people of the great waters, con-

tinually in motion."
" Their history, as derived from the

traditions of their ancestors, by one
of the tiibe," says President Dwight,
"is summarily the following:—

"
They came from a distant coun-

try, west by north
;

i. e., a country

lying in that direction from Stock-

bridge ;
crossed over the great waters

which separate that country from this,

and after a series of pilgrimages, ar-

rived on the borders of Hudson's river.

Here they settled, and spread through
the neighboring country. Their an-

cestors, they say, were much more
civilized than their descendants

;
lived

in towns and villages, and were very
numerous

; but, being dispersed by a

famine, they were obliged to seek for

subsistence in distant regions. In the

progress, they lost their arts and man-
ners

;
or in the language of the histo-

rian, 'apostatized.' Before they be-

gan sensibly to diminish, they could

furnish, on any emergency, a thou-

sand warriors
;
and of course consist-

ed of about four or five thousand per-
sons

; probably, however, not more
than four thousand."
A particular history of this people

would be deeply interesting ;
as a

tribe, they were peaceable, tractable,
and intelligent ;

ever friendly to the

people of the United States, and nevci

guilty of an act of hostility towards
one of its citizens. They remained
in this town until after fighting the bat-

tles of the revolution, when they be-

gan, in 1783, to emigrate to the coun-

ty of Oneida, in the state of New



2S0 GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS.

York, where the Oneida Indians had

given them a township. Having sold

their lands in Stockbridge in 1768,

they had all, in number about four

hundred, reached their new homes,
which they called New Stockbridge.
After remaining in New York thirty-
four years, they removed to Wiscon-

sin, where they tarried in another
New Stockbridge seventeen years.

They then ceded their lands to the

government, and now the greater part
of this tribe reside near Fort Leaven-

worth, on the western bank of the

Missouri, where, it is said, they are

quite civilized, and still retain the

good impressions acquired by the ex-

ample and precepts of their faithful

missionaries. They however live in

constant dread of the influence of the

white man's star, which is continually
gliding westward. The sentiment of
the poet is ever in their minds :

—
"They waste U3—aye, like April snow

In the warm noon, we shrink away;
And fast they follow, as we go
Towards the seltini: day,—

Till they shall fill tlie land, and we
Are driven into tiie western sea."

STONEHAM.

Middlesex Co. The territory of
this town comprised the north part of

Charlestown until its incorporation, in

1725. It is bounded north by Read-

ing, east by Saugus, south by Med-
ford, and west by Woburn.

There is some good land in Stone-

ham, and the soil is generally of a

gravelly loam, but it is too rough and

stony for easy cultivation. The man-
ufacture of shoes is much pursued in

this town, and large quantities are

made.

Spot pond, a beautiful sheet of wa-

ter, covering an area of two hundred
and eighty-three acres, lies in this

town. Its southern edge is on the

line of Medtbrd. It is one hundred
and forty-three feet above sea-level.

Stoneham lies nine miles north from

Boston, ten west south-west from Sa-

lem, and about two miles east from
the Boston and Lowell railroad at

Woliurn.

STOUGHTOIV.

Norfolk Co. This town was origi-

nally a part of Dorchester, and was
named in honor of William Stoughton,
lieutenant-governor of the province
of Massachusetts Bay, from 1692 to

1702. The town of Stoughton was
incorporated in 1726, and at that time
included within its limits the present
towns of Canton, Sharon, Stoughton,
and the largest portion of Foxborough.
Some of the head-waters of Neponset
and Taunton rivers rise in this town.
The records of the proprietors of
Dorchester Swamp, (situated in this

town,) were, by a resolve of the gene-
ral court, ordered to be deposited in

the Registry of Deeds for the county
of Norfolk. They consist of surveys
of lots of land made by Mr. Blake,
more than a century ago, interspersed
with scraps of original poetry and
other curious matters.

The highest land in the town is a
hill called the "

Pinnacle," the sum-
mit of which commands an extensive

view, including Boston harbor.

There are a woollen and two cotton

mills in the town, and manufactures
of boots, shoes, shoe-tools, and boot-

forms
;

total value of manufactures
the year ending April 1, 1837, exclu-

sive of cotton goods, five hundred and

twenty-five thousand nine hundred
and forty dollars

;
of which four hun-

dred and eighty-seven thousand three

hundred and ninety dollars were for

boots and shoes. The number of per-
sons employed in manufactures was
nine hundred and twenty. The busi-

ness of manufacturing boots and shoes

has probably doubled since 1837.

A large village of shoe manufac-
turers has, within a few years,
"
sprung up as if by enchantment."

There are in the town five houses of

public worship, and a spacious and
commodious town house.

The Stoughton Branch Railroad

Company, chartered in 1844, have

completed a railroad from the village
above named to the Canton depot of

the Boston and Providence railroad
;

distance about four miles; cost of

rond about eighty tliousnnd dollars
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Tnis town lies eighteen miles south

from Boston, and ten south-east from
Dednam

STOW.
Middlesex Co. This is an ancient

town. It was first settled about the

year 1650. The Indians had two
names for it, from two hills

;
Pom-

pascitticutt and Shahhukin. It is bound-
ed north by Boxborough and Acton,
east by Sudbury, south by Marlbo-

rough, and west by Bolton.

The surface of the town is varied

by hill and vale
;

the soil in many
parts is light and sandy ;

but it con-

tains much good land for cultivation
;

hops are raised here in large quanti-

ties, and some of the product of the

dairy is sent to market.
The Assabet river passes through the

town, and affords a good water-power.
The manufactures of the town consist

Df woollen goods, leather, boots, shoes,
straw bonnets, palm -leaf hats, &c.

Stow lies eight miles west south-

west from Concord, and three miles

from the Fitchburg railroad at Acton,
which is twenty-five miles from Boston.

STURBRIDGE.

Worcester Co. This town was

formerly called Tantuesque by the In-

dians, and New Medfield by the Eng-
lish. It is bounded north by Brook-

field, and south by the state of Con-
necticut.

This is a very pleasant town, and
is well watered by Quinebaug river.

The surface of the town is uneven
and hilly, and the soil hard to sub-

due
;
but it has become productive, by

good management, of excellent crops.
There are some good fish ponds in the

town, which serve to swell the Quine-
baug.

There are five cotton mills in Stur-

bridge, and manufactures of boots,

shoes, leather, chairs, cabinet-ware

clothing, ])alm-leaf hats, trunks, har-

nesses, chairs, wagons, sleighs, pocket

rifles, bitts and augers ;
annual vahie

about two hundred thousand dollars.

Sturbridge lies eighteen miles south-

west from Worcester, sixty west south-

west from Boston, and about seven
miles south of the western railroad at

Brookfield.

SUDBURY.

Middlesex Co. This ancient town
is situated on the west side of a river

of the same name. It is watered by
a small stream, a branch of Sudbury
river, and has some water-power.
There is a paper mill in the town, a

plough factory, and manufactures of

boots, shoes, &c.
The surface of the town is plesisant,

and rather romantic. The river di-

vides it from Wayland. Along the

borders of this river are large tracts

of low meadow laud, some of which is

very valuable.

Sudbury was first settled in 1633.

In 1676, about seventy men, on their

march for the relief of Marlborough,
fell into an ambuscade with the In-

dians
; twenty-six of the English were

left dead on the field
;

the residue

were captured, and many of them af-

terwards tortured and slain. West
of Sudbury causeway, is a monument
erected to their memory, by President

Wadsworth, of Harvard College, a
son of the captain of the band.

Sudbury lies nineteen miles west
from Boston, six south south-west
from Concord, and eight north from
the Worcester railroad at Framing,
ham.

SUFFOLK COUNTY.

See Boston and Chelsea. Also, State Tables.

24*
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SUNDER.LAND.
Franklin Co. This town lies on

the east side of Connecticut river,

ninety miles west from Boston, and
nine south by east from Greenfield.

It was taken from Hadley in 1718.

The cenlral village of Sunderland

is pleasantly situated on a fine inter-

vale of land on the east bank of Con-

necticut river. It consists of about

fifty dwelling-houses and a Congrega-
tional church. The village street is

about three fourths of a mile in e.Ktent.

The North village is about three

miles from the centre, and contains

about fifteen or twenty dwellings and
a Baptist church. Plum Tree village
is three miles south, and is about the

size of the north village. At the cen-

tral village there is a bridge over the

Connecticut, eight hundred and fifty-

eight feet in length ;
it was built in

1832, at an expense of twenty thou-

sand dollars. The village is hand-

somely built, and the scenery in the

vicinity is uncommonly interesting ;

the Sugar-loaf mountain rises at about

half a mile's distance, on the western

bank of the river, in solitary and strik-

ing grandeur ;
while Mount Toby rises

to the eastward.

Mount Toby is a sand-stone moun-

tain, elevated about a thousand feet

above Connecticut river, and lies part-

ly in Sunderland and
partly

in Lever-

ett, and is almost covered with forests.

On the north-west side of this moun-

tain, in the north part of Sunderland,
are a cave and fissure which have at-

tracted some attention. This moun-
tain is composed of pudding-stone,
and the small stones within it are

round and smooth, as though washed

by the ocean
; they are of various

sizes, and of every color. On one

side of this mountain is a cavern be-

tween fifty and sixty feet in depth,
and one hundred and forty-eight feet

in length ;
and other ruptures seem

to indicate some great change in this

tnountain since its formation.

The people of this town enjoy a fine

display of grand and lovely scenery ;

they are generally good farmers, and
noted for their good schools and phi-

lanthropic dispositions

SUTTOX.
WoKCESTER Co. The territory of

this town was purchased of the In-

dians about the year 1704. It is

botmded north by Blillbury and Graf-

ton, east by Northbridge, south by
Douglass, and west by Oxford.

This is a pleasant town, and exten-

sively engaged in manufacturing. It

is watered by the Blackstone river, and
the Blackstone canal passes on the

northern border. The township is

generally hilly, though of good soil.

It contains soap-stone, and excellent

granite for building.
The manufactures of Sutton consist

of cotton and woollen goods, machin-

ery of various kinds, sc)'thes, boots,

shoes, &c.
; amounting annually to

about half a million of dollars.

There are a number of neat and
handsome villages in the town

;
that

near the centre, Wilkinsonville, at

the north part of the town, and Man-
chaug, at the south, are the principal.
There are a number of beautiful ponds
in Sutton, and a great curiosity, called

"Purgatory Cavern." This cavern is

a fissure in gneiss, nearly half a mile

long, in most parts partially filled by
the masses of rock that have been de-

tached from the walls. The sides are

often perpendicular, and sometimes

seventy feet high, being separated
from each other about fifty feet.

The first church in Sutton was

organized in the fall of 1720, and Eev.
John McKinstry ordained their pastor.
He was a native of Scotland, and was
there educated. He was dismissed in

1728, and was succeeded the next year
by Rev. David Hall, D. D., who, after

a life of usefulness, died 1789. He
was succeeded by Kev. Edmund Mills,
in 1790. The next pastor. Rev. John

jMaltby, was ordained in 1826. His

successor. Rev. Hiram Tracy, was
ordained in 1835. The second parish
in Sutton was incorporated by the

legislature in 1743. Rev. James Wel-
man was their first pastor, ordained

in 1747. The first Baptist society in

the town was formed in 1785, and
Rev. Benjamin Blarsh was oriained
their elder. Of the Baptist "^ciety in

the south-east part of the town, Elder



GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS. 283

William Bachelder was the first pas-
tor, ordained in 1792.

The centre village in Sutton lies

nine miles south by east from Wor-
cester, forty miles west south-west
from Boston, three south-west from

Wilkinsonville, lour north from ]Man-

chauj, and about five miles east from
the Worcester and Norwich railroad

at Oxford.

SVVAXSEV.

Bristox, Co. The name of this

town was originally spelt Swansea,
from a town in Wales. Its Indian
name was Pockauocket.

This town is bounded north by Re-
hoboth and Dighton, east by Somer-

set, and south south-west and w est by
iMoant Hope Bay, Warren and Bar-

rington, Rhode Island.

Between Lee's and Cole's rivers,
two arms of Mount Hope Bay, lies

JIattapoiset Neck, about three miles
in length, at the head of which is

Swaiisey village, a place of considera-

ble trade and navigation. This town
IS favored with good navigable wa-
ters, and an hydraulic power. Ship-
building is carried on here to some
extent, and here too are manufactures
of cotton and woollen goods, paper,
and many articles for domestic use.

This is an interesting town, and
will be memorable on account of its

being the place where the first Eng-
lish blood was shed in "

King Philip's
War.'' Philip having laid his ))lans
for the extermination of the English,
his warriors were so impatient, that

he was obliged to promise Ihem that

on the next Lord's day, when the

English were gone to meeting, they
should rifle their houses and kill their

cattle. Accordingly, on Sunday, June
2i)ih, 1(375, he permitted his men to

march out into the neighborhood of

Swansey, and to annoy the English
by killing their cattle, thus hoping to

provoke them to commence the at-

tack
;

for it is said a superstitious
opinion prevailed among them, that
the side whirh did the first execution
would finally be conquered. Th.; In-
Jians were so insolent ia their deport-

ment and language, that an English-
man was so provoked that he fired

upon one of them and wounded him.

This, according to Mr. Hubbard, in

his " Indian Wars," was the first gun
fired. According to tradition, this In-

dian who was wounded, after killing
a number of cattle in the field, went
into the man's house and demanded
liquor ; being refused, he attempted
to take it by violence, and at the same
time threatened revenge ;

this caused
the Englishman to fire upon him. The
Indians upon this commenced open
war.

To as late a date as 1840, this town
had been without a church of the Con-

gregational order. In 1()19, Obadiah
Holmes and others, of that part of Ke-
hoboth now a part of Swansey, hav-

ing embraced the Baptist sentiments,
withdrew from the Congregational
church, and set up a separate meet-

ing of their own. The attempt to

break them up, and the persecution

they received, increased the number
of Baptists. In 1663, they were much
strengthened by the arrival of Rev.
John 3Iyles, with part of his church,
which he had formed at Wales, whence
he had been ejected for non-conform-

ity. In the year of his arrival, IMr.

Myles formed a Baptist church in

Rehoboth, now Swansey, it being the

fourth formed in America.
These and subsequent proceedings

were deemed such an evil by the rest

of the inhabitants of the town, and of
the colony generally, that the court of

Plymouth was called on to interfere.

Each member of this new church was
fined five pounds, prohibited from

wor.^hip for the space of one month,
and they were advised to remove from
Rehoboth to some place where they
might not prejudice any existing
church. They accordingly removed
to Barrington, Rhode Island.

There are now three or four Baptist
churches in Swansey, and a Union

meeeting-house, where all denomina-
tions of Christians have the privilege
to worship.
Swansey lies four miles north-west

from Fall River, thirteen south by
west from Taunton, forty-eight soulH
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from Boston, and thirteen miles south-

east from Providence, Rhode Island.

TAUNT03V.

Bristol Co. This very beautiful

town, one of the shire towns of the

county, was incorporated in 1639, and
made the county town in 1746. It

was named for a town in England,
from which some of the first settlers

came. Its Indian name was Cohannet.

About the period of its settlement,
Miss Elizabeth Pool, a lady of family
and fortune, from Taunton, in Som-

ersetshire, England, conceived the

bold design of occupying the territory
of Cohannet. It appears that an ar-

dent desire of planting another church
in the American wilderness, induced

this pious puritan lady to encounter

all the dangers and hardships of form-

ing a settlement in the midst of the

Indians. She died in 1634, and her

kinsman placed over her grave a

stone with an inscription which com-
memorates her virtues.

In Lechford's pamphlet, entitled

"News from New England," pub-
lished in London in 1642, is the fol-

lowing :
—

"
Cohannet, alias Taunton, is in

Plymouth patent. There is a church

gathered of late, and some ten or

twenty of the church, the rest exclud-

ed
;
Master Hooke, pastor ;

Master

Street, teacher. Master Hooke re-

ceived ordination from the hands of

one Master Bishop, a school-master,
and one Parker, a husbandman, and
then Master Hooke joyned in ordain-

ing Master Street. One Master Dough-
ty, a minister, opposed the gathering
of the church there, alleging that ac-

cording to the covenant of Abraham,
all men's childien that were of bap-
tized parents, and so Abraham's chil-

dren, ought to be baptized ;
and spoke

so in publique, or to that effect, which
was held a disturbance, and the min-
ister spake to the magistrate to order
him

;
the magistrate commanded the

constable, who dragged blaster Dough-
ty out of the assembly. He was forced

to go away from thence with his wife

and children."

Taunton is situated at the junction
of Mill river with the Taunton, and

possesses an admirable water-power.
Mill river is formed of severa-

streams which rise in the northern

part of the county, and Scaddings pond,
in the north part of the town. Taun-
ton river, the Tetiquet of the Indians,
rises in the county of Plymouth, and
falls into Mount Hope Bay. The
Taunton and its branches water the

towns of Abington, Hanson, Halifax,
and Plympton, all the Bridgewaters,
Raynham, Taunton, Berkley, Dighton,
Freetown, Fall River, and Somerset.

It is navigable to Taunton, for small

vessels, and with its contemplated
improvement, steamboats will be en-

abled to run to Taunton, and thus be-

come another channel of conveyance
between Boston and New York. This
river is celebrated for the great and

widely distributed water-power it pro-

duces, and for the multitude of ale-

wives within its waters.

There is some excellent land in the

town, under a high state of cultiva-

tion
;
but the attention of the people

is turned rather to manufacturing
than to agricultural pursuits. There
are in the town a large number of

cotton mills, print works, paper mills,
nail factories, forge, furnace, &c.
Here are also manufactures of leather,

boots, shoes, hats, chairs, straw bon-

nets, books, bricks, vessels, &c.
;
the

annual value of which, as early as

1836, was about a million and a half
of dollars, since which, every branch
of manufacture has gi-eatly increased.

There is some navigation owned in

this town, which is employed in the
coastwise trade and domestic fishery.
The manufacture of Britannia ware

at this place, is of recent origin in
this country, and proves successful.

The articles manufactured, are tea-

sets, castors, urns, and all the varie-

ties of that description of ware. The
quaUty of the metal, and beauty of
the polish of this w-are, is said to equal
any imported from " Britannia."

The village in the centre of the
town contains a large number of
handsome public and private build-

ings, tastefully located around a beau-
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tilul enclosure, called " Taunton
Green." This public walk is orna-
mented with trees, which heightens
the beauty of this delightful village.
There are a number of beautiful

ponds in the town, and some high
grounds, from which delightful pros-

pects are obtained
;
but in the neat

and flourishing villages scattered

along on the banks of its rivers is an
intrinsic charm blended with the nat-

ural beauties of the town. This place
has long attracted the attention of
skilful mechanics and men of wealth,
and is fast filling up.
The Mount Pleasa.nt Cemetery,

near " Taunton Green," is on a spot
of ground of diversified surface, and
laid out with much taste and judg-
ment, on the plan of that of Mount
Auburn, near Boston. In this ceme-

tery the ladies of Taunton have erect-

ed a chaste and beautiful marble
monument to the memory of Miss
Poole. The following is the ancient

inscription on her tomb-stone :
—

" Here rest the remains of Elizabeth

Poole, a native of Old England, of

good family, friends, and prospects,
all of which she left in the prime of
her life, to enjoy the religion of her
conscience in this distant wilderness

;

a great proprietor of the township of

Taunton, a chief promoter of its set-

tlement, and its incorporation in 1639—40; about which time she settled

near this spot, and having employed
the opportunity of her virgin state in

piety, liberality, and sanctity of man-

ners, died May 21, IGG-l, aged 65."

Taunton is approached from all

points with great facility, by the

(lilferent lines of railroads connected
with that of the Taunton and New
Bedford, which passes through the

town. The village of " Taunton
Green "

lies thirty-five miles south
from Boston, twenty north north-west
from New Bedford, seventeen north

by east from Fall River, and twenty-
eight east by north from Providence.

Plymouth, by the old road, lies twen-

ty-eight miles east by nnrih from
Taunton

TEMPLETOX.
Worcester Co. This is a fine

farming town, with a pleasant sur-

face, and fertile soil. It is bounded
north by Winchendon, east by Gard-

ner, south by Hubbardston, and west

by Phillipston. It lies twenty-six
miles north-west from Worcester, fif-

teen west by south from Fitchburg ;

from which to Boston is fifty miles.
The railroad from Boston to Vermont
passes through the town.

Templeton is somewhat elevated,
and sends branches both to Miller's
river on its north, and to the Chicko-

pee on its south. These streams af-

ford the town a constant and valuable

water-power, which is rapidly im-

proving for manufacturing purposes.
Along the streams are fine intervales,
and the town is well sui)plied with all

the varieties of woods lor timber and
fuel.

There are a number of pleasant vil-

lages in the town
;

that in the centre
is very handsome. BaldwiiisviUe and
Dedmunsville, two neat and flourish-

ing manufacturing villages, of recent

growth, are situated at the north part
of tiie town, on Otter river, a branch
of the Miller's. These villages, with
their water-power and easy communi-
cation with Boston by railroad, give
to them great promise of increase.
The value of goods manufactured in
this town nine years ago, amounted
to one hundred and fifty thousand
dollars

;
since that time the amount is

greatly enhanced. The articles man-
ufactured at that time consisted of
woollen goods, boots, shoes, leather,
iron castings, shovels, hoes, spades,
forks, palm-leaf hats, chairs, carriages,

cabinet, tin, and wooden wares. This
town sends to market a large amount
of the fruits of the soil.

The first church was gathered here
in 1755, and Rev. Daniel Pond was
ordained pastor. He was dismissed
in 1759, and succeeded by Rev. Ebe-
nezer Sparhawk in 1761. The next

minister, Rev. Charles Wellington,
was ordained in 1807. Rev. Lemuel
P. Bates was installed pastor ot the

second church in 1833. He was suc-

ceeded by Rev. Lewis Sabin, in 1837
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TEWKSBURY.

MiDPLESEX Co. Tewksbury was

formerly aa Indian village, a part of

Billerica, and called Wcwiesitt. It is

bounded northerly by Belvidere, a

part of Lowell
;
north-east by Ando-

ver, south-east by Wilmington, south

by Billerica, and west by Concord

river, which divides it from Chelms-
ford and Lowell. The centre of the

town lies five miles south-east from

Lowell, and twenty north north-west

from Boston. The Boston and Lowell
railroad passes through the south-

western corner of the town, about two
miles south-west of the centre village.
The surface of this town is rather

level, with a thin soil, better adapted
to the growth of hops and rye than
other crops.
The first settled minister in Tewks-

bury was the Rev. Sampson Spauld-
ing, in 1737

;
the second, the Rev.

Titus T. Barton, in 1792; the third,
the Rev. Jacob Coggin, in 1806.

TISBURY.

Dukes Co. This is the central of

the three towns on the island of Mar-
tha's Vineyard. It extends from

Vineyard Sound on the north, to the

sea on the south, and has Edgartown
on the east, and Chilmark on the west.

The noted harbor of " Holmes'

Hole," in this town, is on Vineyard
Sound. This harbor is large and safe,
and of a sufficient depth of water for

the largest merchantmen. It is much
frequented by vessels passing through
Vineyard Sound, particularly when
the winds are contrary. The village
at this harbor is pleasant, large, and

quite a place of business. A number
of vessels belong here engaged in va-
rious nautical pursuits. Good and
faithful pilots reside here, to assist the

inexperienced navigator in his pas-
sage along this dangerous coast.

There are some highlands near the

harbor, but the town is generally level.

There is much good land in the town,
in a state of cultivation, some that

is covered with wood, and some that

is low and swampy. In common

with the neighboring towns of Ed-
gartown and Chilmark, this town pos-
sesses much delightful marine scene-

ry. There are some manufactures
in the town of salt, leather, boots,

shoes, hats, &c. Some articles of

agricultural products are sent from
the island beside large quantities of

wool.

Lagoon lake or pond communicates
with Holmes' Hole by an openmg
which is only four rods wide and
seven feet deep at high water. It is

supposed formerly to have been wider
and deeper, and to have been a part
of the harbor. The pond is three

miles in length and one mile in width,
and in several places forty feet in

depth.
Newtown pond, in the south part of

Tisbury, is a mile and a half long, and
has a natural communication with the

sea, through which the tide rises and
falls. The largest brooks in the island

empty into the head of this pond, not

more than one hundred rods apart, one

running from the west and one I'roin

the north-west. On the easterly side

of this pond are a number of deep
coves, around which is much marshy
land.

The wells in this town, and in

other parts of the island, are not deep,
the water in them being on a level

with the sea. The common depth is

from fifteen to twenty feet. The wa-
ter in them is soft, and of a good
quality, and will wash as well as rain

water.

Rev. John Mayhew began to preach
at Tisbury in 1673, but was not ordain-

ed. Rev. Josiah Torrey was ordained
in 1701

;
Rev. Nathaniel Hancock in

1727
;
Rev. George Damon in 1760,

and was dismissed about 1779. Rev.
Asa Blorse was installed in 1784, and
dismissed at his request in 1799. He
was succeeded in 1801, by Rev. Nym-
phas Hatch.

" Holmes' Hole "
village lies eight

miles north-west from Edgartown, six

miles south-east from Woods' Hole,

twenty-two east south-east from New
Bedford, and seventy-seven south
south-east IVom Boston. Across the

sound to Falmouth is about six miles
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TOLL.VXD.

Hampden Co. This town was taken
from Granville and Sandisfield, in

It^lO. The territory was formerly
called Southfield. It is bounded north

by Otis and Blandford, east by Gran-

vdle, south by Colebrook, Connecti-

cut, and west by Sandisfield.

This township is on elevated land,
which is adapted for grazing. Con-
siilerablc quantities of butter and
cheese are produced. It is watered

by Farmington river, the western

boundary of the town, which is here
a beautiful and lively stream.
The Rev. Roger Harrison was or-

dained here in 1798, and resigned in

1S22. He was succeeded by Rev. Ben-
net F. Northrop, in 1827, who resigned
the next year. The celebrated mis-

sionary, Gordon Hall, was a native of
this town.

Tolland has a neat village in the
centre of the town, and a new one
has sprung up on the border of the

river, called Xew Boston. These vil-

li ges are nearly four miles apart.
The centre village lies twenty-two
miles west from Springfield, one hun-
dred and twenty west south-west from
Boston, and fifteen from Westfield

depot.

TOPSFIELD.
Essex Co. Before the incorpora-

tion of this town, in 1650, it was called

by the Indians Sherveenemeadi/, and
by the whites. New Meadows.

This is a very pleasant town,
watered by Ipswich river and its

branches. The surface is agreeably
diversified by hills and valleys. There
are some fine "tracts of intervale in

the town, and the uplands possess a

strong soil, rendered productive by
industrious and skilful farmers.
The principal manufacture is that

of boots and shoes, in whioh about

eight hundred hands are employed,
making annually a very large amount.

This town lies twenty-one miles
north by east from Boston, and nine
north by west from Salem. The cen-
tre village is about four miles west

from the depot at Hamilton, on the

eastern railroad.

Topsfield was first settled about the

year 1()12. Among the names of the
first settlers were Peabody, Perkins,
Clark, Cummings, Bradstreet, Gould,
Town, Easty, Smith, and Wildes

;

many of whose descendants now cul-

tivate the soil of their progenitors.

TOAVXSEX^D.

Middlesex Co. This town was
formerly a part of "Turkey Hills,"
or Fitchburg, and was called North
Town. A church was gathered here
October 16, 1734, and the Rev. Phin-
ehas Hemenway was settled the same
day.
Townsend is bounded north by Ma-

son and Brookline, New Hampshire ;

east by Pepperell, south by Lunen-
burg, and west by Ashby.
The surface of this town is gener-

ally level
;
there is a good deal of pine

plain in the town, particularly in that

part of it through which the great
road passes. These plain lands, how-
ever, produce good crops of grain,
while the higher lands afford good
crops of hay and rich pasturage.
The Squanicook, a good mill stream,

rises in this town, and joins the Nashua
in Shirley. On this stream, at the

eastern part of the town, is a plea-

sant, flourishing little village, called
" Townsend Harbor," where some
manufacturing operations are per-
formed.
About four miles west from Towns-

end Harbor is the west village, a very
pleasant place, and a site of consider-

able trade with the surrounding coun-

try. Among a number of handsome

buildings in this village, is one deV'oted

to the improvement of the female

mind, a well conducted Female Semi-

nary, a rich ornament to any town or

village. This seminary went into

operation in 1835. It has proved
highly successful. Its number of stu-

dents is about one hundred and fifty.

At Centreville, a neat village about

equi-distant from the other, is an acad-

emy for youth of both sexes.
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The manufactures of Townsend
consist of leather, palm-leaf hats,

boots, shoes, ploughs, straw bonnets,
fish barrels, nail kegs, dry casks, &cc.

Townsend west village lies twenty-
five miles north-west from Concord,
eight north north-east from Fitchburg,
and forty-two north-west from Boston.

TRURO.
Barnstable Co. Truro lies on both

sides of Cape Cod, between Wellfleet

and Provincetown. It was the Pamet
of the Indians. Pamet river, which
sets up from Cape Cod Bay, about
the-centre of the town, affords a good
harbor for fishermen

;
it lies about

nine miles south-east from Province-
town harbor.

There is in this town, near the light-

house, a vast body of clay, called ihe
"
Clay Pounds," which seems provi-

dentially placed in the midst of sand

hills, for the preservation of this part
of the cape. There are also in the

town a number of beautiful ponds,
and two hundred acres of peat land.

Although there is but little vegeta-
tion at Truro, and the people are de-

pendent almost entirely for most of
their food on other places : yet there
are but few towns in the state where
the people are more flourishing and

independent in their circumstances.
To such towns as this, old Massachu-
setts looks with pride for one of her
chief resources of wealth—the fishery ;

and for men of noble daring in all her

enterprises on the ocean. In 1837,
there were sixty-three vessels owned
at Truro, employed in the cod and
mackerel fishery, measuring three
thousand four hundred and thirty-
seven tons

;
the product of which, in

one year, was sixteen thousand nine
hundred and fifty quintals of cod fish,

and fifteen thousand seven hundred
and fifty barrels of mackerel, valued
at one hundred and forty-five thou-
sand three hundred and fifty dollars.
The number of hands employed was
five hundred and twelve. The value
of salt manufactured annually, is about

twenty thousand dollars. There are
also manufactures of palm-leaf hats,
boots, shoes, &c.

No one would suppose that this was
much of a wool-growing place ;

and
it is not so in regard to the quantity
grown, but much so as it regards its

means. In 1837, the people of Truro
sheared four hundred sheep of their

own rearing. If the single county of

Penobscot, in Blaine, would produce
as much wool, in proportion to its ter-

ritory and the quality of its soil,. as
the town of Truro, there would be no
cause of strife about the tariff on wool
or woollen cloths

;
for the quantity

would be sufficient to clothe all ihe
inhabitants on the globe.
Pamet village, at the head of the

river of that name, is very pleasant
and flourishing, and is a fine location,
and easy of access, for all those who
wish to enjoy sea air and bathing, and
marine scenery, in their greatest per-
fection on terra firma. Another neat

settlement, called Pond Village, lies

about three miles north of Pamet, on
the road to Provincetown.

This town, it is said, was sometimes
called Dangerfield, previous to its in-

corporation in 1705. In common with
other towns on the cape, its people are

greatly exposed to the dangers of the

sea.which almost surrounds them. The
awiul gale of October, 1841, brought
the keenest anguish to the bosoms of

thousands, particularly to the inhabi-
tants of Truro. In one day, sixty of its

manly youth, and active men of mid-
dle age, found a watery grave, leaving
twenty-seven widows, and fifty-one

children, besides a numerous train of
other relatives and friends, to mourn
their melancholy fate !

Truro lies thirty-seven miles below
Barnstable : from Boston, by land,
one hundred and two, and about sixty
by water.

" Here lie the Eemains of y Rev"-
Mr. John Avery, who departed this

life y« 23d of April, 1754, in the 69th

year of his age, and 44th of his minis-

try, the first pastor ordained in this

place.

"
III this dark cavern, or Ums lonesome srave,

 

Here lays the hnviesl. pious, virtuous Friend
;

Him, kind Heaven to us as Priest & Doctor

gave ;

As such he lived, as such we mourn his end
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TVXGSBOUOl Gil.

Middlesex Co. The territory of

this town was formerly attached to

Dunstable. It was incorporated as a
district in 1789, to enable it to receive

a donation from Mrs. Sarah Winslow,
daughter of Ebenezer Tyng, for whom
the town was named. The Rev. Na-
thaniel Lawrence, the first minister in

the town, was settled in 1790, the

year of its incorporation as a town.

This is a pleasant town, on both

sides of Merrimack river. In the cars

between Lowell and Nashua, we ride

through this town, on the west bank
of the Merrimack, which here is wide,

placid, and majestic, and adds much
to the beauty of the place.

There is not much water-power in

the town, and the soil is light and

sandy. Large quantities of granite
are quarried here, hammered, and fit-

ted for various uses, and taken down
the river. Here are also manufac-
tures of brushes, barrels, boots and
shoes.

"The name of the first white in-

habitant," (says Mr. Lawrence, in his

history of Tyngsborough, in the Col-

lections of the Massachusetts Histori-

cal Society, 1815.) '-was Cromwell,
originally from England, but last

from Boston. It is about one hundred
and fifty years since he erected a hut
in this place, on the bank of the Mer-

rimack, for the purpose of trading
with the Indians. This, at that time,
was the only English settlement on
the south to Woburn, and on the north

between there and Canada. Crom-
well, for some time, carried on a lucra-

tive trade with the Indians, weighing
their furs with his foot, till, enraged
at his supposed or real deception, they
formed the resolution to murder him.
This intention was communicated to

Cromwell, who buried his wealth and
made his escape. Within a few hours
after his flight, a party of the Penna-
cook tribe arrived, and not finding the

object of their resentment, burnt his

hut. Some litne after, pewter was
Ibund in the well, and an iron pot and
trammel in the sand

;
the latter are

preserved. The present owner of the

23

place was ploughing near the spot,
and found his plough moving over a
flat stone, which gave a hollow .sound.

On removing the earth and stone, he
discovered a hole, stoned, about six

inches in diameter, from which he
took a sum of money."

Tyngsborough, by the railroads,
lies eight miles west by north from

Lowell, thirty-four north-west from

Boston, seven south from Nashua,
and forty-two south by west from

Concord, New Hampshire. By the

old road to Concord, in this state, it is

about seventeen miles.

TYRI>GIIA>I.

Berkshire Co. This town was first

settled in 1739. A church was formed

here, and the Rev. Adonijah Bidwell
was settled as pastor, in 1750. It is

said to have received its name at the

suggestion of Lord Viscount Howe, a
few days before he fell in battle at

Ticonderoga, July 6, 1758, who owned
lands in Tyringham, in England.

This town is twice crossed by two

heavy ranges of hills, which run in an

easterly and westerly direction. One
of these stretches along the northern
border of the town

;
the other, a little

above the south line, takes a westerly

direction, and after passing a few

miles, rises and spreads into the Bear-
town mountains. In the hollow be-

tween these ranges, the Hop brook,

rising in a small pond in Otis, flows

westerly and discharges itself into the

Housatonic in Lee. It derives its

name, in common with the intervale

and settlement on its borders, from the

wild hops which formerly grew upon
its banks.

In this town are a number of ponds
and small rivers, whgse waters fall

into the Housatonic. Although the

surface of the town is rough and une-

ven, yet the soil is strong and produc-
tive of the common varieties of agri-
cultural product, especially of the

fruits of the dairy.
The manufactures of the town con-

sist of paper, iron castings, boots,

shoes, leather, forks, rakes, palm-leaf
hats, chair ituff", wooden ware, (cc.
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There is a very neat and pretty vil-

lage near the centre of the town, which
lies about twenty miles south by east

from Pittsfield, thirty-six west north-

west from Springfield, and one hun-
dred and thirty-four miles west south-

west from Boston. From this village
tibout three miles north, are Hop
Brook and Shaker villages. Here a

family of our friends, the Shakers,
number about one hundred. They
own an extensive tract of land, mostly
on the hill top and mountain side, but

which is excellent for grazing. They
employ themselves in family garden-
ing, and raising stock

;
and in the

spring of the year, they manufacture

large quantities of sugar of the purest

quality from the sap of the sturdy

maple. They also manufacture many
other articles with a neatness peculiar
to themselves. From Shaker village
to Becket depot is ten miles. See
Harvard

UPTON.

Worcester Co. Previous to its

incorporation in 1735, the territory of

this town was attached to Mendon,
Sutton, Uxbridge, and Hopkinton.
A church was gathered soon after its

organization as a town, and the Rev.
Thomas Weld was ordained its pastor.

Upton is bounded north by Westbo-

rough, east by Hopkinton and Milford,
south by Mendon, and west by Graf-

ton and Northbridge.
The surface of the town is partly

plain land, and partly rough and hilly,

v.ilh a strong soil, capable of yielding

good crops of grain and hay. JIuch
attention has been paid to fruit-trees

in this town, and many fine orchards

of various kinds of fruit have been
the result. West river, a branch of

tlie Blackstone, rises from a pond in

Upton, and furnishes a power for a

number of mills. The manufactures
ronsi-st of woollen goods, boots, shoes,

leather, straw bonnets, sashes and
blinds

;
annual value about one hun-

dred and seventy -five thousand dollars.

Near Piatt's pond and two other

beautiful little Yankee lakes, is a plea-
sant village, near the centre of the

town, which lies thirteen miles south-

east from AVorcester, and about seven
miles south from the Worcester rail-

road at Westborough, from which it

is thirty-two miles to Boston.

rXBRIDGE.

Wop.cESTER Co. This large, weal-

thy, and flourishing Xovra. was, until

1727, the west part of ancient Men-
don. Its Indian name was Wacuntug.
It is bounded north by Northbridge,
east by Mendon, south by Smithfield,
in the state of Rhode Island, and west

by Douglas. A church was formed
here in 1731, and the Rev. Nathan
Webb ordained pastor.
The central part of the town has a

fair soil
;

the surrounding hills are

moist, and well adapted to grazing
and orchards: There are in the town
a quarry of stone, easily wTought and

highly valuable, and an iron mine,
from which much ore has been taken.

Uxbridge enjoys important advan-

tages in being situated, for nearly its

whole length, on the Blackstone river

and canal, as well as from the water-

power of West and Mumford rivers,
A\hich here join the Blackstone.

The admirable hydraulic power
which this town enjoys, renders it a
location of great promise for the pros-
ecution of all the branches of domes-
tic industry, so rapidly and favorably

progressing in our country. By the

steed that never tires, the markets of

Boston and Providence will be placed,
as it were, at the door of its mills.

The manufactures of the town con-

sist of cotton and woollen goods of
various kinds, yarn, straw bonnets,

leather, boots, shoes, cabinet and tin

wares, chairs, iScc. The value of

these manufactures in 1837, was
about half a million of dollars

;
since

which it has much increased.

There are a number of flourishing

manufacturing villages in Uxbridge,
situated in valleys, and surrounded by
picturesque scenery. The principal

village is situated at the north part of

the town. It is a beautiful place,

containing many handsome public
and private buildings. The railroad
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from Worcester to Providence passes
through it. It lies sixteen miles south-

east iVoni Worcester, i'orty south-west
from Boston, and twenty-four north

north-west from Providence.

WALES.

Hampden Co. This town was for-

merly a part of Brimfield, and called

South Brimfield. It is bounded north

by Brimfield. east by Holland, south

by Stafford and Union, in the state of

Connecticut, and west by IMonson.
This is a mountainous township,

but there is much good land in the

valleys, and most of the highlands
afford excellent grazing. Near the

village in the centre of the town is a
beautiful pond, the outlet of which is

the nsc of the Wales branch of Quine-

baug river. This stream affords the

town a good water-power. From the

top of Hitchcock's hill, in the north-

west corner of the town, one thousand
one hundred and ninety feet above
the sea, is a splendid prospect. There
are some manufactures in the town,
of woollen goods, leather, boots, shoes,

palm-leaf hats, axes, hatchets, &;e.

Wales was named for James Wales,
Esq., one of the principal men in the

town at the time of its incorporation,
in 1828.

Wales lies twenty miles east by
south from Springfield, and about nine
south-east from the depot of the west-
ern railroad at Palmer, from which to

Boston is eighty-three miles.

^VAL,POL,E.

Norfolk Co. Walpole was a part
of Dedham until 1721. Its first min-
ister was the Rev. Philips Payson,
in 1730. The second was the Rev.
Georsre Morey, in 1783. The Rev.
John P. B. Storer was .settled colleague
pastor with Mr. Morey in 1826.

Walpole is bounded north by Ded-

ham, east by Sharon, souih by Fox-

borough and Wrcnthani, and west by
Wrentham and IMedfield. The sur-

face of the town presents a pleasing
variety of hill and valley, and its soil

generally is of a gornl quality.

Three beautiful tributaries to the

Neponset meet in this town. They
rise in Foxborough, IMeilfield, and
Sharon. These streams aflord the

town a good water-power ;
a large

part of which is already improved for

manufacturing purposes. The man-
ufactures consist of cotton and woollen

goods, jiaper, iron castings, hoes, hats,

leather, straw bonnets, twine, &cc.

As long ago as 1837, the value of

goods made in thus town amounted to

but little less than three hundred thou-
sand dollars.

This is a very pleasant and flour-

ishing town, with a number of plea-
sant villages within its borders. The
south village lies about three miles
from the east village. The east vil-

lage lies nine miles south by west
from Dedham, nineteen south south-

west from Boston, and three miles
from the Boston and Providence rail-

road at Sharon.
ISlr. Eleazer Smith, the original

inventor for cutting and heading
nails

;
also for pricking the leather,

cutting, crooking, and setting card-

teeth, all at one operation, was a na-
tive and resident of this town.

AVALTHAM.

Middlesex Co. This town was the

west parish of Watertown uniil its

incorporation, in 1738. The three

first ministers in the town were the

Rev. Warham Williams, in 1723;
the Rev. Jacob Gushing, D. D., in

17.32, and the Rev. Samuel Ripley,
in IBOy.

The surface of this towoi is moder-

ately level, with some elevations.
"
Prospect Hill," four hundred and

eighty-two feet above the level of the

sea, presents a delightful view of Bos-

ton, its harbor, and the adjacent towns
and country. A part of Fresh pond
lies within the limits of this town.
The soil is generally not very fertile,

but is rendered productive by indus-

trious and skilful farmers.
" Waltham Plain "

is a beautiful

tract of land, under a high state of

cultivation. It is about two and a

half miles in length, and a mile in
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width. On the road over this plain
is a continuous village, containing

many handsome dwellings and beau-
{ilul gardens ; among the number,
that of the Hon. Theodore Lyman is

preeminently beautiful. Mr. Ly-
man's garden, of many acres in ex-

tent, is decorated with almost every
variety of fruit-tree, shrub, and flow-

er, both native and exotic, and is rarely

surpassed in costliness and splendor,

by any private establishment of the

kind in the United States.

In this town, the first cotton mill,
on an extensive scale, was erected, in

1814. The capital of the company
was six hundred thousand dollars.

By extraordinary skill and good man-
agement, through all the various
commercial changes, this establish-

ment gave a character to domestic

manufactures, both at home and

abroad, which proved lucrative to the

proprietors, and highly beneficial to

the public. The waters of Charles

river, which glide through the town,
being fully improved, the proprietors
extended their manufacturing opera-
tions at Lowell, on a scale and with
a success never equalled in this or

any other country.
There were in Waltham, in 1837,

three cotton mills, a bleachery, a ma-
chine shop, a paper mill, and manu-
factures of boots, shoes, hats, carria-

ges, wagons, chairs, cabinet and tin

wares
;
total value of manufactures,

three hundred and fifty thousand dol-

lars.

Beaver and Mead's ponds are hand-
some sheets of water, well stored with
fish. Ai'ound their borders is some
fine scenery, and well cultivated fields.

The former produces a mill stream
which passes to Sudbury river.

Waltham is a beautiful residence,
and a fine retreat from the noise and
bustle of a busy city. The common
roads in this and the neighboring
towns are uncommonly good ; indeed,
in no part of the countr)' are the roads

better, if so good, as in the vicinity of
Boston. The Fitchburg railroad pass-
es through Waltham, nine miles west

by north from Boston, and eleven east

south-east from Concord.

WARE.

Hamfshike Co. Ware was for-

merly connected with Brookfield and
Palmer, and was called " Ware River
Parish." The first church in the
town was formed in 1757, and the
first minister, the Rev. Grindall Raw-
son, was settled in 1757. The village
church was constituted in 1826, and
the Rev. Parsons Cooke was settled

the same year. He resigned in 1835.

Ware possesses a most extensive
and valuable water-power, by Ware
and Swift rivers, and Beaver branch,
so called, all branches of the Chicko-

pee. Perhaps there is no better illus-

tration of the value of a good water-

power to one of our rough and rocky
New England towns than in the case
of Ware. " Ware remained unset-
tled for niany years after the adjoin-

ing towns were settled, the soil being
so hard and rough that it was consid-
ered unfit for cultivation. At an early

period nearly the whole territory now
comprised in the town, was granted
by the general court to a military
company from Narragansett, as a re-

ward for expelling the Indians from
that vicinity. So little value was
placed upon it by the company, that

they shortly after sold it to John Reed,

Esq., of Boston, lor two coppers per
acre

; yet it is now one of the most

flourishing to\^ ns in this part of the

state," and would probably command
more money by the acre than some
towns at the "far west," where the

soil is said to be ten feet deep.
Ware has become a large and im-

portant manufacturing town . Nearly
ten years ago, the manufactures here
amounted to nearly seven hundred
thousand dollars annually, since which

they have greatly increased. The
articles manufactured were cotton

and woollen goods, leather, boots,

shoes, palm-leaf hats, tin ware, hats,
straw bonnets, augers, sheet iron,

starch, carriages, harnesses, i^c.

Ware contains a beautiful village,
surrounded by highlands and pictur-

esque scenery. It is a mart of busi-

ness for this section of the county.
It lies alKtut five miles north-west
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from the Wai ren depot on the western

railroad, which is seventy-liuee miles

west Dy south from Jiosioii
;

and

tweuty-lwo east south-east from

Northampton, by the old road.

WAREHAM.
Plymouth Co. This town formerly

comprised the east end of Ilochester,
and a plantation belon2:in'.^ to Ply-
mouth. The Indians called this place

Wawaijantat, the name of one of its

rivers, now spelt Waveantic. The
town was first settled about the year
1682. The first minister was the

Rev. Rowland Thatcher, in 1710.

Wareham is about seven miles

long from east to west, and about
five miles in width. It is bounded
north by Plymouth, east by Plymouth
and Sandwich, south by Buzzard's

Ba\", and west by Rochester. It lies

at the head of Buzzard's Bay, and is

watered by the Weweantic. Wankinco,
and Agawam rivers, which severally
fall about fifty feet, thereby produc-
ing a great and valuable water-power.
Wareham presents a rare instance

of the union of hydraulic and naviga-
ble privileges ;

both of which being
well improved, renders it an impor-
tant and tlourishing commercial and

manufacturing town.
The harbor of Wareham is good

and safe for vessels drawing twelve
feet of water. In the year 1844, there

were two hundred and forty arrivals

of coasting vessels, bringing and tak-

ing away fifty thous.and tons of goods.
There were also belonging to this port
three ships and three brigs engaged
in the whaling business, at an outfit

of one hundred and thirty-one thou-

sand dollars.

The streams in this town are cross-

ed by nine mill dams, for the purpose
of carrying four rolling mills, three

puddling mills, with their appurtenan-
ces, and four extensive nail and hoop
factories, which use not less than ten

thousand tons of iron annually. There
are also in the town a number of fur-

naces for castings, manufactures of

salt, and various other articles, the

whole emplovlng a capital of more
2j^

than a million and a half of dollars.

The business of the town is probably
doubled since 1844, as in 1845, two
new manufacturing companies went
into operation, with a capital of three

hundred and fifty thousand dollars
;

and yet, so great is the water-power
at this place that there is an abun
dance to spare for future operations.
The soil of the town is generally

light and sandy, but there is much
good salt marsh, and many of the

swamps have been drained, and made
to produce excellent crops. There is

a good deal of oak timber in the to\vn,
suitable for ship-building, and large

quantities of pitch pine timber, and
fire wood are sent to market. The
rocks are generally granite bowlders,
which answer a good purpose for

building.
There are a number of expensive

bridges in the town across the streams;
and six villages, called the Narrows,
Centre, Agawam, Tihonet, Washing-
ton, and Poles. These villaijes are
scattered along and near the head of

tide-water streams, and bear evidence
that their favorable position for busi-

ness is appreciated by their inhabi-

tants.

The rivers and ponds of Wareham
abound with a great variety of fish,

the shores with oysters, lobsters, qua-
hogs, and clams ; while the deer and
the fox gambol in the forests. No
part of the state affords a better field

for the sportsman than this and the

neighboring towns.

Manomct is the name of a creek,
or river, which runs tiuough the town
of Sandwich, into the upper part of
Buzzard's Bay, formerly called I\Iano.

met Bay. Between this and Scusset
Creek is the place vhich has been

thought of, for more than a century,
as proper to be cut through by a ca-

nal, and thus form a communication
between Barnstable and Buzzard's

Bays. It is only six miles across.

Manomct rivulet was visited as early
as 1622, by Governor Bradford, to

procure corn. The stream was called

by the natives Pimescpoese, a word
signifying, in their language.

"
pro-

vision rivulet."' In H)27, the Ply-
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mouth colonists, for the convenience
of trade, built a small pinnace at

Manomet, to which place they trans-

ported their goods. Having taken
them up the creek within four or five

miles, they carried them over land to

the vessel, and thus avoided the dan-

gerous navigation around Cape Cod.

For the safety of their vessels and

goods, they built a house, and kept
some servants there, who planted
corn, raised hogs, &cc. In the time
of the last war %\'ith Great Britain,
this mode of transportation was re-

vived again, and the inhabitants of

Cape Cod found it convenient to re-

sort to this place, to avoid the risk of

capture by the enemy's cruisers along
the coast.

Wareham lies fifty-two miles south
south-east from Boston, fifteen south
from Plymouth, fifteen miles south-

east from Middleborough Four Cor-

ners, and fifteen north-east from
New Bedford. The favorable posi-
tion of this and other towns at the

head of Buzzard's Bay, for trade and

manufactures, will doubtless induce
the proprietors of some existing rail-

road from Boston, ere long, to extend
a branch to this flourishing town.

WARREN.

WoKCESTER Co. Warren was for-

merly attached to Brookfield, Brim-

field, and Palmer, until its incorpora-
tion by the name of Western, in 1742.

In 1834, it took its present name, in

honor of the memory of the patriot

Warren, who fell at Bunker Hill. A
church was formed here in 1743, and
the Rev. Isaac Jones was ordained
their pastor in 1744.

Warren is situated at the south-
west part of the county. The land,

though rather rough, is productive.
The river Quoboag, from Brookfield,
enters this town from the north-east,

and, passing through it, goes out at

the west part, and falls into the

Chickopee river. Coy's hill, in the
north part of this town, affords abun-
dance of granite, being here valuable
for building stone. At the foot of the

hill, near the river, iron ore is found,

and a mineral spring has been dis

covered, which has some visitants.

Warren has a fine water-power,
and has become quite a manufactur-

ing town, having greatly increased in

its business since the opening of the

western railroad, which passes through
the town. Its manufactures are cot-

ton and woollen goods, palm-leaf hats,

scythes, and various other articles.

The Quoboag Seminary, in this town,
is in successful operation.
Warren depot lies twenty-nine

miles west by south from Worcester,
seventy-three west by south from

Boston, and twenty-five miles east

north-east from Springfield.

AVARWICK.

Franklin Co. The territory of
this town was granted in 1736, to the
descendants of thirty-nine soldiers

who went from Roxbury and Brook-

line, under Captain Andrew Gardner,
in an expedition to Canada, in 1690

;

all of whom perished, save one, by
the name of Newell. The tract was
called Roxbury Canada until its in-

corporation by its present name in

1763. It was first settled about 1744,
and the first church was formed, and
the first minister, the Rev. Lemuel
Hedge, was settled, in 1760. The
Indian name of the territory was
Shao?net.

Warwick is bounded north by Win-
chester and Richmond, in the state of
New Hampshire, east by Royalston,
south by Orange, and west by North-
field.

This town is elevated, and contains
Mount Grace, one thousand six hun-
dred and twenty-eight feet in height,
liom which a delightful prospect is

presented. The soil is strong, warm,
and produces excellent pasturage.
There are no considerable streams in

the town, and its manufactures con-
sist only of leather, scythes, and palm-
leaf hats. Moose pond, a pleasant
sheet of water, furnishes an abun-
dance of fine trout, pickerel, and

perch.
There is a very pleasant \'il]age in

the centre of the town, which lies six-
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teen miles north-east from Greenfield,
and about seventy-five miles west
north-west from Boston.

WASHIXGTOX.

Berkshire Co. This town was first

.settled in 1760, and was called Green-

wood, and for some time Hartwood.
Its Indian name was Tukonick. The
first minister was the Rev. William
G. Ballantine, in 1774. The town is

bounded north by Hmsdale, east by
Middlelield, south by Becket and Lee,
and west by Lenox.

This town is situated on the Green
mountain range, and its surface is

gi-eatly diversified by hills and val-

leys. It is, however, a fine township
for gi-a2ing, and within its limits are

many large and productive farms.
No large river waters the town, but
the crystal springs which gush from
the mountains, and the sparkling
ponds which decorate the valleys,

give to the town an ample water-

power for domestic uses, and then

pass to the Westfield and Housatonic.
The principal settlement in the

town is beautifully located in a moun-
tain valley, through which the west-
ern railroad passes, one hundred and

thirty-eight miles west from Boston,
and thirteen miles south-east from
Pittsfield.

WATERTOWX.
Middlesex Co. The first English-

men who are known to have visited
this place, were the Rev. Mr. Ware-
ham, and some of his people, who
afterwards settled Dorchester. The
place in Watertown where they re-

mained a few days, is stated yet to

bear the name of Dorchester Fields.

Shortly after their removal, a perma-
nent establishment was effected by
another company. A party of the ad-
venturous emigrants who came in

Wi.ithrop's fleet, with Sir Richard
Sallonstall and Rev. George Phillips
at their head, selected a place on the
banks of Charles river for their plan-
tation. On the 7th of September,
l'i30, (0. S.,) the court of assistants,

at Charlestown, "ordered that Tn-
mountain be called Boston

;
Malta-

pan, Dorchester
;
and the town on

Charles river, Watertown."
The name of Waltrtown is said to

have originated from the circumstance
of its being a " well watered place,"'

or, perhaps, from its being situated

on a considerable fresh water river,
and the communication with Boston

being at first by ivater, in boats. The
Indian name of the town was Pigs-
gnesstt. The territory thus called Wa-
tertown was, like most of the towns of

that early period, very large, and its

boundaries on the west side for a con-

siderable time somewhat undefined.

Waltham, Weston, and a part of Lin-

coln, were once comprehended within
its limits. A church was gathered
here in 1630, and the Rev. George
Phillips was settled its pastor. His
successors were the Rev. John

Knowles, in 1640
;
Rev. John Sher-

man, in 16 18
;
Rev. John Bailey, in

1686
;
Rev. Thomas Bailey, in 16S7

;

Rev. Samuel Angier, in 1697.

Charles river gives this town a

good water-power ;
it passes along its

whole southern border, and divides

the town from Brighton and Newton.
This river is navigable to the centre

of the town for vessels diuwing sL\

feet of water.

The surface of the to\\Ti is diversi-

fied by hills and valleys, which is

rendered very beautiful by a high"
state of cultivation, and by the numer-
ous villas, neat farm-houses, cottages,
and delightful gardens which meet
the eye in every direction.

A part of the beautiful sheet of wa-
ter, called " Fresh Pond," and a part
of the celebrated Mount Auburn Cem-
etery lie in this town. On the north
bank of the river, a short distance be-

low the principal village, the United
States Arsenal, containing a large
amount of munitions of war, occupies
a site of forty acres of ground.

In 1837, there were two paper mills

in the town, a cotton mill, print works,
an establishment for finishing woollen

goods, and manufactures of soap,
candles, boots, shoes, boxes, iVc. In

that year, three soap and candle man-
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ufaciories used three hundred tons of

tallow, three hundred and fifty tons

of barilla, fifty tons of palm-oil, one
thousand seven hundred and fifty bar-

rels of rosin, two thousand casks of

lime, and one thousand bushels of

salt. Large quantities of beef, pork,
bacon, iVc, are annualh' packed at

this place for the Boston market, and
for transportation.

In the early wars of the country,
and in the revolutionary war, the in-

habitants of Watertown took an ac-

tive part. In the time of excitement

precedmg the war of American inde-

pendence, the article of tea was pro-
scribed in this town, in the following
.words :

"
Voted, That we consent to

lay aside all foreign teas, as expen-
sive and pernicious, as well as unne-

cessary ;
this continent abounding

with many herbs of a more salubri-

ous quality, which, if we were as

much used to as the poisonous bohea,

would, no doubt, in time be as agree-
able, perhaps much more so

;
and

whilst by a manly influence, we ex-

pect our women to make this sacri-

tice to the good of their country, we
iiereby declare we shall highly honor
and esteem the encouragers of our
own manufactures, and the general
use of the productions of this conti-

nent
;
this being in our judgment, at

this time, a necessary means (under
God) of rendering us a happy and
free people." The second and third

sessions of the provincial congress
were held at Watertown, in the meet-

ing-house, within the first six months
of the year 1775. Dr. Joseph "Warren,
the early and lamented martyr in the

cause of freedom, on the memorable
17th of June, presided at their delibe-

rations.

Watertown village, or the principal
business part of the town, lies about
seven miles west from Boston, and
twelve south-east from Concord.
The Fitchburg railroad passes on

the north side of the town, and the

Worcester railroad on the south.

From the business part of the towTi

to the Newton Corner depot, on the

Worcester railroad, is about half a

mile.

The borders of Fresh pond are truly

delightful, spread out as they are with

country seats, pleasure-grounds, and

places of resort for visitors in quest
of country air, and rural sports.
While the beauty of this pond, and
the ease by which it is approached by
railroad, attracts thousands to its

banks in summer, it is scarcely less

noticed in winter to witness a novel

species of Yankee enterprise. Vast

quantities of Ice are here prepared,
for transportation. See Charlesto7vn.

Three hundred men and as many
horses are often seen cutting, and stor-

ing it in large and costly brick build-

ings on the borders of the pond, pre-

paratorj' to its transportation by rail-

road, about four miles to Charles-
town

;
from whence it is shipped to

all parts of the world less cold than
our own. The ice at this place is of
the "

first water," and is cut and taken
from the pond by ingenious machineiy
prepared for the purpose, somewhat
different from that described under
Wtnham.

Mr. Cushing's Fakm, in this town,
two and a half miles west from the

buildings of Harvard University, is a

superb concern, unquestionably with-
out a rival in America. It comprises
about sixty acres of choice land, so

elevated in its situation as to com-
mand a view of all the rich and varied

scenery which the vicinity of Boston
so bountifully yields.
Were a quarter part of the lands in

the '' Old Bay State "
put into such

exuberant tilth as Mr. Cushing's
farm, Massachusetts might send hay
to Vermont, potatoes to Maine, and
furnish Maryland and Virginia with
bread-stufls.

That part of Mr. Cushing's farm
denominated " the Garden," is an en-
closure of a number of acres, near
the centre of the estate. These

gi'ounds are laid out by wide and ad-
amantine walks into spacious lawns,

gay parterres, and silent groves.
JHere are found every tree, shrub,

plant, or flower that will live and flour-

ish in a northern climate. Streams
of soft and pure water from a neigh-
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boring fountain, pass around the

whole.

Within the enclosure are numerous

large buildings calculated for produc-
ing and sustaining a suitable degree
of temperature at all seasons of the

year, for the culture and perfection of

every flower and fiiiil which blooms
and ripens under every sky but our
own.

Within the enclosure are also a

princely palace for the lord of the

manor, gardener's house, and other

buildings suited to such a magnificent
establishment.

While we gaze with delight on this

fine exhibition of the varied views of
nature's soft and lovely charms, we
cannot but admire the exquisite taste

of its proprietor ;
and the patriotic

feeling which directed him, after ac-

quiring an immense fortune in other

climes, to build, within his native
New England, an earthly paradise.

WAYLiAND.

Middlesex Co. The name of this

town was East Sudbury from 1780 to

1835. It lies on the east side of Sud-

bury river, and was once a part of

Sudbury. The surface of the towTi is

pleasant ;
the soil is generally good,

and contains some well cultivated
farms. In 1837, there w^ere four

forges in this town, and manufac-
tures of chairs and cabinet-ware

;
but

the principal manufacture is that of
boots and shoes.

Wayland is bounded north by Lin-

(^oln, east by Weston, south by Fram-
ingham, and west by Sudbury. It

lies sixteen miles west from Boston,
and seven south from Concord. From
tlie centre of the town to the Weston
depot of the Fitchburg railroad is

about four miles.

A church was formed here in 1723.
The following reverend gentlemen
have been its pastors :

—William
Cooke, settled 1723; Josiah Bridge,
J761; Joel Foster, 1803; John B.

Wight, 1815; Richard t. Austin,
1836.

\VKBSrKR.

Worcester Co. This town was
incorporated in 1832, and named in

compliment to Hon. Daniel Webster,
late secretary of state, United States,
and now senator to Congress from
Massachusetts. It included a part of

Dudley and Oxford, and a tract of
land previously unincorporated. It

IS bounded north by Oxford, cast by
Douglas, south by Thompson, in Con-

necticut, and west by Dudley.
There were in operation in this

town in 1837, two woollen and four

large cotton mills, a cotton thread

mill, one machine shop, one bleach-

ery, a tanneiy, and a manufactory of
tin ware

;
total value of manufac-

tures the year ending April 1, 1837,
three hundred and twelve thousand
two hundred and seventy-seven dol-

lars. Since that date the business of
the town has probably doubled.
French river and a pond give this

place a large and unfailing water-

poM'er. The original name of this

pond, as appears from ancient deeds,
was Chaha/iakuus/.omo»i, the same
name by which Dudley was known,
though the latter probably borrowed
it from the former. Some records
and maps of New England have giv'en
it the name of C/Mr<;og<;ago^!yman-

choggiigogg. The fall at the outlet

of this pond is twenty-four feet, which
is increased after it empties into

French river to about ninety feet be-

fore it joins the Quinebaug in the
state of Connecticut. These waters
afforded ample water-power for the
late Samuel Slater, Esq.. to concen-
trate here a large portion of his man-
ufacturing ca))ital ; and it is to the

entei-prise of this " Father of American
manufactures," that this place is in-

debted for most of the prosperity
which it at present enjoys. It was
his favorite residence, anil where his

remains now rest.

A remnant of the Dudley, or more
properly of the Nipmuck Indians, re-

side here. They are few in nunibet:

and but few of them are of pure blood.

These Indians formerly owned a con-
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sideraKe tract of reserved land in the

centre ofChabanakongkomom or Dud-

ley. This was sold by order of the

legislature, and the proceeds appro-
priated to their support, and to the

purchase of about thirty acres, on
which they now reside. This money
is now expended, and they are de-

pendent upon the bounty of the state

for support.

Although the features of this town
are rather rough, and uninviting to

the fanner
; yet with the privilege of

a home market and city prices, the
stubborn soil has become subdued,
and made to yield abundantly.

There are a number of pleasant
and flourishing villages in Webster,
but Merino village, partly in this

town, and partly in Dudley, is the

largest. This village, through which
the Worcester and Norwich railroad

passes, lies .sixteen miles south from
Worcester, sixty south-west from Bos-

ton, forty-three north from Norwich,
and thirtv-four north-west from Prov-
idence.

W'EL,L.PL,EET.

Barnstable Co. This township
extends across Cape Cod,

'

between
Eastham on the south, and Truro on
the north. It was taken from East-
ham in 1763. Its Indian name was
Punnonalinnit.

The village is on the west side of
the cape ;

it is neatly built
;
and al-

though its soil is light and sandy, it

presents a handsome appearance. It

contains four churches, and ten school-
houses.

Wellfleet Bay sets into the town
from the south, and is separated from

Cape Cod Bay by several islands,
which form a good harbor, at a place
called "Deep Hole." The eastern
section of the town is wooded to the

edge of the ocean, which lashes a

smooth, sandy beach.
The people of Wellfleet are engaged

mostly in the coasting trade, fisheries,
and the manufacture of salt; which
is produced by solar evaporation. In
1844. there \vere eighty-two vessels

helonging to 'this place, measuring

about four thousand five hundred

tons, and employing six hundred and

forty men. There were in the town
three establishments for the inspec-
tion and packing of mackerel, at

which there were put up during the

same year, twelve thousand barrels,
intended for the southern and western
markets. The oyster business is also

a source of revenue, furnishing em-

ployment for many vessels and men.
At the first settlement of the town its

bays and coves were well stored with
this excellent shell-fish

;
and since they

have become exhausted, thousands of
bushels are annually brought by ves-

sels belonging: to this town from the

rivers of Virginia. The oyster trade
of Boston is principally carried on by
the people of this town.

There are some manufactures of

leather, boots, shoes, &c., in the town,
and several wind-mills for grinding
corn.

During the summer months, this

place, on account of its pure and
wholesome air, and the faciUties it

aflTords for sporting, is the resort of

many travellers and city denizens
who love to "sit by the ocean's

roar," or traverse the vales " to sound
the shrill horn."

Dr. Morse stated in 1797, that
" since the memory of people now
living, there have been in this small
town, thirty pair of twins, besides two
births that produced three each."

This is one of the most thriving
towns in the state. One of its former

residents. Colonel Elisha Doane, is

said to have acquired a fortune of one
hundred and twenty thousand pounds
sterling on this sandy spot.

Wellfleet lies thirty miles below

Barnstable, and ninety-five miles east

south-east from Boston, by land. To
Boston by water is about sixty-five
miles.

\VE\DEL,Ii.

Franklin Co. This town is bound-
ed north by Erving, east by Orange
and New Salem, south by New Sa-
lem and Shutesbury, and west by Mon-
tague. It was formerly part of Shutes-

bury and Erving, and M'as incorpor
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ated in 1781, and named in honor of

Oliver "Wendell, Esq., a very worthy
man, for many years president of the

Union Bank, in Boston, the second

institution of the kind in 3Iassachu-

setts. Mr. Wendell was a great pat-
ron of this town, and frequently vis-

ited it. The first minister in the

town was the Rev. Joseph Kilburn,
in 1783.

This town is on elevated ground,
and is the source of streams which
flow to the Chickopee on the south,
and Miller's river, which separates it

from Erving, on the north. Its soil

is strong and fertile, and well adapted
for grain and grass.

IMiller's river alTords a vahiable

water-power ;
«nd jn its banks are

some fine intervale and delightful

scenery. At the north part of the

town Bear mountain rears its head,
one thousand two hundred and eighty-
one feet in height.

There are manufactures in the

town of palm-leaf hats, leather, boots,

shoes, chairs, cabinet-ware, &cc. Other
manufactures have commenced, and
doubtless will increase, as the Fitch-

burg railroad passes along the side of

the river, which, with its hydraulic
power, will render Wendell an iinjwr-
tant site for various mechanical oper-
ations.

There is a handsome village in the

town, about four miles south of the

river
;

eleven miles east by south
from Greenfield, and about eighty
miles west by north from Boston.

WEXHAM.
Essex Co. This town was for-

merly a part of Salem. It was first

settled about 1638, and was called

Enon.
The surface of the town is pleasant ;

the soil generally of a good quality,
and well cultivated by industrious

and independent farmers.
Wenham or Enon pond is a beauti-

ful sheet of water, of irregular form,
comprising an area of about a mile

square, and affords an abundance of
excellent fish. The banks of this

pond afford delightful scenery, and

its silver waters arc sometimes so

beautifully crystalized as to merit the

high encomium of the little queen or.

wiiose dominions the sun never sets.

The waters of this pond are very deep
and remarkably pure ; large quanti-
ties of ice are annually taken from it,

and transported by railroad to Salem,
and from thence shipped to all quar-
ters of the globe.

It is stated that this ice is so nicely
manufactured by Jack Frost, that one

may see to read through a piece of it

two and a half feet in thickness. Of
this we have not had ocular demon-
stration

;
but of the softness and pu-

rity of the waters of Essex county,
there can be no doubt, for its ladies

are noted for their bloom and beauty.

The following is a brief account of

the manner of cutting and preserving
ice at this place, for exportation :

—
The ice-house is built of wood, with

double walls all around
;
the space be-

tween which is filled with saw-dust
;

thus interposing a medium, that is a

non-conductor of heat, between the

ice and the external air
;
the conse-

quence of which is, that the ice is en-

tirely unaffected by any condition or

temperature of the external atmos-

phere ;
and can be preserved without

waste for an indefinite time.

The machincr}"^ employed for cut-

ting the ice is very curious, and is

worked by men and horses, in the

follo^^ing manner : From the time
when the ice first forms, it is carefully

kept free from snow until it is thick

enough to be cut
;
that process com-

mences when the ice is a foot thick.

A surface of some two acres is then

selected, which at that thickness will

furnish about two thousand tons
;
and

a straight line is then drawn throitgh
its centre from side to side each way.
A small hand-plough is pushed along
one of these lines, until the groove is

about three inches deep, and a quar-
ter of an inch in width, when the
" Marker "

is introduced. This in-

strument is drawn by two horses,
and makes two new grooves parallel
with the first, from twenty to forty
inches apart, the gauge remaining in
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the original groove. The marker is

theu shifted to the outside groove, and
makes two more. Having drawn
these lines over the whole surface in

one direction, the same process is re-

peated in a transverse direction, mark-

ing all the ice out into squares. In

the mean time, the "
plough," drawn

by a single horse, is following in these

grooves, cutting the ice to a depth of

six inches.

One entire range of blocks is then
sawn out, and the remainder are split
off toward the opening thus made with
an iron bar. The bar is shaped like

a spade and of a wedge-like form.

When it is dropped into the groove,
the block splits off; a very slight
blow being sufficient to produce that

effect, especially in very cold weather.

The labor of "
splitting

"
is light or

otherwise, according to the tempera-
ture of the atmosphere.

"
Platforms,"

or low tables of frame-work, are placed
near the opening made in the ice, with

iron sides extending into the water,
and a man stands on each side of this

slide, armed with an ice hook. With
this hook the ice is caught, and by a

sudden jerk, thrown up the " slide "

on to the "platform." In a cold day
everything is speedily covered with

ice by the freezing of the water on
the platforms, slides, &c.

;
and the

enormous blocks of ice, weighing
some of them more than three hun-
dred pounds, are hurled along these

slippery surfaces as if they were with-

out weight.

Forty men and twelve horses will

cut and stow away four hundred tons

a day ! in favorable weather one hun-
dred men are sometimes employed at

once. When a thaw or a fall of rain

occurs, it entirely unfits the ice for

market, by rendering it opaque and

porous, and occasionally snow is im-

mediately followed by rain, and that

again by frost, forming snow ice,

which is valueless, and must be re-

moved by the "
plane." The operation

of planing is similar to that of cutting.
In addition to filling their ice-houses

at the lake and in the large towns, the

company fill a large number of pri-
vate ice-houses during the winter, all

the ice for these pm'poses being trans-

ported by railway. It will easily be

believed, that the expense of provid-
ing tools, building houses, furnishing
labor, and constructing and keeping
up the railway, is very great ;

but the

traffic is so extensive, and the man-
agement of the trade so good, that the

ice can be furnished at a very trifling

expense.

The first sermon preached in this

place was on the border of this pond,
by the celebrated Hugh Peters, minis-
ter of Salem, about the year 1636.

His text was,
" At Enon near Salem,

because there was much water there."

Mr. Peters went to England, as agent
for the colony, in 1641

; engaged in the

civil wars on the side of parliament,
and was executed after the restora-

tion of Charles II.

The first settled minister in this

town was the Kev. John Fisk, in

1644. He was succeeded by the Rev.

Antipas Newman in 1663
;
Rev. Jo-

seph Gerrish in 1675.

John Duntan, an Englishman, who
travelled in this country in 1686, and
on his return to England published a

journal of his travels, gives the fol-

lowing account of WenhamJ and of

its minister. Rev. Joseph Gerrish :—
" Wenham is a delicious paradise ;

it abounds with rural pleasures, and
I would choose it above all other

towns in America to dwell in
;

the

lofty trees on each side of it are a suf-

ficient shelter from the \\'inds, and
the warm sun so kindly ripens both

the fruits and flowers, as if the spring,
the summer, and the autumn had

agreed together to thrust the winter
out of doors.

"
It were endless to enter on a de-

tail of each faculty of learning Mr.
Gerrish is master of, and I therefore

take his character in short hand. The

philosopher is acute, ingenious, and
subtle. The divine, curious, ortho-

dox, and profound. The man of a ma-

jestic air, without austerity or sour-

ness
;

his aspect is masterly and

great, yet not imperious or haughty.
The Christian is devout \nthout mo-

roseness, or starts of holy frenzy and
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enthusiasm. The preacher is primi-

tive, without the occasional colors of

whining or cant, and metliodical,
without intricacy or affectation

;
and

which crowns his character, he is a

man of pul)lic spirit, zealous for the

conversion of the Indians, and of

great hospitality to strangers. He
gave us a noble dinner, and enter-

tained us with such pleasant fruits, as

I must own. Old England is a stran-

ger to."

Wenham lies six miles north from
Salem, and twenty north from Boston.

The eastern railroad passes through
the centre of the town, and very near

the pond.

WESTBOROl'GH.

Worcester Co. The territory of

this town was a part of Marlborough,
and called Chauncy village until its

incorporation, in 1717. A church
was gathered here in 172 1, and at the

same time, the Kev. Ebenezer Park-
man was settled pastor, and continued
such fifty-nine years, until his death,
in 1782, aged eighty.
As several persons in this town

were engaged in a field spreading
flax, in 170 1, the Indians rushed upon
them from the woods, and seized lour

boys, and killed one, named Nahor

Rice, about five years of age, who
was the first white person buried in

the town. The men made their es-

cape to the house. One of the boys
was redeemed

;
the others remained,

and mixed their posterity with the

French and Indians. Timothy Rice,
the j'oungest, seven years of age,
when taken, became a chief of the

Cognawaga Indians. He visited

Westborough in 1710, and remem-
bered the house where he had lived,
and the field where he was captured,
and some aged people. He had lost

the English language, and was ac-

companied by an interpreter. He
was sent for, and visited Governor
Belcher, at Boston, but chose to re-

turn to his Indian habits.

The waters of this town consist of
somp of the sources of Concord and
Blackstone rivers, which furnish a

26

good water-power. There are several

handsome ponds in the town, well

stocked with fish.

The manufactures consist of boots,

shoes, leather, axes, chairs, cabinet

and tin wares, ploughs, straw bon-

nets, sleighs, and harnesses
;

total

value in one year, one hundred and

fifty thousand dollars
; principally for

boots and shoes.

This is a beautiful town
;
the sur-

face is diversified by hills and val-

leys ;
the soil is good, and appears to

be cultivated by men who understand
their business. Between four and
five thousand hogsheads of milk are

annually sent from this town to the

Boston market. A brief statement of

the products of Mr. Samuel Chamber-
lain's farm, of about one hundred

acres, a few years since, is here given.

Butter, 3,486 lbs., . $767

Cheese, 3,836, ... 221

Beef, 603

Pork, 652

Veal, 152

Total, $2,395

This is the native place of Eli
Whitney. Soon after he graduated
at Yale College, he went to Georgia,
where he resided many years. While
there, he invented the cotton gin.
which is worth millions of dollars an-

nually to the southern states. He
died, and was buried in the city of
New Haven. The following is in-

scribed on his monument :
—

"Eli Whitney,
the inventor of the

Cotton Gin.

Of useful Science and Arts,
the eflScient patron
and improver.

Born Decemlx;r 8th, 1765. Died

Jannarj' 8th, 1825.

In ihe social relations of life,

a model of excellence.

While private
affection weeps at his tomb, hw

country honors his

memory.
There are a number of neat and

handsome villages m Westborough.
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Its eas> approach by the Worcester
railroad renders it a desirable abode,

particu'arly in the summer months.
It lies twelve miles east from Wor-
cester, thirty-two west from Boston,
and three and a half north-west from

Hopkinton Springs.

W^EST BOYLSTOX.

Worcester Co. This town once

composed a part of Boylston, Holden,
and Sterling. It was first settled

about the year 1720
;
in 1796 it be-

came a parish, and in 1797, its first

mmister, the Rev. William Nash, was
ordained.

The surface of the town is very
pleasant ;

the soil good, and well cul-

tivated. The Quinepoxet and Still-

water rivers meet the Nashua in this

town. These streams fertilize a large

portion of the town, and afford a wa-

ter-power of much value.

There are in the town a number
of pleasant manufacturing villages,
which are rapidly increasing in size,
and in various pursuits of domestic

industry. The value of cotton goods,

leather, boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats,
cotton machiner)'^, straw braid, school-

apparatus, hatchets, baskets, boxes,
&c., amounted nine years ago to two
hundred thousand dollars.

There is some scenery in this plea-
sant town of rather an uncommon char-

acter, and worthy of the traveller's

observation. It is a romantic little

spot, called " Pleasant Valley," once
the bed of a small jwnd, about a mile
south of the principal village.

" On leaving the road you enter a

grove of oaks and maples, between
two declivities, and continuing down
this avenue that winds along through
the shrub-oaks, at once opens to the

view a plain of three or four acres, of
an oval form, surrounded on every
side, except the narrow pass by which

j'ou enter, by high and almost per-

pendicular banks, whose sides are

covered by the birch and shrub-oak,
and whose tops are surmounted by
tree' of the largest size. The plain is

nicrt level and smooth than art could
make it

j
no remains of ancient trees,

no stone, not even a stray branch of
the neighboring grove near the scene.
A fine short grass covers the whole

area, and presents to the eye an en-

chanting fairy green. The stillness

of death reigns, undisturbed by the

noise of the world. It is a place for

contemplation, where man can turn
his thoughts home to his own breast,
and meditate on the follies of the

world, or where he can upturn them
to Him, the Supreme Architect of na-

ture."

West Boylston lies about eight
miles north from Worcester, and for-

ty-two Avesl from Boston.

%VEST BRIDftEAVATER.

Ply.mouth Co. This town was
taken from Bridgewater in 1822. Its

first settled minister was the Rev.
James Keith, in 1664. The town is

bounded north by North Bridgewater,
east by East Bridgewater, south by
Bridgewater, (the mother of them all,)
and west by Easton. The surface of
the town is generally level, and its

soil is capable of producing large

crops. There is much meadow land
in the town which yields an abun-
dance of excellent hay.
A large branch of Taunton river

gives this town a good water-power,
and manufactures of iron castings,

shovels, ploughs, forks, hoes
;

and
other articles, such as boots, shoes,

(Sec, are in a flourishing state.

Ancient Bridgewater was the first

interior settlement in the county, and
many of the settlers were called to

encounter the troubles and dangers
of Indian warfare. During Philip's
war they displayed great resolution

and intrepidity. Surrounded by a

savage foe,
"
they were strongly ad-

vised and solicited to desert their dwel-

lings and repair down to the towns
on the sea-side." They however res

olutely kept their ground, and defend-
ed their settlement, and encouraged
and assisted other towns to do the

same. They erected a stockade, or

garrison, on the south side of the riv-

er, and also fortified many of their

dwellings. It is stated that the In-
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diats burnt every building in the

io\vii except the garrison-houses.

BridgewiUer, before its division,
was a very large town, comprising
seventy-live square miles. It is one
of the most respectable sections of

New England, and it is a pity that

its various divisions have not more
distinctive names.

Centre and Madagascar villages,
m West Bridgewater. about two miles

apart, are neat, and busy in the labors

of domestic industry.
West Bridgewater lies twenty-five

miles south from Boston, twenty
north-west from Plymuulh, ten north

norih-east from Taunton, and twenty-
five north by east from Fall River.
A railroad will soon be in operation,

passing from the Old Colony rail-

road, at Braintree, through Randolph,
North Bridgewater, West Bridgewa-
ter, Bridgewater, RajTiham, and Berk-

ley, meeting the Fall River branch
near the south-west corner of Middle-

borough.

"WEST CAMBRIDGE.
Middlesex Co. This was the west

parish of Cambridge, called " Meno-
tomy," until its incorporation in

1807. A part of the lands are low
and swampy, but the general features
of the town are pleasant. Spy, Lit-

tle, and a part of Fresh pond, lie in

this town
; they abound vnlh fish, and

add much to the beauty of the place.
These ponds cover an area of about
two hundred acres, and furnish large
quantities of ice for transportation.
In this town are some very pleasant
villages, numerous country-seats, and
well cuhivated farms. Large quan-
tities of milk are daily taken to the

Boston market, and this place is a
considerable mart for cattle from the

interior country.
Sucker brook, though a small

stream, furnishes a good water-power.
The descent of this stream is so great,
-hat dams are erected in the town for

appropriating its waters nine different

limes. The mechanical operations of
West Cambridge consist of dying and

printing calico, pulverizing drups,

ui.'dicines, and dye-stuffs, a turning

and sawing-mill, and the manufac-
ture of saws, cards, boots, shoes, cab-

inet-ware and chairs
;

total annual
value about five hundred thousand
dollars.

West Cambridge is six miles north-

west from Boston, and twelve east by
south from Concord.
The whisthng steed passes through

this town several times a day on his

trips between the celebrated battle-

fields of Charlestowm and Lexington ;

and, though a fiery fellow, not in hos-

tile array, but carrying peace and

prosperity in his train.

\VESTFIEL<D.

Hampden Co. This delightful town
is situated at the confluence of Little

river from the west, and the powerful
Westfield from the north. It has the

Hampshire and Hampden canal pass-

ing through it from north to south,
and the western railroad from east to

west.

Westfield lies one hundred and

eight miles west by south from Bos-
ton, ten west from Springfield, sixteen

south from Northampton, and ninety-
two east from Albany. It is bounded
north by Southampton, east by West

Springfield, south by Southwick, and
west by Russell and Montgomery.

This place was formerly the resi-

dence of many red men, who called it

Wo/ononke, and was the scene of
much Indian barbarity. At the time
of its incorporation, in 1669, it was
the most western settlement in the

colony of IMassachusetts, and from
that circumstance it derived its name.
The central part of the town lies in

a valley or basin, of about four miles
in diameter, surrounded by high hills,

and is supposed to have been the bed
of a lake whose waters burst the

Mount Tom range of mountains, and
discharged itself into Connecticut riv-

er.

At this place nature has been boun-
tiful of her charms

;
here " are around

us all the varied features of her beauty
and grandeur—the forest-crowTied

height ;
the abrupt acclivity ;

the

sheltered valley : the rippling cur
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rent, and deep glen ;
the gi'assy glade,

and the silent grove." When to

these natural beauties, connected with

the admirable hydraulic power of the

place, are added the artificial improve-
ments WTOught by the hand of man,
for the benefit of the community, no
one can but adore the hand of Him
who has changed this lovely spot from
a haunt of savage beasts and men, to

the I'esidence of those who can appre-
ciate His power and benevolence, and
who possess both the will and the

means to labor for the best interests

of their country.
Such are the different kinds of soil

in this town, that it probably produces
a greater variety of native trees,

grasses, shrubbery, and flowers, than

any other place of its size in the coun-

try. The population of the town in

1830, was 2,911; in 1837, 3,039; in

1810, 3,-524, and in 1845, 4,200.
The principal village in the town is

about half a mile south from the west-

ern railroad. It is very handsome, and
is fast advancing in wealth and pop-
ulation. One of the Normal schools,
established by the state, is located

here. This school has about seventy-
five scholars, and is an institution

highly spoken of as a nursery for

teachers. And here too, is the West-
field Academy, founded in 1796. This

institution is in high standing, and
since it went into operation, in 1800,
has produced about five thousand
scholars.

A large part of the population of

the town are engaged in manufactur-

ing such articles as whips, gunpow-
der, tin ware, ploughs, cabinet and
wooden wares, chairs, palm-leaf hats,

cigars, leather, boots, shoes, &c.
;
the

annual value of which, before the

westei'n railroad was opened, amount-
ed to nearly half a million of dollars

;

the article of whips alone amounted
to at least half that sum.

Westfield was first settled about
the year 1659. The first religious

meeting on the Sabbath held in the

town was in 1667. For some time

after that, the people were called to

the house of prayer by the beat of a
drum. A church was organized in

1679, and the Rev. Edward Taylor,
the first settled minister, was ordained
the same year. He was succeeded

by the Rev. Nehemiah Ball, in 1726.

The next minister was the Rev. John
Ballantine, in 1741. "Mr. Ballan-
tine never preached the same sermon
twice

; always kept twenty sermons
before hand, and completed his two
sermons for the Sabbath on Tuesday
evening, leaving the remainder of the

week for visiting and domestic con-
cerns. He always rose before sun-
rise at all seasons of the year." He
died in 1776, aged sixty.

AVESTFORD.
JMiDDLESEX Co. This is a good

farming tovm, on elevated ground,
twenty-eight miles north-west from

Boston, and ten north north-west from
Concord. From Forge village to the

Littleton depot on the Fitchburg rail-

road, is about three miles south.

Westford is bounded north by Tyngs-
borough, east by Chelmsford, south by
Littleton, and west by Groton.

The surface and soil of the town
are well adapted to the growth of

grain, grass, and fruit, and large

quantities of hay and v^egetables are

annually sent to Boston and Lowell.

Quantities of fine granite, commonly
called " Chelmsford granite," are

found here, quarried, and transported.
Westford is watered by several beau-
tiful ponds ;

and by Stony brook,
which rises in the town, gives it good
mill privileges, and passes to the Mer-
rimack.
The manufactures of Westford con-

sist of bar iron, shoes, leather, &:c.

The village in the centre of the

town is handsomely situated on a
swell of fine land, commanding a
beautiful prospect, of great extent,
and contains an academy of ancient

date, and respectable standing.
The meeting-houses in this town

are so elevated as to be seen at a

great distance.

The first church was formed in 1727.

Clergy, Rev. WiUard Hall, 1727
;
Rev.

Matthew Scribner, 1779
;
Rev. Caleb

Blake, 1792
;
Rev. Ephraim Randall,

1829.
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WESTIIAMl'TOX.

Hampshire Co. This town is

hounded north by Chesterfiuld and

Williamsburgh, cast by Northampton,
south by Southampton, and west by
Norwich. It was first settled about

the year 17ti7, and formed the west

parish of Northampton until its incor-

poration, in 1778. The first minister

was the Rev. Enoch Hale, in 1779.

I\Ir. Hale was the brother of Captain
Nathan Hale, of Connecticut, who fell

a martjT to the cause of American

liberty, having been e.xeciited by the

British as a spy, in 1775.

The features of the town are gener-

ally rough, but pleasing; the soil is

good, and productive of beef cattle,

wool, and the fruits of the dairy. A
number of streams rise in the high-
lands, among which is the 3Ianhan,
affording a water-power sutlicient for

domestic uses. There are some man-
ufactures in the town, but the princi-

pal business of the people is firming,

by which they live and thrive.

There is a ncnt village near the

centre of Westhampton, which lies

eight miles west south-west from

Northampton, and ninety-eight west

by south from Boston.

AVESTxMIXSTER.

Worcester Co. This town lies

on the range of highlands which sep-
arate the waters of the Connecticut
and Merrimack. From a handsome

village in the centre of the town a

pro.=;pect is presented f)f lake, moun-
tain, and valley, with all the varied

scenery which renders a New Eng-
land town peculiarly delightful.

Several streams, rising from large

ponds in this town and its neighbor-
liood, produce a considerable water-

power, which is improved for manu-
factures of various kinds. Tiiese wa-
ters arc so elevated and constant that,
with a small expense, they might be
rendered exceedingly valuable. They
deserve the particular attention of
iho~e in search of mill sites in this

cart of the state.

Tiie manufactures of Westminster
2f)*

consist of chairs, cabinet, and wooden

wares, hats, boots, shoes, straw bon

nets, palm-leaf hats, card boards, sad

diery, and leather.

This town lies fifty miles west

north-west from Boston, twenty north

by west from Worcester, and seven

south-west from Fitchburg.
This town was first settled in 1737.

In 173y, a meeting-house was built;
and in 1742, a church was formed,
and the Rev. Eiisha JMarsh was or-

dained pastor.

\VEST XEWBURY.
Essex Co. This debghtful agri-

cultural town was taken from ancient

Newbury in 1819. It is bounded north

by Merrimack river, east and south by
Newbury, and west by Bradford. The
first ministry commenced here in 1698,
and the Rev. Samuel Belcher was set-

tled the same year. In this town are

a Society of Friends.

This town occupies an elevated sit-

uation on the south banic of the I\Ier-

rimack. The soil is e.vcellent, and

grain and hay are produced in great

quantities. The butter and cheese

made in this town are held in high
estimation. Fruit is also produced in

abundance. The town is connected
with Rocks village, Haverhill, by an
excellent bridge over the Merrimack,
one thousand feet in length. This

bridge was built in 1828
;

the one

previous was erected in 1796, but was

swept away in the great freshet of

1818. From the elevated grounds in

this town many fine prospects of the

surrounding scenery are obtained.

Perhaps in no part of the country
are finer views of distant mountains

;

and richly cultivated fields, with a
wide and placid stream in their midst,
than can be found in this and other

towns on the banks of the beautiful

]\Ierrimack.

Although most of the inhabitants of
the town are professional farmers, still

there are manufactures of bar iron,

combs, chaises, leather, and shoes.

West Newbury lies tour miles west

j

from Ncwburyport, and by the rail-

rond from Newburyport, thirty-eight

!
miles north from Boston.
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\^'^ESTO]V.

Middlesex Co. Previous to its incor-

poration, in 1713, the territory of this

town was a part of Walertown. The
town was settled about 1673. The
first settled minister in this place was
the Rev. William Williams, in 1709.

His successors were, the Rev. Samuel
Woodward, in 1751

;
the Rev. Samuel

Kendall, D. D., in 1783
;
the Rev. Jo-

seph Field, D. D., in 1815.

This town is on high ground, and
its surface is agreeably varied by hills

and valleys. There are many ele-

vated spots in the town from which
the distant hills

;
the tine cultivated

farms
; delightful villages, and coun-

try seats, in this and the neighboring
towns are presented to view.
The soil of the town is good, and

well improved. There are some
small streams in the town. Stony
brook and others, and Charles river

washes its eastern border, and divides

it from Newton. The Worcester rail-

road passes its south-eastern corner,
and the Fitchburg railroad goes
through the north part of the town.
From the centre of the town to the

Fitchburg railroad depot is about a
mile.

The manufactures of the town con-
sist of boots, shoes, leather, machinery,
ploughs, chairs, harnesses, pottery
ware, &c.

This pleasant town is so easily ap-
proached from the city, that it is fast

filling up by citizens who love a coun-

try residence. It lies fourteen miles

west by south from Boston, and nine

south south-east from Concord.

WESTPORT.

Bristol Co. Westport is bounded
north by Fall River, east by Dart-

mouth, south by the ocean, and west

by the state of Rhode Island. It lies

near the entrance into Buzzard's Bay,
on the north side. It has an excellent

harbor near the sea, formed by Horse
Neck beach, extending in front of a

large and handsome maritime village,
called Westport Point, situated be-

tween the east and west branches of

Acoakset river, which meet the tide-

waters here. This place was formerly
the residence of many Indians, who
gave to it the name of the river. It

was attached to Dartmouth until its

incorporation, in 1787.

Acoakset river, extending the whole

length of the town, more than twelve

miles, affords a good water-power,
some part of which is employed in

the manufacture of cotton goods, iron

ware, &c. A number of whaling ves-
sels have sailed from this port for

many years, and that adventurous
business is annually increasing.
There are other vessels belonging to

this place engaged in common nauti-

cal pursuits.
There is another flourishing village

in the town, called the Head of West-

port, on the Acoakset, about eight
miles north from Westport Point, eight
north-east from Fall River, and seven
west by south from New Bedford.

There is much good land in the

town, but the surface is somewhat
varied. Considerable wool is grown
here, and some salt manufactured.
The village at the harbor, on the

east side of the point, lies about twelve
miles south-west from New Bedford,
sixteen south south-east from Fall

River, and sixty-seven south from
Boston.

WEST SPRIXGFIEIiD.

Hampden Co. This is a large,

pleasant, and flourishing agricultural

town, situated on the west bank of
Connecticut river, and watered by the

beautiful Westfield river from west to

east. It stretches along the bank of
the Connecticut the whole width of
the county, some fifteen miles, and is

about five miles in breadth. It is

bounded east by Connecticut river,
which separates it from Springfield,
south by Suflield, Connecticut

;
west

by Southwick, Westfield. and South-

ampton, and north by Northampton
and Easthampton.
The surface of the town is delightr

fully varied by hills and valleys
From Proven's mountain, six hun
dred and sixtv-five feet above the
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river, a vastly varied prospect is pre-
seiiied. The soil of the town is alao

greatly varied, but for the most part
the lands are excellent

; large traets

along the banks of the rivers are ex-

ceedingly fertile. This town presents
not only a soil and surface of good
character for agricultural pursuits, but

possesses cultivators who make it

iheir study to understand the nature
of soils, and to apply their skill and
labor in producing suitable crops, to

the best effect.

Our agricultural and horticultural

societies are maktng laudable exer-

tions to awaken the attention of farm-
ers to the sciences connected with the

natural productions of the earth
; by

such means the stubborn soil of New
England will be subdued, and its va-
ried features become as a blooming
garden, supplying the wants of its

thousand factory villages, and render-

ing itself independent by a proper
a])plication of its means.

Westfield river and its tributaries

alFord the town a good water-power ;

and although the people have gener-
ally, hitherto, devoted themselves to

the cultivation of the soil
; producing

fat cattle, wool, and all the varieties

of the dairy, they are now using their

streams for manufacturing purposes ;

thereby providing a home market for

their surplus productions. The man-
ufactures consist of cotton and woollen

goods, paper, and various other arti-

cles.

There are a number of pleasant
and flourishing villages in this large
town

;
those called West Springfield,

Agawam, Feeding Hills, and Ireland

l)arish, are the principal. The former
lies about two miles above Spring-
field, on the opposite bank of the river,
and is about three miles north from

Agawam, live north-east from Feed-

ing Hills, and six south from Ireland

parish. This town is connected with

Springfield, by a bridge, four ferries,
and by the western railroad, which
crosses the river by a viaduct, and
passes through the town, one hundred
miles west south-west from Boston,
and one hundred east south-east from

Albany.

This town was formerly a part of

Springfield, and called "
Springfield

Alountains." It was first settled about
ItJol. The first church was gathered
in 11)98, and the following Rev. gen-
tlemen have been its pastors :

—John
Woodbridge, settled in it)98

;
Samuel

Hopkins, 1720
; Joseph Lothrop, D. D.,

175G; William B. Sprague, D. D.,

1819; Thomas E. Vermilye, 1830;
John H. Hunter, 1835.

See Note No. 2.

^VEST STOCKBRIDGE.

Berkshirf, Co. This town was
formerly a part of Stockbridge. It

was purchased of the Stockbridge
Indians by the whites, and called

Queeiisborough until its incorporation,
in 1771. The white men first settled

here in 1766
;
and in 1789 they form-

ed a church, and settled their first

minister, the Rev. Oliver Ayres, in

1793. It is bounded north by Rich-
mond, east by Stockbridge, south by
Alford and Great Barringion, and west

by Alford, and Ausierliiz, in the state

of New York.
A collection of rugged hills occupy

the centre of the town. Near the
south-west corner is a mountain called
Tom Ball, extending into Great Bar-

riugton and AUbrd, while Stockbridge
mountain is on the eastern side. The
.south and south-eastern parts consist

generally of rough, broken land.
Lime quarries abound. There is

much valuable marble in the town, of
various colors

;
some hardly less infe-

rior in whiteness to snow, some parti-

colored, mostly with blue
;
some is

dove-colored, some is gray, and some
is black. In Boynston's quarry, near
the village, (in 1828,) an opening or
fissure in the rocks, about fifteen feet

deep, and from eighteen to four inches
in diameter, was charged with two
bundled and four pounds of powder.
Upon firing it, a mass of marble was
raised, about sixty feet square on the

surface, and eight feet thick, and at

least twice that quantity was loosened.
The manufactures of the town con-

sist of machinery, bar iron, axes,
brads, leather, boots, :ihi>es, Are

;
bUk
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the chief article of manufacture, is its

beautiful native marble, which is quar-
ried in large quantities, sawed and
formed into all shapes, and transported
to all quarters.
West Stockbridge village, watered

by Williams' river, which passes

through the town, is a pleasant, busy
place ;

it is the terminus of the Hou-
satonic railroad from Bridgeport, on

Long Island Sound, but is united to

the western railroad by a branch rail-

road, two rniles and three quarters in

length, to the state line, where a de-

pot on the western railroad in this

Town is located. From this depot the

distances, by railroads, are, to Boston,
one hundred and sixty-two miles

;
to

Albany, thirty-eight ;
to Hudson, thir-

ty-four, and to Bridgeport, ninety-

eight miles. From Albany to New
York, by water, is one hundred and

Ibrty-five miles
;

from Hudson, one
hundred and sixteen

;
and from

Bridgeport to New York is sixty miles.

WEYMOUTH.

Norfolk Co. This town is bounded
north by the waters of Boston harbor,
east by Hingham, south by Abington,
and west by Braintree and Kandolph.
It is about eight miles in length,
and three in breadth. It was called

Wessagvset by the Indians, and by
the English, Weymouth, from a town
in England, from which emigrants
came in 1624.

This was the second settlement

made by white men in New England.
Mr. Thomas Weston, a respectable
merchant of London, who had been
active in promoting the interests of

the Plymouth colonists, sent two ships
and fifty or sixty men to plant a colony
at this place, in the year 1622. The
fate of the colony was as unlbrtunate
as the designs of Mr. Weston were phi-

lanthropic. By the unjust and wan-
ton conduct of his agents towards the

natives, the colony would have been

totally destroyed, were it not for the

timely assistance aflbrded it by a band
of men from the Plymouth Colony,
commanded by the gallant Standish.

The colony was broken up. and Mr.

Weston lost his life on the coast in

attempting to reach it. This place
was, however, permanently settled by
the Rev. William Morrill, Captain
Robert Georges, and others, in the

year 1624.

The surface of the town is plea-

santly diversified by hills and valleys.
Some of the elevations are command-
ing, and present delightful views of
Boston harbor, Massachusetts Bay,
and the adjacent country. The soil

is a strong gravelly loam, with a gra-
nitic superstructure.

This town was formerly noted for

its excellent dairies, particularly for

its cheese, of a superior richness and
flavor

;
but little of which is now

made in consequence of the increased
value of the lands.

Weymouth is finely watered by
large and beautiful ponds, and by two

important arms of Boston harbor,
called Fore and Back rivers. These
rivers are navigable for large vessels,
and at their head are valuable mill

privileges. Between these rivers, and
between the towns of Braintree and

Hingham is a large tract of gently
swellmg land of good soil, extending
to Quincy, and is united to "

Quincy
Point "

by a bridge across Fore river.

Over this ground the turnpike road
between Quincy and Hiiigham passes.

There are several pleasant villages
in Weymouth, but the principal place
of business in the town is at •' Wey-
mouth Landing," so called, or Wash-
ington Square, at the head of Fore

river, on the line of, and connected with
a large village in Braintree. This

place, being at the head of navigation
for a large and flourishing section of

country, has long enjoyed, and must
ever possess, superior privileges as a

place of trade. About one thousand
tons of shipping are owned here, em-

ployed in the fishery and domestic
commerce. At this place are a number
of wharves, warehouses, a steam saw-

mill, and manufactures of various

kinds. Ship-building is carried on to

some extent, and large quantities oi

lumber. Hour, grain, lime, coal, wood,
&:c., are annually sold.

This villaK*? lies on ilie Plvmouth
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and New Bedford turnpikes, eleven

miles soulh by east Iroin Bostou,

twenty-four north north-west from Ply-
mouth, fourteen south-east from Ded-

ham, live west from Hingham, three

south-east from Quiiicy, and nine

soulii south-west from Boston Light.
The raihoad from Quincy to Cohasset
and Du.xhury passes through this plea-
sant and nourishing village.
The village at the south part of the

town is pleasantly situated on elevated

ground, about three miles south from

Washington Square. The people
here are extensively engaged in the

manufacture of boots and shoes. The
Old Colony railroad passes through
this part of the town, fourteen mUes
from Boston.

Intercourse with the city, by land,
is exceedingly easy, and packets, for

the transportation of granite, and all

kinds of merchandise, navigate the

rivers about nine months in the year.
The roads in this section of the

country are remarkably fine, and

many citizens of Boston make Wey-
mouth their summer residence.

The manufactures of the town are

various, but those of leather, boots,
and shoes, are the most considerable.
The annual amount of these manu-
factures varies from half a milioii to

a million of dollars aimnally.
This ancient town has been the

birth-place and residence of many
men of great usefulness in society.

Among the number, the name of Cot-
TO.N Tufts, M. D., 31. M. S. S., A. A.

S., will long be remembered as a rev-

olutionary patriarch, and skilful phy-
sician.

The following are the names of the

Rev. gentlemen who have been pas-
tors of the first church in Weymoutli,
with the year of their settlement :

—
Rev. Mr. Barnard, 1624

; Joseph
Hull, 1635; Thomas Jenner, 1636;
Robert Lenthall, 1638

; Samuel New-
man, 1639

;
Thomas Thatcher, 1614

;

Samuel Torrey, 1656
;
Peter Thatch-

er, 1707 ; Thomas Paine, 1719
;
Wil-

liam Smith, 1734
;

Jacob Norton,
1787; Josiah Bent, 1824; John C.

Phillips, 1833; Joshua Emerv, jr.,

1S39.

WHATJELY.

Franklin Co. Previous to its incor-

poration, in 1771, this town comprised
the north part of Hatfield. The Rev.
Rufus Wells, the first minister in the

town, was settled in 1771, and died in

1834, aged ninety. The Rev. Lemuel
P. Bates was settled as colleague in

1822, and was succeeded in the min-

istry by the Rev. John Ferguson, in

1836.

Whately is bounded north by Con-

way and Deerfield, east by Connecti-

cut river, south by Hatfield, and west

by Williamsburg and Conway. The
town is well watered by Mill rival

and West brook, on which streams
are maimfaciures of woollen goods,

tanneries, and manufactures of gim-
lets, hammers, augers, brushes, &c
A considerable amount of boots, shoes,

pocket-books, palm-leaf hats, brooms,
&CC., are made here.

In this town there is a considerable

quantity of intervale land on Connecti-

cut river, but it is not of the first

quality. The principal street runs par-
allel with the river about two miles
westward

;
between this street and

the river there is an extensive tract

of swampy land, called Whately
swamp, extending from north to south,
almost the entire length of the town.
Westward of the street the township
is hilly, and the soil in many places
rich and fertile. s

The town produces considerable

quantities of broom corn, and large
numbers of sheep graze in its pas-
tures.

The village of West Whately is

pleasantly located amid the high
groimds at the west part of the town,
about five miles from the river. About
two miles northward from this village
is Mount Esther, nine hundred and
ninety-five feet above the river, from
which is a grand prospect of mountain,
meadow, and river.

Whately lies nine miles north from

Northampton, eleven south from

Greenfield, and ninety west by north
from Boston. The railroad betweea

Springfield and Greenfield passes
ihrousli this (own.
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WILBRAHAM.

Hampden Co. This territory was
first settled in 1731 . Before its incor-

poration, in 1763, it was the fourth

parish of Springfield, and called

"Springfield Mountains." The first

settled minister was the Rev. Noah
Merrick, in 1741.

The people of this pleasant town are

principally employed in agricultural

pursuits, and are remarkable for

equality of property. This town is

watered by the Chickopee and several

of its small tributaries. The surface

is agreeably diversified by hills and

valleys, and the soil is well adapted
to agricultural pursuits. The pro-
ducts of Wilbraham are numerous

;

among others, the weight of two thou-

sand two hundred and ninety-two
fleeces of wool, sheared in this town
in one year, was six thousand one

hundred and ten pounds, valued at

three thousand six hundred and sixty-
nine dollars. There are some manu-
factures in the town of boots, shoes,

leather, straw bonnets, palm-leaf hats,

wagons, &c.
The "Wesleyan Academy," in

Wilbraham, is an institution of great

value, and in high reputation. It has

considerable funds, and about two
hundred and fifty scholars attend

throughout the year. Scholars are

received at this seminary from ten

years of age and upwards. The an-

nual cost to a scholar for board and
tuition is from eighty to ninety dollars.

This institution was incorporated in

1824, and is governed by a board of

trustees. This institution is situated

at the north part of the town, in a

pleasant village, about three miles

from the western railroad. From this

village, by the railroad, it is nine

miles to Springfield, and ninety-five
from Boston. South Wilbraham vil-

lage lies four miles south from the

academy, and two miles north from

Rattlesnake Hill, which rears its head
one thousand and seventy-seven feet

above the Connecticut.

Great excitement existed in this

quiet town and vicinity by the murder
of Marcus Lyon, on the 9th of No-

vember, 1805. The murder was
committed by two foreigners, Halli

gan and Daley, who were hanged at

Northampton on the 5th of June, 180C
Stafford Springs, a celebrated wa-

tering-place, in the town of Stafford,

Connecticut, lies about ten miles
south-east from South Wilbraham vil-

lage. Travellers from the east can
best reach these springs by stopping
at the Palmer depot, on the western

railroad, from which they are about
fifteen miles south.

WILLIAMSBURG.

Hampshire Co. This township was
granted in 1736, to volunteers for ser-

vices against the Indians in 1704. It

was attached to Hatfield, and called

Hatfield Addition, until its incorpora-
tion, in 1771. The first minister in

the town, the Rev. Amos Butler, was
settled in 1773.

The surface of this town is quite

elevated, but pleasantly variegated by
hills and valleys ;

the soil is warm,
fertile, and productive of fat cattle,

wool, and fruits of the dairy. It is

watered by Mill river, a fine stream,
which passes through the centre of

the town, and falls into the Connecti-

cut at Northampton.
The manufactures of the town are

numerous and important ; they con-

sist of woollen cloth, boots, shoes, lea-

ther, hats, iron castings, axes, gimlets,

screw-drivers, stocks, flexible and

japan buttons, stocking yarn, lather

boxes, &c.
Our New England towns are well

enough in most respects ;
but the

boundaries of some of them are as

angular as an old fashioned cocked-

up hat, and the lines as crooked as

the streets in Boston. Owing to this,

and our unpardonable neglect in not

examining Mr. Borden's excellent

map of the state more minutely, we
have noticed Haydensville under

Hatfield, when that flourishing village
is located in Williamshurg.
Williamsburg lies eight miles north-

west from Northampton, and ninety-
eight we^t from Bo«;ion.



CiAZETTKl.lC OK MASSACHU.-iKT'lS. :ni

W ILI^l A MSTO \V X

Berkshire Co.

up to iheir tops, have a good, and in

many places, an excellent soil, suited

This town is situ- both to grazing? and tillage ; though

ishing

ated in a large and fertile valley, sur-
! generally best lor the former. There

rounded by romantic elevations, and
 

watered by Iloosaclc and Green rivers.

These beautiful streams unite their

hydraulic powers and fertilizing qual-
ities, to render this remote valley a
scene of competenre and jieace, and a

delightfid retreat for the muses.
This town was first settled about

the year ITol, and was called Huusuck

by the Indians. It lies at the north-

west corner of the state, and is bound-
ed north by Pownal, in Vermont

;

east by Clarlcsburg and Adams, south

by New Ashford, and west by Berlin

and Petersburg, in the state of New-
York.
A church was organized here in

the year 1765, and the Rev. Whitman
Welsh was settled the same year.
Mr. Welsh's successors were the Rev.
Seth Swift, in 1779; Rev. Walter

King, in 1813; Rev. R. W. Gridiey,
in 1816; Rev. Joseph Alden, in 1834.

This beautiful valley has four easy
passages to it from difierent sides, one
on the north, by which the Hoosic

passes to Pownal
;

a second on the

east, near the north-east corner, by
which the Hoosic comes in from Ad-
ams

;
a third on the south side, near

the middle, by which the east branch
of Green river comes in from New
Ashford

;
and a fourth at the south-

west corner, by which the west branch
of Green river enters from Hancock.
The general character of the soil is

clayey ;
but in few places is the clay

so hard and stiff as to be injurious to

its fertility. Loam predominates in

some places, and a few spots of some
extent, may be called gravelly. Some
of the best lands lie along the Hoosic,

particularly in the eastern part of the

town, though not a very large part is

properly called " meadow." A pretty
large tract in the south part of the

town, about the junction of the two

principal branches of Green river, and
along up those streams is also particu-

larly fertile and
" ~
beautiful. But the

hills also, and generally the mountain
;

laturc vested it with college pri

sides, almost, and sometimes quite, ,
See Public Institutions.

IS in the town very little swampy or

marshy land, and the hill jiastures are

not overrun, as in many parts of the

country, with moss and ferns.

There are cotton and woollen mills

in the town, and manufactures of

starch, cabinet-ware, ctiairs, palm-
leaf hats, shovels, hats, leather, ice.

The number of sheep in this flour-

town, in the year
1837, was eight thousand

; viz., two
thousand Saxony, five thousand eight
hundred Merino, and two hundred
common. The fleeces of these sheep
weighed twenty-three thousand two
hundred pounds, and sold for thirteen

thousand nine hundred and sixty-five
dollars. Large quantities of beef,

pork, butter, and cheese, are annually
sent to market from this rich and well

cultivated valley.
The village in this town is delight-

fully situated on a gentle rise from
the river. The buildings are gener-

ally tastefully constructed, and com-
mand a great variety of superb scene-

ry. This town contains a tepid spring,
of some repute in cutaneous diseases.

Williams College, in this town, is

handsomely located. It derived its

name from Colonel Ephrai.m Wil-
liams, a native of Newton, and a dis-

tinguished benefactor of Williams-
town. Colonel Williams was a man
of talents, brave, witty, polite, and

popular. He commanded the line of
forts on the west side of Connecticut

river, in the French and Indian wars
from 1740 to 1748. In 175-5, he re-

ceived the command of a regiment,
and joined general Johnson. He fell,

at the head of one thousand two hun-
dred men, near Lake George, on the

8th of September of that year. Col-

onel Williams, being a bachelor, gave

j

the most of his estate for the estab

I

lishment of a free grammar school at
'

this place. The school went into of>e
ration in 1791, and in 1793 the legis-

leges.



312 GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS.

"Williamstown lies one hundred and

twenty-five miles west north-west

from Boston, twenty-four north from

Pittstield, thirty-five west by north

from Greenfield, and thirty-five east

by north from Albany.
A railroad will soon be in operation

from Adams to Pittsfield. That road

will doubtless be extended to this de-

lightful Alpine valley, a distance of

seven miles, and ultimately to Ben-

nington, Vermont, a distance of about

forty miles from Pittsfield.

AVILMIXGTOIV.

Middlesex Co. At the time of its

incorporation, in 1730, this town was
a part of Woburn and Reading. It is

bounded north by Andover, east by
Reading, south by Woburn and Bur-

lington, and west by Billerica.

The surface of this town is gener-

ally level, with a light and sandy soil.

The wood is chietly pine, and much
charcoal is made. This kind of soil,

although unfit for the generality of

crops, is well adapted for the growth
of hops, of which large quantities, of

a fine quality, are produced in Wil-

mington and the neighboring towns,
which frequently afibrd the cultivator

a large profit.

During the period of thirty-two

years, 1806—1837, inclusive, there

were inspected at Charlestown, seven-

ty-six thousand eight hundred and six-

ty bags of hops, weighing sixteen mil-

lion four hundred and sixty-seven
thousand one hundred and eighty-two

pounds. The price varied from thir-

ty-four to five cents a pound. The

highest price was in 1817, the lowest,
in 1819

; average price, thirteen and
one fifth cents. Total value, two mil-

lion one hundred and sixty-nine thou-

sand four hundred and thirty dollars.

The town is watered by a branch
of Ipswich river

;
the Middlesex canal

passes through it, and adds much to

the beauty of its scenery.
The Boston and Lowell and Boston

and Maine railroads pass through this

town, fifteen miles north-west from

Boston, eleven south-east from Low-
ell, and seven south from Andover.

AVIjVCHEN^DON.
Worcester Co. Before its incor-

poration, in 1764, the territory of this

town was called "
Ipswich Canada,''

it having been granted to the heirs of

soldiers from Ipswich who served in

an expedition to Canada in 1690. It

was first settled about the year 1752,
and the first minister, the Rev. Daniel

Stimpson, was settled the same year.
He was succeeded by the Rev. Joseph
Brown, in 1769

;
the Rev. Levi Pills-

bury, in 1801; Rev. Ebenr. L. Clark,
in 1820; Rev. Daniel 0. Morton, in

1836.

This town is bounded north by
Rindge, New Hampshire ;

east by
Ashburnham, south by Templeton,
and west by Roj'alston.
The surface of this town is some-

what uneven, but not mountainous
;

there are many rocks, but the soil is

deep, strong, and fertile, possessing

every requisition of a good farming
town.

This town is watered by several

streams which afford a good water-

power, but particularly by Miller's

river, a noble mill stream, which
takes its rise from Monomonack pond,

partly in this town, and partly in

Rindge. There are fine quarries of

granite in the town, and a spring tinc-

tured with iron and sulphur.
There are a number of neat and

flourishing manufacturing villages in

the town, called Robinsonville, Bul-

lardsville, Waterville, Spring, North,
and New Boston

;
near the latter is a

beautiful pond, whose crystal waters

would suit the fastidious notions of

the good people of Boston, if they
could tap it.

Manufacturing- operations com-
menced here some years ago, and
have been annually advancing in

value. The excellent water-power in

the town, and the Boston and Ver-
mont railroad passing through it, will

place Winchendon high on the list of

manufacturing towns.

The manufactures in 1837, consist-

ed of cotton and woollen goods, lea-

ther, chairs, cabinet and wooden-

wares, &c.
;

total value about one
hundred thousand dollars.
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Winchendoii lies thirty miles

north aorth-west from Worcester,
about fourteen west north-west from

Fitchburg, from which to Boston is

fifty miles.

Tornado. "About six o'clock,

Sunday evening, September 9th, a
black and terriflc cloud appeared a
little south of the centre of Northfield,
Franklin county, nearly in the form
of a pyramid reversed, moving very
rapidly, and with a terrible noise. In

its progress it swept away or pros-
trated all the trees, fences, stone walls,
and buildings which came within its

vortex, which in some places was not

more than twenty rods, and in others

forty or fifty. It passed from North-
field through Warwick and Orange, to

the south-westerly part of Royalston,
where its force was broken by TuUy
mountain. Its path was strewed for

the distance of twenty-five miles,

through the towns of Royalston, Win-
chendon, Ashburnham, and Fitch-

burg, with fragments of buildings,
sheaves of grain, bundles of corn-

stalks, clothing, iScc.

" Several persons were killed and

wounded, numerous houses, barns,

&c., demolished, and many domestic
animals in the track of the tornado,
were destroyed. Large trees were
taken two hundred feet into the air, and

logs which would require four oxen to

remove them, were swept out of the

bed of TuUy river, where they had
lain for more than half a century.
The ground was torn up from the

river to the mountain, about forty
rods, from one foot to six feet deep.
The surface of the earth was broken

throughout the whole course of the

whirlwind, as with the ploughshare of

destruction. Stones of many hundred

pounds' weight, were rolled from their

beds. Lots of wood were hurled into

promiscuous heaps, with roots and

tops, and tops and roots. The ap-
pearance presented by the track of

the whirlwind, indicated, as near as

the writer can judge from actual in-

spection, that the form of the cloud,
and the body of air in motion, was
that of an inverted pyramid, drawing

27

whatever came within its influence

towards the centre of motion."

WIXD.SOR.

Berkshire Co. Noah Nash gave the

province of JNlassachusetts one thou-

sand four hundred and thirty pounds
for this township, in 1762. It was six

miles square. It was first settled

about the year 1766. Its Indian

name was Ouschdnkamang;. It was

incorporated by the name of Gagebo-
rough, in 1771

; but, after the revolu-

tionary war began, in 1777, the name
was changed,

" because Gageborough
might seem to perpetuate the memory
of the detested General Gage." A
church was formed here in 1772, and
the Rev. David Avery was installed

their pastor in 1773.

This town has a lofty elevation, and
surface somewhat uneven. The height
of land lies in a north and south di-

rection, a little west of the centre;
from which the descent is gradual,
both to the east and west. On the

east side rises Westfield river, which
takes a north-eastern course

;
and on

the west side the Housatonic, which
runs towards the south-west. The

origin and sources of these streams

are but a few rods from each other, a

little south of the Congregational
meeting-house. They receive several

brooks in their passage through the

town.
On the Housatonic, in the south-

west part of the town, near the line

of Dalton, are falls, judged to be about

seventy feet. Though the quantity
of water is not great, yet it is precipi-
tated down the rock with such vio-

lence that it affords a prospect truly
sublime. The rock over which it

passes is divided near the middle, one

part projecting much farther than the

other. On the projecting rock a flume
is placed, which takes sufficient water
to carry a saw and grist-mill.

The soil of the town is warm, and

finely adapted for grazing. There are

some excellent farms in Windsor, and
the productions of the dairy and of

cattle are considerable. In one year,
there were seven thousand one hun-
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dred and fifty-seven sheep in the town,
principally of the Saxony and Merino
breeds. Their wool weighed twenty-
one thousand three hundred and

eighty-seven pounds, and sold for ten

thousand five hundred and twenty-one
dollars. This town is remarkable for

the longevity of its inhabitants
;
which

is doubtless owing to the purity of its

air and water. There are some man-
ufactures in the town, but chiefly for

domestic uses.

Windsor lies twelve miles north-

east from Pittsfield, and, by the old

road through Northampton, about one
hundred and twenty miles west by
north from Boston.

WOBURN.
Middlesex Co. This town is situ-

ated ten miles north-west by north from

Boston, twelve east by north from

Concord, fourteen south-east from

Lowell, and fourteen west from Sa-

lem. It was granted by the general
court to the town and church of

Charlestown, in 1640
;

settled there-

from early in 1641, and called Charles-

town Village. In 1642 it was incor-

porated under its present name.
The surface of the township is une-

ven, and very much diversified by
hills, dales, and woods, being thereby
rendered exceedingly variegated and

pleasant. It contains several beauti-

ful sheets of water, particularly Horn
Pond, which is so remarkable for its

rural beauties, as to attract numerous
visitors from a distance. Middlesex
canal passes by the side of the pond,
and makes a descent of forty-five feet

by means of three double locks. The
waters of this and several smaller

ponds, after furnishing some valuable
and well improved water-power, fall

into Mystic river, through Mystic
pond, in Medford.
The soil is very various, but gener-

ally strong and rough ;
much of it is

fertile, and the town contains some
beautiful farms. Woburn is, how-

ever, essentially a manufacturing
town

;
and pleasant villages have

sprung up in its various parts. The

principal manufacture is of shoes and
of leather

;
besides these are doors,

blinds, and sashes, mahogany veneers
and knobs, furniture, tin, and cabinet-

wares, India rubber goods, sewing silk,

tiles, saws, and lasts.

The Boston and Lowell railroad

passes from south to north through
the easterly part of the town

;
from

which a branch two miles in-length,
to Woburn Centre, has just been con-

structed. Warren Academy, incor-

porated 1828, is delightfully situated

near the centre, on a beautiful emi-
nence. The houses of public worship
in town are two Congregational, two

Baptist and one Universahst.

A church was formed in Woburn
in the year 1642, and the Rev. Thom-
as Carter was settled the same year.
Mr. Carter's successors were, the Rev.
Jabez Fox, in 1680

;
Rev. John Fox,

in 1703
;

Rev. Edward Jackson, in

1729.

The following is a copy of the bill

of expenses at the ordination of Mr.

Jackson, in 1729
j
from the town rec-

ords :
—

£ s.d.

To 433 dinners, at 2s. 6d. a dinner, 54 2 6

To suppers and breakfasts 178, 8 18

To keeping 32 horses 4 days, 3
To six barrels and a half of cyder, 4 110
To 2 gals, of brandy and 2 gals, rhum, 1 16

To 25 gallons of wine, 9 10

To loaf sugar, lime juice, and pipes, 115

£83 12 6

When the Rev. Ellis Gray, of Bos-

ton, died, in 17-52, the sum of eight
hundred and sixty-eight pounds was
subscribed to defray the expenses of

his funeral. The charges were, six

hundred and fi fty-three pounds ;
and

two hundred and fifteen pounds were

given to the widow. Some of the

items were as follows :
—"Wine, rum,

pipes, and tobacco, ten pounds ;
shoes

and clogs ;
hose and gloves," to a

very large amount. " Necklace for

the negro. A large beaver hat for Mr.

Welstead," (the associate pastor.)
—

" Three ditto for Mr. Gray's two sons

and negro. Fifteen candles. Black
shoe buckles." A great many "

gold

rings. Handkerchiefs. A light gray
bob-wig for Mr. Welstead. Telling
six bells," &c., &c.
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WORCESTER COUNTY.

Worcester is the shire town.
This county crosses the state from New Hampshire on the north, to me

states of Connecticut and Rhode Island on the south. It is bounded west by
the counties of FrankUn, Hampshire, and Hampden, and east by Norfolk and
Middlesex counties.

This is the largest county in the state. Its territory is larger than the state

of Rhode Island, and its population is greater than that of the state of Dela-

ware. Its surface is rather undulating than hilly. Wachuset mountain is

its highest elevation. The soil is generally strong, and produces all kinds of

grain, grasses, fruits, &c., common to its climate. Its water-power is abun-
dant in almost every town, and perhaps in no section of New England are
the interests of agriculture, commerce, and manufactures more completely
blended

;
nor can there be found better resources for their imited support,

lis principal rivers are the Blackstone, Quinabaug, Nashua, Ware, Miller's,
and Mill.

The Blackstone canal passes from the centre of the county to the city of

Providence
;
and two important railroads pierce the county from east to west,

at suitable distances from each other, which, with their various branches,
afford to almost every section of this large and flourishing county, a safe and
rapid communication to the capital of the state, and to distant towns and
cities at the north, the west, and the south.

In 1837, the value of the manufactures in the county of Worcester was
eleven million four hundred and seven thousand seven hundred and ninety
dollars

;
the number of sheep in the county was twenty-four thousand nine

nundred and one
;
value of the wool, thirty-seven thousand two hundred and

sixty-seven dollars. See State Tables.

COURTS IN WORCESTER COUNTY.

Supreme Court. Law Term. At Worcester, on the first Tuesday next
after the fourth Tuesday of September. Nisi Prius. At Worcester, on the

sixth Tuesday next after the first Tuesday in 3Iarch.
Common Pleas. At Worcester on the first Monday of March, third Monday

in June, Monday next after the fourth Monday in August, and first Monday
of December. Criminial Court. On the third Monday of January, last Mon-
day of May, and fourth Monday of September.

Meetings of the Countij Commissioners. At Worcester on the fourth Tues-

day in March
;
the second Tuesday of September, and on the third Tuesday

of June, and the fourth Tuesday of December.
Probate Courts. At Worcester on the first Tuesday of every month. At

Brookfield on the second Tuesdays of May and October. At Lancaster on
ihe third Tuesdays of May and October. At Fitchburg on the Wednesday
next afler the third Tuesday in May and October. At Templeton on ihe

Thursdays next after the third Tuesdays in IMay and October. At Barre on
the Friday next after the third Tuesdays in May and October. At JMendoQ
on the fourth Tuesday in May. At Uxbridge on the fourth Tuesday m
October.
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WORCESTER.

Worcester Co. Worcester is a

large and flourishing town, the capi-
tal of the county whose name it bears,
in which it is both centrally and de-

lightfully situated. It is bounded
north by Holden and West Boylston,
east by Shrewsbury, south by Mill-

bury and Auburn, and west by Lei-

cester and Pa.vton.

Worcester was formerly very large ;

it contained the territory of some of

the adjoining towns. An attempt was
made to settle this part of the country
as early as 1675, but the hostility of

the Indians was such as to prevent a

permanent settlement until 1713, when
Jonas Rice and family became per-
manent residents, on the 21st of Oc-
tober of that }'ear. The Indians were

very numerous
; they had towns on

Tatnuck and Boggachoag hills, and
called the neighboring country Quin-
sigavionrl, the name of a lake, or Long
pond, which skirts the eastern border
of the town.

It is stated that " in 1718 there

were m the town fifty-eight humble

dwelling-houses ;
some were furnished

with windows of diamond glass,"
while others obtained the light

"through the dim transparency of

oiled paper."
The surface of the town is plea-

santly varied by hills and valleys ;

the greatest elevation is that of Chan-
dler's hill, seven hundred and forty-

eight feet above the sea, from which
a fine view of the beautiful country
surrounding it, is presented. The soil

is various, and suited to the cultiva-

tion of all the grains, grasses, vegeta-
bles, fruits, and flowers, common to a
IVew England climate. The natural

advantages which this town enjoys,
with the skill and taste displayed in

the cultivation of the soil, has covered
the face of this section of the state

with beauty and abundance.
Worcester is watered by numerous

rivers, brooks, and rivulets. Mill

brook, a branch of the Blackstone, and
Tatnuck and Boggachoag rivers, and

Turkey brook, branches of French

liver, are the principnl. These

streams, though not large, are con-

stant, and furnish the town with a

good hydraulic power. The popula-
tion of Worcester from 1790, will be

seen by the Tables. In 1845, it was
eleven thousand five hundred and fif-

ty-six.
In 1719, a meeting-house was built

in Worcester, a church organized, and
the Rev. Andrew Gardner ordained.

BIr. Gardner's successors were, Rev.
Isaac Burr, in 1725; Rev. Thaddeus

Maccarty, in 1747
;

Rev. Samuel
Austin, D. D., in 1790

;
Rev. Charles

A. Goodrich, in 1816; Rev. Aretius
B. Hull, in 1821

;
Rev. Rodney A.

Miller, in 1827.

Second Church. The Rev. Aaron
Bancroft was settled in 1786

;
Rev.

Alonzo Hill, in 1827.

The public and private Schools, and
other Literary Institutions, in this

tovTi, are of a high order :
—perhaps

in no part of the world is education

more cherished and honored than in

Worcester. See Town Table.

The manufactures of Worcester are

large and important ;
and in no town

in New England are the domestic in-

terests of the country more ardently
cherished. In the year 1837, the

value of its manufactures amounted to

nearly eleven hundred thousand dol-

lars
;
since which the amount has much

increased, while many new operations
have commenced, and new articles

been manufactured. At that time, there

were in Worcester eight woollen, five

cotton, and two paper mills; an air

and cupola furnace, nine woollen ma-

chinery factories, three tin factories,
and manufactures of coaches, chaises,

boots, shoes, hats, cutlery, chairs, cab-

inet-ware, ploughs, straw bonnets,

palm-leaf hats, wire, lead pipe, paper,

machinery, &c. A particular account
of the manufactures in this, and all

other towns in the state, for the year
1845, will be found in the Tables.

There are a number of pleasant

villages in Worcester, but that near
the centre of the town, the site of the

county buildings, and the mart of a

large and flourishing trade, is the

principal. This village is situated in

a valley, and is surrounded by hills
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of gentle acclivity. There are many
handsome streets in this village, but

the most important, or main street, is

about a mile in length, wide, well

shaded, and on each side are tasteful

buildings, both for public and private

uses, and well suited to a large man-

ufacturing and commercial inland

Jown
;
the head-quarters of the largest

agricultural, and one of the wealthiest

counties in New England.
The principal village of Worcester

has become so thickly settled, that a
wise policy of its citizens has recently
directed them to convey, by a costly

aqueduct, from a neighboring height,
an abundant supply of that indispen-
sable element to health and comfort,
soft and pure water.

All denominations of Christians in

the town are amply supplied with

houses of public worship. Some of

the churches possess much taste and

beauty. A new and splendid church,
one hundred and twenty by sixty-five

feet, has recently been erected for the

use of the Roman Catholics. At this

place is the new and beautiful Catho-

lic College of the Holy Cross, under
the direction of the Fathers of the So-

ciety of Jesus. In this college only
Catholic students are admitted.

This is a very delightful village ;
it

contains many splendid and costly edi-

fices, and travellers as they approach it

from any direction, are delighted with

its neatness and beauty. It has long
been the residence of men of great
wealth and talents

;
and its access

from any part of the country is ren-

dered so easy by railroads, as to have
become a favorite resort for citizens

and strangers.

The State Lunatic Asylum.
State Institutions.

See

The American Antiquarian Soci-

ety was founded in 1812. By the

liberality of the late Isaiah Thomas,
LL. D., one of its first benefactors, a

spacious hall was erected in 1820, for

the reception of its large and valuable

cabinet of antiquities, and its library
of about twelve thousand volumes of

American publications, particularly of

27*

all works pertaining to American

history, and literature generally.
Mr. Thomas was the father of New

England printers. He publi.shed the

first newspaper in this town, in 1775,

and, a few years after, the first Bible

in America. He was a gentleman of

great patriotism and liberality. He
was born in Boston, January 19ih,

1719, and died in this town, April 4th,

1S31.

The Blackstone canal passes from

Worcester, forty-five miles, to Provi-

dence ;
and this place has become a

central point for railroad communica-
tions. From Worcester to Boston by
railroad is forty-four miles

;
to Spring-

field, fifty-four ;
to Hartford, seventy-

nine
;

to Albany, one hundred and

fifty-six, and to Norwich, fifty -nine.

A railroad will soon be opened be-

tween this place and Providence, for-

ty-five miles
;
and another across the

Boston and Vermont railroad, at Gro-

ton, to meet the great northern rail-

road from Boston to Montreal, at

Nashua, New Hampshire, forty miles.

AVORTHIXGTOX.

Hampshire Co. This town is bound-
ed north by Cummir^gton, east by
Chesterfield, south by Middlefield and

Chester, and west by Peru.

This township occupies an elevated

situation near the centre of the Green
mountain range, upon its eastern de-

clivity. The waters in this township
are discharged into the Connecticut

by the Westfield river, the principal
branch of which washes the south-

west boundary of the town, and other

branches pass through the middle and
north-east parts. It is one of the best

townships of land in this vicinity ;
the

surface is handsome and pleasant, and
much of the soil rich and productive.
The manufactures of Worthington

consist of leather, boots, shoes, cur-

tains, children's wagons, hats, &c.
There were sheared in this town in

one year, nine thousand and fifty me-
rino sheep ;

the wool weighed twenty-
seven thousand pounds, and sold for

sixteen thousand eight hundred and

seventv-five dollars.
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Worihington lies on the old stage-
road from Northampton to Pittsfield,

seventeen miles west north-west from
the former, eighteen east from the lat-

ter, and one hundred and seven west

from Boston.

WRENTHAM.

Norfolk Co. This town was a

part of Dedham, until its incorpora-
tion in 1673. It was first settled about
the year 1661, and was named for a
town in England. Its Indian name
was WuUouopatige. During Philip's
war in 1676, this town was the scene
of savage aggression. After the war
was over, a family of Indians resided

in a curious cavern in the town, called

"Wampum's Rock," nine feet square
and eight feet in height.
The surface of the town is plea-

santly diversified by hills and val-

leys; Joe's Rock Hill, four hundred
and eighty-six feet in height, and Red
Brush Hill

,
four hundred and lifty-

six feet, are the most elevated grounds
in the town, from which extended and

interesting views are obtained of large

parts of Massachusetts and Rhode
Island. The soil is generally of a

good quality, and is rendered produc-
tive by skilful management.
From the highlands, and a large and

beautiful pond, called by the Indian
name of the town, branches of the

Charles and Neponset rise. These

streams, though not large, afford the

town an excellent hydraulic power,
which is well improved in manufac-

turing operations. As long ago as

1837. the value of woollen and cotton

goods, axes, boots, shoes, hats, straw

bonnets, boats, hoops, k.c., made here,
amounted to more than two hundred
thousand dollars.

Eagle Factory village, at the outlet

of the pond, and Shepardsville, at the

south part of the town, are neat and

flourishing places ;
and the village

near the centre of the town, contain-

ing an academy and other handsome
buildings, makes a very fine appear-
ance. There is also a pleasant village
in the north part of the town, about
four miles from the centre village.

"Wrentham is bounded south in part

by Cumberland, Rhode Island, and
lies twenty-seven miles south south-

west from Boston, seventeen south
south-west from Dedham, sixteen

north from Providence, and about
seven miles west from the Boston and
Providence railroad depot at Foxbo-

rough, which is thirty-one and a half

miles from Boston.

A church was organized in this

town in 1692, when the Rev. Samuel
Mann was ordained. Mr. Mann was
succeeded by the Rev. Henry Messen-

ger, in 1719
;
Rev. Joseph Bean, in

1750 ; Rev. David Avery, in 1786
;

Rev. Elisha Fisk in 1799.
" In memory of the Rev. Mr. Joseph

Bean, pastor of the I'-'- church in

Wrentham, who died Feb. 12"^. 1784,
in y^ 66''' year of his age.

"Near half an age with every good man's

praise,

Among his flock ye shepherd passed his days.
The friend, ye comfort of ye sick & poor,
Want never knocked unheeded at his door

;

Ofi when his duty cali'd disease and pain
Strove to confine him, but they strove in vain
All mourn his death; his virtues long they

try'd

They knew not how they lov'd him till he
dy'd."

YARMOUTH.

Barnstable Co. This town was
first settled by white men in the year
1637. It was called Mattacheeset or

Muttacheest by the Indians, and was

probably inhabited by the same tribe

that was found at Barnstable. It

was incorporated as a town in 1639.

The Rev. Thomas Thornton was set-

tled heie in 1662; two other minis-

ters, Mr. Millar and Mr. Matthews,
were settled previously, but the dates

of their settlements are lost.

The soil in this town in many parts
is quite productive, and much atten-

tion has recently been paid to its cul-

tivation and improvement. Thirty
bushels of corn to the acre is consid-

ered an average crop. There are

large tracts of salt meadow in the

town which is very valuable. Ger-
man's Hill, one hundred and thirty-
six feel above the sea, is the highest
land in the town.
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YariTiOulh extends across Cape Cod,
and is bounded west by Barnstable,
and cast by Dennis. It has good har-

bors on each side of the cape, ol' am-

ple depth of water for fishing and

coasting vessels, of which a large
number are owned here, and con-

stantly engaged.
The people in this town, in common

with those in other towns on the cape,
are much devoted to nautical pursuits ;

and it is to the enterprise and skill of

these people that our merchants are

greatly indebted for their success. Go
to any port on the globe, and nine

times in ten you '11 find a Cape Cod

captain there. About forty of these

hardy sons of Neptune belong to this

town
; they sail from various ports in

the United States, and are generally

part owners of the vessels in which

they sail.

There are in this town manufac-
tures of salt, cordage, carriages, cab-

inet and tin wares, ice, to a consider-

able amount. The manufacture of
salt by solar evaporation commenced
in that part of this town which now
constitutes Dennis, in 177t). At that

time, and for many years since, that

manufacture was pursued with great

spirit and success. In the year 1837,
there were three hundred and sixty-
five thousand bushels of common salt,
and large quantities of Epsom salt,
made in this town, valued at one hun-
dred and ten thousand dollars; but
this business is less profitable than

formerly, and is consequently decreas-

ing.
In this town are a number of large

and beautiful ponds, of pure and soft

fresh water
;

such as would do the

Boston folks good merely to look at.

From one of these ponds issues Bass

river, a considerable stream for Cape
Cod, affording a small water-power.
This stream partly divides Yarmouth

from Dennis, and has at its mouth a

good harbor
;
the government of the

United States having recently erected

a breakwater for its jiroiection.
There are a number of pleasant

villages in tiiis town
;

those called

Yarmouth, Yarmouth Port, South

Yarmouth, and West Yarmouth, are

the most important.
It is worthy of remark that the sec-

ond temperance society ever estab-

lished, was organized in Yarmouth, in

1817
;

a short time after the estab-

lishment of that in Boston, which was
the first in the world.

In and about the numerous ponds
and large salt meadows in this town
and Barnstable, are found an abun-
dance of fowl and fish, in their sea-

son
;
and these towns are much vis-

ited in the summer by the sportsmen
from Boston and vicinity, and also by
many people of business or leisure,
who are desirous of escaping, for a

time, from the heat and noise of the

city, to enjoy the comforts of a sum-
mer sea-breeze and country air

;
where

they meet with fine accommodations
and hospitality. The number of vis-

itors to these towns has very much
increased within the last few years, in

consequence of the establishment of

a regular steamboat communication
between them, Plymouth, and Boston,
which is kept open through all but
the winter months.
Yarmouth Port, on the north side

of the cape, lies four miles east from

Barnstable, and sixty-nine south-east

from Boston. South Yarmouth vil-

lage, near a .mall stream called Par
ker's river, on the south side, is about
four miles south from Yarmouth Port.

From Barnstable to Plymouth, by wa-

ter, is thirty-two miles
;

to Boston

sixty-four. From Yarmouth, to meet
the Old Colony railroad at Plymouth,
is thirty-two miles.



NOTE.
The foregoing descriptions of the counties and towns in Massachusetts,

the editor presents to the public as containing the most prominent and inter-

esting facts relating thereto
;

it being impossible to compress a larger por-

tion of the several local histories into a work obviously designed for reference,

rather than minute detail.

These facts are derived from personal observation, numerous communica-

tions from highly valued correspondents, historical and statistical collections,

town and county histories, (Sec, &c., aided by the new and valuable map of

the Commonwealth.

The population, dates of incorporation, and a variety of other items, are

presented in a tabular form, believing that mode the best adapted for refer-

ence and comparison.
The tables of domestic industry in the several towns and counties, for 1845,

will be found at the close of the volume. Statistics of the same character for

1837, are interspersed in the descriptions of most of the towns and counties,

for the purpose of showing their variation in those periods. These statistics

were made by legislative authority, and are deemed correct. In no case have

the statistics accompanying the census of 1840, been referred to
; they being,

in the opinion of the editor, a bundle of egregious errors, totally unworthy of

credit.

The editor tenders his grateful acknowledgments to all those who have

favored him with their assistance in preparing a work in which he has labored

assiduously to meet their approbation, and render worthy of public favor.



POPULATION TABLES.

Population of Ihe Counties and Towns in Maasachuselts from 1790 to IS'IO, with the dates
of their incorporation. The names of the towns are a.^ at present designated. Since 1790,

many towns have been divided, and new towns incorporated, and some of the old names have
been changed; thus, in 1790, Braiiitree Comprised Quincy and Randolph; Peru was called

Parlridgefield, ike.

BARNSTABLE COUNTY.

Towns.

Barnstable,
Brewster,
Chatham,
Dennis, . .

Eastham,
Falmouth, .

Harwich,
Marshpee,
Orleans, . .

Provincetown,
Sandwich, .

Truro, . .

Wellfleet, .

Yarmouth, .

'

Total, .

Inc.

1639
1803
1712
1793
1646
1686
1694
1763
1797
1727
1639
1705
1763
1639

1790.

2,610

1,140

1,834

1,637

2,392
308

454

1,991

1,193
1 117

2,678

17,354

isoo.

2,964

1,351

1,408
659

1.882

2;857
155

1,095
812

2,024

1,152

1,207

1,727

19,293

1810. 1820,

3,646

1,112

1,334

1,739
751

2,237

1,942
139

1,248
936

2,382

1,209

1,402

2,134

22,211

3,824

1,285

1,630

1,997
766

2,370

1,980
150

1,343

1,252

2,484

1,241

1,472

2,232

24,026

1830. 1840.

3j974

1,418

2,130

2,317
970

2,548

2,453

1,789

1,710

3,361
1.547

2.046

2,251

28,514

4,301

1,522

2,334

2,942
955

2,5»9

2,930
309

1,974

2,122
3,719

1,920

2,377

2,554

32,548

BERKSHIRE COUNTY.

Towns.

Adams, ....
Alford, ....
Becket, ....
Boston Corner, . .

Cheshire, . . .

Clarksburgh, . .

Dalton, ....
Egremont, . . .

Florida, ....
Great Barrington, .

Hancock, . . .

Hinsdale, . . .

Lanesborough, . ,

Lee,

Lenox, ....
Mount Washington,
New Ashford, . .

New Marlborough,
Otis

Inc.
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BERKSHIRE COUNTY—Continued.

Towns.

Peru,

Piltsfield, . . .

Richmond, . . .

Sandisfield, . . .

Savoy, . . , .

Sheffield, . . . .

Stockbridge, . .

Tyringham, . .

Washington, . .

West Stockbridge,
Windsor, . . .

Williamstown, . .

Total, . ; '.

Inc.

1771

1761
1765
1762
1797
1733

1739
1762
1777
1774
1771
1765

1790.

1,041

1,992

1,255

1,742

1,899

1,336

1,397
588

1,113
916

1,820

30,213

1800. 1810,

1,361

2,261

1,044

1,857
430

2,050

1,261

1,712
914

1,002
961

2,086

33,670

912

2,665

1,041

1,795
711

2,439

1,372

1,689
942

1,049
1,108

1,843

35,787

182a rssr

729

3,559
844

1,655
927

2,382

1,580

1,350
701

1,209

1,042

2,134

37,706

TMT
576

3,747

1,097

1,464
915

2,322

1,992

1,477
991

1,448
897

2,153

41,743

BRISTOL COUNTY.

Names.

Attleborough,

Berkley, . .

Dartmouth, .

Dighton, . .

Easton, . .

Fairhaven, .

Fall River, .

Freetown,
Mansfield, .

New Bedford,
Norton, . .

Pawtucket, .

RajTiham, .

Rehoboth, .

Seekonk, . .

Somerset,

Swansey,
Taunton,
Westport,

Total, .

Inc. 1790.

1694
1735
1664
1712
1725
1812
1803
1683
1770
1787
1711
1828
1731

1645
1812
1790
1667
1639
1787

2,166
850

2,499

1,793

1,466

2,202
983

3,313

1,428

1,094

4,710

1,151

1,784

3,804

2,466

31,709

1800.

2,480

1,013

2,660

1,666

1,.550

2,535

1,016

4,361

1,481

1,181

4,743

1,232
1,741

3,860

2,361

33,880

1810.

2,716

1,014

3,219

1,659

1,557

1,296

1,878

1,030

5,651

1,598

1,154

4,866

1,199

1,839

3,907
2,585

37,168

1820.

3,055

1,060

3,636

1,607

1,803

2,733

1,594

1,863

1,222

3,947

1,600

1,071

2,740

2,775

1,116

1,933

4,520
2,633

40,908

1830.

3,215
907

3,866

1,723

1,756

3,034

4,158

1,909

1,172

7,592

1,479

1,459

1,208

2,459

2,133

1,023

1,678

6,042
2,779

49,592

i.y40.

3,585
886

4,135

1,378

2,074

3,951

6,738

1,772

1,382

12,087
1,545

2,184

1,329

2,169

1,996

1,005

1,484

7,645
2,820

607165

DUKES COUNTY.

Towns.
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ESSEX COUNTY.

Towns.

Amesbury, . .

Andover, . .

Beverly, . . .

Boxford, . . .

Bradford, . .

Danvers, . . .

Essex, . . .

Georgetown,
Gloucester, . .

Hamilton, . .

Haverhill, . .

Ipswich, . . .

Lynn, . . . .

Lynnfield, . .

Manchester, . .

INIarblehead,

Methuen, . .

Muldleton, . .

Newbury, . .

Newburyport, .

Rockport, . .

Rowley, . . .

Salem, . .

Salisbury, . .

Saugus, . . .

Topsfield, . .

Wenham, . .

West Newbury,

Total, .

Inc.

1668

1643
1668
1685
1675
1757

1819
1838
1639

1793
1643

1634
1637
1782
1645
1649
1725

1728
1635

1764

1840
1639
1629
1639
1815

1650
1643
1819

1,801

2,863

3,290
925

1,371

2,425

1800.

5,317

2,408

4,562

2,291
491
965

5,661

1,297
682

3,972

4,837

1,772

7,921

1,780

780
502

57,913

1,757

2,941

3,881
852

1,420

2,643

5,313
749

2,730

3,305

2,837
468

1,082

5,211

1,253
598

4,076

5,946

1,557

9,457

1,855

789
476

6U96

1810.
I

1820.
1

1830.

1,890

3,164

4,608
880

1,369

3,127

5,94o
780

2,682

3,569

4,087
509

1,137

5,900

1,181
541

5,176

7,634

1,682

12,613

2,047

815
554

71388

1,956
!

3,889

4,283,
906:

1,600

3,646

1,107

6,3841
802

3,070

2,553

4,515

596,

1,201|

5,630

1,371
596

3,671

6,852

1,825

12,731

2,006
748
866'

572

1,279

2,445

4,530

4,073
935

1,856

4,228

1,333

7,510
748

3,896

2,949

6,138
617

1,236

5,149

2,006
607

3,603

6,375

2.044

13,895

2,519
960

1,010
611

1,5S6

IHD.

5.207

4,689
942

2.222

5,020
1,450

1,540

6,350
818

4,336

3,000

9,367
707

1,355

5,575

2,251
657

3,789
7,161

2,650

1,203

15,082

2,739

1,098

1,059
689

1,560

74,655182,859,94,987

FRANKLIN COUNTY.

Towns.

Ashfield, . .

Bernardston,

Buckland, .

Charlemont,
Coleraine, .

Conway, . .

Deerfield,

Erving, . .

Gill, . . .

Greenfield,
Hawley, . .

Heath, . .

Leverett, . .

Leyden, . .

Monroe, . .

Montague, .

Inc.

1765
1762

1779
1765
1761
1767

1673
1838
1793
1753
1792
1785
1774

1784
1822
1753

1790.

1,459
691
718
743

1,417

2,092

1,330

1,498
539
379
524
989

906

ISOO. 1810.

1,741
780

1,041

1,090

2,014
2,013

1,53J

700

1,254
878
604
711

1,095,

1,222

1,809
811

1,097

1,107

2,016

1,784

1,570
160
762

1,165

1,031
917
769

1,009

934

1820.
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FRANKLIN COUNTY—Continued.

Towns

New Salem,
Northfield, .

Orange, . .

Rowe, . .

Shelburne, .

Shutesbury, .

Sunderland, .

Warwick,
Wendell, . .

Whately,

Total, .

Inc.

1753
17141

1783!

1785
1768
1761

1714
1763
1781
1771

l7yo.

1,543
868
784
443

1,183
674
462

1,246
519
736

21,743

18CIU.

1,949

1,047
766
575

1,079
S30
537

1,233
737
773

26,300 27,421

1810.

2,107

1,218
764
839
961
939
551

1,227
983
891

1S20.

2,146

1,584
829
851

1,022

1,029
597

1,256
958

1,076

29,418

1830. 18-10.

1,889

1,757
880
716
995
986
666

1,150
874

1,111

29,630

1,305

1,673

1,501
703

1,022
987
719

1,071
875

1,072

28,812

HAMPDEN COUNTY.

Towna.

Blandford, . .

Brimfield, . .

Chester, . . .

Granville, . .

Holland, . . .

Longmeadow, .

Ludlow, . . .

Monson, . . .

]\Iontgomery, .

Palmer, , . .

Russell, . . .

Suuthwick, . .

Springfield,

Tolland, . . .

AVales, . . .

Westfield, . .

West Springfield,

Wilbraham, . .

Total, . T"

Inc.

1741
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HAMPSHIRE COUNTY—Continued.

Tiiwim.

(Jranby, .

Greenwich, .

Hadley, . .

Hatfield, . .

Middlefield, ,

Northampton,
Norwich,
I'elham, . .

Plainfield, .

Prescott, . .

South Hadley, .

Southampton,
Ware, . .

Westharapton,
Williamsburg,
Worthington,

Total, .

Inc.
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MIDDLESEX COUNTY—Continued.

Towns,

Pepperell, . . .

Reading, . . .

Sherburne, . .

Shirley, . . . .

Somerville, . .

South Reading, .

Stoneham, . . .

Stow, . . . .

Sudhury, . . .

Tewksbur}', . ,

Townsend, . .

Tyngsborough, .

Waltham, . . .

"Watertown, . .

Wayland, . . .

West Cambridge,
Westford, . . .

Weston, . . .

Wilmington, . .

Woburn, . . .

"

Total, . . T

Inc.

1753
1644
1674
1753
1842
1812
1725
1683
1639
1734
1732
1789

1738
1630
1780
1807
1729
1713
1730
1642

1790.

1,132

1,802
801
677

381
801

1,290
958
993
382
882

1,091
801

1,229

1,010
710

1,727

42,737;

1800.
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NORFOLK COUNTY—Continued.

Towns.

Roxbury,
Sharon, .

Stougliton,

Walpole, .

Weymouth,
Wren tham,

Total,

Inc.

1630

1765
1726

1724
1635
1673

l7yo. I ISOO.
I

1810.

2,226

1,034

1,991

1,005

1,469

1,767

23378'27,2 16131,245

2,765, 3,669

1,018 1,000

1,020 1,134

989] 1,098

1,803| 1,889

2,4782,061|

lo2i. . 1830.

4,135,
1,010

l,313l

1,366'

2,407i

5,247

1,U23

1,591

1,412

2,837

2,8011 2,698

36,47141,972

1^40.

9,089

1,076

2,142

1,491

3,738

2,915

53,140

PLYMOUTH COUNTY.

Towns.

Abinglon, . . .

Bridgewater, . .

Carver, . . . .

Duxbury, . . .

East Bridgewater,
Halifax, . . . .

Hanson, . . . .

Hanover, . . .

Ilingham, . . .

Hull,

Kingston, . . .

Marshfield, . . .

ftliildleborough,
North Bridgewater,
Pembroke, . . .

Plymouth, . . .

Plympton, . . .

Rochester, . . .

Scituate, ....
Wareham, . . .

West Bridgewater,

Total,

1...

1712

1656

1790

1637

1823
1734

1820

1627
1635

1614

1726

1611

1669

1821
1712

1620
1707
1686
1636
1739
1822

\7M.

17153
4,975
847

1,454

664

1,084

2,085
120

1,004
1.269

4,526

1,951

2,995
956

2,644

2,856
854

31,740

isiiu.

1,623

5,200
863

1,664

642

958

2,112
117

1,037

1,256

4,458

1,943

3,524
861

2.546

2,728
770

32,302

laiO.
i

1820. ls3J.

1,704
5,157

858

2,201

703

1,171

2,382
139

1,137

1,364

4,400

2,051

4,228
900

2,954

2,969
851

35,169

1,920

1,700
839

2,403

1,435
749
917

1,211

2,857
172

1,313

1,532

4,687

1,480

1,297

4,343
930

3,034

3,305
952

1,055

2,423

1,855
970

2,716

1,653
708

1,030

1,303

3,387
198

1.321

1,565

5,008

1,953

1,325

4,758
920

3,556

3,468

1,885
1.042

38J36'43,044

18H).

J^i
2,131
995

2,798

1,950
734

1.040

1,458
3.564

231

1,440

1,761

5,085

2,616

1,258

5,281
834

3,864

3,866
2,002
1,201

47,373

SUFFOLK COUNTY.

Towns.

Boston, .

Chelsea, .

'lotal,

Inc.

16.30

1739

1800.1790.

18';32(3

472

18',792;25,786

24,937
849

1810.

33,787
594

34,381

1820.

43,298
642

isai

61,392
771

43,940 62,163

iMi).

93,383

2,390

95/773
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WORCESTER COUNTY.

Towns.



POrULATIOM TABLES. 329

WORCESTER COUNTY—Continued.

Towns.

Webster, . '. ^

VVestborough, .

West Boylston,
Westminster, .

Winchendon, .

Worcester,

Total, . .

Inc.

1832
1717
1808
1750

1764]
1684

1790. I
18U0.

934 922

1,176 l,3|-.i)

946 1,092

2,095l 2,411

1810.

1,048
632

1,419

1,173
2,577

H20.

1,326
886

1,634

1,263;
2,962

1830.

1,438

1,055

1,696
1.463

4,173

56,807 61,192 64,910 73,625j84,355 95,313

iMx

1,403

1,658

1,187

1,645

1,754
7,497

RECAPITULATION OF THE POPULATION OF THE TOWNS BY
COUNTIES.

Counties.
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OUTLINES OF MASSACHUSETTS.

Massachusetts is divided into fourteen counties, three hundred and nine

towns, and the two districts of Boston Corner and Marshpee. It contains an

area of about eight thousand two hundred square miles, and is bounded east,

south-east, and south by the Atlantic ocean. It has, exclusive of the island

counties of Dukes and Nantucket, a sea-coast of about two hundred and fifty

miles. It is bounded south and west by the state of Rhode Island, about

sixty-eight miles
;

south by the state of Connecticut, eighty-seven miles
;

west by the state of New York, fifty miles
;
north by the state of Vemnont,

forty-two miles
;
and north by the state of New Hampshire, eighty-seven

miles. It lies between 41° 31', and 42° 53' north latitude, and 69° 48', and

73° 17' west longitude from Greenwich.

The name of this state probably arose from the name of a tribe of Indians

formerly at Barnstable
;
or from two Indian words—3Ios and Wetuset ;

the

former signifying an Indian arrowh head, the latter. Hill. It is stated that

the sachem who governed in this region about the time of the landing of our

forefathers, lived on a hill in the form of an Indian arrow's head, a few miles

south of Boston, and wjis called by the Indians Muswetuset.

The population of the state from 1790 to 1840, will be found in the tables.

The population in 1701, was 70,000 ;
in 1742, 164,000 ;

in 1763, 241,025 ;
in

1765, 227,926; in 1776, 348,004 ;
and in 1784, 357,510.

According to the censuses of the United States, from which the foregoing

tables of population are taken, there were in 1840, in Massachusetts, one

hundred and ninety-five white males, and three hundred and seventy-five

white females, between ninety and one hundred years of age ;
and seventeen

white males, two white females, six colored males, and two colored females

upward of one hundred years old.

The senatorial districts are permanent ;
the senate consists of forty mem

bers, chosen in each district according to the number of inhabitants
; but, in

all cases, each district is entitled to at least one senator. The legislative

power of this state is vested in a senate and house of representatives. The
executive power is vested in a Governor, Lieutenant Governor, and a Council.

Every town or city containing 1,200 inhabitants is entitled to elect one rep-

resentative
;
and 2,400 inhabitants are made the mean increasing number

which entitles it to an additional representative. Every town containing less

than 1,200 inhabitants is entitled to elect a representative as many times,

withm ten years, as the number 160 is contained in the number of inhabi-

tants of said town
;
and such towns may also elect one representative for the

year in which the valuation of estates within the Commonwealth is settled.

The number qf inhabitants which entitles a town to elect one representa-

tive, and the mean increasing number which entitles a town or cUy to elect

more than one, and also the number by which the population of towns, no
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entitled to representatives every year, is to be divided, are to be increased,

respectively, by one tenth of the numbers above mentioned, whenever the

population of the Commonwealth shall have increased lo 770,000 ;
and for

every additional increase of 70,000 inhabitants, the same adilition of one tenth

is to be made, respectively, to the said numbers above mentioned.

Nine councillors are annually chosen from among the people at large, on

the first Wednesday in January, or as soon thereafter as may be, by a jomi
vote of the senators and representatives.

The governor, lieutenant-governor, senators, and representatives, are chosen

annually by the people, on the second Monday of November, and meet at

Boston on the first Wednesday of January.
The judiciary power is vested in a Supreme Court, a Court of Common

Pleas, and such other courts, as the legislature may, from time to time, estab-

lish. The judges are appointed by the governor and council, and hold their

offices during good behavior. See Counties.

SUCCESSION OF GOVERNORS, JUDGES, dec, <Scc.

Governors of Flymouth,

1620 John Carver.

1621 William Bradford.
1633 Edward Winslow.
1634 Thoma.s Prince.

1635 William Bradford.
1636 Edward Winslow.
1637 William Bradford.

1638 Thomas Prince.

1639 William Bradford.

chosen annually by the people.

1644 Edward Winslow.
1645 William Bradford.
1657 Thomas Prince.

1673 Josias Winslow.
1681 Thomas Hinckley, who held his

place, except during the interruption

by Andros, till the junction with Mas^
sachusetts, in 1692.

Governors of Massachusetts under the

1628 John Endicott.
1630 .Tohn Winthrop.
1634 Thomas Dudley
1635 John Haynes.
1636 Henry Vane.
1637 John Winthrop.
1640 Thomas Dudley.
1641 Richard Bellingham.
1642 John Winthrop.
1644 John Endicott.

First Charter, chosen annually by the peopU.

11645 Thomas Dudley.
1646 John Winthrop.
|l649 John Endicott.

1650 Thomas Dudley.
1651 John Endicott.

1654 Richard Bellingham.
16.55 John Endicott.

1665 Richard Bellingham.
1673 John Leverett.

1679 Simon Bradslreet.

After the dissolution of the First Charter

1686 Joseph Dudley, Pres.

1686 Sir Edmund Andros, Governor.
1689 Sir Edmund dtposed h\j the peo

pie, and Simon Bradstreet electee.

President, who. in IfiVl. 7i-n< chosen

Governor.



332 GAZETTEER OF MASSACHUSETTS.

Governors of Massachusetts under the Second Charter, appointed by the King

Governors.

1692 Sir "William Phips.
1699—1700 Earl of Bellomont.
1702 May. The Couacil.

Joseph Dudley.
1714 Fell. The Council.

March. Joseph Dudley.
1716 Samuel Shute.

1728 William Burnet.
1730 Jonathan Belcher.

1740 William Shirley.
1753 William Shirley.
1757 April. The Council.

Thomas Pownal.
1760 Francis Bernard.
1770 Thomas Hutchinson.
1774 Thomas Gage.

Lieutenant Governors.

1692 William Stoughton, to 1702.

1702 Thomas Povey.

1715 William Tailer.

1723 William Dummer.
1729 William Dummer.
1730 William Tailer.

1733 Spencer Phips.
1756 Spencer Phips.

1758 Thomas Hutchinson, to 1770.

1770 Andrew Oliver.

1774 Thomas Oliver.

Since the Revolution.

1744. October.

1775. July. The Council.

A Provincial Congress.

Under the New Constitution, chosen annually by the people.

Governors.

1780 John Hancock,
1785 James Bowdoin,
1787 John Hancock,
1794 Samuel Adams,
1797 Increase Sumner,
1800 Caleb Strong,
1807 James Sullivan,
1809 Christopher Gore,
1810 Elbrid2;e Gerry,
1812 Caleb Strong,
1816 John Brooks,
1823 William Eustis,
1825 Levi Lincoln,
1834 Joha Davis,
1836 Edward Everett,
1840 Marcus Morton,
1841 John Davis,
1843 Marcus Morton,
1844 George N. Briggs.

Note. Those lieutenant governors whose namea are in Italics, acted as governors pro-tem.

to 1785 1780
1787:1788

Oct. 8, 1791 1789
1797 1794

June 7, 1799 1801

1807 1802
Dec. 10, 1808 1807

1810 1809
1812 1810

1816 1812
1823 1823

Feb. 6, 1825 1824
1834 1826

1836 1833

1840 1836
1841 1843

1843 1844

1844

Lieutenant Governors.

Thos. Gushing, to Feb. 28, 1788

Benjamin Lincoln, 1789
Samuel Adams, 1794
Moses Gill, May 20, 1800
Samuel Phillips, Feb. 10, 1802
Edward H. Robbins, 1807

1809
1810
1812
1823

Feb. 1824

July, 1825
183-2

1836
1843
1844

Levi Lincoln,
David Cobb,
William Gray,
William Phillips,
Levi Lincoln,
Marcus 3forton,
Thomas L. Winthrop,
Samuel T. Armstrong,
George Hull,

Henry H. Childs,
John Reed.
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Succession of Chief Justices of the Supreme Judicial Court.

William Cushin", 1776—1789 Samuel Sewall, 1814

Nath'l Peaslee Sargent, nS'J—1791

Francis Daua, 1791—1806

Theophilus Parsons, 1806—1814

Isaac Parker,
Lemuel Shaw,

1814-

1830
-1830

Succession of

Jedediah Foster,
James Sullivan,
David Sewall,
Increase Sumner,
Francis Dana,
Robert Treat Paine,
Nathan Gushing,
Thomas Davis, jr.,

Theophilus Bradbur)',
Samuel Sewall,
Simeou Strong,

George Thatcher,
Theodore Sedgwick,

Associate Justices

1776—1779
1776—1782
1777-1789
1782—1797
1785—1791
1790—1804
1790—1800
1792—1802
1797—1803
1800—1814
1800—1805
1801—1824
1802—1813

of the Supreme Judicial Court.

Is8Uic Parker, 1806-

Charles Jackson. 1813-

Daniel Dewey, 1814-

Samuel Putnam, 1814-

Samuel S. Wilde, 1815
Levi Lincoln, 1824-

Marcus Morton, 1825-

Charles A. Dewev, 1836
Samuel Hubbard, 1842-

Charles A. Forbes, 1848-

Theron IMetcalf, 1848
Richard Fletcher, 1848

-1814
-1623
-1815
-1842

-1825
-1839

-1847
-1848

RIVERS.

Massachusetts cannot boast of her navigable rivers to facilitate the com-

merce of her capital ;
but her people are justly proud of her numerous streams

which rise on her elevated surface
; passing through, and decorating her fer-

tile valleys, falling in every direction, and producing an hydraulic power of

vast extent and usefulness.

With the exception of the Connecticut and Merrimack, the streams of this

state rise within its own borders, and many of them give an important water-

power to the neighboring states.

Since the introduction of railroads, the inconvenience long felt for an easy
mode of intercommunication with distant sections of the country, is fast pass-

ing away, and the steam car will soon be seen traversing, with its magic

power and speed, the banks of the best navigable rivers in the country. The
most important rivers in the state are here given, all of which have impor-
tant tributaries, and are mentioned under the towns through which thev

pass :—
AssABET River. This river rises in the neighborhood of Westborough ; it

passes through Marlborough, Northborough, and Stow, and joins Sudbury
river at Concord.

Concord River is formed by the union of Assabet and Sudbury rivers at

Concord
;
after passing through the towns of Bedford, Billerica. and Chelms
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ford, it falls into the Blerrimack between Lowell and Tewksbury. This river

furnishes the Middlesex canal with most of its waters.

Charles River. Charles river, in Massachusetts, is the Quinobequin of the

Indians. This river rises on the borders of Hopkinton and Milford, and after

meandering through Bellingham, Franklin, Medway, Medfield, Sherburne,

Dover, Dedham, Needham, Natick, Newton, Waltham, and Watertown, it

meets the tide waters, and forms a part of Boston harbor. It is navigable to

Watertown, seven miles west from Boston.

Blackstone RrvER. The most inland branch of this river rises between

Paxton and Holden. It passes Worcester, and the ponds in Shrewsbury pay
it the tribute of their waters. After passing Auburn, Grafton, Millbury, Sut-

ton, Northbridge, Uxbridge, and Mendon, it passes into the state of Rhode

Island, where it changes its name to Pawtucket, and meets the tide waters in

Providence river.

Connecticut River. This beautiful river, the Quonektacut of the Indians,

and the pride of the Yankees, has its sources in New Hampshire and the

mountainous tracts in Lower Canada. Its name in the Indian language is

said to signify Long River, or, as some render it. River of Pines. Its general

course is north and south. After forming the boundary line between New

Hampshire and Vermont, it crosses the western part of Massachusetts, passes

the state of Connecticut, nearly in its centre
; and, after a fall of one thousand

six hundred feet, from its head, north of latitude 45°, it falls into Long Island

Sound, in latitude 41° 16'. The breadth of this river, at its entrance into

Vermont, is about one himdred and fifty feet, and in its course of sixty miles

it increases to about three hundred and ninety feet. In Massachusetts and

Connecticut, its breadth may be estimated from four hundred and fifty to one

thousand and fifty feet. It is navigable to Hartford, forty-five miles, for ves-

sels of considerable burthen, and to Middletown, thirty miles from the sea, for

vessels drawing twelve feet of water. By means of canals and other improve-

ments, it has been made navigable for boats to Fifteen Mile Falls, nearly two

hundred and fifty miles above Hartford. The most considerable rapids in

this river, are Bellows' Falls, the falls of Queechy, just below the mouth of

Waterqueechy river
;
the White river falls, below Hanover, and the Fifteen

IMile Falls, in New Hampshire and Vermont
;
the falls at Montague and

South Hadley, in Massachusetts, and the falls at Enfield, in Connecticut,

where it meets the tide water. The perpendicular height of the falls which

have been overcome by dams and locks, between Springfield, in Massachu-

setts, and Hanover, in New Hampshire, a distance of one hundred and thirty

miles, is two hundred and forty feet. Bars of sand and gravel extend across

chis river in various places, over which, boats with difficulty pass, in low

water. The most important tributaries to the Connecticut, in New Hamp-
shire, are Upper and Lower .Amonoosuck, Israel's, John's, Mascomy, Sugar,
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and Ashuelot rivers
;

in Vermont, Nulhegan, Fassumpsic, Wells, Waits,

Ompomponoosuck, White, Waterqueechy, Black, Williams, Sexton's, and

West rivers; in iMassachusetis, 3Iiller's, Deerfield, Agawam, Chickopee, and

Westfield rivers
;
and the Farmington, in Connecticut.

The intervales are generally spread upon one or both sides of the river,

nearly on a level with its banks, and extending from half a mile to five

miles in breadth
;
but its b<^rders are in some places high, rocky, and precip-

itous. In the spring, it overflows its banks, and, through its winding course

of nearly four hundred miles, forms and fertilizes a vast tract of rich meadow.
In point of length, utility, and beauty, this river forms a distinguished feature

of New England.

Large quantities of shad are taken in this river, but the salmon, which for-

merly were very plenty, have entirely disappeared. Connecticut river passes

through a basin or valley of about twelve thousand square miles
;

it is deco-

rated on each side with towns and villages, of superior beauty, and presents
to the eye a wonderful variety of enchanting scenery.

Chickopee River. This river rises in Spencer, Leicester, and Paxton, and
receives the waters of Quaboag pond, in Brookfield. It passes through War-
ren. At Palmer it receives the waters of Ware, and Swift rivers, and enters

the Connecticut at the north part of Springfield, seven miles south from South

Hadley.

Deerfield River. This beautiful and important Indian stream Joins the

Connecticut between Greenfield and Deerfield. It rises in the high grounds
of Windham county, near Straton, Dover, and Somerset, Vermont

;
and pro-

ceeding in a south-east course, it passes through Monroe, Florida, Rowe,
Charlemont, Hawley, Buckland, Shelburne, and Conway. The most impor-
tant tributaries to this stream are Cold river; a river from Heath and Cole-

raine
;
one from Leyden, via Greenfield, and a river from Conway. Its whole

length is about fifty miles. In some places, Deerfield river is rapid, and its

banks very precipitous. Its passage through the mountains is very curious

and romantic.

French River. This river rises in Leicester, Massachusetts. It passes

through Auburn, Oxford, and Dudley ;
it then enters the state of Connecticut,

and joins the Quinebaugh at Thompson. Some French Protestants settled on

this river in 1685.

HousATO.Nic River. The sources of this river are in the towns of Lanes-

borough and Windsor, Berkshire county, Massachusetts. The two branches

meet at Pittsfield, where the river forms
;

it then passes south, through Berk-

shire county, and enters the state of Connecticut. After meandering through
the county of Litchfield, in that state, it separates the counties of New Haven
and Fairfield, and meets the tide water at Derby, fourteen miles above its

entrance into Long Island Sound. The source of this mountain stream is
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more than one thousand feet above the ocean
;
and in its course of nearly

one hundred and lit'ty miles, it affords numerous mill sites, and presents

many pleasant and well cultivated towns. The volume of water of this river

is not very large, except in seasons of freshet, when the rains from the moun-

tains that environ its borders, inundate the valleys, and greatly fertilize the

soil. The scenery on the Housatonic is exceedingly beautiful
;

in some

places it is enchanting. The romantic cataract at Canaan, Connecticut, of

sixty feet perpendicular, is well worthy the notice of travellers. The Indian

name of this river signifies over the moimtains. A vocabulary of Indian

names, so beautiful and expressive, would be not only curious, but valuable.

HoosACK KivEE. Two branches of the Hoosack, Hosick, or Hoosick river,

rise in New England : one in the highlands in the county of Berkshire,

Massachusetts
;
the other in the mountainous tracts of Bennington county,

Vermont. These branches unite near Hoosack Falls, in the state of New

York, about three miles west of the celebrated Bennington battle ground.

Hoosack river meets the Hudson at Schagthicoke, fifteen miles north of

Troy, New York. This stream, in many places, is exceedingly rapid in its

course, and afibrds a great number of mill sites.

Merrimack River, one of the principal rivers of New England, is formed

of two branches. The north branch, called Pemigewasset, rises near the

Notch of the White Mountains, and passes southwardly through the corner

of Franconia, Lincoln, Peeling, Thornton, and Campton, forming the boun-

dary between Plymouth and Holdemess, and also the boundary line between

the counties of Belknap and Grafton, from the south corner of Holdemess to

near its junction with the Winnepisiogee. It receives several considerable

branches in its course
;
Mad river, in Campton ; Baker's, in Plymouth ;

and

streams flowing from Squam and Newfound lakes, with numerous small

tributaries. The east branch is the Winnepisiogee, through which pass the

waters of the lake of that name. The descent of this branch from the lake

to its junction with the Pemigewasset, is two hundred and thirty-two feet.

The confluent stream bears the name of Merrimack, and pursues a south

course, seventy-eight miles, to Chelmsford, Massachusetts
;
thence an east

course, thirty-five miles, to the sea at Newburyport. On the north line of

Concord, the Contoocook discharges its waters into the Merrimack. The
Soucook becomes a tributary in Pembroke, and the Sunkook between Pem-
broke and Allenstown. The Piscataquog unites in Bedford

;
the Souhegan

in Merrimack, and a beautiful river called Nashua, in Nashua. The princi-

pal tributaries are on the west side of the river, mostly rising in the highlands
benveen the Connecticut and Merrimack. There are numerous falls in this

river, the most noted of which are Garven's, in Concord, the falls in Hook-

sett, and Amoskeag, in Goffstown and Manchester. These falls are all ren-

dered passable by locks, and boat navigation has for several years been

extended as far as Concord. There are several bridges over the Merrimack.
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and its piincipiil brandies, besides a number of ferries. The Merrimack,

whose fountains are nearly on a level with the Connecticut, beinf? much

shorter in its course, has a far more rapid descent to the sea than the latter

river. Hence the intervales on its borders are less extensive, and the scen-

ery less beautiful, than on the Connecticut. It is. however, a majestic river
;

its waters are generally pure and healthy ;
and on its borders are situated

some of the most important towns in N. England. The name of this river was

originally written Merramacke and Munnomake, which in the Indian language

signified a sturgeon. Its width varies from fifty to one hundred and twenty

rods
;
and at its mouth it presents a beautiful sheet of half a mile in width.

Miller's River rises in ponds in Ashburnham and Winchendon
;

it has

many tributaries, and passes through Athol, Orange, and Wendell, and falls

into the Connecticut at Irving. This is a noble mill stream.

Nashua River, a beautiful stream on the south part of Hillsborough

county. New Hampshire, has its source in Worcester county, Massachusetts.

It is formed of two branches, called the north and south branches. The

north branch is formed of two streams, one from Ashburnham, the other

from Wachuset ponds. The south branch is composed of Still river, issuing

from the east side of Wachuset mountain, and a small stream from Quine-

poxet pond, in Holden. These branches are united in Lancaster, from which

the main river proceeds in a north-east course, to Harvard, Shirley, Groton,

and Pepperell, in Massachusetts
;
and from thence into New Hampshire,

through Hollis, and near the centre of the town of Nashua, where it falls into

Merrimack river.

Neponset River. The sources of this river are in Canton, Stoughton, and

Sharon. It receives a tributary from Charles river, Mother brook, so called,

and meets the tide of Boston harbor at Milton Mills, four miles from Dor-

chester bay. This is a noble mill stream
;
on its navigable waters is the

depositor)' of the Quincy granite railroad company, and at its mouth, the

pleasant and flourishing village of Neponset.

QuiNEBAUG River. This beautiful stream rises in Meishapaug pond, in

Union, Connecticut. It passes north, to Brimfield, Massachusetts, then a

south-east course, to Thompson, Connecticut, where it receives French river

from the north. It then traverses a south direction about thirty miles, afford-

ing fertility, and a great hydraulic power in its course, when it joins the

Shctucket, near the city of Norwich, and takes the name of that river to

the Yantic. These three streams form the Thames, which passes to Long
Island Sound, near New London.

Sudbury River. This river rises in Hopkinton and its neighborhood,
and after passing Framingham, Natick, Sudbury, Wayland, and Lincoln, it

joins the Assabet at Concord.
29
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Tauston River. This river rises iii the county of Plymouth, and falls

into Mount Hope Bay. The Taunton and its branches water the towns of

Abington, Hanson, Halifax, and Plympton, all the Bridgewaters, Raynham,
Taunton, Berkley, Dighton, Freetown, Fall River, Somerset, and Swansc} .

It is navigable to Taunton for small vessels, and with its contemplated

improvements, steamboats will be enabled to run to Taunton, and thus

become another channel of conveyance between Boston and New York.

This river is celebrated for the great and widely distributed water-power it

produces, and for the multitude of alewives within its waters.

Ware R!at:r. Branches of this large and powerful mill stream rise in

Hubbardston, Barre, and Oakham. It passes through Hardwick, New Brain-

tree, and Ware, and joins the Chickopee at Palmer.

Westfield River. This river, often called the Agawam, rises in the north

part of Berkshire county. It has many tributaries, and is exceedingly wild

and romantic in many places. Its main branch traverses the towns of Plain-

field, Cummington, Goshen, Worthington, Chesterfield, Norwich, Montgom-

ery, Russell, and Westfield, and meets the Connecticut at West Springfield.

These rivers have many tributaries, all of which are more or less valuable

for their hydraulic power. There are also numerous other streams, such as

the Ipswich, at Ipswich ; Mystic, at Medford
; Manatiquot, at Braintree

;

North, at Pembroke
; Nemasket, at Middleborough, Ace.

;
which rise near

the sea, and unite at their mouths, both navigable and manufacturing priv-

ileges. Most, if not all the rivers in the state, are mentioned under the

towns in which they rise or fall, or through which they pass.

CAPES.

The principal capes in Massachusetts are Capes Cod and Ann
;
and which

are described under Barnstable county and Gloucester. For notices of minor

capes, see the towns in which they lie.

BAYS AND HARBORS.

Along the extensive coast of Massachusetts, are a number of bays of great

capacity, enclosing harbors of as great depth of water, safety, and ease of

access, as can be found on the seaboard of any country.
The whole of Massachusetts Bay lies within this state. The exterior

bounds of this celebrated bay are Capes Cod and Ann. The length of this

bay is about sixty-two miles, from north-west to south-east
;

its breadth is

about twenty-five miles. Numerous bays, and rivers of various sizes, set in

from this bay, and its whole coast is lined with commodious harbors, and

pleasant commercial towns.
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This bay Is noted for its delightful scenery, and as containing the first set-

tlements of the Pilgrim Fathers of New England.

Tassing Cape Cod, on which, on the south side, are the harbors of Chat-

ham, Hyannis, Wood's Hole, Tarjxjlin Cove, on Naushon Island, ice, we

come to Buzzard's Bay, jutting up north-west some twenty-five miles from

the sea, containing the iinj)ortant harbors of New Bedford, Fair Haven, Roch-

ester, Warehain, <Scc. This bay is formed on its south-eastern side by the

Elizabeth Islands, and at its mouth is about seven miles in width
;

its mean

width is about six miles. South of New Bedford, at Dartmouth and West-

port, are a number of excellent harbors. See Dukes county, and Nantucket.

ISLANDS.

The principal islands along the coast of Massachusetts, are described under

the heads of Boston Harbor, Chilmark, Edgartorvn, Nantucket, and Nenbimj.

port.

MOUNTAINS.

The surface of Massachusetts is elevated, and generally undulating. The

most level parts are found in the counties of Plymouth, Bristol, and Barnsta-

ble. Tlie most elevated parts lie in the four western counties, Berkshire,

Franklin, Hampshire, and Hampden. Through these counties, the Green or

Hoosic, and Taconic or Taghconnic mountains pass, from north to south
;

but in few places are they remarkable for their elevation. In the following

tables, taken principally from Borden's Map of the State, the greatest ele-

vations above the sea, of these ranges of mountains, are given, with their lat-

itude and longitude ;
also the height and location of the most important

detached highlands in various parts of the state :—

HEIGHTS, LATITUDES AND LONGITUDES OF EMINENCES IN

MASSACHUSETTS.

Names. Location.

Alumn-pond Hill

Alden's Hill, .

Avers Hill, .

Bald Peak, .

Bald Hill, . .

Hear Mountain,
Beckct Station,
Blue Hill, . .

Bourne's Hill,

Bum.sket Hill,

Colonel's Mountain,
Clarksburg Mountain,

Douglas, . . .

I\Iiddleborough, .

Haverhill, . . .

Mount Washington
Douglas,
Wendell,
Becket, .

Milton, .

Sandwich,
Paxton,
Palmer,
Clarksbun

Feel.

778
178

339

2,624
714

1,281

2,194
635
297

1,407

1,172

2,272

Lalitiule.
I
Loneilude.

42
41

42

42

42

42

42

42

41

42
42

42

01 1571
49 49,70
48 24 71

06 7,73
02 45 71

35 14 72
IS 07 73
12 44 71

44 00 70
18 06 71

14 10 72

-14 4 73

46 05
57 21

03 46
26 23
42 55
25 54
09 10

07 11

29 28
54 11

14 19

09 56
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Names.
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HEIGHTS NEAR BOSTON.

The following are from Hale's valuable "
]\Iap of Boston and its Vicinity.

Feel

Braintree, near the east line, . . 205

Somerville, Prospect Hill, . . 120
" Winter Hill, . . 120

Chelsea, near Pulling Point, . . 84

Cohasset, near the west line, . .215
" near Nantasket Beach, 175
" near the sea, . . . 1 10

DeJham, at Mr. White's Meeting-
house, 405

Dover, Pine Hill, 400

Hingham, north-west part of the

town, 42

Hingham, Crown Point, . . . 102
" north of the village, . 107

south of the village, . 75

Lincoln, near the Meeting-house, 470
" Mount Tabor, ... 370

Lynn, near Phillip's Point, . . 135
' near King's Beach, . . 147
'• north of the hotel, ... 140

Lynn, north-east of the hotel, .

Marblehead, Legg's hill, . . .

"
Neck,

" north of the village,

ftlilton, Hill,

Plymouth, near Town River Bay,
Quincy, near the village, . . .

" Great Hill,
" Squantum,

Salem, Spring Pond, ....
" west of South Fields, . .

" south-east part of the city,
" north-west part of the town,

Wahham, Bear Hill, ....
'• near the north-east line,

Watertown, north-west corner, .

West Cambridge, near the south-

west line,

Weymouth, near the west line, .

Feet

120

160
137

130

208
135
210
94
99
197

186

175

145

510
570
310

320

210

COMMERCE.

Statement of the Commerce of Massachusetts, from July 1st, 1844, to July 1st, 1845

VALUE OF EXPORTS.
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NAVIGATION.

Tonnage Cleared from Massachusetts.

American.
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American and Foreign Vessels, with their Tonnage and Crews, which entered into

each District in Massacliuselts.
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MANUFACTURES.

From the firsi seillement of the country, to the general peace n Europe in

1815, New England was emphatically a commercial country. During the

long wars in Europe, when the flag of the United States was the only pass-

port among the belligerent nations, New England ships became the carriers

of almost the whole of the eastern continent. The change from war to peace,

in Europe, shook this section of the country to i's centre. It however stood

firm. During a pause, in which conflicting interests in regard to the tarifl'on

imports were settled for a time, the resources of the country were examined,

ind it was found that a large portion of the capital which had been accus-

\omed to float on every gale, and subjected to the caprice of every nation,

might profitably be employed at liome, in supplying our own necessities, and

placmg our independence on a more sure foundation. A manufacturing

spiiil arose in Massachusetts, and throughout New England, whose power
can only be excelled by the magnitude and grandeur of numerous streams on

which it is seen to move.

The following are abstracts from the tables of certain branches of domestic

industry, to which reference is made on page 320. These statistics do not

present the whole amount of the domestic industry of fhe state in 1845, they

being taken at the commencement of that year; but they unquestionably

approach more closely to the desired result, than any hitherto given. At the

close of the town tables, the aggregate amount and value of the most impor-
tant agricultural and manufacturing productions of the state are presented

by counties.

STATISTICS OF INDUSTRY.

These statistics wtre prepared from returns made by the assessors of the

several towns, by John G. Pai.frey, D. D., Secretary of the Commonwealth,
for the year ending April 1st, 1845, as required by law.

BARNSTABLE COUNTY.

BARNSTABLE. I BREWSTER.

There were eight vessels employed in
!

The manufactures of paper, salt,
the cod and mackerel fisheries

;
value tin ware, leather, boots, shoes, and

of fish taken, 815,800. Value of salt blacking, amounted to S 15,260. There
manufactured, $5,250. The manu- were 4 vessels employed in the cod
factnres of saddles, harnesses, trunks, and mackerel fisheries; value o£
chairs, cabinet and tin wares, leather,

j

fares, 85,400. Hay cut, 525 tons.

boots, shoes, boats, blocks, pumps, \

and bricks, railroad, and other car-
I

CHATHAM,

ridges, amounted to .?13,725. Fruit, Thirteen vessels engaged in the

raised, 2,716 bushels. Hav, 2,080 fisheries
;
value of fish taken, * 19,000.

tons.
j
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Value of salt, boats, boots, and shoea,

made, $4.5.50. Hay, 850 tons.

DENNIS.

In this town were seven forges, 85

establishments for making salt, and 32

vessels employed in the cod and mack-
erel fisheries. The value of common
and Epsom salt manufactured, was

$10,650, and of fish taken, $56,715.
Here are manufactures of cod fish

oil, boots, shoes, and large quantities
of lamp-black. Many shad and ale-

wives are taken at this place. Fruit

raised, 203 bushels.

EASTHAM.

iTiere were 35 salt works in this

town, which made 17,320 bushels of

salt, worth $ 1,330 ;
5 vessels employed

in the fisheries, and manufactures of

boots and palm-leaf hats. The value

of fish taken was $10,000. Hay, 682
tons.

FALMOUTH.

Two woollen mills, witn three sets

of machinery ;
value of satinet and

flannel manufactured, $25,000. Here
were 5 vessels employed in the whale-

fishery, and two in the cod and macke-
rel fishing; value of the whale and
other fishery in one year, $69,177.
The value of leather, tin ware, boots,

shoes, saddle, harness, trunks, boats,
oil casks, and candle-boxes, was $8,-
284. The value of oil and candles

manufactured, was $30,222. Hay,
1,000 tons.

HARWICH.

The manufactures of this town con-

sisted of cotton yarn and batting, wool-

len goods, salt, leather, boots, shoes,

wearing apparel, sails, blacking, &:c.,

$9,900. There were 22 vessels em-

ployed in the cod and mackerel fish-

ery ;
value of fares, $32,305.

ORLEANS.

Here were 46 establishments for

making salt, and nine vessels employ-
ed in the cod and mackerel fishing.

Value of salt, $4,368 ;
value of fish,

$13,000. There were manufactures of

carriages, tin-ware, boots, shoes, palm-
leaf hats, boats, &c. Hay cut, 1,000
ton.s.

PROVINCETOWN.

There were in this town, 26 vessels

employed in the whale fishery, and
50 in the cod and mackerel fishery ;

and 70 establishments for the manu-
facture of salt. The product of the

fishery was $156,984. Value of salt

made, $6,500. There were manufac-
tures of oil and sperm candles, boots,

shoes, blocks, pumps, fishing boats,
dec.

SANDWICH.

Here were two glass manufactories,
with a capital of $300,000, employing
316 hands, and manufacturing $350,-
000 value of glass annually. Also a
furnace for manufacturing hollow-

ware and castings; value, $18,000.
Manufactures of axes, saddles, trunks,

harnesses, chairs, cabinet and tin-

ware, boots, shoes, bricks, vessels,

casks, granite, Ace. Fruit raised, 280
bushels. Hay, 2,689 tons.

TRURO.

There were 25 establishments for

making salt in this town, and forty
vessels employed in the cod and mack-
erel fishery, and manufactures of

palm-leaf hats, fish oil, Ace. Value
of fish taken, $63,987. Value of salt

made, $3,224. Fruit raised, 620
bushels. Hay, 653 tons.

WELLFLEET.

Sixty vessels belonging to this town
were engaged in the fisheries, and there

were 28 salt works or salt mannfac
tories in the town. Value of fish,

$71,500 ;
value of salt, $1,680. The

manufactures of leather, boots and

shoes, amounted 'o $3,250. Fruit,

1000 bushels. Hay, 850 tons.

YARMOUTH.

Twenty-four vessels belonged to this

towTi employed in the mackerel and
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cod fisheries
;
and here were manufac- 1 age, saddles, trunks, harnesses, boots,

tares of common, and Epsom sails, shoes, Ace. Value of the fisheries,

chairs, tin and cabmet-wares, cord-
j $34,060. Hay cut, 1,025 tons.

BERKSHIRE COUNTY.

ADAMS.

In this town were 14 cotton and 3

woollen mills
;

2 calico manufacto-

ries, 2 furnaces, and manufactures of

ploughs, saddles, harnesses, trunks,
railroad cars, soap, candles, chairs,
tin and cabinet-wares, leather, boots,

shoes, bricks, marble, lime, Ace. Value
of printing cloth, dec, $270,274 . Val-
ue of cassimeres, satinets, and Ken-

tucky jeans, ^299,500 ;
and of calico

printing, (in part,) $50,612. Value
of fruit, $1,248. Hay, 4,284 tons.

ALFORD.

Large quantities of lumber and

pine weed are prepared for market in

Alford, and some boots and shoes
manufactured. Hay, 1,157 tons.

BECKET.

Some manufactures of leather and
other articles. Value of butter and

cheese, $5,856. See page 32.

CHESHIRE.

There were in this town a cotton mill,
with 936 spindles, and some man-
ufactures of leather. 313,000 pounds
of cheese were made here in 1844,
and 14,100 pounds of butter; value
of bfjth, $16,845. See page 126.

CLARKSBURG.

See page 129.

DALTON.

Two woollen mills, three paper
mills, and manufactures of chairs,
cabinet and tin-ware, leather, boots,

shoes, bricks, lime, lumber, Ace. Val-
ue of broadcloth and satinet manu-
factured, $100,000; value of paper,
$85,000. Hav, 1,359 tons.

30

EGREMONT.

Railroad cars and other carnages,
chairs, cabinet-ware, boots, shoes,
Ace. Fruit, 10,675 bushels.

FLORIDA.

See page 152.

GREAT BARRLNGTON.

In this town were 4 cotton mills, witn

6,884 spindles, and 2 woollen mills,
with six sets of meichinery ;

also a

forge, an axe manufactory, and estab-

lishments for making chronometers,
watches, gold and silver ware, jew-
elry, saddles, harnesses, trunks, hats,

caps, cordage, railroad cars, and other

carriages, chairs, cabinet, and tin-

wares, leather, boots, shoes, bricks,

lime, lumber, marble, last and boot-

trees, a flouring mill, and a gin dis-

tillery. Value of shirtings, printing

cloths, cassimeres, and satinet man-
ufactured, $175,000. Hay, 5,595 tons.

HANCOCK.

Two woollen mills, with two sets

of machinery ;
a furnace, and manu-

factures of hollow ware and castings,

cordage, leather, boots, shoes, wooden -

ware, and brooms. Value of satinet

made, $13,200. Hay, 1,015 tons.

HINSDALE.

One woollen mill, with two sets of

machinery, and manufactures of

shovels, spades, hoes, forks, hats,

caps, chairs, cabinet-ware, leather,

boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats, lime,
lumber. &cc. Value of leather,

$15,000. Fruit raised, 4,578 bush-
els. Hay cut, 3,625 tons. Value of
butter and cheese, $3,205.
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LANESBOROUGH.

Value of marble and lime prepared
for market, $il,l50. Value of wool,

S13,036. Maple sugar, 17,745 pounds.

Fruit. 5,779 bushels. Hay, 3,651 tons.

LEE.

There were 11 paper mills m Lee, 2

of which manufacture wrapping pa-

per. 1 cotton mill with 1000 spindles,

1 woollen mill, with 2 sets of machin-

ery ;
also a powder mill, and manufac-

tures of bar iron, anchors, and other

articles of wrought iron
;
hollow-ware

and castings, cotton, woollen, and

other machinery, axes, shovels,

spades, forks, hoes, saddles, harnesses,

trunks, railroad cars, and other car-

riages, chairs, cabinet and tin-wares,

leather, boots, shoes, bricks, lime, lum-

ber, &c., (Sec. Fruit, 4,810 bushels.

LENOX.

The value of pig iron manufactured

was $45,000. Here were manufac-

tures of boots, shoes, leather, saddles,

harnesses, trunks, tin-ware, bricks,

marble, lime, lumber, Arc. The value

of mineral and iron ore mined, was

S4,594. Fruit, 11,127 bushels. Hay,

1,675 tons.

MOUNT WASHLNGTON.

Manufactures of iron casting, shov-

els, spades, forks, hoes, and lumber.

The value of hay, grain, fruit, and veg-

etables raised in this town, was $9,609.

Fruit, 1,517 bushels
; honey, 1,100

pounds. Hay cut, 706 tons.

NEW ASHFORD.

See page 210.

riEW IVURLBOROUGH.

There were 3 paper mills in this

town, a powder mill, and manufactures

of hollow ware and castings, axes,

ploughs, saddles, harnesses, trunks,

hats, caps, leather, boots, shoes, palm-
leaf hats. 'Ticks, lime, lumber, Arc.

The value of paper manufactured,

was $28,160. Maple sugar made

19,070 pounds. Fruit, 11,168 bush

els. Hay cut, 5,433 tons.

OTIS.

There were 2 forges in this town,
and manufactures of bar iron, anchors,
and other articles of wrought iron, to

the value of $16,500 ;
also manufac-

tures of axes, hoes, clocks, chairs.,

cabinet-ware, flour, leather, boots,

shoes, cheese boxes, maple sugar, &:c.

Fruit, 4,754 bushels. Hay cut, 2,295
tons.

PERU.

See page 232. Value of wool

grown, $20,662. Bushels of grain

raised, 4,009 ; hay cut, 2,460 tons.

PITTSFIELD.

There were in this town 6 woollen

mills, with 15 sets of machinery ;
2

cotton mills, with 2,056 spindles; 4

furnaces for hollow ware and other

castings. Manufactures of cottoii,

woollen, and other machinery ;
musi-

cal instruments, hats, caps, saddles,

harnesses, trunks, railroad cars, and

other carriages ; soap, candles, chairs,

tin and cabinet-wares, combs, leather,

boots, shoes, blocks, pumps, mechan-

ics' tools, bricks, building stone, mar-

ble, lime, wooden-ware, corn and

other brooms. Sec. There were also 2

establishments for the manufacture

of muskets, rifles, fowling pieces, &c.

The value of sheetings and other cot-

ton goods manufactured, amounted to

$40,188; of woollen goods, $251,113 ;

of iron-ware, $24,075 ;
of machinery,

$27,650; of carriages, $16,050; of

fire-arms, $23,100. Maple sugar,

14,400 pounds ; fruit, 3,614 bushels.

Hay cut, 6,700 tons
; value, 846,900.

RICHMOND.

The value of pig iron manufactured

in this town, was $22,981. There

were also manufactures of leather,

boots, shoes, hoes, forks, brooms,

lime. &c. The value of iron ore

mined, was $6,875. Value of butter

and cheese, $3,011. Hay, 2,269 tons



DOMKSiTIC INDI'STRY. 351

SANDISHKI,D.

Here was one woollen mill
;
value of

broadcloth and satinet manufactured,

S14,000. There were also manufac-
tures of flour, railroad cars, and other

carriages, chairs, and cabinet-ware,

leather, boots, shoes, bricks, building

stone, lumber, dec. Value of wooden-

ware, 816,699. Value of butter and

cheese, $18,352; value of maple
sugar, $10,239. Fruit, 24,156 bush-

els. Haj', 4,181 tons.

SAVOY.

The value of leather tanned in this

town, amounted to $18,000. The
value of lumber and fire wood pre-

pared, was $4,200. There were 1,844
bushels of fruit raised

; 24,710 pounds
of butter, 70,540 pounds of cheese,
and 5,870 pounds of maple sugar
made, and 2,700 tons of hay cut.

SHEFFIELD.

The value of flour manufactured
was S7,000. There were 7,184 tons

of hay grown. There were also man-
ufactures of chronometers, watches,

gold and silver ware, jewelry, ploughs,
saddles, harnesses, trunks, hats, caps,

cars, and other carriages, chairs, cab-

inet-ware, leather, boots, shoes, lime,

whisky, &;c. Value of marble quar-
ried, 825,600. Fruit, 33,023 bushels.

STOCKBRIDGE.

There were in this town a cotton

mill, with 3,550 spindles ;
a woollen

mill, with six sets of machinery ;
2

furnaces, and manufactures of pig
iron, hollow ware, castings, trunks,

saddles, harnesses, wagons, sleighs,

chairs, cabinet-ware, leather, boots,

shoes, bricks, lime, lumber, ficc. Value
of cotton cloth, $40,250 ;

of satinet,

8143,000; of pig iron, 853,480; of
chairs and cabinet-ware, 810,500.

Fruit, 11,228 bushels. Teazles, 735,-
000

; value, 8735. Hay, 3,400 tons.

There were raised in this town, 14,-
780 bushels of oats

; 11,842 bu.shels

of other grain, and 11,100 bushels of

vegetables.

n'RINGHAM.

Here were 2 cotton mills, (just com-

menced,) a woollen mill, 3 paper
mills, and manufactures of shovels,

spades, forks, hoes, chairs, cabinet-

ware, combs, leather, boots, shoes,
straw hats and bonnets, wooden-ware,
corn and other brooms, lumber

; 100,-
000 bushels of charct)al, garden seeds,

maple sugar, 6cc. Hay, 3,000 tons.

WASHINGTO.V.

The value of lumber prepared here,
was 811,652; of fire wood, (7,448
cords,) 814,896; of charcoal, $6,250.

Hay, 2,332 tons.

WEST STOCKBRIDGE.

There were in this place a rolling

mill, a forge, a flouring mill, and
manufactures of nails and nail ma-

chines, bar iron, musical instruments,

harnesses, saddles, trunks, cars, and
other carriages, chairs, tin and cabi-

net-wares, lime, lumber, k,c. The
value of iron ore mined, was 810,200 ;

the value of marble quarried and pre-

pared, $29,224. Fruit, 4,842 bushels.

Hay cut, 2,031 tons.

WILLIAMSTOWN.

The two cotton mills in this town,
with 2,300 spindles, produced printing
cloth, cotton yarn, and batting, to the

amount of $35,911. The woollen
mill made $10,400 worth of satinet.

There were also manufactures in the

town of cars and other carriages, sad-

dles, harnesses, trunks, chairs, tin.

and cabinet-wares
; leather, boots,

shoes, bricks, brooms, lumber, and,
among other agricultural prcnlucts,

4,416 tons of hay, 36.515 pounds of

butter, and 132,095 pounds of cheese

Wl.VDSOR.

Manufactures of chairs, cabinet

ware, boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats,
lime, lumber, tec. Value of fruit,

81,380 ;
of butter and cheese. 87,779.

Hav cut. 3,541 tons.
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BRISTOL COUNTY.

ATTLEBOROUGH.

There were 7 cotton mills in this

town, a calico printing establishment,
a brass foundery, a furnace, and man-
ufactures of metal buttons, clocks,

chronometers, gold and silver-ware,
cars and other carriages, tin-ware,

combs, leather, boots, shoes, straw
hats and bonnets, snuff, whips, pumps
and blocks, boats, bricks, saddles,

harnesses, trunks, hooks and eyes,

shuttles, thread spools, paper, and
wooden boxes, spectacles, glass steps,
black glass buttons, medals, weavers'

reeds, <3cc., &c. The value of printed

cloths, shirtings, and cotton thread,
was $415,257; of metal buttons,

$41,000; of clocks, chronometers,
gold and silver ware, $90,950 ;

of
straw hats and bonnets, $18,955; of
hooks and eyes, $20,222. Fruit, 9,866
bushels. Hay cut, 2,111 tons.

BERKLEY.

The value of the shad and alewive

fishing, was $4,735. Manufactures
of boots, shoes, straw bonnets, bricks,
&c. Fruit, 2,591 bushels. Hay, 629
tons.

DARTMOUTR

Here were 13 vessels employed in

the whale fishery ;
value of product,

$188,000 ; product of the cod and mack-
erel fishery, $3,500 ; product of 7

salt manufactories, $2,960. Here were
also manufactures of linseed oil, lea-

ther, boots, shoes, boats, &c. 250
barrels of Blenhaden oil was made

;

and 75,550 gallons of milk were sold

for $9,500. Fruit, 8,500 bushels.

PIGHTON.

Two cotton mills
;
value of printing

cloth, nankeen cotton cloth, and cot-

ton batting, $72,340. A furnace, and
manufactures of hollow-ware and iron

castings ; axes, boots, shoes, nail

iegs, &c. Shad taken, 253,500 ;
val-

ue, $2,000. Hay cut, 998 tons.

EASrOxV.

Five cotton mills, for the manufac-
ture of printing cloth, yarn, thread,

batting, cord, twine, and wicking.
2 furnaces for making hollow-ware
and castings. IManufactures of cut-

lery, tacks, brads, shovels, spades,

hoes, saddles, harnesses, trunks, cars,
and other boots, shoes,
straw bonnets, and hats. Mathemat-
ical instruments, boxes, &c. Fruit

raised, 10,155 bushels. Hay, 1,423
tons.

FAIR HAVEN.

See page 147.

FALL RIVER.

See page 150.

FREETOWN.

At this place were 2 rolling, slitting,
and nail mills, and manufactures of

axes, hoes, shovels, spades, forks, sad-

dles, harnesses, trunks, chairs, cabi-

net-ware, leather, boots, shoes, &cc.,
and 2 vessels employed in the whale

fishery. Hay cut, 837 tons.

MANSFIELD.

This place had one woollen and 6
cotton mills

;
two forges, and manu-

factures of cutlery, tacks, brads, cars,
and other carriages, tin-ware, boots

shoes, straw hats and bonnets, sad-

dles, harnesses, trunks, bar iron, and
anchors, baskets, &c. Fruit, 1,470
bushels. Hay cut, 694 tons.

NEW BEDFORD.

See page 211.

NORTON.

Four cotton mills, making cotton

cloth, yarn, batting, pelisse wadding,
&c. 1 furnace making hollow-ware
and castings, to the amount of $35,-
000. 1 manufactory of copper, work
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ing 750 tons of copper annuall)', val-

ued at $316,000. There were also

manufactures ofsoap, candles, leather,

boots, shoes, building and monunicu-
tal stones. Fruit, 2,319 bushels.

PA\VTUCK'ET.

This place had 6 cotton mills, with

17,500 spindles, and 1 calico manu-

factory. The goods manufactured
were sheetings, shirtings, cambrics,

prints, &c . Here was a large manufac-

tory of cotton and woollen machinery,
and of coaches, and other carriages

RAYNHAM.

A forge, a furnace, and a rolling
and slitting mill. Manufactures of

nails and nail machines, bar iron,

anchors, hollow-ware, castings, shov-

els, spades, forks, hoes, leather, boots,

shoes, straw hats and bonnets, bricks,

lumber, Ace. Value of iron work

produced, $256,500. Hay, 905 tons.

REHOBOTH.

One cotton mill, producing $ 16,500
value of printing cloth. Also manu-
factures of cotton batting, ploughs,

shoes, straw bonnets, whips, mechan-
ics' tools, wooden ware, sashes, blinds,

globes, cotton twine, (Sec. Fruit, 15,-
000 bushels. Hay cut, 1,955 tons.

SEEKONK.

Here were 5 cotton mills, for the

manufacture of printing cloth
;
value

manufactured, 856,000. Also manu-
factures of cars, and other carriages,

saddles, trunks, harnesses, leather,

boots, shoes, hames, mechanics' tools,

tobacco, snuff, and cigars. Hay, 1,972
tons.

SOMERSET.

Here were two vessels employed in

the whale fishery ;
and manufactures

of cars, and other canuiges, stone-

ware, black lead crucibles, boots,

shoes, &.C. Fruit, 5,311 bushels.

SWANZEY.

One cotton mill, one paper mill, and
manufactures of cars, and other car-

riages, leather, shoes, and bricks.

Value of vessels and boats built,

$30,100. Value of fruit, $2,326.

TAUNTON.

At this place were 5 cotton mills, a
woollen mill, a paper mill, and man-
ufactures of cotton cloth, cotton flan-

nel, cassimeres, paper, nails, hollow-

ware, and iron castings, axes, tacks,

brads, cotton, woollen, and other ma-

chinery, Britannia-ware, cars, and
other carriages, saddles, harnesses,
trunks, soap, tin-ware, leather, boots,

shoes, straw hats and bonnets, yarn,

kersey, fine bricks, knobs, nail casks,

vessels, boats, bricks, cigars, mechan-
ics' tools, wooden-ware, «5cc. Value
of fruit, $2,054. Hay cut, 2,423 tons.

WESTPORT.

Eleven vessels employed in the

whale fishery ;
a cotton mill, and

manufactures of eixes, spades, forks,

shovels, hoes, salt, cars, and other

carriages, leather, boots, shoes, straw

hats and bonnets, blocks, pumps,
wooden-ware, oil casks, truss hoops,

ship scrapes, Ace. Fruit, 14,947 bush-

els, value, $3,737. Hay, 1,757 tons.

DUKES COUNTY.

CHILMARK. EDGARTOWN.

The value of mackerel and cod fish

taken, was $1,951 ;
of butter and

cheese made. $2,822. Hay cut, 944
|

ons.

30*

There were 11 vessels belonging to

this place, engaged in the whaling
business, and manufactures of oil and
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sperm candles, salt, tin-ware, hats,

caps, boots, shoes, blocks, pumps,
boats, and oil casks. Large quantities
of herring are taken here, the value
of which in 1844, was $3,400. There
were 6,367 bushels of grain raised, and

9,699 bushels of vegetables. Hay-
cut, 576 tons.

TISBURY.

The value of vessels and boats buih
here was $3,735. There are four ves
sels in the whaling business, and man-
ufactures of tin, leather, boots, shoes,
oil casks, and domestic clothing. Fruit

1,200 bushels. Hay cut, 525 tons.

ESSEX COUNTY.

AMESBURY.

Three woollen mills, with 19 sets

of machinery, manufacturing cassi-

meres, satinets, tweeds, Kentucky
jeans, and flannels, valued at $153,-
750. There were also manufactures
of carriages to the amount of $66,100 ;

leather, boots and shoes, to a large
amount

;
tin ware, hats, caps, saddles,

harnesses, combs, bricks, vessels, car-

riage springs and bows, potter's ware,
horse collars, &;c. Fruit, 19,668 bush-
els. Hay cut, 1,673 tons.

ANDOVER.

See page 26. Fruit raised, 15,426
bushels. Hay cut, 4,826 tons.

BEVERLY.

Forty-six vessels employed in the

cod and mackerel fisheries
;
value of

fares, $67,533. Eight forges, manu-
facturing anchors, cables, and other

articles ofwrought iron. Also, manu-
factures of cordage, hats, caps, cars,
and other carriages, soap, candles,

tin-ware, leather, boots, shoes, bricks,

blocks, pumps, boats, &c. Value of

fruit. $2,250. Hay cut, 2,364 tons.

BOXFORD.

Manufactures of cars, and other

carriages, cotton yarn, boots, shoes,

lumber, &c. Fruit, 27,584 bushels.

BRADFORD.

Value of fruit, $3,683. See page
110.

DANVER&

Value of beef and pork sold for

market, $150,000; value of fruit

raised, $15,177. Milk sold, 47,452

gallons. Hay cut, 3,097 tons. See

page 132.

ESSEX.

There were 28 vessels launched,
and 10 boats built, valued at $51,750.
Eight forges, producing bar-iron, an-

chors, chain cables, &c. Manufac-
tures of cordage, saddles, harnesses,
trunks, cars, and other carriages, lea-

ther, boots, shoes, pumps, blocks, &c.
There were 27 vessels employed in

the cod and mackerel fisheries. Value
of clams dug, (1,600 bushels,) $8,000.

Fruit, 11,495 bushels. Hay, 1,744
tons.

GEORGETOWN.

There were manufactured in this

town, 26,260 pairs of boots, and 381,-
820 pairs of shoes, the whole valued
at $306,198, employing 419 males,
and 237 females. The other manu-
factures in the town consist of sad-

dles, harnesses, trunks, carriages, and
tin-ware. There are in the town 11

tanneries. Value of fruit raised, $4,
873. Hay cut, 1,289 tons.

GLOUCESTER.

The value of grain, hay, fruit, veg
etables, butter, and cheese in this

town, in one year, amounted to $33,-
263. Value of halibut and hake taken,

$13,882. There were in the town, 192

horses, 839 neat cattle, and 16,478
swine. See pafe 158.
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HAMILTON.

One woollen mill, with five sets of

machinery ;
also manufactures of

boots, shoes, ice. Fruit raised, 21,2(36
bushels. Hay cut, 1,493 tons.

HAVERHILL.

One woollen mill, with five sets of

machinery, for manufacturing flannel,
or blanketing ; value, $87,500. Also,
19 forges, and manufactures of bar

iron, anchors, tacks, awls, silver-

ware, musical instruments, uphol-

stery, trunks, saddles, harnesses, hats,

carriages, soap, chairs, tin and cabi-

net-wares, combs, leather, boots,

shoes, bricks, lasts, machines for cut-

ting sole leather, &c. Fruit, 29,240
bushels, value $4,648. Hay, 2,898
tons.

IPSWICH.

One cotton mill, with 2,576 spin-

dles, five manufactories of hosiery ;

value of pnnted goods and hosiery,

852,840. Also, manufactures of up-
holstery, cars and other carriages,

soap, candles, chairs, cabinet-ware,

leather, boots, shoes, bricks, barrels,

shaving soap, veneers, Sec. Value
of clams dug for bait, 89,000. Fruit,

16,382 bushels. Hay cut, 3,770 tons.

LYNN.

There were two vessels employed in

the whaling business, and 16 in the

cod and mackerel fisheries. The
manufacture of calico amounted to

$70,000. There are also manufac-
tures of chocolate, chairs, cabinet and

tin-wares, fire arms, soap, candles,

hats, caps, carriages, butts and hinges,

glu3, bricks, snuff, tobacco, cigars,

blocks, pumps, lasts, confectionary,

paper hangings, silk, cotton and wool-
len dyeing ; sashes, blinds, India rub-

ber shoes, ttc, (fee. The value of

morocco manufactured, $34,000 ;
of

fresh fish taken, $13,950. Fruit, 8,186
bushels. Hay, 1,250 tons. See page
191.

LYNNFIFXD.

A woollen mill, with one set of ma-
chinery ;

and manufactures of shoes,
cars and other carria?e«. lumber, ice.

Value of shoes, $23,717. Hay, 7U
tons.

MANCHESTER.

Eighteen vessels employed in the

cod and mackerel fisheries
;
value of

fares, $21,435. Manufactures of up-
holstery, chairs, cabinet-ware, boots

shoes, bricks, ships' wheels, ice.

MARBLEHEAD.

This town produced m one year
1500 bushels of grain. 550 tons of hay,
17,525 bushels of vegetables, 2,000
bushels of fruit, and 1,295 pounds of
butter. See page 194.

METHUEN.

Here were two cotton mills, with

4,400 spindles, a paper mill, and man-
ufactures of chairs, tin and cabinet-

wares, hats, caps, trunks, saddles,

harnesses, cars and other carriages,

soap, candles, shoes, bricks, &c. Val-

ue of duck and ticking, $104,000.
Value of shoes, $108,715. Value of

paper manufactured, $20,000. Fruit

raised, 33,395 bushels. Hay, 2,150
tons.

OTDDLETON.

The value of paper manufactured
here was $20,592. Value of shoes

made, $35,647 ;
bushels of fruit raised,

7,949. Hay cut, 946 tons.

NEWBURY.

Belonging to this town were 18 ves-

sels employed in the cod and mack-
erel fisheries

;
value of fares, $26,000.

There were twelve ves.sels launched,
and eight boats built, valued at $227,-
500. There were manufactures in the

town of leather, boots, shoes, saddles,

harnesses, trunks, glue, bricks, tobac-

co, ice. Value of boots and shoes,

$29,305. Fruit, 41,497 bushels. Hay
cut, 4,623 tons.

NEWBURYPORT.

There were 22 forges in this town, a

furnace, and establishments for the

manufacture of cotton and woollen

machinery, fire engines, musical in-

struments, chronometers, watches.
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gold and silver ware, jewelry, uphol-

stery, hats, caps, saddles, harnesses,

truni<s, cordage, cars and other car-

riages, soap, candles, chairs, tin and

cabinet-wares, leather, boots, shoes,

straw bonnets, snuff, &c., blocks,

mechanics' tools, boats, wooden-ware,
&c. The number of vessels employed
in the cod and mackerel fishery was
57

;
value of fares, $100,322. On this

little spot of ground, 10,500 bushels

of fruit were raised, valued at $4,250.

Since our statistics on page 216 were

returned, companies, with large capi-

tals, have been formed for bleaching,

and other manufacturing purposes ;

and for supplying this contemplated

city with an abundant supply of soft

and pure water from the celebrated

Bartlet Springs, in Newbury.

ROCKPORT.

There were 69 vessels employed here

in the mackerel and cod fishery ;
value

of fares, $32,760. There were manu-
factures of boots, shoes, straw bon-

nets and hats, isinglass, &c. The
value of building stone quarried and

prepared, was $90,000, employing 250

hands. Hay cut, 750 tons.

ROWLEY.

In this town were a forge, five tan-

neries, and manufactures of boots and

shoes to the amount of $69,660. 18,543
bushels of fruit were raised. Hay cut,

1,774 tons.
SALEM.

The manufactures of Salem con-

sisted of gold, silver, and brass wares,
chemical preparations, chronometers,

watches, saddles, harnesses, trunks,

upholstery, cordage, cars and other

carriages, lead, oil, sperm and tallow

candles, chairs, tin and cabinet-wares,
white lead, gums, leather, boots, shoes,

knives, tobacco, &c.
; blocks, pumps,

lines, twine, (Sec. The value of lea-

ther tanned was $642,671 ;
of boots

and shoes made, $209,779 ;
of chemi-

cals, $66,380; of cordage, $62,000.
There were four whale ships belong-

ing to this place, and three cod and

mackerel vessels. The value of

grain, hav, fruit, and vegetables

raised in Salem in 1844, was $32,791

SALISBURY.

There were two woollen mills in

this town, with 34 sets of machinery,

making cassimeres, flannels, and other

woollen goods, to the amount of $404,-

000. (One fifth of this concern be-

longs ill Amesbury.) There are also

manufactures of axes, &c., tacks,

&c., saddles, &c., cars and other

carriages, soap, candles, chairs, tin

and cabinet-wares, combs, glue, lea-

ther to a large amount, boots, shoes,

and mechanics' tools. There were

two vessels launched, and 310 boats

built. Five vessels were employed
in the cod and mackerel fishery, and

19,679 bushels of fruit grown. Hay
cut, 2,390 tons. Corn raised, 5,749
bushels.

SAUGUS.

One woollen mill, with three sets

of machinery, manufacturing flannels

to the amount of $56,250. There were

also manufactures of cars and other

carriages, leather, boots, shoes, bricks,

tobacco, &c., mills for grinding spices,

colfee, cocoa, &c. The value of boots

and shoes made, was $94,240.

TOPSFIELD.

The value of boots and shoes made
in this town was $126,983, employing
133 hands. Value of fruit, $2,414.

WENHAM.

Cars and other carriages were man-
ufactured in this town

;
and boots

and shoes to the value of $109,580.

Fruit, 14,508 bushels, valued at $2

308. Hay cut, 911 tons.

WEST NEWBURY.

The manufactures of this town con-

sisted of cars and other carriages,

combs, leather, saddles, harnesses,

trunks, and boots and shoes to the

amount of $33,000. Fruit grown,

31,843 bushels, valued at $7,961

Hav. 2.039 tons.
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FRANKLIN COUNTY.

ASHFIKLU.

There were three tanneries in this

town, and manufactures of palm-leaf
hats, essences, patent medicines, linen

bosoms and collars. There were 21,-

402 pounds of merino wool produced,
and 59,981 pounds of maple sugTir
made. Value of hemlock bark pre-

pared, $4,50U. Hay cut, 3,799 tons.

BERNARDSTON.

Here were some manufactures of

boots, shoes, straw bonnets, scythes,

snaiths, lumber, charcoal. Ice, and

5,000 pounds of maple sugar was pro-
duced. Value of product of farms,

$23,575.
BUCKLAND.

Some carriages were made here,
and sojie wooden -ware. Value of

fruit, $558. Hay cut, 990 tons.

CHARLEMONT.

The manufactures of this town con-
sisted of hollow-ware, iron castings,

shovels, spades, forks, hoes, saddles,

harnesses, trunks, carriages, leather,

boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats, scythes,

snaiths, raw silk, 6cc. Hay cut, 2,386
tons.

COLERAINE.

This place had three cotton mills,
with 6,900 spindles ;

the value of cot-

ton cloth manufactured, was $84,000.
Also, two furnaces for the manufac-
ture of hollow-ware and castings, sad-

lery, trunks, chairs, cabinet-ware,
leather, boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats,

bricks, mechanics' tools, wooden-ware,
lumber, doors, blinds, >S;c. Fruit

rai.sed, 15,000 bushels
; maple sugar

proiluced, 34,760 lbs. Hay cut, 4,154
tons.

CONWAY.

There were two cotton mills in this

town, with 2,416 spindles; one wool-
len mill, with two sets of machinery,

and two flouring mills. The value
of printing cloth, sheetings, cotton

yarn, and batting, was $27,431 ;
value

of woollen goods, $56,000 ;
value of

flour manufactured, $9,333. There
were also manufactures of ploughs,

saddlery, trunks, hats, caps, carriages,

chairs, cabinet-ware, combs, leather,

boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats, bricks,

wooden ware, Ace. 40,000 pounds of

maple sugar was made. Fruit grown,
3,219 bushels. Hay cut, 3,398 tons.

DEERFIELD.

The amount of cutlery manufac-
tured in this town was $60,000. There
were also manufactures of ploughs,
coaches, and other carriages, lead,

leather, boots, shoes, straw braid,

palm-leaf hats, wooden-ware, corn

brooms, tobacco, raw silk, teazels,
and 5,S00 pounds of maple sugar.

Fruit, 12,093 bushels. Hay, 4,195
tons.

ERVING.

One woollen mill, one tannery, and
manufactures of palm-leaf hats, and
various kinds of lumber prepared for

use. Hay cut, 259 tons.

GILL.

The manufactures of Gill consisted
of leather, boots, shoes, carriages,

hats, caps, corn and other brooms
;
400

pounds of tobacco were raised, and

5,954 bushels of fruit produced.

GREENFIELD.

In this town was one woollen mill,
with five sets of machinery, manufac-
turing cassimeres to the amount of

$130,000. Also, manufactures of
hollow-ware and iron castings, sad-

dlery and trunks, chairs, cabinet-ware,
cars and other carriages, tin-ware,
leather, boots, shoes, bricks, mechan-
ics' tools, «kc. Fruit, 4,000 bushels;
tobacco, 1,500 pounds. Hay, 2,661
tons.
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HAWLEY.

Manufactures of leather, boots,

',hoes, and palm-leaf hats. Fruit

raised, 10,539 bushels
; maple sugar,

30,253 pounds. Hay cut, 1,381 tons.

HEATH.

Manufactures of chairs, leather,

palm-leaf hats. Fruit, 8,893 bushels
;

maple sugar, 16,080 pounds. Hay,
1,984 tons'

LEVERETT.

One woollen mill, and manufac-
tures of leather, boots, shoes, scythes,
and scythe snaiths, hoes, carriages,

palm-leaf hats, blocks and pumps,
wooden-ware, brooms, &c. Value of

charcoal, $1,200 ;
of lumber, $5,890.

LEYDEN.

Value of agricultural productions,
$21,217.

MONROE.

Value of agricultural productions,
19,464.

MONTAGUE.

In this place were manufactures of
musical instruments, saddlery, trunks,
hats, caps, carriages, leather, boots,

shoes, palm-leaf hats, bricks, mechan-
ics' tools, wooden-ware, corn and other

brooms, confectionary, matches, Ace.

Tobacco raised, 1,000 lbs. Hay, 1,440
tons.

NEW SALEM.

Manufactures of leather, boots,

shoes, saddles, harnesses, trunks,
straw braid, bricks, lumber, &:c.

Fruit raised, 7, 125 bushels. Hay, 1,131
tons.

NORTHFIELD.

Here were manufactures of car-

riages, chairs, tin and cabinet-wares,
ploughs, saddles, harnesses, trunks,

leather, boots, shoes, straw bonnets and

hats, bricks, corn and other brooms,

doors, sashes, blinds, &c. Value of
broom brush raised, $4,325. Fruit

raised, 4,000 bushels. Hay cut, 2,355
tons.

ORANGE.

Manufactures of iron castings and
hollow ware

; cotton, woollen, and
other machinery, agricultural tools,

saddles, harnesses, trunks, carriages,
leather, boots, shoes, straw braid,

palm-leaf hats, wooden-ware, and
19,000 pounds of maple sugar. Fruit

raised, 60,275 bushels. Hay cut, 2,380
tons.

ROWE.

One woollen mill
;
value of satinet

manufactured, $23,375 ;
also manu-

factures of leather, boots, shoes, chairs,

cabinet-ware, palm-leaf hats, wooden-

ware, and 23,000 pounds of maple
sugar. Hay cut, 2,100 tons.

SHELBURNE.

This place had two woollen mills,
which manufactured $11,000 worth of
satinet. Also, manufactures of scythes,
axes, farming tools, gimlets, carriages,
chairs, cabinet-ware, leather, boots,

shoes, palm-leaf hats, wooden-ware,
&c. The value of scythe snaiths

manufactured, amounted to $60,000 ;

quantity of maple sugar, 27,260
pounds; of fruit, 11,895 bushels.

Hay, 2,803 tons.

SHUTESBURY.

Cars and other vehicles, chairs,

cabinet-ware, boots, shoes, straw braid

palm-leaf hats, corn and other brooms
large quantities of lumber, washing
machines, felloes, Izc. Hay, 881 tons

SUNDERLAND^

Boots, shoes, chairs, cabinet-ware,

palm-leaf hats, bricks, blacking, &c.
Value of corn and other brooms, $12,-
000

;
value of butter and cheese, $4,-

145; maple sugar, 14,500 pounds.
Value of lumber and railroad ties,

$3,730. The value of hay, grain, and
other products of farms, $23,518.
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WARWICK.

Three tanneries
;
manufactures of

boots, shoes, glue, gums, axes, and
other edge tools, palm-leaf hats,

lumber, maple sugar, 6cc. Hay, 1,080
tons.

WENDELL.

Manufactures of railroad cars and
other vehicles, chairs, cabinet-ware,

boots, shoes, straw braid, palm-leaf
hats, wooden-ware, (cc. The quan-
tity of lumber prepared was 1,258,000

feet, valued at $9,000. Hay, l,lo4
tons.

WHATELY.

There were three woollen mill.-) in

this town; value of satinets, flannel,
and Kentucky jeans manufactured,
$23,300. Also manufactures of cut-

lery, carriages, leather, boots, shoes,

palm-leaf hats, bricks, corn and other

brooms, boots, stone and brown ware,
teazels, pocket books and wallets, ice.

The value of broom brush raised, was
$4,008—66,800 pounds. Hay, 2,09o
tons.

HAMPDEN COUNTY.

BLANDFORD.

There was in this town one woollen

mill, with two sets of machinery,
making 12,000 yards of broadcloth,
valued at $18,000. One paper mill,
lor wrapping paper, and three tanner-

ies, making $12,000 value of leather.

Quantity of butter made, 53,155
pounds ;

of cheese made, 192,025

pounds. Value

Hay, 4,085 tons.

of both, $12,997.

BRIMFIELD.

One cotton mill, with 1,338 spindles,
and manufactures of cutleiy, leather,

boots, shoes, saddlery, trunks, coaches,
and other carriages, palm-leaf hats,

copper pumps, cider brandy, bricks,

lumber, &c. The value of cotton

sheetings manufactured, was $15,000 ;

of boots and shoes, $22,892; hay,
$22,666.

CHESTER.

One cotton mill, with 1,500 spin-
dles

;
value of cotton cloth, $13,500.

Manufactures of cabinet-ware, chairs,

leather, boots, shoes, mechanics' tools,

wooden-ware, shoe pegs, &c. Hay,
2,745 tons.

GRANVILLE.

Here were manufactures of chro-

nometers, watches, gold and silver

ware, jewelrj'', ploughs, powder kegs,

maple sugar, and large quantities of
butter and cheese. Hay, 2,895 tons.

HOLLAND.

Blanufactures of carriages, palm-
leaf hats, bricks, lumber. 6cc. Hay,
561 tons.

LONG MEADOW.

The value of watches, chronome-

ters, silver-ware and jewelry made in

this town, was $15,000. There were
also manufactures of cars and other

carriages, leather, boots, shoes, corn
and other brooms, bricks, building
stone. Value of fruit raised, $1,084 ;

of tobacco, $1,941. Hay, 2,372 tons.

LUDLOW.

One cotton mill, with 8,052 spin-
dles

;
one woollen mill; value of cot-

ton cloth, batting, and satinet manu-
factured, $113,312. Also manufac-
tures of saddlery, boots, shoes, ploughs,
palm-leaf hats, brooms, i^eds, &c.
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MONSON. TOLLAND.

There were two cotton mills in this

town, with 3,644 spindles, manufac-

turing $48,700 worth ol" brown sheet-

ing ;
also three woollen mills, with

six sets of machinery, making $130,-
000 worth of satinet. There were
also manufactures of cotton, woollen,
and other machinery, axes, ploughs,

jewelry, chronometers, watches, gold
and silver-ware, saddlery, chairs, tin

and cabinet-ware, leather, boots, shoes,

palm-leaf hats, lumber, building stone,
&c. Value of fruit raised, 82,248.

Hay, 3,475 tons.

MONTGOMERY.

See page 206.

PALMER.

In this town were two cotton and
one woollen mills, making the value
of satinet, printmg and bleaching
goods, $243,538. Here were also

manufactures of hollow-ware and iron

castings, cotton, woollen, and other

machinery, scythes, saddlery, cars,
and other carriages, soap, candles,
chairs, tin and cabinet-wares, boots,

shoes, palm-leaf hats, bricks, lumber,
reeds, 6cc. Hay, 2,152 tons.

RUSSELL.

large

Manufactures of cotton twine, and

quantities of lumber. Hay,
875 tons.

SOUTHWICK.

The value of gunpowder made in

this
place,

was $6,250. The value
of fruit raised, was $2,675, of tobacco,
$627. Here were also manufactures
of leather, boots, shoes, snuff, tobacco,
cigars, whips, lumber, &c. Hay,
1,748 tons.

SPRINGFIELD.

See pag€ 276.

Jlanufactures of clocks, leather,

boots, shoes, shovels, spades, forks,

hoes, lumber, &c. Hay, 2,259 tons.

WALES.

One woollen mill, with two sets of

machinery ;
value of satinet made,

$56,000. Manufactures of leather,

boots, shoes, straw braid, bricks, lum-

ber, &c. Hay, 1,000 tons.

WESTFIELD.

In this town were two powder mills,
one paper mill, and manufactures
of ploughs, saddlery, hats, caps, wag
ons and other carriages, tin and cabi

net-wares, chairs, leather, boots, shoes,

bricks, cigars, snuff, tobacco, mechan-
ics' tools, and the value of $100,000
of whips, employing 100 males and
200 females. Value of paper, $25,-
000

;
value of powder, $9,750. Fruit,

6000 bushels. Hay, 2,784 tons.

WEST SPRINGFIELD.

There was one paper mill in this

town, which manufactured $60,000
value of paper ;

one cotton mill
;
val-

ue of printing cloth made, $48,500.
Here were also manufactures of

wagons, sleighs, leather, boots, shoes,

cigars, snuff, tobacco, whips, bricks,

brooms, lumber, &c. The value of

building stone quarri^ed and prepared,
amounted to $60,000. Fire wood
sold, 2,720 cords, value $10,880.
Fruit raised, 10,714 bushels

; tobacco,

30,150 pounds; teazels, 600,000, val-

ue. $700. Hav, 5,003 tons, value,

$50,030.

WILBRAHAM.

Manufactures of leather, boots,

shoes, ploughs, palm-leaf hats, build-

ing stone, corn and other brooms
,

fruit, 51,832 bushels
; tobacco, 29,10C

pounds. Hay, 2,557 tons. Value of
butter and cheese made, $4,982.
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HAMPSHIRE COUNTY.

AMHEKST.

In this town were one cotton, two
woollen, and two paper mills

;
value

of woollen goods, So2,600. There
were also manufactures of saddlery,
cards, cars and other carriages, chairs,

cabinet-ware, leather, boots, shoes,
straw bonnets and hats, mechanics'

tools, bricks, corn brooms, laces and

edgings, band and hat boxes, type
cases, children's wagons, washing
machines, steel sprins;?:, &;c. Tobacco
raised, 29,638 pounds. Fruit, 4,805
bushels. Ha}', 3,900 tons.

BELCHERTOWN.

Manufactures of cotton wicking
shovels, spades, forks, hoes, ploughs,
brass-ware, organs, saddlery, hats,

caps, wagons and other vehicles,
chairs, cabinet-ware, boots, shoes,

palm-leaf hats, bricks, tobacco, snuff,

cigars, lumber, (Sec Value of car-

riages, S40,440 ;
value of palm-leaf

hats, $15,356. Fruit, 8,^172 bushels;
hay, 4,421 tons.

CHESTERFIELD.

Here were manufactures of leather,

hollow-ware, iron castings, palm-leaf
hats, wooden-ware, lumber, &c. The
value of leather tanned, was $17,400 ;

of maple sugar made, $2,827. Hay,
2,423 tons.

CUMMTNGTON.

This place had two woollen mills,
with two sets of machinerj"-, and man-
ufactures of hollow-ware, iron cast-

ings, leather, boots, shoes, palm-leaf
hats, &c. Value of leather tanned
and curried, $115,800. Maple sugar
made, 29,500 pounds. Hay, 2,516
tons.

EASTHABIPTON.

One flouring mill, and manufac-
tures of cotton wicking, leather, boots,

ol

shoes, palm-leaf hats, lumber, iV:<-

Hay, 912 tons.

ENFIELD.

In this town were two cotton mills,
with 1,280 spindles; two wooller.

mills, with three sets of machinery,
and manufactures of cotton, woollen,
and other machinery, ploughs, sad-

dlery, cards, carriages, chairs, cabi-

net-ware, leather, boots, shoes, palm-
leaf hats, lumber, &;c. Value of sati-

net and Kentucky jeans manufactur-

ed, $37,500 ;
value of cotton and

wool cards, $35,000. Hay, 1,172
tons. Fruit, 2,712 bushels.

GOSHEN.

Large quantities of lumber and
bark are here prepared for market.
Broom handles made, 350,000 ;

ma-
ple sugar manufactured, 15,693
pounds. Millet, 1,246 tons; value,
$7,476.

GRANBY.

Two woollen mills, with two sets of

machinery, one paper mill, and man-
ufactures of palm-leaf hats. Value
of satinet and flannel made, $31,250 ;

of paper, $7,200. Hay, 2,596 tons.

Fruit, 3,129 bushels.

GREENWICH.

One woollen mill, and manufac-
tures of scythes, shovels, spades, forks,

hoes, brushes, wagons, boots, shoes,
palm-leaf hats, pails, lead pipe, dec.

HADLEY.

There were manufactured in this

town 699,369 corn and other brooms,
valued at $90,102. There were also
manufactures of leather, boots, shoes,
glue, gums, chairs, cabinet-ware,
cards, children's wagons, saddlery,
broom screws, cutlery, vrire, pumps,
bricks, palm-leaf hats^i (kc, &;c. The
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value of lumber prepared, was $24,-
304. Hay, 3.059 tons.

HATFIELlt.

The value of brooms and brushes
manufactured in this town, was $40,-
950. There were also manufactures
of palm-leaf hats, boots and shoes.

The value of lumber prepared for mar-

set, was $14,000. Hay, 2,216 tons.

MIDDLEFIELD.

In this town were three woollen

mills, with five sets of machinery ;

value of broadcloth and satinet made,
was $60,200. Also manufactures of

leather, wooden bowls, and lumber.

NORTHAMPTON.

There were in this town one wool-
len mill, with eight sets of machinery,
two paper mills, three establishments

for manufacturing silk, and manufac-
tures of hollow-ware, iron castings;

jewelry, gold and silver ware, saddlery,

hats, caps, coaches and other carria-

ges, soap, candles, chairs, tin and cab-

inet-wares, leather, boots, shoes, straw
bonnets and hats, bricks, books, corn

'and other brooms, lumber, &:c. Yards
of broadcloth and cassimere manufac-

tured, 92,214. Value of paper made,
$61,250 ; sewing silk manufactured,
6,100 pounds. Value, $41,500. Fruit

raised, 16,002 bushels
; tobacco, 18,-

260 pounds. Hay, 3,740 tons. There
were raised in this town, 27,347 bush-
els of corn, 750 bushels of wheat, 4,863
bushels of rye, 60 bushels of barley,
and 6,952 bushels of oats

;
value of

grain, $19,447.

NORWICH.

One flour mill, one woollen mill,

and a tannery. Also manufactures
of boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats, scythe
.atones, lumber, &c. Hay, 1,260 tons.

PELHAM.

I\Ianufactures of wagons, boots,

bhoes, palm-leaf hats, building stone,

lumber, lasts, bench and hand screws,
(kc. Hay, 991 tons.

PLAINFIELD.

Here were two woollen mills, which
manufactured cassimere, satinet, Ken-
tucky jeans, and flannel, to the amount
of $2,872. Also manufactures of

cabinet-ware, harnesses, leather, boots,

shoes, palm-leaf hats, bricks, wooden
ware, farming utensils, dec. Maple
sugar made, 25,664 pounds. Hay,
1,625 tons.

PRESCOTT.

Manufactures of boots, shoes, palm-
leaf hats, bricks, lumber, &c. Hay,
1,281 tons.

SOUTH HADLEY.

There were two woollen mills in

this town, with three sets of machin-

ery ;
three paper mills, and three tan-

neries
;
value of cassimere and sati-

net manufactured, $28,000 ;
of paper,

$150,000, and of leather tanned and
curried, $10,710. Also manufactures
of pearl buttons, saddlery, coaches,
and other carriages, boots, shoes,

bricks, corn and other brooms, &c.
Fruit raised, 3,428 bushels

; tobacco,

6,000 pounds. Hay, 1,792 to^s.

SOUTHAMPTON.

Manufactures of satinet, ploughs,

saddlery, tin-ware, bricks, lumber,
railroad sleepers, baskets, leather

;

value of bricks made, $15,000. Hay,
1,725 tons.

WARE.

Here were three cotton mills, with
a capital of $150,000; one woollen

mill, with seven sets of machinery' ;

and manufactures of saddlerj', trunks,

hats, soap, chairs, tin and cabinet-

wares, boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats,
bricks, augers, &c. There were 26,-
000 Florence and fancy bonnets man-
ufactured, valued at $80,000. Value
of cassimere and flannel manufac-

tured, $175,000. Fruit raised, 8,268
bushels. Value of milk sold, $SOa
Hay, 2,522 tons.
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WESTHAMPTON.

Manufactures of" brass and silver,

leather, hoes, bark, lumber, charcoal,

axe-helves, bobbins, i?cc. IMaple sugar,
5,741 pounds. Fruit, 11,677 bushels.

Hay, 1,166 tons.

WILLIAMSBURG.

There were four woollen mills in

this town, with five .sets of machin-

ery ;
value of broadcloth, cassimere,

satmet, and llannel, 821,200. The
value of covered buttons manufac-
tured at this place, was 8175,000 ;

of

wood button moulds, $600
;
of horn

buttons, 830,000; of japaned but-

tons, $15,000. There were also man-

ufactures in the town of iron castings
and hollow-ware, axes, hoes, cutlery,

saddlery, leather, boots, shoes, paim-
leaf hats, lather boxes, lumber, 6cc.

Also a Hour mill, and ?, manufactory
of steel pens ;

value of pens, 815,000.
Teazels raised, 1,418,000. Fruit,

Hay, 2,000 tons.2,650 bushels

WORTHINGTON.

Manufactures of leather, boots,

shoes, hats, caps, painted curtain

blinds, children's wagons, carpenters'

planes, wooden-ware, fee. Value of

leather, 837,500 ; maple sugar man-
ufactured, 37,280 pounds. Fruit,

3,000 bushels; hay, 3,363 tons.

MIDDLESEX COUNTY.

ACTON.

One powder mill, value of powder,
#30,000. Manufactures of hats, caps,

boots, shoes, straw braid, pencils,

building stone, lumber, &.c. Fruit

raised, 9,305 bushels; value of ber-

ries sold, $2,000. Hay, 1,745 tons.

ASHBY.

Manufactures of cordage, carriages,

chairs, leather, boots, shoes, palm-leaf
hats, buildingand grave stones, blocks,

pumps, wooden-ware, lumber, barrels,
fee. Hay, 1,831 tons. Fruit, 9,909
bushels. Value of butter and cheese,

$6,752.
ASHIJVND.

In the year of our Lord 1846, the

southerly and westerly parts of the

town of Framingham, the easterly

part of Hopkinton, and the northerly

part of HoUiston, were incorporated by
the legislature into a separate town, by
the above name. It comprises an area

of 11 square miles, and about 1,100
inhabitants. Its location is very plea-

sant, its water-power abundant, and
its agricultural and manufacturing
:oncerns are in n tlonrishin? condition.

The Worcester railroad passes through
the centre of the town, about midway
between Worcester and Boston. See

Framingham, fee.

BEDFORD.

The value of boots and shoes man-
ufactured in this town, was $33,900.
Manufactures of carriages, harnesses,
lumber, &c. Fruit raised, 2,898

bushels; milk sold, 64,112 gallons,

value, $5,770. Hay, 1,251 tons.

BILLERICA.

One woollen mill, with three sets of

machinery, three carpet factories, and
establishments for bleaching or col-

oring cotton goods. Value of the

above woollen goods, except carpet-

ing, $82,940. Manufactures of cot-

ton and woollen machinery, leather

splitting machines, cars and other

carriages, soap, candles, chairs, cab-

inet-ware, leather, boots, shoes, me-
chanics' tools, bed lace, dye stuffs,

fee. One flour mill, value of flour,

818,962. Fruit raised, 8,371 bushels.

Hay, 1,960 tons. The value of log-
wood cut, and dye-stuffs ground, was
S?.V2,430.
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BOXBOROUGH.

Manufactures of cars, coaches, and
other carriages, shoes, straw braid,

lime, lumber, &c. Whortleberries

raised, 500 bushels
; cranberries, 200

bushels. Value of the former, $1,000 ;

of the latter, $300. Hay, 1,500 tons.

BRIGHTON.

Manufactures of bone buttons,

whips, leather, wagons, sleighs and
other carriages, trunks, saddlery, &c.
Value of fruit raised, $12,000.

BURLINGTON.

One calico manufactoiy ;
value of

printed goods, $15,000; value of

shoes made, $8,598. Manufactures
of chairs, cabinet-ware, lumber, Szc.

Fruit raised, $9,157 bushels; 40,635

gallons of milk sold for $4,180.

Hops, 3,355 lbs., value, $402.

CAMBRIDGE.

The value of sundry articles man-
ufactured in this city was as fol-

lows :—Glass, $334,000, (three hous-

es,) soap and candles, 19 factories,

$311,257; chemical preparations,

$20,250; brushes, $18,000; sadlery,
$10.130 ;

hats and caps, $18,500 ;

cordage, $31,000; cars, coaches, and
other carriages, $201,388 ;

chairs and

cabinet-ware, $13,000 ; leather, $18,-
700

;
boots and shoes, $28,476 ; bricks,

$78,460 ; snuff, tobacco, and cigars,

$47,000. There were also manufac-
tures of starch, ice cutters, latches,
door handles, musical instruments,

upholstery, tin-ware, whips, blacking,

blocks, pumps, mechanics' tools, shav-

ing soap, confectionary, earthen-ware,

ladders, sashes, blinds, marble manu-
factures of various kinds

; paper-

hangings, asti-al lamps, stoves, frin-

ges, tassels, surgical instruments, &;c.

Value of fruit, $8,685.

CARLISLE.

Manufactures of carriages, boots,

shoes, lumber, itc. Fruit, 20,761

bushels, value, $2,213. Hay, 1,018
tons. Value of butter and cheese;

$2,425.
CHAULESTOWN.

See page 122.

CHELMSFORD.

Two establishments for the manu-
facture of worsted goods, (one only
in operation ;) value of worsted goods,

$63,441. Also manufactures of hol-

low-ware and iron castings, fire en-

gines, scythes, wood-screws, ploughs,
chemical preparations, saddlery, car-

riages, soap, candles, boots, shoes,

building stone, lumber, &c. Value
of cotton, woollen, and other machin-

ery, $55,000. Milk, 97,025 gallons,
sold for $8,777. Hay, 1,952 tons.

CONCORD.

One woollen mill, with four sets of

machinery; value of flannel manu-
factured, $60,000. Also a lead fac-

tory, and manufactures of soap and

candles, rifles, boots, shoes, blocks,

pumps, lumber, &c. Fruit raised,

3,895 bushels
; hay cut, 2,842 tons.

DRACUT.

One cotton mill
;
value of cotton

canvass made, $34,000 ;
one woollen

mill, with eight sets of machinery,
making coatings, kerseys, negro
cloths, and green bocking, to the

amount of $122,000. One mill for

carpeting, value of goods, $18,000.
One paper mill, and manufactures of

wagons and other carriages ; boots,

shoes, lumber, &cc. Fruit raised,

20,183 bushels
;
milk sold, 68,310 gal-

lons. Hay cut, 2,295 tons.

DUNSTABLE.

Manufactures of boots, shoes, palm-
leaf hats, barrels, wagons, lumber,
charcoal, &c. Hay cut, 1,389 tons.

FRAMINGHAM.

In this town were three woollen
and worsted mills, with sixteen sets
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of machinery, making flannels, bock-

ings, woollen yarn, blankets, worsted

yarn, worsted bunting and carpeting,
to the amount of $5-12,980 ;

two pa-

per mills, value of paper, S52,500.
Also manufactures of woollen and
other machinery, axes, hatchets, cut-

lery, saddlery, millinery, caps, hats,

cabinet and tin-wares, leather, boots,

shoes, straw-bonnets, building stone,

lumber, (Sec. Fruit raised, 22,381
bushels

; value, So,013. Hay cut,

3,212 tons.

GROTON.

Two paper mills
;
value of paper,

$11,400; and manufactures of sad-

dlery, hats, caps, cars and other car-

riages, chairs, cabinet and tin-ware
;

leather, boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats,

soap stone, marble and slate. Fruit

raised, 14,60t) bushels. Hay cut,

3,675 tons. Value of grain raised,

$14,211.
HOLLISTON.

Value of boots and shoes, $176,369.
Value of straw hats and bonnets,.S36,-
671. Also manufactures of saddlery,

trunks, cars and other carriages,

chairs, tin and cabinet-wares, combs,
leather, pumps, tight-air stoves, lum-

ber, (Sec Value of 1.000 bushels of

cranberries raised, S1.500. Fruit,

13,374 bushels; hay cut, 1,351 tons.

HOPKINTON.

Three cotton mills, with 2,936 spin-
dles ; value of shirtmgs, cotton twine,
and batting, S34,700. Also manufac-
tures of machines for making nails,

ploughs, saddlery, cars and other car-

riages, chairs, cabinet-ware, bricks,

brooms, boots, boot boxes, clothing,

(.Sec. Value of boots manufactured,
$272.579

;
value of straw bonnets,

S25,000. Fruit raised, 40,155 bush-

els. Hay cut, 1,334 tons.

LEXINGTON.

Thete were four manufactoritjs of

fur in this town
;
value of eajis and

muffs made, 334,586. Here were
also manufactures of bo',ts. shoes,

3t)*

tin-ware. Ice. There were 20,604
bushels of fruit raised, 1,000 cords of

wood cut, 300,000 gallons of milk

sold, and 2,550 tons of hay produced.

LINCOLN.

Some manufactures of boots and

shoes, and considerable sales of milk,

fire-wood and lumber. Hay cut,

1,532 tons. Fruit raised, 8,527 bush-

els.

LlxrLETO.V.

See page 186.

LOWELL.

In addition to the manufactures of

this noted place already mentioned on

page 188. there were those of hosiery,
iron castings, hollow-ware, locks,

paper, brushes, saddlery, hats, caps,

cards, soap, candles, tin, boots, shoes,

tobacco, marble, whips ;
also of cop-

per, brass, and a great number of

other articles. Fruit raised, 5,100
bushels. Hay cut, 759 tons,

MALDEN,

At this place, a rolling, slitting, and
nail mill, manufacturing nails, nail

machines, (.Vc, to the annual amount
of §76,500 ;

also three dye houses,
seven forges, and manufactures of

cutlery, Britannia ware, saddlery, cor-

dage, carriages, tin-ware, boots, shoes,

bricks, tassels, picture frames, ma-

chinery, kid and morocco leather, ice.

Value of boots and shoes made, $65,-
755. Value of dyeing business, 893,-
000. Milk sold, 97,383 gallons. Fruit

raised, 12,579 bushels. Hay, 1,655
tons. Value of vegetables sold, $4,975.

MARLBOROUGH.

Here were two tanneries, and man-
ufactures of boots, shoes, straw braid,

boats, (Sec. Value of boots and shoes,

$92,932. Fruit raised, 12,469 bushels
;

milk sold, 60,540 gallons. Hay cut,

4,169 tons. Value of butter and clieer.e,

$14,905. Vmegar apples, 31,77^
bushels.
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MEDFORD.

There were 24 vessels launched in

this town, whose tonnage was 9,660

tons, valued at 8198,175. The other

manufactures consisted of hat bodies,

hats, caps, cars, and other carriages,

soap, candles, chairs, tin and cabinet-

wares, linseed oil, bricks, building

stone, &c. Value of hats and caps
manufactured, $40,000 ;

of linseed

oil, $59,500 ;
and of building stone,

$10,000. Fruit raised, 12,500 bush-

els. Hay cut, 2,000 tons. »

NATICK.

There were 19,150 pairs of boots,

and 614,200 pairs of shoes manufac-
tured at this place, valued at $420,-

774, and employing 871 hands. There
were also in the town, manufactures
of chairs, cabinet-ware, trunks, sad-

dlery, straw braid, blocks, pumps,
shoe boxes, &c. Fruit raised, 9,348
bushels. Hay cut, 1,120 tons.

NEWTON.

At this place were four paper mills,

a cotton mill, with 8,124 spindles, a

calico manufactory, a furnace, and a

rolling and slitting mill. The value

of printing cotton and calico made,
was $95,108. Value of paper made,
$140,622; value of manufactures of

nails, nail machines, and other iron,

$53,875. There were also in the town
manufactures of cotton, woollen, and
other machinery, chemical prepara-

tions, saddlery, upholstery, carriages,

soap, candles, tin-v/are, boots, shoes,

glue, dye stuffs, 6cc. Fruit raised,

27,270 bushels; milk produced, 300,-
000 gallons ; 1,762 quarts of straw-

berries, and 2,550 tons of hay were
cut. Value of nursery-trees sold,

$15,400.
PEPPERELL. •

Thero were one woollen, and two

paper mills in this town
;
value of

paper manufactured, $66,240 ;
value

of cassimeres and flannel, $9,200.

Cotton, woollen, and other machin-

ery, saddlery, carriages, soap, can-

dles, boots, shoes, bricks, dec. Fruit

raised, 8,817 bushels. Hay cut, 1,961
tons.

READING.

The value of 274,000 pairs of shoes

manufactured in this town, was $166,-
734

;
of chairs and cabinet-ware,

$103,100. The other manufactures
consisted of tin-ware, cars, and other

carriages, coach lace, lumber, &c.
Cranberries raised, 400 bushels

; hops,
7.200 pounds; fruit, 9,000 bushels;

hay cut, 1,900 tons.

SHERBURNE.

The value of boots and shoes man
ufactured here, was $21,399. Other

manufactures, sewing silk, axes, sad-

dlery, carriages, fire-arms, leather,
straw bonnets, whips, &;c. Cran-
berries raised, 560 bushels. Value of

vinegar made, $10,136. Hay cut,

1,670 tons. Fruit, 26,596 bushels.

SHIRLEY.

Here were three cotton mills, with

2,334 spindles ;
value of sheeting and

cotton )'arn made, $33,216. Three

paper mills
;
value of paper, $33,750.

Value ot boots and shoes $22,000.
Here were also manufactures of lea-

ther, saddlery, tin-ware, carriages,

palm-leaf hats, corn and other brooms,

bricks, &c. Hops raised, 23,389

pounds. Fruit, 5,200 bushels. Hay,
1,082 tons.

S0MER\1LLE.

The value of goods bleached and

colored, and not printed at this place,
was $315,000. Thequantity of bricks

made, was 27,576,000; value, $166,-
980. There were also manufactures
of cordage, tin-ware, paints, snuff,

tobacco, cigars, &c. Fruit raised,

5,724 bushels. Hay cut, 989 tons.

SOUTH READING.

Two establishments for chemical

preparations ; value, $25,500. Also

manufactures of saddlery, cordage,

carriages, tin-Ware, shoes, blocki,
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pumps, mechanics' tools, razor strops,
ftcc. Value of shoes manufactured,

$200,000. Fruit raised, 8,000 bush-

els. Hay cut, 800 tons.

STONEHAM.

The value of shoes made here, was

$150,290. Manufactures of carriages,
mechanics' tools, lumber, &c. Hay
cut, 717 tons. Fruit raised, 3,182
bushels.

STOW.

One woollen mill, with five sets of

machinery ;
value of broadcloth and

cassimeres made, $101,300. Also
manufactures of axes, saddlery,

trunks, carriages, lime, lumber, ice.

Hops raised, 2,571 pounds; fruit,

8,969 bushels
; hay cut, 1,481 tons.

SUDBURY.

One paper mill, value of paper,
$1,3,000. INIanufactures of coaches
and other carriages, boots, shoes,
straw bonnets, candles, oaken bas-

kets, lumber, &;c. Value of milk

sold, $900. Cranberries raised, 842
bushels. Fruit, 14,540 bushels

j hay
cut, 2,327 tons.

TEWKSBURY.

Two tanneries
;

value of leather,

$32,000. Value of lumber and fire-

wood prepared, $13,200. Fruit rais-

ed, 10,347 brshels. Hops, 50,016

pounds. Milk sold, 35,000 gallons.
Value of 100 tons of oakum manufac-

tured, $12,000.

TOWNSEND.

Manufactures of iron castings, hol-

low-ware, shovels, spades, forks, hoes,

ploughs and other farming tools, cars,

coaches, &c.
; leather, boots, shoes,

palm-leaf hats, barrels, bricks, blocks,

pumps, lumber, &c. Hops raised,

14,025 pounds; fruit, 8,199 bu.shels
;

hay cut, 1,605 tons.

TYNGSBOROUGH.

Blanufactures of brushes, carriages,
boots, shoes, lumber, &:c. Fruit raised,

14,831 bushels. Hay cut, 1.350 tons.

WALTHAINI.

This place had three cotton mills,
with 11,488 spindles, making shirt-

ings and sheetings to ihe amount of

$230,838. Also an establishment for

bleaching or coloring cotton goods ;

value of goods bleached or. colored,

$900,000. Also a paper mill, and
manufactures of cotton, woollen, and
other machiner}', saddlery, hats, caps,

cars, and other carriages, fire-arms,

chairs, cabinet-ware, tin-ware, boots,

shoes, blocks, pumps, &c. Fruit

raised, 25,651 bushels
; squashes and

melons, 240 tons
;
milk sold, 109,200

gallons ; hay cut, 1,632 tons.

WATERTOWN.

At this place were one cotton mill,
with 1,300 spindles, one paper mill,
and manufactures of hosiery, saddlery,

carriages, starch, axes, soap, candles,

chairs, tin and cabinet-wares, boots,

shoes, snuff, tobacco, cigars, &c. Val-
ue of shirtings and printing cloths,

$15,000; vafue of paper, $15,000.
Fruit raised, 30.000 bushels, value,

$20,000. Hay cut, 1,500 tons.

WAYLAND.

The A'^alue of shoes made in this

town, was .$35,725. Manufactures
of straw bonnets and hats, shoe-boxes,

ship and other timber, fire-wood, dec.

Fruit raised, 4,041 bushels
;
value of

fruit, $2,021 ; hay cut, 1,365 tons.

WEST CAMBRIDGE.

Value of saws, hatchets, and other

edge tools manutactured, $40,000.
Valuo of cards manufactured, $41,-

400; value of boots and shoes, $17,-
120. Other manufactures, chairs, tin

and cabinet-wares, cars, coaches, and
other carriages, hats, caps, shovels,

spades, forks, hoes, bricks, dec. Fruit

raised, 50,340 bushels, milk sold, 150,-
757 gallons; hay cut, 1,500 tons; ice

cut, 50,000 tons, value of ice, $25,000.
Value of printed woollen, cotton, and
silk and cotton goods, $150,000. Val-
ue of dye-woods, drugs, and spices
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nianufactured, 1418,800. Value of

mahogany sawed, S22,000.

WESTFORD.

Here were two forges, which man-
ufactured bar iron, anchors, and chain

cables, to the amount of $20,000.
Also manufactures of shoes, bricks,

cars, coaches, and other carriages.
Fruit raised, 5,326 bushels. Hay cut,

1,890 tons.

WESTON.

One cotton mill, with 768 spindles,
value of goods made, $ 1 1 ,608. Value
of cotton, woollen, and other ma-

chinery manufactured, $39,000. Al-

so, manufactures of cutlery, locks,

ploughs, saddlery, trunks, carriages,

leather, boots, shoes, loom-pickers,

earthen-ware, Ace. Fruit raised, 12,-
218 bushels, value, 6,271. Hay cut,

1,613 tons.

WILMINGTON.

Manufactures of boots, shoes, hats,

caps, patent leather, wooden-ware,
lumber, &;c. Hops raised, 15,490

pounds. Hay cut, 800 tons.

WOBURN.

One calico manufactory, one wool-

len mill, one silk manufactory, and
manufactures of machinery, harnes-

ses, chaises, and other carriages, fire-

arms, cabinet and tin-ware, piano-forte

keys, leather, boots, shoes, pumps,
wooden-ware, sashes, blinds, and
doors. Value of veneers sawed, $36,-
500. Value of wooden door-knobs,

$10,500. Value of silk manufactured,
22,750. Value of cabinet-ware, $28,-
000. Value of leather, $222,675.
Value of boots and shoes, $234,533.
Value of sashes, &c., $25,300. Fruit

raised, 20,398 bushels. Hay cut,

1,536 tons.

NANTUCKET COUNTY.

NANTUCKET.

In addition to the statistics of indus-

try of this island, town and county,

printed on page 208, were the fol-

lowing : manufactures of brass, tin,

cordage, boots, shoes, snuflT, tobacco,

cigars, blocks, pumps, candle-boxes,

boats, coopers' tools, harpoons, &c.
The value of casks manufactured,
was $40,000 ;

value of cordage,
000. See Coiunty Tables.

NORFOLK COUNTY.

BELLINGHAM.

There were three cotton mills in

this town, with 2,520 spindles, mak-

ing $33,640 wortli of printing cloth,

thread, and sheetings. Also one
woollen mill, with two sets of ma-

chinery ;
value of goods made, $10,-

000. There were also manufactures
of brushes, carriages, farming tools,

glue, straw braid, boats, &c. Value
of lumber prepared. $20,194 ;

value
of boots manufactured, $48,862. Fruit

raised, 1,455 bushels. Hay cut, 1,052
tons.

BRAINTREE.

One cotton mill, with 1,100 spin-

dles, and a woollen mill
;

value of

cotton and woollen goods, $18,468;
value of boots and shoes manufac-

tured, $196,280; value of building
stone quarried and prepared, $27,000 ;

of cotton gins, $15,000 ;
of tacks and

brads, $15,000 ;
of shovels, spades,

forks, and hoes, $26,000. Also one

paper mill, manufacturing $20,000
value of paper; also manufactures

of saddles, harnesses, trunks, cars,

coaches, and other carriages, choco.



DOMESTIC INDUSTRV. :M\d

late, tin-ware, leather, blocks, pumps,
6cc. Fruit raised, 11,218 busliels,

value, $2,615 ; hay cut, 1,223 tons.

BROOKLINE.

Manufactures of chaises, wagons,
and other carriages, saddlerj^, trunks,

chairs, cabinet-ware, leather, boots,

shoes, hosiery, &c. Value of fruit

raised, 837,843. Cider made, 1,044
barrels

; value, a dollar a barrel
; hay

cut, 1,789 tons. Value of vegetables,

SG3,684.

CANTON.

See page 121.

COHASSET.

There were 44 vessels engaged in

the cod and mackerel fisheries, in

this town, whose fares of fish amount-
ed to S58,443. Value of vessels built,

S6.000. Value of boots and shoes,

$18,600. Also manufactures of sad-

dlery, trunks, cars, and other carria-

ges, salt, building stone, &c. Value
of fruit, 81,538; hay cut, 850 tons.

DEDHAM.

In this town were a cotton mill,

with 4,400 spindles ;
three woollen

mills, with 12 sets of machinery ;
a

silk factory, a paper mill, a furnace,
and manufactures of silk and other

machinery, shovels, spades, forks,

hoes, saddlery, hats, caps, chairs, tin

and cabinet-wares, glue, leather, boots,

shoes, straw bonnets and hats, cigars,

pocket-books, &c. Value of cotton

goods, .$64,935 ;
value of woollen

goods, $250^000 ;
of silk goods, $47,-

450
;
of iron ware and castings, $10,-

500; of boots and shoes, $28,285.
Fruit raised, 10,362 bushels

; value,

?2,853. Hay cut, 2,730 tons.

DORCHESTER.

One cotton mill, with 3,500 spin-

dles, two paper mills, and two choco-

late mills ;
also two soap and candle

works, and manufactures of Britannia

ware, starch, chemicals, confection-

ary, earthen-ware, chronometers, ther-

mometers, saddleiy, hats, caps, cord-

age, till and cabinet-wares, chairs,

coaches, chaises, and other vehicles,

leather, boots, shoes, bricks, dec. Val-

ue of cotton goods, 8100,840; of pa-

per, $45,000 ;
of chocolate, .850,872 ;

of soap and candles, $22,000 ;
of cab-

inet-ware and chairs, Sb5,300 ;
of tin-

ware, $15,000; of leather, $55,300;
of playing cards, $15,00u ;

of boots

and shoes, $12,720. Fruit raised,

23,384 bushels, value, $10,000. Hay
cut, 2,621 tons.

Since the above statistics were re-

turned, a tide mill, on a new construc-

tion, has been erected at Neponset
Village, in this town, which promises
much usefulness in various branches

of mechanics.

DOVER.

There were three rolling, slittuig.

and nail mills in this town, manufac-

turing iron, nails, &c. Amount of

manufacture, $165,500. There are

also manufactures of boots, shoes,

brushes, whips, dec. Fruit, 4,850
bushels

; hay cut, 761 tons.

FOXBOROUGH.

Here were two cotton mills, with

934 spindles, one woollen mill, a fur-

nace, and manufactures of farming
tools, cars, and other carriages, lea-

ther, boots, shoes, straw bonnets and

hats, planing machines, boxes, bonnet

blocks, baskets, hoops, &c. Value of

cotton goods, $11,000; of woollen

goods, $21,000; of hollow-ware and

castings, $20,000 ;
ofleather, $11,000

;

of straw bonnets and hats. $320,929 ;

of planing machines, $20,000. Fruit,
275 bushels. Hay, 856 tons.

FRANKLI.V.

There were seven cotton mills in

this town, with 4,422 spindles ;
value

of cotton goods, .$54,5 1(3. Other man-
ufactures consisted of wagons, sleighs,

boots, shoes, boats, 6cc. The value
of 107,867 straw bonnets and hats,
was $129,800. Fruit, 5,960 bushels

Hav cut. 1,625 tons.
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MEDFIELn.

The manufactures of this place con-

sisted of leather, shoes, tin and cabi-

net-wares, chairs, cars, and other car-

riages, saddlery, trunks, brushes,

shovels, spades, forks, hoes, &c.
Fruit raised, 2,000 bushels. Hay cut,

1,100 tons.

MEDWAY.

There were nine cotton mills in

Medway, with 4,837 spindles ;
value

of goods manufactured, $322,305 ;

also a calico manufactory, and a

bleaching establishment. There was
also a woollen mill, manufacturing
$10,650 value ofKentucky jeans. Also
manufactures of bells, organs, cotton,

woollen, and other machinery, scythes,

hoes, ploughs, clocks, trunks, saddlery,

carriages, chairs, tin and cabinet-

wares, boots, shoes, bricks, bonnet

pressing machines, &;c. Value of
straw bonnets and hats, S54,242 ;

of

wool and flocks, from woollen rags,

$10,000. Value of bells manufac-

tured, $22,000. Value of lumber

prepared, $16,650. Fruit raised, 6,017
bushels. Hay cut, 1,852 tons.

MILTON.

There were two paper mills in this

town, a chocolate mill, and manufac-
tures of cars, coaches, and other car-

riages, saddlery, trunks, chairs, cabi-

net ware, leather, boots, shoes, &c.
Value of paper made, $30,000 ;

of

chairs and cabinet-ware, $22,500 ;
of

building stone quarried and prepared,
$79,000. Fruit, 13,465 bushels

;
val-

ue, $5,386. Hay cut, 1,698 tons.

NEEDHABI.

Six paper mills, value of paper,
$1 44,834. One cotton mill, with 2,176

spindles ;
value of manufactures,

$34,800. Also manufactures of ho-

siery, sewing silk, hinges, blind fast-

nings, glue, hoops, &c. Value of

shoes made, $29,400. Fruit, 2,000
bushels. Hay cut, 1,450 tons.

QUINCY.

The value of granite quarried and

prepared in this town, amounted to

$324,500. Value of boots and shoes

manufactured, $133,273; value of
leather tanned and curried, $67,125;
also manufactures of chairs, tin and

cabinet-wares, coaches and other ve-

hicles, salt, slate, saddlery, trunks,

blacking, &:c. Value of bleached
wax $15,000. There were four ves-

sels employed in the cod and mackerel

fishery, one in the whaling business,
and two vessels built

;
value of fish

taken, $7,625. Fruit raised, 4,579
bushels. Hay cut, 1,565 tons.

RANDOLPH.

The manufactures of boots and
shoes in this town amounted to $700,-
100. The other manufactures con-

sisted of cars and other carriages,

chairs, cabinet and tin-wares, sad-

dlery, trunks, straw bonnets and hats,

blocks, pumps, mechanics' tools, build-

ing stone, lumber, &c. Fruit, 25,555
bushels; value, $10,222. Hay cut,
988 tons.

ROXBURY.

The value of carpeting manufac-
tured in this city, amounted to $120,-
000

;
of worsted goods, $25,175 ;

of
silk and worsted fringe and tassels,

$15,000; of manufactures of iron,

$376,600 ;
of steam engines and boil-

ers, $15,800 ;
of fire engines, $25,000 ;

of starch, $68,000 ;
of chemical prep-

arations, $90,000 ;
of stained and

stamped paper, $14,500; of uphol-

stery, $20,000 ;
of cordage, $370,000 ;

of cars and other carriages, $31,300;
of soap and candles, $78,380 ;

of

chairs and cabinet-ware, $56,000 ;
of

sheet lead and pipe, white lead and
other paints, $75,600 ; of bread, $174,-
500

;
of leather, $287,000 ;

of boots

and shoes, $88,692 ;
of bricks, $29,-

800
;
of stone, $17,500

;
of spirits of

turpentine and rosin, $15,600 ;
of

rum, $7,200 ;
of looking glass frames.

&c., $20,000 ;
of beer, $34,000 ;

of
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oakum, S24,U00 ;
of knit goods and

yarn, S30,000. Also manufactures
of hosiery, butts, hinges, brass, clocks,

saddlery, trunks, hats, caps, rillcs, and

fowling-pieces, tin-ware, glue, blocks,

pumps, boxes, barrels, t!cc. Fruit,

37,82 1 bushels, value, §30.822. Milk,

239,0.'50 gallons, sold for S23,'J05.

Hay cut, 3,547 tons.

SHARON.

Two cotton mills, -with 1,300 spin-

dles, one woollen mill, and manufac-
tures of axes, hoops, boots, shoes,
straw bonnets and hats. Value of

cotton and woollen goods, $35,360.

Fruit, 4,437 bushels. Hay cut, 983
Ions.

STOUGHTON.

There were three woollen mills in

this town, and manufactures of cars,

coaches, and other carriages, saddlery,

trunks, soap, candles, boots, shoes,
straw braid, mechanics' tools, hoops,
&c. Value of boots and shoes, 84 18,-

274. Fruit raised, 7,775 bushels.

Hay cut, 1,000 tons.

WALPOLE.

There were five cotton mills in this

town, with 2,800 spindles ;
three wool-

len mills, with five sets of machinery ;

three paper mills, and manufactures
of hollow-ware and castings, cotton,

woollen, and other machinery, hoes,

harnesses, hats, caps, cordage, cards,

wagons, and other carriages, cabinet-

ware, leather, boots, shoes, straw bon-

nets and hats, twine, iron axletrees,
(Stc. Value of cotton and woollen

goods, S57,C)32 ;
of paper manufac-

tured, $35,(335 ;
of carriages, 811,700 ;

of boots and shoes, S 17,025; of straw

bonnets and hats, $(30,000; of iron

axletrees, S10,000. Fruit raised, 2,500
bushels. Hay cut, 1,500 tons.

WEYMOUTH.

There were three rolling, slitting

and nail mills in this town
;
value of

manufactures of iron, S250,000. There
were 119,905 pairs of boots, and 408,-
574 pairs of shoes manufactured, the

value of which was $557,122, em-

ploying 835 hands. There were also

manufactures of leather, saddlery,

tacks, brads, trunks, carriages, chairs,
cabinet and wooden-wares, sashes,

doors, blinds, building stone, dec.

Fruit raised, 7,434 bushels. Hay cut,

1,309 tons.

WRENTHAM.

Here were five cotton mills, with

3,856 spindles ;
value of cotton goods

manufactured, §39,160. Two carpet

mills, making $44,136 value of goods.
Also manufactures of fire-engines,

saddlery, carriages, chairs, cabinet-

ware, boots, straw bonnets and hats,

walking canes, boxes, boats, bas-

kets, &C. Value of fruit, $1,590. Hay
cut, 2,363 tons.

PLYMOUTH COUNTY.

ABINGTON.

In this town were manufactured

198,314 pairs of boots, and 1,067,962

pairs of shoes, valued at $1,013,126.
The value of tacks, brads, Ice, man-

ufactured, was $18,622. There were
also manufactures of leather, saddlery,

trunks, confectionarj', boot and shoe

boxes, lumber, <kc. Value of fruit,

$1,407. Hay cut, 1,031 tons.

BRroOEWATER.

There were in this town two roll

ing, slitting, and nail mills, one hol-

low auger factory, three furnaces, and
manufactures of steam engines and

boilers, butts, hinges, door handles
and latches, tacks, brads, soap, can-

dles, boots, shoes, straw hats and bon-

nets, bricks, lumber, A:c. Also a

paper mill, and two manufactortes oi
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cotton gins. Also a brass foundery,
with a capital of $96,000. Value of

iron andiron manufactures, $187,600.
Fruit raised, 6,906 bushels. Hay cut.

1,063 tons.

CAR\'^R.

Here were five furnaces, manufac-

turing hollow-ware and castings to

the amount of §36,330. Also manu-
factures of cars and other carriages,

boots, shoes, straw bonnets and hats,
willow baskets, &c. Value of fruit,

$85i. Hay cut, 1,086 tons.

DUXBURY.

There were in this town nine ves-

sels employed in the cod and mack-
erel fisheries

;
and four vessels were

launched, valued at $39,794. There
were also manufactures in the town
of saddlery, cordage, salt, carriages,

chairs, tin and cabinet-wares, leather,

boots, shoes, blocks, pumps, bricks,

building stone, lumber, &c. Also a
woollen mill. Value of boots and
shoes manufactured, $122,500. Fruit

raised, 6,096 bushels. Hay cut, 2,253
tons.

EAST BRIDGEWATER.

One rolling, slitting, and nail mill
;

also manufactures of tacks, brads,

brass-ware, saddlery, cars, and other

carriages, soap, candles, leather, boots,

shoes, building stone, lumber, &c.
Value of manufactures of iron, $56,-
440

;
of boots and shoes, $153,440 ;

of fruit, $736. Hay, 1,021 tons.

HALIFAX.

Two woollen mills, with five sets of

machinery ;
and manufactures of

boots, shoes, corn and other brooms,
lumber, &c. Value of boots and shoes,

$34,368. Fruit, 862 bushels. Hay,
886 tons.

HANOVER.

Three lorges, one furnace, two man-
ufactories for tacks and brads

;
two

tanneries, and manufactures of cars

and other carriages, cotton gins, boots,

shoes, wooden-ware, lumber, &c.
Value of anchors, iron cables, &:c.,

manufactured, $27,640. Value of
tacks and b.'ads, $14,000; of boots

and shoes, $97,626. Vessels launch-

ed, two; value, $12,000. Value of

fruit, $1,289. Hay, 825 tons.

HANSON.

One rolling, slitting, and nail mill,
one forge, three tack and brad facto-

ries, and manufactures of soap, can-

dles, wagons, saddlery, leather, boots,

shoes, lumber, &:c. Value of bar iron,

nails, iron cables, anchors, 6cc., $39,-
675

;
of boots and shoes, 866,257 ;

of

fruit, $663. Hay, 620 tons.

HINGHAM.

Here were nine forges, two fur-

naces, two axe factories, one rope-

walk, three tanneries, a bleaching
establishment, and manufactures of

ploughs, trunks, saddlery, hats, caps,

salt, carriages, fire-arms, chairs, cab-

inet and tin-wares, leather, boots,

shoes, blocks, spars, pumps, mechan-
ics' tools, wooden-ware, vessels, &c.
Value of worsted goods manufactured,
$40,000 ;

of hollow-ware, castings,

&c., $13,200 ;
of hats and caps, $26,-

500
;
of cordage, $28,000 ;

of chairs

and cabinet-ware, $10,200 ;
of leather,

$10,100 ;
of boots and shoes, $38,097 ;

of wooden-ware, $25,066 ;
of vessels,

$23,000 ;
of fruit, 8,431 bushels, $3,-

174. Vessels employed in the cod
and mackerel fisheries, 28

;
value of

fares, $99,558. Hay cut, 1,492 tons.

HULL.

At this place were two establish-

ments for the manufacture of salt
;

four vessels employed in the cod and
mackerel fisheries, and manufactures
of boots, shoes, &c. There were rais-

ed 625 bushels of grain, 325 tons of

hay, 1,306 bushels of vegetables, and

8,431 bushels of fruit. There w^ere

also in the town, 381 sheep, 11 horses,
51 neat cattle, and 44 s^vine.
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KINGSTON.

Here were two forges, one cotton

mill, with 590 sj)inclles; a lurnace,
three tack and brad factories, two

tanneries, and manufactures of axes,

saddlery, trunks, soap, candles, boots,

shoes, augers, potters' -ware, haines,

&c. Value of three vessels built,

815,500; value of manufactures of

iron and iron-ware of all kinds, S36,

<JGO; of boots and shoes, $30,000.
Fruit raised, 8,347 bushels. Hay cut,

809 tons. There were 15 vessels em-

ployed in the cod and mackerel fish-

ery ;
value of fares, S34,850.

MARSHFIELD.

Two cotton mills, with 2,016 spin-
dles

;
wool carding, and manufactures

of boots, shoes, lumber, &c. Value
of fruit, S2,087. Hay cut, 3,019 tons.

MIDDLEBOROUGH.

There were two cotton mills m
this town, with 3,200 spindles, a roll-

ing, slitting, and nail mill, a forge, a

furnace, a tack and brad factory, and
manufactures of latches, door handles,

shovels, spades, forks, hoes, saddlery,

trunks, carriages, chairs, cabinet and

tin-wares, boots, shoes, straw bonnets
and hats, palm-leaf hats, snuff, tobac-

co, cigars, pumps, blocks, mechanics'

tools, nail casks, wooden-ware, build-

ing stone, lumber, &;c.
;
value of cot-

ton cloth manufactured, $40,232 ;
of

anchors, cables, nails, hollow-ware,
&c., $.30,650 ;

of boots and shoes,

812,793 ;
of straw hats and bonnets,

§25:549 ;
of lumber prepared, S7,631 ;

of fruit raised, $4,192 ;
of cranberries,

81,200. Hay cut, 3,453 tons.

NORTH BRIUGEWATER.

The manufactures of boots in this

town, amounted to $179,716. The
value of brushes amounted to $21,500 ;

of chairs and cabinet-ware, $38,000 ;

of mechanics' tools, $8,250. There
were also manufactures of blocks,

pumps, snuff, tobacco, cigars, tin-

ware, carriages, hats, caps, trunks,
32

saddlery, musical instruments, shov-

els, spades, forks, hoes, shoe lasts and
boot trees, machines for rolling lea

ther, packing-boxes, lumber, fee

Fruit raised, 7,249 bushels
;

valu*-

$1,812. Hay cut, 1,445 tons.

PEMBROKE.

Here were manufactures of wag-
ons, chairs, cabinet-ware, boots, shoes,

packing-boxes, &c. Fruit raised.

6,246 bushels. Hay cut, 1,085 tons

PLYMOUTH.

There were five cotton mills in this

town, with 2,768 spindles ;
value of

goods manufactured, $19,368 ;
there

were also two rolling, slitting, ana
nail mills, one forge, five rope-walks,
two sperm candle works, and manu-
factures of saddlery, tninks, chairs,
cabinet and tin-wares, leather, boots,

shoes, bricks, building stone, blocks,

pumps, casks, oil, soap, ship thimbles,
&c. Value of manufactures of iron,

$118,800; of cordage, $203,800; of
oil and sperm candles, $46,887 ;

of

iron rivets, $10,000 ;
ofvessels launch-

ed, $9,568. At this place are five

vessels employed in the whale fisherj',

and 55 in the cod and mackerel fish-

ery ;
value of oil, $361,000 ;

value of

cod-fish and mackerel, $93,887. There
were 10,248 bushels of grain pro-
duced

; 3,043 bushels of fruit, and

1,562 tons of hay.

PLYIMPTON.

One cotton mill, with 1,100 spm-
dles

;
one woollen mill, with two sets

of machinery ;
and manufactures ot

tacks, brads, shovels, spades, forks,

hoes, iron rivets, shoes, shoe boxes,
wooden hoops, lumber, «kc. Value
of cotton cloth, $11,320. Fruit raised,

1,577 bushels. Hay cut, 696 tons.

ROCHESTER.

There were belonging to this town,
14 vessels employed in the whale fish-

ery, and two in the cod and mackerel

fishery ;
value of the whale fi.shery,
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$149, loJ. Here were a forge, and
manufactures of anchors, iron cables,

salt, hats, caps, chairs, cabinet-ware,

boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats, snuff,

tobacco, cigars, blocks, punnps, oil

casks, boats, lunaber, &c. The value
of vessels built, was $82,720. Fruit

raised, 13.312 bushels. Hay cut,

1,839 tons.'

SCITUATE.

There were nine vessels belonging
to this place, employed in the cod and
mackerel fishery ;

value of fares,

S9,928. The manufactures consisted

of tacks, brads, ploughs, wagons, lea-

ther, boots, shoes, bricks, mechanics'

tools, lumber, &;c. There were 30.000

lobsters taken, worth S900
;
and 10,-

488 bushels of fruit raised. Hay cut,

2,788 tons. There were 11,904 bush-

els of grain raised, the value of which
was $8,761. Value of butter and

cheese, $7,782.

WAREHABI.

Six vessels belonged to this town em-

ployed in the whale fishery ;
value of

oil and bone, $109,500. There were
two cotton mills, not in operation.
Here were four rolling, slitting, and
nail mills, two forges, a furnace, and
manufactures of saddlery, trunks, salt,

chairs, cabinet-ware, leather, boots,

shoes, staves, building stone, lumber,
&c. Value of all manufactures of

iron, $642,000. Fruit raised, 1,858
bushels. Hay cut, 924 tons.

WEST BRIDGEWATEK.

There were three furnaces in this

town, and manufactures of shovels,

spades, forks, hoes, ploughs, wagons,
sleighs, boots, shoes, straw bonnets
and hats, lumber, &c. Value of man-
ufactures of iron, $40,500 ;

of boots

and shoes, $99,201. Fruit raised,

5,626 bushels. Hay cut, 1,528 tons.

SUFFOLK COUNTY.

BOSTON

See page 58.

CHELSEA.

The manufactures of this town con-

sisted of hollow-ware and castings,

shovels, spades, forks, hoes, iron rail-

ings, safes, brass ware, salt, soap,

tin, leather, boots, shoes, bricks, whit-

ing, tobacco, snuff, cigars, blacking,

stone-ware, paper staining, spice

grinding. &c. Value of manufactures
of iron, $32,300. Corn grown, 45,000
bushels. Fruit raised, 2,800 bushels.

Hay cut, 1,453 tons.

NORTH CHELSEA.

The ancient town of Chelsea was
divided by an act of the legislature,

passed March 19, 1846.

Chelsea comprised an area of about
seven thousand acres, and a popula-
tion of about fiv'e thousand souls.

The new town, called North Chelsea,

comprises Point Shirley, Pullin Point,
and all the old town of Chelsea, ex-

cept Winnisimmit or Ferry Village,

containing about one thousand acres,

and a population of four thousand.

The centre of the town being re-

mote from the centre of population,
and the people near the Ferry being

chiefly engaged in commerce and

manufactures, while those in other

parts of the towTi were agriculturists,
were the reasons assigned for this

separation.
" The said town of North

Chelsea shall continue to be a part of

the town of Chelsea, for the purpose
of electing a representative to the

General Court, until the next appor-
tionment of representatives. All

meetings for the election of represen-

tatives, until said apportionment, shall

be called by the selectmen of Chelsea,
and holden in the town of Chelsea."

The centre of North Chelsea lies

about three miles north by east from

Winnisimmit Ferry. See Chelsea.
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WORCESTER COUNTY.

ASHBURNHAM.

This town had one cotton mill, with

J,l2o spindles ;
value of goods made,

$20,591. Also manufactures of mu-
sical instruments, brushes, saddlery,

trunks, chairs, cabinet-ware, leather,

palm-Icaf hats, bricks, wooden-ware,

copjier pumps, thread spools, tubs,

sc3the irons, pails, lucifer matches,
dec. Value of chairs and cabmet-

ware, $57,(i04 ;
of leather, 812,900;

of lumber and shingles prepared,

$29,000; of fruit, Si,306. Hay cut,

2,219 tons.

ATHOL.

One cotton mill, with 1,392 spin-
dles

;
value of goods, $20,850 ;

also

two furnaces
;
value of hollow-ware

and castings, $900 ;
also three llour-

mg mills, one paper mill, three tan-

neries, and manufactures of cotton,

woollen, and other machinery, scythes,

ploughs, saddlery, trunks, hats, caps,

tin-ware, boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats,

bricks, shoe pegs, &c. Value of lea-

ther tanned, $15,635 ;
of boots and

shoes, $53,181 ;
of wooden-ware, $11,-

250; of lumber prepared, $10,000.

Fruit, 7,225 bushels. Hay, 715 tons.

AUBURN.

Here were two cotton mills, with

1,948 spindles ;
value of sheeting and

cotton batting manufactured, $40,436.
Also manufactures of cotton, woollen,
and other machinery, leather, lumber,
&c. Fruit, 4,470 bushels. Hay cut,

1,070 tons.

BARRE.

Two woollen mills, with six sets of

machinery ;
one cotton mill, with

2,200 spindles ;
a powder mill, a fur-

nace, and manufactures of cotton,

woollen, and other machinery, scythes,

saddlery, trunks, upholstery, hats,

caps, cars, and other carriages, chairs,

:abinel and tin-wares, leather, boots.

shoes, palm-leaf hats, blocks, pumps,
boxes of various kinds, &cc. Value
of cotton goods, $55,850 ;

of woollen

goods, $128,320
;
of powder, $4,500 ;

of palm-leaf hats, $20,000. Fruit,

22,952 bushels
; value, $4,160. Hay

cut, 4,955 tons.

BERLI.V.

Manufactures of building stone,

wooden-ware, straw braid, shoes,

lumber, blinds, sashes, doors, palm-
leaf baskets, &c. Hops raised, 6,300

pounds ; fruit, 9,030 bushels. Hay,
1,268 tons.

BLACKSTONE.

At this place are twelve cotton

mills, with 40,518 spindles ;
seven

woollen mills, with 32 sets of ma-

chinery, four forges, and manufac-
tures of scythes, saddlery, trunks,

wagons, glue, boots, shoes, straw

braid, &c. Value of clothing manu-
factured, $24,346 ;

of cotton goods,

$386,945; of woollen goods, $695,-
400

;
of iron goods, $26,000 ;

of build-

ing stone, $4,375. Fruit raised, 6,536
bushels

;
milk sold, 47,589 gallons ;

hay cut, 1,401 tons.

BOLTON.

INIanufactures of carriages, sad-

dlery, trunks, ploughs, chairs, cabinet-

ware, combs, leather, boots, shoes,
straw braid, snuff, tobacco, cigars

hames, lime, lumber, raw silk. Arc.

Hops raised, 9,400 pounds ; fruit, 6,500
bushels

; hay, 2,138 tons.

BOYLSTON.

The value of boots and shoes man-
ufactured in this town, amounted to

$13,035. Manufactures of straw

braid, palm-leaf hats, bricks, &c.
Value of lumber prepared, $8,568.

Fruit, 13,683 bushels. Butter made,
42,227 pounds. Hay cut, 1,556 tons.
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BROOKFIELD.

The manufacture of boots and shoes
in this town, amounted to .$161,362.
Manufactures of hollow-ware and

castings, cabinet-ware, straw cutters,

briclts, lumber, <fec. Value of palm-
leaf hats, $10,126. Fruit, 17,260
bushels. Hay cut, 3,965 tons.

CHARLTON.

One cotton mill, with 640 spindles ;

one woollen mill, and manufactures
of cars and other carriages, chairs,

cabinet-ware, whips, building stone.

Value of leather tanned, $12,080.
Fruit raised, 14,000 bushels. Hay
cut, 3,379 tons.

DANA.

One flouring mill, a tannery, and
manufactures of palm-leaf hats, sash-

es, blinds, wagon spokes and hubs,

lumber, &c. Fruit produced, 4,274
bushels. Hay cut, 1,001 tons.

DOUGLAS.

Two cotton mills, with 6,384 spin-
dles

;
two axe factories, and manufac-

tures of cabinet-ware, boots, shoes,
straw bonnets, bricks, lumber, ice.

Value of boots and shoes, $44,975.

Fruit, 6,046 bushels. Hay cut, 1,079
Ions.

DUDLEY.

Three woollen mills, with eight
sets of machinery, and manufactures
of saddlery, trunks, chairs, cabinet-

ware, leather, boots, shoes, building
stone. &:c. Value of woollen goods
manufactured, $119,250. Fruit rais-

ed, 3,287 bushels. Hay cut, 2,262
tons.

FITCHBURG.

There were in this town three cot-

ton mills, with 3,306 spindles ;
three

woollen mills, with eight sets of ma-

chinery ;
three paper mills, one forge,

a furnace, and manufactures of cot-

ton, woollen, and other machinery,
scythes, axes, ploughs, saddlery,

trunlcs, upholstery, hats, caps, cars

and other carriages, soap, candles,
fire-arms, tin and cabinet-wares,

chairs, flour, leather, boots, shoes,
straw braid, palm-leaf hats, bricks,

building stone, lumber, bellows, wire

sieves, powder casks, baskets, &cc.

Value of cotton goods manufactured,
$43,737 ;

of woollen goods, $180,205 ;

of iron castings, &c., $15,000; of

scythes, $33,150 ;
of paper, $33,500 ;

of cars and other carriages, $23,000 ;

of boots and shoes, $ 10,600 ;
of build-

ing stone, $12,000; of lumber pre-

pared, $17,576. Fruit raised, 10,446
bushels. Hay cut, 2,551 tons.

GARDNER.

Here were twenty establishments

for the manufacture of chairs and

cabinet-ware, employing 119 males,
and 478 females

;
value produced,

$110,723. Here were also manufac-
tures of boots, shoes, wooden-ware,
chair tools, &c. Value of lumber

prepared, $12,444. Fruit raised,

2,910 bushels. Hay cut, 1,306 tons.

GRAFTON.

There were six cotton mills at this

place, with 16,825 spindles ;
value of

goods manufactured, $204,550. Val-

ue of cotton, woollen, and other ma-

chinery manufactured, $20,000 ; of

leather tanned and curried, $31,608;
of boots and shoes, $250,575. Also
manufactures of scythes, wood screws,

wagons, chairs, tin and cabmet-wares
straw braid, palm-leaf hats, shoe

tools, bricks, (fee. Value of fruit,

$6,221, 14,337 bushels. Value of

milk sold, $4,824. Hay cut, 2,554
tons.

HARDWICK.

There were two tanneries in this

town, and manufactures of palm-leaf
hats to the value of $30,000. Value
of fruit, $1,971 ;

of butter and chees*'

$18,292. Hay cut, 3,926 tons.
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HARVARD.

In this town were three paper mills,

and manufactures of woollen gooils,

saddlery, trunks, carruiges, leather,

boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats, building

stone, marble, brooms, lumber, pen-

cils, sieves, gloves, socks, fans, mats,

trusses, &;c. Fruit raised, 9,132

bushels; hops, 41,285 pounds. Hay
cut, 2,808 tons.

HOLDEN.

There were five cotton mills, with

6,308 spindles ;
two woollen mills,

two tanneries, and manufactures of

cars and other carriages, leather,

boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats, whips,

wooden-wares, sashes, blinds, doors,

Ice. Value of cotton goods, $105,-

860; value of woollen goods, S18,-

660
;
of carnages, $8,000 ;

of boots

and shoes, S5i,187; of lumber pre-

pared, $30,806; of fruit raised,

St.OOO; of charcoal made, 81,884,

31,400 bushels. Hay cut, 2,400 tons.

HUBBARDSTON.

Value of palm-leaf hats manufac-

tured, $10,485 ;
value of boots and

shoes, $20,700 ;
chairs and cabinet-

ware, $16,733. Other manufactures
consisted of saddlery, trunks, cars

and other carriages, tin-ware, leather,
card boards, air-tight stoves, cylin-
der churns, boxes, tkc. Fruit, 15,-

062 bushels; value, 81,546. Hay
rut, 2,785 tons.

LANCASTER.

One cotton mill, one woollen mill,
one bleaching establishment, and man-
ufactures of wors-ted goods, cotton,
woollen, and other machiner}^ copper

pumps, shovels, spades, hoes, forks,

saddlery, trunks, chairs, cabinet and

tin-wares, combs, leather, boots, shoes,

palm-leaf hats, mechanics' tools,

brooms, bricks, A:c. Value of cotton

goods, (counterpanes,) 840,000 ;
of

bleached goods, $40,000 ;
of coach

lace, $36,000 ;
of machinery, $20,000 ;

of combs, $16,200; of boots and
32*

shoes, $17,750; of fruit, $800; hops,
$305. Hay cut, 1,842 tons.

LEICESTER.

In this place were seven woollen

mills, with 14 sets of machinery, and
manufactures of cotton, woollen, and
other machinery, tin-ware, boots,

shoes, straw braid, wire, card boards,

bobbins, &:c. The value of cards

manufactured, amounted to .$154,700 ;

of leather, $16,500; of scythes, $13,-
725

;
of broadcloth, cassimere, satinet,

and flannel, $250,01)0. Fruit raised,

2,554 bushels. Hay cut, 1,879 tons.

LEOMINSTER.

Two paper mills, and manufactures
of axes, ploughs, carriages, tin-ware,

combs, flour, leather, boots, shoes,

palm-leaf hats, bricks, mechanics'

tools, brooms, blocks, pumps, baskets,
straw braid, building stone, horn but-

tons, &c. Value of paper manufac-

tured, $30,000 ;
of fruit raised, $3,054

Hay cut, 2,854 tons.

LUNENBURG.

Manufactures of palm-leaf hats,

leather, boots, shoes, chairs, cabinet -

ware, wagons, lumber, A;c. Hops
raised, 20,762 pounds; fruit, 7,825
bushels. Hay cut, 2,022 tons.

MENDON.

Blanufactures of boots, shoes, straw

braid, saddlery, trunks, wagons,
sleighs, chairs, cabinet-ware, boats,

boot-boxes, lumber, building stone,
&c. Value of boots and shoes, $58,-
896

;
of fruit, (7,529 bushels,) $3,245

Hay cut, 1,418 tons.

MILFORD.

The value of boots and shoes man
ufactured in this town, was $373,8o5
of straw braid and bonnets. $14,000
There were also manufactures of cab-

inet-ware, tin, soap, hats, saddlery,

leather, mechanics' tools, building

stone, lumber, boot-boxes, &c. Fruit
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13.552 bushels
; value, S5,000. Hay

cut, 1,538 tons.

BIILLBURY.

There were three cotton mills in this

town, with 5,500 spindles ;
five wool-

len mills, with 15 sets of machinery ;

a mill for the manufacture of cotton

carpeting, a furnace, a paper mill, and
manufactures of cotton, woollen, and
other machinery, scythes, cutlery,

shovels, spades, forks, hoes, saddlery,
trunks, hats, caps, cars and other car-

riages, black lead, fire-arms, chairs,
cabinet and tin-wares, leather, boots,

shoes, bricks, mechanics' tools, build-

ing stone, sashes, doors, blinds, itc.

Fruit raised, 2,810 bushels; value,

$1,405. Hay cut, 1,474 tons. Value
of cotton goods, $76,400 ;

of woollen

goods, S240,750 ;
of cotton carpeting,

$67,500 ;
of machinery, $32,000 ;

of

paper, $22,140 ;
of leather, $12,000;

of boots and shoes, $73,195.

^ NEW BRAINTREE.

Here were manufactures of leather,

boots, shoes, palm-leaf hats, spoke-
shaves, dec. Value of butter and

cheese, $20,940; of fruit, $2,520.

Hay cut, 3,210 tons.

NORTHBOROUGH.

Two cotton mills, with 2,345 spin-
dles

;
value of cotton cloth, $26,029.

Also manufactures of rifles, cabinet-

ware, saddlery, trunks, combs, lea-

ther, boots, shoes, blocks, pumps,
bricks, sleighs. Fruit, 9,207 bushels.

Hay cut, 1,787 tons.

NORTHBRIDGE.

Five cotton mills, with 9,080 spin-

dles, and manufactures of cotton,

woollen, and other machinery, lea-

ther, boots, shoes, building stone, A:c.

Value of boots and shoes manufac-

tured, $53,300. Value of cotton

goods, $125,220. Fruit raised, 1,700
bushels. Hay cut, 900 tons. There
were 7.462 bushels of grain raised,
valued at $4,449.

NORTH BROOKFIELD.

The value of boots and shoes made
in this town, was $329,204, employ-
ing 324 males, and 231 females. There
were also manufactures of leather, cars

and other carriages, mechanics' tools,

building stone, lumber, <5cc. Also
one woollen mill

;
value of goods,

$4,327. Value of fruit, (8,790 bush-

els,) $2,674. Hay cut, 2,583 tons.

OAKHAM.

There were manufactures in this

town of satinet, ploughs, chairs, sad-

dlery, trunks, cabinet-ware, boots,

shoes, palm-leaf hats, twist, wire

sieves, &c. Value of shoe bottoms

manufactured, $10,500. Fruit raised,

8,302 bushels. Hay cut, 2,050 tons.

OXFORD.

Four cotton mills, with 8,040 spin-
dles

;
two woollen mills, with seven

sets of machinery, and manufactures
of axes, saddlery, trunks, tin-ware,

boots, shoes, mathematical instru-

ments, lumber, fcc. The value of
cotton goods manufactured, was $94,-

097; of woollen goods, $113,897; of
boots and shoes, $49,235 ;

of lumber

prepared, $8,023. Fruit, 8,200 bush-
els. Hay, 2,941 tons.

PAXTON.

Manufactures of leather, boats,

shoes, &c. Value of lumber and fire-

wood prepared, $8,232. Value of
butter and cheese, $3,325. Fruit

raised, 1,132 bushels. Hay cut, 1,005
tons.

PETERSHAM.

One woollen mill
;
value of goods,

$5,000. Value of boots and shoes,

$10,369. Manufactures of ploughs,
carriages, cabinet and tin-ware, chairs,

leather, bricks, blocks, pumps, 6cc.

Value of lumber, $17,822; value of

palm-leaf hats, $14,953. Fruit, 23,542
bushels. Hay cut, 3,634 tons,
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pinr.MPSTON.

Oae cotton mill, with 711 spindles ;

one woollen mill; viilue of cotton

poods, S 13,000. Manufactures of

sleighs, cabinet-ware, chairs, and cane
chair bottoms, leather, boots, shoes,

palm-leaf hats, ice. Value of palm-
leaf hats, S10,000. Fruit, 10,000
bushels. Hay cat, 1,700 tons.

PRINCETON.

Two tanneries
;

value of leather

tanned and curried, $25,000. Value
of shoes made, $33,000 ;

of chairs

made, $5,800 ;
of ploughs, $ 150

;
of

lumber prepared, $8,400 ;
of butter

and cheese. $9,000. Fruit raised,

5,000 bushels. Hay cut, 1,000 tons.

ROYALSTON.

In this town were two woollen mills,

\v\tk. five sets-of machinery ;
value of

goods made, $59,590 ;
value of chairs

and cabinet-ware manufactured, $14,-
185. Also manufactures of leather,

boots, shoes, straw bonnets, hats,
blocks and pumps. Value of wooden-

ware, $20,090 ;
of lumber prepared,

$15,115. Also manufactures of brush-

woods^ shoe-boxes, rakes, palm-leaf
hats, stave machines, 6cc. Fruit,

7,631 bushels. Hay cut, 2,866 tons.

RUTLAND.

One woollen mill, and manufactures
of cars and other carriages, chairs,

cabinet-ware, leather, boots, palm-
leaf hats, wooden-ware, &;c. Value of

woollen goods, $20,000 ;
of carriages,

$6,800; of boots, $39,400; of palm-
leaf hats, SG.OOO

;
of lumber and fire-

wood prepared, $12,400. Fruit, 3,000
bushels. Hay cut, 2,400 tons.

SHREWSBURY.

INIanufactures of straw bonnets,
leather, cabinet-ware, fire-arms, hats,

r.adllery, <.V;c. The value of shoes
made here, amounted to $97,617.
Fruit raised, 20,818 bushels; value,
S! 1.274. Hay cut, 2,299 tons.

SOUTIIBOUOUGH.

Value of boots and shoes manufac-

tured, $52,202 ;
value of straw bon-

nets and hats, $16,000; value oi

brushes made, $2,500. Milk sold

68,912 gallons, for $5,513. Fruit,

8,900 bushels. Hay cut, 1,118 tons.

SOUTHBRIDGE.

In this town were six cotton mills

with 13,098 spindles; one woollen

mill, and manufactures of soap, can-

dles, chairs, tin and cabinet-wares,
gold and silver-wares, boots, shoes,

bricks, saddlery, &;c. The value of

cotton goods manufactured, was $134,-
000

;
of woollen goods, $300,800 ;

of

water-twisted kersey, $11,617; of

worsted goods, $195,000; of boots

and shoes, $11,367. Fruit raised,

9,696 bushels; value, $1,444. Hay
cut, 2,026 tons.

SPENCER.

Three cotton mills, with 1,200 spin-
dles

;
one woollen mill, one powder

mill, and manufactures of scythes,

cabinet-ware, chairs, leather, boots,

palm-leaf hats, bricks, &c. Value of
cotton goods, $22,250 ;

of powder
manufactured, $15,000 ;

of boots,

$93,100 ;
of fruit raised, $1,370. Hay

cut, 2,662 tons.

STERLING.

The value of chairs and cabinet

ware made in this town was $41,050 ;

value of palm-leaf hats, $29,000 ;
of

lumber prepared, $10,357; of butter

made, $12,657, (75,145 lbs. ;) of fruit,

$3,723; of hops, (1,000 lbs.) $100.

Hay cut, 3321 tons. Also manufac-
tures of flour, leather, boots, shoes,

saddlery, hats, caps, carriages, bricks,

building stone, wooden and earthen

wares, &c.

STURBRIBGE.

In this place, were four cotton

mills, with 12,320 spindles, two tan-

neries, and manufactures of ploughs.
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saddlery, wagons and other vehicles,

chairs, cabinet ware, tin, leather,

boots, snoes, lumber, &:c. The value

of augers and bitts manufactured
amounted to $9,375 ;

of cotton goods,

$118,000. Quantity of fruit, 13,191
bushels. Value of boots and shoes

made, Sl6,178. Hay cut, 3,181 tons.

SUTTON.

At this place were four cotton mills,

with 8,336 spindles ;
one woollen

mill, with two sets of machinery.
Value of cotton goods, $108,000 ;

value of woollen goods, $30,000.
Value of boots and shoes manufac-

tured, $60,860. Also one flouring

mill, and manufactures of saddlery,

scythes, pioughs, mechanics' tools, dec.

Fruit raised, 5,046 bushels. Hay cut,

2,579 tons.

TEMPLETON.

Here were two woollen mills, with
7 sets of machinery ;

value of wool-

len goods made, $180,000. Also a
furnace and manufactures of cotton,

woollen, and other machinery, shovels,

spades, forks, hoes, brushes, saddlery,

trunks, hats, caps, carriages, tin and
cabinet wares, chairs, leather, boots,

shoes, palm-leaf hats, doors, sashes,

blinds, packing boxes, metre cards and
. boxes, bricks, &c. Value of lumber

prepared, $20,000 ;
value of chairs

and cabinet-ware, $34,330 ; palm-leaf
hats, $14,000; of boots and shoes,

$24,925. Value of fruit raised, $1,136.

Hay cut, 2,250 tons.

UFfON.

Manufactures of straw bonnets and

hats, leather, boots, shoes, cars and
other carriages, trunks, saddlery, me-
chanics' tools, wooden ware, lumber,
&CC. Value of straw goods, $57,275 :

raised, of boots and shoes, $41,357.
FruU 4,619 bushels

; hay cut, 967
tons

;
cranberries picked, 600 bushels.

UXBRIDGE.

There were four cotton mills in this

town, with 9,036 spindles : five wool-

len mills, with 14 sets of machinery ;

and manufactures of boots, shoes,
straw bonnets and hats, leather, flour,

tin, copper, and sheet iron ; coaches
and other carriages, cabinet-ware,

trunks, saddlery, bricks, building
stones, lumber, &;c. Value of cotton

goods, $82,625 ;
of woollen goods,

$236,632; of boots and shoes, $20,-
800

;
of fruit, (8,866 bushels, ) $3,646 ;

of butter, (44,500 lbs.,) $7,416. Hay
cut, 2,110 tons.

WARREN.

One cotton mill with 1,700 spindles,
one woollen mill, one forge, and man-
ufactures of scythes, anchors, chain

cables, hats, caps, boots, shoes, lum-

ber, &c. Value of cotton goods, $17,-
000

;
of woollen goods, $8,625 ;

of
butter and cheese, $12,205 ; fruit,

raised, 12,596 bushels
; hay cut, 2,663

tons.

WEBSTER.

Here were three cotton mills with

9,328 spindles ;
one woollen mill, with

five sets of machinery, one forge, a

furnace, and manufactures of boots,

shoes, tin and cabinet ware, chairs,

soap, candles, cars and other car-

riages, caps, trunks, saddlery, lumber,
sheet iron stoves, stove pipe, copper
boilers, baskets, wooden ware, &c.
Value of cotton goods, $111,356; of
woollen goods, $156,443; of hollow-

ware, castings, bar iron, anchors, &c.,
$8,700. Fruit raised, 3,489 bushels

;

hay cut, 512 tons.

WESl'EOROUGH.

The value of boots and shoes man-
ufactured in this town, amounted to

884,699 ;
of cars, and other carriages,

$13,222. Also manufactures of tin

and cabinet-wares, chairs, trunks,
saddlery, straw-cutters, boxes, leather,

straw bonnets and hats, bricks, build-

ing stone, lumber, &c. Value of fruit,

$1,725; milk produced, 377,192 gal-

lons, value, $34,045. Hay cut, 2,303
tons. Number of bushels of grain
rai.>ed. 20.114 ; value. S12.346.
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WEST BOYXSTON.

Here were six cotton mills, with

8,220 spindles, seven forges. Also
manufactures of cordage, saddlery,

trunks, carriages, leather, boots, shoes,

lumber, itec. Value of cotton goods,

8118,360; of bar iron, anchors, A:c.,

82,900; of boots and shoes, 811,310.
Value of fruit, $900. Hay cut, 1,354
tons.

WESTMINSTER.

Manufactures of leather, boots,

shoes, straw bonnets and hats, car-

riages, chairs, cabinet-ware mechan-
ics' tools, wooden-ware, lumber, &c.
Fruit raised, 19,253 bushels

;
butter

made, 39,925 lbs. Hay cut, 2,710
tons. There were produced in this

town, 5,213 bushels of corn, 1.058

bushels of wheat, and 6,917 bushels

of other grain. Value of grain,

$9,650. Also, 13,285 bushels of po-

tatoes, and 4,563 bushels of other es-

culent vegetables.

WINCHENDON.

One cotton mill with 4,600 spin-
dles

;
one woollen mill, with three

sets of machinery. Also manufac-
tures of cotton, woollen, and other ma-

chinery, sadd'ery, trunks, carriages,

leather, palm-leaf hats, wooden-ware,
lumber, pails, tubs, &c. Value of
cotton goods, 879,800 ;

of woollen

goods, 8100,000 ;
of machinery, 813,-

000; of leather, 810,000; of palm-
leaf goods, $14,285 ;

of lumber pre-

pared, $12,572. There were manu-
factured in this place 375,000 tubs

and pails, valued at 862,000. Hay
cut, 2,250 tons.

WOUCESTER.

Three cotton mills, with 4,800 spin-
dles

;
six woollen mills, with elevea

sets of machinery ;
one carpet fac-

tory, one paper-mill, and establish-

ments for the manufacture of hollow-

ware, and castings ; cotton, woollen,
and other machinery ;

card wire, cot-

ton carpeting, saddlery, trunks, cars

and other carriages, locks, ploughs,
brass and tin-wares

; hats, caps, cord-

age, cards, soap, candles, chairs, cab-

inet-ware, boots, shoes, straw bonnets
and hats, tobacco, &:c.

; whips, me-
chanics' tools, wooden-ware ;

machine

card, hand card, and letter presses ;

patent water-wheels, sashes, doors,

blinds, fancy boxes, paper-hangings,
window-blinds, musical instruments;
marble monuments, japan and var-

nish,silver-plated ware, sieve and wire-

work, reeds and harnesses, nuts and

washers, umbrellas, trusses, copper
and wood pumps, &:c. Value of cot-

ton goods, $45, 181 ;
of woollen goods,

$194,040; of iron-ware, $134,500;
of machinery, $310,000 ;

of card,

wire, 8110,000; of ploughs, $48,000;
of paper, $30,000 ;

of hats and caps,

$24,752 ;
of cards, 822,000 ;

of cars

and other carriages, $221,100; of

chairs and cabinet-ware, 827,500 ;
of

tin-ware, 838,500; of boots and shoes,

$288,550 ;
of straw bonnets and hats,

810,000
;
of bricks, $28,000 ;

of cotton

carpetings, $26,000 ;
of buildingstone,

$23,500 ;
of mechanics' tools, $12,000;

of presses, $25,500 ;
of door and other

carpentry, $16,500. Fruit raised,

27,604 bushels, value, 89.201 ;
butter

made, 97,300 lbs., value, $16,217.
The value of grain produced in this

town, was $24,897 ;
of vegetables,

$25,980, and of hay, (5,100 tons,)

$51,000.

We rejoice to have it in our power to lay before our readers such valuable statements of tha

domestic industry of the state, as the foregoing atetracts and following tables present. Tha

prices of the various articles, amount of capital invested in manufacturing, kc, are omitted

as unnecessary ;^nough is given to show that the people of Massachusetts are alive to tha

best interests of their country.
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STATISTICS, BY COUNTIES, OF SOME OF THE MOST IMPOR-
TANT BRANCHES OF AGRICULTURE AND MANUFACTURES IN
THE STATE OF MASSACHUSETTS.

Statistics of the Manufacture of Leather, Boots and Shoes.
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Statistics of the Manufacture of Chairs, Cabinet and Tin Wares.

Counties.

c — S K
c8 « 2.2

Barnstable, ,

Berkshire, .

Bristol, . ,

Dukes, . ,

Essex, . ,

Franklin,

Hampden, ,

Hampshire, .

Middlesex, .

Nantucket, ,

Norfolk, . .

Plymouth, .

Suffolk, , .

Worcester, .

CHAIRS AND CABINET
WARE.

3 S c o
J?

3

27
14

66
18

11

13

40

52
15

35
155

449

® ™ ^s ™ T

$ 1,350

52,770

24,050

199,605

37,734

26,560
19,750

264,550

240,271
54,425
163,400

392,214

$ 1,476,679 2594

4

86
45!

3181
63
38
40

320

317
79
159

1125

<D CO

n

7

10

17

2

30
2

9

6

33
7

18

9

54
27

231

TIN.

•3^
>

$5,750
21,100

55,500
1,000

77,900
2,500

46,500
11,300

90,400
4,000

31,400

18,574

357,250
70,450

$793,624

I?.

Kg-

12
21
48
2

82
3

32
18

103
12

51

36
221
78

719

Statistics of Grain.
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la addition to the articles manufactured, and other products, as exhibited

in the foregoing tables, are the following, witii their value, and the num-

ber of hands employed.

Articlss.

Axes, Hatchets, and
other edge tools.

Beef, iScc, killed, .

Beeswax, . . .

Berries, ....
Blacking, . . .

Bleaching or coloring.
Blocks and pumps.
Boats, ....
Boxes of all kinds,
Brass articles.

Bricks, ....
Britannia ware,
Broom seed and brush,

Brooms, ....
Brushes, . . .

Buttons, metal, .

Butts or hinges, .

Calico, ....
Candles sperm,and oil

Candles, tallow, and

soap,

Cannon,
Cards, cotton & wool.

Carpeting, ....
Cars, rail-road car-

riages, and other ve-

hicles, . . .

Chemical preparations

Chocolate, . . .

Clocks, ....
Coal, mineral and iron

ore, ....
Combs, ....
Cooperage, . . .

Copper, ....
Cordage, . . .

Cutlery, ....
Dyeing, ....
Earthen fc stone ware.
Engines, fire, . . .

Engines and boilers

steam, ....
Fire arms

Fringe and tassels, .

Gins, cotton, . . .

Glass,
Clue

Value.
Hands
empl.

94.441

225,918
981

10,842
10,422

2,166,000

127,249
82,943

215.105

33i;8go
612,832
102,550

86,111

200,814
153,900

56,080
25,390

4,779,817

3,613,796

836,156
82,000

323,845
834,322

1,343,576

331,965
81,672
54,975

21,669
198,965
269,935
610,950
906,321
148,175

98,700

52,025

37,800

208,540

260,819
54,300

45,444
758,300
387..'')75

33*

94

35

211
204
164
235
145!

1,407!
93:

313
220
60
49

2,053
306

343
48
147

1,034

1,881
113

27

40,

78|
340
487

197|

647|

197;

114
72

42
I

221

357,
106

48
630
93

Articles.

Hats and caps, . .

Honey,
Hops,
Hosiery and yarn, .

Instruments, mathe-

matical, (tc, . .

Iron railing, fences

and safes, . . .

Jewelry, includ. chro-

nometers, watches,
gold and silver ware.

Lasts,
Latches and door han-

dles,

Lead pipe, and lead

manufactures, . .

Lead, white, & paints

Lime,
Linen thread, . . .

Linseed oil, . . .

Locks,
Lumber and shingles.

Machinery, . . .

Marble,
Milk,
Millet,
Musical instruments,

Paper,
Pens, steel, ....
Ploughs and other ag-

ricultural tools.

Poultry and eggs.
Powder,
Saddles, harnesses and

trunks, .

Salt, . . .

Sashes, blinds

Scythes, . .

Seeds, . .

Shoe pegs, .

Shovels, spades
and hoes.

Silk, raw, .

Silk, sewing,
Snuff, tobacco

gars, . .

Starch, . .

Stone, buildini

,
& doors

Value.

734,942
13,206

32,251

94..892

54,050

129,300

305,623

80,145

3,200

90,880
356,200

43,629

145,000
181,100

60,070
921,106

2,022,648
220,004

304,917
8,476

548,625
1,750,273

15,000

121,691
25,891
165,500

Hands
empl.

422,794
79,980

180,1
113.935

4,721

18,206

275.212
952

150,477

324,639
119,950

1.065.599

1,003

238

68

87

293
84

10

50
106
80
192
34
75

2.506

2,421
312

427

1,369
12

i5t

49

648
584
215
171

259

156

572
39

1,849
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FINANCES OF THE STATE.

The receipts in the year 1845, were as follows :
—

Cash on hand, January 1, 1845, ....
Auction Tax, . . . 849,295 17

Bank " 304,720 83

Probate "
. . . . . . 98 05

State,
"

1844, balance, . 62,324 50

" «
1845, part, .... 8,393 25

Attorney for Suffolk County, . . . 9,447 90

Alien Passengers, ..... 6,920 24

Interest on Deposits,..... 241 51

Lands in Maine, received on old notes, . . 2,567 80

State surveys, on account of maps sold, . . 480 00

Dividend on 10,000 shares Western Rail-road stock, 60,000 00

Miscellanies, 1,058 24

Total r&:eipts for the year 1845, on account of or-

dinary revenue, ... . . .

Amount borrowed in anticipation of the Revenue,

per Resolve of February 24, 1845, . .

Amount on hand, January 1, 1845, on account of

Massachusetts School and other Funds, . 171,413 60

Amount received during the year on account of

said Funds, .... 268,046 10

Total for the year 1845, ....

8 10,677 59

505,547 49

516,225 08

206,800 00

439,459 70

81,162,484 78

The amount of expenditures during the year 1845, were as follows :—
Councillors, 3,055 00

Senate and House of Representatives, . 57,203 00

Salaries, 64,766 25

Adjutant and Quarter-master Gen.'s Department, . 3,280 00

Repairs of State House, .... 6,835 91

State Printing, 9,127 73

State Prison,...... 4,611 00

Term Reports, 1,925 00

County Treasurer's Account, . . 51,202 87

RoUof Accounts, (Paupers, &c. &c.,) . 76,83130

Interest on Western Railroad Scrip, . 49.750 00

34
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Pensioners, ....
Agricultural Societies,
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Liability of the Commonwealth on account of 5 per cent. Scrip, loaned to

various Rail-road Corporations, to aid in constructing their several roads.

Kind of Scrip. aulliorized.

Western Rail-road,
u

it

Feb. 21, 1838

Mar. 23, 1839

Mar. 18, 1841,

Eastern Rail-road, . . Apr. 18, 1837,
Norwich & Worcest'r do. Blar. 20, 1837
AndoverAc Haverhill do.' Apr. 18, 1837,

Boiton ic Portland do. Apr. 9, 1839,

AiniiiMil

aulhorized.
Amount issued. When due.

82,100,000

1,200;000
'700,000

$2,100,000 00 1868 & 1869

1,200,000 00

699,555 56
1870
1871

S 1,000,000 $3,999,555 56!

500,000 500,000 00 1657 & 1859

400,000 400,000 00 1857

100,000; 100,000 00 1857

50,000i 50,000 00| 1859

S5,050,Q00 $5,049,555 56

Tne Commonwealth holds, as security for the redemption of the above

named scrip, a mortgage on all the roads. It also holds, in addition to the

mortgage,
3000 shares of stock in the Eastern,

4000 " " " Norwich and Worcester,

1000 " " " Andover and Haverhill.

CLIMATE.

The climate of Massachusetts, in common with other parts of New England,
is exceedingly various

;
the temperature ranges from 15° below the zero of

"Fahrenheit to 95° above. The mercury has been knowTx to descend from 20°

'o 30° below, and to 102° above
;
but such cases rarely occur.

One of the greatest inconveniences suffered by the inhabitants of New

iingland is derived from the frequent changes in the state of the atmosphere.

The temperature has been known to change 44° in twenty-four hours.

Changes are frequent, though seldom in the same degree. Changes from

wet to dry, and from dry to wet, are at times unpleasant, and probably

unhealthy. There is no month in the year which is not sometimes very

pleasant, and sometimes disagreeable. In a series of years, our most pleas-

ant months are June, September and October. Often the first two, and not

unfrequently the first three weeks in September are, however, very warm.

From the 20th of September to the 20th of October, the weather is delightful.

The temperature is mild, the air is sweet, and the sky singularly bright and

beautiful. This is the period denominated the Indian Summer. Some per-

sons think June to be a more pleasant month than either September or Octo-

ber. In June there are usually a few days of intense heat. In all other

respects, except the brilliancy and beauty of the heavens, this month must be

confessed to have the superiority over all others. The progress of vegetation
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is wonderful
;
and it seems as if the creative hand was, in a literal sense,

renewing its original plastic efforts, to adorn the world with richness and

splendor. All things are alive and gay.
" The little hills rejoice on every

side. The pastures are clothed with flocks. The valleys are also covered

with corn, and shout for joy." Health at the same time prevails in a peculiar

degree. The spring is often chilled by easterly winds, and rendered uncom-
fortable by rains. The winter months, when the earth is clad with its mantle

of snow, is the season for relaxation and pleasure.

Weather Table.

From the excellent Meteorological Journal, kept by Dr. Samitel B. Wood-

ward, Superintendent of the Lunatic Hospital, at Worcester, we copy the

following notes of the Weather, &c., for five successive years. Worcester

lies 483 feet above the level of the sea, about forty miles west from Boston,

and near the centre of New England.
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TOWN TABLE.

Valuation, Polls, Schools, and Academies.

Towns.

Abington,
Acton,

Adams,
Alford,

Amesbury,
Amherst,
Andover,
Ashburuham,
Ashby,
Ashfield,

Ashland, (see page 363.)
Athol,

Attleborough,
Auburn,
Barnstable,
Barre,
Becket,

Bedford,

BelchertowTi,

Bellingham,
Berkley,
Berlin,

Bernardston,

Beverly,
Billerica,

Blackstone, (See Mendon,)
Blandford,

Bolton,

Boston,
Boston Corner,

Boxborough,
Boxford

Boylston,

Bradford,

Braintree,

Brewster,

Bridgewater,
Brighton,
Brimfield,

Brookfield,
Brookline

34*
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Towns.

Buckland, . . .

Burlington, . . .

Cambridge, . . .

Canton, . . . .

Carlisle, . . . .

Carver, . . . .

Charlemont, . .

Charlestown, . .

Charlton, . . .

Chatham, . . .

Chelmsford, . . .

Chelsea, . . . .

Cheshire, . . .

Chester, . . . .

Chesterfield, . .

Chilmark, . . .

Clarksbui-gh, . .

Cohasset, . . .

Coleraine, . . .

Concord, . . .

Conway, . . . .

Cummington, . .

Dalton, . . . .

Dana,
Danvers, . . . .

Dartmouth, . . .

Dedham, . . . .

Deerfield, . . .

Dennis, . . . ,

Dighton, . . . .

Dorchester, . . .

Douglas, . . . .

Dover, . . . ,

Dracut, . . . .

Dudley
Dunstable, . . .

Duxbury, . . .

East Bridgewater,
Eastham, . . .

Easthampton, . .

Easton, . , . .

Edgartown, . .

Egremont, . . .

Enfield, . . . .

Erving, . . . .

Essex, , . . .

Fairhaven, . . .

Fall Biver, . . .

159,844

133,909

4,479,501

562,028
198,894

192,094

221,941

4,033,176

628,390
285,962
443,685
695,782
322,385
241,729
250,112

296,123
56,219

306,717
420,180

608,450
422,558
244,078
270,299
117,984

1,922,807

1,043,714

1,218,548

579,020
423,279
348,087

1,691,245
573,992

192,309
514,471

445,870
191,314

713,667
343,493
127,764

181,495
421,385

480,607
239,858
263,430
58,785

439,906

1,547,771

2,552,121
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TOWKS.

Falmouth, . . .

Fitchburg, . . .

Florida, . . . .

Foxborough, . .

Framingham, . .

Franklin, . . .

Freetown, . . .

Gardner, . . . .

Georgetown, . ,

Gill,

Gloucester, . . .

Goshen, . . . ,

Grafton, . . . ,

Granby, . . . ,

Granville, . . .

Great Barrington, ,

Greenfield, . ,

Greenwich, . . ,

Groton, . . . <

Hadley, . . . .

Halifax, . . . .

Hamilton, . . ,

Hancock, . . .

Hanover, . . ,

Hanson, . . . .

Hardwick, . . ,

Harvard, . . .

Harwich, . . ,

Hatfield, . . . .

Haverhill, . . ,

Hawley, . . . ,

Heath, . . . ,

Hingham, . . ,

Hinsdale, . . .

Hoiden, . . . ,

Holland, . . . ,

HoUiston, . . .

Hopkinton, .

Hubbardston, . ,

Hull, ....
Ipswich, . . . ,

Kingston, . . ,

Lancaster, . .

Lanesborough, . ,

Lee, . . . . ,

Leicester, . . ,

Lenox, . . . ,

Leominster, . ,

Lawrence.
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Towns.

Leverett, ....
Lexington, . . .

Leyden, ....
Lincoln, ....
Littleton, ....
Longmeadow, . .

Lowell, ....
Ludlow, ....
Lunenburg, . . .

Lynn,
Lynnfield, . . .

Maiden, ....
Manchester, . . .

Mansfield, . . .

Marblehead, . . .

Marlborough, . .

Marshfield, . . .

Marshpee,
Medfield, ....
Medford, ....
Medway, ....
Mendon, ....
Methuen, ....
Middleborough, . .

Middlefield, . . .

Middleton, . . .

Milford, ....
Millbury, ....
Milton, ....
Monroe, ....
Monson, ....

jj^Montague, . . .

Montgomery, . .

Mount Washington,
Nantucket, . . .

Natick, ....
Needham, . . .

New Ashford, .. .

New Bedford, . .

New Eraintree, . .

Newbury, . . .

Newburyport, .

New Blarlborough,
New Salem, . .

Newton, ....
Northampton, . .

Northboroligh, . .

Northbridge, . .

*Monterev.
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Towns.

North Bridgewater, ....
North Brookfield,
North Chelsea, (see page 374.)

Northfield,

Norton,
Norwich,
Oakham,
Orange,
Orleans,

Otis,

Oxford,
Palmer,
Pawtucket,
Paxton,
Pelham,
Pembroke,
Pepperell,

Peru,

Petersham,
Phillipston,

Pittsfield,

Plainfield,

Plymouth,
Plympton,
Prescott,

Princeton,

Provincetown,
Quincy,
Randolph,
Raynham,
Reading,
Rehoboth,
Richmond,
Rochester,

Rockport,
Rowe,
Rowley,
Roxbury,
Royalston,
Russell,

Rutland,
Sai.em, • •

Salisbury,

Sandisfield,

Sandwich,
Saugus,
Savoy,
Scituate,

423,514

429,(300

436,876
578,670
173,064

284,341
289,298
173,335

203,043
649,202
695,519
539,689
157,378
160,695
302,260
357,860

158,872
644,608
285,883

1,065,008

203,390

1,598,880
174,124
148.537

474,170

423,050
912,105
787,015
264,412
463,025
482,043
234,147
750,693
333,475
159,424

248,295

3,257,503
433,314

98,390
422,289

10,218,109
725,714
371,508
788,723

208,856
120,311

899,388

o

609
418

424
418
199

290
419
480
313
493
572
466
196

241
329
447
168

501
236

1,062
252

1,402
228
217
371
615

1,078
909
325
691
488
232

1,014
717
198

300

2,318
534
337
397

3,339
719
371
960
300
221
885

i3

C_eo

5

2,433

1,504

1,160

2,164
300
790
800

1,365
570

1,845
857

1,700
460
400

1,013

1,350
414

1,267
500

3,523
682

7,739
663
378
930

2,290
4,184

2,927
782

1,829
855
250

3,553

1,350
431

431

23,876
905
212
890

25,551

1,975
720

10,834
800
412

3,000

* =

13

23

14

8
7

8

14

9

10

13

14

8
5

7

8
8
7

15

7

13

9

37
6
5

10

8

12

8
7

11

21
5

23
6

8

4

23
12

4

11

32
11

16

21

4

9

21

6

6

Z 2

10

1

2

2

3

2

1

2
3

6

3

8

6

1

1

12

5

7

10
2

4

19

1

2

3

22
1

1

35
7

1

;7<'5

1

799
432

490
426
188

296
460
575
323
488
606
933
198
285
333
398
147
415

209
149

263

1,541
219
190
426
649
948
962
369
605
558
242

1,088
780
194
210

2,534
443
85

354

4,000
680
367

1,171
333
283

1,032
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Towns.

Seekonk,
Sharon,
Sheffield,

Shelbume,
Sherburne,
Shirley,

Shrewsbury,
Shutesbury,
Somerset,

Somerville, (see Charlestown,)
Southampton,
Southborough,
Southbridge,
South Hadley,
South Heading,
Southwick,
Spencer,

Springfield,
Sterling,

Stockbridge,

Stoneham,
Stoughton,
Stow,

Sturbridge,

Sudbury,
Sunderland,
Sutton,

Swansey,
Taunton,
Templeton
Tewksbury,
Tisbury,
Tolland,

Topsfield,

Townsend,
Truro,

Tyngsborough,
Tyringham,
Upton,

Uxbridge,
Wales,
Walpole,

Waltham,
Ware,

Wareham,
Warren,
Warwick,
Washington,

401,433

310,461
631,882
255,944
318,462
236.561

429,943

177,954

231,952

235,845
296,303
553,021
271,438
279,409
297,411
490,303

3,610,141

479,034
469,427
217,960
389,888
337,452
610,325

410,716
183,279

711,238

359,889
2,260,402

581,846
342,703
330,613
167,916
377,667
355,107

130,491

264,133
251,598
327,331
726,628
143,295

298,479
1,069,172

384,850

518,290
444,834
260,100
133,853

"^^

448
311
662
259
307
251
427
231
249

319
310
533
401
449
304
449

3,108
481
465
342
644
392
510
385
196

633
311

1,853
483
255
426
160
332
497
475
229
355
411

556
175

379
659
472
474
346
287
355

^t

1,858
614

1,880
900

1,013
747
900
528
820

2,400
400
751

1,520

4,261

1,250
343
888

12,052

1,136

2,968

1,000

1,373
7S8

1,190
877
597

1,272
838

4,950

1,000
715

1,515
250
538

1,774
850
850
551
760

1,382
400

1,212

3,611

1,317

1,499

2,497
650
581

^1

14

5

13

10

7

6

9

10

5

6

10

7

7

9

10

35
11

8
7

10

5

13

5

7

13

11

28
10

6

7

7

4

12

11

7

14

8

12

5

G

10

14

11

11

12

8

3

6

4

3

1

1

6

1

4

2

5

2

2

1

4

10

5

1

7

1

2

1

1

5

1

1

3

4

10

o >

522
236
738
273
245
278
340
303
265

274
305
585
354
400
365
460

3,229
455
580
255
629
302
544
335
180
577
393

1,935
462
198
453
170
281
498
625
250
326
398
601
165
429
668
556
630
360
275
235
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TOWNS.

Waterto\vn, . .

Wayland, . . .

Webster, . . .

Wellfleet, . . .

Wendell, . . .

Wenham, . . .

Westborough, . .

West Boylston, .

West Bridgewater,
West Cambridge,
Westfield, . . .

Westford, . . .

Westhampton,
Westminster, . .

West Newbury, .

Weston, . . .

Westport, . . .

West Springfield,
West Gtockbridge,

Weymouth, . .

Wliately, . . .

Wilbraham, . .

Williamsburg,
Williamstown,
Wilmington, . .

AVinchendon, . .

Windsor, . . .

Woburn, . . .

Worcester, . .

Worthington, . .

Wrentham,
Yarmouth, . . .

973,835
232,525
487,041
59,552
183,735

197,806

430,095
365,727

291,453
472,423
899,510
357,313
165,067

457,983

476,154
386,494

658,355
964,313
289,313

868,081
220,927

387,336
340,149
547,740
199,667

457,784
194,224

687,388
},696,005

307,851

634,091
465,466

o
o
2

543
256
321
612
225
201
462
307
292
432

1,089
332
199
468
436
308
691
756
386

1,020
310
428
326
617
204
493
248
952

1,825
314
660
610

o

I

2,500

1,340

1,000

1,075
300
910

1,492
676
750

1,250

2,760

1,787
556

1,600

1,098

1,250

2,084

1,950
830

2,595
632

3,080
707

1,592
553

1,399
325

2.318

12^920
909

1,781

2,050

O »

1

II

7

6

6

10

11

5

8

6

8

18

10

8

12

6

6

20
25
6

8

6

12

9

14

5

12

10

10

32
11

18

13

15

2

1

19

4

1

1

6

2

4

5

3

1

1

6

2

2

12

zS Z'Js

s .

U o

="«
5 ^ »

•i &'t
S

470
247
420
715
210
212
452
349
332
386
950
392
188
472
424
250
800

1,030
370

1,124
306
530
378
668
229
453
163
825

2,290
329
806
671

Note.—The valuation and number of Polls, as above slated, may be found in the laws of the

Commonweakh, passed in 1S41.

The account of the Schools is from the School returns, made in 1845, by the Hon. Horace

Mann, Secretary of the Board of Education. Mr. Mann also stales thai the number of

scholars who attended school under 4 years of age was 6,997; and that the number of those over

16 years, who attended, was 11,572. The number of scholars of all ages in all the schools

was, in summer, 149,189; in winter, 169,977. The number of male teachers was 2,523; ol

female, 4,774. The averag* monthly wages of males, including the value of board, was 832.11 ;

of females, 813.08 ;
and that the average value of board for males, per month, wa'j 87.81 ;

f"r

females, 85.51. See County Table.
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rOST VILLAGES.

There are no incorporated villages in Massachusetts ;
but there are numer-

ous collections of buildings, or settlements, denominated villages, scattered

throughout the state; many of which have different names from those of the

towns in which they are located, and in which many of our Post Offices,

bearing the names of villages, are situated.

Every town in the state, except Raynham and Hull, have Post Offices of

the same names
;
and there are but few towns in the Commonwealth without

one or more Post Offices having 7iorth, east, south or west attached to its name.

These offices are easily found by the names of the towns, and are omitted in

the following list of Post Offices whose locations are more difficult to discover.

Adamsville, Coleraine.

Agawam, West Springfield.

Annisquam, Gloucester.

Ashleysville, Sheffield.

Baldwinsville, Templeton.
Belville Port, Newbury.
Byfield, Newbury.
Cabotsville, Springfield.

Centreville, Barnstable.

Charlton Depot, Charlton.

Chester Factories, Chester.

Chickopee Falls, Springfield.

Clapville, Leicester.

Cotuit Village, Barnstable.

Cold Brook, Oakham.
Curtisville, Slockbridge.

Chiltonville, Plymouth.
Ervinssville, Orange.

Falley''><! Roads, Chester.

Farnumsville, Grafton.

Feeding Hills, West Springfield

Fellonville, IMarlborough.

Forge Village, Westford.

Franklin City, Franklin.

Hartsville, Tyringham.
Haydensville, Williamsburg.
Holmes' Hole, Tisbury.

Holyoke Place, South Hadley.
H)'annis, Barnstable.

Hyannis Port, Barnstable.

Ireland, West Springfield.
Jamaica Plains, Roxbury.
Lock's Village, Petersham.

Long Plain, Fairhaven.

Manchaug, Sutton.

Marston's Mills, Barnstable.

Mattapoiset, Rochester.

]Merrimac, Lawrence.

35

Middlesex Village, Chelmsford.

Millington, New Salem.

Mill River, Stockbridge.

Montague Canal, Montague.
Monument, Sandwich.

Millville, Blackstone.

Neponset Village, Dorchester.

New Boston, Tolland.

New England Village, Grafton.

Newton Centre, Newnon.
Newton LoAvcr Falls, Newton.
Newton Upper Falls, Newton.

Norlhville, Abington.
Oystennlle, Barnstable.

Palmer's Depot, Palmer.

Pocasset, Sandwich.
Rock Bottom, Stow.

Rockville, Medway.
Saxonville, Framingham.
Scotland, Bridgewater.
Shelburne Falls, Shelburne.

Shirley Village, Shirley.

Sippican, Rochester.

Stearnsville, Pittsfield.

Three Rivers, Palmer.
Townsend Harbor, Townsend.

Unionville, Hopkinton.
Vandeusenville, Great Barrington
Weir Village, Taunton.

Waterford, Blackstone.

Whitingsville, Northbridge.
Wilkint;onville, Sutton.

Willimanset, Springfield.
Wood's Hole, Falmouth.

Woodsville, Hopkinton.
Westport Point, Westport.
Yarmouth Port, Yarmouth

*
Swiimpscot, Lynn.
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PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS.

HARVARD UNIVERSITY,

Cambridge.

This university, the oldest in the United States, was incorporated in 1638,

and named Harvard College, from the Rev. John Harvard, its principal

founder. Its endowments have been since greatly increased by donations

from the State, as well as by numerous acts of private bounty ; and, with

regard to funds, library, professorships, and literary advantages in general, il

is the first institution of the kind on the American continent. It com-

prises a department for under-graduates, and one for students preparing for

each of the learned professions, theolog}^, law, and medicine. The principal

college buildings are—University Hall, an elegant edifice of granite, containing

a chapel, lecture rooms, dining halls, &;c.
;
Harvard Hall, a brick edifice, con-

taining the library, philosophical apparatus and mineralogical cabinet
;
four

other brick edifices, called Massachusetts, HoUis, Stoughton, and Holworthy

halls, each four stories high containing rooms for the accommodation of

under-graduates ; Divinity Hall, a large brick edifice for the accommoda

tion of the theological students
;
and Holden Chapel, containing the anatom-

ical museum, chemical laboratory, and lecture rooms. The library is the

largest in the Union, and contains about 50,000 volumes. The philosophical

apparatus is probably not surpassed by any in the country. The chemical

laboratory, anatomical museum, and cabinet of minerals, are all valuable.

The botanic garden comprises seven acres, laid out in an ornamental style,

and is furnished with an interesting collection of trees, shrubs, and plants,

both native and foreign.

The legislative government is intrusted to a corporation, consisting of the

president of the university and six fellows, and to a board of overseers, com-

posed of the president, the governor of the state, lieutenant-governor, members

of the council and senate, and the speaker of the house of representatives,

ex officiis, together with thirty others, fifteen clergymen and fifteen laymen,

elected for the purpose. The officers of the university, to whom the business

of instruction is confided, are a president, twenty-one professors, two tutors,

and several instructors. The president, a part of the professors, and the

tutors, constitute the immediate government of the institution.

The course of education requisite to obtain the first degree in arts in this

university, as in American colleges generally, is completed in four years. In

the theological school, the course of education is completed in three years

and the students are divided into three classes, junior, middle, and senior.
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Tuition is afforded free of expense to all pupils in this school, and further

assistance is given to such as are indigent. Graduates of any college, of

good moral character, may be admitted to share in all the benefits of this

institution.

The law school was established in 1817. Candidates for admission must

be graduates of some college, or qualified, according to the rules of court, to

become students at law. Students in this department, who are graduates of

a college, complete their education in three years. Those who are not gradu-

ates, complete it in five years.

The lectures for the medical students are delivered in Boston, at the Mas-

sachusetts Medical College, which is a spacious edifice of brick, and contains

a medical library of about 4,000 volumes. They commence annually on the

third Wednesday in November, and continue three months. In order to

obtain a degree of M. D., it is necessary for a student to attend two courses

of lectures, and to pass three years, including the time occupied in attending

the lectures, under the direction of some regular practitioner. In 1846, the

number of under-graduates was 279, theological students 32, law students

145, medical students 157
;
resident graduates, 15

;
—

total, 628.

Commencement is on the last Wednesday in August. The academical

year is divided into two terms, of twenty weeks each, and two vacations.

The first vacation is from the end of the first term, six weeks
;
the second,

from the end of the second term, to Friday after commencement, six weeks.

Acccssus.
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WILLIAMS COLLEGE,

IViUiamstown.

This institutioa was incorporated in 1793, and the first commencement was
held in 1795. It was named in honor of Col. Ephraim Williams, the founder,

a native of Newton, near Boston, and eldest son of Col. Ephraim Williams,

one of the first settlers of Stockbridge. The buildings consist of one brick

edifice of four stories, and two of three stories for students
;
a brick chapel

93 by 38 feet, an observatory for astronomical purposes, (the first erected in

the United States,) a magnetic observatory, and a laboratory. The chemical

and philosophical apparatus is among the most extensive and valuable in the

country ;
and the college library, together with the "

Adelphic Union," or

students' library, numbers about 10,000 volumes.

The terms of admission, and the course of studies, are essentially the same

as at other New England colleges ;
and all the expenses, except for clothing,

are less than one hundred dollars a year. The fast property of the college,

with the library, apparatus and cabinet of minerals, cost about $50,000, and

the productive fund is $50,000. Besides the president and tutors, there is

established a professorship of divinity, of intellectual and moral philosophy,

of languages, of natural history, of natural philosophy and astronomy, of

rhetoric and political economy, of chemistry, and of mathematics. Com-

mencement is on the third Wednesday in August. Vacations :
—From com-

mencement four weeks
;
from the third Wednesday in December, six weeks

;

and from the first Wednesday in May, three weeks. Students in 1846, 168.

Succession of Presidents.

Accessus. Exitus.

1793. . . . Rev. Ebenezer Fitch, D. D 1815

1815. . . . Rev. Zephanxah Swift Moore, D. D 1821.

1821. . . . Rev. Edward Dorr Griffin, D. D 1836.

1836. . . . Rev. Mark Hopkins, D. D.

AMHERST COLLEGE,
Amherst.

This institution is situated on elevated ground, and commands an exten-

sive and delightful prospect. There are three brick buildings for the accom-

modation of the scholars
; halls, lecture rooms, &c. The institution was

opened in 1821, and incorporated in 1825.

The basis of the institution is a fund of $50,000, subscribed by individuals,

five sixths of the interest of which is appropriated to the education of

indigent young men for the ministry. The officers are, a president and
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professors of divinity, mathematics, natiinil iihilosophy, languaf^cs, ami

Oriental literature.

Commencement is on the last Thursday of July. Vacations :—From com-

mencement, four weeks
;
from the Wednesday preceding the annual thanks

giving, six weeks
;
and from the third Wednesday in April, two weeks.

Volumes in libraries, 12,500. Number of students, 157.

Succession of Presidents.

Accesstis. Exitut

1821. . . . Rev. Zepiiamau Swift Mooke, D. D 1823

1823. , . . Rev. Heman HuMniuEY, D. D 1815.

1845. . . . Rev. Edward Hitchcock, LL. D
See Note No. 4.

THEOLOGICAL SEMINARY,

Andover.

This theological seminary is properly a branch of Phillips' Academy,

inasmuch as it is under the supervision of the same Board of Trustees, and

grew out of this school. Aside from this connection, however, it is an

ent'rely distinct institution. This Seminary was formed in 1808. Early in

its history it had the good fortune to enlist in its behalf the zeal of several-

wealthy and large-hearted men.

The founder of the Abbot professorship of Christian Thcolog}-, after having

largely aided the institution in other ways, made its board of trustees his

residuary legatee ;
thus contributing, in all, about $120,000 to its objects. The

founder of the Bartlett professorship of Sacred Rhetoric, besides giving 825,000

to endow this professorship, erected, at his sole expense, two valuable dwel-

ling houses for professors ;
built one of the large halls and the chapel ; paid the

salary of a president for five or six years, which was $1,500 per annum :

contributed largely with others to found still another professorship; and

bequeathed $50,000 to the institution in his will. And from other sources the

seminary has received numerous donations in sums varying from $500 to

$10,000 or more'; so that it may now be said, for an American institution,

to be liberally endowed—although it cannot vie in this respect with the older

in'siitutions of the other continent. For several years there were but three

professors ;
now there are five, one of whom acts as president. Each mem-

ber of the faculty has a salary of $1,500 per annum, together with the use

of a dwelling house and a few acres of land. The number of volumes in the

library is between fourteen and fifteen thousand. The library of the Porter

Rhetorical Society connected with the seminary contains 2,500 volumes. And

there is also a valuable library of 1,400 volumes, which belongs ic the

Society of Inquiry, together with a museum and cabinet of minerals, con-

taininsT contributions from various missionary stations in all parts of the

35*-
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world. The site on which the seminary edifices stand, is •well chosen, and
the grounds in front of the buildings are tastefully laid out. The number
of students at this time is 86

;
of the whole number, from the beginning, 970.

Its Alumni are widely dispersed.

NEWTON THEOLOGICAL INSTITUTION.

(See Newton.)

WESLEYAN ACADEMY.

(See Wilbraham.)

CATHOLIC COLLEGE.

(See Worcester.)

MASSACHUSETTS GENERAL HOSPITAL

(See page 62.)

McLEAN ASYLUM FOR THE INSANE.

This establishment is located on a beautiful rise of ground, in Somer-

ville, near East Cambridge, and about a mile and a half from the City Hall,

in Boston. The buildings are large, and exceedingly well adapted to their

philanthropic design. They cost about $186,000. This house was opened
lor patients on the 6th of October, 1818.

Belonging to and surrounding this asylum, are about fifteen acres of land,

appropriated to courts and gardens. These are laid out with gravelled

walks. The former are furnished with summer houses, and the latter are

ornamented with groves of fruit and ornamental trees, shrubbery and dowers.

Surrounding the lower garden, and within the enclosure, is a carriage path,

where patients are taken to ride. In the centre is a small fresh water pond,

containing several hundred gold and silver fish, and immediately contiguous
is a summer house, where the patients at times resort for games and amuse-

ments.

The system of moral treatment adopted and pursued, is founded upon princi-

ples of elevated benevolence and philanthropy, and an acquaintance with

iiuman nature, and the capabilities and wants of the insane. The previous

tastes, habits and pursuits, and the present inclinations and feelings of each

individual are habitually consulted. A library for the use of the patients has

been purchased, and those of them who are disposed to read, are permitted at

stated Tieriods to send in their names and the number of the book desired
;
the
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list is exijmined and approved by the physician, and the books are distributed hy

the librarian. In the same way writing materials are distributed, and patients

are engaged in keeping journals—wriling sketches of their lives, poetry,

addressing letters to their friends, drawing, ficc. Some engage in games, as

bowling, throwing the ring, battledore, graces, jumping the rope, chess,

draughts, back-gammon, Arc, or arc occupied in walking and riding into 'he

country, or in making fishing excursions in the company of their attendants,

while others are working on the farm and in the garden. The female pa-

tients, besides being employed in various kinds of needle and ornamental

work, are engaged in various domestic labors. The quiet and convalescent

patients regularly attend the religious exercises of the family, and a portion

of them join in the vocal and instrumental music of the occasion
;
a part of

this number also attend church on the Sabbath, in company with the nurses

and attendants, and dine with the family. A regulated intercourse with the

family and society is regarded as an important auxiliary in the means of

cure, and on suitable occasions they are invited into the house, where par-

ties are made for their special amusement and benefit.

John McLean, Esq., of Boston, an eminent merchant, who died jn 1823,

aged 64, bequeathed a large amount of property to this institution
;
hence its

name. See page 62.

STATE LUNATIC HOSPITAL,

Worcester.

Tms hospital, established in 1832, is an institution honorable to the nature

of man. It is a beautiful building, delightfully located, and admirably con-

ducted. Its plan and arrangements are so excellent as to render it a model

for similar institutions in other states.

This institution is a receptacle for all persons arraigned as criminals, but

found to have committed the oflences in a state of insanity ;
of paupers, and

of those who are so furiously mad as to render their continuance at large

dangerous to the community.

Although the worst cases of insanity are found here, yet exi)erience has

proved that there are very few cases of derangement which may not be

ameliorated by the kindly influence of humane treatment.

The number of patients committed to this hospital, since its foundation, to

November 30, 1845, was 2,306 ;
the number discharged, was 1,946, and the

number recovered was 1,038. The number remaining was 360
;
the average

number in the hospital was 316.

The establishment can accommodate about 400 patients. The whole

number of officers and attendants connected with the institution, including

the superintendent, two assistant physicians, chaplain, steward, nntron,

supervisors and assistants, was seventy-five.
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Dr Samuel B. Woodward, a gentleman of great learning and experience,
and under whose superintendence the hospital was conducted from its es-

tablishment to 1846, in his last report, says :
" In my experience of six years

as physician of a prison, and thirteen as superintendant of this hospital, I

have seen many individuals who were broken off abruptly from all stimulat-

ing drinks, yet I do not think a single case of delirium tremens has occurred.
" Alcohol is not the only narcotic which affects the brain and nervous

system. Tobacco is a powerful narcotic agent, and its use is very deleterious

to the nervous system, producing tremors, vertigo, faintness, palpitation of

the heart, and other serious diseases. That tobacco certainly produces

insanity, I am unable positively to observe
;
but that it produces a predispo-

sition to it, I am fully confident. Its influence upon the brain and nervous

system generally, is hardly less obvious than that of alcohol, and if used

excessively, is equally injurious.
" The very general use of tobacco among young men at the present day,

is alarming, and shows the ignorance and devotion of the devotees of this

dangerous practice to one of the most virulent poisons of the vegetable world.

The testimony of medical men, of the most respectable character, could be

quoted, to any extent, to sustain these views of the deleterious influence of

this dangerous narcotic."

STATE PRISON.

This institution was founded in 1800, and soon after located on a point of

land in Charlestown, near East Cambridge, and which is connected with

Canal bridge by a lateral bridge of 1,820 feet in length.

After having struggled with many and great difficulties attendant on the

establishment of an institution so entirely new, the state, by the agency of

suitable men, have so placed it as to eflect all the objects proposed, without

any expense to the commonwealth.

The number of commitments to this institution since the year it was opened,

(1805,) to February 23, 1846, was 3,926 ; averaging about 96 a year. The

largest numbers were committed in 1817, (161,) 1818, (151,) and in the year

1834, (141 ;) the smallest numbers were in 1806, (42,) 1807, (55,) and in

1831, (60.)

The number pardoned, during that period, was 460. The number com-

mitted for life, and pardoned by the governor and council, was 125. " The

average period of imprisonment of convicts committed for life, and pardoned,

was five years and nearly nine and a half months." The whole number of

prisoners, September 30, 1845, was 287, of which number 103 were natives

ol Massachusetts, 118 of other states in the Union, 18 Englishmen, 27 Irish-

men, and 21 from other countries.
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VOTES FOR GOVERNOR.

Votes for the two prominent candidates for Governor, throughout the State of

Massachusetts, from 1800 to the present time.

la 1831 the Constitution of the State was amended
;
the June session of the

Legislature abolished, the time for electing a Governor was changed from

April to November, and the commencement of the political year was altered

from the last Wednesday in IMay to the first Wednesday in January.

The names of the successful candidates are in the first column. In the

years 1834, 1842, 1843, and 1846, the Governors were elected by the legisla-

ture, there being no choice by the people, the preceding years.

Rateable Polls.—We give the rateable polls in the State at the six decennial

valuations to show the comparative interest excited at the various elections.

The number of rateable polls in the State, including Maine, in 1791, was

106,427; in 1801, 126,010; in 1811,167,770; in 1821, (without Maine,)

and in 1841, 185,908. Polls in Boston, see p. 41.122,715; in 1831, 150,591
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1829. Levi Lincoln, .... 25,217.

1830. do 30,908.

1831. do 24,448.

1832. do 28,804,

1833. do.
 

33,946.

1834. John Davis, 25,149.

1835. do 43,757.

1836. Edward Everett, . v . 37,555.

1837. do 42,160.

1838. do 50,565.

1839. -do 51,642.

1840. Marcus Morton, . . . 51,035.

1841. John Davis, 70,884.

1842. do 55,974.

1843. Marcus Morton, . . . 56,491.

1844. George N. Briggs, . . . 57,899.

1845. do. ... 69,570.

1846. do. ... 51,638.

1847. do. ... 54,818.

All others, 9,986.

Marcus Morton, . . . 14,440.

do. .... 12,694

Lothrop and Morton, . . 24,332
do. ... 29,952

J. Q. Adams & M. Morton, 33,767.

Morton and Bayley, . . 28,843.

Marcus Morton, . . . 25,227.

do. .... 35,992

do. .... 32,987.

do. .... 41,795.

Edward Everett, . . . 51,034

Marcus Blorton, . . . 55,169

do 51,367.

George N. Briggs, . . . 54,939.

Marcus Morton, . . . 54,242.

George Bancroft, . . . 54,714.

Isaac Davis, . . . . 37,427.

do. 33,119.

VOTES FOR GOVERNOR, IN BOSTON.

From the adoption of the Constitution in 1780 to the present time.

Years.

1780.

1781.

1782.

1783.

1784.

1785.

1786.

1787.

1788.

1789.

Votes

given.

923.
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\ t irs.

1800.

1801.

1802.

1803.

1804.

1805.

1806.

1807.

1808.

1809.

1810.

1811.

1812.

1813.

1814.

1815.

181G.

1817.

1818.

1819.

1820.

1821.

1822.

1823

Names of pronii-
neiil Cundidaies.

Volea rec'd

by each.

Voles

given.

3097. Caleb Stron-, . .1531

Eltridge Gcrrj', . 1555

3929. Caleb Strong, . . 1S51

Elbridge Gerry, . 2U78

3870. Caleb Strong,

'

. . 2372

Elbriilgo Gerry, . 1498

2745. Caleb Strong, . . 18(34

El bridge Gerry, . 881

2C30. Caleb Strong,' . . 1980
James Sullivan, . 1)50

3S45. Caleb Strong, . . 2587
James Sullivan, . 1253

4114. Caleb Strong, . . 2503
James Sullivan, . 1605

5235. James Sullivan, . 20S6
Caleb Strong, . .3149

4737. James Sullivan, .2118

Christopher Gore, . 2t)10

4945. Christopher Gore, . 2982
Levi Lincoln, . . 1952

5288. E [bridge Gerr.v, . 2211

Christopher Gore, . 3070

5015. Elbndge Gerry, . 1879

Christopher Gore, . 3128

5669. Caleb Stronsj. . . 3830

Elbridge GeVry, . 1833

5069. Caleb Strong, . .3571

Joseph B. Varnum, 1440

5120. Caleb Strong, . . 3557
Samuel Dexter, . 1557

4579. Caleb Strong, . .3135
Samuel De.xler, . 1439

5550. John Brooks, . . 3522
Samuel Dexter . . 2022

4894. John Brooks, . . 3578

Henry Dearborn, . 1315

3747. John Brooks, . . 2999
B. W. Crowninshield, 744

5374. John Brooks, . . 3641
B. W. Crowninshield, 1744

5209. John Brooks, . . 3521
William Eustis, . 1682

4399. John Brooks, . . 3088
William Eustis, . 1303

4548. John Brooks, . . 3114
William Eustis, . 1421

5628. William Eustis, . 2728
Harrison G. Otis. . 2836

ears V"'"^'*
Names of promi- Votes rrc'd

given, iiciil Cundidaies. by cacti.

824. 6418. William Eustis, . 3055
Samuel Lothrop, . 3352

825. 3043. Levi Lincoln, . . 2493
Marcu.s Morton, . 8

826. 3706. Levi Lincoln, . . 2249
INIarcus Morton, . 11

827. 4449. Levi Lincoln, . . 2702
Marcus 3Iorton, . 34

828. 3750. Levi Lincoln, . . 2943
jMarcus IMorton, . 531

829. 2800. Levi Lincoln, . . 2290
Jlarcus IMorton, . 392

830. 3953. Levi Lincoln, . . 3142
JIarcus Mor'on, . 758

831. 3573. Levi Lincoln, . . 2840
Marcus Morton, . 640

832. 4255. Levi Lincoln, . . 3007
Marcus Morton, . 531

833. 5335. Levi Lincoln, . . 3236
Marcus Morton, . 1217

834. 5686. John Davis, . '. . 2742
Marcus Morton, . 1233

835. 8584. John Davis, . . . 5590
Marcus Morton, . 1995

836. 6741. Edward Everett, . 4108
INlarcus Morton,' . 1989

837. 7028. Edward Everett, . 4689
Marcus IMorton, . 2928

838. 7416. Edward Everett, . 5312
Marcus Morton, . 2060

839. 8170. Edward Everett, . 5141
Marcus Morton,' . 2941

840. 8634. Marcus Morton, . 3702
Edward Everett, . 4906

841. 11,589. John Davis, . . 7115
Marcus IMorton, . 4397

842. 10,548. John Davis, . . 598C
Marcus IMorton, 4373

843. 10,831. Marcus IMorton, . 4619
John Davis, . . 5636

844. 11,274. George N. Briggs, 6610
Marcus Morton. . 4222

845. 13,578. George N. Briggs, 852-1

George Bancroft, 4540

846. 10,241. George X. Briggs, 55^5
Isaac Davis, . .2213

847. 9,380. George N. Briggs, 6159
Isaac Davis, . . 1826
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CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICTS.

Mash'achusetts is divided into ten districts for the choice of Representatives
to Congress. The Representatives are elected by the people for the term of

two years, on the basis of population. Each district elects one Representa-

tive from a continuous section of the state, according to the law of 1842,

requiring one representative for every 70,680 inhabitants.

NUMBER ONE.

The City of Boston.

NtTMBER TWO.

Eeverly, Chelsea, Danvers, Essex, Gloucester, Hamilton, Ipswich, Lynn,

Lynnfield, Manchester, Marblehead, Maiden, Middleton, Medford, North

Chelsea, Reading, Rockport, Salem, Saugus, South Reading, Stoneham,

Topsfield, Wenham.

NCMBER THREE.

Amesbury, Andover, Boxford, Bradford, Georgetown, Haverhill, Methuen,

Newbury, Newburyport, Rowley, Salisbury, and West Newbury, in Essex

County; and Billerica, Carlisle, Chelmsford, Dracut, Dunstable, Groton, Lit-

tleton, Lowell, Tewksbury, Tyngsboro', Westford, and Wilmington, in the

County of Middlesex.

NUMBER FOUR.

Acton, Ashby, Ashland, Bedford, Boxboro', Burlington, Cambridge, Charles-

town, Concord, Framingham, Hopkinton, Lexington, Lincoln, Marlboro',

Pepperell, Shirley, Somerville, Stow, Sudbury, Townshend, Waltham, Wa-

tertown, Wayland, West Cambridge, Weston, and Woburn, in the County of

Middlesex; and Berlin, Bolton, Boylston, Fitchburg, Harvard, Lancaster,

Leominster, Lunenburg, Northboro', Shrewsbury, Southboro', Sterling and

Westboro', in the County of Worcester.

NUMBER FIVE.

All the towns in Worcester County, except the thirteen attached to District.

Number Four, and Athol and Royalston, included in District Number Six.

NUMBER SIX.

Amherst, Belchertown, East-Hampton, Enfield, Granby, Greenwich, Had-

ley, Hatfield, Northampton, Pelham, Prescott, South Hadley, and Ware, in

the County of Hampshire ; Brimfield, Holland, Longmeadow, Ludlow, Mon-

son, Palmer, Southwick, Springfield, Wales, Westfield, West Springfield, and

Wilbraham, in the County of Hampden ; Bernardston, Deerfield, Erving, Gill,

Greenfield, Leverett, Montague, New Salem, Northfield, Orange, Shutesbury,

Sunderland, Warwick, Wendell, and Whately. in the County of Franklin ;

and Athol and Royaiston, in the County of Wr xster.
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NUMBER SEVEN.

The whole of Berkshire County ; Ashfield, Buckland, Charlemont, Coleraine,

Conway, Hawley, Heaih, Leydeii, Monroe, Rowe, and Shelburne, in Franklin

County; Chesterfield, Curamuigton, Goshen, Middlefield, Norwich, PlainficM,

Southampton, Westhanipton, Williamsburg, and Worthingion, in Hampshire

County; and Blandford, Chester, Granville, Montgomery, Russell, and Tol-

land, in the County of Hampden.

NUMBER EIGHT.

All the towns in Norfolk County ; Abington, North Bridgewater, Hin^-

ham, and Hull, in the County of Plymouth ; and Brighton, HoUiston, Natick.

Newton, and Sherburne, in the County of Middlesex.

NUMBER NINE.

The towns in the County of Plymouth, excepting Abington, Hingham, Hull,

North Bridgewater, Rochester, and Wareham
;
and all the towns in the

County of Bristol, excepting Dartmouth. Fairhaven, and New Bedford.

NUMBER TEN.

The Counties of Barnstable, Nantucket, and Dukes ; and the towns of Dart

mouth, Fairhaven, New Bedford, Rochester, and Wareham.

For Valuation, Population, and the number of Polls in the several districts

see Population and Town Tables.

CANALS.
MIDDLESEX CANAL.

This Canal commences at Boston harbor, and passes in a northwesterl)

direction through Charlestown and IMedford, 5 miles from Boston
; Wobum, 10

"Wilmington, 14, to LoweU, 27 miles, on the Merrimack River. It was incor

porated in 1789, and completed 1808; cost, $528,000. Summit level, 104

feet above tide water, and 32 above the IMerrimack at Lowell. Breadth at the

surface, 30 feet; at bottom, 20
; depth of water, 3 feet. Lockage, 136 feet

;

20 locks. This and other short canals on the Merrimack, open a navigable

communication between Boston and Concord, the capital of New Hampshire.

SOtTTH HADLET CANAL.

Incorporated in 1792. This canal overcomes a fall at South Hadley, by a

dam 1100 feet in length, 5 locks, and a cut through solid rock, 40 feet in

lepth, and 300 in length.

MONTAGtJE CANAL.

This canal is in the town of Montague, on Connecticut River, 20 miles

above Northampton, and was constructed for passing falls on that river. It

36
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is 3 miles in length, with 75 feet lockage, and greatly promotes the naviga-

tion of the river.

BLACKSTONE CANAL.

This canal commences at Worcester, 40 miles W. by S. of Boston, and

extends to Providence, R. I. Length, 45 miles. Completed in 1828. Cost,

$600,000. Fall, from the summit at Worcester to tide water at Providence,

451^6^^ fggt 48 locks. This canal serves to divert the trade of the large,

fertile and manufacturing county of Worcester, and its neighborhood, from

Boston to the beautiful and flourishing city of Providence. By this canal, 45

miles, with Providence River to Newport, 75
;
and Long Island Sound, 152

;

Worcester is 227 miles from the city of New York. Before the completion

of a railroad from Boston to Worcester, a ton of merchandize might be

transported from Worcester to New York for 25 per cent, less than to Boston.

FARMINGTON CANAL.

This canal commences at New Haven, and passes through Hampden,

Cheshire, Southington, Farmington, Simsbury, and Granby, to the Massa-

chusetts line at Southwick, 58 miles north of New Haven. From thence it

passes through Westfield and Easthampton to Northampton, by the Hamp-
shire and Hampden Canal, 20 miles

;
total length, 78 miles. The Connecticut

part of the canal has 218 feet lockage, and a basin of 20 acres at New Haven.

Completed in 1831, and cost $600,000. The great design of this canal is to

place New Haven in a position to compete with Hartford, and other towns

on the Connecticut River, for the valuable trade of the extensive, luxuriant,

and highly cultivated valley of the Connecticut.

RAILROADS.
Before steam became a powerful agent in the transportation of persons and

property, great and laudable exertions were made by the citizens of Massa-

chusetts for the extension of their trade to the north and to the west, by the

construction of turnpike roads and canals. But the elevated ridges of land

which lie between their capital city and the Connecticut, Housatonic, and

Hudson rivers, proved insuperable obstacles to their success. The trade of

the extensive valleys which these rivers drain, and of the vast country far

beyond them, could not be diverted from its accustomed channels by any-

thing less than the magnificent power, which, setting at nought all animal

strength, and outstripping the speed of the wind in its course, is destined to

overcome the most difficult elevations, and plant its footsteps on the banks

of every important lake and river in our country.

While the Bostonians design to use their newly acquired agent in the pros-

ecution of their internal commerce, with all that zeal and perseverance

which have distinguished ihem on the ocean and in foreign lands, in the
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same pursuit, no intelligent citizen among them will deny the just and hon-

orable claims of the citizens of New York, as their most jxiwerful competitors.

The magnitude and wealth of that beautiful city, llie enterprise of its people,

and us favorable location, renders it a durable mart of commerce, which no

new mode of transportation can destroy, and which all modes will tend to

reacn. The great basin, of which we shall presently speak, and the great

commercial cities in Europe, are about as near to one of those cities as the

other
;

—what New York gains, in distance on the land, Boston gains a full

equivalent on the sea.

The following Table of the size of the vast bodies of water contained in

the St. Lawrence basin, is taken from a Report of Douglas Houghton, Esq.,

Stale Geologist of Michigan :
—

Waters.

.H
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great area, extending from the lakes on the north, to Ohio on the south, and

Irom the western confines of the state of New York to the upper Mississippi,

containing 306,000 square miles. This area is twice as large as the kingdom of

France, five times as extensive as the whole of England, and thirty-six times

the area of Massachusetts : it contains 196,000,000 of acres of arable land, a

large portion of which is of surpassing fertility. In 1800, this vast territory

contained only 50,780 inhabitants
;
but such has been its growth, that it now

contains at least 3,500,000. Should its population continue to increase in the

same ratio for ten years, it will double that of the whole United States in

1775. When this region becomes as thickly populated as old Massachusetts,
it will contain near 30,000,000 souls.

This broad area is intersected in numerous directions by streams, furnish-

ing ample means of conveyance ;
while uncommon facilities for the construc-

tion of canals and railroads are afforded by the level and uniform character

of its surface.

This section of co'intry probably possesses a greater aggregate power of

production, than any other portion of equal extent on the globe. Its popula-
tion is made up almost exclusively of the young, the resolute, the vigorous,

and the intelligent, who have gone from the more densely populated com-

munities in New England and the Middle States, to seat themselves around

this chain of waters, and there to build up an empire. They have taken

with them the laws, the habits, the language, and the institutions, civil and

religious, of their parent states
; but, above all, they have carried into that

vast field an honest love of labor, and in the very act of organizing their gov-

ernments, they manifest their willingness to exert and rely on their own

energies, by prohibiting slavery forever throughout their limits.

This group of inland states and territories has two outlets for its commerce

to the ocean
;
one by the Mississippi River to the Gulf of Mexico, the other

through the lakes, and the River and Gulf of St. Lawrence.

These outlets are so circuitous and difficult of navigation, even in seasons

when unimpeded by ice or the lowness of the waters, that transportation by

railroads, in a direct course, must supersede all other modes of conveyance
between the Atlantic ocean, and lakes Erie and Ontario, the common depos-

its of this wide field of commercial operations.

In the commerce of this western world New England cannot fail to partici-

pate to a great extent. Her extended and extending railroads to meet this

trade, her wealth and enterprise, her immense amount of tonnage, her foreign

and domestic commerce, her vast investments in manufactures, her fisheries,

together with good markets for all kinds of western products, offer unrivalled

advantages to her western brethren. Such is the preference of the western

people for northern markets, that the states of Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, and

Michigan, have commenced systems of internal improvement, by canals and

railroads, to meet the waters of Lakes Erie and Ontario, which will extend

more than 2,500 miles, and at a cost, when completed, of nearly fifty mil-

lions of dollars.
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BOSTON AND WORCESTER RAILROAD.

This road was commenced in the autumn of 1S31, and was opened foi

travel on the 4th of July, 1835. It is 44 miles in length, and has a double

track. (See Eaihoad Table.) This road, although a distinct corporation,

may be considered the eastern part of the

WESTERN RAILROAD.

The Western Railroad was chartered in 1833, and ojiened for travel from

Worcester to Springfield, in 1839, and to the City of Albany, in 1842. The

distances from Boston to Albany, on this road, are as follows :
—
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Miles.

Dunkirk, N. Y., . 45

Erie, , . Pa., 46, 91

Conneaut,
"

30, 121

Ashtabula, Ohio, 14, 135

Grand River,
"

30, 165

Cleveland,
"

30, 195

Huron, .
"

47, 242

Detroit, Mich., 85, 327

Miles.

Fort Gratiot, Mn. 72, 399

Thunder Bay,
"

150, 549

Presque Isle,
"

80, 629

Mackinaw,
"

65, 694

Manitou, .
"

103, 797

MiLWAKiE,Wis. 150, 947

Racine,
"

25, 972

Miles.

Dl., 57, 1042
"

40, 1082
"

45, 1127
"

16, 1143
"

69, 1212

90, 1302

Chicago,

Juliet, .
"

Ottawa, .
"

Peru, .
"

Peoria, .
"

Beardstown,"

Alton, .
«

118, 1420

St. Lodis, Mo., 22, 1442Southport,
"

13, 985

From Mackinaw to the Falls of St. Mary, at the Outlet of Lake Superior, is

about 100 miles
;

to Copper Harbor, 200
;
and to Long Point, near the head

of that lake, is about 400 miles. From Detroit, across the Peninsula of

Michigan to Chicago is about 250 miles
;

—making the distance from Buffalo

to Chicago 577 miles, and to St. Louis 977 miles.
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BOSTON AND LOWELL RAILROAD.

This road was incorporated on the 5ih of June, 1830, and was opened for

travel in June, 1835. Its length is 2t3 miles, and passes through Cambridge,

Somerville, Medford, Woburn, Wilmington, Tewksbury, Billerica, to Lowell;

from which a line of railroads extends to Nashua, N. H., 41 miles from Bos-

ton
;
to IManchester, 59

;
and to Concord, the capital of New Hampshire, 76

miles. The Lowell and Nashua railroads have double tracks
; and, in com-

mon with all railroads in New England, are laid with heavy railroad iron,

and constructed in the most substantial manner.—See page 44, and Railroad

Table.

This road is the commencement of a line of railroads from Boston to Mon-

treal, by the way of Concord and Haverhill, in New Hampshire, and Mont-

pelier and Burlington, in Vermont. The distance from Boston to Burling-

ton, by this route, is about 220 miles
; making the distance from Boston to

IMontreal, all the way by railroads, 310 miles; or, by railroads and Lake

Champlain, 320.—See Fitchburg Railroad.

A railroad is contemplated to pass from Haverhill to St. Johnsburj', Vt.,

from thence to the Canada line, and through the eastern townships to Mon-

treal. The distance is about the same as by the way of Burlingto/i.

BOSTON AND PROVIDENCE RAILROAD.

This road was incorporated in 1831, and opened for public use in Jane

1835. The distances on this road from Boston are as follows :—
Miles.

Roxbury, .... 2

Jamaica Plains, . . 3^

Toll Gate, . . . . 4^

Dedham, Low Plain, 8^

Canton, .... 14

Miles.
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3.1 miles. From Taunton it passes Myricli's, 42, and to New Bedford, bb

miles from Boston. From New Bedford to Wood's Hole, is 18 miles
;

]lolmes' Hole, 26, Edgartown, 34
;
and to Nantucket, 62 miles. From Bos-

ton to Nantucket, by this route, is 117 miles.

EASTERN RAILROAD.

This road was opened for travel to Salem in 1839
;
to Portsmouth, N. H.,

in 1840, and to Portland, Me., in 1842. This road has branches to Glouces-

ter and Marblehead. Distances from Boston to Portland are as follows :
—
Miles.

South Berwick, Me., 67

North Berwick,
"

. 72

Wells, . . .
"

. 76

Kennebunk, .
"

. 82

Saco, . . .
"

. 91

Scarborough,
"

. 99

Portland, .
"

. 105

Preparations are making for the extension of this and the Boston and

Maine lines of railroads to more distant sections in Maine. The distance

from Portland to Augusta is 54 miles
;

to Bangor, 122
;

to Ellsworth, 135
;

to Machias, 205
;

to Eastport, 230
;

to St. John, N. B., 290, and to Halifax,
N. S., 465 miles.—See Railroad Table, and page 44.
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NORWICU ANT) WORCESTER RAILROAD.

This road was opened for travel from Worcester to Norwich, in 1640. The

distance from Boston to Nonvich, by the Boston and Worcester, and Nor-

wich and Worcester railroads, is 103 miles
;

to Allen's Point, by steamboat,

110
;
to New London, 118

;
to Greenport, on Long Island, across the Sound,

is 138 miles, and to New York, by the Long Island Railroad, is 232 miles.

By steamboats, on Long Island Sound, from Allen's Point to New York, is

110 miles.—See Railroad Table.

BERKSHIRE AND HOUSATONIC RAILROADS.

These roads are connected to form a railroad communication between the

Western Railroad, at the State Line, and Long Island Sound, at Bridgeport,

Connecticut.

Distances from West Stockbridge to Bridgeport :
—
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world, seeking an outlet for a market on the Atlantic borders, by a more

direct and expeditious course than it at present pursues.

Acts of incorporation have been granted by the several states for the con-

struction of this line of railroads, and laudable exertions are making by com-

panies and individuals for the accomplishment of this noble enterprise. See

Boston and Lowell Railroad ; page 44, and Railroad Table.

CONNECTICUT RIVER RAILROAD.

This road passes from Springfield to Greenfield, and is destined to extend

up the Connecticut to meet the railroads from Boston, on their routes to the

great northern and western waters. This road was opened from Springfield

to Northampton, a distance of 17 miles, on the 13th of December, 1845, and

from thence to Greenfield, 20 miles, in 1846. From Greenfield to Brattle-

boro', Vt., is 21 miles
;
Bellows Falls, 45

; Windsor, Vt., 70
; Lebanon, N. H.,

90
; Haverhill, 125

; Lancaster, 175
;
and to the Canada line, about 225 miles.

HARTFORD AND SPRINGFIELD RAILROAD.

This road extends from Springfield to Longmeadow ;
crosses the Connec-

ticut at Enfield, Ct., and passes through Windsor to Hartford, Ct., a distance

of 25 miles. From Hartford to -New Haven, by railroad, is 34 miles, and
from thence to New York, per steamer, is 80 miles

; making the distance

from Boston to New York, by this route, 237 miles. A railroad will soon be

in operation between New Haven and New York, a distance of about eighty
miles.

From Hartford to Middletown is 15 miles, and to Saybrook, at the mouth
of Connecticut river, 45 miles.

OLD COLONY RAILROAD.

This road was opened for travel on the 10th of November, 1845. The dis-

tances on this road from Boston, are as follows :
—
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VEKMONT AND MASSACHUSETTS KAILKoAD.

This is anothrr branch ol' the Fitchburg Railroad, to meet ihe Connecticut

Uiver Railroad in a more direct line than by the Cheshire branch to Bellows

falls. It will extend to Greenfield and Norlhfield
;
but its location between

Connecticut River and Lake Cliamplain, was unsettled in Oct, 1816.

PROVIDENCE AND WORCESTER RAILROAD.

This road commences at Worcester, and passes through I\Iillbury, Uxbridge

and Blackstone, in Mass., and Smithfield, and North Providence, in R. I., to

the City of Providence, a distance of about 45 miles.

WORCESTER AND NASHUA RAILROAD.

This road extends from Worcester to Nashua, N. 11., a distance of 45

miles. It passes north through the towns of Holden, Lancaster, Harvard,

Shirley, Groton and Pepperell, and meets the great northern railroad from

Boston to Canada, at Nashua, N. H.

PITTSFIEI.D AND NORTH ADAMS RAILROAD.

This road leaves the Western Railroad about two miles east of the Pitts-

field depot, and passes up a branch of the Housatonic River, and down a

branch of the Hoosic, through Lanesborough, Cheshire, and South Adams,

to North Adams, a distance of 18^ miles.

This railroad was chartered in 1845, and is designed as the commencement

of a long line of railroad communication, to be extended northerly, through

Williamstown into Vermont, and through Bennington, Manchester, and Rut-

land, to Burlington ; passing along the entire valley of Western Vermont.

At Rutland, this road will meet a railroad from Boston.—See Fitchburg

Railroad.

FALL RIVER RAILROAD.

This new route from Boston to Narraganset Bay and New York, passe.s

through Dorchester, Quincy and Brainlree, by the Old Colony Railroad, a

distance of lljj miles. It then passes through Randolph, North Bridgewater,

West Bridgewater, Middleborough, and Berkley, to Fall River, a distance

from Boston of 50 miles. From Fall River, it will proceed to Newport, R.

I., by railroad, a distance of 17 miles. From Newport to Greenport, on Long

Island, is GO miles, and from thence to New York, by railroad, is 94 miles,

making the distance from Boston to New York, by this route, 221 miles.

From Newport to New York, by steamboat, is 152 miles.
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WEST BROOKFIELD AND BAKRE BRANCH OF THE WESTERN RAILROAD.

This road will extend from the village of West Brookfield to the centre of

the town of Barre. Length about 15 miles.

LEXINGTON AND WEST CAMBRIDGE RAILROAD.

This road leaves the Charlestown branch of the Fitchburg Railroad, near

Fresh Pond, about four miles from Charlestown, and extends through "West

Cambridge, to Lexington, about 11 miles from Boston.

Note.—Most of our principal Railroads have branches connected with

them
;
but as those branches are generally mentioned in the descriptions of

towns where they exist, they are not particularly noticed here.

RAILROADS GRANTED IN 1846.

At the sitting of the Legislature in 1846, a number of Railroads was

granted ;
about which all we can say, at present, is to mention their names,

location, and probable length. They are as follow :—
Adams and Bennington.

—This is a link in the line of railroads from 'he

"Western Railroad to the valley of "Western "Vermont. It passes from North

Adams, through Williamstown, to the line of Vermont. Length about 7

miles.—See Pittsfield and North Adams Railroad.

Essex.—This road commences near the North River, in Salem, and passes

through Danvers, Rliddleton, and North Andover, to Andover Bridge, and

crosses the Merrimack to Methuen. Length about 20 miles.

Newhuryport.—Fxom Newburyport to Georgetown, through Byfield "Village.

About 10 miles.

South Shore.—Commencing at the Old Colony Railroad in Quincy, and

passmg through the northerly part of Braintree, by "Weymouth Landing, and

East "Weymouth ;
and through the towns of Hingham, Cohasset, Scituate,

and Marshfield, to the town of Duxbury. Length, about 22 miles.

Hanover Branch.—Extending from the Four Corners in Hanover, to meet

the Old Colony Railroad in Abington. About 6 miles.

Cape Cod Branch.—From some point of the Fall River Railroad, near the

V'lai Corners in Middleborough ; through that town, a corner of Rochester,

and the westerly part of Wareham
;
and from thence to a point near the

Glass "Works in Sandwich. Length, about 25 miles.

Dorchester and Milton. This road commences at or near the depot of the

Old Colony Railroad, at Neponset Village, in the town of Dorchester, and

after running through the southeasterly part of that town, it crosses Neponset

River, and passes through the northerly part of the town of Milton, and ter-

minates at or near the "Upper Mills." so called. Length about 3 miles.
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Walpole.
—From llie wesleiii termination of the Dedliain branch railroad,

m the town of Dedham, to the centre of the town of Walpole. Length about

9 miles.

Lancaster and Stcrlbig Branch.—From the Fitchburg railroad in Acton,

through the towns of Stow, Bolton, and Lancaster, to the town of Sterling ;
or

from Concord, through the towns of Acton, Sudbury, Stow, Marlboro', Bolton,

Berlin, and Lancaster, to the said town of Sterling. Length, (from Acton to

Sterling,) about 18 miles.

Wrentham and Foxborough.
—From the depot of the Boston and Providence

Railroad, in Mansfield, through the towns of Foxborough, Wrentham, and

Bellingham, to the line of Cumberland, in the State of Rhode Island, near the

southeast corner of the town of Blackstone. About 15 miles.

Bedford—From near the centre village in Bedford to Lexington, to con-

nect with the West Cambridge and Lexington Railroad. About 6 miles.

Watertown Branch.—From a point near the Bemis Factory, in Watertown,

and from thence running on the northerly side of Charles River, through or

near the village of Waterto\vn, to some point of junction with the Fresh Pond

oranch of the Charlestown Branch Railroad, on the easterly side of Fresh

Pond, in Cambridge. Length about 2 miles.

Frrmingham Branch.—This road commences in or near the centre village

in Framingham; from thence it passes easterly near Saionville, and from

thence, through Sudbury, Wayland, and Weston, to a point on the Fitchburg

Railroad, in the said town of Weston. Length, about 12 miles.

Lowell and Andover.—From the qity of Lowell, through the town of Tewks-

bury, to some point on the Boston and Maine Branch Railroad to Methueo.

About 9 miles.

Boston and Providtnce Branch.—From Attleboro' to the line of the Slate of

Rhode Island, in the said town of Attleboro',
—6 miles.

Mount Holyoke.—From the village of Hockanum, in the town of Hadley,

through South Hadley, and a part of Springfield, to some point on the Con-

necticut River Railroad at or near Willimanset, in said Springfield. Distance,

about 9 miles.

Peterborough and Shirley.
—Along the Squannacook and Nashua Rivers

in Townsend, Groton and Shirley ;
from Townsend Harbor, so called, in

Townsend, to the Fitchburg Railroad, in Shirley. About 9 miles.

Chelsea Branch.—From a point at or near the Eastern Railroad in Chelsea,

.0 the Boston and Maine Railroad, in Maiden
;
a distance of about 3 miles.

CCT* For a full account of Railroads, in this and other states, sec Hay-
ward's Book of Reference.
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MASSACHUSETTS CURRENCY.

An Abstract, prtpureJ by Rev. Joseph B. Felt.

When our ancestors settled Massachusetts, they brought the hard mono}
of their native kingdom. Still such currency was far from being su/hcient

to meet the wants of the state and communities. Hence, as usual in new

colonies, other substances were used to supply the deficiency. Beaver and

wampum, or the shell money of Indians, were immediately adopted for such

a purpose. Soon the different species of grain, and also cattle, were thus

appropriated. To keep a needed supply of one sort of defensive material

among the emigrants, who were exposed to sudden attacks from the natives,

our civil authorities ordered, in 1G35, that farthings be laid aside, and that

bullets be a substitute for them, at one for one.

As an important event in iheir pecuniary relations, the General Court, in

1()52, established a Mint for silver coin. They had the likeness of a pine

tree—long a favorite emblem of ])erpetuity and truth with them—impressed
on one side of such currency. The anecdote of Governor Temple and Charles

II., with regard to the tree, is well known. The first pieces were three-

pence, si.K-pence and twelve-pence, and, ten years afterwards, two-penny ones

were emitted. Folke's Tables of coins contain fac-similes of penny pieces,

and blank six-penny and twelve-penny ones, and also the good Samaritan

shilling, which, he says, were made at the same establishment.

For the purpose of retaining such money at home, our authorities had it

made with about one-fourth more alloy than similar pieces of England.
This was the origin of our New England currency, and the discontinuance

of the sterling among our people.

Dry fish was taken as cash in 1654
;
and boards, also, in 1657.

Our government came to an open rupture, in 1665, with the king's com-

missioners on the subject of our Mint, and other matters of oflTence to him.

They endeavored to conciliate him the next year, and subsequently, with pres-

ents of masts, cranberries, samp and codfish.

But these advances and various concessions did not prevent his final abro-

gation of their charter. At the commencement of the usurpation here, in

1686, our Mint was closed.

During the year just named, a Bank was established in Massachusetts, on

security of real and personal estate, and imperishable merchandize. It prob-

ably continued its operations to the revolution of 1689. Our hi.storians

seem to have lost sight of its existence.

Though after the overthrow of the usurpation, a petition to William and

Blary, for the revival of our Jlint, was negatived, yet a considerable quantity

of the pine-tree money was in circulation and so continued to 177 J.

To discharge the debts, contracted in the disastrous expedition of 1690

against Quebec, our government began the same year to issue bills of credit.

Thus commenced a pnper system, with good intentions, bnt of long standing
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and of disastrous consequences. The money, so issued, before the arrival of

our second charter, Avas called " Old Charter bills." According to the order

of its emission under the former of these two documents, it was denominated

old, middle, and new tenor.

The payment of grain for public taxes, ceased to be thus taken at the Prov-

ince Treasury, 1694, except with a few subsequent restorations of it for such

a purpose.

The notes issued and re-issued from our Province Treasury, from 1690 to

1702, were not less than £120,000.

The General Court appear to have authorized William Chalkhill, in 1703,

to import £5000 worth of copper pence.

The Table drawn up by Sir Isaac Newton, as the Mint Master of London,
for regulating the coin of this and other provinces, was published here in

1704.

After the first year of issuing Province bills, they passed at par till 1712,

when they began to decline, because not redeemed as stipulated. Another

cause for so adverse a change, was the influx of paper currency from the

adjacent colonies.

There were three parties in 1714, one for hard money, another for a Bank,
and the last for Provincial loans.* Though opposed by the General Court, a

Bank was commenced in Boston and emitted £100,000 in scrip, called "Mer
chants' Notes." These sustained a good credit. The Government granted

a loan of £50,000 in paper. They subsequently authorized three more.

William Wood had a royal commission in 1725. to coin "
half-pence, pence

and two-pences," for Massachusetts and other British Provinces.

On account of the pressure in pecuniary matters, the people are permitted,

in 1735, to pay their tax bills with hemp, flax, and bar iron. The deprecia-

tion of the Province bills had occasioned protracted suff"ering among all

branches of the community. Nor did the evil lessen, but continued to

mcrease till the cause was removed.

Two banks began their operations in 1740. One was called the Hard

Money Bank, and the other the Land and Manufactory Bank. The Gover-

nor resisted both of them, but especially the latter. Against this he issued a

proclamation. He nullified all the commissions of its stockholders, who held

ofiice under him, and would not withdraw from its concerns. A serious

rebellion was meditated against him and his abettors, for such a stand.

As a means to correct the evils of injustice, which arose from the payment
of debts with notes of the Province, which had fallen much, after the debts

were contracted, an equity bill was passed in 1742. An Act of Parliament

was published against the two banks last mentioned. Many years elapsed

before the affairs of the Land Bank were wound up. Its principal stock-

holders, made responsible for its debts, suffered greatly in their estates.

* When two or more items come within one paragraph Ihey are of llie same year, unleaa

otherwise expressed.
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The several political parties assumed the name of debtor and creditor

parties in 1719. Ou the proposal ol' Thomas Hutchinson, our Government

decided to redeem their outstanding bills of credit. The means which ihey

appropriated for so commendable a purpose, was the coin paid them by the

Crown, for their expenses in the Louisburg expedition.

So great was the popular opposition to such a redemption, a riot act wa.s

passed in 1751. Unable to proceed without some paper medium, our legis-

lative authorities resort to the issue of Treasury notes. Though these pas.scd

in business transactions, yet they were not a legal tender. This sort of scrip

continued to the Revolution. The commissioners for exchanging the Prov-

ince bills of credit, close their labors. This currency amounted, from 1703

to 1749, in old tenor, to £3,259,717 95. As additional, were the four loans

of £260,000. Though such scrip, at the old tenor rate, was redeemed at 7<|

for one of specie, yet it passed at 9 or 10 for one.

Gold is permitted, in 1762, to be a legal tender.

To sustain their attitude against the British, the Congress of our Common-
wealth were constrained, in 1775, to emit Treasury notes and Bills of credit

By the latter part of 1779, our state authorities had issued more than

£1,600,000 of such paper. Besides this, they were responsible for their pro-

portion of the National notes, which were $400,000,000, old tenor, before the

close of 1781. The quota which our Commonwealth received of this amount

was S59,S00,000.

The Continental bills of the old tenor, nominally passing at 500 for 1 of

hard money, in IV .1, cease to be a part of our currency. Our first national

pecuniary institution, called the Bank of North America commenced. The

votes of our Congressional members were not in its favor.

This Incorporation, having gained mnch on public favor, had a branch of

it located in Boston the next year. Over $30,000,000 of continental scrip

had fallen on the hands of various persons in our Commonwealth, which

other States ought to have redeemed.

The Massachusetts Bank was chartered in 1784, being the first of such

institutions among our population since our independence.

Congress passed a law in 1786, that accounts should be kept in dollars,

dimes, cents and mills. This, of course, disannulled the old method of

pounds, shillings, pence and farthingSj which was gradually laid aside. Our

national government ordered gold, silver and copper coins to be made at

the United Slates Mint. The General Ct-urt of Massachu.'^etts ordered a

similar establishment for a like purpose.

One result as well as gross abuse of our pecuniary embarrassments in con-

sequence of the late war, in 1787, was Shay' rebeli»n. The buildings of

our State ]Mint were partly erected on Boston Neck, and partly at Dedham.

Indian cents and half-cents were issued from them the next year. This was

the only use made of them, because the new constitution of the Union con

fined such a cqncern to the General Government.

37*



438 GAZETTEER OF IVIASSACHUSETTS.

In 1792, a branch of the United States Bank was located in Boston. There

also was the Union Bank established, being the second chartered by our

State authorities.

Massachusetts, in 1794, liquidated their scrip of various species. A large

amount of bills was kept back by individuals, who expected better conditions

and who so lost the opportunity of getting clear of them.

As many individuals circulated their own notes, in 1799, which passed as

currency, General Court forbid such a custom.

After several periods of moneyed embarrassments, one, exceeding these,

occurred in 1837. Then, as the banks of New York, and further south, had

suspended specie payments, those of Massachusetts were forced to do the

same. Our State Banks resumed their obligation to pay hard money in 1839.

During this suspension, it Mas usual to give notes of hand, payable "in cur-

rent bills." For the last six years our currency has been in a good condition.

That we may have a " bird's eye view" of our State Banks, at different

periods, the subsequent items are presented. The numerals immediately

succeeding the years, denote the number of such institutions. 1803, 7 ;

1813, 16; 1823, 34; 1833, 102; 1838, 124; 1845, 104. The capital of the

last number of banks, is $30,970,000.

The preceding sketch demonstrates what has jeen the experience of all

civilized nations, that the regulation of currency is full of doubts and difRcul-

iies, and is very fer from having attained to a j^erfect standard.

BANKS IN MASSACHUSETTS.

Their Names, Locations, Capitals, and Resources, in November, 1845.

from Legislative Returns.

Extracted

Names.
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Names.
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Names.

Salem, . .

Southbridge,
Springfield, .

Taunton,
Union Bank of [tree

Weym'th & Brain

Village, .

Warren, .

Waltham,
Warehain,
Worcester,

Wrentham,

Locations.

Salem, . .

Southbridge,

Springfield, .

Taunton,

Weymouth,

Danvers,
do.,

Waltham, .

Wareham, .

Worcester, .

Wrentham, .

Capitals.

8250,000
100,000
250,000

200,000

100,000

120,000

120,000
100,000
100,000

200,000

150,000

Amount of

specie.

$2,892
4,367

8,626

7,569

4,042

2,078

3,878

7,380

2,211

25,522

3,214

Total amount
of resources.

$356,946
170.581

500,623

428,264

185,864

179,117
205.991

219^277
166,942
513,223

239,308

The amount of the capital stock paid in of all the banks in the state, 104

m number, was, as above, $30,970,000 ;
the amount of specie in their vaults

was $3,357,904, and their total resources amounted to $65,017,625.
The amount of bills in circulation was $14,339,686 ;

amount of real estate,

$1,097,969 ;
amount of all debts due, except balances from other banks,

$52,648,730 ;
the amount of debts due and unpaid, and considered doubtful

was $229,954 ;
the amount of deposits bearing interest was $1,083,219 ;

the

amount of deposits not bearing interest was $11,668,134, and the aggregate
dividends of all the banks, for the year, was a fraction over 6 per cent.

Boston Banks.—On page 104 we gave a statement of the concerns of the

banks in Boston, in July, 1844. In November, 1845, they stood as above, and
in other respects as follows :

—The amount of real estate held by them was

£697,616 ;
the amount of debts due to them, except balances from other

banks, was $30,945,887 ;
their doubtful paper amounted to $57,110 ;

their

nett profits on hand amounted to $1,201,135; their dividends amounted to

$1,059,850, and the rate, per cent., of their average annual dividends was a

fraction over 6^^ per cent.

INSTITUTIONS FOR SAVINGS IN MASSACHUSETTS.
There are 33 of these valuable Institutions in Massachusetts : their names,

locations, &c., are as follows :—in Boston, the Boston and Suffolk ; in Con-

cord, the Middlesex ; in Worcester, the Worcester County ; in Greenfield, the

Franklin ; and one in each of the following towns, bearing the names of their,

locations, viz :
—Andover, Gloucester, Haverhill, Lynn, Newburyport (and vicin-

ity), Salem, Salisbury and Amesbury, Cambridge, Lorcell, Ntnton, Warren,

Lancaster, Northampton, Springfield, Canton, Dedham, Quincy, Roxbury, Wey-
mouth and Braintree, Fairhaven, Fall River, New Bedford, Taunton, Hingham,

Plymouth, Scituate, Barnstable, and Nantucket.

The number of depositors at these Banks, December 29, 1845, was 58,178 ;

the total amount of deposits, was $9,813,287, total dividends for the year
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$407,403 ;
and the expenses of the institutions amounted to $27,017. The

largest number of depositors and amount of deposits were in the following

banks :
—

Names.
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LATITUDE AND LONGITUDE

Of all the shire or county towns in the state
;
with that of two towns in

each county having the greatest variation of latitude.

a

pq

Towns.

Barnstable,

Provincetown,

Falmouth,

Lenox,

Williamstown,

Sandisfield,

g fTAtTNTON,

^
J
New Bedford,

I

Easton,

[ Dartmouth,

N. Lat. W. Long.Objects.

Court House, 41° 42' 06" 70"= 18' 34"

Church, 42 02 51 70 11 43

Church, 41 33 15 70 37 29

High Church 42

Church, .... 42

Village Church 42

Church, near Green,

Mariner's Church,

Church, ....
Padanaram Church,

21 49 73 17 21

42 49 73 13 10

6 42 73 8 49

41 54 11 71 5 55

41 38 6 70 55 44

42 2 11 71 6 10

41 35 20 70 56 46

'^ I Edgartown,

'

Salem,

Ipswich,

Newburyport,

Salisbury,

[Lynn,

Pq

s
"3

Greenfield,

Heath,

Shutesbury,

Church, 41 35 17 70 31 15

Marine HaU, 42 31 19 70 53 53

Church, 42 40 53 70 50 28

Harris Street Church, . . . 42 48 32 70 52 41

New Church, 42 50 35 70 51 56

Church, 42 27 51 70 57 25

Church 42 35 15 72 36 27

Church, 42 40 26 72 49 40

Church, 42 27 11 72 24 58

13

«
"«

Springfield,

Chester,

Longmeadow,

Northampton,

Plainfield,

Southampton,

'

Concord,

Cambridge,

Lowell,

Ashby,

Maiden,

Court House,

Old Church, .

West Church,

42 6 4 72 35 45

42 17 24 72 55 50

42 3 2 72 34 51

Congregationalist Church, .. 42 19 9 72 38 15

Church, 42 30 50 72 57 47

Church, 42 14 45 72 45 54

Church, 42 27 36 71 21 15

Stone Colored Church, . . . 42 22 29 71 7 29

St. Ann's Church, . . . .. 42 38 47 71 19 2

Church, 42 40 42 71 49 34

Square Tower Church, . . 42 25 24 71 4 21
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t^

Towns.

Nantucket,

Dedham,

Brookline,

Wrentham,

Plymouth,

Hingham,

Rochester,

Boston,

Chelsea,

Worcester,

Winchendon,

Meadon,

Objects.

South Tower, ....
Church, near Court House,

Dr. Pierce's Church,

Village Church,

Court House, . .

Old Colony House,

Matapoisett Church,

State House,

Village Church,

Antiquarian Hall,

Church, .

Church

N. Lftl. W. Long.

41° 1(7 56" 70° 0' 12"

42 14 57 71 10 59

42 19 39 71 7

42 4 1 71 19 59

41 57 27 70 40 19

42 14 53 70 52 40

41 39 44 70 49 30

42 21 22 71 4 9

42 24 33 70 30 44

42 16 17 71 48 13

42 39 45 72 2 50

42 6 20 71 33 36

LIGHT-HOUSES IN MASSACHUSETTS,

JVith their Latitudes and Longitudes.

Names and Location. Lat.

Newburyport, outward. Plum Island, ... . 42'' 48' 30"

Ipswich, outward, Ipswich, 42 41 8

Annisquam, Gloucester, 45 39 44

Thatcher's Island, North, Rockport, 42 38 22

" "
South, Rockport, 42 38 13

Eastern Point, Gloucester, 42 34 50

Baker's Island, Salem Harbor, 42 32 12

Vlarblehead, Marblehead, 42 30 14

Boston, outward, Light-House Island, 42 19 41

"
inward, Long Island Head, 42 19 49

Scituate, Cedar Point, 42 12 18

Plymouth Lights, on the Gurnet, in Duxbury, . . .42 12

Barnstable, Sandy Neck, 41 43 21

Billingsgate Island, Eastham, (west side,) . . . . 41 51 39

Race Point, westerly point of Cape Cod, do., . . .42 3 45

High Land, Truro, 42 2 23

Nauset, North, I

Eastham, (east side,). . .

j

41 51 40
"

South, )

' ^ ^
I 41 51 37

Monomoy, Chatham, 41 33 35

Chatham Harbor, Chatham, 41 40 16

Point Gammon, Yarmouth, (south side,) . . . . 41 36 35

Nobscoe, off Woods' Hole, Falmouth, 41 30 57

70° 49' 6'
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Names and Location.
. Lai.

Tarpaulin Cove, Naushon Island, Chilmai-k, . . .41° 28' 8"

Cuttyhunk, Cuttyhunk Island, Chilmark, . . . . 41 24 52

Round Hill, Dartmouth, 41 32 18

Clark's Point, New Bedford, 41 35 34

Bird Island, Rochester, 41 40 10

Gay Head, Chilmark, 41 20 55

West Chop, near Holmes' Hole, Tisbury, . . . . 41 28 58

Edgartown, Edgartown Harbor, . 41 23 27

Cape Poge, Chappequidick Island, EdgartowTi, . . 41 25 19

Brant's Point, Nantucket Harbor, 41 17 24

Great Point, north point of Nantucket Island, . . . 41 23 24

Long.





NOTES TO HAYWARD'S GAZETTEER OF
MASSACHUSETTS.

BOSTON WATER. NOTE NO. 1.

As most of the wells in Boston produce water of a hard or impure quality,

and the supply from Jamaica Pond being greatly deficient in quantity, many
efforts have been made for the introduction of soft and pure water into the

city. Great diversity of opinion existed for many years in regard to the

source from whence it should be obtained. In 1845, this difficult question

was settled in favor of Cochituate Lake, or Long Pond, lying in the towns

of Natick, Framingham, and Wayland. An act of the legislature for this

purpose was obtained in 1846, and on the 5th of May, Messrs. James F.

Baldwin, Nathan Hale, and Thomas B. Curtis were appointed by the City

Council, Water Commissioners, to carry into execution, on the part of the

city, all the power granted by the act. Under their direction, new surveys

were made, and an improved line of aqueduct was selected, for conveying
the v/ater of the lake to the city. The water pri\dleges at the outlet of the

lake, and between it and Concord river, together with the manufacturing
establishments thereon, were purchased at a cost of $150,000. The lake

covers an area of 659 acres, and it drains a surface of 11,400 acres. It is

surrounded by steep banks, and its depth, in some places, is 70 feet. Its

elevation, above the level of spring-tide at Boston, is 124^ feet. For the

better protection of the water of the lake from all causes of impurity, a mar-

gin of land, of greater or less width, entirely surrounding the lake, a circuit

of 12 miles, has been purchased for the city.

The route of the aqueduct was designated, and the work put under contract,

in the summer of 1846. The ceremony of breaking ground took place near

the lake, August 20th. The water is conveyed through a conduit of brick

masonry, of two bricks in thickness, laid in hydraulic cement, from the east-

ern shore of the lake to a reservoir in Brookline, 4^ miles distant from the

centre of the city. This conduit is of an oval or egg shape, 6 feet 3

inches in height, and 5 feet in width, in its interior dimensions, the lower
section being circular, and the upper elliptical. This conduit is 14| miles in

length, and it has a descent from the lake of 2J inches in a mile. The con-

duit is interrupted at the crossing of the valley of Charles river, across

which the water is conveyed, a distance of nearly 1000 feet, in two iron

pipes, of 30 inches diameter each, which connect the two portions of the

brick conduit. Thc.^e pipes arc carried across the river on a bridge of granite
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masonry, with three arches of 30 feet span, construclcil ni a handsome

style of architecture. They are protected by a covering of earth, 4 feet in

depth. The gate-houses, vastc-wiers, culverts, and other structure, with

the exception of the earth embankments, are of the most substantial granite

masonry. Some of the excavations for the aqueduct were of a depth of over

50 feet, partly through ledges of rock, and it passes through two tunnels, one

1140 and the other 2110 feet in length, entirely through ledges of rocks of a

very hard description, at the bottom of the excavation.

The reservoir in Brookline. with its surrounding embankment, and grounds

appurtenant, covers an area of 38 acres, and at the water surface it measures

nearly 23 acres. It varies in depth from 10 to 20 feel, and its capacity is

about 100,000,000 gallons, bemg sufficient to supply 7,000,000 gallons per

day for 14 days. The Gate-House is of granite masonry, of handsome pro-

portions, and has a roof of iron.

From this reservoir the water is conveyed to the city in two iron pipes, one

of 30 inches diameter, discharging into a central reservoir on Beacon Hill,

near the State House
;
and the other, of 36 inches diameter, from which

branches are conducted to most parts of the city. One of these branches

terminates at the central reservoir, and another in a reservoir at South Boston.

This latter branch, which is of a diameter of 20 inches, crosses an arm of

the harbor, below the navigable channel, at such a depth as to be safe from

the contact of loaded vessels passing over it. The extent of these pipes, and

of the smaller pipes of 16, 12, 6, and 4 inches in diameter, which are lai^l

through all the streets and courts of the city, protected by a covering of earth

4 feet in depth, is about 60 miles. The 30 inch pipe supplies, also, a foun-

tain on the Common, which rises in a jet of 6 inches diameter, to a height of

90 feet, or is difiused in jets of various forms, over a wide space. Several

pipes, chiefly of lead, are laid at the charge of the city, for conveymg the

water within the walls of all private houses, of which the owners or occu-

pants wish to take the water.

The reservoir on Beacon Hill, which is yet unfinished, is nearly 200 feel

square, bordering on three streets, and it will be, on the Deme street side, 60

feet in height, being supported at the elevation on arches. It is built entirely

of Rockport granite, laid in hydraulic cement. The depth of the water b.isin

will be 15 feet, and its capacity about 3.000,000 gallons. The water surface,

when the reservoir is filled, will be nearly 120 feet above the level of spring,

tides.

The reservoir at South Boston will be of larger dimensions. It is to be

placed on Telegraph Hill, known in the history of the war of the Revolution

a.s Dorchester Heights. It will occupy part of a square, to be formed on that

beautiful elevation, for the ornament of that part of the city. The work was

executed under the direction of two chief engineers, E. S. Chesbrough for the

Western Division, including the brick aqueduct, the Brookline Resen'oir. and

the Gate-houses, and Wm. S. Whitwell for the Eastern Division, including

the pipes to the city and through the streets, as well as the reservoir in the city.
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The water was introduced into the city October 25th, 1848, and then let upon
the fountain for the first time, in the presence of many thousands of citizens

and visitors from every part of the State, who were assembled for the cele-

bration of the joyful event. The water was admitted to the reservoir in

BrookUne, on the 16th of November, the pipes leading to the city having
been previously suppUed by means of a conduit leading directly to the gate-

house. The cost of the entire work, including the two reservoirs in the city,

the water rights, compensating reservoirs, and land damages, will be about

$3,500,000.

Mr. Silliman's analysis of these waters was as follows : —
Chloride of sodium, 0323

Chloride of potassium, 0380

Chloride of calcium, 0308

Chloride of magnesium, . . ..0764

Sulphate of magnesia, 1020

Alumina, 0800

Carbonate of lime, 2380

Carbonate of magnesia, 0630

Silica, 0300

Carbonate of soda, equivalent to

crenate and nitrate of do., and

loss, 5295

1.2200

Carbonic acid in one gallon, in cubic inches, 10.719

Mr. Silliman says, this water is transparent, quite free from floating parti-

cles, perfectly soft and sweet, and pleasant to drink
;
that it resembles dis-

tilled water in taste, and is almost good enough for any chemical purpose
whatever.

HAMPDEN CITY AT WEST SPRINGFIELD. NOTE No. 2.

The local position of this, the greatest manufacturing enterprise that has

ever been commenced in the United States, is on a bend of the Connecticut

river, nine miles above Springfield, where the fall of the river, from the top of

the dam, in the distance of J of a mile, is 60 feet.

The area of territory owned by the Hadley Falls Company, on the west

side of the river, is about 1200 acres.

The Company was chartered April 28th, 1848, with the right to hold capital

stock to the amount of $4,000,000.

The Company constitute both a water power and a manufacturing com-

pany.
The water power, which the Company can bring into use for manufacturing

purposes, exceeds 1,000,000 cotton spindles, No. 14 yarn. They have ample

capacity for 56 cotton mills of 18,500 spindles each, and room for all the

machine-shops and works pertaining to the same.

The dam across the Connecticut, exclusive of the stone abutments, is 1018

feet in length, 28 feet in height, and contains 2,200,000 feet of timber. They
hav^e two canals, an upper and a lower canal, with a raceway between. The
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canals are 140 feet wide, and hold 15 feci depth of water at the upper, and 9
feet at the lower end.

From the upper canal to the raceway, the water falls 20 feet, and from the

raceway the water flows into the lower canal, when it is used the secDiid

time, from which it flows into the river, enabling the Company to use all the

waters of the Connecticut river twice over for a moving power.
The length of the upper canal is designed to be 6,000 feet, and tlic length

of the lower canal 8,000 feet. The raceway is of the same width and length

of the upper canal. Every 1,000 feet in length of the canal supplies water

power for 4 mills of the size here named.

The cotton mills which the Company have commenced erecting are to be

268 feet long, 68 wide, and 5 stories high.

Their machine-shop is to be 448 feet long, 60 wide, 2 stories
;
furnace 150

feet long, 60 wide
;
blacksmith shop 200 feet long, 48 wide.

The excavation and stone-work of about \ of the upper canal is nearly

finished.

A large amount of grading has been done.

A reservoir, neeirly fitted for the reception of water, is provided, of a capacity

to hold 2^ millions of gallons, for the supply of the inhabitants. The reser-

voir is to be filled by a force-pump, operated by a water-wheel at the dam.

Besides the above work, the Company have erected this season aii office

and 33 brick tenements, and one large school-house, and are now putting up
the walls of the first mill, which it is intended will commence running the

first of July next.

The Connecticut River Railroad passes directly through the place, but ths

most part of it is at such an elevation as to enable the travel to pass under it,

thereby avoiding the danger and inconvenience that would attend its passing

on a grade with the streets.

A hotel is about being commenced, 162 feet in length, and 4 stories high.

The ground on which this manufacturing village is being budt is divided

nito an upper and lower level. On the lower level, bordering on the west

bank of the river, is to be placed the mills, machine-shops, &c., <kc.
;
west

of the canals, on the elevated land, are located the streets, all at right angles

with each other; the public squares, the reservoir, tkc, are entirely exenipi

from any annoyance from the manufacturing business of the place.

More than 20 lots for stores have already been taken up, and the building

upon them commenced.

The magnitude of the undertaking, the great results that will flow from its

completion, are worthy of that enterprise so characteristic of New England

men.

The above mentioned dam was carried away Noy. 1848, but will be re-

built the present year.
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SOUTH COVE AND THE OLD MILL POND.

NOTE No. 3.

South Cove. That part of Old Boston denominated " South Cove," >•

bounded on the east by Broad street, (formerly Sea street,) north by Essex

street, west by Harrison avenue, and south to within about two himdred feet

below the upper bridge leading to South Boston. This territory, comprising
an area of about seventy-three acres, consisted of old wharves, docks, and

flats, and a small portion of laud around their borders.

In consequence of this portion of the city having become the termini of

the great western railroad, and i?ts connecting branches
;
the termini of the

Old Colony railroad
;
with spacious wharves for the accommodation of navi-

gation, and the site ofone of the largest and most splendid hotels in the country.
South Cove has risen, as if by magic, from its bed of mire and dirt, and now

presents an important mart of trade, with handsome streets and spacious
blocks of stores, and dwellings.

This important enterprise was projected by Charles Ewer, Esq., in 1831.

In 1833 an act of incorporation was obtained for carrying the project into

execution, with a capital of six hundred thousand dollars, divided into shares.

Francis Jackson, Esq., had the management of the concern, which, it is

hoped, has proved as profitable to the proprietors as beneficial to the health

and enlargement of the city.

The Old Mell Pond, which modern improvements has changed into solid

land, was situated at the northerly part of the city.

In 1806 and '7, certain individuals, under an act of incorporation, made an

arrangement with the then town of Boston, the mill proprietors, and others

concerned, to fill it up, and cover it with streets and buUdings. This spot,
which contains an area of forty three acres, and has now become one of the

most busy parts of the city, was once covered with water to as great a aepth
as that which now covers the small bays on either side of " the NecK,'' or

which, until recently, covered " South Cove."
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AMHERST COLLEGE. NOTE No. 4.

Amherst College ha.s a pret.iilent, wlio is professor ol" naliiral ihculogy
and geology ;

a Williston professor of rhetoric and oratory ;
a professor of

mathematics and natural philosophy ;
a Massachusetts professor of chemis-

try and natural history ;
a Graves professor of Greek and Hebrew

;
a pro-

fessor of zoology and astronomy ;
a professor of intellectual and inor.il

philosophy ;
a Moore professor of the Latin and French languages, ami

three tutors.

Number of students in 1848, one hundred aad siity-six.

Fund in aid of indigent students, $50,000.

Four of the professorships are endowed.

Volumes in the hbraries, 15,000.

In 1847, a new cabinet, and astronomical observatory was erected. The

cabinet contains 12,000 specimens in geology, 5,000 in mineralogy, 13,000

species of animals, and several thousand species of plants.

Commencement on the second Thursday of August.

COMMERCE OF BOSTON. NOTE No. 5.

Arrivals at Boston.
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NEW CHURCHES IN BOSTON. NOTE No. fi.

SEnfcoarUs Coiifl, Societi»,—1848.—Eitnitariaix.

This society was organized in 1848. Place of worship, corner of Lowell

and Causeway streets.

Clergy. Rev. Christopher Cushing.

©IB Colons Society.—1848.—Srlnltavian.

This society was organized in 1818, and now worships in a hall over, the

Old Colony Railroad Depot, at South Cove.

Clergy. Rev. Eli Thurston.

ffianton St. <S"j|)urc|).—iWetJoDist.

Blethodist church, corner Suffolk and Williams streets, corner-stone laid

Monday, Nov. 20th, 11 o'clock, A.M.

Preacher : Rev. Geo. W. Frost.

St. Vincent's ©JurcJ), ^^urcljasE St.—jFormerl» Sanitarian, noto

3£loman ®atj)olic.

May, 1848, Rev. J. Doherty; Rev. M. Galliher



HAYWARD'S GAZETTEER
OF

MASSACHUSETTS.

A FEW OF TOE

RECOMMENDATIONS
OF THE WORK ARE HERR COPIED

From the Worcester Transcript.

This work contains descriptions of

the counties, towTis and districts of

the comraonwealih
;
and also of its

mountains, rivers, harbors, islands

and fashionable resorts. It also em-
braces a large amount of statistical

matter relating to the agriculture,
commerce and manufactures, together
with almost everjuhing of interest

and importance connected with this

commonwealth.
This work is by John Hay^vard,

the well-known author of the New
England Gazetteer, Book of Religions,

Ice, and is the result of long and ar-

duous research, during which no labor

or expense has been spared to gain
authentic information and render the

book, in all respects, the best Gazet-

teer of the state now before the public.
In this design, we think the author

has been eminently successful, and
we cannot but accord to him the high-
est tribute for the industry and de-

votedness with which he has so suc-

cessfully accomplished his enter-

prise. We predict for his work im-

mense popnliriiy.

From the Boston B«corJer.

This work, a handsome volume ol

444 pages, has just been published.
In this department of labor Mr. Hay-
ward has been unwearied for many
years, and the public are indebted to

him for some of the best statistical

works ever published in this country.
On this, his last work, he has be-

stowed an amount of labor truly sur-

prising. It has cost much time, and
a very extensive and difficult corre-

spondence, as we know from personal
acquaintance with the author

;
and

the Gazetteer of Massachusetts is, we
venture to say, as nearly accurate as

human industry could make it. So
much useful labor we trust will have,
as it ought to have, a liberal reward;
for at least as many copies as there

are families in the state, must be in

immediate demand. The plates of

Plymouth and Boston are finely exe-

cuted, as are also the printing and

binding. We might say much in

favor of the statistical tables, and of

other parts in detail, but we cannot
think it necessary, after what has
been said.
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From the Salem Gazette.

This work will be found to be a
valuable publication, filled with im-

portant statistics. It contains a full

description of the towns, counties,
and products of this state, and also,
in many cases, a succinct tabular
statement of the ecclesiastical history
of the towns. It is very neatly got

np, and illustrated by views of Ply-
month, the Landing of the Pilgrims,
&c.

From llie Boston Courier.

This work contains much valuable
statistical information respecting ag-
riculture; commerce, and manufac-
tures.

From the Sprinjtield Republican.

The name of the author of this Gaz-
etteer is a sure guarantee of its faith-

fulness and accuracy.

From the Trumpet, Sec, Boston.

This work is beautifully got up,
and has several plates, of which one,

viz., the view of Plymouth from Burial

Hill, is truly beautiful. We have long
needed a good Gazetteer of Massachu-
setts. "We cordially commend IMr.

Hayward's work as the best Gazetteer
of the state which is in existence.

From tlie Christian Witness, Boston.

This is a volume of upwards of
four hundred pages. We have some
reason to know that in the prepara-
tion of this work the editor has

spared neither time nor labor, to ren-

der it full, interesting, accurate, and
therefore useful and valuable. A
good Gazetteer of Massachusetts is a
book much wanted, and we believe
that Sir. Hayward has succeeded in

preparing a work which will answer
the public expectation, and supply
this want. We have rarely seen a
book of its size which evinces so
much indefatigable labor on the part
of the author to secure fulness and
accuracy. Every citizen should be
familiar with the geography, and his-

tory, and resources of his o-um state,
at least. From no book can this in-

formation be so readily obtained as

from a full and well arranged Gaz
etteer. Such a book should have a
place in every family.

From the New Bedford Mercury.

This is a work evidently of much
labor and research, which cannot fail

to prove of great value as an accu-
rate reference book for information

relating to particular localities, and
moreover is admirably adapted to

present to travellers and men of busi-

ness the noble features and gigantic
strength of the "Old Bay State,"
more particularly in its commercial
and industrial relations. The de-

scriptions of the counties and towns

comprise their location, natural char-

acteristics, and general appearance ;

including population, valuation,
schools, dates of incorporation, &;c.

&c., compiled from the latest au-

thorities, and conveniently arranged
for reference and comparison. The
work is comprised in a handsome
volume of about 450 pages, elegantly
bound in morocco and cambric.

From the Christian Register, Boston.

A vast amount of interesting in-

formation relating to the difl'erent

towns of Massachusetts—more, prob-
ably, than within the same compass
anywhere else—is contained in this

neat, and, to us, very attractive vol-

ume. It ought to be Avithin the reach
of ever}' intelligent man in the state.

From the Christian World, Boston.

This Gazetteer contains much in-

teresting information respecting the

natural features, historical facts, and
moral aspects of the several towns
and villages which compose this com-
monwealth. This will recommend it

to the general reader. As a book of

reference, it will be of great use to

travellers and men of business, show-

ing the " Old Bay State," in its com-
mercial and industrial relations. Its

statistics are alphabetically arranged,
and thus made easily available.

IMr. Haj^'ard has shown good taste

and judgment in, as it were, marking
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each luwii uu ilic luciuDry, by some
lad or true seiiumenl respecting it.

From Ijie Boston Post.

I\Ir. Ilayward is well known as the

compiler of several statistical pro-
ductions, which have been received
with favor. The present volume is

both useful and interesting, and the

author seems to have well done the
work which he undertook to do. It

is got up very handsomely, with sev-
eral engravings, and is in all respects
a jewel of a " Gazetteer."

From the Boston Evening Journal.

Mr. Hayward has spent a long
time upon this work, and has spared
no pains or expense in endeavoring
to have it as perfect as possible. He
has been furnished with information

from the most authentic sources, with

which to enrich the numerous descrip-
tions which compose the volume.
From a perusal, we are fully con-

vinced that this Gazetteer will be

sought with eagerness by large num-
bers in all parts of the commonwealth,
and will supply a want which has
been long felt by man\' individuals,
who wish to have at hand the means
of getting correct information relating
to every town in Massachusetts.

Blr. Hayward is well known to the

public as the author of several valu-

able works of the kind above men-

tioned, and is esteemed for the indus-

try and devotedness with which he has

entered upon labors of this kind.

From the Olive Branch, Boston,

This splendid work is from the

press, and is ready for subscribers.

It is doing but justice to say of it,

that to a Massachusetts man it is a

most invaluable work
;

it is the only
full and complete work of the kind

which exists. Mr. Hayward has ren-

dered a noble service to the stale, as

well as to htcrature, by furnishing
this work.

Fruiii Ihe Bunker Hiil Aurora, ClurlwUiwii.

This work is embellished by severul
beautiful engravings, is handsonn-ly

priuted and neatly bound. It will

prove a highly valuable and useful

work, and we hope the indefatigable
author will be rewarded for his great
labor and expense in its preparation.

Friim llie Evening Traiiscnjii, liuioii.

This work contains a great variety
of useful information, which may bie

relied upon for its great accuracy.

From the Hon. James Sira?c, aull ' :

on \Viiiltiro|)'3 .\ew England; :i

IMr. Fell, author of Beveral va ....

torical and slali^lical work^, Jcc.

Having examined the Gazetteer of

Massachusetts, by l^Ir. John Hay-
ward, author of the Gazetteer of New
England, we express our opinion of

the work in few words :
—that its plan

is judicious ;

—that the materials are

gathered with great diligence, and

perspicuously arranged, exhibiting a

high degree of accuracy ;
and that

the true design of such a book seems
to be successfully pursued and com-

mendably attained.

Jas. Savage,
Joseph B. Felt.

From the Rev. Doctor Hopkins, President of
\Villiani:j' College.

I have examined, with some atten-

tion. Hayward's Gazetteer, now just

published. Uniting a thorough sym-
pathy with the spirits which origi-

nated the institutions of the state,

and a just pride in the prosperity of

its several interests, with an estab-

lished reputation for patient research,
and accurate statement, iMr. Hay-
ward is particularly qualified to su-

perintend such a work. From the

nature of the case, perfect accuracy,
in every particular, cannot l>c ex-

pected; but I think his book will

answer most fully all the purposes
for which such a work is needed.

Mark HorKl^s.



RKCOMMli.NDATK^NS.

From Dr. Smith, of Boston, Editor of llie

Medical Journal.

No work for general reference has
ever been published in IMassachusetts
which furnishes so much curious his-

torical and statistical information, in

a compact form, as Mr. Hayward's
Gazetteer. Every person at all inter-

ested in the resources of the com-

monwealth, or desirous of knowing,
with certainty, the prominent points
in relation to the character of the soil,

the amount of water-power, the value
of the manufactures, and the progress
of public improvements in each and

every town, from authentic official

records, would be gratified with this

excellent publication.
J. V. C. Smith.

From the Rev. Doctor Jenks, author of tlie

ComprehenslTe (Commentary on the Bible,
&c.

Mr. Ha)rwrard has long been fa-

vorably known to the pubUc by his

Gazetteer of New England, and Book
of Religious Denominations. His

present publication embraces an ex-

hibition of Massachusetts, by itself,

in detail. The Gazetteer, strictly so

called, or first geuM-al portion, ae-
scribes the counties and towns as

minutely as consists with the size of
the work

;
and sufficiently so to give

a general view of each locality, its

relations to the neighborhood, and its

history, with occasional enlargements,
as circumstances might seem to re-

quire—especially as respects the

founding of churches, and settlement
of their ministers. The latter part
exhibits various statistical tables, and
an ample accovmt of the industrial

condition of the busy population of
the commonwealth. The whole must
deeply interest, at the least, every
thinking citizen of the state

; and,
although the extent of the work is

restricted, yet what it contains is of
reliable authority, being the result, if

not of actual inspection, as in very
many cases, yet of industrious and
careful compilation, more particularly
from the elaborate reports of the sec-

retary of the state. I cannot, there

fore, but unite with those who have

already expressed their approbation
of this work in recommentoig it to

the patronage of the public.
Wm. Jenks.

ECT* As this work is designed to be as accurate as its nature will permit,

agents, and other friends, are earnestly requested to furnish the editor with

such corrections or additions as may, from time to time, be desired.

The price of the book is one dollar and fifty cents. It is sold by subscrip-

tion only. A number of active and faithful men may find employment, as

subscription agents, in various parts of the commonwealth, by applymg to

the editor, at the Marlboro' Hotel, or at No. 25 Cornhill, Boston.
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